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Foreword

by Ronald V. Percival

The Thesis

The reader who enjoys history-told-as-a-story might at first find

this a difficult book to read, for this is history-told-as-research.

Putting it in medical terms, it is a diagnosis rather than a case

history, and what Henri Roques has diagnosed is not one but two
maladies:

— the improbability of Gerstein's evidence when tested against

the ordinary rules of common sense, and
— how Gerstein's "confessions" have been manipulated by histo-

rians, journalists, dramatists, and other writers for the last forty

years.

In compiling a thesis of this type in France, various conditions

have to be met, and these explain the form in which the thesis is laid

out.

Two examples might anticipate the puzzlement of a reader not

familiar with this process:

— The candidate must demonstrate the relevance of his study. For

instance, he will not succeed if all he can say is: "I have discovered

that the evidence of an obviously neurotic junior SS officer in charge

of a small disinfection operation, who ran to the Allies when he saw

Germany being defeated, was accused of war crimes, and then

committed suicide, is unreliable." The reply of the director of studies

would be the French equivalent of "So what?"

The candidate has to show that what he has discovered is relevant:

namely, that the SS officer was believed; that his allegations were

used at trials; have been quoted countless times in newspapers,

magazines, books and even the theatre; that his evidence has been a

main support of the Holocaust concept; and, finally, that the candi-

date's study of the texts shows that the evidence is, for any practical

purposes, worthless.

— Following from this, the thesis has to include a continuing

review of the use and abuse of Gerstein's "confessions" by contem-

porary historians.
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The purposes of this review is not to denigrate other historians but

to demonstrate that all the appropriate authorities have been studied;

to explain what has been found wrong in their books, and therefore

how modem history has been warped and misinterpreted.

<
Unfortunately, for the English-speaking reader, the historians

quoted in the thesis are mostly French or German, whose books have
not always been translated into English. The reason for the choice is

obvious: the three professors on Henri Roques' jury were more
famliar with French and German writers and English writers. But if

this practical reason had not existed and Henri Rocques had had to

review every English-language book containing a distorted version

of a Gerstein "confession," his task could have been overwhelming,

and a grossly disproportionate share of the thesis taken up merely
with reference to other writers.

To balance the record though, let us quote one example of a

British writer whose manipulation of Gerstein's "confession" of 26
April 1945 (referred to in the thesis as T II ) is typical of so many
other historians writing in English.

On pages 90-92 of his book Final Journey, 1 Martin Gilbert tells

the reader:

".
. .Dr. Kurt Gerstein, whom Eichmann employed as a poison gas

expert..."

In fact:

— Gerstein never was a doctor of any sort. In the text quoted by
Gilbert, Gerstein is not said to have been a doctor.

— The text used by Gilbert does not mention any person named
Eichmann.
— Assuming that Gilbert means AdolfEichmarm, then neither in

this text nor in any other does Gerstein claim to have met or to have
worked for Adolf Eichmann; Gerstein knew so little about Adolf
Eichmann that he could not even spell his name properly.— Gerstein was never employed as a poison gas expert, by
anyone. He says he witnessed one gassing by Diesel fumes at Bel-

zec; he says he was instructed to change over the gassing method to

cyanide, which he did not do; but throughout every version of his

"confessions" and his interrogations by the French military, he states

again and again and again that he personally was never involved in

the use of poison gas.

Martin Gilbert continues:

".
. .the Belzec camp had a special compound for the SS, above the

entrance of which was the sign: 'Entrance to the Jewish State.'
"

— Again we meet that famous and so abused word "special," the
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ominous implications of which are discussed by Henri Roques on

page 1 32 of his thesis.

All the military units in the camp have special quarters. How
could the fire-fighting unit, for example, function properly if the

personnel and equipment were scattered higgledy-piggledy around

the cook-house, die hospital, the transport yard, the operations office,

and so on?

There is nothing "special" or sinister in the SS having their own
quarters; on the contrary, it is one of the basics of everyday camp
management.

But according to the Gerstein text which Gilbert was using, the

sign outside the SS premises read: "Place of service Belcec of the SS
Army." Whence, then, Gilbert's "Entrance to the Jewish State"

outside the SS quarters?

There is yet more arrangement of the scenery to come. Martin

Gilbert goes on:

"...from their compound...the SS men could actually see the

entrance to the gas-chamber, the doors to which had been draped

with synagogue curtains bearing the Hebrew inscription: 'This is the

gate of the Lord into which the righteous shall enter.'"— Where did these curtains come from? This colorful bit of stage

property does not exist in any Gerstein text.

In his own description, Gerstein states that the entrances to his

alleged six gas-chambers (not one gas-chamber) were on either side

of a corridor inside a building, where they could hardly be visible

from any separate SS compound. The wooden exit doors, through

which the bodies were dragged and thrown into enormous graves,

were obviously in the outside walls of the building and, self-evi-

dently, the outside of a building has to be the visible side.

If we take Gilbert's reconstruction of the building seriously, are

we to believe that someone who could not read Hebrew had put

welcoming curtains over an exit door? And over only one of the six

exit doors (leaving the other five bare) where the victims would be

most unlikely to see it, being dead?

But first prize for fiction-writteh-as-history must surely go to Dr.

Stefan Szende who, being unaware in 1944 that gas was the fashion-

able thing at Belzec, published a book2 describing a shed about the

size of an aircraft hangar, with a steel floor; several thousands of

Jews at a time were crowded in; the floor dropped like a lift into a

sort of reservoir or swimming pool; a terrific electric current was

passed through the water and the victims were electrocuted (not

drowned); then the lift rose again; the metal floor turned red hot and

incinerated everyone; and then the floor tilted and the ashes slid off
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into receptacles provided for the purpose.

Neat, hygienic, and unadulterated poppycock from start to finish.

No trace of this wonderful machine has ever been found because it

never existed. But it is interesting to note how, before the war was

even finished, propagandists were laying the ground for sensational

revelations. When Gerstein walked on the scene, the audience was

already applauding.

Gilbert at least did stay within hailing distance of a Gerstein

"confession" even though he has taken unpardonable liberties with

the truth.

But trying to understand his inventions and distortions, one is

driven to the conclusion that if he had wished to preserve some

tatters of credibility, he hight have been wiser to follow the more

clear-cut example of another Holocaust expert, Raul Hilberg, who,

testifying before a Toronto court, is quoted as saying:

Some of the SS officer's (Gerstein's) claims were outrageous; while others,

such as the number of people who could fit into a gas-chamber, warranted

scepticism. (Nevertheless) it was intellectually sound to use the portions

which withstood scrutiny or seemed plausible, while making no mention of

the outlandish statements. 3

Law-abiding citizens everywhere should feel grateful that Profes-

sor Hilberg is not a judge in any of our criminal courts. Such an

eclectic approach to evidence would cause chaos in the real world

where testimony has to be assessed as a composite whole and not

picked over, like a plate of hors d'oeuvres, for only those bits which

seem palatable.

VAffaire Roques

Henri Roques has a unique place in history.

In the seven hundred yeas of French universities, he is the only

person on record who was awarded a doctorate by the normal and

legal processes and then had it cancelled, without reason.

He was awarded the doctorate at Nantes on 15 June 1985 with the

additional distinction "Very Good." He gave copies of the thesis to

historian friends and two copies were deposited, as routine, in the

university library.

Then, in the spring of 1986, there rose a storm of vituperation

against him in the press, on radio and TV. In effect, he was accused

of exonerating or excusing racist massacres; an accusation so ir-

relevent to the thesis and so nonsensical that it does not merit

discussion: the thesis concerns itself only with Gerstein and primar-

ily with Belzec.
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But a campaign of denigration evolved. It became a crusade. And

just as many of the original crusaders pleaded "Holy Religion" as a

pretext to acquire landed property, so a great many or Roques'

adversaries claimed a superior morality but were people who, in fact,

did not want any of the files on the last war opened up.

It was Voltaire (French himself, aptly enough) who defined his-

tory as "fables that have been agreed upon." Henri Roques became

the Elizabethan who doubted his Queen's virginity, or the boy who
had pointed out that the Emperor wore no clothes. He had violated

the mysteries held sacred, and nothing was too bad for him.

This outburst of pseudo-morality, to be sure, was not edifying but

it was predictable, and Henri Roques was not alone. Honest histori-

ans who had read the thesis spoke out, commending his integrity and

scholarship. Some were ex-deportees themselves.

But French governments, as in the Dreyfus case, have an uncanny

knack of fomenting a scandal and then having to drink it down to the

last bitter drop. The government wanted popularity; and to denigrate

Henri Roques was, as they thought, a popular cause.

There was a small difficulty. They could not discredit the thesis

itself: it is, as anyone can see, unimpeachable. The only way open to

them was to allege that the doctorate had not been properly awarded.

Good Men and True

His thesis competed, Henri Roques then had the task of forming a

jury of three professors. To avoid any accusation of bias, he invited

Pierre Vidal-Naquet, a leading French exterminationist whose par-

ents, along with so many others, disappeared at Auschwitz in 1944;

and who is the avowed detractor of the brilliant French historian,

Robert Faurisson. Vidal-Naquet declined the invitation.

Later, in collaboration with other propagandists such as Saul

Friedlander, whose falsifications of the Gerstein story are mentioned

in the thesis, Vidal-Naquet demonstrated his customary ignorance of

professional good manners by trying, in public, to discredit those of

his fellow professors who did serve on the Roques jury, he also made

false statements about the thesis itself.

Henri Roques' offer, generous and honest though it was, could

nevertheless have turned out to be a mistake if Vidal-Naquet had by

chance accepted it:

— Vidal-Naquet is not a researcher, but a polemicist; his special-

ity is not facts but the selection and arrangement of facts to conform

with his propagandist view. At his best, he is a clever journalist for

the bigoted left-wing press.

— His published statements and writings show that he is quite
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incapable of studying a phenomenon such as Nazism with detached

scientific objectivity, and of overloading his interpretations with

views hinging entirely on race to the exclusion of all else. To Vidal-

Naquet, an historian who has not swallowed the Holocaust myth
whole or, more particularly, his false version of it, is ipso facto an

anti-Semite: a childish process of reasoning, to be sure, but typical of

his school. Thus, his seal of approval on the Roques thesis would
have seriously damaged its stature: thinking historians would imme-
diately have regarded the thesis as suspect.

Still, Henri Roques did offer him his chance. Instead of accepting

that chance, as a man with some professional integrity would have
done, he evaded it; contenting himself later with defaming his col-

leagues in public and making false statements about the thesis itself,

which he evidently had not read. It is not without reason that many of

us feel Vidal-Naquet would be a man of odious principles, if he had
any.

The three good men and true who did step forward were:— Jean-Paul Allard, a Germanist and specialist in modem history;

— Jean-Claude Riviere, Henri Roques' own director of studies, a

specialist in textual analysis, and
— Fr. Pierre Zind, also a specialist in modem history and well

known for his views on Alsatian nationalism.

Considering the scurrilous campaign conducted against them when
the Roques Affair exploded, it is difficult to praise their honesty and
courage too highly.

A date was fixed, the usual notices circulated, and all the legal

formalities observed. The practice in France, as elsewhere, is that the

final hearing of a thesis, which we sometimes call a "dissertation," is

held in public: anyone with a legitimate interest can attend. Essen-

tially, the hearing is an oral examination: one of the main purposes is

for the jurors to assure themselves that the candidate really has

researched and studied his subject and not merely cobbled a thesis

together from other peoples' books.

Henri Rocques had an unusually large audience of about forty

persons.

Later, Vidal-Naquet and others alleged that the hearing had been
held with undue haste and secrecy: this is a downright falsehood.

Vidal-Naquet himself had been invited to participate as a juror but

had refused. However, we also know now that he had been in contact

with colleagues at the University of Nantes to keep himself informed

of developments; furthermore, he could have shown up as one of the

audience at the hearing if he had wanted to. Why did he not? Is it

because it was easier to stay away, i.e., evade hearing the facts of the
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thesis before witnesses, so that he could glibly distort those facts

afterwards?

Discussing the development of French universities up to modern

times, Alfred Cobben wrote:

An imposing bureaucratic apparatus centered in Paris was charged with

regulating the educational life of France down to the smallest detail. If, today,

the rector of a university cannot appoint his secretary, dismiss a cleaner, or

modify an academic course without reference to Paris, it is in obedience to the

dead hand of Napoleon.4

In assesing this statement, we should remember that when the

university apparatus was installed, neither Napoleon — nor any

successive government— wanted independent centers of learning.

What Napoleon wanted, and what we still have, is a tool of govern-

ment. Until quite recent times, exactly the same comment could have

been made of Henry VHI's reformation of the church and universi-

ties in England.

A skeptic might, with reason, wonder how a constitution devel-

oped by Napoleon could still be functioning according to the original

plan more than one and a half centuries later; but it does. Other

evidence could be offered, but the best is already in Land: the case of

Henri Roques himself. The action against him was initiated, not by

any university or academic authority, but by a political minister and

for political reasons.

Dr. Goebbels himself would have relished such a privilege.

In the Anglo-Saxon countries, the independence of the universi-

ties may not be quite so perfected as some of us like to imagine.

Nevertheless, the ideal of independence is in place, is generally

accepted and can be appealed to. Perhaps if might be more accurate

to say that in general a concordat exists between universities and

governments; the universities do not meddle in government affairs

and the government does not intervene in university matters.

This is not true in France. Certainly, men of integrity and learning

do teach at French universities and, moreover, manage to retain

some independence of judgement. But since the universities are

almost entirely dependent on the government for finance, academics

tend to regard themselves and behave much as any other civil

servant. As in the army, in the police or in the diplomatic service,

conformity with government policies earns approval and promotion.

On xii, we show a copy of Paul Malvy's letter of 3 July 1986 and

a translation.

Of the two reasons quoted by Malvy, the first is ridiculous. Henri

Roques asked the authorities to transfer his file from Paris IV to
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Nantes because his new director of studies was a professor at Nantes.

If the file had arrived too late, or there had been some other clerical

error, why did not Malvy's office say so at the time? It cannot have

been Henri Roques ' error— or any grounds whatsoever for cancelling

a doctorate— if there had been some sort of administrative mix-up

on the part of Malvy's own staff.

The second reason is more interesting.

The jury of the three professors had invited the participation of a

lecturer at the University as an expert on the period. Since he was not

a professor (head of department), he had no authority to sign any

document relating to the thesis and he was not even permitted to sit

in when the jury was deliberating. His function was merely that of an

expert witness. As a matter of fact, he was not even present at the

public hearing of the thesis on 15 June 1985.

But Malvy's "investigators" found his "signature" on the report of

the hearing! This "signature" did not resemble the lecturer's proper

signature at all: it was self-evidently false. It was so patently false, in

fact, that to call it a "forgery" could be a form of flattery.

Who then had added this name. It was some mischief-maker, no

doubt: and no friend of Henri Roques. How did it happen that his

false name was found all of one year after the doctorate had been

approved? After the file had already circulated among dozens of

people? Why was it suddenly noticed only when Malvy had started

his "investigation"?

We shall probably never know. This farcical and contemptible

attempt to disqualify the thesis could not work; or so we thought.

The genuine signatures of the jury remained valid and they were all

that counted.

Not so: the government had found its pretext, a pretext obviously

fabricated by those who, like the government, wanted the thesis

suppressed. But the pretext, no matter how flimsy, was used, and the

doctorate was annulled.

In seeking to discredit Roques, the minister had merely succeeded

in discrediting himself, the universities he was supposed to protect

and the value of the diplomas awarded by those universities. Perhaps

the enemies of academic freedom enjoyed a momentary satisfaction;

but meantime the thesis, by now famous, had been published in full.

It is interesting that throughout the whirlwind of verbiage that the

publication provoked, not one word of criticism was uttered by

anyone on the content of the thesis itself. In other words, the only

aspect of the thesis which concerned its adversaries had not been its

truthfulness and accuracy but its propaganda impact: a fact which, of

itself, it illuminating.
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Six months later, there was an amusing and not irrelevent sequel.

Devaquet, the minister who had implemented the government's

policies against Roques, himself a product of the best in the univer-

sity system, was forced to resign. He had provoked the largest

student demonstrations France has ever seen.

The immediate reason was the "Devaquet Law," intended to

change students' conditions. Devaquet inevitably blamed the stu-

dents, saying they had not read his law properly. Perhaps; perhaps

not; though it seems odd that students would revolt for reasons

unknown to themselves. Had Devaquet, though, ever read Henri

Roques' thesis properly? If so, what was his explanation for his

conduct in that case?

Unless they happen to be reading modern history, today's students

rarely care very much about the so-called Holocaust or the travails of

France during the last world war. Certainly, although the shameless

treatment of Henri Roques was public knowledge, the students did

not take to the streets because of Henri Roques; nor had Henri

Roques incited them.

But students do care, often very intensely, about the quality of the

education they are supposed to be getting, the integrity of the func-

tionaries who are supposed to administer the universities, and the

worthwhileness of the degree for which they are striving.

Devaquet had shown himself a poor guardian of those interests if,

indeed, he had given them any thought at all. His appeals and
explanations were ignored: he was not believed. His resignation was
accepted and his law was withdrawn.

Academic Historians

To understand why the Roques thesis caused such an uproar, it is

useful to study the declaration of the Historians shown on 1 1.

This was intended by its signatories to be an important document.
It is certainly and interesting one for many reasons, among them:

It was composed and signed by civil servants holding academic
positions, and therefore reflects very accurately the views of the

French establishment, and the signatories knew that the evidence

they were quoting was incomplete/unproven/suspect, but withheld

that fact.

Since this declaration was published, much of the evidence other

than Gerstein's had been discredited too. For example, we have seen

in France a film released by the Russians forty-one years after the

event, purporting to show Auschwitz. Much of the film was patently

faked; even so, no evidence of gas-chambers, nor of so many other

things affirmed categorically in the Declaration was to be seen.
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However, one can also justifiably question why government em-

ployees, designated by themselves as historians, should feel obliged

to publish declarations in newspapers? Is the ordinary press a suit-

able vehicle for an historical study? Or a propaganda effort? Surely

the press tends to be part of the problem of historical truth, not its

aribiter?

But the overriding interest of this declaration has to be its mani-

festation of the very low caliber of intellect given to the study of

modern history in French universities these days. Let us not be either

too contemptuous or despondent: France, in quality and clarity of

thought, has led the world before and can do so again. But if this

declaration has to be accepted as symptomatic of the mental and

moral stature of academic historians, then it must be admitted that

the outlook, as far as the history departments of French universities

is concerned, is at the present time little less than dismal.

What does it actually say?

It starts off by saying that if we do not swallow— hook, line, and

sinker— all that is about to follow, we must surely be exceptionally

nasty persons lacking a proper humanitarian respect for Jews, Gyp-
sies, and Slavs. Thus, at the outset, they put die study of history

precisely where it should not be, at the center of a racist controversy.

These historians' lack of good manners is repugnant enough.

Then we have a good deal of cant as they tell us with sonorous

dignity (omitting to mention that they actually earn their livings at

the history business) what an altruistic and public-minded duty they

are performing by putting us to rights.

Then more cant about "schools of thought," as though there ever

was any true diversity of views in a civil service. And then the

"servitors of the humble truth," tossing in a quote from Herodotus to

encourage our faith in their authenticity and erudition, proceed to a

lie, by quoting evidence which they knew was false, or, at the very

least, extremely dubious.

Once more, we have to read that Germans writing official govern-

ment documents did not write what they meant; that to disguise the

true facts they used an office jargon called Amtsprache, the hidden

meaning of which was invariably sinister; and thus only cogno-

scenti, such as self-designated historians who write to Le Monde, can

now understand what the Germans really meant.

Surely this ploy, or sly evasion of reality, has by now been over-

used? Anyone who knows Germans knows that Germans, on no

matter what official business, endeavor to write exactly what they

mean, neither more nor less. If these historians are to be believed, it

is hard to know how Hitler could have ordered a three-minute egg for
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breakfast without precipitating a massacre of Jews, Gypsies and

Slavs somewhere or other.

But why did not the historians disclose that their principal wit-

ness, Gerstein, whose evidence they already knew to be dubious, had

been accused of war crimes? And that after facing the first interroga-

tion by a competent professional, the Frenchman Mathieu Mattei,

Gerstein had apparently hanged himself?

The arrogance, bad manners and chicanery of this declaration, the

falsehoods and evasions, became tedious. The final insult to the

intelligence is a peroration..."that everyone is free to believe what

he wishes...provided he believes what we tell him."

And yet, this declaration was signed by people with pretensions to

intelligence! Their livelihoods (one could have hoped) depended on

their teaching history competently.

It is no wonder that they and their employers (the government)

identified Henri Roques as an enemy and that the most vicious

attacks on him came from this group and its supporters.

But all for naught. The declaration has been quoted in countless

books; it has stayed to haunt them and has done incalculable damage
to their reputations. Just like Gerstein himself, they let their enthusi-

asm for the written word and their desire for fame run away with

them, and did not stop to check whether their facts held together.

^ ^ ^
A litle comedy is always refreshing.

On page 14 we show copy of letter dated 18 April 1986 from the

bursar's office of Nantes University, and a translation.

All that this brief letter means is that the official diploma of Henri

Roques' doctorate (the sort of certificate which some of us like to

frame and hang on the wall) was ready for collection. The University

of Nantes certainly took its time, as the doctorate had been awarded

ten months previously.

Henri Roques duly sent 16 francs and 60 centimes (about $3.00)

for the diploma to be mailed.

But, although the doctorate was not annulled until 3 July 1986, the

press had, in April, already lit the fuse to the powder keg of the

Roques affair.

Someone in the bursar's office was either very cautious, or clair-

voyant. Henri Roques did not receive his diploma (surely this calls

for an investigation?); nor, as a matter of fact, did he get back his 16

francs and 60 centimes (Malvy must have a great deal of clout.)

However, this document must still be on file somewhere. It is the

only one of its kind ever made and then cancelled since French

universities were founded seven centuries ago. It is unique. Its

historical value is hardly calculable.
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To be sure, one day it will turn up at a Sotheby's auction.

Presidence De L'Universite de Nantes

Le President.

Nantes, le 3 juillet 1986

L'Administrateur de l'Universite de Nantes,

Vu le rapport de l'enquete administrative, men6e k la demande de

Monsieur le Ministre Alain DEVAQUET, Ministre D61egu6 auprfcs

de Monsiuer le Ministre de 1'Education Nationale, charge de la Re-
cherche et de l'Ensignement Superieur, par Monsiuer le Recteur

Jean-Claude DISCHAMPS, Chancelier de l'Universite de Nantes,

sur la soutenance de thfcse pour l'obtention de Diplome d'Etudes et

de Recherche (Doctorat d'Universite) intervenue le 15 juin 1985 a

Lyon, Rhone, Monsieur Marcel BONVALET btant Recteur,

Chancelier de l'Universite de Nantes, et Monsieur Jacques VDLAINE,
ancien President de l'Universite de Nantes, etant Administrateur

Provisioire de cette Universite,

Vu, notamment, les conclusions de ce rapport, exposees publique-

ment au cours de la conference de presse, organis6e le 2 juillet 1986
au Ministere de la Recherche et de l'Enseignement Superieur, a

l'initiative de Monsieur Alain DEVAQUET,
Attendu qu'il ressort de ces conclusions que les conditions de

transfert du dossier de Monsiuer ROQUES depuis l'Universite de

Paris IV, d'inscription k l'Universite de Nantes, ainsi que de la

soutenance de these ont 6t6 entachees d'irr^gularite,

DECIDE
Article 1 - La soutenance de th6se de Monsieur Henri ROQUES,

qui a eu lieu k Nantes le 15 juin 1985, est annutee.

Article 2 - Cette decision sera notifiee k Monsieur ROQUES par

voie d'huissier. Elle rend nulle et non avenue l'attestion qui lui a ete

delivree le 28 juin 1985.

Article 3 - Cette decision sera port6e k la connaissance de Mon-
siuer le Recteur de l'Academie de Nantes, Chancelier des Univer-

sites, de Messieurs les Coordonnateurs des Ensambles, de Monsieur
le Directeur de l'lnstitute de Lettres Modemes, des membres du Jury

et des membres des Conseils de l'Universite.

P. Malvy

Translation

Presidency of the University of Nantes

Nantes, 8 July 1986
The President
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(To the) Provisional Administrator of the University of Nantes,

In view of the report of the administrative enquiry conducted at

the request of Monsieur the Minister ALAIN DEVAQUET, Deputy

Minister to Monsieur the Minister for National Education, respon-

sible for Research and Advanced Studies, by Monsieur the Rector

Jean-Claude DISCHAMPS, Chancellor of the Univeristy of Nantes,

on the defense of a thesis for the award ofthe Diploma of Studies and

Research (Doctorate of the Univeristy) held 15 June 1985 at 9 hours

before the Faculty of Studies and Research, Letters and Humanities,

of the University of Nantes, by Monsiuer Henri ROQUES, bom 10

November 1920 at Lyon, Rhone, Monsieur Marcel BONVALET
being the Rector, Chancellor of the University of Nantes, and Mon-
sieur Jacques VILAINE, former President of the University of Nan-

tes, being the Provisional Administrator of this University,

In view, notably, of the conclusions of this report, explained

publicly in the course of a press conference, 5 organised 2 July 1986

at the Ministry of Research and Advanced Studies, on the initiative

of Monsiuer Alain DEVAQUET.
Whereas it arises from these conclusions that the circumstances of

the transfer of the file
6 of Monsieur ROQUES from the University of

Paris IV, the registration at the University of Nantes, as well as the

upholding of the thesis have been marked by irregularity,

It is decided that

Article 1 — The upholding of the thesis of Monsieur Henri RO-
QUES, which took place at Nantes on the 15 June 1985 is annulled.

Article 2 — This decision will be notified to Monsieur Henri

ROQUES by means of a court messenger. It renders null and void

the certificate which was delivered to him 28 June, 1985.

Article 3 — This decision will be brought to the notice of Mon-
sieur the Rector of the Acadmeny of Nantes, the Chancellor for the

Universities, to Messieurs the Coordinators of Assemblies, to Mon-
sieur the Director of the Institute of Contemporary Letters, to the

members of the Jury and to the members of the Committee of the

University,

(signed) P. Malvy

University de Nantes

Faculty des Lettres Et Sciences Humaines

(Ensemble Administratif «L»)

B.P. 1025 • 44036 Nantes Cedex - T61. (40) 74.74.01

SCOL/YL/JC
Nantes, le 18 avril 1986

Le Chef du Bureau Scolarit6 "L"

k Monsieur Roques Henri
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Objet: Diplome du Recherche d'Universite

Monsieur,

Jai l'honneur de vous faire connaitre que le diplome que vous

aviez demande est k votre disposition au bureau de la scolarit6.

Les bureaux de la scolarit6 sont ouverts tous les jours de 8 H 45 k

11H30.
Si vous ne pouvez pas vous d6placer, vous voudrez bien nous faire

parvenir 16,60 F en timbres pour 1'envoi par correspondence.

Je vous prie d'agrSer, Monsiuer, 1'expression de mes sentiments

distingu6s.

Le Chef du Bureau Scolarit6 "L"

Y. Lannurien

Translation

University of Nantes

Faculty of Letters and the Humanities

Nantes, 18 April 1986

(Administrative Offices "L")

P.O.B. 1025

4406 Nantes Cedex
Phone: (4) 74.74.01

SCOL/YL/JC

Head of the Bursar's Office "L" to

Monsieur Roques Henri

Subject: Diploma of the University for Research

Sir,

I have the honor to inform you that the diploma you have re-

quested is at your disposal at the Bursar 's office.

The Bursar's offices are open every day from 8.45 hours until

11.30.

If you are unable to collect personally, kindly remit Francs 16.60

stamps for dispatch by mail.

I request you to accept, Monsieur, the expression ofmy respectful

regards,

Head of the Bursar's Office "L"

(stamp and signature) Y. Lannurien

xiv



Footnotes

1. Published by George Allen & Unwin Ltd., London, and Mayflower Books, Inc.,

New York, 1979.

2. The Promise Hitler Kept, published by Victor Gollancz, London.

3. The Globe and Mail, Toronto, 17 January, 1985.

4. Alfred Cobban, A History ofModern France, Volune II, 1 799-1871, published by

Penguin Books Ltd., England, 1977. He was professor of French History at

London University, and also visiting professor at Chicago, Harvard, John Hopkins

and other universities in the United States.

5. An incident which showed Davaquet's style of managing universities and his

respect for their integrity.

With the intention, doubtless, of capturing some favorable media publicity, De-

vaquet announced his decision at a special press conferenc. As the dates show,

Henri Roques was informed later.

All the authorities at the University of Nantes denied categorically that there

had been any irregularity in processing the Roques file, thesis papers, etc. Would

this be the reason why Devaquet went over their heads and faced them with a fait

accompli!

If an enquiry was necessary at all, surely that was a domestic matter for the

university; but under the Devaquet regime the universities were to lose not

merely any tatters of independence but their self-respect as well.

Like the Historians, Devaquet believed in trial by the media, and like them, he

walked into a fool's trap: the Historians lost their credibility, and he became the

most unpopular minister for the universities that France has had in many a year.

6. The student's file of biographical details, academic history, courses being

studied, at which university registered, and so forth.
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Introduction

Why have we chosen as the subject for a thesis a study of the

"confessions" of the German, Kurt Gerstein? Principally, for the

following reasons:

— These confessions have been used since 1945 by numerous

French and foreign authors both in books and in magazine and

newspaper articles.

— Attentive readers of these books and articles have been misled

by the important differences one notes in the reproduction of the

texts, as well as the dates attributed to the "confessions." The confes-

sions actually exist in several versions, which justifies a comparative

study.

— We are faced with an enigma that is due in particular to

Gerstein 's strange personality; and a critical examination of his

"confessions" might possibly help us to resolve that enigma. How-
ever, the Gerstein enigma will not be the focal point of our work,

because we are not here concerned with an historical study. We shall

refer to this aspect only in making use of the books written about him
by three authors (see pages 6 and 12), and the letters which have

been addressed to us by his widow.
— The texts left us by the former SS officer are key documents in

the files on the poison gas chambers: gas chambers whose existence

in the Nazi concentration camps is strongly contested by Revisionist

historians;
1

— Not only all the Revisionist authors, but certain non-Revision-

ists as well, wish that a university thesis might establish the exact

texts. In the course of a trial on 29 May 1981 in which Leon Poliakov

was pitted against Robert Faurisson, both Leon Poliakov and Pierre

Vidal-Naquet stated that it was but a trivial fault if additions, sup-

pressions, and errors could be pointed out in Poliakov's publications

concerning the Gerstein story, since it was not a matter of a univer-

sity thesis.
2

This incertitude regarding the exact texts of the "confessions,"

their authenticity and their veracity, seems to us to justify defending

the present thesis as coming within the scope of a French language

Department of Education and Research.

First, it is essential to resolve a problem of editing the texts, even

though the style of these narratives is mediocre, and taking into

consideration that Gerstein was not writing in his native language.
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Although their author was German, four of the six versions of the

"confessions" known to us are written in French.

Gerstein, who had studied French in high school, surrendered to

the troops of the 1st French Army, who were occupying Wurttem-

berg at the end of April 1945, and composed for them his "confes-

sions" in French. His French is often clumsy and incorrect, but suf-

ficiently comprehensible to eliminate any risk of misunderstanding.

Our decision to call the texts left by Gerstein "confessions" could

be questioned. They were generally called "reports" by the writers

who have copied or discussed them. This term "report" does not

seem suitable to us; the texts of the former SS officer do not have the

discipline nor the matter-of-fact style one expects in a report.

In order to avoid too-frequent repetition of the word "confes-

sions," the words "account" and "document" have sometimes been
employed in the course of this thesis, but these terms are too neutral

to describe the different versions.

In consideration of the tone, the form, and the content of these

texts, we believe, with Olga Wormser-Migot {Le Systeme concentra-

tionnaire nazi, page 11 and 426), that the word "confession" is the

most appropriate.

At all times, we have placed the word "confession" in quotation

marks, since the choice is ours and not Gerstein's.

A Subject of Present-Day Concern?

One can consider that the subject is of current interest. On 21
February 1979, the newspaper Le Monde3 published a "Declaration

of Historians on the Hitler Policy of Extermination" (see copy and
translation pages 11 et seq. and also pages 166 et seq.). The compo-
sition of this declaration is attributable to L6on Poliakov and Pierre

Vidal-Naquet, who obtained the signatures of thirty-two colleagues,

including academics such as Emmanuel Leroy-Ladurie, Pierre

Chaunu, J.P. Vernant, Jacques Le Goff, Francois Furet, et. al.

In this declaration we read: "...From amongst so very much
evidence, which obviously can not come from those who have been
killed, is it necessary to recall that of the SS Gerstein, who tried in

vain, as early as 1942, to alert the civil and religious authorities on
what was happening in these camps? Written by himself, 26 April

1945, for the French authorities, in hesitant French, his account,

indisputable in its essentials, ofwhat he saw at Belzec, is all the more
moving ..."

Fifty-five lines follow, set out in two columns on page 23 of the

newspaper; they are extracts from Gerstein's typewritten account in

French, carrying the reference number PS-1553, under which it was
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called for, but not retained, by the Grand Tribunal of Nuremberg, on

30 January 1946. The partial reproduction of this text (which we
shall designate T II in this thesis) conforms with the original.

The Most Convincing Evidence For
The Existence of the Gas Chambers?

The two historians who have chosen Gerstein' s evidence "from

amongst so very much" maintain it to be probably the most convinc-

ing evidence for the existence of the gas chambers. The evidence can

only be considered to be plentiful if one takes into account the often

vague and contradictory evidence of the former deportees and the

combatants who arrived at the camps just after their evacuation.

There is no need here to wonder about the value that should be

placed on the evidence.

Only the written evidence interests us; since that is scanty the

authors of the declaration of the historians were very limited in their

choice.

A Unique Case

During the trial of 29 May 1981, a lawyer asked the following

question of Pierre Joffroy, who was testifying in favor of L6on
Poliakov: "Can the witness tell the Court whether he has knowledge

of any other evidence relating to the existence and to the functioning

of the gas chambers coming from a high-ranking SS officer, or

anyway of the rank of Monsieur Gerstein, which is available? Put-

ting it another way, are there any other accessible sources originating

from the SS of which there has been a trace during the war and not

after the Liberation?"

Reply of Pierre Joffroy: "To my knowledge, no. For this reason I

think that the evidence of Gerstein is important; it is for this reason

that, in writing my book, I felt myself almost entrusted with a kind of

mission, that of saying that this man was honest, was sincere. I think

that if one tries to demolish this evidence, it is because it comes from

within the SS and that there is no other so far as I know."

A bit previously, in the course of the same hearing, Pierre Joffroy

had spontaneously stated in reference to Gerstein: "This was—

I

hesitate to say the word because it seems to me very inadequate

—

this was a hero, I should have said a saint." (CR.stenogr.1981.) This

explains the title given by Joffroy to his book on Gerstein: L'Espion

de Dieu/La Passion de Kurt Gerstein (God's Spy/The Passion of

Kurt Gerstein).

In the same attitude of mind, Leon Poliakov had written in 1964

3



(Le Monde Juif/The Jewish World, March-April page 4): "The Ger-

man Gerstein was a Righteous Man among the Gentiles."

In light of such a presentation of his character and his writings, the

author of the present thesis will not say, as does Pierre Joffroy, that

he feels himself entrusted with some kind of mission, but more

simply that it has seemed to him urgent to establish what really are

the "confessions" of a former SS officer, to make a comparative

study of the different versions, and to evaluate as exactly as possible

the degree of credibility which can be accorded them.

Six Known Versions and Some Drafts

More fortunate than Pierre Joffroy who knows only three ver-

sions, than Saul Friedlander who counts four, than L6on Poliakov

and Pierre Vidal-Naquet who quote five, we have the privilege of

knowing six, to which can be added some separate pages which have

sometimes served as drafts.

It is not certain that we have at our disposition all the documents

still in existence; on the contrary, it is certain that a number of

documents, either in French or in German, have disappeared. Details

on this last point will be furnished in the course of this thesis.

Thus, we possess six complete texts, each of which constitutes

one version of the "confessions"; they carry dates between 26 April

and 6 May 1945 inclusive. The originals or their copies (certain

originals have disappeared) are preserved in various archives of

which we shall give the names and addresses when studying each of

them.

Herewith the chronological list of the six texts, with the designa-

tions we have given them:

— T I: Handwritten text of 26 April 1945 in French
— Til: Typewritten text of 26 April 1945 in French (PS-1553)

— T HI: Typewritten text of 4 May 1945 in German
— T IV: Handwritten text of 6 May 1945 in French
— TV: Typewritten text of6 May 1945 in French entitled: "Report

of Dr. Gerstein of Tubingen." There are three variants:

• The version of the O.R.C.G.,4 which is the first of the three

(TVa)
•A version originating from the above but with changes and errors

in transcription; it is this text which is preserved in the National

Archives in Washington with the declassification reference 01.0813

(TVb)
• An English translation, which moreover has at the top: "Transla-

tion," obviously made from the second variant (T Vb), carrying the

same reference 01.0813 of the National Archives in Washington (T
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Vc)
— T VI: Typewritten text of 6 May 1945 in German (PS-2170)

Over and above these six texts, we shall present:

— Additions and drafts (to which we shall not assign a reference);

— The last letter written by Gerstein to his wife, dated 26 May
1945;

— Two interrogations of Gerstein by the French military justice

department in June and July 1945;

—An article printed in the newspaper France-Soir of4 July 1945;— The request for a lawyer written by Gerstein in capital letters

and dated 15 July 1945;

— Some fragments of documents found after Gerstein' s death, in

his cell in the prison of Cherche-Midi.

No Text Before 1945

Hypotheses concerning the existence of "Gerstein reports" (sic)

as early as 1942 have been advanced by certain writers. It seems
indispensable to study this question and to state here and now our

conviction on this point.

In the Declaration of the Historians published in 1979 in the news-
paper Le Monde, the efforts of SS Officer Gerstein "who tried in

vain, as early as 1942, to alert the civil and religious authorities on
what was happening in these camps" will be recalled.

Gerstein did actually speak to some witnesses, as confirmed by
them. The Swedish diplomat, Baron von Otter, and two Dutchmen
who were working in Berlin in 1943 have been affirmative on this

point. With less clarity, some Protestant pastors, notably Otto Dibe-

lius and Kurt Rehling, have acknowledged discussing with Gerstein

his experiences in the Polish camps.

The texts of the "confessions" nowhere state that Gerstein made a

written report to anybody whomsoever. One of the two Dutchmen
mentioned above even declared as a witness during the trial of 29
May 1981 (CR. stenogr. 1981): "Gerstein told us that he could not

write on this subject" (that is, the subject of the gassings at Belzec

and Treblinka).

Nevertheless, one can read from the pen of Saul Friedlander: "In

August 1942 Gerstein, who had just witnessed extermination gas-

sings, tries to meet with the papal nuncio Orsenigo; he is sent away.

It is then that he communicates a report to the legal advisor of Msgr.

Preysing, Archbishop of Berlin, and requests that it be forwarded to

the Holy See. There is no reason to believe that the document was
not sent to Rome. The Gerstein report of 1942 was probably almost

identical to the one he composed on 4 May 1945 since he describes
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the same event... Considering the fact that to this day the Holy See

has not denied having received the Gerstein report during the war,

one has the right to assume that a text basically identical to that

which we are about to quote was sent to the Sovereign Pontiff by

Msgr. Preysing at the end of 1942." (Pie XII et le Illme Reich, 1964,

page 123)

The deduction of the historian Friedlander seems questionable.

That an assumed recipient has not denied receiving a supposed

document is not sufficient grounds for thinking that the document

did in all likelihood exist.

With his suppositions, Saul Friedlander almost matches the dra-

matic license to which the Protestant Rolf Hochhuth had recourse in

his play The Deputy. Gerstein plays an important role in it as does

Pope Pius XII. One sees Gerstein on the stage, having gained entry to

the Vatican while on furlough, meeting again with the nuncio Msgr.

Orsenigo, with whom he has already had a discussion in Berlin. This

last point is false: the former SS officer himself wrote in his "confes-

sions" that he was sent packing as soon as he presented himself at the

nunciature in Berlin. In Rome, Gerstein converses with prelates very

close to the Pope and vehemently reproaches them with the silence

of the Sovereign Pontiff on the question of the extermination of the

Jews in Poland. Thus, Hochhuth presents to us scenes of pure

invention, and his theatrical exaggeration has shocked the entire

world. But it must be said in his favor that Rolf Hochhuth was not

writing as an historian but as a dramatist.

In conclusion, there is nothing whatever to indicate that Gerstein

might have written any text at all prior to April 1945,5 either in 1942

or thereafter.

Gerstein's Biographers

Three books have dealt fundamentally with the Gerstein case; all

three were published in the 1960's, after the almost worldwide

presentation of Rolf Hochhuth's play, The Deputy, mentioned above.

It was by means of a dramatic work that the legend was woven of

the SS officer Gerstein who, while the war was still going on,

supposedly tried to let the whole world know ofthe massive extermi-

nation of Jews in the gas chambers. Certain Israeli and Protestant

circles sought to have Gerstein rehabilitated: the former SS officer

had not in fact been absolved posthumously in 1950 by a denazifica-

tion board, which was content merely to accord him extenuating

circumstances. The desired rehabilitation came about in 1965. The

play The Deputy appeared at the end of 1962; it was at this period

also that the Second Vatican Council opened, convoked by Pope
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John XXIII.

— The first biography of Kurt Gerstein appeared in Zurich in

1964; it was the work of the German, Helmut Franz, himself the

brother of a pastor, and was entitled Kurt Gerstein, Aussenseiter des

Widerstands der Kirche gegen Hitler (Kurt Gerstein, Outsider of the

Church Resistance against Hitler). An old friend of Gerstein's, Franz

was active with him in the youth movements of the Evangelical

Church between 1925 and 1933. He stayed in contact with Gerstein

and saw him several times during the war. At the end of his book,

Franz reproduces correctly, but also with deletions which he notes,

the typewritten account in German dated 4 May 1945, the only one

of which it seems he had knowledge, thanks to Hans Rothfels's

publication (op. cit.).

— The second biography, written by Saul Friedlander, was pub-

lished in France in 1967. Its title: Kurt Gerstein ou Vambiguite du
bien (Kurt Gerstein or the Ambiguity of Good). In this book numer-
ous details are found on the life of Gerstein before and then during

the war. Our own researches have convinced us that certain of these

details are not correct. As for the texts of the former SS officer which

are quoted, it is obvious that Saul Friedlander borrowed them from

L6on Poliakov. Later on, we shall see the use to which the latter has

put them.

— In France also, in 1969, Pierre Joffroy marked a decisive turn-

ing point in titling his book LEspion de DieulLa Passion de Kurt

Gerstein (God's Spy/The Passion of Kurt Gerstein). In this work,

there is no longer a question of ambiguity as suggested by Saul

Friedlander. Pierre Joffroy exerts himself to make the reader share

his conviction that Gerstein is a sort of saint, an intermediary be-

tween God and men; the latter did not understand him and were,

either directly or indirectly, responsible for his death in a Paris

prison. The texts of the "confessions" known to Pierre Joffroy were

three in number (op. cit., page 283); the author reproduces in full and

correctly the text we designate T n, not even improving Gerstein's

often clumsy French, which can be discouraging to the reader (op.

cit., pages 283-290).

The Metamorphosis of the "Confessions"

In 1951, Leon Poliakov published his book Le Breviaire de la

Haine (The Breviary of Hate), with a preface by Francis Mauriac.

We find in this work, on pages 220 to 224, a fairly long extract from

one of Gerstein's narratives. To which version does it relate? Leon

Poliakov writes that it bears "the certain date of 5 May 1945";

however, none of the six texts carries this date. Actually L6on
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Poliakov has used the typewritten version in French dated 26 April

1945 (which we designate T II) and has made a partial copy of it that

includes serious distortions and omissions.

In 1953, in Germany, Professor Hans Rothfels reprints the version

in German dated 4 May 1945 (which we designate T III) in the

Vierteljahreshefte fiir Zeitgeschichte (Quarterly of Contemporary

History) No. 2 - April 1953; this reproduction is faithful, but incom-

plete: deletions, which are noted by the author, have been made and

all supplementary material has been omitted.

In France, Leon Poliakov 's book Le Breviaire de la Haine (The

Breviary of Hate) is republished three times: in 1960, in 1974, and in

1979. The author adheres to the inaccurate text of 1951 and inserts

sentences appropriated from the German version that Hans Rothfels

made known to the public in 1953; he omits to inform the reader of

these additions.

L6on Poliakov, Hans Rothfels, and various other writers who
repeated the publications of the first two, had, in France, an attentive

and critical reader in the person of Paul Rassinier.6 He was puzzled

by the differences he remarked between one text and another; in par-

ticular, he took issue energetically with Leon Poliakov, whom he

accused of presenting variant texts attributed to Gerstein while

pretending, every time, to be reproducing the same document. L6on
Poliakov did not reply to the criticisms of Paul Rassinier and has

completely ignored them.

If we try to make a schedule of the utilization of the six known
versions, we note:

1 . T II andT HI have been the versions most utilized for reproduc-

tion, sometimes complete, but more often partial and distorted.

2. T V has never been published in full; it has been used only in

very fragmentary samplings whose source has never been indicated

with exactitude.

3. T VI, although noted by Saul Friedlander (K.G., 1967, page

11), has also never been published, even in part.

4. T I can not heretofore have been known to readers except from

the facsimile of pages 3 and 4 which is found in Saul Friedlander 's

book (op. cit. y pages 100-103).

5. Text IV, handwritten in French and dated 6 May 1945, was

discovered by us in the Archives of the Evangelical Church of

Bielefeld (Westphalia), in as much as no one, to our knowledge, ever

called attention to it.

6. The additions (Ergdnzungen) to the "confessions" T III and T
IV have never been published at all.

We set out below the list, perhaps not exhaustive, of the reproduc-

tions of T II, T III, and T V.
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I— T II (text typewritten in French dated 26 April 1945) has been

reproduced:

1. completely and correctly by:

— Pierre Joffroy (L'Espion de Dieu/God's Spy, 1969, pages 283-

290) who has only eliminated the biographical information at the

beginning and the list of persons named by Gerstein as anti-Nazi at

the end;

— Arthur R. Butz, Revisionist historian (The Hoax of the Twenti-

eth Century, 1976, pages 251-258), who has nonetheless made some
minor errors, notably in the spelling of proper names. This text in

English comes from the official American translation of PS-1553.

The most unfortunate error consists in the omission, from a phrase of

the narrative, of the adverb "also." Thus one reads: "Naked in

winter" instead of "Naked also in winter." Gerstein's visit to the

Belzec camp having taken place in August, one could think that the

SS officer places this month in the wintertime;

2. completely but incorrectly by:

— L6on Poliakov (Le Monde JuiffYht Jewish World, March-

April 1964, pages 4-12);

3. partially and correctly by:

— Adalbert Ruckerl (N.S. Vernichtungslager/N.S. Extermination

Camps, 1977, pages 61-66) in a German translation;

— L6on Poliakov (Le Proces de Jerusalem/The Jerusalem Trial,

1963, pages 224-228) who, in 1963, presents a text very different

from those he published previously and from those he published sub-

sequently.

4. partially and incorrectly by:

— Leon Poliakov (Le Briviaire de la Haine /The Breviary of

Hate, 1951 edition, pages 220-224) who claims he is reproducing the

same document in the further editions of 1960, 1974, and 1979;

whereas the reproductions in the later editions are even less faithful

to the original text than in the 1951 edition. In each edition, the

reproduction breaks off just before the sentence where Gerstein

extravagantly estimates at 25 million the number of victims at only

Belzec and Treblinka;

— Joe Heydecker and Johannes Leeb (Der Numberger Prozess/

The Nuremberg Trial, 1958, pages 456-460) in a German translation,

with serious inaccuracies, different from those one remarks in the

case of Leon Poliakov.

II — T III (typewritten text in German dated 4 May 1945) has

been reproduced:

1. correctly, but with deletions, by:

— Hans Rothfels (Vierteljahresheftefur Zeitgeschichte/QudLTteily

of Contemporary History, 1953, pages 177-194) who has indicated
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all his deletions and given numerous explanatory notes; the additions

(Erganzungen) number among the deletions;

Helmut Krausnick (Dokumentation zur Massenvergasung/Docu-

mentation on the Mass Gassings, 1956), who cites the publication of

Hans Rothfels, but with fewer explanatory notes;

— Leon Poliakov and Josef Wulf (Das Dritte Reich und die

Juden/The Third Reich and the Jews, 1955, pages 101-115) who
quote the Hans Rothfels publication, with the same deletions, also

more or less indicated, with fewer explanatory notes;

2. incorrectly and with deletions by:

— L6on Poliakov and Josef Wulf (Le llle Reich et les Juifs/The

Third Reich and the Jews, 1959, pages 107-1 19). This text in French

is stated to be the translation of the German text (op. cit. 1955, pages

101-115); it differs at several points from the German text but

without it being possible to explain the inaccuracies merely as errors

in translation;

3. partially and incorrectly by:

— Robert Neumann (HitlerlAufstieg und Untergang des Dritten

Reiches/Hitler/The Rise and Fall of the Third Reich, 1961, pages

190-192) who changes the number of persons crammed into a cham-
ber of 25m2 from 700/800 to 170/180.

HI—TV (typewritten text in French dated 6 May 1945) has been
reproduced:

1. fragmentarily but correctly by:

— Pierre Joffroy (op. cit.\ who has taken excerpts from TV and
reproduced them on different pages of his book.

2. fragmentarily and incorrectly by:

— L6on Poliakov (Le Monde Juif/The Jewish World, March-
April 1964, pages 7-11), who has inserted six passages borrowed
from TV into the Gerstein narrative which is presented, incorrectly

moreover, as the reproduction ofT n. Of these six passages set off by
indentation from the rest of the text, there are two which are faith-

fully reproduced and four that contain inaccuracies.

In the above list, we have cited neither Saul Friedlander (Kurt

Gerstein ou Vambiguite du Wen/Kurt Gerstein or the Ambiguity of

Good, 1967, pages 34, 73, 96-99, 104-108, 118-119, 143, 156-158)

nor Frangois Delpech (Historiens et Geographes/Historians and
Geographers, No. 273, May-June 1979, pages 628-629), for both

have simply copied the texts reproduced by L6on Poliakov. Finally,

other authors—and these are the most numerous—have written of

Gerstein, of his presumed role, of his revelations, but without pub-

lishing an extract from this or that "confession." Among these we
mention:

— Gerald Reitlinger: The Final Solution (1953), The SS (1956);
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— Raul Hilberg: The Destruction of the European Jews (1961);— Rolf Hochhuth: Der StellvertreterfYht Deputy, a stageplay

produced in 1963, translated into several languages, notably into

French under the title Le Vicaire;

— Jacques Nobecourt: Le Vicaire et I Histoire/The Deputy and
History (1963);— Lucy S. Dawidowicz: The War against the Jews (1975);— Gideon Hausner: Justice at Jerusalem, French translation

(1976);— John Toland: AdolfHitler (1976); et al.

To this list it is appropriate to add historian Olga Wormser-Migot,
who defended and published a thesis on Le Systeme concentration-

naire nazi/Thc Nazi Concentration Camp System (French Universi-

ties' Press 1968). But while the other writers mentioned do not

question the veracity of Gerstein's statements, Olga Wormser-Migot
expresses her skepticism. In particular she writes: "The recurring

leitmotifs of the confession, including the prayers of the victims, are

so identical to fifty other memoires—including those of the Hoess
Memoires—that, for our part, we find it difficult to accept the

complete authenticity of the Gerstein confession or the truth of all its

elements" (op. cit. page 426).

In beginning the present thesis, we were therefore confronted by:— six versions of the "confessions" written in three different

languages;

— reproductions, often partial and distorted, of three of them
only;

— utilization of these narratives by numerous writers who were
content to make only a partial summary.

The fundamental task thus seemed to us: to establish the texts with

a rigorous exactitude.

What follows is the text of the Le Monde article referred to on
page 2:

The Hitler Policy of Extermination:

A Declaration by the Historians

Since the end of the Second World War, it has happened on several

occasions that publicists, sometimes taking the title of historians,

have cast doubt on the veracity of the evidence on the Hitler policy

of extermination. This evidence had, in 1945, a glaring obviousness.

The great majority of the deportees today are dead. Their writings

remain in the archives of the Third Reich, but this documentation

does not always prevent reactions which are in the form of a "cri-

tique" in appearance only. To contend that Zyklon B merely extermi-
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nated lice, it is really necessary to admit in one's conscience that the

Jews, the Gypsies or if need be the Slavs, or men worn out by labor,

were really only lice.

That said, it is natural that the generation which did not receive the

shock of 1945 today asks itself questions. It is for their use, and not

in reply to just any Tom, Dick, or Harry, that we are publishing this

present declaration. We do so in our capacity as historians, which

gives us no right but only a duty, that of being, through the schools of

thought of which we are members, the servants of the humble truth,

with only one mission, that long since put into words by the "Father

of History": "To prevent what men have done from being effaced, by

time, from human memory."

"Human Animals"

1. It is generally estimated that 6 million Jews, 200,000 Gypsies,

and 100,000 Germans, the latter considered hereditarily degenerate,

were exterminated in the course of the war. We must add to that

several million Poles, Russians, and other Slavs, whose numbers

were to be artificially reduced by hunger, the limitation on births, or

extermination by reason of the needs of the SS state, its living space,

and its contempt for "subhumans," for those whom Himmler called

"human animals."

To these collective exterminations should be added their individ-

ual killings by the most varied methods—including poisoning by

gas—of very many deportees: anti-Nazi Germans, resisters from the

countries of western Europe—particularly the French—even com-
mon-law prisoners. Some of these killings arose from a "political"

decision, others finished off the bodies of those who had become
incapable of further work for the Nazi war machine.

2. The solidarity of the facts is established at the same time by the

evidence of thousands of deportees, by the administrative documents

coming from the archives of the Third Reich and which remain

meaningful, even when written in what Eichmann called "Amtspra-

che" (bureaucratese) and, lastly, by the detailed confessions of the

executioners.

3. This policy has gone through several stages. As far back as 1

September 1939, Hitler gave the order to kill off the German men-
tally ill, described as useless mouths. Six extermination centers with

gas chambers were installed in Germany (Brandenburg, Grafeneck,

Bernburg, Sonnenstein, Hartheim, Hadamar). In the face of the

public protests of the German clergy, Hitler was, however, com-
pelled in August 1941 to suspend this "euthanasia program."

In anticipation of the attack against the Soviet Union, Hitler
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ordered the extermination of racial enemies in the territories to be

conquered: the Jews, ideological adversaries, the communist "com-

missars," "asocial" elements, the Gypsies. At first, this extermina-

tion was essentially the work of the special detachments, the "Ein-

satzgruppen." They killed—principally by shooting but also by means

of trucks equipped with an apparatus for gassing the occupants—

a

number of human beings difficult to estimate, perhaps two million.

These methods involved psychological difficulties for the military

and civil authorities and were not applied outside Soviet territory, the

field par excellence of the ideological war. Everywhere else, the

exterminations were effected thanks to the creation of special instal-

lations, principally in Polish territory. During the first months of

1942, five extermination camps over and above that of Auschwitz,

which existed previously and which was then situated in the territory

of the Reich, were created with all necessary installations and nota-

bly with gas chambers: Chelmo (1), Belzec, Sobibor, Treblinka, and

Maidanek. An adequate setting of the scene (disguise of the build-

ings as ordinary railway stations with the aid of appropriate posters

and signs) was intended to mislead the victims, to prevent any

desperate rebellions at the last moment. From among so very much
evidence, which obviously can not come from those who have been

killed, is it necessary to drag in that of the SS officer Gerstein who
tried in vain to alert, as early as 1942, the civil and religious authori-

ties on what was happening in these camps? Written by himself on
26 April 1945 for the French authorities in hesitant French, his

account of what he saw at Belzec, indisputable in its essentials, is all

the more moving:

"Myself with the Hauptmann Wirth, police, we find ourselves

before the chambers ofdeath. Totally naked, the men, the women, the

young girls, the children, the babies, those with only one leg, all

naked, pass. In a corner, a strong SS man, with a high unctuous

voice, says to the poor people: 'Nothing will happen to you! it will

not be necessary for you to do anything but breathe deeply, this

makes the lungs strong, this inhalation, it is necessary against conta-

gious diseases, it is a fine disinfection!
9

Asked what would be their

fate, he says to them: 'Truly, the men must work, to build streets and
houses. But the women are not obliged. Only if they wish they can

help with the housework or in the kitchen.' For some of these poor

people, little hope once more, enough to make them walk without

resistance to the chambers of death, the majority know everything,

the smell tells them theirfate! Then they mount the little stairway and
see the truth! Mothers, nursing mothers, the babies at the breast,

naked, many children of all age, naked they hesitate, but they enter

into the chambers of death, most without saying a word, pushed by
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the others behind them, harried by the horsewhips of the SS. A
Jewess, 40 years about, eyes like torches, calls down the blood of

their children on their murderers. Receivingfive blows of the horse-

whip in the face from Hauptmann of police Wirth himself, she

disappears into the chamber ofgas. A great many make theirprayers,

some others say: 'Who is it who gives the waterfor death?' (Israelite

rite?) In the chambers, the SS push the men. Till up well' the

Hauptmann has ordered. The naked men are standing on the feet of

the others, 700-800 to 25 m2, to 45 m3! The doors close."

Auschwitz

On 20 January 1942, explaining in front of a group of fifteen high

officials what was already called "the final solution of the Jewish

problem," the Minister of Police, Reinhard Heydrich, was content to

say that a large part of the deported Jews "will eliminate themselves

quite naturally by reason of their state of physical deficiency and that

those remaining at the end of the account—whom we must consider

as the most resistant—must be treated in consequence." Here we
have a double euphemism: "to treat in consequence" meant in reality

"to gas," and the least resistant elements, the women, the children,

the aged, were treated in consequence upon their arrival at the places

of extermination.

It was at Auschwitz that the Nazi plan of extermination was

brought to perfection. Created in the summer of 1940, at first for

political prisoners or Polish or German criminals, this camp, or this

gigantic complex rather, covering some dozens of square kilometers,

became at the same time a place for immediate extermination and a

labor camp of especially inhumane working conditions. The average

life expectancy of the detained was six months. It was in June 1941

that Himmler charged Rudolph Hoess, commandant of Auschwitz,

with establishing an extermination camp there. After preliminary ex-

periments carried out on Soviet prisoners, Hoess opted for the gas

"Zyklon B," an insecticide product which was currently in use by the

German army. From the springtime of 1942 convoys of Jews of all

nationalities, including convoys from France, flocked to Auschwitz.

In each convoy, about three quarters of the deportees—the chil-

dren, the aged, most of the women—straightaway took the path to

the gas chambers of Auschwitz-Birkenau. Their cadavers were in-

cinerated in vast crematoriums adjoining the asphyxiation installa-

tions. It was at Auschwitz also where, during the summer of 1944,

the Gypsies of German nationality were exterminated. Finally, it was

again at Auschwitz where numerous "medical experiments" were

carried out, including the dissection alive of human beings.
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These practices continued right up to the month of November
1944. On the orders of Himmler, the installations for murder, gas

chambers, cremation ovens,7 were then destroyed, as one year previ-

ously the similar equipment at the Polish camps—with the sole ex-

ception of Maidanek—had been destroyed.

The Auschwitz camp was evacuated before the Soviet advance at

the very beginning of 1945. R. Hoess estimated the number of

victims at two-and-a-half million gassed, and a half million dead in

the camp properly so-called; these figures are certainly exaggerated,

but it is not possible to give sure figures: the SS did not keep records

of those who were taken immediately to the gas chamber.

The Evidence

4. A witness, a document, is always suspect. The criticism of texts

is one of the fundamental rules of our profession. It is not possible,

however, to suspect a gigantic collection of corroborative evidence,

emanating from persons of all professions, of all levels of education;

evidence which, in some instances, has been produced from legal

proceedings in the course of a trial, where one has seen the judges,

including German judges, become proportionately more and more

strict as to the quality of the proof, as the immediate impression of

horror which marked the end of the war has become more distant. Is

it necessary to detail what all those have witnessed who have partici-

pated in the extermination process at whatever level, from the mem-
bers of the "Sonderkommando" responsible for taking the victims to

the gas chamber and for plundering the cadavers, right up to the

commandant of Auschwitz in person?

5. One last word to finish. Everyone is free to interpret a phe-

nomenon such as the Hitlerian genocide according to his own phi-

losophy. Everyone is free either to compare it or not with other

murder enterprises, previous, contemporary, subsequent. Everyone

is free to refer to such and such sort of explanation; everyone is free,

to the limit, to imagine or to dream that these monstrous deeds did

not take place. Unfortunately, they did take place and no one can

deny their existence without comitting an outrage against the truth. It

is not necessary to ask oneself how, technically, such a mass murder

was possible. It was possible technically because it took place. Such

is the obligatory point of departure for all historic enquiry on the

subject. It concerns us simply to recall this truth: there is not, there

cannot be, any debate on the existence of the gas chambers.

This text has been signed by the historians whose names follow

and who work or teach at the College of France, at the National

Center for Scientific Research, at the Universities of Paris and the
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provinces, at the School of Advanced Studies in Social Science, at

the Practical School of Advanced Studies: Philippe Aries, Alain

Besangon, Robert Bonnaud, Fernand Braudel, Pierre Chaunu, Mo-
nique Clavel-Leveque, Mark Ferro, Frangois Furet, Yvon Garlan,

Jacques Juillard, Ernest Labrousse, Jacques Le Goff, Emmanuel

Leroy Ladurie, Pierre Leveque, Nicole Loraux, Robert Mandrou,

Claude Mosse, Roland Mousnier.

(1) At Chelmo, a camp established in December 1941, there were not stationary gas

chambers, but a garage which housed "gas vans" similar to those which were used in

Russia by the Einsatzgruppen.
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Footnotes

1. Designated as Revisionists are those authors who, in the aftermath of the two

world wars, considered it necessary, in reaction to the excesses of war-time

propaganda, to reexamine or revise the history of those two conflicts in order to

bring it into accord with the facts. The principal Revisionists of the First World

War are the American Harry Elmer Barnes, the Britisher Lord Ponsonby, and the

Frenchman Jean Norton Cm (Jimoins . . .Du Timoignage). The principal Revi-

sionists of the Second World War are the Frenchman Paul Rassinier (1906-1967)

and his successor Robert Faurisson, the American Arthur Robert Butz, and the

German Dr. Wilhelm Staglich.

2. A shorthand report of the trial was made by the Cabinet J. Fleury, and approved

by the Tribunal de Grande Instance of Paris. A copy of this document was made
use of in preparing the present thesis. References to this report will be noted in

brackets with the designation: CR. stenog. 1981. It was our opinion that we could

not ignore the report of a trial which centered around the Gerstein "confessions"

and in which not only Leon Poliakov, Pierre Joffroy, and Pierre Vidal-Naquet

participated, but also the witnesses of 1942/1943, Baron von Otter, a diplomat

stationed in Berlin, as well as two Dutchmen who were free workers in Berlin.

3. Le Monde is considered to be France's quality newspaper. Its reportage of events

and issues on which it is well informed is sometimes above average. The editorial

opinion writers of Le Monde sided with the propagandist historians in the later

controversy caused by the Roques thesis. This difference of opinion could have

contributed to an interesting debate, had Le Monde's journalists but taken the

elementary precaution of reading the thesis beforehand, which they did not do,

and consequently misled and misinformed their readers: firstly, through igno-

rance of the facts and, secondly, by treating the thesis as a racist and political

issue.—R.V.P.

4. Organe de Recherche des Crimes de Guerre/OfRct for the Investigation of War
Crimes. This was a French organization whose address was, in 1945, at 48 rue de

Villejust, Paris.

5. There is a document written in Dutch and dated 25 March 1943; we arc ac-

quainted with it, but it is so suspect that none of the biographers of Gerstein have

seen fit to mention it. It could be an antedated forgery.

6. From an early age, Rassinier was active in libertarian/anarchist movements. In

1939, he belonged to the left wing of the S.F.I.O. (Section frangaise de

VInternationale Ouvridre - 2nd International = French Section of the Workers'

International) and demonstrated a determined pacifism. During the occupation,

he was one of the founders of a resistance movement. Arrested and tortured by

the Sicherheitsdienst (S.D.) in 1943, he was deported to Buchenwald and to

Dora. In 1945, he was declared one-hundred percent disabled and awarded

compensation. He held several decorations including the Rosette of the Resis-

tance. After a brief period in the National Assembly as S.F.I.O. deputy for

Belfort, he withdrew from political life and devoted himself to historical research

on the Nazi system of concentration camps. He did so on the basis of his personal

experiences. Later, he became interested in the behavior of victors toward the

vanquished, and investigated the causes of the Second World War.

7. Since, in a crematorium, bodies are not baked in ovens but incinerated in

furnaces, when is some bold revisionist historian going to quit calling them

ovens?— R.V.P.
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General Remarks

The reading and the comparative study of the six texts is tedious.

Pierre Vidal-Naquet, testifying as a witness atthe trial of29May 1981,

said that their reproduction exactly as they are in the original, in what

he calls a diplomatic edition, would be almost unreadable (CR.

stenogr. 1981). In fact, such a reproduction is not unreadable, but

simply wearisome.

In this chapter, we give for each version a translation into English

from the original transcriptions.
1 To lighten the perusal of these

documents, we have made two cuts:

— the first cut is at the beginning: this refers to biographical

information on Gerstein for the period 1905-1938;

— the second cut is at the end: in certain versions, Gerstein has

compiled a supplementary page carrying a list of the persons whom
the SS officernames as anti-Nazis. It is this supplementarypage which

we have not reproduced.

The photocopies of the whole of the original documents constitute

six appendices joined to the end of the thesis; these photocopies

therefore include the parts which, in our transcription, were cut as

mentioned above. We state clearly that the text of the cuts is not in

dispute and varies very little from one version to another.2

Text TI

It is handwritten, composed in French, and dated 26 April 1945.

The original is preserved at the Landeskirchliches Archiv der

Evangelischen Kirche von Westfalen in Bielefeld (Westphalia); it is

document No. 32, classified in the margins 5,2. The archives of

Bielefeld carry the designation LKA, which will be used in this

present study. T I was sent toLKA by Elfriede Gerstein, widow of the

former SS officer, on 14 August 1972.

It is composed of ten full pages of writing to which are added two

other pages, which have the appearance of drafts and partly repeat

passages from the ten preceding pages.

The tenth page, which moreover carries the number 9 (we shall

explain the reason for this later on), is not considered by LKA as an

integral part of document No. 32, but is classified separately; there is

no doubt whatsoever that it should be incorporated in it. In fact, the

ninth page of T I finishes with the words: "I had them written in my
name" and the tenth page begins: "for—as I said—discretion, in truth

to be somewhat free in the disposal ..."

The connection between one page and the next is perfect.
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T I— pages 2-3 (the latter also numbered 2)

. . . Hearing of the massacres of imbeciles and insane, shocked and

wounded in my insides, having such a case in my family, I had only

one wish: to see, to see into all this machinery and then: cry out to all

the people!

Supplied with two references from the two employees of the

Gestapo, having dealt with my case, it was not difficult to enter into

the SS army. 10 March-2 June 1941, basic training of the soldier at

Hamburg-Langenhoom, Amhem and Oranienburg3 with 40 doctors

— for my double studies— technics and medicine— I received the

order to enter to the medico-technical service ofthe SS— Fuehrungs-

Hauptamt — sanitary service of the SS Army.

At this place of service, I myself chose the duty to construct

immediately stationary and motorized disinfection facilities, and

filters for drinking water for the troops and for the prison camps.

Having an exact knowledge of the industry, I succeeded at it soon, my
predecessors not having succeeded. In this way, it was possible to

reduce the number of deaths considerably. For my successes, I

succeeded soon to Lieutenant. December 1941, once more, great

danger. Hearing by chance of my entering the SS, the judge of the

NSDAP who had sentenced my expulsion made great efforts to hunt

and pursue me. But my chief, delighted with my successes, declared

me sincere and indispensible. Because a large part of the disinfection

service worked by means of prussic acid (Cyankali), it was necessary

for me to take over also this service, but exclusively for disinfection.

T I— page 3 (numbered 2)

On 8 June 1942 SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Guenther of the Reichssich-

erheitshauptamt, unknown to me, came into my workroom in civilian

clothes. He gave me the order to take 100 kgs ofprussic acid to a lorry

and to go to a place which was known only to the driver. We left. At
Kollin near Prague we loaded the lorry with the acid and came to

Lublin/Poland. There, the SS Gruppenfuehrer Globocnek[sic] was
waiting for us. Having still a place in the vehicle, I had taken with me
the SS-Obersturmbannfuehrer Professor Dr. Pfannenstiel. Globocnek
says to us: this thing is one ofthe most secret that there is. Anyone who
speaks of it will be shot straight away. Yesterday, two talkers died.

Then, he explained to us: at the moment, 17 August, 1942, there are

3 installations:

1 Belzec on the route Lublin-Lemberg in the sector at the Russian

demarcation line. Maximum 15000 per day (seen!)

2 Sobibor I do not know exactly where, not seen!) 20,000 per day
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maximum—
3 Treblinca— 120 km NNE of Warsawa [sic], seen, 25000 per

day maximum.
4 Maidanneck [sic], near Lublin, (seen) in preparation

T I page 3 (numbered 2) and 4 (numbered 3)

You will have to— says Globocnek— do the disinfection of very

large quantities of clothes, ten or twenty times the result of the

Spinnstoff-Sammlung,4 which was done only to conceal the origin of

Jewish clothing, Polish, Czech, etc

Your second duty: to change our chambers of gas, now functioning

with the exhaust of an old "Diesel" engine to a thing more toxic and

more quick, that is, prussic acid. But the Fuhrer and Himmler, who
were here on 15 August (the day before yesterday) made it my duty:

every person who has to see the factories of death, must be accompa-

nied by me (Globocnek) myself. Then Professor Pfannenstiel: But
what does the Fuehrer say?

Then Glob: Faster, faster, to finish all the action, he says.

Then the Ministerialdirektor Dr. Lindner of Innenministerium:

Was it not better to burn the bodies instead of burying them? Another
generation, perhaps, will think of it in another manner.

Then Globocnek: Gentlemen, if, after us, there should ever come a

generation that does not understand our work, so good, so necessary,

that would be so cowardly [carieuse— sic] and rotten, then, gentle-

men, all National Socialism was for nothing. On the contrary, we
ought to put down bronze [bronce] tablets on which it is fixed that we,

we have had the courage to accomplish this gigantic work. Then
Hitler: Yes, my good Globocnek, that's the word, that is also my
opinion! —

T I— page 4 (numbered 3) and 5 (numbered 4)

The next day, we left for Belcek [sic].A little station stands against

the hill of yellow sand, immediately to the left (=N!) of the street and

the railway line. To the south, near the highway, some service

buildings, with the placard: Belcek Service Area of the SS Army—
Globocnek introduced me to Hauptsturmfuhrer Obermeyer of Pir-

masens, who showed me with great reluctance the installations. On
that day, we did not see the dead, but the smell of all the region, also

of the highway, was pestilential. At the side of the little station, there

was a big shed "Cloak Room" with a box-window "Valuables." Then
aroom of 100 chairs "Hairdressers." Then, acorridor 150m in the open
air with barbed wire and signs: To the baths and inhalations!

21



Before us a house like a bathing institute, to the right and the left big

concrete pot with geranium orbegonia (flowers). Afterhavingmounted

a small stairway, to the right and the left, three and three rooms like

garages, 4 x 5m, 1 m 90 of height. On return, exits of wood. On the

roof, the star of David in brass. Before the building, inscription:

"Heckenholt Foundation." First afternoon I didn't see anything more.

Next morning, some minutes before 7 o'clock, it was announced:

after 10 minutes, the 1st train! Truly after some minutes, the first train

arrived from Lemberg, 45 cars, containing 6700 persons, 1450 already

dead on their arrival. Behind the little windows with barbed wire,

children, youngsters, full of fear, women, men. The train arrives: 200

Ukrainians, {Ukrains— sic] forced to this service, wrench open the

doors and with leather horsewhips, 5 they chase the people out of the

cars.

Then, a big loudspeaker gives instructions: in the open air,— some
in huts— take off all clothes, also artificial limbs, spectacles. With

small string, given by a little Jewish boy of 3-4 years, to join together

the shoes. To hand in all valuables, all money to the service window
valuables without voucher, without tickets. Then, the women, the

young girls to the hairdressers— to have theirhair cut with one ortwo
cuts ofthe hair, which disappears into big potato sacks, to make some
special things for the submarines (linings, etc.) the SS-Unterschar-

fOhrer on duty says to me.

T I— page 5 (numbered 4) and 6 (numbered 5)

Then the march begins: to the right, to the left, the barbed wire,

behind the naked procession, two dozenUkrainians with bayonets and

the SS with their leather horsewhips. Guided by an extraordinarily

pretty young girl, the procession advances. Myself with the biggest

murderer of all times (Hitler and Himmler excepted), this Hauptmann

of police Wirth, a bald little Swabian [Sudbe— sic] with gold spec-

tacles.

We find ourselves before the death chambers. Totally naked, the

men, the women, the young girls, the children, the babies, men with

only one leg, everyone naked passes. At the corner, a strong SS man
who with a high voice, says to the unfortunates: not the slightest thing

will happen to you! It will not be necessary for you to do anything but

breathe deeply, this makes the lungs strong, this inhalation it is

necessary against contagious sicknesses, it is a fine disinfection.

Asked what would be their fate, he said to them: Truly, the men must

work, to build streets and houses. But the women are not obliged. Only

if they wish, they can help with the housework or in the kitchen.

For some of these poor people, a little hope once more, enough to
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make them walk without resistance to the death chambers. The

majority knows everything— the smell tells them their fate! Then,

they go up the little stairway and— see the truth. Mothers, nursing

mothers with their babies at their breast, naked, a lot of children of all

ages, naked, they hesitate and they enter into the death chambers, most

without saying a word, pushed by the others behind them, harried by

the horsewhips ofthe SS. AJewess, 45 years approx, eyes like torches,

calls down the blood oftheirchildren on theirmurderers . Agreatmany
say their prayers. Others say: Who is itwho gives us the water for death

(Israelite rite?). The Jewess with the flaming eyes receives 4, 5 blows

in the face from the horsewhip ofHauptmann Wirth personally. In the

chambers, the SS push the men "fill up well" the Hauptmann has

ordered. The naked men are standing on each other 's feet, 700-800 to

25 m2
, 45 m3

! The doors close.

T I— page 6 (numbered 5) and 7 (numbered 6)

Meanwhile, the rest of the train, naked, are waiting. Also in winter

naked. They can catch their death, someone said! But, that's what

they're here for, this was the reply of a young SS man — at this

moment— I understand why "Heckenholt Foundation." Heckenholt,

— that's the mechanic ofthe Diesel engine, the exhausts of which are

intended to kill the unfortunates. SS Unterscharfuhrer Heckenholt

endeavors to get the Diesel going. But, it does not work! Hauptmann
Wirth arrives. One sees, he is frightened, because me, I see the disaster.

Yes, I see and wait. My "stop" watch has timed everything — 50

minutes, 70 minutes— the diesel does not work! The men are waiting

in their chamber. In vain — one hears them crying "like at the

synagogue" says SS Sturmbannfiihrer Professor Doctor Pfannenstiel,

professor of hygiene at the University of Marburg/Lahn, ear to the

wooden door. Hauptmann Wirth, furious, takes a horsewhip [earache

— sic]: 1 1 , 12 blows to the face ofthe Ukrainian [Ukrain— sic], who
is helping Heckenholt. After 2 hours 49 minutes— the "stop" watch

has recorded everything— the Diesel starts. Up to this moment, the

men in the four chambers already filled live, live, 4 times 750 persons

to 4 times 45 m3!
Again, 25 minutes pass: a great many, it is true, are dead. One sees

by the little window through which the electric light allows one to see

for a moment the interior of the chamber. After 28 minutes still a few

who survive, after 32, finally, all are dead! From the other side, the

Jewish workers open the wooden doors. They have been promised for

their terrible service, liberty and some percentage [procents— sic] of

the results of the valuables.

23



T I— pages 7 (numbered 6) and 8 (numbered 7) plus

extract from page 10 (not numbered)

Like pillars of basalt, the dead are still standing, there being not the

least place to fall or lean over. Even dead, one still knows the families

who clasp hands yet dead. One has difficulty separating them, to

empty the chambers for the next load. The blue bodies are thrown,

damp with sweat [soudre — sic] and with urine, the legs full of

excrement and menstrual blood. Among all, the babies, the bodies of

children. But, one has no time. Two dozen workers busy themselves

checking the mouths, which they open by means of iron hooks. "Gold

to the left, without gold to the right!" Others check anus and genitals

formoney, gems, gold. Dentists tear out with ahammer [martel—sic]

the gold teeth, bridges, crowns. Among them all, Hauptmann Wirth.

He is in his element, handing me a large fruit can, full of gold teeth,

he says to me: Feel the weight ofthe gold, only from yesterday and the

day before! And you don't believe [croyez— sic] what we find daily:

dollars, gems, gold! But, see for yourself. Thenhe ledme to the Jewish

jeweller, who had the responsibility for all the valuables. I was made
to see a director of the "Kaufhaus des Westens,"6 Berlin, who had

duties with the work-detail and a little man with a violin [violine—
sic], the chiefof this Jewish work-detail. "This is a captain oftheKK7

Army of Austria, knight of the German Iron Cross, first-class!"

Then the naked cadavers were thrown into large pits of 100 x 20 x

12 meters, situated near the death chambers. After some days, the

bodies swelled and the whole rose up 2-3 meters by means of gas

which formed in the cadavers. After some days, the swelling finished,

the bodies fell together. Next day, the ditches were filled again and

covered with 10 cm of sand.

[At the bottom of a supplementary page— the 10th page, but not

numbered—which appears to be a draft, one reads the following text]

Some time later— I heard— grills were made of railway rails—
and the cadavers burned by means of Diesel oil and gasoline, to make
the cadavers disappear.

T I— page 8 (numbered 7)

Next day, we went with the car of Hauptmann Wirth to Treblinca

[sic], about 120 km from Warsaw NNE. The setup at this place of

death was almost the same as at Belzec, but yet bigger — 8 gas

chambers and real mountains of clothes and underwear 35-40 meters

high. Then, in our honor, a banquet was held with all the employees

of the SS. The SS Obersturmfuhrer Professor Dr.med. Pfannenstiel
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made a speech [sermon

—

sic] : your work, it is a great duty and a duty

so necessary. If one sees the bodies of the Jews, one understands the

grandeur ofyourgood work. The dinner itselfwas simple, but by order

of Himmler himself, the employees [occupes]— sic] of this service

received what they wanted of butter, meat, etc... On departure [Au

Conge— sic], we were offered several kilos of butter and a large

number of bottles of spirits. Me, I told the lie of having enough of

everything from our farm. For this reason, Pfannenstiel took also my
portion.

We went with the car to Warsaw. Sleeping car being already gone,

I was waiting for the other train. Waiting in vain for my empty bed, I

met the secretary [of] the Swedish legation, Baron von Otter. All the

beds were occupied, we were passing the night in the corridor of the

sleeping car. Then, under the ftesh impression, I told him everything

with the prayer to refer everything to his government and to the Allies.

He asked me for a reference of myself. I gave him the address of

GeneralSuperintendentDr. Otto Dibelius, Berlin-Lichterfelde, Briider-

weg 2, friend ofReverend MartinNiemoller andhead ofthe Protestant

resistance against Nazism. 8 After some weeks, I saw the Legation

Counsellor] Von Otter one more time. He told me that he had made
his report to the government [of] Sweden, a report which, according

to his words, had great influence on the relations [of] Sweden and

Germany.

T I— page 8 (numbered 7) and 9 (numbered 8)

My attempt to refer all that to the head of the legation of the Holy

Father didnothave agreat success. Iwas asked whether Iwas a soldier

.

Then I was refused all discussion. Then, I had all that told to him by

Msgr. Doctor Winter, secretary of the Catholic Episcopate of Berlin.

On going out of the legation of the Holy Father at the Rauchstrasse in

Berlin, I saw myself followed by a policeman who, after some very

unpleasant minutes quit following me [me quitta— sic].

Inmy apartments at BerlinW 15, Buelowstrasse 47/1 , 1 had around

me a circle of anti-Nazis. One of the members came some time later

with the Press Attache ofthe Swiss Legation at Berlin, Dr. Hochstras-

ser, to whom I recounted, as to the other members, all that I knew.

Another member of this circle, the Reverend Buchholz, chaplain of

the Ploetzensee prison, who accompanied to the death the officers of

20 July 1944. 9 Msr. Buchholz and Msgr. Niemoller received from my
part from time to time [here an illegible word] a large number of

cigarettes and cigars and other gifts as tokens of love [d'autres

dotations d'amour—sic].
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[On a supplementary page— the 11th. but not numbered— which

appears to be a draft, one reads thefollowing text:]

At Belcec and at Treblinca, one did not give oneself the trouble to

count in a fairly accurate manner the number ofmen killed. Ifone had

found the passports etc . . ., it would have related to a very small part

of all the number of dead. Most died nameless. This is valid also for

the Poles and Czechoslovaks who disappeared in the same death

chambers. They were chosen for death by commissions of pseudo-

doctors, simple young men with limousines and white coats, who
toured the villages in order to, on sight, earmark the aged, sick, etc.

[sic]. . . who were no longer worthy to live for not being able to

work anymore.

Hauptmann Wirth begged me not to propose any other method

whatsoever to Berlin and leave all as it was. I lied that the prussic acid

was already destroyed by the transport and very dangerous and to

being forced to bury the acid, [which] was done immediately.

T I— page 9 (numbered 8) and page 10 (numbered 9)—
the first 6 lines only

I must yet add that SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Giinther, at the beginning

of 1944, asked me for large quantities of prussic acid for an obscure

purpose [destin— sic]. The acid was to be supplied to Oranienburg

andAuschwitz, concentrationcamps [champs—sic]. I loyally had the

acid sent as requested. But immediately after its arrival, I diverted it

for disinfection. This was a little [quelquement— sic] dangerous for

me, but if I had been asked where the acid was, I would have said: it

was already in a state ofdangerous decomposition, and because ofthat

I had to use it up for disinfection. I am sure that Giinther, according to

his own words, had the order to obtain it to eventually kill many men.

The invoices [notas — sic] for this supply, altogether 2,175 kg.,

enough to kill several millions ofmen, Ihave onme. Ihadthem written

inmy name, for— as I said— discretion, in truth to be somewhat free

in the disposal and to be better able to divert the toxic acid.

I never paid the delivery. The manager of the firm, Dr. G. Peters,

Friedberg/Hessen, who supplied the acid, told me that he supplied—
to kill men— prussic acid in ampoules.

T I— page 10 (numbered 9) from the seventh line to the end

On 22 April 1945, I had awaited the taking of the town of

Metzingen/Wurttemberg. I had given the advice to the citizens and at

the Town Hall of Metzingen to give up the town to the French. The
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inhabitants being ready, German troops to hold Metzingen were

announced. Then, I passed the French lines and I presented myself, of

my own accord, voluntarily, to Monsieur the French Commandant of

the town of Reutlingen. I presented my papers to him, to wit:

— 2 Gestapo arrest warrants

— expulsion from the party NSDAP
— special reference from the office of Pastor Martin Niemoller
— military papers.

Having examined [eprouves—sic] the papers, M. le Commandant
of Reutlingen gave me a paper with the following text: "The bearer is

not a real SS and must not be treated as such, but, on the contrary, with

every consideration."

It was M. le Commandant of Reutlingen who proposed, according

to my wishes, that I should be turned over to a place of service which
would be interested in my knowledge ofNazism and which, perhaps,

would make use of my anti-Nazism. Unfortunately, the papers (2

arrest warrants from the Gestapo, etc. . . . stayed at Tubingen, Garten-

str. 24 in the corridor ofmy house, where I was again given permission

to pick up a shirt, toothbrush.

[Not havingfound in the archives ofthe Bielefeld (LKA) any other

page beyond thispage 9, 1 take note that it is here that the handwritten

"confession" in French of26 April 1945 abruptly terminates. There

are still two supplementary unnumbered pages which essentially

repeatpassagesfrom the preceding pages; whatever there is new we
have inserted in the whole ofthe "confession" and indicated accord-

ingly.-^iH.]

TextTH

It is typewritten, composed in French, dated 26 April 1945. It

consists of6pages (ofwhich the last carries the handwritten signature:

"Kurt Gerstein"), to which there is added a seventhth page entitled:

"Kurt Gerstein— Supplement", unsigned.

We have a photocopy which comes from the National Archives in

Washington; at the foot of each page there is a stamped number
preceded by a B. Thus the seven pages are numbered from B 49357 to

B 49363.

Transcription of T II (first sheet)

Hearing of the massacres of the imbeciles and mentally sick at

Grafeneck, Hadamar, etc., shocked and wounded in my inside, having

such a case in my family, I had but one wish: to look into, to look into
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all this machinery and then cry out to all the people!— supplied with

two references from two employees of the Gestapo, having dealt with

my case, it was not difficult to enter into the SS army. 10 March-2 June
1941 basic training at Hamburg-Langenhoom, Amhem, and Ora-

nienburg with 40 doctors. For my double studies — technical and

medicine— I received the order to enter into the medico-technical

service of SS-Fuehrungshauptamt— sanitary service of the SS army
—Amstgruppe D, Hygiene. At this place of service I myselfchose the

duty to construct immediately appliances for disinfection and filters of

drinking water for the troops and for the prison and concentration

camps. Having exact knowledge of the industry I soon succeeded at

it—my predecessors not being successful. In this way, it was possible

to reduce the number of dead prisoners considerably — for my
successes, I succeeded soon to lieutenant. — December 1941, the

tribunal which had ordered my expulsion from the NSDAP received

knowledge ofmy entry into the SS army. Great efforts were made to

hunt me and personally hound me. But due to my successes I was
declared sincere and indispensable.— January 1942, 1 was the head
of the technical service of disinfection, containing also the service of

severely toxic gases for disinfection.

Transcription of T II (second sheet)

End ofpage numbered 1 in the original

— On 8 June 1942 he entered into my workroom, SS-Sturm-
bannfuehrer Guenther of the ReichsSicher-

Page numbered 2 in the original

ReichsSicherheitsHauptamt, in civilian clothes, unknown to me.
He gives me the order to obtain 100 kg of prussic acid and to go with

it to a place which was not known except to the driver of the lorry. We
left for the potash factory near Collin (Prague). The lorry loaded, we
left for Lublin-Poland. We took with us professor Dr. med. Pfannstiel,

professor ofhygiene at the university of Marburg/Lahn. -At Loublin

[sic], the SS-Gruppenfuehrer Globocnek awaited us. He says to us:

this is one of the most secret things that there are, and even the most
secret. Anyone, who speaks of it, will be shot immediately. Yesterday,

two talkers died. Then he explains to us: At the moment,— 17 August
1942— there are three installations:

1.) Belcec, on the route Loublin-Lemberg, in the sector at the

Russian demarcation line. Maximum per day 1 5,000 persons. (Seen!)

2.) Sobibor, I do not know exactly where. Not seen. 20,000
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pers.p.day.

3.) TrSblinca, 120 km NNE of Warsawa. 25,000 per day. Seen!

4.) Maidannek, near Loublin, seen in preparation.—

Transcription of T II (third sheet)

Continuation of the page numbered 2 in the original

— Globocnek says: You must do the disinfection of very large

quantities of clothes, ten or twenty times the result of the "Spinn-

stoffsammlung" (collection of clothes and textiles), which is done

only to obscure the origin of Jewish clothing, Polish, Czech, etc.—
Your other duty will be to change the service ofour gas chambers,now
functioning by the exhaust of an old "Diesel" engine, to a thing more

toxic and functioning more quickly, that is prussic acid. But the

Fuehrer and Himmler, who were here the 15 August— that is the day

before yesterday — have obliged me to accompany personally all

those who must see the installations.— Then Professor Pfannenstiel:

But what does the Fuehrer say?— Then Globocnek, now Chief of

Police and SS Adriatic coast at Trieste: Faster, faster, to finish all the

action! — he says. Then the director of the ministry, Dr. Herbert

Lindner, Interior Minister: Was it not better to burn the bodies instead

of burying them? Another generation, perhaps, would think of it

anotherway . . . Then Globocnek: But gentlemen, ifever, after us, there

should be a generation so cowardly, so rotten, that it would not

understand our work so good, so necessary, then— gentlemen— all

the National Socialism was for nothing.— But, on the contrary, we
should put down bronze tablets on which it is inscribed, that it was we,
we, who have had the courage to realise this gigantic work! "— Then
Hitler: yes, my good Globocnek, that's the word, that's also my
opinion! —

Transcription of T II (Fourth sheet)

— The next day, we set out for Belcek. A special little station with

two platforms stands against the hill of yellow sand, immediately to

the North of the street and of the railway Lublin-Lemberg. To the

south, near the highway, some service buildings with the placard:

"Belcec service area of the SS army"— . Globocnec introduced me
to SS-Hauptsturmfuehrer Obermeyer of Pirmasens, who with great

reluctance showed me the installations. That day, we did not see the

dead, but the smell of all the region, also of the big highway, was

pestilent. At the side of the little station there was a large hut

"Cloakroom" with a service window "Valuables." Then, a room of
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100 chairs "hairdressers." Then a corridor of 150 meters in the open

air, barbed wire on two sides, and signs: "To the baths and inhala-

tions"!— Before us a building like a bathhouse, to the right and left

large concrete pot with geranium or other flowers. After having

mounted a small stairway, to the right and left, three and three rooms

like garages, 4x5 meters, 1 .90 metre of height. On return, not visible,

exits of wood. On the roof, the star of David in brass. Before the

building inscription: "Heckenholt Foundation". — More — that

afternoon— I did not notice.— Next morning, some minutes before

7 o'clock, it was announced:

Page numbered 3 in the original

After ten minutes the first train will arrive! — Truly, after some
minutes the first train arrived from Lemberg, 45 cars, containing 6,700

persons, 1450 already dead on their arrival. Behind the little windows
with barbed wire, children, youngsters, full of fear, women, men. The
train arrives. 200 Ukrainians, forced to this service, wrench open the

doors and, with leather horsewhips, they chase the people out the cars.

Then a big loudspeaker gives instructions: In the open air, some in the

shed, take off all clothes, also artificial limbs and spectacles. With a

little bit of string, offered by a Jewish boy of4 years, to tie together the

shoes. To turn in all valuables, all money at the service-window

"Valuables" without voucher, without receipt. Then the women, the

young girls to the hairdresser— to have their hair cut with one or two
cuts of the hair, which disappears into large potato sacks "to make of

it something special for the submarines, linings, etc". — the SS-

Unterscharfuehrer of the service tells me.

Transcription of T II (fifth sheet)

Continuation ofpage numbered 3 in the original

Then, the march begins: To the right, to the left the barbed wire, at

the rear two dozen Ukrainians with rifle, led by an extraordinarily

pretty young girl, they approach. Myself with Hauptmann Wirth,

police, we find ourselves before the death chambers. Totally naked,

the men, the women, the young girls, the children, the babies, those

with only one leg, all naked, pass. In a corner, a strong SS man, who
in a loud unctuous voice says to the poor people: not the slightest thing

will happen to you! It will not be necessary for you to do anything but

breathe deeply, this makes the lungs strong, this inhalation, it is

necessary against contagious diseases, it is a fine disinfection! —
Asked, what would be their fate, he says to them: Truly, the men must
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work, to build streets and houses. But the women are not obliged. Only
if they wish they can help with the housework or in the kitchen.— For

some ofthese poor people little hope once more, enough to make them
walk without resistance to the death chambers,— the majority know
everything, the smell tells them their fate! — Then they mount the

little stairway and— see the truth! Mothers, nursing mothers, babies

at the breast, naked, many children of all age, — naked — they

hesitate, but they enter the death chambers, most without saying a

word, pushed by the others behind them, harried by the horsewhips of

the SS.—A Jewess, 40 years about, eyes like torches, calls down the

blood of their children on their murderers. Receiving 5 blows of the

horsewhip in the face from Hauptmann of police Wirth himself, she

disappears into the gas chamber.A great many say their prayers, some
others say: Who is it who gives us the water for death? (Israelite rite?)

— In the chambers, the SS push the men. "Fill up well"—Hauptmann
Wirth has ordered. The naked men are standing on the feet of others,

700-800 to 25 square meters, to 45 m cube!— The doors close.

Transcription ofT II (sixth sheet)

Continuation and end of the page numbered 3 in the original

Meanwhile, the rest of the train, naked, are waiting. Someone says

to me: also in winter naked!— But they can catch their death!— But
that's what they're here for! was the reply! at, this moment, I

understand why "Heckenholt Foundation." Heckenholt, that's the

operator of the "diesel," the exhausts ofwhich are intended to kill the

poor people! SS-Unterscharfuehrer Heckenholt endeavors to get the

diesel started. But it does not work! Hauptmann Wirth arrives. One
sees, he is frightened, because me, I see the disaster. Yes, I see all, and
I wait. My "stop" watch has timed everything. 50 minutes, 70 minutes,

— the diesel is not working! The men are waiting in their gas

chambers. In vain. One hears them crying. "Like at the synagogue,"
— says the SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Professor Dr. Pfannenstiel, graduate

of hygiene of the university of Marbourg/Lahn, ear to the wooden
door. Hauptmann Wirth, furious, makes 11, 12 blows ofthe horsewhip
to the face of the Ukrainian, who is helping Heckenholt.— After two
hours 49 minutes the stopwatch has recorded everything— the Diesel

starts. Up to this moment the men in the four chambers already filled

live, live, 4 times 750 persons 4 times 45 cubic meters! Again

Page numbered 4 in the original

25 minutes pass: Many, it is true, are dead. That's what one sees by
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the little window through which the electric light allows one to see for

amoment the interior ofthe chamber. After 28 minutes, still a few who
survive. After 32 minutes, finally— , all are dead!— From the other

side, the Jewish workers open the wooden doors. They have been

promised— for their terrible service—freedom and some percentage

of the result of the valuables and of the money found.

Transcription of T II (seventh sheet)

Continuation of the page numbered 4 in the original

Like pillars of basalt the dead are still standing, there not being the

slightest room to fall or lean over. Even dead, one still knows the

families, who still clasp hands. One has difficulty separating them, to

empty the chambers for next load. The bodies are thrown, blue, damp
with sweat and urine, the legs full ofexcrement and menstrual blood.

Among all, the babies, the cadavers of children.— But one has not

time! Two dozen workers busy themselves checking the mouths,
which they open by means of iron hooks. "Gold to the left, without

gold to the right!"— Others check anus and genitals for money, gems,
gold etc. — Dentists tear out by means of hammers the gold teeth,

bridges, crowns. Among them all, Hauptmann Wirth. He is in his

element, handing me a large fruit tin, full of teeth, he says to me: Feel

for yourselfthe weight ofthe gold! This is only from yesterday and the
day before yesterday!— And you do not believe what we find daily!

Dollars, gems, gold! But see for yourself: — then he led me to a

jeweller, who had the responsibility for all the valuables. I was shown
also one of the heads of the large shop of the west, Berlin, Kaufhaus
des Westens and a little man, who was made to play the violin, heads
of the Jewish work detail. "This is a captain of the K and K army of

Austria, knight of the German Iron Cross I class — Hauptsturm-
fuehrer Obermeyer says to me. — Then the naked corpses were
thrown into large ditches of about 100 x 20 x 12 meters, situated near

the death chambers.— After some days, the bodies swelled and the

whole rose 2-3 meters by means ofgas, which formed in the cadavers.

After some days, the swelling finished, the bodies fell together. Next
day the ditches were filled again and covered with 10 cm of sand.—
Some time later— I heard— grills were made ofrailway rails— and
the bodies burned by means of diesel oil and petrol, to make the

cadavers disappear.

Transcription of T II (eighth sheet)

Continuation of the page numbered 4 in the original
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At Belcek and at treblinca [sic], no one took the trouble to count in

a reasonably exact manner the number of men killed. The numbers

made known by British Broadcasting Co. [sic] Radio are not accurate,

in truth it will be a matter altogether of ca 25,000,000 [sic] men! Not

Jews, only, but in preference Poles and Czechs biologically without

value according to the opinion of the Nazis. Most are nameless dead.

Commissions of pseudo-doctors, simple young SS in white coats and

limousines, toured the villages and towns of Poland and Czechoslo-

vakia to select out the old, consumptives, sick in order some time later,

to make them disappear into the gas chambers. It was the Poles, the

Czechs of No. Ill, who were no longer worthy to live because of not

being able still to work. Hauptmann of Police Wirth begged me
not to propose to Berlin any other method of the gas chambers and to

leave everything as it was.— I lied— which I had done in every case

—that the prussic acidwas already destroyedby transport andbecome

very dangerous. So I shall be forced to bury it— which was done

straight away.

Transcription ofT II (ninth sheet)

Continuation and end of the page numbered 4 in the original

—Next day, we went in Hauptmann Wirth 's car to Treblinca. About

120 km NNE of Warsaw. The setup at this place of death was almost

the same as at Belcec, but still bigger. 8 gas chambers and real

mountains of clothes and underwear, about 35-40 m. Then, in our

"honor" a banquet was held with all the employees of the installation.

The Obersturmbannfuehrer professor dr. med. Pfannenstiel, professor

of hygiene at the university of Marburg/Lahn, gave a speech: Your

work it is a great duty and a duty so useful and so

Page numbered 5 in the original

necessary. To me alone, he spoke of this institution as "beauty of

work and as a humane thing." To all: Ifone sees the bodies ofthe Jews

one understands the grandeur of your good work!— The dinner itself

was simple, but by Himmler's order the employees of this service

received what they wanted of butter, meat, alcohol etc. On leaving we
were offered several kilos of butter and a large number of bottles of

liquor. I had trouble lying about having enough of all from our farm.

For this reason Pfannenstiel took also my share.— We went by car to

Warsaw. Waiting in vain for an empty bed, I met the secretary of the

Swedish legation, Msr. le Baron de Otter. All the beds occupied, we
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passed the night in the corridor of the sleeping car. There, under my
recent impression I told him everything with the plea to refer every-

thing to his government and to all the Allies. He asked me for a

personal reference. I gave him as such the address of the Generalsu-

perintendent D. Otto Dibelius, Berlin-Lichterfelde West, Bruederweg

2, friend of Martin Niemoeller and head of the Protestant resistance

against Nazism. After some weeks I saw the Baron de Otter again two

times. He told me that he had made his report to the Swedish

government, a report, which, according to his words, had great

influence on the relations of Sweden and Germany.

Transcription of T II (tenth sheet)

Continuation of the page numbered 5 in the original

My attempt to refer all that to the head of the legation of the Holy

Father, did nothave great success. I was asked whether I was a soldier;

then I was refused all discussion. Then I made a detailed report to the

secretary of the episcopate of Berlin Msr. Dr. Winter in order to refer

all that to his bishop of Berlin and likewise to the legation of the Holy

Father. — Going out of the legation of the Holy Father at the

Rauchstrasse at Berlin, Ihad a dangerous encounter with a policeman,

who followed me, but, after some very unpleasant minutes he let me
escape.

Transcription of T II (eleventh sheet)

Continuation and end of the page numbered 5 in the original

I must still add that the SS Sturmbannfuehrer Guenther of the

Reichssicherheitshauptamt at thebeginning of 1944 askedme for very

big supplies ofprussic acid for an obscure purpose. The acid was to be

supplied at Berlin, Kurfuerstenstrasse at his place of work. I suc-

ceeded in making him believe that that was not possible due to the

great dangers. It was a matter of several freight cars of toxic acid,

enough to kill a lot ofmen, millions ! He had said to me that he was not

sure, if, when, for what group of persons, in what manner, where one

would have need of this poison. I do not know exactly what the

intention of of Reichssicherheitshauptamt and of the SD may have

been. But I thought later of the words of Goebbels "to close the doors

after them, ifNazism should never succeed." Perhaps they wanted to

kill a great part of the German people, perhaps the foreign workers,

perhaps the prisoners of war— I do not know! In any case, I diverted

the acid immediately after its arrival for disinfection duties.
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This was somewhat dangerous for me, but if anyone had asked me
where the toxic acid was, I would have replied: it was already in a

dangerous state of dissolution, and for that reason I had to use it up for

disinfection— I am sure that Guenther, son of the Rassen-Guenther,

to use his own words, had the order to obtain the acid for— eventually

— killing millions of men, perhaps also in the concentration camps.

I have on me the invoices for 2,175 kg, but in truth it concerns about

8500 kgs, enough to kill 8 million men. I had the invoices made out in

my name out of discretion — I said—in truth to be somewhat free in

the disposition and in order to better make the toxic acid disappear. I

never paid for these deliveries to avoid reimburse-

Page numbered 6 in the original

ment andremind theSD of this stock. The manager ofthe Degesch,
who supplied this acid, told me he supplied prussic acid in ampoules

to kill men.—

Transcription of T II (twelfth sheet)

Continuation and end of the lastpage of the original numbered 6

One other time, Guenther consulted me as to whether it was

possible to kill large numbers ofJews inthe open air in the fortification

moats of Maria-Theresienstadt. 10 To prevent this diabolical idea, I

declared this method impossible. Some time later I heard that the SD
supplied itselfsome other way with prussic acid to kill those poor men
at Theresienstadt.— The most detestable concentration camps were

not Oranienberg nor Dachau nor Belsen— but Auschwitz (Oswice)

and Mauthausen-Gus nearLinz/Donau. It is there that millions ofmen
disappeared into the gas chambers, in autos like gas chambers. The

method of killing children was to hold a pad of prussic acid under the

nose. I— myself— saw experiments continued rightup till death with

living persons in the concentration camps. In this way, SS-

Hauptsturmfuhrer Gundlach, Dr. med, made such experiments in the

concentration camps for women at Ravensbriick near Fuerstenberg-

Mecklenburg. I read a lot of reports— at my duty station— of such

experiments at Buchenwald, for example experiments right up to 100

tablets of Pervitine per day. Other experiments— every time approx.

100-200 persons— are made right up till death with serum, lymph,

etc. Himmler had personally reserved to himself the permission for

such experiments

One day, at Oranienberg, concentration camp, I saw all the prison-

ers who were there for being perverts (homosexuals) done away with
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in a single day.

I avoided visiting the concentration camps often because it was

usual— in preference at Mauthausen-Gusen— near Linz—, to take

one or two prisoners in honor of visitors. At Mauthausen, it was usual

to make the Jews work at a quarry of great height— . After some time

the SS men on duty said: Attention, after some minutes there will be

some misfortune! Indeed, one or two minutes later, some Jews were

thrown from the quarry, falling dead at our feet. "Work accidents"—
was recorded on the papers ofthe killed.—Dr. Fritz Krantz, anti-Nazi,

SS-Hauptsturmfuehrer often told me of such things, which he sharply

condemned and often made known.—
The crimes discovered at Belsen, Oranienberg etc. are not consid-

erable in comparison with others that were done at Auschwitz and at

Mauthausen.

It ismy intention to write a book containing my adventures with the

Nazis.

I am ready to swear under oath that all my statements are com-

pletely true.

TextTm
It is typewritten, composed in German, dated 4 May 1945.

It is not signed.

It is made up of24 half-pages numbered 1 to 24 plus a halfpage (zu

7) handwritten, insertedbetweenhalfpage 7 and half-page 8; to which

should be added also eight halfpages of supplements (Erganzungen).

This is the document 31 ofLKA, which retains a typewritten carbon-

copy. Doctor Steinberg, Director ofLKA, told us that the original had

never been found.

Tm was sent to LKA by Elfriede Gerstein on 3 1 July, 1972.

We have photocopies measuring 21 cms x 29.5 cms; on each one of

them, there are two half pages. The pages photocopied are numbered

by hand, at the top on the right, from 244 to 261.

The translation of the German text was made by us. We had at first

intended to use the French translation published in Le Hie Reich et les

Juifs (The Third Reich and the Jews), 1959, by L6on Poliakov and

Josef Wulf, but quickly gave that up.

In fact, as early as the half page No 3, we noticed that the authors

mentioned translated the following German words: "in diese Ofen

undKammern hineinzuschauen
99
by: "throw a glance in these places."

Actually, it must be translated: "cast a glance into these ovens and

these chambers." Perhaps Messers. Poliakov and Wulf considered it

hardly logical that Gerstein seems to know in advance that he was

going to find the ovens and the poison gas chambers.
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Furthermore, we noticed very many inexactitudes which we had to

correct. Finally, the published text contained several cuts in the

principal "confession" and completely ignored the supplements

(Ergdnzungen), which have never been published until this day.

In general outline, the authors ofLe Hie Reich et lesJuifs translated

the account already published by Professor Doctor Hans Rothfels, in

1953, in No 2. of the review Vierteljahreshefte fiir Zeitsgeschichte

(Quarterly of Contemporary History); but they did not explain their

cuts by explanatory notes as did Hans Rothfels; and they have not

informed the reader of the existence of the supplements, regarding

which the German historian wrote that they do not relate to eyewitness

evidence but "Horensagen" (hearsay).

T III— Half pages 3 (end), 4 and 5 (beginning)

Having heard that they were beginning to kill off the mentally sick

at Grafeneck, Hadamar, and elsewhere, I decided in any eventto throw

look into these ovens and these chambers in order to know what is

going on. The more so because a sister-in-law by marriage was a

victim of this forced murder at Hadamar. Supplied with two recom-

mendations issued by officials of the State Secret Police who handled

my case, I succeeded without difficulty in joining the SS. These gen-

tlemen were of the opinion that my idealism, which they probably

admired, would not fail to serve the Nazi cause. I took my classes at

Hamburg-Langenhorn, at Amhem/Holland and at Oranienburg.

In Holland, I made contact immediately with the Dutch resistance

movement (the certificated engineerUbbink, at Doesburg). By reason

ofthe double course of studies that Ihad made, I did not delay entering

into the technical medical services and I was attached to the Central

Office of the SS Command, work group D, sanitary service of the

Wqffen SS Hygiene Section. I received my training by following a

medical course attended by 40 doctors. In the hygiene service, I was

free to determine my own activities. I had some appliances made for

disinfection, mobile and stationary, for the soldiers, the prison camps

and concentration camps. This was worth to me, without my having

merited them, big successes, and from that moment I passed for a sort

of technical genius. Actually we managed at least to stem a little the

terrible wave of exanthematous typhus of 1941 in the camps. Due to

my successes I soon became second lieutenant and first lieutenant. At

Christmas 1941, the tribunal which had ordered my expulsion from

the party learned of my entry into the SS to a position of command.

There followed a campaign directed against me in the course ofwhich

I was hounded like an animal. But because of my successes and my
personality, the section to which I belonged protected me and kept me
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in my position.

In January 1942, I became "head of section" in the Technical

Section of Health and I was at the same time assigned to double duty

in the same sector by the chief medical officer (Reichsarzt) of the SS

and of the police. In this capacity I was assigned all the technical

service of disinfection, including disinfection relating to highly toxic

gases.

T III— Half pages 5 (end), 6 and 7 (beginning)

It was while in this capacity that I received, on 8 June 1942, the visit

of SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Gunther, of the Central Office of Security of

the Reich, Berlin W, Kurfiirstenstrasse, a person I did not know till

then. Gunther came in civilian clothes. He gave me the order to have

brought immediately, for an ultrasecret mission relating to the Reich,

100 kg ofprussic acid and to transport it in an auto to anunknown place

of which only the driver knew the name.

Then, some weeks later, we left for Prague. I could almost imagine

the kind of mission this was, but I accepted it because in this way by

chance it presented me with an opportunity, long awaited, of sticking

my nose into these matters. In addition, in my position as expert on

prussic acid, I possessed somuch authority and competence that it had

to be easy for me, in any circumstances, to declare under whatever

pretext that the prussic acid was unusable because decomposed or

something of that sort, and to prevent its being used with the murder-

ous purpose he had in mind. With us, rather by chance, was Professor

Pfannenstiel, doctor ofmedicine, SS-Obersturmbannfuhrer, holder of

the chair of hygiene at the University of Marbourg-Lahn.

Nextwe left by car forLublin where SS-Gruppenfuhrer Globocnek

was waiting for us. At the factory at Collin, I had purposely thrown out

hints that the acid was intended to kill human beings. Also, it was not

long before that, in the afternoon, a person appeared who showed a

great deal of interest in the vehicle and who, as soon as he saw himself

observed, ran away with all speed. Globocnek said, "All this affair is

one ofthe most secret things in existence at this moment; one can say:

the most secret. Anyone who speaks about it will be shot on the spot.

No later than yesterday two talkers were shot." Thenhe declared to us:

"Actually— this was 17 August 1942— we have three installations

in service, which are:

1) Belzec, on the road and railway Lublin-Lemberg 11
at the inter-

section ofthe demarcation line with Russia. Maximum output per day:

15,000 persons.

2) Sobibor. Also in Poland, I do not know exactly where. Maxi-

mum output: 20,000 persons per day.
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3) Treblinca, 120 km north-north-east of Warsaw. Maximum
output, 25,000 persons per day.

4) Still in Preparation: Maidanek, near Lublin."

In the company of director of these establishments, Captain of

Police Wirth, I personally inspected Belcec, Treblinka and Maidenek

right down to the details.

T III— Half pages 7 (end), zu 7 (handwritten half page
also numbered 7), 8 and 9 (beginning)

Globocnek addressed himselfexclusively to me in saying: It is your

task to carry out successfully the disinfection of very important

quantities of textiles. The collection of textiles has in fact been done

only in order to explain the origin of the clothes for the workers in the

East etc. and to present them as the result of the sacrifice accepted by

the German people. In reality, the output ofour establishments is from

10 to 20 times superior to the whole of the collection of textiles.

(I afterwards discussed with firms capable of this work the possi-

bility of disinfecting such quantities of textiles— the textiles— at

least, itwas a matter ofabout 40,000 tons, 60 full trains ofmerchandise

— in the existing laundries and disinfection establishments. But it was
completely impossible to place such large orders. I turned to profit all

these negotiations, to make known or cleverly to hint at the fact of the

murder ofthe Jews. Globocnekthenexpressedhimselfas satisfied that

all this heap should be sprayed with detenoline so that it would have

the smell of disinfection— which was then done.

Your second task— stillmuchmore important— is to adapt our gas

chambers, which function at the moment with the exhaust gases of a

Diesel, to something better and more rapid. I am thinking above all of

prussic acid. The Fuhrer and Himmler were here the day before

yesterday. In accordance with their instructions, I must take you there

personally. I must not deliver passes or entry permits to anyone.

Thereupon, Pfannenstiel asked: What then did the Fuhrer say?

Glob.: More quickly! to carry out the whole operation more quickly!

the ministerial counsellor, Dr. Herbert Lindner, who accompanied

him then asked: Do you believe, Herr Globocnek, that it is well-done

andjudicious to bury all these cadavers instead ofburning them? After

us could come a generation who will not understand all that! Glo-

bocnek replied: Gentlemen, if ever after us must come a generation

so feeble and soft that it does not understand our great mission, then

all the national socialism will have been in vain. On the contrary, I am
of the opinion that we should put down plaques of bronze commemo-
rating that it is us, we, who have had the courage to accomplish this

great work so necessary. Then the Fuhrer: Good, Globocnek, that is
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my opinion too.

Afterwards, it was the other opinion which was imposed. The
cadavers were burned on large grills improvised with railway rails,

with the help of petrol and diesel oil.

T III— Half pages 9 (and), 10 and 11 (beginning)

The next day, we left for Belcec. For this purpose a special little

station had been constructed close to a hill directly to the north of the

route Lublin-Lemberg inthe left corner ofthe demarcation line. To the

south of the route some houses carrying the inscription "Special

Detachment of the Waffen-SS at Belcec." The actual head of all the

murderous installations, Captain of Police Wirth, not yet being there,

Globocnek introduced me to SS-Hauptsturmfiihrer Obermeyer (of

Pirmasens). This latter let me see that afternoon only what he abso-

lutely had to show me. I did not see any dead that day, only the smell

which prevailed in the surroundings was pestilential in that scorching

month ofAugust and there were flies everywhere by the million. Just

the little station of two lines, there was a large hut, the so-called

"Cloakroom," with a large service window "Valuables." Then came a

room with a hundred chairs; the premises of the hairdresser. Then a

little alley in the open airplanted with birch trees, bordered to the right

and left with a doublerow ofbarbed wire, with the signs: Access to the

inhalation rooms and baths! Before us, a kind of bath establishment,

with to right and left in the front large concrete pots with geraniums,

then a small stairway and afterwards to right and to left respectively

3 halls of 5 x 5 meters, 1.90m high, with doors ofwood like garages.

In the wall at the bottom, not very visible in the darkness, large sliding

doors of wood. On the roof, by way of a "subtle joke," the star of

David! In front of the building a sign: Heckenholt Foundation. I did

not see more on that afternoon.

The following morning, a little before 7 o'clock, I am told: the first

transport arrives in ten minutes! Actually, at the end of some minutes,

the first train coming from Lemberg arrives: 45 cars, 6,700 persons of

whom 1,450 were already dead on their arrival. Behind the barred

openings, terribly pale and frightened, children were looking outside,

their eyes full ofthe anguish of death, as well as the men and women.
The train entered the station: 200 Ukrainians brutally open the doors

andmake the peoplego out ofthe cars by lashingthem withtheirwhips
of leather thongs. A big loudspeaker gives further instructions: to

undress completely: alsoremove artificial limbs, spectacles, etc. . .

Deliver objects of value to the service window, without vouchers or

receipts. Carefully tie up the shoes in pairs (in view of the collection

of textiles), otherwise, in the pile which rose easily to 25 meters in
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height, no one would have been able to retrieve the shoes which went

together. Then the women and the young girls pass to the hairdresser

who, in two or three cuts with the scissors, cuts all the hair, so to have

it disappear into large potato sacks. "This is intended for some special

purpose or other, for the submarines, for the caulking or something

like that," the SS-Unterscharfiihrer who is on duty at this place tells

me.

T III— Half pages 11 (end), 12 and 13 (beginning)

Then the procession starts to move. At the head, a very pretty young

girl, they follow the road, all naked, men, women, children, without

artificial limbs. I am standing above, on the ramp, between the

chambers, with Captain Wirth. Mothers with nursing babies at the

breast: they go up, hesitate enter in to the death chambers. In a corner

is standing a man of the SS unit, corpulent, who says in an unctuous

voice to these unfortunates: Not the least thing will happen to you! It

will be necessary only to breathe deeply in the chambers, this develops

the lungs, this inhalation is necessary because ofthe sicknesses and the

epidemics. To those who ask what might become of them he replies:

Yes, naturally, the men will have to work, to build houses or make
roads, but the women will not have need to work. Only if they wish,

they can help with the housework or in the kitchen. For some of these

unfortunates a little glimmer of hope which suffices to make them
walk without resistance the few steps which lead them to the cham-

bers. The majorityknow what to prepare themselves for, the smell tells

them their fate! They climb up the little stairway and then they see

everything. The mothers with their children at the breast, the small

naked children, the adults, men and women, all naked, they hesitate

but they enter into the chambers of death pushed forward by others

who are behind them or by the whips of leather thongs of the SS men.

The majority without saying a word. A Jewess of about 40 years, with

eyes full of flame, calls for the blood shed here to fall again on the

murderers. She receives 5 or 6 blows ofthe horsewhip in the face from

Captain Wirth personally, then she too disappears into the chamber.

Many pray. I pray with them. I squeeze myself into a corner and I cry

in a loud voice to my God and theirs. How I would have loved to go

into the chambers with them, how I would have loved to die their

death. They would then have found an SS officer in uniform in their

chambers. They would have interpreted and treated the affair as an

accident and it would have been quietly shelved. But I still do not have

the right to do it; I must first reveal what I see here! The chambers are

filled. Pack tightly! Captain Wirth has ordered. The people are

stepping on each other's feet, 700-800 on 25 square meters, in 45
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cubic meters. The SS men press them physically one against the other

as much as they can. The doors close.

T III— Halfpages 13 (end) and 14 (beginning)

During this time, the others are waiting outside in the open air,

naked. Someone says to me: even in winter it is exactly like this! Yes,

but they can catch their death, I say. But that's exactly what they are

here for! a man of the SS troop retorts in his dialect. Now, I also

understand at least why the installation is called "Heckenholt founda-

tion." Heckenholt is the operator of the Diesel engine, a little techni-

cian, at the same time the constructor of the installation. The people

must be put to death by the exhaust gases ofthe Diesel. But the Diesel

does not work! Captain Wirth arrives. One sees that it is painful tohim
that it should have to happen today just when I am here. Yes, I see

everything and I wait. My stopwatch has recorded everything very

well. 50 minutes, 70 minutes, the diesel does not start. The people wait
in their gas chambers. In vain. One hears them weep, sob. "Like at the

synagogue," remarks the professor Pfannenstiel, his ear against the

wooden door. Captain Wirth beats the Ukrainian who has to help

Unterscharfuhrer Heckenholt get the Diesel going 12 or 13 times on
the face with his horsewhip. At the end of 2 hours 49 minutes -r- the

stopwatch has recorded everything— the Diesel starts. Up to that

moment, the people remain alive in these 4 chambers, 4 times 750
persons in 4 times 45 cubic meters. Once more, 25 minutes pass.

Correct,12 many are now dead, one sees it through the small window
inwhichthe electric light illuminates thechamber for an instant. At the

end of 28 minutes only some still live; at the end of 32 minutes

everyone is dead. From the other side the men ofthe work detail open
the wooden doors. They have been promised for their dreadful work— even the Jews — liberty and so much per thousand of all the

valuables found.

T III— Half pages 14 (end), 15 and 16 (beginning)

The dead are standing straight like pillars of basalt, ranged tightly

one against the other in the chambers. There would not be place to fall

or lean forward. Even in death one recognizes the families. They still

hold hands, clenched in death, so that there is difficulty separating

them to free the chambers ready for the next load. The bodies are

thrown outside, damp with sweat and urine, dirtied with excrement

and with menstrual blood on the legs. The cadavers of children fly

through the air. There is no time. The horsewhips of the Ukrainians

whistle on the work detail. Two dozen dentists open the mouths with
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hooks and look to see if there are gold crowns. Gold to the left, without

gold to the right. Other dentists break the gold teeth and crowns with

the aid of pincers and hammers to pull them out of the jaws.

In the middle of all these people, Captain Wirth leaps everywhere.

He is in his element. Some workers check the genital organs and anus

in the search for gold, brilliants and precious objects. Wirth calls me
beside him: "Just feel the weight of this fruit tin with the gold teeth.

This is only from yesterday and the day before." He says to me in

language incredibly common and incorrect: "You would not believe

the quantities ofgold and of brilliants—he pronounced the word with

two L's— and dollars. But see for yourself." And he took me to a

jeweler whose job it was to look after all these treasures, and he

showed me everything. Then again I was shown a former manager of

the "Kaufhaus des Western" of Berlin and a violinist. "This is a

Captain of the old imperial and royal army of Austria, knight of the

Iron Cross 1st. class, who is now the senior of the Jewish work detail

in the camp." The naked cadavers were hauled on wooden barrows to

only a few meters from there to pits of 100 by 20 by 12 meters. At the

end of some days, the cadavers started to swell, then sank down tight

together shortly afterwards, in such away that it was possible to throw

a new layer on top of them. Then 10 cm of sand was spread on top so

that there only emerged some isolated heads and arms. At one ofthese

places I saw Jews scrambling around on the cadavers and working in

the graves. I am told that, by mistake, the people of a convoy who
arrived already dead had not been unclothed. Naturally it was neces-

sary to salvage that because of the textiles and the precious objects

which, without that being done, they would have carried to the grave.

T III— Half pages 16 (end) and 17 (beginning)

Neither at Belzec nor at Treblinka was the least trouble taken to

record or count those who were killed. The numbers were only

estimates made according to the content of the cars. Over and above

the Jews coming from all the sovereign states, above all the Czechs

and the Poles No. Ill were killed in the gaschambers. Commissions of

SS men— some ofthem without even a full primary school education

— went from village to village in fine limousines and with medical

equipment, in white coats, making the population march by in front of

them, making a show of examining them, and designating those who
were alleged to be without biological value and should for this reason

be killed, principally the old, the consumptives, and the sick. Yes, a

Sturmbannfiihrer of the SS told me, without these measures, Poland,

overpopulated, would be for us devoid of all value. We are only

carrying out after the event that which nature looks after for herself in

43



the animal and vegetable kingdoms, and unfortunately omits to do
with mankind. Captain Wirth begged me not to propose to Berlin to

change the installations and to leave everything just as it was, a good
setup that was perfectly run in and had proven itself. As for the prussic

acid, I had it buried undermy supervision while giving as a reason that

it had begun to decompose.

T III— Half pages 17 (end) and 18 (beginning)

The next day, 19 August 1942, we went in Captain Wirth 's auto to

Treblinka, 120 km to the north-northeast of Warsaw. The installation

was almost the same, but quite a bit larger than at Belzec. Eight gas

chambers and veritable mountains of suitcases, oftextiles, and under-

wear.A banquet was given in our honor in the style of "old Germany"
in the common hall, typically Himmlerian. The meal was simple, but

one could have all that one wished. Himmler himselfhad ordered that

the men of these commands should have as much meat, butter, and
other things, notably alcohol, as they wished. Professor Pfannenstiel

made a speech in whichhe explained to themen the usefulness ofthen-

task and the importance oftheir great mission. Talking to me, he spoke
of the "very humane methods" and of the beauty of the work. I

guarantee that he really said this incredible thing to me. He said in

particular to the teams: When one sees the bodies of Jews, one then

understands trulyhow much your task is worthy ofrecognition. When
we took leave, we were offered again several kilos of butter and many
liqueurs to take away. Ihad difficulty inmaking them believe that Ihad
sufficient of all that from my so-called estate, whereupon Pfannen-

stiel, entirely happy, grabbedmy share.We then leftby carfor Warsaw.
It was there, while I was vainly trying to obtain a bunk in the train, I

met the secretary ofthe legation ofSweden in Berlin, Baron von Otter.

Still under the very fresh impression of the terrible things I had seen,

I told him everything, while begging him to make this known imme-
diately to his government and to the allies, considering that each day
of delay must cost the lives of thousands and dozens of thousands of

other people. He asked me to give him a reference and in this respect

I named Herr Superintendent-Genera/, Doctor Otto Dibelius, Berlin,

Briiderweg 2, Lichterfelde West, close friend of Pastor Martin Nie-

moller and a member of the ecclesiastical resistance against Nazism.
I met Herr von Otter twice more in the Swedish legation. He had
meantime made a report to Stockholm and stated to me that this report

had had a considerable influence on German-Swedish relations.

T III— Half pages 18 (end) and 19 (beginning)
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I tried to make a report of the same matter to the apostolic nuncio.

It was there that I was asked whether I was a soldier. Following which,

they refused to have all further conversation with me and I was invited

to leave the embassy of His Holiness. On leaving the embassy of the

Holy See, I was pursued by a policeman on a bicycle who passed

quickly in front ofme, put his foot on the ground and let me then pass,

in a totally incomprehensible way. After that I recounted the foregoing

to hundreds ofimportant persons, among others to the secretary ofthe

Catholic bishop of Berlin, Herr Doctor Winter, begging him expressly

to transmit my information to the Apostolic See.

T III— Half pages 19 (end), 20 and 21 (beginning)

I must still add that SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Gunther of the Principal

Security Office of the Reich— I believe he is the son of the "Rassen"

Gunther13— demanded again from me at the beginning of 1944 very

large quantities ofprussic acid for a very obscure purpose. He showed

me in the Kurfurstenstrasse, in Berlin, a shed in whichhe was thinking

of stocking the prussic acid. I then declared to him that it was out of

the question that I take the reponsibility. It was a matter of several

freight cars, enough to put to death millions ofhuman beings. He said

to me that he did not know yet himself whether the poison would be

used, nor when, for whom, by what method, etc. But it was to be held

available at all times. Afterwards I was often unable to put Goebbels'

words out ofmy mind. I suppose they wanted to kill a large part of the

Germanpeople, including surely the clergy andtheunpopular officers.

This would have to have been done in places such as lecture halls or

clubs, or at least that is what I could deduce from the questions relating

to execution techniques that Gunther asked me. It is possible also that

he would have had to kill foreign workers or prisoners of war— I do

not know— in any case I made arrangements so that the prussic acid

would disappear, serving for no matter what disinfection purposes as

soon as it had arrived in the camps of Oranienburg and Auschwitz.

This was dangerous for me, but I would simply have been able to say

that the poison was already in a dangerous state of decomposition. I

am sure that Gunther wanted to obtain the poison to put to death

eventually millions of human beings. There was enough of it for 8

million persons, 8,500 kg. I have submitted the invoices for 2, 175 kg.

I always had the invoices written in my name, pretending that this was

for reasons of secrecy, but actually in order to be more free to dispose

of the poison as I intended to get rid of it. Above all I avoided bringing

the matter constantly to mind by presenting the invoices, but left the

invoices totally unpaid, while asking the firm to be patient.

The manager of DEGESCH, Doctor Peters, Frankfurt a.M. and
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Friedberg, who made this delivery, told me that he has delivered

prussic acid in ampoules intended to kill human beings.

T III— Halfpages 21 (end) and 22 (beginning)

Another time, Giinther asked me whether it was possible to kill in

the open air, in the moats of the fortress of Theresienstadt, the Jews
who had permission to walk there. To thwart this terrible plan, I stated

that it was impossible. I then afterwards learned that the SD-Com-
mando Theresienstadt had obtained prussic acid another way and
killed the Jews. The most horrible concentration camps moreover
were not Oranienburg or Belsen or Dachau, but Auschwitz, where
millions of people have been killed, part in the gas chambers, part in

what were called the "death caves"; and Mauthausen-Gusen near

Linz. At Auschwitz, it was customary to kill children by holding pads

soaked in prussic acid under the nose.—Furthermore, I have myself
seen at the Ravensbriick camp, near Furstenburg in Mecklenburg, the

concentration camp for women, experiments made on the living.

These were made on the initiative ofSS-Gruppenfiihrer Dr. Gebhardt-

Hohenlychen, by SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer Dr. Gundlach. At Buchen-
wald as well such experiements on living human beings were made,
for example, with up to 100 Pervitin tablets or, failing that, until death

occurred. Himmler himself reserved the right of approval for these

experiments. In particular, it was down there that the vaccine against

typhus, lymph and other serums was tested. The experiments were
made each time on 100 to 200 persons, namely people condemned to

death by the camp management or by the SD. I was astonished at

Oranienburg that in just a few days all the homosexuals disappeared

by hundreds, and this in the ovens.

T III— Half pages 22 (end) and 23

I furthermore avoided making too frequent appearances in the

camps, because sometimes they had the habit of hanging people or

proceeding with executions in honor of visitors. The SS-
Hauptsturmfuhrer Dr. Fritz Krantz, who has seen great numbers of

such things, often spoke to me in profound indignation. For example,

at Gusen-Mauthausen, every day numerous Jews who had to work in

a large quarry were pushed, tomake them fall to the bottom ofthe steep

cliff; and, down below, their cases were recorded as fatal accidents. At
Auschwitz, such shameful actions were similarly perpetrated in much
greater numbers than at Belzen. I had the luck in my service to meet
some total anti-Nazis, like the SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer and chiefof staff,

Heinrich Hollander, agood Catholic, and Dr. Fritz Krantz, whom Ijust
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previously mentioned. Hollander kept me informed of all the interest-

ing things. His wife one day, on the occasion of a meal, made violent

reproaches on the subject of the homicide committed against the Jews

to Dr. Grawitz, SS-Obergruppenfiihrer, of the Reich SS and Police

medical service and, moreover President ofthe German Red Cross. As
a consequence of this, she was severely reprimanded and forbidden

ever to mention that subject again.

All the information I am supplying is the literal truth, absolutely

accurate. I am fully aware, before God and all humanity, of the

extraordinary import of the information which I am noting here in

writing and I affirm under oath that nothing at all of what I have

recorded is imagined or invented, but on the contrary everything

happened exactly as I have said.

T III— Supplement No 1

At Belzec, I had the impression that all were really dead although

Captain Wirth had told me that they had seen the most unexpected

things, for example, that they had found a child fully alive, in the

morning, in a chamber which had been left full all night without

emptying it. Notably, Wirth said, they had seenthe most curious things

and the most diverse reactions among the mentally ill.

The experimentation with different kinds of homicide must not

have been extended to a great number. But more than one thing was
tried. For example— undoubtedly on a fairly large number of people

— death by compressed air in the old boilers into which the air was

introduced from compressors of the type ordinarily used to break up

asphalt. At Treblinka, I had the impression that many were still living.

Nearly all had their eyes open and for this reason had a frightful

appearance. However, I saw no more movement even though I paid

great attention. The medical doctor Villing, ofDortmund, toldme with

very profound emotion the account of a truly heroic death. It con-

cerned thousands of Polish ecclesiastics who had to dig the ditches

themselves in front of which they were subsequently shot, naked.

T III— Supplement No 2

When they were asked with mocking contempt ifthey still believed

in Christ and Mary, they replied by firmly confessing their faith in

Christ and invoked the Virgin of Czestochowa. This death had been

gripping and convincing, Doctor Villing tells me. Other intellectuals

also— notably teachers, men and women, died in the hundreds of

thousands with similar exemplary dignity. A kind of death which was

told me under every assurance of truth consisted of making people
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climb the stairway which led to a blast furnace, to finish them offonce

at the top, and to make them disappear afterwards into the blast

furnace. Plenty of people must have been killed likewise in the brick

kilns. But the source from which I have this fact is not sufficiently

worthy of belief.

A high-ranking officer of the Police of Bromberg, the SS-Ober-

sturmfuhrer Haller, recounted, to me and the doctors in the course for

the SS, that before his arrival at Bromberg it was usual to kill Jewish

children without further ado by simply bashing their heads against the

walls of houses. He put a stop to these stupidities and saw to it that

execution by firearms was implemented.

T III— Supplement No 3

He has the particularly tragic memory of two little girls who had
knelt down before them to say theirprayers—they were 5 and 8 years

ofage—andwho "had" to be shothowever all the same. Hall[er] says

moreover: at the mass executions ofthe Poles, they were forced to dig

long ditches and to lie in them face down. Then they were executed

from above with a machine gun. The following ones then had to lie

down on the cadavers which were still warm, to be executed similarly

.

Many were still not dead, and when they tried to get out of the ditch

by crawling under 5 or 6 layers [of bodies], it was necessary to finish

them off at the edge of the ditch.

An important member of the German government of Krakau told

me, while carving a turkey, of an especially fortunate capture they

made. According to him, they had taken a leading member of the

Polish resistance movement, a Jew. This one, during his interrogation,

cloaked himself in silence. Upon which his wrists were broken. Even
then he continued to be silent. Thenhe was seated by force on the plate

of a stove, red-hot from the fire. You should just have seen how the

fellow became talkative!

T III— Supplements No 4 and No 5 (first five lines)

During a visit to the local office of the construction department of

the Waffen-SS of Lublin, on 18 August 1942, two heads ofthe special

works told me of an inspection made in the morning at the morgue of

the prisoners of war camp of the SS near Lublin. The cadavers there

had been crammed in by the thousands. While they were taking

measurements for an alteration ofthe premises, two men had suddenly

moved. The SS-Rottenfuhrer who was accompanying them had then

asked: Where then? Then he had taken an iron bar which he found at

hand and he had smashed the skulls of the two men. It was not the
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action, the heads of the works thought, which had surprised them, but

the natural way in which it had happened.

The day ofmy inspection at Belzec, it happened that a Jewess made
some cuts in the neck to some Jews ofthe work detail with a razor that

she had kept hidden on her person. Wirth deeply regretted that the

woman was already dead, she should have had to suffer some
exemplary punishment. As for the Jews of the work detail who were

wounded, he had them looked after attentively and receive medical

treatment, as he said, in order to keep them believing that they would

be resettled, remunerated, and kept alive. He— Wirth— found an

inexhaustible source of astonishment and amusement in the fact that

they believed it. And the fellows believe that, the fellows believe it! !

!

he exclaimed to himself!!

T III— Supplement No 5 (end) plus the first four lines of

supplement No 6

At Belcec, the men and young boys were invited by loudspeaker,

after the opening of the cars and die undressing, to fetch the clothes

scattered everywhere straight away into the cars and with which they

disappeared into a big warehouse. "Whoever does the most can stay

in the work detail!!" Then began a race to the death between these

naked people at the time oftidying up, under the sarcastic laughter of

the men of the troop. Naturally, they all disappeared afterwards into

the gas chambers. Only a few very old and very weak persons were set

apart, and then shot. I think of some impressions profoundly moving

forme: ofa little Jewishboy of3 or 4 years who had a packet of strings
for tying up the shoes by pairs put into his hand; of the way that, lost

in a dream, he distributed the strings to the people;— or again, of a

little coral chain which a little girl lost one meter from the entrance to

the gas chamber. I recall that a little boy of perhaps three bent down
to pick it up, what pleasure it gave him, and that he was afterwards

pushed—no, in that instance he is gently urged—tomakehim go into

the gas chamber.

T III— Supplement No 6 excepting the last 3 lines

The SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer Obermeyer told me: I met in a village of

the region a Jew and his wife, natives ofmy home town ofPirmasens.

The man was a Wachtmeister during the World War and he is a very

good fellow.
14 When I was a child he saved me from death by

preventing me from being run over. I am going to take them with me
now and I shall enroll them in the work detail. As I asked him what

would happen to those two, Obermeyer says: Afterwards, it will be as
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for the others, we must have no illusions. There is only one possibility.

But, at least, I shall have them shot. I have similarly met a fairly large

number of people within the SS who condemned these methods most

severely and who, because of this, came to a rejection of or even a

passionate hatred of National Socialism.

T III— Supplement No 6 (the last 3 lines), Supplement No
7 (in full), Supplement No 8 (in full, that is 5 lines)

I quote here some names which I answer for completely:

— SS-Sturmbannfuhrer, Doctor of Medicine Focht of Hagen in

Westphalia, head of the internal section of the SS quarantine hospital

of Berlin,

— SS-Hauptsturmfiihrer, Doctor of Medicine Nissen, Itzehoe,

— SS-Obersturmfuhrer, Dr. Med.e Sorge of Jena,

— SS-Hauptscharfiihrer, Staff Sergeant of the Reich SS medical

corps, Heinrich Hollander, anti-Nazi activist and animated by a

burning hatred of Nazism.
— Hauptsturmfiihrer Dr. Fritz Krantz, head of the medical section

in the Reich SS,

— SS-Gruppenfiihrer, Doctor ofPharmacy, Blumenreuther, direc-

tor in chief of sanitary supplies of the Reich SS Medical Department
and of the Police,

— Dr. Rudolphi, SS-Sturmbannfuhrer, same address,— Dr. Behmenburg, same address. Rudolphi trampled the portrait

of Hitler with his feet in October 1944
In general, it is a mistake to look on the SS, even in the slightest,

as a united mass. Iknowhow difficult it is concerning this to make any
distinctions betweenjudgement and treatment. I understand that one
might wish to find fault with a given unit in particular and I am without

doubt the one who best knows the horrors committed by the SS.

Nevertheless, we must not lose sight of the fact that, for example, at

least two-thirds of the Dutch SS were forcibly enlisted by lying

methods and so-called sports courses. It was just the same with many
Germans, notably those who came from the Hitler Youth and who
were surprised and duped without suspecting a thing. Those as well

who, at the instigation ofHimmler, were all simply pushed to leave the

air force or the navy to enter the SS. That has to be taken into account

for the love of truth and justice!

Text T IV

It is handwritten, composed in French, dated 6 May 1945. The
original, forwarded to LKA by Elfriede Gerstein on 10 August 1972,
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in preserved there; it is document 33.

It consists of 9 half pages.

Along with document 33, Gerstein's widow forwarded to LKA
nine other original half pages entitled "Supplements." This is docu-

ment 34, which LKA presents as additions to document 33.

T IV— Half pages 4, 5, and 6 (in full)

. . . Hearing of the massacres of imbeciles and the insane at Graf-

eneck, Hadamar, etc., shocked and wounded inmy insides, I had only

one wish: To see, to look into all this machinery and then cry out to all

the people. I did not have for this undertaking any great scruples

having been myselftwice the victim ofagents oftheSD who had crept

into the most secret counsel of the Brothers of the confessional

resistance church (Niemoeller) and even in the prayer circle. In

addition, a sister-in-law— Mile. Bertha Ebeling— was murdered at

Hadamar. Supplied with two references from employees of the Ge-

stapo, who handled my case, it was not difficult to enter the SS army.

The employees were of the opinion that my idealism, which they

admired, shouldwork forthe benefit ofNazism.—On 10March 194 1

,

I entered into the SS. The elementary instruction was done with 40
doctors at Hamburg-Langenhoom, at Arnhem/Holland and at Ora-

nienburg. In Holland, I straightway made contact with the national

Dutch resistance (Graduate EngineerUbbink ofDoesburg).—Formy
double studies I soon succeeded to the medico-technical service ofthe

SS-Fuhrungshauptamt— GroupD— sanitary service ofthe SS army

,

hygiene section. In this service, it was up to me to choose my duties

for myself with great freedom. I constructed lorries and installations

for disinfection, and filters for the troops' drinking water, prison

camps and concentration camps.

For an exact knowledge of this industry, I soon succeeded at it, my
predecessors not being successful. In this way, it was possible to

reduce the number of dead prisoners considerably. Undeservedly

soon, I had great success and was taken for a great technical genius.

In this way, I was often consulted on behalf of the Ministry of the

Interior and the Ministry of the East. At least, I succeeded in lowering

somewhat the great outbreak ofpurpura fever of 194 1 in the prisoners

'

camps, etc. For my successes, soon I was lieutenant. December 1941,

the tribunal which had ordered my expulsion out of the NSDAP
received knowledge ofmy entry into the SS army. Great efforts were

made to hunt and pursue me. But because of my great successes and

my honorable character I was retained and protected by my chief.

January 1942, 1 was named head of the service of the department of

technical sanitation, containing also the service ofseverely toxic gases
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for disinfection.

T IV - Half pages 7, 8 and 9 (the first two lines)

On 8 June 1942, the SS Sturmbannfiihrer Gunther of the Reichs

Sicherheits Hauptamt, entered into my place of work in civilian

clothes, unknown to me. He gave me the order to obtain at once 260

kg of prussic acid for an extremely secret purpose and to go with the

poison by means of an auto to a place which was only known to the

driver. Some weeks later we set off for Collin near Prague. I was able

to get an idea about what kind of order it was. But I accepted it,

because, by chance, I succeded in seeing into all this machinery.

Moreover, as an expert for prussic acid, I was sufficiently authorised

and competent in any case to get rid ofthe poison as decomposed and

thus prevent its misuse for killing people.

We wereaccompanied—by chance—bySS Obersturmbannfiihrer

Professor Dr. med. Pfannenstiel, professor of hygiene at the Univer-

sity Marburg/Lahn.— At Collin I was given to understand that the

acid was intended to kill people. Because of that, in the afternoon the

car was observed with attention.

At Lublin we were received by the SS Gruppenfuhrer Globocnek,

who says to us: All this affair is one ofthe most secret things, and even

the most secret. Anyone who speaks about it will be shot immediately.

Yesterday, two talkers died. TTien he explained to us: At the moment
— 17 August 1942— there are 3 installations:

1 Belcec, on the highway Lublin-Lemberg in the sector of the

Russian demarcation line. Maximum per day 15,000 persons.

2 Sobibor, (in Poland; I do not know exactly where). 20,000 per

day. Not seen!

3 Treblinca, 120 km NNE of Warsaw. 25,000 per day. Seen!

4 Maidandek (near Lublin) seen in preparation.

I inspected Belcec, Treblinca, Maidenak in detail with the head of

these institutions, the captain of police Wirth.

T IV - Half page 9 (continuation and end)

Globocnek says: You must do the disinfection of very large quan-

tities of textiles, linen, clothing, ten or twenty times the result of

"Spinnstoff Sammlung." All this collection is only made to conceal

the origin ofJewish clothes, Polish, Czech, etc. Truly, the result ofour

installations is 10-20 times that of all these collections!

T IV - Supplement- Half page 1 and half page 2 (beginning)
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At Belcec, I had the impression that all were dead. But the

Hauptmann Wirth who— with no knowledge of chemistry, physiol-

ogy, and moreover no intellectual culture whatsoever had a liking for

experiments in killing men— told me the most curious things that he

has seen: for example, a very lively child in a chamber which had

stayed full during the night. In preference, they had made the most

different experiments with the insane. I do not believe that it concerns

large numbers, with whom the experiments were made. For example,

men were killed by means ofcompressed air in boilers, making use of

the ordinary compressors for road asphalt.— At Treblinca, I had the

impression that some were still living. Nearly all had their eyes open,

a terrible look. But I did not see any movements, in spite of every

attention.

The SS HauptsturmfiihrerDr. Villing ofDortmund told me, touched

and gripped in his heart, of the most heroic manner of dying. It

concerned several thousands ofPolish cures and priests, forced to dig

the ditches themselves and who, in front of these ditches, were shot

completely naked.

T IV - Supplement - Half pages 2 and 3 (except the last

4 words)

Asked with irony ifthey still believed in Jesus Christ and Mary they

replied by a strong confession of Jesus Christ and by an appeal to the

Holy Virgin of Czestochowa. This manner of dying— Doctor Villing

tells me— was moving and touching.

Also other Polish intellectuals, above all the schoolteachers, both

men and women, died in large numbers in a manner extraordinarily

honest and moving.

One way of killing men was to make them ascend the stairway of

a blast furnace, kill them there with a rifle shot and have them

disappear into the furnace. They say that many men died in the round

furnaces of the brickyards. But I cannot guarantee the truth of that

report.

One ofthe heads ofthe Bromberg police, SS Obersturmbannfuhrer

Haller, told 40 doctors in my course and me that, before his arrival at

Bromberg, it was usual to bang the Jewish children by the head against

the wall. He personally ended this abuse and had these children shot.

T IV - Supplement - Half pages 3 (last 4 words), 4 (in

full) and 5 (beginning)

He tragically recalledtwo little girls of5 and 8 years, whohad fallen

to theirknees to say their prayers—and who had to be shot afterwards.
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— Haller told us: At the massacres ofthe Poles they were forced to dig

large ditches in which they had to place themselves face down. Then
they were machine-gunned with automatic pistols. The next ones were
made to place themselves on the still warm cadavers in order to be shot

immediately. Many were not dead and were shot trying to crawl out

from the 5-6 layers of men.

One ofthe heads ofthe German government at Cracow has told me,
while carving a turkey, of an extraordinarily lucky break. That they

had seized one of the chiefs of the Polish resistance, a Jew. At the

interrogation he kept silent. Then they broke his wrists.

But stillhe kept silent. They they puthim with his behind on the hot-
plate of a stove. Then, he was ready to talk!

T IV - Supplement - Half pages 5 (continuation and
end) and 6 (in full)

On the occasion of a visit to the administration of the construction

works ofthe SS Army, on 18 August 1942, these two officer architects

told us of a visit to a mortuary depot of a prisoners' camp near Lublin.
The cadavers were piled up by the thousands. While busy with their

work, all of a sudden they saw some who were moving. The SS
Rottenfiihrer ofthe service only asked: Where? . . .then he took an iron

bar that was already at hand to break their skulls.— It was not the

action— the architects toldme— which surprised them, but that it all

happened as a matter of course.

On the occasion of my visit to Belcec, a Jewess wounded with a
razor some men of the work detail. Wirth regretted she was already

dead, for not being able to punish her severely as an example. He had
the wounded Jews looked after by doctors with great care, to make
them believe that they would be spared and recompensed. In a loud
voice he laughed that they believed they would live, that they would
receive their acres, their promises. The fools, the fools, he cried!

T IV - Supplement - Half page 7 (except the last 3 words)

At Belcec and at Tr6blinca, after undressing, the men and the boys
were invited to carry at great speed the clothes scattered everywhere
to the cars: The best workers will be members of the work force!—
It made a competition of life and death of these naked men picking up
the clothes, the SS deriding them. Naturally, afterwards, all disap-

peared into the gas chambers, only some very old and very weak
persons were shot.— I remember some gripping impressions: of the

little Jewish boy, who was ordered to give a small piece of string to

every person to tie the shoes together, and who, dreaming, distributed
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the strings. That all— involuntarily— were involved in the machin-

ery of their own killing.— Or I remember a naked little girl of 5 years

who, one meter from the death chamber, loses a little string of corals,

and the little boy of three years, who picks it up, who is very happy

with it— and then was thrown into the chamber.

T IV - Supplement - Half page 8 (except the last 5 lines)

The SS Hauptsturmfiihrer Obermeyer told me: I met in a village of

this region a Jew and his wife from my native place Pirmasens.

1914-1918, he was a sergeant, an honorable man. As a child, he saved

me from death, from being run over. I shall take these people and make
them members of the work detail.— Asked, what will be their future

lot, he says to me: Afterwards? The same as the others, in such things

there are no differences. But I shall havethem shot! Even on the inside

of the SS I have met some number ofmen warmly condemning these

methods, full of a burning hatred against Nazism.

T IV - Supplement - Half pages 8 (end) and 9 (in full)

Here are some names of such men:
2
/3 ofthe Dutch SS were only in this unit because forced by the most

fraudulent and violent methods. Similarly, many Germans, in prefer-

ence from the Hitler Youth, were pressed into the SS by lie and decep-

tions. It is the same fate as those members of the Luftwaffe and navy,

forced to the SS by Himmler. For justice, it is necessary not to forget

this!

Text TV
It is typewritten, composed in French, dated 6 May 1945.

It is entitled "Report of Dr. Gerstein of Tubingen." This is the copy

of an interrogation by the services of the O.R.C.G. (Organisation for

the Investigation of War Criminals). A specimen of this copy is

preserved at the Directorate of Military Justice at Paris in the admin-

istrative file No. 611/War Crimes, reference Kurt Gerstein.

Not having been permitted to make photocopies of this interroga-

tion, which we designate T Va, we shall present as appendix the

photocopy of a document very close to it which comes from the

National Archives at Washington and carries the declassification code

0 1 .08 1 3 . It is, obviously, the replica ofthe document preserved at Paris

with slight differences which we have corrected in the transcription.

We designate the latter document T Vb.
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There also exists a translation into English of T Vb. We designaste

this documentT Vc. This document in English is also preserved in the

Natinal Archives in Washington; it carries the same declassification

endorsement 01.0813 as T Vb. We have available a photocopy,

coming from the Center for Contemporary Jewish Documentation at

Paris; but it is a document in such poor condition that certain passages

are illegible. In the circumstancees, we forego adding the version T Vc
as an appendix to this thesis.

Transcription of T Va (first sheet)

. . . when I learned ofthe massive murder ofthe insane at Hadamar,

Grafeneck and elsewhere, I had only one wish, to see right to the

bottom of this sorcerers' pot and to communicate to the people what

I shall see there, be it at the risk of my life. I did not have to have

scruples, having been myself twice the victim of the agents of the SS
who had infiltrated themselves into the most closed groups of the

Protestant Church and who had prayed side by side with me.

I thought: "Whatever you are capable of doing, I can do better than

you," and I constituted myself a volunteer to enter into the SS. I made
this decision all the more easily in that my sister-in-law, Bertha

Ebeling, had been killed at Hadamar.

With the help oftwo recommendations of Gestapo agents who had
been responsible for my case, it was easy for me to be accepted into

the Waffen SS; one of these gentlemen had said to me: "With your

share of idealism, you should be in the party, right up to your neck."

In this way they themselves showed me the road to take. My basic

training was given to me at Hamburg-Langenhoorn in a course of

instruction which I followed with 40 doctors. Afterwards at Arnhem
in Holland and at Oranienburg. At Arnhem, I was immediately put in

touch with the Dutch resistance bymy student friend, the manufactuer

Ubbink, of Doesburg.

My double studies, as much doctor as technician, bring me soon to

the G.S. of the SS, Section D. Hygiene. It must be admitted that this

section was of a remarkable breadth of conception, perfectly consci-

entious. The choice of my occupation was left to me entirely and

freely. I set myself to construct disinfection installations stationary

and mobile for prisoners' camps, concentration camps, troops under

combat, in large quantity and to satisfy a pressing need. Without

having personal merit in that, I obtain a great success and from this

moment I am considered, wrongly, a technical genius. Quite simply I

have solid good sense and a great sureness of instinct. From this

moment, I am very much used for the projects ofthe Ministry ofLabor

and of the Ministry of the East, and I have to take charge of putting in
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good order the very insufficient disinfection system of the O.K.W. 16

(Oberkommando der Wehrmacht). This system was already so badly

botched that there was not a great deal to improve. All the same, I

succeeded in stopping the terrible wave oftyphus of 1941 which daily

caused several tens of thousands of deaths in the prisoners' and the

concentration camps. Soon, I became second, then first lieutenant.

In December 1941, I am once more in great danger, the party

tribunal that had decided my execution, having learned that I had infil-

trated into an E. M. of the SS. Thanks to my successes and the general

esteem which I enjoyed, I am protected by my chiefs and kept on.

In February 1942, 1 amnamedhead ofthe technical sanitary section
which comprises, at the same time, all the drinking water system and
all the technical disinfection, even with the aid of very toxic gasses.

Transcription of T Va (second sheet)

On 8 June 1 942, the SS Sturmbannfuehrer Guentherofthe R.S.H.A.
ofthe Kurfurstenstrasse comes intomy office. He is in civilian clothes.

I have never seen him before. With many mysterious allusions, he
gives me the order to obtain for him 260 kgs of prussic acid and to go
with this poison, with a car of the R.S.H.A. to a place known only to

the driver.

Some time after, I go with this car to Kellin [Kollin] near Prague.

I was able to imagine approximately the sort of mission it concerned.

I accept it all the same, for today again it seems to me that a chance,

looking strangely like fate, is putting me in a position to cast an eye
exactly where I wanted to see clear with all the fibers of my heart.

Among the thousands of possible posts, I had been entrusted, among
hundreds of others, with just the post which brought me closest to that

sort of thing and which charged me, me among so many others, to

work there. If I think about it, that seems to me incredible, and all the

more so if one takes my past into account which has led me several

times into the prisons of the Gestapo and of the S.D. for anti-national

activities and, not so long ago, into a concentration camp, this being

largely known to my chiefs, following from the denunciation of the

party. Truly, the S.D. and its patron the R.S.H.A. slept magnificently

in this case and made in an exemplary fashion a gardener ofthe goat. 17

At all times, when carrying out an order received, I keep the

absolute secret of this mission, even in the office, and speak to no one
of this thing. It is not very possible to doubt, that if in my situation I

yield to an indiscretion, I will be killed after dreadful tortures and my
family will be executed the same as me.

I have not the least scruple in accepting this mission, for others

would have brought it to success in the spirit of the S.D., whereas I,
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considered an authority in the field of prussic acid and of very toxic

gases, I can very easily make the whole load disappear under the

pretext that the material is spoiled or decomposed. It is in this way that

the use of the prussic acid for the execution of human beings can be

prevented. In any case, I do the necessary, from this moment onward,

always to have on me formy personal use in case of need, some poison

as well as a fully-loaded pistol which never leave me, eitherby day nor

by night.

A place being free in the car in question, I am accompanied by the

SS Obersturmbannfuehrer Professor Doctor Pfannenstiel, holder of

the chair of hygiene at the University of Marburg Lahn.

Transcription of T Va (second sheet continued)

At Kollin in the prussic acid factory, I voluntarily made it clear to

the personnel, by maladroit technical questions, that the prussic acid

was intended to killhuman beings. I did the same thing each time, this

being the best way to start rumors among the people. The vehicle was
very narrowly watched at Kollin.

At Lublin, we are received by the SS Gruppenfuehrer Globocnek,

general of the Waffen SS. He says: This state secret is actually one of

the most important, one can calmly say the most important; and any

man who talks about it will be shot immediately; just yesterday, we
silenced two talkers.

At the present time (17 August 1942) we have three installations:

Transcription of T Va (third sheet)

1. Belcec, situated on the route Lublin-Lemberg, in the northern

corner just at the spot where the Russian demarcation line cuts the

road.

Daily capacity: about 15,000 executions.

Average utilization: Up to by [sic] since April 42, 1 1,000 per day.

2. Sobibor, near Lublin in Poland, I do not know exactly where,

20,000 executions per day since about June 42

3. Trebttnca, in Poland, 120 kms north-north-east of Varsavie.

25,000 executions per day since May 42

4. Maidanneck, near Lublin, still in preparation.

Accompanied by the head of all these death factories, the Captain

of Police Wirth, I thoroughly inspected all these places with the

exception ofMaidanneck. Wirth is that same person charged by Hitler

and Himmler with the misson that did away with the insane at

Hadamar, Grafeneck, and elsewhere.
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Transcription of T Va (fourth sheet)

Turning towards me, Globocnec says: "Your duty is to disinfect

immense quantities of woollens, linens, clothes and shoes that our

factories produce. If every year we collect clothes among the Danish

people, that is only done to camouflage, vis d vis the people and the

foreign workers, the origin ofthese immense quantities ofsecondhand

clothes. Another much more important aspect of your mission is to

modify the functioning itself of our installations of death. At present,

that is done thanks to the exhaust gases ofan old Russian diesel engine.

This has to be modified and go very much faster. I think above all of

the prussic acid. The day before yesterday the Fuehrer and Himmler
were here. I received the order not to give passes to people who were

obliged to visit these installations for indispensible reasons of work,

but to accompany them personally in view of the preservation of the

secret.

Pfannenstiel then asks: "What did the Fuehrer say about all this?"

Reply of Globocnec: "All action must be taken more quickly. He was
accompanied by the ministerial counsellor, Dr. Herbert Linden, of the

ministry of the interior who was responsible, as doctor, for the

execution of the insane. He expressed the idea to burn the cadavers

rather than to bury them. It is possible that a generation may succeed

us who will not understand us too well." Globocnec replied: Gentle-

men, if ever a generation must succeed us that would not understand

our great duty so necessary, it truly must be believed that all our

national-socialism has been useless. On the contrary, I am of the

opinion that we ought to put down at the same time as the cadavers,

tablets of bronze on which it would be written that it was us who have

had the courage to accomplish this work so important and so indispen-

sible." Hitler replied: "Yes, Globocnec, that is also my opinion."

Nevertheless, some time after, it was the opinion of Dr. Linden

which prevailed. Even the cadavers already buried were burned on

grills made with rails, with the aid of petrol and heavy oils.

The offices of these factories were at Lublin in what is called the

"Julius Schreck" barracks. 18

I am introduced to the gentlemen present on the following day.

Transcription of T Va (fifth sheet)

We go in Captain Wirth's car to Belcec; a special little station is set

up right beside the road, near a hill of yellow sand. To the south of the

road are some buildings with the sign "Special Commando of the

WaffenSS of Belcec."

Globocnec put me in contact with Wirth's replacement, the SS
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Hauptsturmfuehrer Obermeyer of Pirmasens.

With remarkable restraint, the latter had me take a walk around the

place.

Behind thick rows ofbarbed wire, all at once after the station, there

is first a large hut with the inscription "Cloak Room" and further back

a big service-window on which is marked: "Deposit of gold and
objects of value." Then comes a room with about 100 stools, the

"hairdressing salon." Then a pathway bordered by trees of about

150 m, bordered to right and left with double barbed wire with a sign

"to the rooms for inhalations and baths." We then find ourselves in

front of a building like a bathhouse with a little stairway of wrought
iron. On the building, a large placard with the inscription "Heckenholt
foundation." I did not see more that afternoon, only the gas chambers
coming to the right ofthe corridor situated in the "bathhouse." To right

and to left, three rooms like garages 5m x 5m and 1.90 m in height.

I do not see any dead that afternoon but everywhere, even on the

road, there prevails an unbreathable stink, pestilential, indescribable,

of cadaver. Millions of flies were flying in the air.

The next day some minutes before 7 o'clock, I am alerted "Imme-
diately, the first transport is due to arrive." Actually, on the stroke of

7 o'clock, a train with 45 cars comes from Lemberg; behind the

openings covered with barbed wire, one sees children of a dreadful

pallor, as well as some men and some women with features distorted

by fear.

200 Ukrainians heave open the doors and with their leather whips
whip the people out of the cars. 6,700 persons, 1,450 of whom are

already deadontheirarrival. Aloudspeakergives instructions: "Undress
completely, also take off your spectacles and artificial limbs (a guard

says to a young girl: Leave your spectacles calmly, you will have
others inside), deposit the objects of value at the service-window

without voucher or receipt.

A little Jewish boy of three years receives an armful of strings

which he pensively distributes to the others; it is for tying the shoes

together, for never could anyone retrieve the assorted pairs in a pile 35
to 40 meters high. Then the women and the young girls pass on to the

"hairdresser." With 2 or 3 cuts of the scissors the hair is cut and
disappears into large potato sacks.

An Unterscharfuehrer of the service tells me "This is intended for

a special use for the insulation of submarines."

Transcription of T Va (sixth sheet)

At this moment already, I predict to everybody that soon these

submarines will stop prowling the sea, for the most efficient army
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must lose its fighting spirit if it has been stained with rivers ofinnocent

blood.

In fact, events proved me right a little time afterwards.

The procession ofdeath then starts to move: at the head, a ravishing

young girl. It descends the pathway. All naked, men, women, children;

among them supported to the right and to the left, the men who have

been obliged to put down their artificial limbs.

I find myselfwith Captain Wirth, at the top ofthe ramp between the

death chambers. The mothers with their nursing babies at the breast,

grandchildren naked, the adults, the children, the women, all in

confusion, naked, they slowly mount. Then they enter into the death

chambers, pushed by those who are behind them who are spurred on

by the whips of the SS.

At a corner of the pathway there is a big SS man with a face like a

bulldog who is surroundedby these unfortunates. In an unctuous voice

he says to them: "Nothing at all will happen to you. You only have to

breathe deeply inside the chambers, the inhalations are indispensable

because ofthe epidemics and the sicknesses and that will do you good

for the lungs." On the question "What is going to happen to us?" he

relies: "/a, naturally the men must work, to build houses, roads, but

the women have no need to work, only if they wish, they can help in

the factories and in the kitchen."

For some among these unfortunates, this glimmer of hope is

sufficient to make them take steps just into the chambers without

resistance, but the majority know what awaits them. The smell has

informed them oftheir fate. Thus, they climb up the little stairway and

see the whole installation. The majority without saying a word react

like sheep being led to the slaughter house. A Jewess ofabout 40 years

with blazing eyes, calls down on the head of the murderers all the

innocent blood spilled here by the most dastardly killing ever seen. It

is Captain Wirth personally who hits her 5 or 6 times with his whip on

the face. She disappears in her turn into the chamber. Some turn

towards me: "Oh, Mister, help us, help us!" Many pray. I cannot yet

give them help. I pray with them, I press myself into a corner and I cry

to their God and to my God in a loud voice.

Transcription of T Va (Sixth sheet)

I can permit myself this; there is enough noise around me. With

what joy would I not have gone toward them into this chamber, with

what joy would I not have died their death. On finding an SS officer

in uniform in their chamber the murderers would neverhave supposed

that that could be a protest on my part. They would have considered

it an accident and my epitaph would have been: "Dead for his beloved

61



Fuehrer, while carrying out his important duty for the Fuehrer."

No, that won't do. I do not yet have the right to yield to the

temptation to die with these people. I know enough about it. Wirth has

told me: "There are not ten persons who have seen what I have seen

and who will see it; the auxiliary foreign personnel will be executed

at the end. I am one of the five men who have seen all these

installations. There is certainly not one of them, apart from me, who
sees this as an adversary, as an enemy of this gang of murderers; so,

I must still live to cry out what I have seen here. Truly, this must be

much more difficult, I must live and make it known.

The chambers are filling up: "Pack tightly" Captain Wirth has

ordered. They are stepping on one another's feet. From 700 to 800

human beings on 25 m2, on 45 m3. 1 recapitulate, more than half are

children, average weight maximum 30 kgs. Specific gravity 1, thus

25.250 kgs ofmen perchamber. Wirth is right, with the help of the SS,

750 persons can be stowed in 45 m3 and the SS help with their whips

and cram in as many as physically possible. The doors close.

Transcription of T Va (seventh sheet)

During this time, the others are waiting outside naked. Meanwhile,

the 2nd transport has arrived. Someone says to me: "Naturally they

wait naked outside even in bad weather, even in winter."Up until now
I have not asked anything. I appeared to be interested in it, but a word
stupidly escapes me. "They 'll catch their death." "That is what they

are really there for," an SS man says to me in his dialect. In a flash I

understand also why all this installation is called "Hockelchoc Foun-

dation." Hockelchoc is the operator of the Diesel. A little technician

and untiring worker according to Wirth, he already acquired undying

merit at the time of the execution of the insane by his enthusiasm and

his fertility of ideas. He is also the constructor of the whole installa-

tion; with the fumes ofhis Diesel, all thesehuman beings must die. But

the Diesel machine does not work. I am told this is quite rare.

Wirth arrives. One sees that it is painful to him that this should

happen just today when I am here. Yes, I see everything and I hear

everything; my watch has recorded everything well, 50 minutes, 70

minutes the Diesel does not start; humanity is waiting in these

chambers in vain. One hears them weep and sob "like in the syna-

gogue" remarks Professor Pfannenstiel who has his ear glued to the

wooden door. Captain Wirth beats with a whip the Ukrainian who has

to help Hockelchoc in starting the Diesel.

After 2 hours and 49 minutes, my stopwatch has recorded it, the

Diesel starts. Right up to this moment, these human beings in the

chambers already full are alive: 4 times 750 beings in 4 times 45
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meter3
.

Again 25 minutes pass. It is true that many are already dead; one

sees that through the little window illuminating the chamber for an

instant with electric light. Wirth has interviewed me in detail in order

toknow whether I consider it preferable to let these people die in a dark

room or a lighted one. He asks this in the same tone that one asks: "Do
you prefer to sleep with or without a cushion? Do you like your coffee

with or without milk?"

28 minutes later, rare are those who still live. Finally, after 32

minutes all are dead; I am told that this is the normal time in order to

kill.

On the other side, the men of the work detail open the sliding doors

of wood. These men, also Jews, have been promised liberty and a

certain percentage from all the objects of value found. Three book-

keepers keep a book with scrupulous exactitude and calculate this

percentage.

Transcription of T Va (eighth sheet)

Like marble statues, the dead stand pressed one against the other.

In the chamber, there is no room to falldown oreven to lean over. Even
in death one can recognize the families; they hold hands together

stiffened by death and it is difficult to pullthem apart one from another

to free the chambers for the next load.

The naked cadavers, damp with perspiration and urine, with men-
strual blood on the legs, dirtied with excrements, are thrown outside,

the bodies of babies fly through the air; there is no time to lose. The
whips of the Ukrainians fall on the backs of the work detail. 2 dozen

dentists open the mouths with hooks and look for gold. Gold to the

right, no gold to the left. Other dentists with pincers andhammers pull

out the gold teeth from the jaws. Captain Wirth skips about among all

this, he is in his element. Some workers check the genital organs and

the anus to look for gold, brilliants, or objects of value. Wirth makes

a sign to me: "Get a load of this fruit tin with gold teeth, it is only from

yesterday and the day before." With an extraordinary vulgarity, he

says to me: "You cannot imagine what one finds every day, like gold

and like brilliants, but look," and he leads me toward a jeweller

responsible for administering all these treasures, and shows me all

this. — 2 big 20 dollar pieces especially seem to please Wirth who
makes them disappear into his pocket.

I am also shown a formerhead ofthe big department store in Berlin.

A little violinist is made to play on his instrument. This is a former

captain of the Austrian army, holder of the iron cross 1st class. Both

of them are heads of the Jewish work detail.
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The naked cadavers were thrown some meters further away, into

pits of 100 x 12 x 20 meters. Some days later, these cadavers swell and

afterwards collapse heavily, which permits re-covering them with a

new layer; about 10 cm of sand is thrown on top; there are only a few

arms and a few heads sticking out. The day of my visit, only 2

transports with about 12500 persons arrive at Belcec.

Transcription of T Va (ninth sheet)

This "factory" has been working since 1942 and "manufactures"

about 11,000 dead per day. When the circle of my friends or myself

heard the broadcast from London or the Voice of America we were
often surprised by the innocent angels who spoke of hundreds of

thousands of dead when in reality there were already more than TEN
MILLIONS.

In the year 1943, the Dutch Resistance toldme throughUbbink that

I was requested not to supply invented atrocities, but to content myself
with reproducing the strict truth; despite my pointing out these things,

in August 1942, at the Swedish embassy in Berlin, people refused to

believe these figures. Unfortunately, I reply to it under oath, these

figures are exact.

According tomy unquestionable documents, I estimate the number
of defenseless human beings murdered by Adolf Hitler and Heinrich

Himmler at about 20 million. It is obviously not just a matter of the 5

or 6 million European Jews who were murdered, but of all the Czech
intelligentsia and the elite of other peoples like the Serbs, then the

Poles, who were the most numerous, and a smallnumber ofCzechsNo
3, as well. That refers to thosewho are called the "biologically useless"

who, according to the opinion ofthe SS, no longerhad the right to exist
since they could no longer work.

Commissions of so-called doctors, equipped with magnificent cars
and the paraphernalia of medical sorcery travelled from village to

village, and sounded the chests of the whole population, dressed in

white coats, stethoscope in hand. Whoever did not seem capable of

working, from a simple glance of the eye, was put on the list of the

useless and was sought out some time later and put away.
It is these young folk dear to Himmler, whojudged, who very often

were wet behind the ears, who had not undergone a primary school

education and who congratulated each other with "dear colleague"

and "HerrProfessor"
—

"withoutthese measures," aSturmbannfuehrer

at Lublin tells me, "all of Poland will be without value to us, for it is

too overpopulated and too ill. We are only doing what nature does
everywhere else and what it unfortunately forgets among the other

human beings."
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Even a gamekeeper confirms to me that the elimination of the weak
which is part of the correct maintenance of a preserve is, in the Polish

circumstances, absolutely just and indispensable. It is astonishing

how much this kind of racial materialism can take place in the brains

of many German intellectuals; even those who refuse to accept the

massacre of the Jews were completely in agreement with the execu-

tion of the weak and the insane and justify this measure with a great

deal of conviction. For many, that became so natural and indisputable

that it became difficult to discuss it with a large part of the elite.

Wirth asks me not to propose to Berlin any modification in the

methods of death in the gas chambers employed up to now for they

have proven themselves. What is curious is that no one has asked me
a single question in Berlin.

I had the prussic acid which I had brought buried.

Transcription ofT Va (tenth sheet)

Hie next day, 19 August 1942, the car of Captain Wirth takes us to

Treblinca, 120 kms north-north-east of Warsaw. The installation is

almost similar but a great deal bigger than Belcec, 8 gas chambers and

several mountains of suitcases, textiles, and linen.

In our honor, a feast truly Himmlerian, in the most pure old German
style, is given in the common hall. The meal is simple, but everything

is at the disposition of everybody in unlimited quantity. Himmler
himself has given the order to give at pleasure to the men of this

Kommando as much meat, butter, and above all, alcohol as they wish.

Prof. Pfannenstiel makes a speech, stressing the importance and the

utility ofthe duty of these men. Turning to me, he speaks of the "very

humane" methods and of "beauty of work." This seems improbable,

but I guarantee that Pfannenstiel, himself the father of 5 children, did

not speak in jest, nor, ironically, but he treated this thing like a doctor

with absolute seriousness. More than half of those killed were chil-

dren; thenormal time forkilling afterthe transport and the very painful

wait was 32 minutes. Pfannenstiel said again to the men of the Kom-
mando: "In seeing these bodies of Jews, these pitiable figures, one

understands still betterhow much our work will call for recognition."

On departure several kilos of butter and numerous bottles of liquor

are offered to us to take away. I had great difficulty to refuse these

things by arguing that, supposedly, I had plenty of them. Very happy,

Pfannenstiel also pockets my share. We return by car to Warsaw. On
departure, we see again a group of Jews at work who are busy in one

of the common graves on a heap of cadavers. "It had been forgotten

to undress those of the arrivals who were already dead; naturally, that

must be recovered, because of the objects of value and the clothes,"
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Captain Wirth explains to me. At Warsaw, waiting in vain for a

sleeping car, I meet the secretary of the legation of the Swedish

embassy in Berlin, the Baron von Otter, in the train; still under the fresh

impression ofmy dreadful adventures, I told him everything with the

urgent plea to communicate immediately all that to his government

and to the Allies. I say to him: "In the place ofnumerous bombs, if the

Allies sent millions of pamphlets and intelligent leaflets well done in

informing the German people of all that is going on, it is probable that

in some weeks or months, the German people would finish with Adolf
Hitlerr

Baron von Otter asked me for references, for this conversation was
for him, as a diplomat, very delicate. I indicated to him Dr. Dibelius

at Berlin, Bruederweg 2, eminent member ofthe Protestant resistance,

close friend of my friend, the Pastor Niemoller now at Dachau.

I again saw Baron von Otter on two occasions at the Swedish
legation. Meanwhile, he gave an account to Stockholm personally and
he told me that his report had a considerable influence on Swedish-
German relations.

Transcription of T Va (eleventh sheet)

Some days later to relieve my conscience, and in order to have done
all that is in my power, I tried to give an account to the papal nuncio

in Berlin; At my first words, I am asked whether I am a soldier;

thereupon, all conversation with me is refused and I am requested to

leave the legation of His Holiness immediately.

I tell this only to prove how difficult it was, even for a German,
pitiless enemy of Nazism, to find a way to discredit a criminal

government.

In this situation where every day tens and tens of thousands awaited

killing, where a delay of some hours seemed to me criminal, if in this

situation I say, a qualified representative of Jesus on earth refuses all

conversation with me, what can one ask of an average citizen against

Nazism? What must he do, he who hardly knows these errors, in

general, except from hearsay? He who, like millions of foreigners

(such as the Dutch resistance) hold these things to be terribly exagger-

ated, who does not have my ability, who does not have perhaps any
occasion as I do to listen to the foreign radio, what must he do against

Nazism? Ifeven the representative of the Pope in Germany refuses to

listen to information of this extraordinary importance on this unique

violation ofthe law ofJesus: "Thou must love thy neighbor as thyself."
Terribly disappointed and despondent, I leave the legation where I

was unable to find either advice or help. Hardly gone out, I am
followed by a policeman; some minutes later, a policeman on a bicycle
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also follows me. I passed minutes ofimmense despair and disappoint-

ment; I lifted the safety-catch of my revolver in my pocket and I

mentally prepared myself for suicide. The incomprehensible hap-

pened; the policeman brushed by me at about 50 cms, stopped an

instant . . . and went away. From that day, risking my life each hour,

I have given an account of these atrocious deaths to hundreds of

influential persons: to the Niemoller family, to the press attach^ of the

Swiss legation at Berlin, Dr. Hochstrasser, to the secretary of the

Catholic bishop of Berlin Dr. Winter, requesting transmittal to the

bishop and to the Pope, to Dr. Dibelius and to many others; thus

thousands have been informed by me.

Transcription of T Va (twelfth sheet)

I must add that Guenther ofthe R.S.H.A. (I believe thathe is the son

of Guenther of the racial studies) asked me again, at the beginning of

1944, for large quantities of prussic acid. The poison was to be

delivered to his office in the Kurfuerstenstrasse in Berlin and stored in

a shed that he showed me. It concerned very large quantities, alto-

gether several freight cars, which were to be piled up little by little and

held at his disposal. This was sufficient poison to kill several millions

who in this way would have disappeared without a lot of noise.

Guenther told me that he did not know yet where, when, how , for what

purpose, for what group this poison was to be used. In any case, it was

to be constantly available. I deduced from several technical questions

put by Guenther that a part, at least, of this poison was to be used to

put down a large number of men in the clubs and the lecture halls.

According to these meagre indications, I supposed that it related to

officers or priests, in any case educated people, and the poison was to

be employed in Berlin itself.

Having looked over the premises in detail, I state to Guenther that

I cannot take the responsiblity of stocking such quantities ofpoison at

that spot, in the capital, since there was enough to kill twice thenumber
of all the inhabitants. With many difficulties, I obtain the storage of

this poison at Oranienburg and at Auschwitz, in the concentration

camps. Afterwards I arrange things so as to use up the poison as soon

as it arrives, supposedly for disinfection. The invoices of the supply-

ing firm, the German Pest Control Corporation, of Frankfurt and

Friedberg, were made out, at my request, in my name, to more readily

make the poison disappear. For this reason, I avoid presenting the

numerous current invoices for payment, so as not to remind the S.D.

and the R.S.H.A. continually of the large quantities that ought to be

available. I make the firm have patience and leave the invoices unpaid.

The manager of this house, Dr. Peters, told me in the course of a
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conversation that he has delivered prussic acid in ampoules for the

execution of human beings. I never learned exactly what the group

was that Guenther still was to destroy on the orders of his chief

Eickmann.

According to the quantities, I thought first of all ofthe occupants of

the concentration camps, and it is for that that I replied negatively to

the question of Jochen, the son of Pastor Niemoller: will he ever see

his father alive? Himmler's order to kill all the occupants of the

concentration camps in case ofneed, was to be foreseen already at that

time. It was equally clear that the Ukrainian teams of the death camps

at least would be sacrificed in order to get rid of embarassing

witnesses. I also thought of the eventuality of the murder of the

prisoners of war as a means of blackmail.

When later, Goebbels pointed out that, if it was necessary national

socialism would slam the door behind it in a way to shake the world,

I checked once more, to see whether the reserves of poison were well

destroyed.

Transcription ofT Va (thirteenth sheet)

Some time after, Guenther recalled me to the R.S.H.A. and asked

me if it might be possible to poison the Jews interned at Maria-

Theresienstadt by throwing prussic acid from the top of the forti-

fications. To prevent the execution of this plan, I declared this

impracticable.

I learned later that he had obtained the prussic acid some other way
and that he had all the same executed the Jews who, supposedly, led

such a good life at Maria-Theresienstadt: it involved Jews, fathers of

sons killed or holders ofhigh decorations and having rendered special

service.

The most horrible concentration camps were by no means Belsen

or Buchenwald. Auschwitz and Naathausen [sicjwere much worse

and millions of men disappeared in the gas chambers and in the gas

vehicles (mobile gas chambers); at Auschwitz alone millions of chil-

dren were killed by a pad of prussic acid held under the nose. In the

Ravensbruck concentration camp, I was present at these tests on living

beings, performed by Dr. Gundlach, Haupsturmfuehrer, on the order

of SS Gruppenfuehrer Professor Dr. Gerhardt Hohenlychen.

The tests on thewomen were, insome way, still more repugnant and

odious than in the concentration camps for men. At least, to the men
one said honestly: "Pay attention, you are going to receive an injection

and you're going to kick off." At the womens' concentration camp at

Ravensbruck, one proceeded differently: There you are, Frau Meyer,

wejust noticed that you have an abcess in the liver, we 're going tohave
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you treated with some injections and you are going to see that your

condition is going to improve a lot." What was the most horrible was

the cynicism and the shameless irony with which this was done. It was

a veritable competition, from the star of David on the death chambers

right up to these humorous diagnoses.

Daily, experiments were made at Buchenwald on hundreds of

detainees with 1 to 100 tablets of pervitine, then again injections of

typhus. Himmler reserved for himself the authorization of such

experiments performed on persons condemned to death by the S.D.

The reports of these tests were all centralized in my office.

The Stabsscharfuehrer Hoellander gave them to me regularly.

Another day, at Oranienburg, I saw thousands of pederasts disap-

pear without a trace into a furnace.

Transcription ofT Va (fourteenth sheet)

At Mauthausen, it was the practice to do away with the Jews in the

quarries, by making them fall from a height.

What is curious, is that these "work accidents" were always

foreseen some minutes previously by the guards.

The SS Hauptsturmfuehrer, Dr. Fritz Kraatz, head of a mission to

the Reich SS medical service, gave me an account of these facts with

sincere disgust and has made these things public. Kraatz was a

fanatical enemy of the Nazis

Transcription ofT Va (fifteenth sheet)

At Belcec, I had the impression the day ofmy inspection, that after

such a long wait in the chambers, everybody was truly dead; on the

other hand, Captain Wirth, a creature without any education and

without any notion of chemistry and physiology has told me of the

strangest things. Wirth was gifted with a special love for varied

experiments to take people from life to death. Thus he spoke to me of

a little child that they found one morning in a gas chamber which had

not been emptied the night before and who was perfectly alive and

happy.

Wirth was apparently taken up with particularly interesting experi-

ments on the weak minded, it is on them that one could best test the

various degrees of sensitivity. Tests were also made with the aid of

compressed air; people were put into old boilers filled, by means of a

compressor, with compressed air. At Treblinca, I had the impression

that certain of them were still living and were simply unconscious,

which did not exclude the possibility that during the night they could

revive and suffer a new martyrdom until final death.

69



Nearly all had their eyes open and offered a dreadful sight. In spite

ofmy careful observation, I could not observe any movement. On the

whole, not the least trouble was taken to do these executions in a

humane manner. Insofar as one may have the right to use this word in

connection with these facts. All this was done less by sadism than by

total indifference and convenience.

The Hauptsturmfuehrer Dr. Villing of Dortmund spoke to me of a

thing which especially impressedhim: about 8,000 Polish clerics were

compelled to dig ditches; then they had to undress, stand in front of

these ditches naked and were shot.

Transcription of T Va (sixteenth sheet)

To the ironic questions, whether they still believed in Jesus Christ,

in Mary and in their Polish people, they replied with a serene

affirmation of faith that they believed more than ever in Christ, in the

Holy Mother of God and in a resurrection of their people.

Villing spoke to me of this with emotion.

Other Poles died in the same exemplary fashion, above all the

schoolmasters and schoolmistresses. On hearing all that spoken of, I

remembered my own prison in Buschsenstrasse at Stuttgart; an inex-

perienced hand had scratched on the metal of my bed: "Pray, the

Mother of God helps." This was for me in painful days a great

consolation and my cell seemed to me a little church. I salute with
gratitude this unknown brotherwho sent me this sign and this encour-

agement in my deep pain. May God reward him.

Another way of killing people in Poland was to make them climb
to the top of ladders of blast furnaces and throw them inside after

having killed them with a pistol shot. Many others are said to have dis-

appeared into the brick kilns, suffocated by the gases and burned. In

those cases, I do not have a source absolutely guaranteed.

One of the chiefs of police at Bromberg, the SS Sturmbannfuehrer

Haller told the doctor who followed the course with me that it was
usual whenhe first came to Bromberg to take the Jewish infants by the

feet and to break their heads against the wall of their apartment, to

avoid the noise of the fusillade. He presumably stopped this nonsense

and managed to have the children shot.

Transcription of T Va (seventeenth sheet)

He found it particularly painful to be present himself, at the action

of two little girls of 5 and 8 years, falling to their knees and praying.

Naturally, concluded Haller, it was necessary afterwards that I have

them shot as well. He spoke to us also of the execution of the Polish
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intellectuals; they were compelled to make their graves, to lie down in

them on their bellies, and were shot with an automatic pistol; those

following were obliged to lie down on the warm cadavers and were

shot in their turn; some, not yet dead, were shot while they were

attempting to get out from between the various layers.

One ofthe heads ofthe German government ofKrakau spoke to me,

while carving a turkey, of a particularly good capture he had made; a

man of the Polish resistance, a Jew, had refused to speak, so then he

had his wrists broken; he continued to keep silent; thereupon, he was

made to sit on a white-hot iron plate. "You should have seen," he says

to me, "how that made him a talker."

Transcription of T Va (eighteenth sheet)

During a visit to a construction office of the Waffen SS at Lublin,

the two architects told me about a visit they had made to the morgue
of a prisoner-of-war camp with a view to enlarging it. "Thousands of

cadavers, in general typhous, were stacked there; suddenly, they saw

that some were still moving; the Rottenfuehrer, who carried the key,

merely asked calmly, "Where is that?" then, took a round ironhammer
just nearby, and smashed in the skulls ofthe persons pointed out. It was
not the fact itself that astonished the architects, but the naturalness

with which the action was performed.

At the time of my visit to Belcec, a Jewess had cut several of the

Jewish workers, with the help of a hidden razor. Wirth sincerely

regretted that this woman was already dead for she ought to have been

punished in an exemplary manner.

The wounded Jews have been perfectly looked after by him, in

order to make them believe that they would be recompensed, "and

they believe that, these idiots," Wirth shouted, laughing.

Transcription of T Va (nineteeth sheet)

What was especially repugnant at Belcec was the competition or-

ganized between the men and boys of the transport to carry away the

garments to the cars. He who works the best becomes a member ofthe

working-group. In this way a race for life and death is started between

these naked beings who carry the clothes to the laughter of the SS;

naturally, they all disappear without exception into the gas chambers,

only some beings very old and sick, who even when supported by

others cannot drag themselves to the chambers, were put aside and

shot.

Some particularly gripping impressions do not leave me any more:

the little Jewish boy of 3 years who, wool-gathering, distributes the
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pieces of string to tie up the pairs of shoes. Even this child was pressed

into service in the horrible death machine of Hitler.

I think also of a little girl who, one meter from the chamber, lost her

little coral necklace; this necklace is found by a little boy of 3 years;

he picks it up, looks at it lovingly, is happy with it, and, the following

moment, is pushed, I must say with gentleness, by a guard preserving

a remnant of feeling, to the interior of the chamber.

Transcription ofT Va (twentieth sheet)

The SS Hauptsturmfuehrer Obermeyer told me the following story:

in anearby village, hehad met aJew coming from Pirmasinz, hishome
town. During the war, this Jew had been a noncommissioned officer,

a very decent chap. As children, they played together and he even once

saved the life of Obermeyer— Obermeyer declared that he was now
going to take this man with his wife into his work unit. I asked him

what was going to happen later. He looked at me with an astonished

air: "What do you think will happen? The same thing as the others,

there is no other solution; finally, perhaps, I shall have them shot."

I must say in order to be fair, that I have met certain SS who
emphatically condemned these methods and have become furious

adversaries of Nazism.

Transcription ofT Va (twenty-first sheet)

I thinkabove all ofHauptscharfuehrer Hoellanderwho always kept

me informed of all the secrets and who always got rid of eveiything

that could have been compromising for me.

Another anti-Nazi was the head of the interior section of the

hospital ofthe SS at Berlin, the SS Sturmbannfuehrer Dr. Focht, who,

since 1941, has frequently criticized openly these methods, know-

ingly risking his head. The same thing is valid for the surgeon SS
Hauptsturmfuehrer Dr. Nissen ofItzehoe and Dr. Sorgue of Jena. The

threechiefpharmacists oftheWaffenSS,Blumemeuther,Behmenburg,

and Rudolphi were members of the group of officers of 20 July.

Among the Dutch and Belgian SS, 2
/3
were led by force and by trickery

under the pretext of sports courses. Ifthey afterwards refused to obey,

they were immediately shot.

Every person who, with an imprudent action, touched the trousers

of a comrade even from the outside, was immediately shot. This order

emanated directly from Himmler and cost the life ofmany very young

SS men, coming out ofthe Hitler Youth and taken by force into the SS.

Numbers belonging to the aviation and the navy were abruptly

transferred to the SS. It would be unfair, despite the very understand-
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able hatred that the SS have unleashed, not to make a distinction.

It must be said here that, frequently, the police have been much
worse than the SS. The President of the German Red Cross, the SS

Gruppenfuehrer Dr. Grawitz, is one of the principals responsible for

the situation of the concentration camps.

TextTVI

It is typewritten, composed in German, dated 6 May 1945. There is

no signature, although one reads on the last page: Gez: Kurt Gerstein.

(Gez = Gezeichnet = signed)

It is preserved at the National Archives in Washington.

It consists of thirteen pages.

T VI - Page 1 (the last 4 lines) and page 2 (lines 1 to 35)

. . . When I heard of the massive slaughter of the mentally sick at

Hadamar, Grafenesk and other places, I had only one wish: "You must
go yourselfand look into this devil's cauldron and make known to the

people what is happening, even at the risk of your life." In this, I had

no need of scruples, since I had myself twice been the victim of the

agents ofthe SD, who had wormed theirway into the very heart ofthe

fraternal Council ofthe Confessional Church and even participated in

the most intimate fellowships of prayer and got down on their knees.

I said to myself: What you can do, I have long since been able to do

and I registered myself voluntarily to enter the SS. This all the more

so as my sister-in-law Bertha Ebeling of Saarbrucken had been put to

death at Hadamar. On the recommendation of two officials of the

Gestapo who had studied my case, it was easy for me to be accepted

in the Waffen-SS. These gentlemen were completely of the opinion

that an idealism such as mine should at all costs be used for the

NSDAP. In this way, they themselves showed me the road which I

afterwards followed. I received my basic training with 40 doctors at

Hamburg-Langenhoorn, then atArnheim-Hollandand atOranienburg.

AtArnheim, I made immediate contact through the instrumentality of

my student friend, the manufacturer Ubbink ofDoesburg, Grad. Eng.

,

with a Dutch resistance movement. By reason of my double studies,

technical and medical, I was called straightaway to the central Ad-

ministration of the SS, Service D, sanitary affairs of the Waffen-SS,

Hygiene Section. Admittedly this service proved to be one of great

broadness of outlook. Thus, it was left entirely up to me to choose an

activity for myself. To meet an absolutely pressing need, I constructed

disinfection installations, mobile and fixed, in great number, notably

for the prisoners' camps, the concentration camps and the combat
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troops. Without wishing to boast, I obtained in this field some

extraordinary successes and I was henceforth taken to be a very special

technical genius. This is why I was also called on frequently for

projects of this type by the Ministry of the Eastern Territories and the

Ministry of Labor. Still the fact remains that we actually succeeded in

containing the terrible epidemic of exanthematic typhus of 1941

which at times caused several tens ofthousands of deaths each day in

the prisoners' camps and the concentration camps. That is why I very

quickly became second lieutenant and then lieutenant. In December,

I found myself again in great danger, for the party tribunal, which had

decided my expulsion from the party, had received knowledge of my
accession to a responsible position in the SS. By reason of my
successes and the general good evaluation of me, I was however

protected by my service and maintained in my position. In February

1942, 1 became head of the technical sanitary service, which com-

prised also questions of drinking water and all technical disinfection,

including that with the aid of highly toxic gases.

T VI - Page 2 (lines 36 to the end) and page 3 (lines 1 to 25)

On 8 June 1942, I received in my office of work the visit of

Sturmbannfiihrer SS Gunther of the Central Service of State Security

of the "Kurfiirstenstrasse". G. came in civilian clothes: I did not know
him until then. With all sorts of mysterious allusions, he gave me the

order to obtain a quantity ofhydrocyanic acid (260 kg) and to go with

the poison, by means of a vehicle of the SD, to a place that only the

driver knew. The affair appeared like one of the most secret affairs of

the Reich of the moment. Some time later, I went with the vehicle in

question to Kollin near Prague. I could roughly imagine to myself the

kindofmisson. I accepted ithoweverbecausehere chancewas leading

me to my goal: to cast an eye into all this machinery, as I had been

wishing to do for a long time. Moreover, I did not have the slightest

scruple. For if I had not accepted the mission, another would have

executed it in the way wanted by the SD, whereas, thanks to my
authority in the field of highly toxic gases, I could withbut difficulty

get rid of the entire load, as being decomposed or deteriorated. In this

way, I could all by myself, prevent a wrongful use of the hydrocyanic

acid to kill people.

As there was still a place in the car, I declared myself ready to take

along the Prof. Dr. med. Pfannenstiel, holder of the chair of hygiene

at the University of Marburg/Lahn. At Kollin I had been given to

understand, by purposely maladroit technical questions to the Czech

personnel of the factory, that the hydrocyanic acid was intended for

killing human beings. I always acted the same afterwards, as the best
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way of spreading the thing around among the people. At Kollin,

quickly, the vehicle was inspected with care. At Lublin, we were

received by the SS Gruppenfiihrer General Globocnec. He said to us:

This secret affair of the Reich is actually one of the most secret, one

can even say the most secret which exists. Anyone who does not hold

his tongue is immediately shot. Only yesterday, we silenced two

talkers. At the moment — it was the 17 August — we have three

installations:

1) Belcec, on the highway from Lublin to Lemberg in the north

corner, exactly at the spot where the road cuts the demarcation line

with the Russians. Daily output: about 15,000 executions. Average

utilization until now since April: 1 1 ,000 per day.

2) Sobibor, near Lublin in Poland; I do not know exactly where.

20,000 put to death per day.

3) Treblinka, 120 km to the NNE of Warsaw in Poland. 25,000

put to death per day. Average utilization about 13,500 per day since

June 1942.

4) Maidaneck, near Lublin. Was then still in construction.

Accompanied by the Head of all these death factories, Captain of

Police Wirth, I have inspected Belcec, Treblinka, and Maidaneck, in

a thorough manner and while they were still functioning. Wirth is the

same one who, on the order ofHitler and Himmler, killed the mentally

sick at Hadamar, Grafeneck, and other places.

T VI - page 3 (lines 26 to the end) and page 4 (the first 5 lines)

Globocnec said to us, that is to say he addressed himself solely to

me: It is your task to disinfect large quantities of textiles, linen,

clothing, and shoes which remain in the installations. These quantities

represent 10 to 20 times the product of the collection of textiles. All

these collections are essentially made only for the purpose of making

the origin of the large quantities of old clothes plausible in some way
to the foreign workers and the German people. Your other task still

more important naturally, is to change the actual operation itself of

these installations of death. The thing works now with diesel exhaust

gases coming from an old Russian diesel engine. This must be

changed in some way to work more quickly, and there, I think above

all ofhydrocyanic acid. The day before yesterday, on 15 August 1942,

the Fiihrer and Himmler were here. I may not make out a permit to

people who must visit the installations, but, to keep the secret, conduct

them there personally. Pfannenstiel then asked: "What did the Fiihrer

say of all this?" and Globocnec replied: "The whole operation must be

brought to completion the quickest way possible!" In his company,

there was also the ministerial counsellor, Dr. Herbert Linden of the
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Ministry of the Reich. He is of the opinion that it would be better to

bum the cadavers instead ofburying them. One day a generation could

come after us who would not understand all this. Whereupon, I,

Globocnec, said: "Gentlemen, if ever there should come after us a

generation who will not understand our great task so worthy of

recognition and so necessary, then it is our National Socialism alto-

gether which would have been in vain. On the contrary I am of the

opinion that bronze plaques should be set in the ground on which it

would be written that we, that it was we, who had the courage to

accomplish this work so necessary and important. - and thereupon,

Hitler: Good, Globocnec, that is truly also my point ofview. It was the

other point of view, however, which prevailed. The cadavers were

then burned with the help of petrol and diesel oil on gigantic grills

improvised with railway rails. It was then necessary forme to visit the

vast offices ofthese establishments of death at Lublin, at the barracks

named "Julius Schreck."

T VI -page 4 (lines 6 to 43)

The next day, we went to Belcec with the car of Captain Wirth. A
special little station had been built right against a hill of yellow sand

on the north side ofthe road. To the south ofthe road, there were some
administration buildings with the inscription "Special Commando of

Belcec of the Waffen SS." Globocnec turned me over to Hauptsturm-

fiihrer Obermeyer ofPirmasens, who showed me the installation with

great reluctance. Behind thick brushwood hedges, right near the

station, there was first of all a large hut with the inscription "Cloak

Room." There was a large service-window, "Deposit of money and

objects ofvalue." There followed a room with about a hundred stools,

the hairdressing salon. Then a birch tree pathway ofabout 150 meters,

enclosed to the right and leftby a double barbed wire, with signboards:

"To the rooms for baths and inhalation." Next, there was a building

before us, a little like a bathhouse, with a little stairway to the right and

to the left of that a large concrete vase with geraniums. On the roof, in

the guise of a weather-vane, the star ofDavid in wrought iron. In front

ofthe building, an inscription "Foundation Heckenholt." I did not see

anything more that afternoon. In particular, I did not see a single dead

person. But throughout, and again above the road, a pestilential stench

ofcadavers, and millions of flies buzzed about everywhere. Within the

bathhouse itself, set three each on both sides ofa corridor, were rooms

almost like garages, each of 5 x 5 meters in area and 1 .90 m in height.

The following morning, some minutes before 7 hours, I am told: the

first transport is going to arrive! In fact, at 7 hours exactly, a train

arrived of 45 cars coming from Lemberg. Behind the little windows
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latticed with barbed wire, one saw dreadfully pale children, and also

some men and women with features contorted by anguish. The train

disappeared behind the hedge. 200 Ukrainians abruptly open the

doors and with lashing leather whips drive out of the train some 6,700

persons of whom 1,450 are already dead on their arrival. A loud-

speaker gives instructions: undress completely, take offeven artificial

limbs, spectacles, etc. (To a young girl a guard says: take off your

glasses; inside you will receive others). Deliver the objects of value to

the service-window, without voucher or receipt. Under the arm of a

little Jewish boy, someone presses ahandful of strings, which the child

of three years, distraught, distributes to people: To tie the shoes

together! For, in the pile of 35 to 40 meters high, no one could

afterwards have retrieved the matching shoes. Then the women and

the young girls to the hairdresser, who cuts their hair in two or three

cuts of the scissors and makes it disappear into large potato sacks.

"That is intended for the submarines for certain special uses, for the

airtight joints or something like that!" the Unterscharfiihrer who is on

duty at this place tells me.

T VI - page 4 (lines 44 to end) and page 5 (lines 1 to 43)

I foretold even then to many people that these submarines would

soon navigate no longer because this weapon so ingenious would

become blunted since it was stained with floods of innocent blood.

God would arrange things in such away that they would not work any
more! And in fact, a little time after, events proved me right! Then the

throng starts moving; in front a superb young girl; and so they go on,

following the pathway, all naked, men, women, and children, the men
with artificial limbs which they had to take offsupported on both sides

by the others.

As for me, I stay with Captain Wirth up above on the ramp, between

the death chambers. Mothers with their sucklings at the breast, they

walk up, hesitate, then enter into the death chambers. At the corner of

the birch-tree pathway stands a robust elderly SS man, surrounded by

these poor people. In a voice like a minister 's, he says to them: Not the

least thing will happen to you ! In the chambers you must only breathe

deeply, this dilates the lungs, this inhalation is necessary because of

the sicknesses and the epidemics. To the question, what would happen

to them later? he replies: Yes, naturally, the men must work, to build

houses and roads, but the women have no need to work. Only if they

wish, they can help in the work or in the kitchen. For some of these

poor people, a little glimmer of hope which suffices for them to pass

the few steps up to the chambers without hesitation. The majority

know; the smell announces their fate! Thus, they climb up the little
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stairway, and then they see everything! The mothers with their babies

at the breast, the little naked children, the adults, men and women, in

confusion, all naked - they hesitate - but they enter into the death

chambers, pushed forward by the others behind them or by the leather

whips of the SS. The majority without saying a word. Like a lamb led

to a slaughterhouse! A Jewess of about 40 years with flashing eyes

cries out: May the blood which is spilt here in the basest of murders

fall again on the murderers! She receives 5 or 6 blows of the whip on

her face, personally from Captain Wirth, then also disappears into the

chamber. Some address themselves to me: Oh Mister, help us, but help

us! Many pray. But I cannot help them, I pray with them, I squeeze

myself into a corner and cry in a loud voice to my God and to theirs.

There is enough noise around me, I can allow myself to cry in a loud

voice to my God. How I would have wished to enter the death

chambers with them; how I would have wished to share their death.

They would then have found an SS officer in uniform in their

chambers; they would not have protested for that; they would have

considered the thing an accident; one would have announced in refer-

ence to me: "Died in service for his beloved Fiihrer faithfully served

in the execution of an important task for the Reichsfuhrer . .
."18 No,

that won't do. I cannot yet yield to the temptation to die with these

people. Iknow it well: There are not 10 persons who see what I see and

what I have seen, I who have a view of the whole here, of all the

installations and their organization. Certainly, not one apart from

myself sees this as an adversary, as an enemy of this gang of

murderers. So I must live and first of all make known what I see here.

To be sure, this is the most difficult service, very difficult. The
chambers are filling. Pack well, that is what Captain Wirth has

ordered. The people are stepping on each other's feet, 700 to 800

persons to 25 square meters, 45 cubic meters. I make an estimate:

average weight at the most 35 kg, more than half are children, specific

gravity 1 , thus 25,250 kg ofhuman beings per chamber. Wirth is right,

if the SS men push a little, one can cram 750 persons into 45 cubic

meters ! -and the SS menpush them with theirhorsewhips and compel
them to enter, as many as is physically possible. The doors close.

T VI- page 5 (lines 44 to the end) and page 6 (lines 1 to 25)

During this time, the others are waiting outside, naked. Meanwhile

the second transport has also arrived. Someone tells me, naked of

course in winter also and in cold weather. Yes, but they can catch their

death, say I, whoam usually prudent,who asks absolutely no question,

who acts the part of one not interested, this word escapes from me.

"Yes, that is exactly what they're here for," an SS man replies to me
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in his country dialect. Now at last I understand why the whole
installation is called "Heckenholt." Heckenholt is the operator of the

diesel, a little technician and a tireless worker. Already during the

liquidation of the mentally ill, he has gained unprecedented merit

according to Wirth by his zeal and his inventive mind. He is also the

constructor of all the installations. It is with the exhaust gases of his

Diesel that the people here have to be killed. But the Diesel was not

working. That happened relatively seldom, I was told. Captain Wirth

arrives. One can see that it is unpleasant to him that this happens just

today, when I am here. But yes, I see everything! and I wait. My
stopwatch has quietly recorded everything. 50 minutes, 70 minutes,

the Diesel does not start! The people are waiting in their gas chambers.

In vain. One hears them weeping, sobbing. "Like in the synagogue!"

Professor Pfannenstiel remarks, his ear against the wooden door.

Captain Wirth strikes the Ukrainian who must help Heckenholt, full

in the face with his horsewhip. At the end of 2 hours 49 minutes - the

stopwatch has well recorded everything - the Diesel starts. Right up
to this moment, the people in the 4 chambers already filled - 4 x 750
persons in 4 x 45 cubic meters! - are living. Again 25 minutes pass.

Right, many are already dead now. One sees it through the little

skylight, through which the electric light illuminates the chamber for

an instant. Wirth had questioned me minutely to know whether I

thought it better to make people die in a lighted room or without light.

He asked me that in the tone in which one asks whether one sleeps

better with or without a bolster. At the end of 28 minutes, only a few

were still alive. Finally, at the end of 32 minutes, all are dead. At the

other side, the men ofthe working party open the wooden doors ! They
have been promised - themselves Jews! - freedom and some thou-

sandths of all the valuables found for their terrible work. Three

bookkeepers keep the accounts with great exactitude and minutely

calculate the thousandths.

T VI - page 6 (lines 26 to the end)

The dead are standing tightly one against the other like columns of

basalt in the chambers . There would nothave been space to fall oreven

to lean forward. Even in death, one recognizes the families..Convulsed

by death, they clasp hands in such a way that it is difficult to separate

them one from the other in order to free the chambers for the next

batch. The cadavers are thrown outside, wet with sweat and urine,

soiled with filth and menstrual blood on the legs. The cadavers of

children fly through the air. There is no time, the horsewhips of the

Ukrainians whistle over the work detail. Two dozen dentists open the

mouths with hooks to look for gold— gold to the left— without gold
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to the right! Other dentists extract with pincers and hammers the gold

teeth and the crowns out of thejaws. Captain Wirth isjumping around

among them all over the place. He is in his element. Some of the

workers check the genital parts to look for gold, brilliants, and objects

of value. Wirth calls to me: Feel the weight of this fruit tin full of gold

teeth; it is only from yesterday and the day before! With a pronuncia-

tion incredible and incorrect, he says to me: You would not believe

what one can find every day ofgold and brilliants (he pronounced this

with 2 L's and without "Y") and also dollars. But look for yourself!

And he took me to a jeweller responsible for administering all these

treasures and he had me see everything. Then again I was shown a

former head of the Kaufhaus des Westens in Berlin, W. and a little

violinist was also made to play in my honor. He is a former captain of

the imperial and royal army of Austria with the Iron Cross 1st class;

these are the two chiefs of the Jewish work detail. The naked corpses,

on wooden carts, were thrown into 100 x 12 x 20 meter pits a distance

of only a few meters away. After some days, fermentation made the

cadavers swell, then they collapsed heavily in a short time afterwards,

so that a new layer could be thrown on top; then about 10 cm of sand

was spread on top, with the result that only a few isolated heads and

arms stuck out. The day of my visit there arrived at Belcec only two
transports with, in total, 12,500 persons.

T VI - page 7 (lines 1 to 37)

This installation has been functioning since April 1942 and effects

on average 1,000 killings per day. When I and my circle of friends

listened to the radio ofLondon or the Voice ofAmerica, we were often

astonished by those innocent angels who came up with figures of

hundreds of thousands of dead, whereas there were already tens of

milions of them. The Dutch resistance movement had asked me in

1943 through Graduate Engineer Ubbink of Doesburg, not to supply

them with atrocities, but [facts] of the strictest authenticity. Although
I transmitted these things in August 1942 to the Swedish Legation in

Berlin, apparently no one wanted to believe these figures at all. Yet

nevertheless they are true, I attest to it under oath. I estimate the

number of those who, defenseless and unarmed, have been murdered
at the instigation of Adolf Hitler and Heinrich Himmler, drawn
without any possibility ofresistance into those murderous traps where
they were put to death, as at least 20,000,000 human beings. Because
most certainly it is not just a matter of only some 5 or 6 million

European Jews who were thus put to death, but above all the Polish

intelligentsia and a great part of the Czech, as well as the management
classes ofotherpeoples, forexample the Serbs, but most especially the
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Poles and the Czechs. No. III. It was these who were said to be

biologically without value, and who, from the fact that they truly could

not work any longer, no longer had the right to live from the point of

view of the Nazis. Commissions of so-called doctors went from

village to village and from town to town, in beautiful limousines and

with a complete medical paraphernalia; dressed in white coats and

supplied with stethoscopes, they examined the whole population.

Whoever, according to all appearances, was no longer in a condition

to work, was put on the list as a useless mouth and some time

afterwards taken away and gassed. And those who decided this often

did not possess even a primary education and awarded each other (the

honorifics) "Dear Colleague!" and "Herr Medical Advisor!" Yes,

without these measures, an SS-Sturmbannfiihrer at Lublin told me, all

of Poland would be without value for us, since it is in every way
overpopulated and sick. We are only compensating for what every-

where else nature itself does and which it has unfortunately forgotten

to do with men! At Treblinka, I saw a certain number ofworkers who,
the following day, were turning overthe cadavers in the graves. "Itwas
forgotten to undress the people who arrived already dead. Obviously

it is necessary to retrieve that because ofthe textiles and the objects of

value," Captain Wirth told me. Wirth begged me not to propose to

Berlin any kind ofchange in the gas chambers in use up till then or in

the methods ofputting to death, given the fact that they had stood their

test as well as possible and were well run. Curiously, I was never asked
such questions in Berlin. As for the hydrocyanic acid which I brought,

I had it buried.

T VI - Page 7 (line 38 to the end) and page 8 (lines 1 to 18)

The next day, 19 August 1942, we went with the car of Captain

Wirth to Treblinka, 120 km to the NNE of Warsaw. The installation

was almost the same, but noticeably bigger than at Belcec. Eight gas

chambers and veritable mountains of suitcases, of textiles and under-

clothes. In our honor, a banquet was given in the common hall in the

typical old-German style of Himmler. The food was simple, but

everything was available in unlimited quantity. Himmler had himself

ordered that the men of these commandos should receive as much
meat, butter and other things, especially alcohol, as they wished.

Professor Dr. med. Pfannenstiel made a speech in which he explained

to the men the usefulness oftheir taskand the importance oftheir great

mission. To me only, he spoke of the "very humane methods" and of

the "beauty ofthe work." This has an air ofbeing absolutely incredible

but I guarantee that he did not say it as ajoke but absolutely seriously!

As a doctor, it is in this way he styled these things - To the teams, he
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said in particular again: When one sees these bodies ofJews, only then

does one understand clearly to what extent your task merits recogni-

tion. On our departure, we were again offered several kilos of butter

and numerous bottles of liqueurs to take away. I had some difficulty

refusing these things under the pretext that I had sufficient of all that

from our supposed farm. On which, Pfannenstiel very happily pock-

etedmy share as well. -Afterwards, we wentby car to Varsovie. There,
when I was looking in vain for a bunk in the sleeping car, I met in the

train the secretary of the legation of the Swedish embassy at Berlin:

Baron von Otter. Still under the very recent impression of the terrible

things that I hadjust seen, I recounted everything tohim while begging

him to make itknown at once to his government and to the Allies, since

every delay must cost the lives of thousands, of tens of thousands of

people. Von Otter asked me for a reference: I gave him Herr Superin-

tendent-General Dr. Otto Dibelius, Berlin, Briiderweg 2, a leading

member of the evangelical resistance movement and at the same time

a close friend of my friend Pastor Martin Niemoller. I met Herr von
Otter twice again at the Swedish legation. Meantime, he had reported

personally to Stockholm and told me that this report had had a

considerable influence on Swedish-German relations.

T VI - page 8 (lines 18 to 33)

I tried in the same affair to make a report to the papal nuncio at

Berlin. There, I was asked whether I was a soldier. Upon which I was
refused all further discussion. I was invited to leave the Embassy of

His Holiness immediately. I say that here because that shows to what
extent it was difficult for a German to find advice in his distress when
he could not even find help and counsel in such a dreadful necessity

from the representative of His Holiness, the Vicar of Christ on Earth!

On leaving the papal embassy, I was followed by a policeman on a

bicycle. I had lifted the safety catch on my revolver in my pocket to

blow my brains out when, incomprehensibly, this policeman passed
very close by me, then turned back. Risking my head daily, and at the

risk of being tortured and hanged, I then reported all that to hundreds
of important persons, among others the secretary of the Catholic

bishop of Berlin, Dr. Winter, in order that he transmit it to H. E.

Monseigneur the Bishop of the Holy See.

T VI - page 8 (lines 18 to the end) and page 9 (lines 1 to 21)

I must add that Gunther of the Central Office of Security of the

Reich (I believe he is the son of the "Rassen-Giinther") at the

beginning of 1944, asked once more for very large quantities of
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hydrocyanic acid for a very obscure purpose. The poison was to be

delivered to his offices in the Kurfurstenstrasse, and stored there in a

shed which he showed me. It concerned very large quantities, to the

total of several freight cars, which was to be accumulated little by little

and held at his disposal. The poison was sufficient to kill many
millions ofpersons. Gunther said that he did not yet know and that one

could not yet foresee, if, when, to what purpose, for what group of

persons the poison would or would not be utilized. In any case, it was
to be there constantly available. From certain questions of a technical

nature which Gunther asked, I concluded that one probably had to

have in mind the killing of a very great number of persons in a kind of

club or lecture hall. After a detailed inspection of the premises, I

explained to Gunther that I could not in any way take the responsibility

of storage of this poison in the shed in question in the very center of

the capital of the Reich, considering that this poison was sufficient to

kill at least twice the total population of Berlin and that its decompo-
sition and gasification, especially in summer, were probable. With
great difficulty, I managed to convince him to stock this poison in the

concentration camps of Oranienburg and Auschwitz. Afterwards I

arranged matters in a way that after its arrival the poison would
immediately disappear at each place for disinfection purposes which

constantly required cars ofhydrocyanic acid there. The invoices ofthe

supplying company — Deutsche Gesellschaft fiir Schddlingsbe-

Mmpfung (German Pest Control Corporation), Frankfurt a.M. and

Friedburg — I made out in my name, supposedly on account of

secrecy, in reality in order not to be hindered in my arrangements and

to be better able to get rid of the poison. For the same reason, I always

avoided presenting for payment the numerous invoices which were

accumulating, for in that way it would have been necessary continu-

ally to remind theSD ofthe existence ofthis stock and an investigation

of the situation would certainly have been made by the paying office

according to regulations. Also I preferred to give assurances to the firm

following its reminders (for payment) of the orders and leave the

invoices unpaid. The Manager of Degesch told me moreover during

a conversation that he had delivered hydrocyanic acid in ampoules to

kill people. What group of persons Gunther was to kill on the

instructions of his superior Eichmann should the need arise, I never

learned. From the number, I thought of the occupants of the concen-

trationcamps and ofthe foreign workers, but also ofthe officers, ofthe

German clergy and of prisoners of war. Especially when Goebbels

said later that possibly National Socialism would slam the door

violently behind it, I once more carefully verified that this reserve of

death had really been destroyed. The order of Himmler to kill all the

occupants of the concentration camps should things be in a bad way
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was already then to be foreseen.

T VI - page 9 (lines 21 to 44)

One other time Giinther asked me if it was possible at Maria-

Theresienstadt, in the moats of the fortress where the Jews who were
interned there had the right to walk, to poison them by throwing cans

ofcyanide from the top. To make this terrible plan ineffective, I stated

that itwas impossible. I learned laterthat theSD had however obtained
the hydrocyanic acid by another way and that it had killed all the same
the Jews who were, it seems, so comfortable at Theresienstadt. They
were the fathers of sons who had fallen in battle, Jews of great merit,

holders of high decorations. Moreover, the most frightful concentra-

tion camps were not at all those ofBelsen or Buchenwald. Very much
worse were Mauthausen-Gusen near Linz on the Danube and
Auschwitz. Down there millions of men disappeared into the gas

chambers and the gas vehicles (mobile chambers). At Auschwitz
alone, millions of children were killed by holding a pad of hydrocy-
anic acid under the nose. At the Ravensbriick concentration camp for

women nearFiirstenberg in Mecklenburg, I saw tests on living women
performed by Hauptsturmfuhrer Dr.med. Grundlach on the order of

SS Gruppenfuhrer Professor Dr. Gebhardt-Hohenlynchen. In addi-

tion, I was able to have knowledge in my work ofnumerous reports of

this kind. These concerned, for example, the tests of Pervitin— right

up to 100 tablets per day - on 100 to 200 detainees, and this right up
until death finally followed. Other tests of this kind were made with

serum and lymph — for example with the most varied vaccines

against typhus. Himmler had reserved to himself the personal pre-

rogative ofapproving such tests onpersons condemned to death by the

SD. In addition, one day at Oranienburg I saw several hundreds and
even several thousands ofhomosexuals disappear without a trace into

the ovens.

T VI - page 9 (lines 44 to 50)

At Mauthausen, it was usual to make the Jews work at the quarry

and to throw them afterwards, as ifby accident, from the top ofa rocky

cliff. They lay dead down below and were registered as accidents. The
SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer Dr. Krantz— a fierce anti-Nazi— a native of

Bonn on the Rhine, frequently spoke to me and many other persons

with indignation about the numerous actions of this sort that he had
seen.

T VI - page 9 (the last 4 lines) and page 10 (lines 1 to 20)
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At Belcec, the day of my visit, I had the impression that after such

a long wait in the chambers all were truly dead. But Captain Wirth, a

man totally devoid of culture and without the least knowledge of

chemistry and physiology, had reported the strangest things to me.

Obviously Wirth had an avowed predilection for tests on men when
they were being killed. Thus he spoke to me of a little child that they

had taken out of the gas chamber in the morning, completely un-

harmed after having passed the night in there without it having been

"unloaded." He said they had set up particularly interesting experi-

ments with the mentally ill. That was where they had observed the

most varied sensitivities of individuals.Tests had also been made with

compressed air; people were put into boilers into which compressed

air was introduced by means of the ordinary compressors used in

asphalting the streets .—At Treblinca, Ihad the impression that at least

a certain number were still living and were only unconscious. Nearly

all had their eyes open and presented a terrible aspect. In spite of my
attentive observation, I was nothowever able to notice any movement.

On the whole, no one has taken any trouble so to speak to effect the

killing in a manner— let us say
— "humane" insofar as one could use

the term in such a context!— And this undoubtedly less from sadism

than from complete indifference and laziness in regard to these things.

The SS Hauptsturmfiihrer Dr. med. Villing of Dortmund told me of a

particularly dignified death. It concerned several thousands— 8,000

I believe, priests and members of the Polish clergy. These were com-

pelled to dig long and deep ditches themselves; then they had to

undress completely, place themselves in front of the ditches, and then

they were shot.

T VI - page 10 (lines 20 to 40)

To the mocking and sarcastic questions whether they still believed

in Jesus Christ, in Mary, and the Polish people, they replied by firmly

confessing Christ, the Holy Mother of God, particularly that of

Tchenstchau, and in affirming their faith in the resurrection of their

people; Villing spoke of it with tears and with the deepest emotion and

distress. Other Poles also died in a similarly dignified and exemplary

manner, in particular the teachers, men and women. In hearing talk of

all this, I remembered my own imprisonment in Buchsen street in

Stuttgart. With an almost childish hand someone had scratched there

in clumsy lettering on the edge ofmy iron bed: "I pray you, Mother of

God, help me!" - In Poland, a confirmed method of killing people was

to make them climb up the spiral staircase of the blast furnaces, to

execute them at the top however with a pistol shot, and then to make

them disappear into the blast furnace. It is said that many people were
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asphyxiated by the fumes of brick ovens and after that burned. Here

however my source is not one hundred percent sure. - One of the

police chiefs at Bromberg, the SS Sturmbannfuhrer Haller told the

doctors inmy course and myselfthat on his arrival at Bromberg, it was

usual to smash the skulls of the Jewish children immediately against

the wall ofthe apartments to avoid the noise of shots. He had put a stop

to this excess and seen to it that the children were killed by shooting.

T VI - page 10 (lines 40 to the end) and page 11 (the first 3

lines)

He still remembered clearly two little girls of 3 and 5 years who had
fallen to their knees in front ofhim and had prayed. But I had to have

them shot too, of course, said Haller. Haller spoke to us of the

execution of the Polish intelligentsia. These people, too, had to dig

ditches, lie face down and were then killed with a machine pistol.

Those following had afterwards to lie down on the cadavers which

were still warm and were similarly slaughtered. Many afterwards had

been killed when they were trying to worm themselves between the

cadavers and climb outside, for they were not yet completely dead.

One of the heads of the government at Cracow told me, while

carving a turkey, of a particularly successful capture that they had

made.Aman of the Polish resistance, a Jew, had clammed up in stolid

silence. On this, they broke some ofhisjoints. As he continued to keep

silent, he had been seated on the red hot plate of a stove. You should

have seen how he recovered his tongue!

T VI -page 11 (lines 4 to 18)

On occasion of a visit to the construction office of the Waffen SS at

Lublin, the two architects informed us that that very morning, they had

measured the mortuary of a prisoners' camp with the purpose of

enlarging it. Thousands of cadavers, the majority typhous, were piled

up there. All of a sudden, they had seen some of them move. The
"Rottenfiihrer" who kept the key had only asked: "Where?" then he

had taken a round rod of iron which was there ready and smashed the

skull of these people. It was not the action itself, the architects said,

which had astonished them, but the way in which it seemed to be a

matter of course! On the occasion of my visit, a Jewess dealt some
Jewish workers cuts in the neck with the blade of a razor she kept

hidden. Wirth deeply regretted that the woman was already dead, she

ought to have been punished in an exemplary manner! He scrupu-

lously had medical care given to the wounded Jews so that they might

believe that they really would be left alive, settled and recompensed!
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"And the people believe it, the people believe it! These idiots!" cried

Wirth.

T VI - page 11 (lines 18 to 33)

At Belcec, the competition organized among the men and the young
people of the transports was particularly horrible: it consisted of

hauling the clothes right up to the cars. Whoever does the most will go

to the work detail! This resulted, it seems, in a life-or-death competi-

tion among these naked men who hauled the clothes to the laughter of

the SS. Ofcourse, all disappeared afterwards into the chambers. Only

a few, old and sick, who could no longer drag themselves up to the

chambers, even supported by the others, were taken to one side and

straightaway shot. Some touching scenes still pass before my eyes: the

dreamy little Jewish boy ofthree years whohad to distribute the pieces

of string to tie up the shoes. Even a child like him was harnessed

without knowing it to Hitler 's dreadful machine of death and murder

in the system ofpillage ofHimmler and Wirth. Or else I think of a little

girl who had lost, one meter from the chamber, a little chain of coral

that a little Jewish boy ofthree years found: how he picked up the little

chain, looked at it with love and seemed completely happy with it, and

at the following instant was pushed— yes, I must say it— this time

with gentleness to the interior of the chamber.

T VI - page 11 (lines 33 to 43)

The SS Hauptsturmfuhrer Obermeyer of Pirmasens told me: "in a

village in the vicinity I met a Jew and his wife who come from my
home town of Pirmasens. He had been adjutant during the Great War,

a very good lad. As children, we played together; he even savedmy life

once when I had almost been killed by a car. Him and his wife, I am
going to take them now intomy work detail." I asked Obermeyer what

would happen later to this man. He looked at me with astonishment:

"What will happen to him? Exactly the same thing as for all the others.

There is nothing else. Perhaps I shall have them shot." On the other

hand, I have met in the SS a certain number of men who sincerely

condemned these methods and had become thereby furious adversar-

ies of Nazism.

T VI - page 11 (lines 43 to the end) and page 12 (excepting

the last 3 lines)

I think above all of the chief staff officer of the senior director of

hygiene in the department of medicine of the Reich SS and of the
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police, the Hauptscharfuhrer Heinrich Hollander. He kept me in-

formed of all the affairs of any importance and saw to it that anything

that might in some way have accused me or made me suspect in my
job was made to disappear. I would myself have long since ended up

in the oven, if this faithful friend, a Catholic and ardent anti-Nazi, had

not held over me his protecting hand. A convinced anti-Nazi, he was

also the director of internal services of the SS hospital in Berlin, SS

Sturmbannfiihrer Dr. med. Focht who from 1941 found numerous and

courageous words to condemn the methods of the Nazis and the SS.

It was the same with the surgeons of SS Hauptsturmfuhrer Dr. med.

Nissen ofItzehoe and Dr. med. Sorge ofIena.An effective and militant

anti-Nazi also was the SS Hauptsturmfuhrer Dr. in geology Fritz

Krantz ofBonn, who made known among the people round him, at the

constant risk of being hanged, the numerous horrors that it was given

to him to see in the concentration camps. Among the group of officers

of 20 July 1944 must be counted the chief pharmacists of the Waffen

SS, the SS Gruppenfiihrer Dr. pharm. Blumenreuther and his two
assistants SS Sturmbannfiihrer Dr. Behmenburg and Dr. Rudolphi.

The latter, in October 1944, trampled with his feet the portrait of the

Fuhrer which was in his office.

Among the Belgian SS, Dutch and Luxembourgians, 2
/3 of the

effectives had been incorporated by force by incredible manoeuvres of

lies and deceit about so-called sports or other courses. Before people

had time to know what was going on and even before putting on the

uniform, they were sworn inby the sole fact oftheirpresence at an oath

taking, and in case of refusal they were treated as deserters or hanged

for insubordination or at best shot. With what rigor such actions were

treated, is shown by the fact that very young members of the Waffen

SS were shot quite simply for the fact ofhaving grabbed a comrade by

the seat ofhis trousers in the region ofthe pubis. This order to chastise

even the least signs of pervert tendencies was brought to the notice of

all the members ofthe SS and signed by Himmler himself. Thousands

of boys of the Hitler Youth were pushed into the SS against their will

like the foreigners mentioned above. It is the same with the other corps

of the Wehrmacht — in particular the Luftwaffe and the navy —
compelled tojoin the SS on the order ofHitler and Himmler. It would

be absolutely false and unjust—highly unjust—to wish tomake each

SS man co-responsible for the terrible crimes of the SS without

examining these aforesaid circumstances. It is necessary to mention

here also that the police were often considerably worse than the SS. At

the time ofthe apprehension and the assembling ofthe Jews with their

transport in view, for example, at the time of their delivery to the

abattoirs of Himmler, they supplied his worst agents, even though it

wouldhave been easy for the old experienced police officials to get rid
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of a good part at least ofthe Jews by means of the card-index. Besides,

it is only justice to expect on the part of these old officials, already

mature and who had to know what is just and unjust, other behavior

than that of the Hitler Youth or the young SS devoid of maturity. The
fact that Himmler was not only Reichsfuhrer of the SS but at the same
time chiefofthe German police is very often not sufficiently taken into

consideration. The blood guilt of the police in the smooth execution

of the massacre of the Jews is enormous, even if this was effected in

great part at a desk without risks and in the security ofan office. In this

regard, it is hardly necessary to make a distinction between Gestapo
and police and this very generally. That is not to deny the possibility

that more than one gendarme or policeman can have earnestly endeav-

ored to serve justice and to fulfill his duty according to his conscience

and not according to the orders of the Nazis. But that would be his

business to prove it. On principle, every police official should to begin

with be considered in the same way as a member of the SS.

Additions And Drafts

1. Drafts of T

I

a. One handwritten page beginning: "A la personne" and ending:

"Administration g6n6rale de la SS," dated 26 April 1945. The trans-

lation is on page 89.

It is a draft (the original ofwhich is with the LKA) of the beginning

ofT I. The writing is small and compressed together, to the extent that

when Gerstein recopied it with his additions , he usedtwo pages instead

of one. Thus we have the explanation for the two pages of T I which
are numbered "2;" this error in numbering is followed in the subse-

quent pages so that the last page, which is the tenth, is numbered "9."

The text of this draft shows a peculiarity which deserves being

noted: Gerstein writes ofhaving sent 3,500 anti-Nazi brochures, while

in the other versions he writes "8,500" brochures. It should moreover
be noted that on the finalized page of T I the 8 of the 8,500 is

overwritten.

b. One handwritten page beginning: "ayant pass6 volontaire et

spontan6" and ending "avec tous managements." (For translation see

below). This is a separate text but, in the main, we find here the ideas

expressed in the last page number 9 of T I. The original is preserved

at LKA.
[It is interesting to note here that Gerstein puts Maidanek in the

same context as Belzec and Treblinka,claiming he has seen the gas

chambers there and the massacres in all details; whereas in nearly
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every version of a final "confession" he clearly states that he saw

Maidanek under construction. —R.V.P.]

Transcription and Translation of Text Referred to in la.

Bergassessor a.D. 19

Kurt Gerstein

64a Rottweil 26 April 1945

Certified Engineer

(address details)

Personal data: Gerstein, Kurt, associate of the factory ofDe Limon
Fluhme & Co., Dusseldorf, automatic greasing. Before the war, head

of department of this firm. Born 11 August 1905 at Munster/West-

phalia. — father Ludwig Emil Gerstein, President of the Regional

Court, Hagen Westphalia. — mother Clara n6e Schmemann died

193 1 .— Married to Elfriede Gerstein n6e Bensch, Tubingen, Garten-

str. 24. Telephone 3340. Three children Arnulf, 5 years, Adelheid 3 V

2
years, Olaf 2 years.

Life: 1905-1910 Munster, 1911-1919 Sarrebruck, 1919-1921

Halberstadt, 1921-1925 Neuruppin, 1925-1931 studies Marburg,

Aix-la-Chapelle, Berlin. 193 1 Examination for Certified Engineer.—
Since 1925, active member of the organized Protestant Youth (Chris-

tian Union of Young Men) particularly the Christian student youth,

called Bibelkreis (circle around the Holy Bible).

Politics: supporter of Stresemann and Bruning, active for them.

Since 1932: responsible position for the whole of Germany in the

Protestant student youth.— Since June 1933, pursued by the Gestapo

for Christian activity against the State.

2 May 1933 entry into the NSDAP party. — 2 October 1936,

expulsion from the NSDAP. 30 January 35, public protest at the

theater of the town of Hagen, against the anti-Christian drama Wit-

tekind, beaten up and wounded by the Nazis.— 27 September 1936

chased out of the state service for having sent 3,500 anti-Nazi

brochures to the high employees of the state. Put in prison by the

Gestapo at Sarrebruck right up till the end of October 36. Mining

career finished!— December 1936 right up till the beginning of the

war, medical studies at Tubingen, tropic medical institute.— Approx.

the third of my income about— V3
of 18,000— Reichsmark/year, I

have given, since 1931, for my ideal religious aims. At my expense,

I have had printed approx. 230,000 religious and anti-Nazi brochures

to send them, at my expense, to the interested.

14 July-28 August 1938: second imprisonment, then concentration

camp of Welzheim up till 23 August 1938.
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Hearing ofthe massacres ofthe imbeciles, etc., totally shocked and
wounded in my insides, having such a case in my family, I had only
one wish: to see into this machinery and then cry out to all the people.

With the references of the two employees of the Gestapo, having
treated my case, it was not difficult to enter into the SS Army. 10
March-2 June 1941, studies as a simple soldier at Langenhoorn,
Amhem and Oranienburg with 40 doctors. For my double studies—
technical and medicine— on 2 June 1941 1 received the order to enter

into the medico-technical service ofthe FuehrungsHauptamt (General
Administration) of the SS.

Transcription and Translation of Text Referred to in lb.

Having passed voluntarily and ofmy own accord on 22 April 1945
the German-French lines between Metzingen and Reutlingen I put
myself immediately at the disposition of Monsieur the Military

Commandant of the town of Reutlingen. Responsible head of the

Christian youth in Germany, beaten up and wounded by the Nazis,

pursued, twice made prisoner for Christian anti-Nazi agitation, once
in a concentration camp, excluded from the service of the state for the

same reason, I was launched as agent for the resistant church, as

personal friend of the Rev. Niemoller, in the SS Army. There, I

succeeded to an important double position of SS Fuhrungshauptamt
and Reichsarzt SS and police at Berlin, sanitary service and of
hygiene, ofwhich I was the head ofthe medico-technical service, from
November 1941-April 1945. Having seen, as few others, the gas
chambers and the massacres of Belzec, Treblinka and Maidanec/
Poland, in all details, straightaway I revealed all these things to the

Swedish legation, to the Swiss legation, and the Dutch national

resistance and to many persons of influence in Germany.
Monsieur the Military Commandant of Reutlingen, having exam-

ined and verified my papers and circumstances, has sent me to Rott-

weil in order to discuss my employment in the security service of the
army, especially in the anti-Werewolf20 service. He had given me a
certificate with the following text: Msr. the holder is not a true SS and
must not be treated as such, but, on the contrary, with every considera-
tion."

2. Additions of T II (P5-1553)

a. Note handwritten in French by Gerstein, carrying his signature;

it concerns the deliveries of prussic acid. It is not dated.

b. Handwritten note oftwo pages in English, composed and signed

by Gerstein.
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c. Two invoices of the Degesch Company chosen as examples from
a collection of twelve invoices for Zyklon B, six for delivery to Oran-
ienburg and six for delivery to Auschwitz. The dates of these twelve

invoices range from 14 February 1944 to 31 May 1944. The total

invoiced amounts to 2,370 kgs, of which 1,185 for Oranienburg and

1,185 for Auschwitz. Gerstein says in his "confessions" that he had
these invoices written in his name, which is correct, but the address

mentioned is that of the Institute of Hygiene (Leipzigerstrasse 31/32

in Berlin) and not the Obersturmfiihrer 's personal address in Berlin.

All of these additions come from the police of Israel, headquarters,

6th Bureau. The originals are preserved in the National Archives in

Washington.

The complete documents ofPS-1553 (the "confession" proper and
the additions) were sent to the American authorities in 1945 by two
Allied officers, the Englishman, Major Evans, and the American
Haught, who interrogated Gerstein at the Hotel Mohren at Rottweil on
5 May 1945.

Translation of document referred to in 2a. above, which is

signed but not dated.

"The prussic acid according to the attached invoices was orderedby
the Reichssicherheitshauptamt, BerlinW, 35 Kurfiirstenstrasse on the

instructions of SS Sturmbannfiihrer Guenther: I, responsible for this

work, loyally performed this service in order to, the acid having
arrived at Oranienburg and Auschwitz, make the tins disappear into

the disinfection chambers. In this way, it was possible to prevent a bad
usage ofthe acid. To prevent reminding anyone ofthe presence ofthis
stock— or, better, its "non-presence"—to the Reichssicherheitshaup-

tamt, I have neverpaid these supplies, the address on the invoices was,
for the same purpose, myself. In this way it was possible to get rid of

the acid immediately on arrival. If someone had noticed its non-

presence, I would have replied: this is a mistake of the disinfection

service who did not know and should not have known its real use, or

I would have said: the acid had decomposed and it was no longer

possible to keep it anymore." (signed) Gerstein.

Transcription of document referred to in 2b. above as

follows:

Domicil Permanent: Tubingen - Neckar, Gartenstr. 24. 26 April

1945. My report is interesting to the Secret Service. The things I have
seen, no more than 4-5 others have seen, and these others were Nazis.

Many of responsibles of Belsen, Buchenwald, Maidanek, Oswice
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(Auschwitz), Mauthausen, Dachau, etc. were men ofmy service, daily

I have seen them in my double position in: 1) SS Fuhrungshauptamt,

D, sanitary service, and 2) Reichsarzt SS and Polizei, Berlin.

I am in situation to say the names and crimes of in reality those

responsibles of this things, and I am ready to give the material for his

accusation in World Tribunal? Myself, cordial friend of Reverend

Martin Niemoller and his family (now at Leoni/Starnbergersee/

Bavaria!)— I was after two prisons and concentration camp agent of

the confessional-Church— like SS Obersturmfuhrer and compart-

ment-chief in SS Fuhrungshauptamt and ofReichsarzt SS and Polizei,

a dangerous position!

The things I have seen nobody has seen. 1943, August, I have made
my reports [here written overword "regards"]for the Svenska legation

in Berlin. I am ready and in situation to say allmy observations to your

Secret Service.

The secretary of the Svenska Legation Berlin, now at Stockholm,

Baron von Otter is ready to be witnessmy relations of 1942 of all these

cruelties. I propose to demand this information:

Reference: Msr. Niemoller (Reverend Martin Niemoller 's woman,
Leoni/Starnberger See, Munchen [illegible word]), (signed) Gerstein.

Notes: Your army has not find Mr. Niemoller, Mr. Stalinjunior, Mr.

Schushnigg, at Dachau. They are deported, nobody now; who they

are.
21

Please do not publishmy report before exactement now: Niemoller

is liberated or dead. Gerstein.

Translation of Degesch Invoice of 14 February 1944

The invoice is overwritten/overstamped with various file and

service references which were added subsequently and do not form

part of the original document.

Translation

Degesch (Emblem)
German Pest Control Co., Inc.

Frankfurt-on-Main (Address and Phone numbers, etc.)

Herr Obersturmfuhrer

Kurt Gerstein

Berlin, Invoice

Leipziger Strasse 31/32 Frankfurt a.M. 14 February 1944

D.G.I. We have dispatched to you today by the train from Dessau

with a consignment note ofthe Armed Forces issued by the localArmy
Administration at Dessau for the concentration camp of Auschwitz,

Dept. Destruction of Parasites and Disinfection, Station: Auschwitz,

an urgent merchandise, the following consignment: Zyklon B Prussic
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acid non-lachrymatory.22 50066/78 = 13 cases each containing 30 =

390 tins of 500 grammes = 195 kgs. 5.— 975.— Gross: 832 kgs. Tare:

276.25 kgs. Net: 555.75 kgs. The labels carry the wording: "With

Care, without warning properties."

3 A separate handwritten text, in English, of one page,

beginning with: "This relation is interessant" and ending

with "Reichsarzt SS und Polizei."

While obviously in Gerstein's handwriting, it is not dated or signed.

The original is preserved by LKA (Bestand 5,2 - Nr 64c). One finds

again in this text certain ideas expressed in the note oftwo pages, also

in English, shown as additions to T II in 2b. above.

Transcription of handwritten note in English referred to

in 3 above, as follows:

"This relation is int6ressant for Secret Service. The things I have

seen no more than 4-5 men have seen, and the others were nazies.

Many ofresponsables ofBelsen, Buchenwald, Maidanekwere men of

my service: "SSFuehrungs-HauptamtD, Sanitary-services andReich-

sarzt SS and Polizei." I am in situation to say the names of in reality

responsables of this things and I am ready to give the material for this

accusation in world-tribunal. My-self, I was, after 2 prisons and

concentration-camp, friend of reverend Martin Niemoller, agent for

confessional-church in SS-administration (SS Fuehrungshauptamt,

D, sanitary-service and Reichsarzt und Polizei).

4 One typewritten page, in French and headed "Post-

Scriptum," carrying the number "16."

It is undated and unsigned. It begins with: "A Belcec, il 6tait trfes

terrible" and ends with: "furent assassin6s." One can assume that there

were fifteen pages before this sixteenth page. But only this page 16 is

in the archives of LKA.
The ideas expressed in this text are comparable to those found in

certain supplements (Erganzungen) of T HI and T IV.

Translation of the page 16 in French referred to above, as

follows: "Post Scriptum: -16-

"At Belcec it was very terrible the competition that was made
among the men and boys at the transport of clothes. I still think of a

little Jewish boy of 3, 4 years, who had to share out the small strings
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Xoat Bcriptua s -16-
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to tie up the shoes: even such a child was abused without knowing of

this terrible murdermachine of Hitlerand Wirth.— Or I think ofa little

girl of 5 years who forgot— totally naked— a little chain ofcoral that

some minutes later— 1 meter before the gas chambers— was found
by a boy of 3 years: rejoicing, contemplating and — at the next

moment— was thrown into the chamber.— Obermeyer told me: at

a village near here I found aJew from myhome town, from Pirmasens.

In the war of 14-18 he was a sergeant, a very honorable man. As
children, we played together. He even saved my life once, I being in

danger ofbeing run over. This man and his wife I will take with me for

my work detail!— Asked, what he would do afterwards with these

people, he says to me, totally surprised: What will become of them?
The same as all the others, in such things there is no other way— but

perhaps I shall have them shot!—
But I have also found some SS, become by those methods active

adversaries of the regime: SS Hauptscharfuhrer Heinrich Hollander
of the Reichsarzt SS and ofthe police who let me know of everything
extraordinary and interesting.— Myself, I'd have gone into the gas
chambers, ifHollanderhad not often protectedme from the dangerous
things.— Anti-Nazi also: SS-Sturmbannjiihrer Dr. med. Focht, head
ofthe interior department ofSS-Lazarett23 Berlin-Lichterfelde; Dr.med.
Nissen, SS-Hauptsturmfuhrer, Itzehoe Hollsteih; Dr. med. surg. Sorge
of Jena,— Officers, that one can keep as those of 20 July 1944: SS-
Gruppenfuhrer Dr. pharm. Blumenreuther, head of the pharmaceuti-
cal department of police and SS; SS-Sturbannfiihrer Dr. pharm.
Behmenburg, of the same service; SS-Sturmbannfuhrer Dr. pharm.
Rudolphi, of the same service. The last ruined with his feet, October
1944, the Hitler picture.

2
/3 of the Dutch SS, Belgian, etc., were forced into the service by

fraudulent and violent methods. In the same way a large part of the

young people ofthe Hitlerjugend are forced into this service, similarly

the ones ordered of the air and ofthe navy.— Often, the agents of the

police were very much worse than the SS. They were guilty of large

numbers of imprisonments of Jews, who, some time later, were
assassinated."

Letter from Gerstein to His Wife

Dated 26 May 1945.

It is handwritten, on five half pages. The photocopy and the

typewritten transcription were sent to us at our request by Gerstein'

s

widow. The most important sentence seems to be the following:

"Wenn Du irgendwelche Schwierigkeiten hast, geh mit dem Bericht,

den ich anlege, zum Militargouvemeur," which means: "If you have
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Abschrift des handschriftlichen letzten Briefes meines Hannes
Kurt Gerstein vom 26. V. 1945* an mien.

Liebe Priedel!

Nach 5 Wochen Aufenthalt in Rottweil zur Verfugung des Militar-
gouverneurs werde ich heute mit dem Wagen an eine ubergeordnetc
Stelle in der Gegend von Konstanz - wo weiss ich nicht !

-
weiter gegeben 0 Ich hatte hier ein H&telzimmer als Aufenthalt
zu^ewiesen bekommen, nachdem ich 1 Nacht und 1 Nachmittag im •

Kafig gehalten worden war und hiergegen Einspruch erhoben
hatte. - Ich liess Dir auf der Kommode im Plur Gartenstr. 24
meine Papiere zuruck, da Du sie sicher brauchst. Ich gebe Dir
den einen Rat: Wehr Dich ! Lass Dir nichts gefalien. Es ist
selbstverstandlich, dass jemand wie ich -wie wir - anders
behandelt werden mussen, wie andere Leute. Meine Tatigkeit
im SSPHA usw. war von vornherein eine reine Agententatigkeit
fiir die Bekenntniskirche. Ich hafce Dir nur das wenigste sagen
kbnnen, weil man Dich im Ernstfall erpresst und ausgequetscht
hatte. Mich wiirde der SD in kochendes Wasser geworfen haben,
wenn er gewusst hatte, dass ich in meiner Not alles den
Schweden und der Schweiz verraten habe.

Wenn Du irgendwelche Schwierigkeiten hast, geh mit dem Bericht
den ich anlege, zum Militargouverneur. Verwahr die Haftbefehle
Parteiausschluss-Urkunden usw. gut, Auch das leg vor, £ib f s
aber nicht aus der Hand.

Vielleicht kann auch Praulein Dr.v.Huene, Zeppelinstrasse

,

Dir manches helfen. Auch zum Burgermeister rate ich Dir zu geh<

- Wann ich zuruckkomme, weiss ich noch nicht. Ich geniesse
alle Preiheiten bisher und hoffe auch bei der nachsten
Instanz. Auch mit der Verpflegung und Unterbringung - im
Mohren ±s& in Rottweil, Pam. Miller - hatte ich Gllick.
Aber ich kann, da man sich fiir meinen Pall sehr stark inter-
essiert und da ich als einer der Hauptzeugen gegen die Kriegs-
verbrecher vor dem Internationalen Gerichtshof aufzutreten
habe, noch nichts n&heres sagen,

Dir, Deinem Vater und den Kindern
herzliche Griisse und V/iinsche

Kurt.
26.V.45 1058



difficulties of any sort, go with the report, which I attach, to the

Military Governor." In the following chapters, we shall try to deter-

mine to which "confession" Gerstein refers in speaking of the "Ber-

icht" attached to his letter.

Translation of Gerstein's Last Letter To His Wife of 26

May 1945

"Dear Friedel,

After a stay of five weeks at Rottweil at the disposition of the

military governor, I am being sent today by car to a higher authority

in the region ofKonstanz— where, I do notknow ! I had received here

a hotel room as assigned residence, after I had been held under lock

and key for one night and one afternoon, and had protested against

this.— I leftmy papers for you on the chest ofdrawers in the vestibule

of 24 Gartenstrasse, for you certainly need them. I give you a piece of

advice: defend yourself! Let nothing happen to you. It is self-evident

that someone like me— like us— must be treated differently from

other people. My activity as the SS F.H. etc. was from the beginning

a pure activity as agent in the service of the confessional church. I

could tell you only the minimum, because, if things turned out badly,

they would have been able to blackmail you and to press you with

questions. As for me, the SD would have plunged me in boiling water

if it had known that, in my distress, I divulged everything to Sweden

and to Switzerland.

If you have difficulties of any sort, go with the report, which I

attach, to the Military Governor. Take good care of the warrants for

arrest, the documents relating to expulsion from the party, etc. Present

those documents also, but do not part with them.

Perhaps Fraulein Dr. v. Huene, Zeppelinstrasse, can help you in

some way. I advise you also to go and see the Mayor.— When I shall

return, I do not yet know. Up tillnow I enjoy every freedom and I hope

it will be the same in the next jurisdiction. Also with the food and

lodging, with the Miller family at Mohren in Rottweil, I had luck. But

since everyone is very strongly interested in my case and as I have to

appear before the international court ofjustice as one of the principal

witnesses against the war criminals, I cannot yet say anything more

definite.

To you, your father and the children, heartfelt greetings and

wishes, Kurt. 26.V.45. 1058 .
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Interrogations by the French Military Justice

Department

It appears appropriate to include two interrogations by the French
Military Justice Department within the complete collection of docu-

ments left by Gerstein; all the more so as, in their case, we have every

guarantee of authenticity.

1 Interrogation of 26 June 1945

Interrogating officer of the O.R.C.G.: Commandant Beckhardt. It

consists of two sheets, typewritten front and back, numbered 1 to 4.

The original is preserved in the Gerstein file at the Directorate of
Military Justice at Paris.

Photocopies of interrogation referred to in 1) above.

Translation into English of above, as follows: Paris, the 26 June
1945.

INTERROGATION ofMr. Kurt GERSTEIN by Commandant Beck-
hardtInterrogating officerofthe OJt.C.G. 48 rue de Villejust-Paris.)

I - Interrogation of Identity NAME: GERSTEIN. Forenames:
Kurt—. Born: 11 August 1905 at Munster (Westphalia) - Son of:

Ludwig E. GERSTEIN (President ofthe Court ofJustice (retired) and
of Clara SCHMEMANN, deceased in 1931.) Married on 31 August
1937 to Elfriede nee Bensch. Domicile: 24 Gartenstrasse at Tubingen.

3 children: Arnulf born 25/9/39; Adelhaid born 25/10/41; Olaf born
December 1942; Nationality: German. Religion: Confessional Prot-

estantism - Lutheran.

// - Professional Education. In 1919, I go into the mines of

Lintfors, nearAix-en-Chapelle, as apprentice worker, until 1925, after

having been, previously, secondary-school student at Sarrebriickfrom
1915 to 1919. In 1925, 1 finish my studies and pass my baccalaureate.

In 193 1 , afterhaving followed various courses Ibecome certificated

engineer for the mines service.

/// - Political and Religious activities. From 1922 to 1933, 1 am
a republican and active supporter ofBRUENING andSTRESEMAN.

In 1933, 30 January 1935 and 27 September, 1936, 1 am arrested

and manhandled by the Gestapo for anti-national-socialist propa-

ganda and Christian activity. Following this, I was debarred from the

State Mining Service.

The 14/7/38, 1 am arrested by the Gestapo and the S.D. of Stuttgart;

I was interned in prison then at the concentration camp of Walzheim.

I received a prohibition on making speeches.

In 1940, through the Bishop of Stuttgart, I learned of the massive
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PARIS, le 26* Juln 1945

IffTSRROQATOIRE da Monsieur Kurt QERSTEIN /'

par le Commandant BEOKHARDT Q 1
J^

(Offioier Interrogates do J^*lJ.Ifi a

.

48, rue de Villirjuet? | RflfclS.

I Interrogators d'identite*

KQM : OERStBIH %,

, Prenona : Kurt
le : 11 aout 1905 a Munster (Wes&balie)

FilB de : Ludwig E. 8ERSTEIN (President de la Oour de Justice
en retraite) et de Hlara SCHMEMANN ddaddee en 1931

Marie" le 31 aout 1937 aveo filfriede ne'e jK Benooh
Domicile : 24 Gart ernetraeee a Tubingen
3 enfants i Arnulf ne* le 25/9/39

s

AdelKaid ne'e le 25/10/41
Olaf , ne* en docerabre 1942

Nationality : allemande
Religion : protestantisms oonfeseionnel - lutherien -

II - Formation professionnalla

Kn 1919» J© rentre oomme apprenti ouvrier aux Mines de Lintfc
pres d'Aix-la-Chapelle, Jusqu'en 1925* apree avoir, au pr^alable,
ete' lyoeen h Sarrebruok de 1915 a 1919. En 1925, je termine mes
e'tudes et passe mon baooalaurdat.

Bin 1931i apree avoir suivi dlfforentB stages jo deviena inge*-
nieur diplOroe" du Service dee Mines

III * Aotivite's politique et reliflieuse

Do 1922 a 1933> je euis rdpublicain et partisan aotif de
BRIOTING et STRESEMAffN.

En 1933> le }0 Janvier 1935 at le 27 aeptembre 1935$i Ja suis
arrfitd et malnfene* par la Gestapo pour .propagande anti-nationale-
sooialiste et aotivite* chre*tienne. Par suite, je fus exelus du
Service doe Mines de l'Etat.

«Te*tudiaiB alors la m^daoine tropioale a SPubingen a l'Ina-
titut protestant de Tubingen,

Le 14/7/38, je suis arrets par la Gestapo et le S.D, da
Stuttgart; Je fUB interne* en prison puis au oamp de concentration
de ,/elzheim.

Je resus 1 ? interdiction de pr,ononcer des disoours.
En 1940, par 1» lntermtfdiaire de l'eVSque de Stuttgart, j*ap-

pris ] •assasslnat massif d» alienee h Hadamar et Gfafeneok. Ma bel-
le-8Q\ur, Bertha EDLUNI1TG figurait parr"i les victimes. C'est alors
que je pris la decision d'entrer auxjVaffen SS.

IV - Activity dans lee Services Nationaux-Sooialistes

D - Ktes-vous rent re* aux flatten S3 pour espionner et ser^v>r votra
ide*al religieux ?



- 2 -

R * Oul f pour mener une lutte active et mieux oonnaitre lee bufe
nationaux-socialistea et lours secrete

D * Comment aves-voue pu rentrer dans oett organisation apres
avoir 6X4 voua-meme arrete* pluaieurs . fois par la Gestapo ?

R - Je n'ai fait qu'aooepter la proposition que des subalterns,
de la Gestapo m*avaient falte, lors de ma deuxieme arreetation

D - A quelle date avez-vous 4t4 tatoue* du signe distlnctif des
Waffen SS ?

R - En mal 1941 , Je fus tatoue* An signe* AB correspondent a la
4* categoric sanguine.

D Quelle formation vos chefs SS vous ont-lis donne*e

R - Je suivis des oours spe*eiaux pour me*decins a Hambourg, Lan
genhoorna Amhem et a Oranienburgj le 9 novembre 1941, je fus

4:

noinme* sous •lieutenant SS, aervioe d»hygione. Uh an apres, ayanf;
*>•

'/ ameliore. lee"installations sanitaires des camps de prisonnTers
ex des bamps^de ooncentration, je fus nomine* lieutenant SS.

D - Quelles ont 6t6 vos activites depuis fevrier 1942 4usqu»au
21 avril 1945, date a laquelle vous vous etes conatitue flriscm
nier de l'Armee. firangalae ?

R - Le 8 Juin 1942, le SS SturmbannfOhrer GTOTKER du RSHA me
donne l'ordre de transporter, 260 legs *iMa*dw»p ^ «mi« * E|wr de cyan
de potassium a Kollln preV cTe Pragues, Le SS Sturmbannffithrer
Progesseur-Docteur PFANNENSTIEL ...

D - Connaisaez-vous l'adreaae du Br en Allemagne ?

R * Oui, Marburg (Lahn) Rottenberg 1

f" ... Je oonnaiasals le projet d futilisation de^cjanure et Ufa
1 decide If & eeaayer d'eh faire dlaparaltre, 2$""de faire *aavoirA*f
jouvriera qui le fabriquaieat que ce i>rodnit e*tait destine* a tuek
i des etrea humaIna

.

K A Lublin, je suia regu par le SS BruppenfuTirer GLOBOCNEC
General Waffen SS (fait prlsonnier par les Amerioaina a Trieafe)
II me mit au oourant "do l f organisation

18 : a Beloeo, entre Lublin etLeraberg
exdoutiona quotidlennee : 15.000

21 : Sobibor pros de Lublin en Pologne (20*000 par Jour)

}t : Treblinoa en Pologne (25.000 par Jour)

Oes troie installations fonotionnent respeotivewenV depurs
les mois d» avril, tfuln et mai 1942.

4$ : Maldanneclc pre a de Lublin, enoore en preparation
D -»

#
A votro connalasanoe, quellea e*taient lea nationalite*s et

raoee des victimes ?

R - Pour la rlupart des Juife, dee Polonais et des Tchequea.

. ..^Lea victimea 6*taient asphyxiates au moyen d'un ao.teur
Diesel a eohappement toxique (oxide et gas carbon!que ) dime 1*S

,j /quatre installations prtScitees. -

./.



D * Combicn de temps Gtes-vous reste dans ces camps et en avez*
rou0 visits d'autfes ?

R - Seulement troie Jours, puis l*9n me oondulait a Lublin ou It
SS HauptsturmfGhrer OBETW.EYER (originaire de Pirmasens) me fit
visiter 1' installation. J' assists a 1' arrive* d'un oonvoi : 45
wagons contenant 6*700 personnes dont 1450 mortes au oours .du

voyage. Les vie times sont entierement ddpouiliees de leura effeft
Les cheveux sont cbupds et re*oup£re*s dans des sacs de jute. Deu*
ou trois heures apros, ils 6taient tous executes

D - Avez-vous 6t6 appeie a prendre une part indireote a oes mae-
saores ? Les SS se aont-ils contends de fairs de voue un aixaplt

jjpeotateur ?

R - Je n f al aucune vie humaine sur la conscience, mon travail
oonslstalt excluslvement dans £e's installations sanitaires en
vue d'^viter des dpidemies contre^ae's' maladies, «fTetais charge*
e'galement de rendre l'eau potable et en dtais responsable aupres
des SS et de la Police

D - Avez-vous eu des contaots aveo les organisations de re'sis-
tanoe alleraandea ou autrea ?

R - Oui, j*etais ohef de la resistance protestante, en liaison
aviso la resistance hollandaise et aveo lea legations de Suede et
de Suisse.

D • Pouvez-vous le prouver, et aveo quelles personnes e*tiez-vour
en relation ?

R'- Pour laAresistance protestante, je reoevais des consignee dt

Pasteur NIEMOELLER (detenu a Dachau depuis 19)7) pat 1' intern^-
dlaire de so farallle et des religieuses,

Aveo la resistance hollandaise, depuis 1941 » par l'intermd-
diaire TJBBINK originaire de DOESBOURG (Ingdnieur - proprie*taire
d'un fonderie)

Aveo la resistance de Suede, par la Legation de Suede de
Berlin, U. Baron de OTTER

Aveo la resistance Suisse, par la Legation Suisse de Berlin.
Docteur HOCHSTRASSER

En 1942, je faisais la connaiBSande d f un restaurateur fran-
ais, au oarrefour 5tra3bourg-St-Denis, Restaurant "Louis HV"
qui j'exprimnis mon ddgdut des bagned et des aasassinats

D - Connaissez-vous d'autres agenta ou officiers de" Gestapo ou
du S.D. qui aient eu une responsabilite* i^nortante dans 1* orga-
nisation des camps et des executions.

.R - Un certain QONTHER et son chef EICRT-ANN tous deux charges
de l'aneantisaeincnt de la race juive. GUNTHER est le fils de
l'dorivnin radiate connu.

Le Docteur O.UNDNACH, Hauptsturmfuhrer , originaire de Berlir
s'eot llvre a des etudes m^dicales sur des 0trea vivants.

U* SS Sturmbiinrifuhrer HAIjLER de la Police de Bromberg, se
trouv^it vers l.i fin des hostilitf53 a Degginglen, se serait
oocu[jf» tout pa ticuliHrcment de la fusillade les cnfantB Juifs

Le Dr Sturmbaiinfuhrer GROSS , drtieuront a Berlin, s'est
livre sur des Otres vivants, h vies etudeo j)our le cancer

Lc Dr CtUtflTJi jul travuillait h Berlin, i\4 a l«est de 1 'El-
be (Pommern) Chef de la Croix-Rouf;o allemande mais eiumGme^tempr
SS, ^e^ruppenfiihrer, reeponsable de la direction .dVs ^a^n-eV.



9 m QuoJLe ecmt loa noma den ohcffl do carina que vouo uvea conn us
3

R - A QiJkbwSpg , lo 'JturmbunnfChror KEIflDEL, un puynaei, ronr.on-
liable de no'nbrouocn atrocitds. II est autriehien ou bavarois
D - ConnaiSnez-vous oneore d'autrcn crininele de guerre ?

- Owl, le S3 Gruj-penfOhrcr, Dr % Inn K-AMHUiR, ^originairo do
Berlin, Chef de l'.-irneinent, rosponflable de traitomenta den drf-
portfs onpioy<5o (vpur travailler sous torre

Le StrtamibannfOarer KICK qui a la ropponBabilit'5 de
I'attaque contre Ion institutions religieuses do Sennheim (Air. .ce

Le 55 !;tur~b:mriffihr*r Tomoitf, entfaro* lann ion donuio
lour formation.

Lo SS UnterBturrrfOhrer, Dr. Wolfgang STICHEL, ohargrf do la
rrtrrossion c!es anti-nazis; a dfoapit* *a nrofer.neur de l«unive-
alto do Berlin - orl:-ln.Tlre *> Berlin

Lecture fuite. perBinte et signe



killings of the insane at Hadamar and Grafeneck. My sister-in-law,

BerthaEBLENING, was among the victims. It was then that I took the

decision to enter the Wqffen SS.

IV - Activity in the National Socialist Services.

Q Did you join the Wajfen SS in order to spy and serve religious

ideals?

A Yes, to conduct an active struggle and to know the National-

Socialist objectives and their secrets better.

Q How were you able to join this organisation after having been

yourself arrested several times by the Gestapo?

A I did nothing but accept the suggestion that the subalterns of the

Gestapo had made me, at the time of my second arrest.

Q At what date were you tatooed with the distinctive sign of the

Waffen SS?
A In May 1941, 1 was tatooed with the mark AB corresponding to

the 4th. blood category.

Q What training did your chiefs in the SS give you?

A I followed the special courses for doctors at Hamburg, Langen-

hoorn, and at Oranienburg; on 9 November 1941, I was graded

sublieutenant SS, hygiene service. One year after, having improved

the sanitary installations of the prisoners' camps and concentration

camps, I was graded lieutenant SS.

Q What have been your activities since February 1942 until 21

April 1945, on which date you surrendered as a prisoner of the French

army?

A On 8 June 1942, the SS Sturmbannfuhrer GUNTHER ofRSHA
gives me the order to transport 260 kgs of cyanide of potassium to

KollinnearPrague. The SS SturmbannfuhrerProfessor-DoctorPFAN-

NENSTTEL . . .

Q Do you know the adress of the Dr in Germany?

A Yes, Marburg (Lahn) Rottenberg 1.

... Iknew the project for utilisation ofcyanide and was determined

1. to try and do away with it, 2. to make known to the workers who

manufactured it that this product was intended to kill human beings.

AtLublin, Iwas receivedby theSS GruppenfuhrerGLOBOCNEK,
Wqffen SS General (made prisoner by the Americans at Trieste). He

briefed me as to the organization.

1: At Belcec, between Lublin and Lemberg daily executions:

15,000.

2: Sobibor near Lublin in Poland (20,000 per day).

3: Treblinca in Poland (25,000 per day).

These three installations were functioning respectively from the

months of April, June, and May 1942.

4: Maidanneck, near Lublin, still in preparation.
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Q To your knowledge, what were the nationalities and races of the
victims?

A For the majority, Jews, Poles, and Czechs.

• • • the victims were asphyxiated by means of a diesel engine with
toxic exhausts (oxide and carbonic gas) in the four installations

previously mentioned.

Q How long did you stay in these camps and did you visit others?
A Only three days, then I was driven to Lublin, where the SS

Hauptsturmfuhrer OBERMEYER (native of Rrmasens) had me in-

spect the installation. I am present at the arrival of a convoy: 45
wagons containing 6,700 persons of which 1,450 dead in the course
of the journey. The victims are completely stripped of their things.
Their hair is cut and retrieved in jute sacks. Two or three hours
afterwards, they are all executed.

Q Were you called on to take an indirect part in these massacres?
Were the SS satisfied to make a simple spectator of you?
A I have not one human life on my conscience, my work consisted

exclusively in the sanitary installations with a view to avoiding
epidemics against diseases (sic). I was responsible also for making the
water drinkable and I was responsible for this to the SS and to the
Police.

Q Have you had contacts with the German resistance organizations
or others?

A Yes, I was head of the protestant resistance, in liaison with the
Dutch resistance, and with the legations of Sweden and of Switzer-
land.

Q Canyou prove that, and with which persons you were in contact?
A For the protestant resistance, I received instructions from Pastor

NIEMOLLER (detained at Dachau since 1937) through his family
and some nuns.

WiththeDutchresistance,throughUBBENKnative ofDOESBURG
(Engineer - proprietor of a foundry).

With the Swedish resistance, via the Legation ofSweden in Berlin,
the Baron von OTTER.

With the Swiss resistance, via the Swiss legation in Berlin, Doctor
HOCHSTRASSER.

In 1942, 1 made the acquaintance of a French restaurant owner, at

the crossroads Strasbourg-St.-Denis, Restaurant "Louis XIV" to
whom I expressed my disgust with the prisons and the killings.

Q Do you know of other agents or officers of the Gestapo or the
S.D. whomayhave had an importantresponsibility in the organization
of the camps and the executions?

A A certain GUNTHER and his boss EICHMANN both charged
with the annihilation of the Jewish race. GUNTHER is the son of the
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known racialist writer.

Doctor GUNDNACH, Hauptsturmfiihrer
y native of Berlin, de-

voted himself to medical studies on living beings.

The SS SturmbannfiihrerHALLER ofthe Bromberg Police, was at

Degginglen towards the end of hostilities; he practically made a
specialty of the shooting of Jewish children.

TheSS SturmbannfiihrerGROSS, living in Berlin, occupiedhimself
with living beings, to the studies for cancer.

Dr. GRAWITZ who worked at Berlin, born on the eastern side of
the Elbe (Pomerania) Chief of the German Red Cross but at the same
time SS, Obergruppenfuhrer, responsible for the administration of
prisons.

Q What are the names of the heads of the camps whom you have
known?
A At Oranienburg, the Sturmbannfiihrer KEINDEL, a pure Nazi,

responsible for numerous atrocities. He is Austrian or Bavarian.

Q Do you know of yet other war criminals?

A Yes, the SS Gruppenfiihrer, Dr. Eng. KAMMLER, native of
Berlin, head of supplies, responsible for the treatment ofthe deportees
employed underground.

The SS Sturmbannfiihrer FICK who has the responsibility for the
attack on the religious institutions of Sennheim (Alsace).

The SS SturmbannfiihrerTONDORF, engaged in the SS since their

formation.

The SS Untersturmfuhrer, Dr. Wolfgang STTCHEL, charged with
the suppression of the anti-Nazis; decapitated a professor of the
university of Berlin - a native of Berlin.

Read over, maintained and signed (signed) Kurt Gerstein (signed)
Beckhardt

2 Interrogation of19 July 1945 : Interrogating Officer: Comman-
dant of Military Justice Mathieu Matt6i, Military Examining Magis-
trate.

The Original is handwritten on paper of very large format and in
very bad condition.

We present the photocopy ofthe publication made by the magazine
Le Monde Juif I The Jewish World (January/March 1980, pages
27-34); naturally we have verified it and have remarked only one
error: On page 34, 1st. line, it should read "d peine dix" (hardly ten)

instead of "& peine deux" hardly two).

Translation into English of interrogation referred to in 2 above, as
follows:

PERMANENT MILITARY TRIBUNAL
2nd. PERMANENT MILITARY TRIBUNAL OF PARIS
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Sitting at 53 Rue de la Faisanderie 53

XlVe. arr.

RECORD OF INTERROGATION OR OF CONFIRMATION
THE YEAR, One thousand nine hundred and forty-five, the nine-

teenth July at ten hours.

After having been brought from the military prison of Cherche-

Midi

Before us, Commandant of Military Justice Mathieu MATTEI,
Military examining Magistrate, assistedbyCOUDROY, sergeant, and

by (in the margin: M. Malkov Boris, 45 years, Lieutenant, interpreter

of the German language, who has sworn the oath prescribed by article

332 of the Code of criminal instruction) has been brought to our

chambers, the named GERSTEIN whose first appearance is estab-

lished by the record of 13 July 1945.

Let the record show that Maitre LEHMANN, duly called by our

registered letter dispatched 16 July 1945 ofwhich the postal receipt is

attached and advised by the same letterofthe file ofproceedings being

put at his disposal the day before the present day.

Counsel for the defense being present, we have interrogated the

accused as follows.

Let the record show that we are giving to him a complete reading

of his interrogation by the Organization for the Investigation of war

crimes, at Paris, on 26 June 1945.

S.I.R.* 4— I confirmmy previous statements. I wish to correct three

points, ofwhich one seems tome ofextreme importance, that is to say:

In regard to myjoining (in the margin: Waffen SS) it is not so much
the advice and suggestions of the noncommissioned officers that

pushed me tojoin as my personal wish to inform myselfon what they

were doing, these people, a thing impossible to anyone who did not

wear their uniform.

— In regard to the indications given on page 2 ofmy interrogation,

towards the end, on the subject ofthe "three installations are function-

ing respectively. . ."; this actually means three extermination camps.

— I rectify the last sentence of my interrogation. The Doctor

Wolfgang STICHEL denounced the Professor Ordinarius ofZoology

at Berlinwho as a consequence was beheaded following a sentence of

a people's court.

Q Please inform us in chronological order what were your assign-

ments, transfers, occupations since France was at war with Germany.

A At the declaration of war I was a civilian, mining engineer in the

service of the limited company WINTERSHALL at MERKERS
(Thuringia).

On 15 August 1940, 1 stopped my work in this company to join the

factory belonging tomy grandfather atDUSSELDORF in the position
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From the journal LeMonde /w//(Jan.-March 1980), pp. 27-34

TRIBUNAL MILITA1RE PERMANENT
2- TRIJIUNAL M1LITA1RE PERMANENT
>K PARIS

Scant a 5\ Rue de la Faisandcric 53

XVI' arr.

PROCF.S VERBAL D'lNTERROGATOIRE OV 1>E CONFRONTATION

I.'AN .nil neuf ;cni quaranle cinq, le dix neuf juillct a dix hcurcs

Ajucs avoir etc cxtrail dc la prison militairc du Chcrche-Midi

IVvan! nf»iis. Commandant de Justice Militairc Malhicu MATTEL Jurc d'instruc-

linn iMiliUurc, anisic dc CQUDROY, scrgent, ci dc (en marge : M. Malkov Boris.

'45 :ins. Lieut i* run. I, interprcte dc langue nllcmandc, lequel a pret<5 le scrment

jvvMrit par I'artiilc 332 du Code destruction criinincllc) a i
l lc nmnid a

notrc cabinet, lc nommc GERSTEIN dont la premiere comparulion csl cunsta-

lee par process-verbal du trcize juillct 1945.

Mcritionnons que M' LEIIMANN, durnent appcle par not re lellre recorrimandce

cxpediec lc 16 juillct 1945 dont lc recepisse postal est annexe cl aviso par

la mime leltrc dc la misc a sa disposition de la procedure la vcillc du present

jour.

Le delenseur etant present, nous avons interruge comme il suit I'inculpc.

Menlionnons que nous donnons a lui lecture inicgralc de son inirrrocaioii

e

par J "Organisation de la Recherche des crimes de guerre, a Paris, le 2f> juin 1945.

S.T.R. — Je continue mes declarations anicricurcs. Je tiens a i* - nlu-r itois

points dont un me para it d'une imporlancv extreme, it savoir :

En ce qui coneernc mon entree aux (cn marge : Waffcn SS), ce n'est pas

autani les eunseiis el les suggestions des sniis-olTieiei's qui me p««issercni a v

cntrer que mon desir personnel de me ilocuincntcr sur ce epic faisnicn; ccs

yens, chose impossible a qui ne porlail pa& leur tenuc

:

— cn ce qui coneernc les indications portces a la page 2 dc inon inicrro-

gatoire, paragraphc 3 in fine, au sujet des « irois installations fonclionnent

respectivement... » ; il s'agit bien dc trois camps d'exterminaiion ;

— Je rectilie la derniere phrase de mon intenogatoirc : le Docteur Wolfpans

ST1CHEL aurait denoncc lc Professcur ordinaire dc /oologic a Heilin qui par

la suite a etc dccapilii a la suite d'une execution du Tribunal du peuple.

D. — Veuillez nous laire connaitrc quelles onl etc dans 1'ordre chronnlo-

ciquc vos affectations, mutations, occupations depuis que la France ctait cn

guerre avec I'Allemagne.

R. — A la declaration de la guerre j'etais civil, ingenicur des mines au

service de la Societe anonyme WINTERSHALL a MERKERS (Thuringe).

Le 15 aout 1940 ic ccssai mon travail dans cette societe pour cntrer a 1'usine

appanenant a mon grand-pere a DUSSELDORF cl ce en qualite d'associc

apponaiu mes connaissances techniques.

J'avais d'aillcurs des intercts dans la ditc sociclc depuis 1930. Cette sociclc

fabriquail des pompes a huile pour les locomotives cl avail pour raison socialc

DE LIMON, FLUHME cl Co.

Jusqu'au ^5 mars 1941, je restai done civil a cette socit'le.

Auparavanl. e'est-a-dire cn decern brc 1940. j'avais adresse une demande
ecritc pour ctre admis a servir en qualite dc Walfen SS ; la elite demande ayant
tfte accepted, je fus incorpore dans cette formation le 10 mars 1941.

On m'affecta a Berlin, sanlitatsdicnst (service sanitaire) ; Direction generate
des Waflen SS. J'etais alors simple sold.it — et :«i suivi pendant inns inois

1'inslruclion ordinaiie des simples soldats en diverscs localitcs.

A Tissue de cette instruction, on ni'allecta a I'inslilul d'hygicne de Berlin SS.

—
' Au debut je n'y avais aucuu cmploi delini. Mais plus tard je demandai a

m'oecuper plus specialcment des appareils de disinfection cl des question*,

d'e.iu potable.



En gros. jc rcmplis ccs functions jusqu'au mois d'avril 1945 avcc en principe

residence a Berlin et rcmplissant dc temps a autrcs quelqucs missions aupres

des firmes qui fabriquaicnt les differents appareils utilises dans le service.

En novembre 1941 j'ai obtcnu 1c grade dc sous-lieu tenant SS, spdcialistc

(UNTERSTURMFUHRER F.).

D. — Faitcs-nous connaitre cxactemcnt la nature des missions que vous

avez rcmplies, notamment cellos
m
cfreduces dans diffe>ents camps que vous

avcz vous-memc cnumeres dans rinterrogaloire que vous avez subi.

R. — Je me mi is rendu en mission :

deux fois au camp dc ORANIENBURG
deux fuis a celui dc DROEGEN
une fois a celui dc RAVENSBRUCK
unc fois a un camp d'israelitcs pros de (un mot illisible)

une I'ois aux camps ^'extermination de :

BELCEC (orthographic phonetiqucO, TREBLINKA et MAIDANECK
deux fois enlin au camp dc HE1NKELWERK pres dc ORANIENBURG.

Dans les camps autrcs que les trois camps d'extermination. le but des

differentes missions accornplies par mot etait d'examiner et controler les

installations sanitaircs (disinfection, eau potable, etc.), raon role dtait purement

technique.

En juin 1942 jc fus charge dc tranporter ultericurcmcnt deux cent soixante

kilogrammes dc cyanure dc potassium au camp dc BELCEC. Lorsqu'on me

chargca de cc transport, on me prccisa qu'il s'agissait d'un secret d'Etat.

J'avais re^u commc consignc dc prendre livraison a KOLLIN pres de Prague

dc cc poison et de le transporter au camp sus-indique*.

Jc rcmplis ma mission au mois d'aout 1942. e'est-a-dire que je transportai

bicn le cyanure mais le cyanure n'arriva pas a destination. Au depart, le cyanure

etait place en quarante cinq bonkilles d'acier. En cours de route Tune d'elles

ful video par mes soins avcc toutes les precautions voulucs car c'&ait dangcrcux.

Les quarante quatre bouteilles qu; restaieni n'ont pas 6te* amendes au camp

de BELCEC mais fitrent dissimulees par le chauffeur et moi-mcme a douze cents

metres environ du camp.

D. — Pourquni avcz-vous etc. si Ton vous croit, pcrsonncllcrhcnl choisi pour,

alors que vous vous trouviez a Berlin, e/fectucr !e transport de cyanure d'un

point a un autre du territoire polonais ?

R. — Ceci est, a mon sens, du au hasard d'une designation provenant d'un

chef quclconquc. Mon nom a etc mis en avant par un des officiers du service

dc chimic auquci Taulorite, e'est-a-dire GUNTHER, s'etait au d£but adressde.

D. — Pourquoi I'autorite a-t-ellc cprouve lc besoin d'envoyer dc Berlin a

KOLLIN (TcWcoslovaquic) un officicr pour simplemcnt y prendre livraison de

cyanure et transporter eclui-ci a BELCEC en Pologne alors qu'il aurait du lui

apparaittc plus simple de detacher a cc travail de transport un officler se

trouvant deja soit cn Tchicoslovaquic, soil en Pologne?



R. — Parce qu'on me considerait commc un spccialistc dc l'utilisation du

cyanurc pour la disinfection.

D. — Avcz-vous rc$u un ordre dc mission, ccrit ou verbal, ct quels en elaient

les tcrmes ?

i

R. — Je recus un ordre de mission...verbal, confirm*' quarante-huit hrures

apres par eterit. Cet dcrit disait npproximativement ceci : je vous donnc lordro

dc vous procurer deux cent soixantc kilogrammes tie cyanurc de potassium et

de les transporter a un lieu qui vous sera desi^ne par lc conduclcur du vchkulc
U* X... affecte" a la mission.

C'cst moi-meme qui ai choisi KOLL1N car je savais que i'un y fabriquait du

cyanure, comme on cn fabriquait cSgalcmcnt a DESSAU.

S.I. — Le cyanure m'a &l6 livre par la fabrique a KOLLIN au vu de mon
ordre de mission et d'un bon de requisition delivre par Ie service central do

sccuiiie a Berlin (Reichssicherheitshauptnmt). L'ordre de mission porlait un

timbre avec mention « Secret d'Etat v.

D. — A qui avcz-vous rendu compte de lVwecution dc voire mission ?

R. — A mon retour a Berlin d'un voyage qui a dure* .environ deux scmaincs,

je n'ai rendu compte a quiconque dc I 'execution de ma mission. IVrsonnc ne

m'a Jcmande* quoi que ce soit.

S.I.R. — Avant lc voyage, je ric connaissais pas le chauffeur qui devait mc
conduire. Le dit chauffeur apparlcnait au service central de securite, je

perdu c!e vuc par la suite.

D. — Comment, puisque vous nc comiaissicz pas nuparavnnt le chauffeur,

pouviez-vous avoir confiance en celui-ci et ne pas remplir tres exackment la

mission qui vous avait etc confine et dont eclui-ci etait incontestablement au
courant ? Et ce alors surtout que le chauffeur apparlenait au service de

securite. N'avcz-vous pas craint une denunciation qui aurait cntrainc* pour vous

des consequences d'une gravity certaine ?

R. — Le chauffeur a eu pcur cn cours dc route ct alors que nous avions

charge le poison. II n'a pas micux demandc que de me voir debarrasser la

voiturc de ce qui pour lui constituait un danger. Je n'ai pas cu pcur de la

derionciation du chauffeur car j'tftais en mesurc de me justifier aupres des

autoritt's de Berlin. D'autre part les autorites de BELCEC .ne tenaienl pas du
tout a recevoir du cyanure, ayant deja unc autre mtfthodc d'extermination, a

savoir un moteur Diesel a echappement toxique.

Vu I'hcure tardive nous suspendons le present interrogator re qui sera repris

a 15 heures ce jour.

Lecture faite, l'inculpe* persiste ct signc avec nous, lc greffier ct interprets
approuvant la rature de dix-sept mots rayes nuls et de huit lignes rayecs nulles.

Signatures ; M. Mattei, B. Malkov, Kurt Gerstcin, A. Coudroy.



L'an mil ncuf cent qtiarante cinq, lc dix-neuf juillct a 15 hcures. assiste

comme precedemmcnl. memcs grefficr ct intcrprcte, avons continue l'intcrro-

gatoire ci-dcssus suspendu en ratson do l'heurc tardive. Mentionnons que

M* Lchmann s'etait excuse, nous avons passe outre et procede a l'interrogatoire

comme il suit :

D. — A votrc depart de Berlin, pour remplir la mission dont nous avons

parle ce matin, vous at-on donne d'autrcs instructions que celles conccrnant le

transport proprement dit du cyanurc ?

R. — Parfaitcment. L'officicr dc SS GUNTHER m'avait charge* de prendre

toutes dispositions utiles pour.* une fois arrive au camp de BELCEC, rcmplacer

commc moyen d'extermination, lc motcur Dicse! a ichappement toxique par

I'cmploi du cyanurc. II m'etait laisse a mot lc soin d'examiner les pdssibilites

techniques de ce rcmplaccment.

D. — Qui avail fixe la quantite do cyanure a cmporter?

R. — C'est moi-mOmc qui 1'avait fixce et cela compte tenu de la capacite

dc transport de la voiture.

D. — Vous savicz done au depart de Berlin que le cyanurc etait destine a

Tcxtcrmination d'otrcs humains ?

R. — Jc le savais. Je prisumais qu'il s'agissatt de Juifs et probablcmcnt

dc Polonais.

D. — Ccst probablcment aussi pour cela que vous avez pris une oussi

grnnde quantitc dc poison?

R. — Jc n'at pris pareillc quantity que pour utiliser a fond la capacite* de

transport de la voiture.

D. — Comment devait etrc tcchniquement employe* le cyanure pour 1'exter-

mination ?

R. — GUNTER a Berlin n'en avait la moindre idee. II supposait que je devais

en avoir une. Mais en realiti je n'en avais pas car je n'ai jamais utilise* le

cyanure que pour la disinfection.

D. — Voulez-vous nous indiqucr comment vous employiez le cyanure pour

la disinfection.

R.— Deux moyen s :

Le premier qui consistait a rendre itanche Tendroit a disinfectcr (baraque,

caserne, etc.) ct a introduire dans les* Heme des recipients contcnant lc poison, et

a faire ouvrir de l'cxtirieur, ct a l'aide d'un dispositif, les dits recipients de

manicrc a ce que le liquidc se rendit volatile.

Le deuxieme moyen ctait employi a la disinfection des vdtements.

D. — A quelle dose employiez-vous le cyanure pour la disinfection ?

R. — Approximativcmcnt 5 kg (sic I) pour 540 m3 (cinq cent quarante

metres cubes).



S.I.R. — Je ne sais exactemcnt quelle quantitc dc cyanure il faut pour tucr

un hommc, e'est la unc question ihcoriquc, mais jc pense qu'il frnit environ un
gramme.

S.I.R. — Je pcrsislc a affirmcr que jc n'ai procede a aucunc experience
ni a aucunc utilisation du cyanurc.

D. — Comment avcz-vous cxplique voire arrivec aii camp do DELCEC puisque
vous y e*tiez envoye*. d'aprcs cc que vous ditcs vous-mcme, pour rcmplaccr par
le cyanurc le mode d'extcrminalion qui y dtaii employe et cc alors que vous
arriviez sans la moindrc parcel le de cyanure ?

R. — Jc suis arrive" avee lc cyanurc au camp ct j'ai raconic au commandant
du camp ce qui m'etait arrive en cours de route au sujel dc la bouteille dont
la fermeture n'avail pas etc bicn assurec. J'ai indique au commandant du camp
le danger que prcscntaii I'emploi du cyanure en lui faisanl connaitre que jc

nc pouvais prendre sur ma rcspousabiliic I'emploi du cyanure que j'avais apporle\

Cc commandant tftait un hommc peu cultive* et s'est content c de ines explications,

disant par ailleurs eirc salisfail du sysicme d'extermination en usage.

D. — Ce matin vous noiis avez declare1 que quarantc quatrc boutcillcs dc
cyanurc — votre enticr chargemcnt. une des bouteilles ayant ele videc — n'ciaient

pas arrivecs au camp de BELCEC car clles avaient cte dissimulees par le chauf-
feur et vous-mcme a douze cents metres environ du camp; tout a I'hcurc, vous
venez de nous dire £trc arrive au camp avec votre chargemcnt. Quand dites-vous

la ve'rite ?

R. — Jc suis arrive4 au camp sans lc cyanure mais le commandant du camp
savait que j'en avals apporte dans la voiturc qui «5tait restee a douze cents
metres du camp.

D. — Pourquoi la voiturc est-elle restec si loin du camp oil le cyanure Jevait
ctre apporte* et employe* d'apres les instructions que vous avez revues?

R. — En raison du danger que ce cyanure presentait.

D. — Puisque le commandant du camp connaissait le but de voire mission
ct lc fail que yous aviez apporte* du cyanurc, comment avez-vous pu dissimulcr

eclui-ct car vous nous avez declare* ce matin Tavoir dissimule?

R. — Le commandant du camp avait grand peur du cyanure, il nc tenait

pas du tout a ce qu'il soit employ*. D'autre part j'avais moi-meme toutc

latitude en cc qui conceme l'utilisation ou la non-utilisation du poison.

D. — Vous avez etc" charge* d'une mission. Vous nous ditcs nc point l'avoir

remplie. Vous nous ditcs cgalemenf que le commandant du camp ou vous devez
rcmplir cette mission ne tenait pas du tout a ce que vous la rcmplissicz. Vous
avez cc matin declare* qu'a votre retour a Berlin vous n'avicz rendu compte a
quiconque du rtsultat de votre mission. Nous avons tout lieu de penser que
des choses parcillcs n'tftnicnt pas prdcisdmcnt cn usage dans I'armee allemande.
Expliquez-vous a ce sujet.

R„ — Le lendemain de mon arrived au camp de BELCEC est rcvenu le

veritable commandant du camp — lc hauptmann polizei WIRTH, qui avait une
grosse influence & Berlin et qui a liquid* cctte question sans que j'aic a intervener.



D. — A quclles nutres autonics avez-vous cu affaire au cours dc voire mission

a BELCEC

?

R. — J'avais rccu en cours dc route, par rintermddiairc du chauffeur, des

instructions d'avoir a mc rendre a LUBLIN aupres du general major Gruppen

Fiihrer SS GLOBOCNEC qui commandait les quatre camps d'extermination.

Coriformemcnt a ccs instructions, j'ai etd rccu cn audience par cet officicr general.

An corns de I'audicncc. i? m'a indiquc avoir cu cjuclqucs jours auparavant la

visitc de HITLER ct dc HIM&LER. l'un ct 1'autre d*sireux de voir pousser l'exter-

mination dv-s Juifs a tine cadence plus rapide.

Ce general nc me donna aucu'nc instmciion d'ordre technique mais I'ordre de

mc rendre a BELCEC, mc disant qu'il y irait lui-meme, en personne car nul ne

pouvait ctrc recti au camp sans etrc present* par le general cn personne.

O. — Avez-vous au cours; de ccttc mission visitc d'aulrcs camps que celui

dc BELCEC?

R. - Out. ceux dc MAIDANECK • TREBLINCA. Dans ccs deux camp*, j'ai

etc amcne par 1c hauptmann WIRTH et 1c professeur Doctcur PFANNENSTIEL

pour que j'examinc sur place les possibility de rcmplacer le systcme d'extermi-

nation employe (motcur dicsel a degagemcnt toxique) par le cyanure.

S.I.R. — Je ne pense pas que dans ccs deux camps et a BELCEC on ait

utilise le cyanure comme moyen d'extermination mais je n'en sais rien car je

n'y suis pas rctourne.

D - Vous avcz done, dc voire proprc avcu, rccu a Berlin une mission

importantc ct cc en votrc qualite de tcchniden ; cette mission ctait si importante

que vous devicz i'accomplir comme un secret d'Elat ; vous avez visitc trois camps,

vous avcz ele rccu en audience par un general qui, ctant donnc le but de votrc

mission, a cru devoir vous rapportcr les propos memes des deux grands chefs

nazis. Comment pouvez-vous persister a nous fairc croirc :

1) que vous n'nvez pas rempli le but mcmc dc votre mission;

2) que vous n'avez rendu eomntc a personne de celled

;

3) que personne ne vous a non plus rien demande a cc sujet.

R. - Le hatiplmarm WIRTH avait une teltc position personnels aupres de

HITLER el dc HIMMLER qu'il a pu mc dire dc ne plus m'occuper de cctle affaire

ct dans ccttc condition je lui ai obei. Voila ce que j'ai a repondrc.

S.I.R. — Personne ne s'est inlet esse* ii cc qu'est devenu le cyanure (sic!).

D. — Ouand clcs-vous venu en France pendant la durcc de la guerre ? Qu'y

avez-vous fait ?

R. — Premier voyage cn octobre 1940, J'eiais alors civil et en voyage d'affaires

qui dura une semaine.

Dcuxiemc voyage — a la Noel 1940 — voyage d'affaires a Paris, d'une durcc

de quatre \jours.

Courant 1941, je viens deux ou trois fois a Paris toujours pour affaires. Au

cours d'un de ccs voyages je fits en relation avee de WENDEL.



En 1942, alors que j'ctais dcja SS jc rcviens a Pnris trois fois. cn service,

pour achat d'ouvragcs geographiqucs ci scicnlifiques ninsi que dc materiel (aulu-

clavcs).

En 1943 cl 1944 j'cffecluai d'autrcs voyages dans lc memc but.

S.X.R. — J'ai en effet visitc1 les installations destinccs a l'cxtcrminaiion des

Juifs dans les camps deja nommcs.

Mention, lei l'inculpif s'cxprimc cn francais.

Les installations etaient les plus primitives cl les plus cruellcs. II y avail

dc pctitcs garcs de trois cents metres environ dans Icsquclles cniraicnl les

trains avec cinquantc wagons. Alois les Ukrainiens chassaient a laido dc era-

vaches les personnel transportecs qui n'etaient pas mortcs a leur arrivce. li v

avait vingt pour cent de morts. Des hauls parlcurs donnaicnt les ordres d';:voir

a sc deshabillcr completcment, y compris les lunettes ct les nppareils de prothese

(jambes artificicllcs, etc.). Les pcrsonnes qui debarquaient devaient attnehet

ensemble leurs chaussures par paircs, remcttrc toutes les valcurs, argent et

objets. Les vietimes devaient apporlcr cllcs-memes cn courant leurs tTfets dans

les wagons. On coupait les cheveux ras aux femmes, les cheveux etaient recueillis

dans des sacs a pommes de tcrre. Les victimcs etaient amendes toutes nucs

sans distinction de scxe dans un passage barbcle qui conduisait dans un

batiment special dc bain.

L'inculpe reprend en allcmand.

Cc batiment couvert portait sur lc toil ct par derision I'etoile licbiaYqnc

II comportait six pieces a BELCEC ct huit a TREBLINCA. On cniassait a I'aido

dc coups dc cravachc les arrivants dans les dites pieces et ils y etaient si

serrcs qu'ils etaient obliges de se maintcnir un pied sur 1'autre. Les enfant*

a la mamellc cMaicnt au bras dc leur mere. L'cntasscment ctait tel que. mime
lorsqur les gaz avaient fait leur ceuvre, les cadavres rcstaicnt tous dehorn,

les uns soutenant les autrcs.

Une fois tout lc mondc cntassd dans chaque piece, on faisait fcrmcr les pones
ct tourner lc motcur a gaz. non sans avoir soumis pendant des heurc.s les

victimes a cet cntasscment. Une fois j'ai comptd moi-meme que les victimcs

dtaient restecs ainsi entassecs pendant cxactcmcnt deux hcurcs quarantc neuf

minutes avant que les gaz ne parvienncnt dans la chambrc.

Le gaz parvenait dans les dites chambres par des tuyaux a cc destines

Les victimes etaient eoumises a 1'cffct des gaz pendant une durce d'envir^n

trenle deux minutes.

Des prisonniers juifs e'taienl chargds de vider les chambres a gaz des

victimes que cellcs-ci contcnaienl ct qui dtatent couvcrtes dc lcurs proprcs

excrements.

Des prisonniers dgalcment juifs, dentistes de profession, tftaicnt charges
d'examiner les cadavres ct de leur rctircr 1'or qu'ils pouvaienl avoir dans la

machoire. On fouillait dgalemcnt les anus ct les parties sexuelles des femmes
pour savoir s'ils ne rccelaient pas des maticrcs prdcieuscs. Les cadavres etaient

enstiile cutawis dans dunmenses fosses communes ct reconverts d a pcincfdf.jx
centimetres dc sable.

Les na/.is etaient partirulicrcmcnt Hers dc lenorme quantile d'objets et

de vetoments recupercs de eettc laenn. Cot nit, disaicnl-ils. d'un rrpport cinq
Ir.is phis clove" que ionics les collcclcs dc vclcmcnts orpanisecs cn Allcmagnc.
On fouillait dc memc les cadavres dc ceux qui etaient decodes au cours chi

\(/v:K'e cn ihcmin de 1'er.

.S.l.R. — bans les trois camps que j'ai visiles, ii est mort le jour de ma
visi:-.- environ trenle cinq m* Me Juifs. Jc precise que mcs visiles ont eu lieu

les 17 rt IS aoul 1942.

S.l.R. — Les trains devaicnl cn principc arriver joumcllemcnt dans les

camps.

S.l.K. — Sans etrc Ires precis, je puis indiqucr que lc systemc d'extcrmination
a do commcnccr au mois d'avril 1942.

S.l.K. — Je pensc que rcxterminalion a dure toutc la guerre puisquc jc

n'.ii jamais cnlendu dire qu'elle ail ccssc.

D. — Comment s'appelait cxactcmcnt le sen-ice. si Ton pcut dire, dont
relevait ccttc extermination premeditee cl executee pendant si longtemps ?

R. — 11 .s'appelait F.INSAT7. REINHARDTZ. Cc service relevait lui-meme
dn R.S.ILA. (service central dc sccuritc).

Lecture lailc. l'inculpe persistc cl signc avee nous, lc grcflier ct J'inierprelc,

approtivant la raturc dc neuf mois rayes nuls et de une ligne. rayee nullc.

Signature : M. Mattel, B. Malkov, Kurt Gcrstcin. A. Coudroy.



of a partner contributing my technical knowledge.

I had moreover an interest in this company since 1930. This

company manufactured oil pumps for locomotives and had as its

registered name DE LIMON, FLUHME and Co.

Until 5 March 1941, 1 thus stayed as a civilian in this company.
Previously, that is to say in December 1940, 1 had sent a written

request to be admitted to serve as a Waffen SS: this request having been
accepted, I was incorporated into this formation on 10 March 1941.

I was assigned at Berlin, sanitdtsdienst (sanitary service); General

Direction of the Waffen SS. I was then a simple soldier— and had
followed for three months the ordinary instruction of the private

soldier in various places.

At the end of this training I was assigned to the institute ofhygiene

of Berlin SS.

At the beginning I did not have any specific job. But later I

requested to work more specially on the appliances for disinfection

and the questions of drinking water.

In summary, I fulfilled these functions until the month ofApril 1945
with, in principle, residence at Berlin and fulfilling at one time and
another some missions to the firms who manufactured the different

appliances used in the service.

In November 1941 1 obtained the rank of sublieutenant SS, special-

ist (UNTERSTURMFUHRER F.).

Q Tell us exactly the nature of the missions that you fulfilled,

notably those effected in the different camps which you have yourself

enumerated in the interrogation you have undergone.

A Ihave been on missions: Twice tothe camp atORANIENBURG.
Twice to that ofDROEGEN. Once to that ofRAVENSBRUCK. Once
to acamp ofIsraelites near (illegible word.) Once to the extermination

camps of:BELCEC (phonetic spelling), TREBLINKAandMAIDAN-
ECK, finally twice to the camp ofHEINKELWERK nearORANIEN-
BURG. In the camps other than the three extermination camps, the

purpose ofthe different missions accomplished by me was to examine
and check the sanitary installations (disinfection, drinking water,

etc.), my role was purely technical.

Later in June 1942, 1 was charged with transporting two hundred
and sixty kilograms of potassium cyanide to the camp of BELCEC.
When I was charged with this transport, I was clearly told that it

concerned a state secret.

I had received orders to take delivery at KOLLIN near Prague of

this poison and to transport it to the above-mentioned camp.

I fiilfilledmy mission in the month ofAugust 1942, that is to say that

I duly transported the cyanide but the cyanide did not arrive at the

destination. On leaving, the cyanide was put in forty-five steel bottles.
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On the road one of them was emptied under my care with all the

necessary precautions because it was dangerous.

The forty-four bottles which remained were not taken to the camp
of BELCEC but were concealed by the driver and myself at about

twelve hundred meters from the camp.

Q Since you were stationed in Berlin, why were you, ifone believes

you, personally chosen to effect the transport of the cyanide from one
point to another on Polish territory?

A This is, in my opinion, due to the chance designation of some
chief or other. My name was put forward by one of the officers of the

chemical service, that is to sayGUNTHER, ofwhom the authority had
first inquired.

Q Why did the authority approve the need to send from Berlin to

KOLLIN (Czechoslovakia) an officer simply to take delivery there of

cyanide and to transport this to BELCEC in Poland since it must have
seemed simpler to him to detach for this work of transportation an

officer already stationed in Czechoslovakia, or Poland?

A Because I was considered a specialist in the utilization ofcyanide

for disinfection.

Q Did you receive an order for this assignment, written or verbal,

and what were the terms of it?

A I received a verbal order, confirmed forty-eight hours afterwards

in writing. This written order said approximately this; : Igive you the

order to obtaintwo hundred and sixty kilograms ofpotassium cyanide

and to transport them to a place which will be specified to you by the

driver of the vehicle no X . . . attached to the mission.

It is myself who chose KOLLIN because I knew that cyanide was
manufactured there, as it was similarly made at DESSAU.

S.I.R. The cyanide was delivered to me by the factory at KOLLIN
in view of my detached service orders and of a requisition-voucher

issued by the central service of security at Berlin (Refehssicher-

heitshauptampt). The service orders carried a stamp with the words

"State secret."

Q To whom did you report the execution of your mission?

A Onmy return to Berlin from a trip which lasted abouttwo weeks,
I did not report to anyone on the execution of my mission. No one

asked me anything at all.

S.I.R. Before the journey, I did not know the driver who was to

drive me. This driver belonged to the central security service, I lost

touch with him afterwards.

Q How, since you did not know the driver previously, could you
have confidence in him to carry out very exactly the mission with

which you had been entrusted and about which he indisputably was
informed? And this when above all the driver belonged to the security
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service. Were you not frightened of a denunciation which would have

entailed for you consequences of a certain gravity?

A The driver was frightened during the course of the journey and

since we had loaded the poison. He asked nothing better than to see me
rid the car of what for him was a danger. I was not afraid of a denun-

ciation by the driver because I was in a position tojustify myselfto the

Berlin authorities. On the other hand the authorities ofBELCEC did

not agree at all with receiving the cyanide, having already another

method of extermination, that is to say a diesel engine with a toxic

exhaust.

In view of the late hour we adjourn the present interrogation which

will be reopened at 15 hours today.

Read over, the accused continuing and signs with us, the court clerk

and interpreter, witnessing the erasure of seventeen words crossed

through invalid and eight lines crossed through invalid.

Signatures: M. Mattei, B. Malkov, Kurt Gerstein, A. Coudroy.

The year one thousand nine hundred and forty-five, the nineteenth

of July at 15 hours, assisted as before, the same court clerk and

interpreter, we have continued the interrogation adjourned above by
reason of the late hour. Let the record show that Maitre Lehmann has

excused himself, whichwe have passed over andhave proceeded with
the interrogation as follows:

Q On your departure from Berlin, to fulfill the mission ofwhich we
spoke this morning, were you given instructions other than those

concerning the transport properly so called of the cyanide?

A Of course. The SS Officer GUNTHER had charged me to make
all serviceable arrangements, once arrived at the camp of BELCEC,
replace the diesel engine with toxic exhaust with cyanide as a means
of extermination. It was left to me to examine the technical possibili-

ties of this changeover.

Q Who had decided the quantity of cyanide to take?

A I myselfdecided itby taking into account the load capacity ofthe

vehicle.

Q You knew then on your departure from Berlin that the cyanide

was intended for the extermination of human beings?

A I knew it. I assumed that it related to Jews and probably Poles.

Q It is probably also for that reason that you took such a large

quantity of poison?

A I took such a large quantity only to utilize to the maximum the

load capacity of the vehicle.

Q How was the cyanide to have been used technically for extermi-

nation?

A GUNTER at Berlin did not have the slightest idea about it. He
supposed that I must have some idea. But in reality I did not because
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I never used cyanide except for disinfection.

Q Would you like to tell us how you employed cyanide for

disinfection?

A Two methods: The first consisted in making airtight the place to

disinfect (hut, barracks, etc.) and introducing in these places recep-

tacles containing the poison, and with the help of an apparatus,

opening said receptacles from the outside in such a way that the liquid

became volatile. The second method was employed for the disinfec-

tion of clothes.

Q In what proportions did you use cyanide for disinfection?

A Approximately 5 kg (sic!) for 540 m 3 (five hundred and forty

cubic meters).

S.I.R. I do not know exactly what quantity of cyanide is necessary

to kill a man, this is a theoretical question, but I think it needs about

one gram.

S.I.R. I persist in affirming that I did not make any experiment nor

any utilization of cyanide.

Q How did you explain your arrival at the camp ofBELCEC since

you were sent there, according to what you yourself say, to replace by

cyanide the method of extermination which was used there and yet

you arrived without the least quantity of cyanide?

A I arrived with the cyanide at the camp and I told the commandant

ofthe camp whathadhappened tome on the way concerning the bottle

that had not been securely closed. I pointed out to the commandant of

the camp the danger involved in the use of cyanide by informing him
that I could not assume the responsibility for making use of the

cyanide which I had brought. This commandant was satisfied withmy
explanations, saying besides that he was satisfied with the extermina-

tion system in use.

Q This morning you stated to us that forty-four bottles of cyanide

— your entire consignment, one ofthe bottles having been emptied

—

did not arrive at the camp ofBELCEC because they had been hidden

by the driver and yourself at about twelve hundred meters from the

camp; just now, you have been telling us you arrived at the camp with

your consignment. When are you speaking the truth?

A I arrived at the camp without the cyanide but the commandant of

the camp knew that I had brought it in the vehicle which was left at

twelve hundred meters from the camp.

Q Why was the vehicle left so farfrom the camp where the cyanide

was to be brought and employed according to the instructions which

you received?

A Because of the danger which the cyanide presented.

Q Since the camp commandant knew of the purpose of your mis-

sion and the fact that you had brought the cyanide, how were you able
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to hide this for this morning you declared to us that you had hidden it?

A The camp commandant had a great fear of cyanide, and he was
not agreeable at all that it should be used. On the other hand, I myself

had every latitude as to the utilization or non-utilization ofthe poison.

Q You were charged with a mission. You tell us of not having

fulfilled it at all. Likewise you tell us that the commandant ofthe camp
where you have to complete this mission did not want you to complete

it at all. You stated this morning that on your return to Berlin you did

not report to anyone on the result of your mission. We have every

reason to think that such things were not exactly customary in the

German army. Explain yourself on this subject.

A The morning after my arrival at the camp of BELCEC the real

camp commandant returned— the hauptmann polizei WIRTH, who
had great influence at Berlin and who liquidated this question without

my having to intervene.

Q With what other authorities did you have to deal in the course of

your mission to BELCEC?
A While on the way, I had received instruction via the driver, to

reporttoLUBLINto major-general GruppenFuhrerSSGLOBOCNEC
who commanded the four extermination camps. In conformity with

these instructions, I was received in audience by this general officer.

In the course of the audience, he mentioned to me having had some
days previously a visit from HITLER and HIMMLER, and both the

one and the other wishing to see the extermination of the Jews pushed
at a faster rate.

This general did not give me any instruction of a technical nature

except the order to report to BELCEC, telling me that he would go
there himself, in person because no one could be received at the camp
without being introduced by the general in person.

Q Did you in the course of this mission visit camps other than this

one of BELCEC?
A Yes, those ofMAIDANECK-TREBLINCA. Inthosetwocamps,

I was taken by the hauptmann WIRTH and the professor Doctor
PFANNENSTIEL so that I might examine on the spot the possibility

of replacing the extermination system employed (diesel engine with

toxic emission) by cyanide.

S.I.R. I do not think that in these two camps and at BELCEC
cyanide was used as an extermination method but I know nothing

about it because I never returned there.

Q You did then, by yourown admission, receive at Berlin an impor-

tant mission, and this in your capacity as a technician; this mission was
so important that you had to accomplish it as a state secret; you visited

three camps, you were received in audience by a general who, granted

the purpose of your mission, believed himselfbound to recount to you
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even the intentions of the two great Nazi chiefs.

How can you persist in making us believe:

1 that you did not even accomplish the purpose of your mission;

2 that you reported to no one on this;

3 that no one moreover questioned you at all on this subject.

A The hauptmann WIRTH had such a personal position in relation

to HITLER and HIMMLER that he was able to tell me not to concern

myself further with this matter and in the circumstances I obeyed him.

That is what I have to reply.

S.I.R. No one interested himself in what became of the cyanide

(sic!).

Q When did you come to France during the war? What did you do

here?

A First trip in October 1940, 1 was still a civilian and on a business

trip which lasted a week. Second trip— at Christmas 1940— business

trip to Paris of a length of four days. During 1941 , 1 came two or three

times to Paris, always on business. In the course of one of these trips

I was in contact with de WENDEL.
In 1942, when I was already SS I returned to Paris three times, on

duty, for the purchase of geographic and scientific material as well as

(steam-tight) material.

In 1943 and 1944 1 made other trips for the same purpose.

(Minute. Here the accused expresses himself in French.)

S.I.R. The installations were the most primitive and the most cruel.

There were little stations of about three hundred meters in which the

trains entered with fifty cars. Then the Ukrainians chased with the help

of horsewhips the persons transported who were not dead on their

arrival. Twenty per cent were dead. Loudspeakers gave the orders to

have to undress completely, including spectacles and the appliances of

prosthesis (artificial legs, etc.). The persons who detrained had to tie

together their shoes in pairs, hand in all the valuables, money, and

objects. The victims themselves had to run and bring their things into

the wagons. The women's hair was cut close, the hair was gathered

into potato sacks. The victims were brought all naked without distinc-

tion of sex into a barbed wire passage which led in to a special bath

building.

The accused resumes in German.

This covered building carried on the roof and in derision the

Hebrew star. It consisted of six rooms at BELCEC and eight at

TREBLINCA. With the help of blows from horsewhips the arrivals

were crowded into these rooms and they were so crushed there that

they were obliged to hold themselves up one foot on the other. Babies

at the breast were in their mothers' arms. The cramming was such that,

even when the gases had done their work, the. corpses all stayed
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standing, one supporting the other.

Once everyone was crowded into each room, the doors were closed,

and the gas engines started, not without the victims having submitted

to this cramming for hours. Once I myself counted that the victims

stayed crushed like that for exactly two hours forty-nine minutes

before the gases reached the chamber.

The gas arrived into the said chambers by pipes to its destination.

The victims were subjected to the effect of the gases for a period of

about thirty-two minutes.

The Jewish prisoners were charged with emptying the gas cham-
bers of the victims that they contained and who were covered with

their own excrement.

Prisoners who were also Jews, dentists by profession, were charged
withexamining the cadavers and to take outfromthem any goldwhich
they mighthave in thejaw. The anus and the sexual parts ofthewomen
were also searched to see if they contained precious materials. The
cadavers were then piled into immense common ditches and covered
with hardly two (corrected = ten) centimeters of sand.

The Nazis were especially proud of the enormous quantity of
objects and of clothes retrieved in this way. It brought in a yield, they
said, five times bigger than all the collections of clothing organized in

Germany. In the same way, the bodies of those who had died during

the railway journey were searched.

S.I.R. In principle the trains were to arrive at the camps daily.

S.I.R. Without being very exact, I can indicate that the system of
extermination must have begun in the month of April 1942.

S.I.R. I think that the extermination lasted all the war since I never
heard it said that it stopped.

Q What was the precise name of the service, if one can call it that,

which was responsible for this extermination that was premeditated,

and executed over such a long period?

A It was called EINSATZ REINHARDTZ. This service itself was
part of the R.H.S.A. (central security service).

Read over, the accused continuing and signs with us, the court clerk

and interpreter witnessing the erasure of nine words crossed through

invalid and one line crossed through, invalid.

Signatures: M. Matt6i, B. Malkov, Kurt Gerstein, A. Coudroy.

Article in France-Soir, 4 July 1945

This article is interesting above all for the facsimile ofan extract of

a "confession," reproduced on the first page of the newspaper.
It is a short extract in the German language of Gerstein 's biography

in which we find the details common to all the texts.
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However, an attentive examination of this extract shows that,

neither by composition nor by the typewriter lettering, is this extract

identical to the comparable passage in the two texts in the German

language (T III) and (T VI) known to us. On the other hand, the

German text corresponds exactly to the French text ofT Va; it seems

therefore that T Va is the translation into French of this German text,

whose existence we assume only thanks to the facsimile published in

France-Soir.

Translation as follows:

"I have exterminated up to 11,000 people daily."

(From War Correspondent Geo. Kelber Stuttgart,... June...)

Before God and before men, I take the responsibility formy words,

because I have been one of the rare eyewitnesses of the biggest

Hitlerian killings. I have omitted nothing ofthe things I have seen; and

I have added nothing. This is the truth. May heaven help me . .

.

Thus spoke Kurt Gerstein, SS engineer, qualified teacher at Mar-

burg, Aix-la-Chapelle, and Berlin, to the investigating officer of the

French First army.

And he began his deposition which he wrote out carefully after-

wards and signed. It is the account of abominations, of monstrosities

of which Gerstein accused himself, at the camp of Belcic, in his

capacity as chief of scientific executions.

One day the sturmbannfiihrer Guntier sent me urgently to Lublin

for "a matter of state which I would be the eleventh person to know,

by special favor of the Fiihrer" At Lublin, I was received by the SS
General Globocnec and his assistant, SS Colonel Wirth, who informed
me that the day before Hitler and Himmler had visited the three

experimental stations for asphyxia at Belcic, Sobidor, and Treblinca.

Hitler had been very displeased. "The process of asphyxia by the

exhaust gases of Diesel engines is too slow," he said. "It is necessary

to eliminate more speedily the human material which is biologically

without interest." And it is I who had been chosen to preside over this

speed-up. I was driven the next day to Belcic. A building composed of

five airtight rooms, each of five meters by five. Two inscriptions on the

front: "Meckenholt Foundation; Inhalation and Hydrotherapy."

At seven o'clock, there was an "arrival": a freight train of 43 cars,

from which the SS and their Ukrainian helpers made 6,700 people

descend with blows from their horsewhips; men, women, and chil-

dren. A loudpeaker shouted:

"Deposit your clothes, and personal effects."

A dance tune was broadcast: "From whom do you get your pretty

brown eyes?" Then the women were taken to the hairdresser installed
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in a little hut carrying the sign "Cloak Room." And the procession

entered into the Meckenholt Foundation.

"Crowd them in well!" Colonel Wirth ordered.

700 to 800 persons were pushed into the five rooms. Wirth ex-

plained the "maneuver" to me.

"The average weight of each man being 65 kgs., each of our

chambers can receive 25,250 kgs. of human beings. With a little

goodwill, we obtain a fair average of 750 persons per 'operation.'
"

The doors were closed. The diesel engines were started up. We
looked through the dormer windows, into the interior ofthe chambers
which were brightly lit. The engines were working badly. Wirth
apologized for the faulty running ofthe operation. Twenty, thirty, forty

minutes passed. The operator of the diesel engines, an SS man named
Meckenholt, was getting impatient. Finally the engines started.

In the interior ofthe huts the menwere still living ! I timed the length
of the agony: Fifty, sixty minutes! The first dead fell. Ten minutes

passed again. Finally, it was over! . .

.

Ukrainian teams bring out the corpses all streaming with sweat and
excrement. They pull out the gold teeth. They sort the women's hair,

intended to be used for the manufacture of fabric and in certain

precision instruments for submarines! When the clearing away was
finished, other Ukrainians pushed anew batch of the condemned into

the asphyxiation chambers.

"I was at peace with my conscience"

... I understood my mission, adds Gerstein. I was being asked to

find a means ofputting to deathmore rapid and more efficient than this

primitive type of extermination. I proposed the use of the gases of

higher toxicity and notably those given off by prussic acid.

And the wretch concludes:

"I was at peace with my conscience, for I shortened the sufferings

ofhuman beings 'biologically useless and doomed for destruction, ' as

Hitler said. Classified under the name of Category 3, this human
material comprised Jews, Poles, Russians, Czechs, Lithuanians and

Hungarians.

"Up to eleven thousand executions were thus effected some days.

Many children were numbered among the victims. From time to time

a professor made to the "labor commando," the men responsible for

the executions, a speech explaining to them their great mission. Hitler

himself, while visiting Belcic, had said "We shall emplace plaques of

bronze here so that our descendents know our work of biological

decontamination of our planet." In his defense, Gerstein explains that

in 1944 he tried to get in contact with the "resistance" pastorNiemoller
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and that he even presented himself at Berlin to the papal nuncio who,

however, showed him out. He pretends to have always been anti-Nazi

and to have accepted the terrible duties ofexecutioner only to have the

chance of witnessing against Nazism on the day of Germany's defeat.

The strangest thing is that this SS Gerstein pours out his declara-

tions as proofofhis "humanitarian" revolt, and thathe is still at liberty,

as though he had no responsibility at all in the work of death at the

Belcic camp.

Request for a Lawyer dated 15 July, 1945

This document is preserved in the file ofthe French Military Justice

Department. It consists ofone sheet written front and reverse in capital

letters.

It will be noticed that Gerstein requested a Christian lawyer,

conversant with religious questions. It is Maitre Pierre Lehmann who
was assigned for his defense: he was present on 19 July 1945 during

the morning interrogation, but absent from the afternoon interroga-

tion.

By letter dated 25 July 1945, addressed to the examining magis-

trate, Maitre Lehmann let it be known that he would not be able to be

present at the interrogation of the accused Gerstein scheduled for 26

July, an "accused who, moreover, does not seem at all guilty."

Gerstein was found dead in his cell 25 July 1945, at about 14 hours.

Maitre Lehmann did not die until 1980. Inexplicably enough,

Gerstein 's Paris lawyer was not questioned by Pierre Joffroy who,

however, in the years 1966-1968, toured the whole ofEurope in order

to find persons who, in however small a way, had been close to the

former SS officer.

Maitre Lehmann was easily accessible; he lived in Paris, in the

16th. arrondissement, at an address listed in the telephone directory.

Translation of above, as follows:

Gerstein, Kurt

Requests Monsieur the Commandant of the Military Tribunal of

Cherche Midi

To permit him the choice of a Lawyer. Before yesterday, I did not

know the name ofsuch a lawyer. But I appeal to you topermitme either

the confidential lawyer of the legation of the Holy Father at Paris or

the confidential lawyer of His Highness the Bishop of Paris or that of

the Congregation of the Society of Jesus of Paris. In my case are

treated the affairs of the Christian Churches for which I beg you such

a lawyer with interests and knowledge specifically Christian.

Ill
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Myselfhaving on me only about 1000 mark ofGerman money, I am
sure that (they) will declare themselves responsible for the salary:

1 The Bekenntniskirche of South Westphalia, Church of the Anti-

Nazi Resistance, of which I was Presbyterian, represented by Messrs.

the pastors Rehling and Keupper at Hagen Westphalia.

2 The Bekenntniskirche of Sarrebruck, represented by Msgr. the

Pastor Otto Wehr at Sarrebruck.

3 The Manufacturer qualified engineer Ubbink of Doesburg-Hol-

land, member ofthe Dutch anti-Nazi Resistance. The aforementioned

persons know my case. — I beg Monsieur his Dignity the prison

chaplain to obtain such a lawyer for me.

15 July 1945 Kurt Gerstein (signed)

Letter from Maitre Pierre Lehmann

Pierre Lehmann
Lawyer of the Appeal Court

2 rue Edmond About 25 July 1945

Paris 16

(Phone) Passy 44-44

GERSTEIN

My Commandant,
Tomy deep regret, it will notbe possible forme to assist the accused

GERSTEIN Thursday 26. 1 am most disappointed, not only in defer-

ence to Justice and to yourself, but also because this affair seems to be
extremely interesting.

My worries are lessened by the thought that an impartiality that I

learned to appreciate from the first session of the examination will

fully safeguard the rights ofthe accused who, moreover, does not seem
at all guilty.

Please be good enough, Commandant, to have the kindness to

excuse me and to accept the assurance of my deep respect.

(Signed) Pierre Lehmann
To Monsieur Commandant MATTEI
Examining Magistrate

Second Military Tribunal of Paris

53 rue de la Faisanderie 53

Paris 16

Fragments of Documents Found after His Death

In the report drawn up on 25 July 1945 by the superintendent of
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merit inters :;:iante.

Men .u:ruj\iles r.ori* attenueF. ?\ la ;ensee qu r

une impartiality que, j
1 ai s^ aporori. r ftes la premiere

seance d f i\u traction ^•luve'jardora pie i nem*- nt les droits
d T un inculpf qui,Mi;i ;;i;rt- 1 nn,n^ oanble point coupable.

Vouillez
t
.'.ion ^ or.: .-v iant

t
-v.:lr la bonte de

m'excuocr & d T,
» .r>'(-r-

1

T

a.-iHijraiiiv- !» r.ia naute considera-
tion.

A Monsieur le CJomr.s'v.Aant MATT£

I

Jugc d r I nr, tru c t i o n
Deuxieme Tribunal Mi: f t.^ire cie. PARTS
53 rue de la Faisaflderi e 53
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police of the Notre Dame des Champs district of Paris one can read

notably:

"Gerstein has left several letters in which he has made known his

intention to commit suicide. They were produced to us. They must be

forwarded to Commandant MattSi, examining magistrate."

The Commandant Mattei actually receives these documents; there

are fourteen of them. The examining magistrate writes out the list of

these documents numbered 1 to 14 and addresses them to the director

of the Service for Judicial Identity; he requests that each of the

documents be photographed in four copies.

The Professor Ch. Sannie, director of Judicial Identity, composes

a report on 9 October 1945; he confirms having completed the task

assigned to him, except for document No. 12 which he has not

received.

On 10 October 1945, Commandant Matt6i appends to the file two

officially sealedenvelopes containing, in one the originals, in the other

the photographs.

On the order of the Minister of War, the whole file is dispatched to

London, on lONovember 1945, for the attention ofProfessor Gros, to

be forwarded to the Polish delegate at the United Nations Commission
for War Crimes.

For almost twenty-six years, a vain search is made to trace the

Gerstein file. It is found, on the occasion of the reclassification of old

files, on 3 August 1971, at the French Ministry offoreign affairs. Since

that date, it has been returned to the Direction of Military Justice at

Paris. But it is incomplete; the two officially-sealed envelopes have

disappeared.

Of these documents written by Gerstein in his prison, we can

therefore only present the list, such as it appears in the report of

Professor Sannte.

Of the majority of the fourteen documents one reads, in the best of

cases, the first and the last words of each one. It is impossible to

imagine what was contained in each document. Nevertheless, for

document No. 12 (which disappeared during its transfer between the

Military Tribunal and the Judicial Identity Service), we can make a

hypothesis:

The first words are: "Four Witnesses" and the last: "prison"; as

there is no mention of writing on the reverse, one can assume that the

document consisted of only one page. If we recall a passage of a

"confession" of6 May 1945 (T V) and a note in English composed by

Gerstein, we can suppose that the Obersturmfuhrer wrote in this

document No. 12 that only four witnesses, himself included, were

present at the exterminations in the poison-gas chambers; at the end

of this text, he was going to specify that, of the four witnesses, he alone
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was anti-Nazi and that, paradoxically, it was he who found himself in

prison.

Report of M. Le Professor Ch. Sannie Paris the 9 October
1945

Affair (concerning) / GERNSTEIN (sic) Kurt accused of murder.

(To) Monsieur the Commandant of Military Justice MATTEI
Mathieu Military Examining Magistrate of Paris

File ref: C. R. 14.178 Paris the 9 October 1945^

We, the undersigned, Docter Charles SANNIE, Professor at the

Faculty of Medicine, Director ofthe Service ofJudicial Identity ofthe

Prefecture of Police, acting by virtue of an Instruction from Monsieur

the Commandant of Justice, Military Examining Magistrate MATTEI
Mathieu, worded as folk m:

We, MATTEI Mathieu, Military Examining Magistrate of Paris,

We, Commandant of Military Justice, MATTEI Mathieu, Military

Examining Magistrate of Paris, in view of the proceedings begun
against the named GERNSTEIN (sic) Kurt charged with murders,

considering that it is necessary to investigate and to avoid costs, in

view ofArticle 52 of the Military Code of Justice and Articles 83 and

85 of the Code of Criminal Instruction, We request and require in this

need Monsieur the Director of Judicial Identity, to whom we address

this present rogatory commission, to be good enough to requisition to

be brought before him, for the purpose of photographing and after to

address to me in four copies the attached documents:

No. 1 beginning with these words: "ForMonsieur the Colonel" and

finishing with "the morning";

No. 2 beginning with the words "never, never," and ending with

"Christian";

No. 2 bis beginning on the face with the words: "Messieurs you

may have" and ending with "the hair" and, on the reverse, beginning

with "Monsieur the Cure" and ending with "Jesus Christus" followed

by a signature;

No. 3 beginning with "GERNSTEIN" (sic) Kurt" on the face and

ending on the reverse with "will of Gunther."

No. 4 beginning with "To the second Bureau" and ending with

"Bukhardt" (sic);

No. 5 document in the German language written on one sheet with

indelible pencil.

No. 6 document in the German language written on one sheet with

indelible pencil.

No. 7 Letter-card written in pencil, in French, showing on the

reverse the address of the Commandant of the Military Prison and the

114



Paris, le 9 0<±b(rcL,

RAPPOUT
DE

K. LE PilOFESSEUR CH. SANNl£

Affaire c/ GKOTSttT*

inculpS d'assassinat

nsieur le^ommandant do Justice Mill t aire

Jage instruction
HAT:SI Msthi8U

mllitaire da PARIS



C. R. N° 14.17a Paris, le Octobre 19 45

Nous, soussigne, Docteur Charles SANNlfi,

Professeur a la Paculte de MSdecine, Directeur du

Service de l'Identite Judiciaire de la Prefecture de

Police, agissant en vertu d'une Ordonnance de

Monsieur le CouimandHnt de Justice, Juge d» Instruc-
Ldilitflire Mai'Til iilathieu

tion, ainsi congue :

Nous MATTE I itfa thieu
Juge d' Instruction scaxTzitaaaixdftxiXx3aiait«»Mxte
aaxStetittflt, Milit«ire de Paris,

Nous, Commandant ue Justice jriilitaire iiATTEI Ltiathieu
Juge d f Instruction aiilitaire do Paris

Vu la procedure coram*nce> contre le nomine* GJJKNoTilN Ku;
inculpe u'.^tjufissinats.

Attendu qu'il importe d'ini'ormer et d'fviter les frais.

Vu l'article 52 du Code de Justice i^ilitaire et les ar-
ticles 8j et 85 du Code d » Instruction criminelle

,

prions et requrrons au besoin /.om-.ieur le Directeur de
l'lrientite Judiciaire,

tu^uel nous adressons 1?-. pr« sent? co-imi obi^n ro^atoire, de voa
loir bien citer a coiLparai tre devant lui,

a l'efiet de faixp y;hotu&r.« [riier et Oi'aaresi-er ensaite en qu.»t
ejcemplairey Ips pijuprf join Les:



n° I coramencant par ces raoi.s: "Pour Monsieur le Colonel" et

finissant par "le matin";

n°2 comnipncant par les mot a "jamais, j-mais" et sp terminant
par "Chretierme "

;

n°c bis coramencant »a recto par lets mots: "ifiessieurs a^ez la

et se terminant par "le3 cheveax" et, a.i v°rso, com.iencant par
"udunsieur le Care'" el .se lerrainant par "Jt'sus Chri3i.us" suivi
d'une signature;

n°

^

comraencant par "Gji^NiiMN Kurt" au recto et se terminant
au versu par "volonte* de (iunther";

n°4 comraencant par "Au deuxifcme Bureau" el se terminant par
"Bukriardt";

n°

5

pi&ce en lan^u* alleraande ^crite sur une feuill* hj ch-
yon encre

;

n°6 pifcce en langue alleiuande e*crite aur une feuille au cra-
yon encre;

n°7 carte lettre e*crite au crayon, en franca is portant au
verso l'adresse du Commandant de la Prison Juiilitaire et le 'tim-
bre de la Poste de tfroissy 24-7-45 Oise;

n°8 comraencant *u ^ecto par "Moi 3eulement" et se terminant
au verso, par "notre premier veu (?);

n°

9

comraencant au recto, par "inform* comrae tous" e . se ter-
minant au verso, par "je l'ai";

n° 10 coramencant, au recto, par"un mot encore" et se terminan
au verso, par "cette quantitt'";

n° II comraencant au recto, par "contre d'une visite" e L se
terminant, au verso, par "encore rien";

n° ia , commengant p.-»r "uatres teraoins" et se terminant p->r

"Prison";

n° I

j

inscriptions au crayon portees sur le dos de la coaver-
ture d'un opuscule "Wermsacht Shrachrunrer"

;

n° 14 inscriptions au crayon, en langue allemande, port^'es sur
quatre pages de garde d'un livre religjeux en langue Hile»Tinnde

.

Prions, en outre, de nous renvoyer la pr^ente Conv!ii;

sion rogatoire avec le3 prucl-s-verbaux d ' inform** t ion £rp-3n* u er.



consequence , ainsi que toutes les pieces qu'il y aurait lieu
tie r<'di(r,er pour son execution, coniormi<ment :x la loi.

a Paris, le six Aout
Le Juge <]' instruct 1 on inilitaire - .

ijerraent pro'alnblem<9nt pr*l;r'
f avuns rempli comrue suit,

lft mission a nous confine.

Le .9 Aout 194 l

j» en raSne l,ero|s que 1 • ..rdjnnance nous

comroettant, Monsieur le Commit-Haire du u ivp "norntn I pf«\>s le

Tribunal Mlitnire terin^npn!; de Paris riwua le&ettait plusieurs

documents h photo&ra pnier , ru rue rut.- a de I a 14, ayant trait h

un nomrae' GJiiilvoTisIK, Kurt, incalpt* a'assnssinat.

Ces documents ;nt vtt repruduita ynu togr^phiquement

recto et versu en vraie grnnde u , en qua ire exemplaires et sent

•juintb au present rapiurt.

i Nous cerLifions que cea r*pri a-.*i; U -ns s^nt ri&oureuse-

ment conformes aux documents uri^maux.

Le document n0 !^, n't-lant pas ju+nt a 1 ' ordonnance .

celui-ci n*a pu ?tre reprudui t.

D'autrp part, nous ^icnalont> que lea documents du n°l4 ,

concernant le livre religi«»ux» i'i#i r*>r; , iy-r ./lenient sur Ips

qi^atre pages de garde, maia ^£al*7jpnt ;.;ur vin^l leuillets, h

1 • intf-rieur da livre. Nous avuns done ju^-' ut.ile de tous les re-

produire.



postmark of Froissy 24-7-45 Cise;

No. 8 beginning on the front with "I only" and ending on the

reverse with "our first (sight?)";

No. 9 beginning on the front with "informed like all" and ending on
the reverse with "I have it";

No. 10 beginning on the front with "one word more" and ending on
the reverse with "this quantity";

No. 11 beginning on the front with "against one visit" and ending
on the reverse with "again nothing";

No. 12 beginning with "Four witnesses" and ending with "Prison";

No. 13 writings in pencil on the back of the cover of a pamphlet
"Wermaacht ShrachfUhrer" ;

No. 14 writings in pencil, inthe German language, on four flyleaves
of a religious book in German.
We request, moreover, to return to us the present rogatory commis-

sion with the information reports raised in consequence, together with
all the documents which it may be necessary to draw up for its

execution, in conformity with the law.

At Paris, the six August 1945, the Military Examining Magistrate.

Signed: M. MATTEI

Oath previously sworn, we have fulfilled as follows the mission

assigned to us.

On 9 August 1945, at the same time as the instruction entrusted to

us, Monsieur the Government Commissioner at the Permanent Mili-

tary Tribunal of Paris sent us several documents to photograph,
numbered 1 to 14, relating to one named GERNSTEIN (sic), Kurt,

accused of murder.

These documents have been copied photographically front and
reverse in their true dimensions, in four copies, and are attached to the

present report.

We certify that these copies conform exactly with the original

documents.

The documentNo. 12, not being attached to the instruction, it has
not been possible to copy it.

On the other hand, we advise that the documentsNo 14, relating to

the religious book, appear not only on the four flyleaves, but also on
twenty leaves, at the inside ofthe book. Accordingly, we havejudged
it useful to copy them all.

(Signature)

Police Report

Commissariat ofPolice of the Quarter Notre-Dame-des-Champs.
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The year one thousand nine hundred and forty-five and the 25 July.

Despatch to the Medico-Legal Institute: We, C. LeGall, continuing

the information, sent the body of the named Gerstein to the Medico-

Legal Institute for an autopsy. Commissaire of Police (signature)

Declaration of Decease: Please note that the declaration of decease

has been made by my orders to the Town Hall of the VI arrondisse-

ment. Commissaire of Police (signature)

Transmission: We are sending the present report to Monsieur the

Public Prosecutor with the receipt of the Medico-Legal Institute.

Commissaire of Police (signature and stamp) (date and other details

repeated.

Suicide by hanging— Gerstein Affair: We, C. LeGall, Commis-
saire ofPolice ofthe Town of Paris, more specially responsible for the

District of NOTRE-DAME-DES-CHAMPS, Officer of the Judicial

Police, and auxiliary to Monsieur the Prosecutor of the Republic, are

informed by the Commandant of the Military Prison, 36 rue du

Cherche Midi, that today a prisoner named Gerstein (Kurt) has been

found hanged in his cell. We proceed to the place— of the inquiry

made by M. the Commandant of the prison as by—
1M. Gascard (Marcel), 45 years, Warrant Officer, military

supervisor,

2 M. Andreucci (Noel), military supervisor

3 M. Entz (L6on), 41 years, Sergeant-Major, military supervisor.

It appears that the named Gerstein, of German nationality, was
detained in this prison since the 5th. instant, being charged with war

crimes, murders, and complicity, M. the Commandant MATTEI,
Military Examining Magistrate at the 2nd. Military Tribunal of Paris,

being charged with the examination.

Gerstein occupied cell No. 23, on the 2nd. floor of the detention

building, on the (boulevard) Raspail side. He was alone.

Today at 14 hours the supervisor Entz opened the cell to bring out

Gerstein. He found the latter hanged. He immediately called his

colleagues Gascard and Andreucci. The three took Gerstein down.

The fire brigade (first aid) were also immediately called but the

doctor was able only to confirm the death.

Gerstein left several letters in which he made known his intention

to commit suicide. They were produced to us. They must be forwarded

to Commandant Mattei, examining magistrate.

We went to cell 23 . This cell is narrow. Ithas only a fan light for light

and ventilation. In the interior ofthe fan light there is a grilled shutter.

This shutter is pulled down. There is at the edge, in the center, a ring.

It is through this ring that Gerstein passed a small string made from the

selvage of his bed-cover, which he tore up. The witnesses say that he

was hanging with his face to the wall, his knees nearly touching the
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floor of the cell.

Gerstein's body was laid on a straw mattress. He was dressed in a

shirt and trousers. On the forepart of the neck a deep violet-colored

furrow is visible which corresponds with the small cord. His face

seems calm. One notices on the body no other traces of violence. One
notices no traces of a struggle in the cell. (Erasures) The body is still

supple. The extremities are becoming cold.

At the prison registry we note as follows the civilian status of the

deceased - GERSTEIN (Kurt) born the 1 1 August 1905 at Munster

(Westphalia) ofLudwig and of Clara Schemann, domiciled at Hagen

(Westphalia), nationality German. (Signature and stamp)

Document concerning attachment of photocopies to reports

The year one thousand nine hundred and forty-five, the 10 October.

We, Mathieu Matt6i, Commandant ofMilitary Justice, MilitaryEx-

amining Magistrate of the 2nd. Permanent Military Tribunal of Paris

In view of the examination proceedings against GERSTEIN, Kurt,

as principle in murders and complicity.

In view of our rogatory commission dated 6 April 1945 25 requiring

M. the Director of Judicial Identity to photograph the documents

enumerated within.

In view of the two reports of M. the Director of Judicial Identity

dated 9 October 1945, the documents returned, and their photographs.

Wejoin the file ofinformation, intwo envelopes carrying the stamp
of the Military Examining Magistrate, 1 The original documents,

2 their photographs, concerning all ofwhich we draw up the present

report which we sign with our Court Clerk.

The Military Examining Magistrate (stamp and signature)

The Clerk of the Court (stamp and signature)

Comparative Tables Of the Principle Differences

Between the "Confessions"

We have extracted the passages which appeared to us significant in

each of the six "confessions" and have placed them side by side in

eight columns, making one column for each of the texts indicated in

parentheses (T I,T II,T III,T IV,TVI) and three columns forT V, since

this text appears in three versions (T Va, T Vb and T Vc).

A ninth column is reserved for observations: one will find there in

particular:

Reflections arising from the phrases quoted;

A statement of the errors and distortions of the texts published by

certain authors;
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Table A
TI Til tiii TIV TVa TVb TVc TVI Observations

|

"to the bottom of this sorcerers'

pot"

. . .1 had only one wish: to see, to see

into all this*machinery and then: cry

out to all the people!

(Identical to T I)

I decided in any event to throw a

glance in these ovensandthesecham-

bers in order to know what was going

Gerstein seems to know, in advance,

what he will see: ovens and cham-

ders.

!

(Identical to T I and T E)

. . .1 had only one wish, to see right to

the bottom of this sorcerer's pot and

to communicate to the people what I

see there, be it at the risk ofmy life.

(Identical to TVa)
(Identical to T Va and T Vb)

. . .1 had only one wish:

"

yourself to see into this

dron and make known t

what is happening, even i

your life.

ou must go

evil's caul-

> the people

tt the risk of

these ovens and these chambers," have been translated by

Leon Poliakov and JosefWulfby "in these places" (Hie R. et

J., page 109).

It is surprising that a German Protestant should write in the

same tone ofthe crematorium ovens, widely used inGermany

at that period, and the poison gas chambers. Such an attitude

would surprise less coming from a Catholic, hostile—at least

at mat time— to the incineration of cadavers.

The recommendationsofthe Gestapo
Supplied with two references from

the two employees of the Gestapo
having dealt with my case, it was not

difficult to enter into the SS Army.
(Gerstein is making allusion to the

two arrests of which he was the ob-

ject, theonein 1936 atSaarbruck, and
the other in 1938 at Stuttgart, this

latter having been followed by a stay

of some weeks in a concentration

camp.)

(Identical to T I)

Almost the same as T I and T n.

One additional sentence: These gen-

tlemen were of the opinion that my
idealism, which they probably ad-

mired, wouldnot fail toservetheNazi

cause.

(Almost the same as T US) (Almost the same as Tm and T IV.)

One additional sentence: "It is thus

that they themselves showed me the

road to take."

(Identical to TVa)

(Identical to T Va and T Vb)

(Almost the same as T \

TVc)
a, T Vb and

OK.C.G.:

Question: How were you able to join this organization after

having been yourself arrested several times by the Gestapo?

Answer: I did nothing but accept the suggestion that the

subalterns of the Gestapo had made me, at the time of my
second arrest

Gerstein becomes an officerofthe SS
. . .Formy successes, Isucceededsoon
to lieutenant.

(Gerstein is alluding to his contribu-

tion to the work of his disinfection

service in stemming, in 1941, a ty-

phus epidemic in the camps.)

(Identical to T I)

By reason of my successes, I soon

passedsub-lieutenantandlieutenant.

The German text reads: "wurde ich

bald Leutnant und Oberleutnant,"

(Identical to T I and T II)

Soon, I become sublieutenant, then

lieutenant.
;

(Identical to TVa) (Identical to T Va and T Vb)

That is why I very qui

sublieutenant and then lit

German text reads: "ich

sehrbaULeaXnantvndO

utenanLThe

wurde daher
5erleutnant."

Wehrmacht, but not in the SS. In reality, Gerstein became

soon (bald) or very soon (sehr bald) Untersturnifuhrer (pro-

moted 1st November 1941); on the other hand, it was neces-

sary forhim to await the 20th April 1943, that is eightmonths

after his visit to the camps ofBelzec and Treblinka, in order

to be promoted Obersturmfiihrer.

In the textscomposed inFrench, Gerstein gives theequivalent

French rank. It is difficult to understand why the incorrect

ranks should be given in the texts composed in German.

Expulsion? Yes—Execution? No
. . .the judge of the NSDAP who had
sentenced my expulsion, made great

pfFnTtc tn Vmnt molo w jiuill II1C. .

.

(Identical toTI)

. . .the tribunal which had ordered my
expulsion from the party had knowl-

edge of my entry into the SS to a

positional of command.

December 1941, the tribunal which

had ordered my expulsion out of the

NSDAP received knowledge of my
entry into the SS army.

. . .the party tribunal that had decided

my execution, having learned that I

was infiltrated into an EM. of SS.

(E.M. = Etat-Major = Mail uincer.;

Let us remember T Va was written

outby theFrench serviceofO.R.C.G.

(Identical to TVa)

(Identical to T Va and T Vb)

In conformity with its original, that is

T Vb, the English translation reads:

- my execution

—EM. ofthe S.S. (The initialsEM.
are meaningless in English.)

(Almost the same dsTEI)

1

of the poor quality of this text, which was not composed by

Gerstein. The writers of this report of the interrogation have

misread the writing or misunderstood the answers of the

accused, who did not, moreover, put his signature to the

various pages of the interrogation.

Prussic acid: 100 kgs or265 kgs?

. . .He (Guenther) gaveme theorder to

take 100 kgs of prussic acid. .

.

(Identical to T I)

He (Gunther) gave me the order to

have brought immediatelyfor an ul-

tra-secretmissionrelating to theReich

100 kg of prussic acid. .

.

He (Gunther) gave me the order to

obtain at once 260 kg of prussic acid

for an extremely secret purpose. .

.

"With many mysterious allusions, he

(Gunther) gives me the order to ob-

tain forhim260 kgs ofprussic acid. .

."

(Identical to TVa)
(Identical to T Va and T Vb) (Almost the same isTm)

100 kgs or 260 kgs? The difference is unexplained. To

Commandant Mattel, examining magistrate at the Military

Tribunal of Paris who interrogated him the 19 July 1945,

Gerstein replied thathehadhimselffixed the quantity accord-

ino tn tht* injiH ranaritv ofthe vehicle with which he travelled.

This is a contradiction with the whole of the "confessions"

where Gerstein speaks of having received an order.

The rumor ofKollin (Bohemia-Mo-
ravia)

(Nothing) (Nothing)

At the factory at Collin, Ihad purpos-

esly thrown outhints that theacid was
intended to kill human beings.

At Collin I had given to understand

that the acid was intended to kill

people.

"At Kollin, in the prussic acid fac-

tory, I made it clear to the personnel,

by maladroit technical questions, that

the prussic acid was intended to kill

human beings. I did the same thing

each time, this being the best way to

start rumors among the people."

(Identical to T Va)

(Identical to T Va and T Vb)

At Kollin, I had given to

by purposely maladr

questions to the Czech

the factory, that the hyd

was intended to kill hui

(Thecontinuation isidei

c understand,

:it technical

personnel of

iocyanicacid

nan beings.

licaltoT Va)

IfGersteinreally acted ashe sayshe did, onecan think that the

Czechworkerstookhim for aprovocateur. Ishenotfrightened

ofpossible informers? In otherpassages, heprofesseshimself

toteverypmdenttecauseofmerisksof

and his family.



Table B
TI Til tiii TIV TVa

*—
TVb TVc TVI Observations

The SS General Globocnik is too
trusting.
Having stillaplace in the car, Ihad taken with

methe SSOberstunnbaimfuhrerProfessorDr.

PfannenstieL Globocnic says to us: This thing

is one of the most secret that there is. Anyone
who speaks of it will be shot immediately.

Yesterday, two talkers died.

(Very close to T I)

Tt iq QTwifif>/1* fhic rhino

and even the most secret.

With us, ratherby chance,was ProfessorPfan-

nenstieL..

(Follows very closely T II)

(Almost the same as TIE)

A place being free in the

question, I am accompanies

SS Oberstunnbannfuhrer P
Doctor PfannenstieL .

.

—Follows Tm very closely

car in

by the

rofessor

(Identical to TVa) (Identical to T Va and T Vb) (Almost the same as T V)

Charged with an ultra-secret mission, he says, Gerstein takes in

his car a passenger whom he does not know. The General

Globocnik who, it seems, has never previously met either

Gerstein orPfannenstiel doesnothesitate,fromthe firstcontact,

to speak openly to them of the "biggest secret of the State.**

A disarming candor from all concerned, if there really were

ultrasecret matters.

DidGerstein visit . Maidanek? Did he
visit Sobibor?

(Identical to T I)

1 Belzec •1 Belcec 2 Sobibor

3 Treblinka 4 Maidane

(Identical to TVa) (Almost the same as T Va and T Vb)

In the English text, one reads: "Ex-

cept the last, I visited.

.

1 Belcec 2 Sobibor

3 Treblinka 4 Maidanek

IhavevmtedBelcec, TreblinkaandMa'idan-

eck accompanied by the Head of all these

installations for putting to death, the Cap-

tain of Police Wirth, in a thorough manner

and while functioning.

Maidanek (seen in 5 out of 6 texts), Sobibor (seen in 1 text out of 6): the

contradiction is unexplained. It has escaped Leon Poliakov who writes

(MJ. 1964, page 7) in juxtaposing extracts from two confessions:Accompanied by the head of all th^se death

factories, the captain of police Wirth, I

thoroughly inspected all these places with

the exception ofMaidanneck.
3 Treblinca (seen)

4 Maidanneck ... (seen in preparation)

Belcec, Treblinka andMaidanek I personally

inspected, accompanied by. .

.

4 Maidanek seen in preparation. /> CaIm'w r\r\t coati A MaYHanerk seen in UTCOSIdtlOTi.L oODlDOr . not seen " jyiaiuauvvik ..

With the exception of this last, I have inspected in detail all the camps..."

Saul Friedlander has recopied Leon Pdiakov (K.G. page 99).

What have the Danishpeople got to do
here? ".

. .ten or twenty times the result

of the Spinnstoff-Sammlung (textiles

collection), which was done only to

conceal the origin of clothing. .

.

"

(Identical to T I)

The collection oftextiles has in factbeen done
only in order to explain the origin of the

clothes for the workers in the East, etc. . . .and

present them as the outcome of the sacrifice

accepted by the German people.

All this collection is only made to

conceal the origin ofJewish cloth-

es, Polish, Czech, etc. Truly, the

result of our installations is 10-20

times that of all these collections!

Ifeveryyearwecollectclothesamong
thcDanishpeople, that isonlydoneto

camouflage...

1

(Identical to T Va)

(Almost the same as T Va and T Vb)

In this accurate English translation,

one reads: "...clothes among the

Danes"

All these collections are only made
for the essential purpose of making
plausible in some way for the foreign

workers and the German people the

origin...

Danishpeople, insteadofGerman people: this is anew example

of thepoor quality ofT V. Perhaps a careless transcriberread in

a handwritten German text "danisch" (Danish) instead of

"deutsch" (German)?

Gerstein gives details of the disinfec-

tion ofthe clothing.

(nothing)
(nothing)

Iafterwards discussed with firms capable of this work
the possibility of disinfecting such quantities of tex-

tiles— which related toa stock alone ofabout 40,000
tons—60 fulltrains ofmerchandise—in the existing

laundries and disinfection establishments. But it was
completely impossibletoplace such large orders. Iput

to profit all these negotiations to make known or let

cleverly be understood the fact of the murder of the

Jews. Globocnek then expressed himself satisfied that
all this heap should be sprayed with detenoline so that

it would have the smell of disinfection— which was
then done.

(nothing)

i

(nothing) (nothing)

(nothing)

(nothing)

Thispassageonly exists inTIE. It is in theformofahandwritten

halfpagecarrying, at the top on the left, themention"zu7."This

half page is insertedbetween the halfpage numbered 7 and the

half page numbered 8.

This insertion in T IE of a rather technical handwritten text

which has no equivalent in the other "confessions'* gives rise to

the reflections which we shall develop in our chapter: Authen-

ticity of the "confessions."

Lindner or Linden?

Then the Ministerialdirektor Dr. Lind-

ner of Innenministerium. .

.

(Identical to T I)

The ministerial counsellor, Dr. Herbert Lind-
ner who accompanied him 1

...

1. Hitler. (nothing)

He (Hitler) was accompaniec

ministerial counsellor, Dr.

Linden...

1 by the

Herbert

(Identical to TVa)
(Identical to T Va and T Vb)

"In his company 1 there was also the

ministerial Counsellor Dr. Herbert

Linden of the Ministry of the Reich.**

i

The ministerial counsellor was named Linden and not Lindner. In all the

texts, it is written that Dr. Linden accompanied Hitler on his visit of 15

August 1942 (the day before yesterday, as Gerstein visits Belcec on 17

August Leon Poliakov, for a reason unknown to us, writes: "The Dr.

Herbert Lindner who was with us yesterday [that is to say 16August, the

day after the pretended visit of Hitler] (Breviare de la Haine, 1951, 221;

1960, 221; 1974, 292; 1979, 221; Monde Jwf, 1504, i.)

HansRothfelshas Aiytoricfl//yestabUshedthatHiaerdidiK>tleavehisGHQ

of the Eastern Front on 15 August 1942.

Dimensions of the garages

Afterhavingmounted a small stairway,

to the right and the left, three and three

roomslikegarages,4x5m, 1.90inheighL

(Identical to T I)

...a small stairway and afterwards to right and

to left respectively threerooms of5x5 meters,

1 .90m high, with doors ofwood like garages,

vrioie uie simple aoors oi wooq.j

(nothing)

...only the gas chambers co;

therightofthecorridor situab

"bathhouse." To right and

three rooms like garages 5x

1.90 high.

ning to

4 in the

to left,

5m and (Identical to TVa)
(Identical to T Va and T Vb)

In the bathroom itself, set one side

and theotrjerofacorridor, threerooms

on each side, almost like garages, of

5x5meters inareaand 1.90m inheight

In the "confessions** afterT I, Gerstein speaks of a gaschamber

of25m2
. Thus thedimensions of5mx5m aremore plausible than

those of4mx5m. The height is lm90, which gives a volume of

47.5m3
. Furtheron, the engineer speaks of45m

3
. Pleasenote mat

Gersteindoesnotqualify hisvariousdimensionswith theadverb

about. L6on Poliakov suppresses this passage withoutnotifying

his readers (op. cit.)

Brass or wrought iron?

On the roof, the star of David in brass. (Identical to T I)

On the roof, by way of a "subtlejoke," the star

of David!

(nothing) We then find ourselves in fr

building like a bath-institute

little stairway ofwrought ire

(No star of David.)

Mit of a

with a
n. (Identical to T Va)

(Identical to T Va and T Vb)
On the roolf, in theguiseofa weather-

vane, the jstar of David in wrought
ircm fThe star nf David has here ft

utilitarian |nole; it is a weathervane.)

Itis aminor detail ofthe"confessions."Butwe shallneverknow

whether the star of David was in brass or wrought iron. In T V,

tVioi-o io nn ctar nf Oavirl* it ic thf stflirwav which is in WTOUChtmere is no siur ui laivivi, u jus uiv/ suuiwoj "hiv" *** ***

iron. !
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The submarines will stop prowling

in the sea.

(Nothing)

(Nothing) (Nothing) (Nothing)

At this moment already, Ipredict to everybody

that soon the submarines will stop prowling the

sea, for the most efficient army must lose its

fiehtine soirit if ithas been stained with rivers of

innocent blood. In fact, events provedme right a

little time afterwards.

(Identical to TVa) (Identical to T Va and T Vb) /foretold even then to many people that these

submarines would soon navigate no longer, be-

cause this weapon so ingenious would become
uiiuiicu 11 11 were siainca. wiin nuuua oi lnnuccni

blood. God would arrange things in such a way
that they would not work any more. And, in fact,

a little time later, events proved me right!

Theseverbal imprudences of"God's spy," so-calledby Pierre

Joffroy , recall the rumor ofKollin, which we have previously
mentioned. How can we fail to notice the messianic tone of

uiese passages i

Gerstein joins in with the prayers

of the victims.

A great many say their prayers. (Identical to T I)

Manypray .Ipray withthem. I squeeze

myselfinto acornerand I cry in a loud

voice to my god and to theirs. How I

wouldhaveloved to go intothecham-

bers with them, how I would have

loved to die their death. They would

then have found an SS officer in uni-

form in their chambers. They would

have interpreted and treated the affair

as an accident and it would have been

quietly shelved. ButI stilldo nothave

the right, Imust first reveal what I see

here!

(Nothing)

Some turn towards me: "Oh, Mister, help us,

help us!"Many pray. Icannotyet givethem help.

I pray with them, I press myselfinto a corner and

I cry to theirGod and tomy God in a loud voice.

I can permit myself this; there is enough noise

around me. Withwhatjoy would I nothavegone

toward them into this chamber, with what joy

would I not have died their death. On finding an

.SS officer in uniform in their chamber, the mur-

derers wouldneverhavesupposed that thatcould

be a protestonmy part. They wouldhave consid-
ered it an accident and my epitaph would have

been: 'Dead for his beloved Ftthrer, in execution

of his important duty for the Ftthrer. * No, that

won't do. I do notyethave therightto yield to the

temptation to die with these people. I know
enough about it. Wirth has told me: "There are

not ten persons who have seen what I have seen

and who will see it: the auxiliary foreignperson-

nel will be executed at the end." I am one ofthe

five men who have seen all these installations.

There is certainlynotoneofthem, apartfromme,

who sees this as an adversary, as anenemy ofthis

gang ofmurderers; so, I must still live to cry out

what I have seen here Tmlv this must be much™ ***** X 11*4 » w iJWJ A. AAV1 W« X X *** T f 11 lliJ 111 * IAf 111Vtwj 1

more difficiult, I must live and make it known.

(Identical to T Va) (Identical to T Va and T Vb)

1

Some address themselves to me: Oh, Mister,

help us, buthelpus! Mkny pray. But Icannothelp

them, I pray with them, I squeeze myself into a

corner and cry in a loud voice to my God and to

theirs. There is enough noise around me, I can

allow myself to cry in a loud voice to my God.

How I would have wished to enter the death

chambers with them; how I would have wished

to share their death. They would then haveJEound

an SS officer in uniform in their chambers; they

would not have protested for that; they would

haveconsidered the thjng an accident; onewould

have announced in reference to me: "Died in

service for his beloved Ftthrer faithfully served

in the execution of an important task for the

ReichsfQhrer. .
." No, ^hat won't do. I cannot yet

yield to the temptation to die with these people.

I know it well: there are not 10 persons who see

whatl see and what I have seen,whohave aview
of the whole here, on all the installations and

their organization. Certainly, not one apart from

me sees this as an adversary, as an enemy of this

gang of murderers. Soil must live and first of all

make known what I see here. To be sure, this is

uie most auucuii service, very aiincuii!

|

j

The brevity of the texts of26 April contrasts with the lyricism

of the texts of 6 May. Text HI, text of 4 May presents a

"reasonable" digest of the rather delirious passages of6 May.

In a handwritten note in English given by Gerstein to the

Allied investigatorson 5May 1945,onereadsnotably: "I have

seen, no more than 5 othershave seen, and these were nazies."

In a document found after Gerstein 's death, numbered 12 by

the military Examining Magistrate and "mislaid" between the

Military Justice department and the Judicial Identity Service,

where it should have been photographed, the first words have

been preserved: "Four witnesses" and the last word: "prison."

Gerstein was going to express, in this document, the same idea

as in the note in English.

Leon Poliakov has quoted a passage ofT V in the review Le

Monde Juif (1964, January/March, page 8) which he repro- :

duces very approximately. In fact, he has suppressed the

following phrases, without informing his readers:

1. "Icanpermitmyselfthis; there is enough noisearoundme."

2. "...the murderers would never have supposed that that
|

could be a protest on my part."

3. "...and my epitaph would have been: 'dead for his well-

loved Fuehrer, in execution of his important duty for the

ruenrer.

In addition, instead of "I am one of the five men who have

seen. .
." Leon Poliakov writes ".

. .1 am one of the rare men
who have seen..."

Almost 150 persons per freight car.

Truly after some minutes, the first

train arrived from Lemberg. 45 cars,

containing 6,700 persons, 1,450 al-

ready dead on their arrival...200

Ukrainians. . .wrench open the doors

and with leather horsewhips, they

chase the people out of the cars.

(Identical to T I) (Almost the same as T I and T II) (Nothing)

(Almost the same as the preceding texts)

(Identical to T Va) ! (Identical to T Va and T Vb) (Almost the same as T V)
1. 6,700 persons in 45 freight cars, this is a constant in five

texts out of six. Leon Poliakov writes: "45 cars, containing

more than 6,000 persons (Breviaire de la Haine, 195 1 , 222;

1960, 222; 1974, 293; 1979, 222. Le Monde Juif, 1964, 8).

2. The Ukrainians chase the people:

— in the German texts: Leute;— in the English text: people.

Leon Poliakov writes: ".
. .they chased the Jews. .

." (op. cit.)

j. i^eon JroiioKOV nas suppressed me pnidso. ± oucauy

dead on their arrival." (Breviaire de la Haine, same biblio-

graphical references as above.)

j
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The little boyand hislengths ofstring

(In the background, a pile of shoes of

varying height)

...With small string, given by a little

Jewishboy of3-4years, tojoin together

the shoes...

(Almost the same as T I)

"Carefully tie up the shoes (for the

clothing collection), because, in the

pilemore than25 metershigh, no one

would have been able to retrieve the

pairs.

(No little boy.)

(Nothing)

A little Jewish boy ofthree years receives an

armful ofstrings whichhe distributes thought-

fully to theothers; it is intended to tie theshoes

together, for never could anyone retrieve the

assorted pairs in a pile 35 to 40 meters high.

(Identical to T Va)

Identical to T Va and T Vb,

except the lastphrase which in

the English text reads: "in a

heap of boots of several me-
ters."

Under the arm of a little Jewish boy! someone

presses a handful of strings, which the child of

three years, distraught, distributes to people: to

tie the shoes together! For, in the pile < >f35 or40

meters high, no one could have aftejrwards re-

trieved the matching shoes.

The little boy of 3 years "distraught" (T VI), distributes the strings
t4
thoughtfully"

(T V).Ishealoneinthisdistribution to 5,250Uvmg deportees whojustdescendedfrom
the train? Gerstein speaks only ofhim. In August 1942, Gerstein was himselffatherof
alittieboy of2V2 years.§ThepUeofshoeswa^^
In the one case as in the other, it is difficult to imagine that one could place a pair of

shoes ataheightbetween7 and 12stories. § L6onPoliakovhassuppressedthesentence
concerning the little boy (op. cit., 1951, 1960, 1979, page 222; 1974, page 293).

Thirty persons standing on lm2

. . .Thenakedmen are standing on each

other's feet, 700-800 to 25 m2
, 45 m3

!

The doors close.

. . .themen in the four chambers already

filled live, live, 4 times750persons to4

times 45m3!"

(Identical to T I)

The people are so squeezed together

thatthey aretramplingoneach other's

feet, 700-800on25 square meters, in

45 cubic meters. The SS men press

them physically one against the other

asmuch as they can. Thedoors close.

. . .the people remain alive in these 4

chambers, 4 times 750 persons in 4

times 45 cubic meters.

(Nothing)

They are stepping on one another's feet. From

700 to 800 human beings on 25m2
, on 45m3

. 1

recapitulate, more than halfare children, aver-

age weight maximum 30 kgs, specific weight

1 , thus25250 kgs ofmen per chamber. Wirth

is right; with the help of the SS, 750 persons

can be stowed in 45m3 and the SS help with

their whips and put in the oven as much as

physically possible. The doors close.

[Please note the average unit weight of 50kgs

and the total weight stated of 25,250 kgs. But

25,250 is not divisible by 30.]

(Identical to TVa)
(Identical to T Va and T Vb)

Thepeople are stepping on each other's feet, 700

to 800 persons on 25 meters square in 45 cubic

meters. Imakeanestimate: average weight at the

most 35 kg, more than half are children, specific

weight 1, thus 25,250 kg of human j>eings per

chamber. Wirth is right, if the SS men push a

little,one canmake750persons enter in45 cubic
meters! And the SS men push them, |with their

horsewhips andcompel them to enter, asmuch as

is physically possible. The doors close.

[Note the average unit weight of35 kg. this time

(not 30) and the precise total weightjof 25,250

kg. But 25,250 isn't divisible by 35 either.]

700 to 800 persons standing on25m2
, in45m3

, is a constantofthe "confessions." There

aremanynon-revisionist authorswhohavechangedeitherthe surface area, orthenum-
ber ofpersons, and suppressed the cubic volume. The following list is not exhaustive:
Leon Poliakov replaces the25m2 by93m2 and eliminates on two occasions the45m3 (op. cit. 1951,

1960, 1979, page 223; 1974, page 294; MJ. 1964, page 9); he does not say they are standing.

Saul Friedlander (op. cit., page 106) and Francois Delpech (Hist, et Geo. 1979, page 630) have

recopied L6on Poliakov.

Gideon Hausner realistically rounds off at 100m2 the surface area given by Leon Poliakov (Just

Jems. French translation, page 228).

Lucy S. Dawidowicz writes that each Jew had "one square foot,** which would given 675m2 for

750persons QVar against theJews, page 148). The French translation ofthebook suggests 30cm2
(l)

per person (op. cit. page 240).

RobertNeumann respects them2 and them3
; but he brings down thenumberofvictims from 700/

800 to 1701180, repeating the discrepancy some lines further on by writing "the people are

living...four times 175 persons in four times 45m3 (Hitler/Au/fr. u. Unterg. page 192).

Gerstein records the times carefully

...Heckenholt [operator of the Diesel

motor] endeavors to gettheDieselgoing.

BuUtdoesnotwork! HauptmannWirth

arrives. One sees, he is frightened, be-

cause me, I see the disaster. Yes, I see

and wait My 'stop' watch has timed

everything— 50 minutes, 70 minutes

— the Diesel does not work! The men

are waiting in their chamber. . . .After 2

hours 49 minutes— the "stop" watch

has recorded everything— the Diesel

starts. ... Again25minutes pass: a great

many, it is true, are dead. One sees by

the little window through which the

electric lightallowsone to see, foramo-

ment, the interior ofthe chamber. After

28 minutes still afewwho survive, after

32, finally, all are dead!

(Almost the same as T I)

...Heckenholt is the operator of the

diesel engine... But the diesel does

notwork! CaptainWirth arrives. One
sees that he is annoyed that it should

have to happen today just when I am
here. Yes, I seeeverything and I wait.

My stopwatch has cleverly recorded

eveiything. 50 minutes, 70 minutes,

the Diesel does not start. The people

wait in their gas chambers... At the

end of 2 hours 49 minutes — the

stopwatch has recorded everything

— the Diesel starts. . . .Oncemore, 25

minutes pass . . . many arenow dead,

one sees it through the small window

in which the electric light illuminates

thechamber for an instant. At theend

of28 minutes on ly some still live, at

the end of 32 minutes everyone is

dead.

(Nothing)

. . .Hockelchoc1
is the operator of the diesel. .

.

But the diesel machine does not work. I am
told this is quite rare. Wirth arrives. One sees

that it is painful to him that the should happen

just today when I am there. Yes, I see every-

thing and I hear everything; my watch has

recorded everything well, 50 minutes, 70
minutes, the diesel does not start; humanity is

waiting in these chambers in vain. One hears

them weep and sob "like in the synagogue"

remarks Professor Pfannenstiel whohas glued
hisearagainst thewoodendoor. CaptainWirth
beats with a whip the Ukrainian who should

help Hockelchoc in the start-up of the diesel.

After 2 hours and 49 minutes, my stopwatch

hasrecorded it, the diesel starts. . . .Another 25

minutes pass. It is true thatmany aredead; one

seesthrough the littlewindow illuminating the

chamber for an instant with electric light.

Wirth has interviewedme in detail in order to

know whether I consider it preferable to let

these people die in a dark room or a lighted

one. He asks this in the same tone that one

asks: 'Do youprefer to sleep with orwithouta

cushion?Doyou like your coffee with orwith-

out milk?' 2

28 minutes later, rare are those who still live.

Finally, after 32 minutes, all aredead; Iam told

that this is the normal time in order to kill.

1 . Hockelchocon threeoccasions inthe text instead of

Heckenholt: one example among others of the poor

quality of T Va, a text drawn up by the O.R.C.G.

2. Astonishing reflections by Gerstein regarding a

hardly credible question from Wirth.

(Identical toTVa with one small

exception: One reads: 26 min-

utes instead of 28; one can think

that this is a typing error.)

(Identical to T Vb)

One finds again here ihe 26

minutes, which isnormal since

T Vc is the English translation

ofTVb.

Heckenholt is the operator of the diesel... But

the diesel was not working. This happened rela-

tively seldom, I am told. Captain Wirth arrives.

One can see that it is unpleasant to him that this

happens just today, when I am here. jjut, yes, I

see everything! And I wait. My stopwatch has

quietly recorded eveiything. 50 minutes, 70

minutes, the diesel does not start! Thepeople are

waiting in their gas chambers. . . At the end of 2

hours 49 minutes— the stopwatch has recorded

everything— the diesel starts. . . Again 25 min-

utes pass. It is accurate, many are deadnow. One
sees it through the little spy-window, through

which the electric light illuminates the chamber

foraninstant Wirthhad questionedmeminutely

to know whether I found it better tomake people

die in a lighted room or without light!He asked

this in the tone in which one asks whether one

sleeps better with orwithout a bolster. At theend

of28 minutes, onlysomesurvived. Finally, atthe

end of 32 minutes, all are dead.

Gerstein was charged by an SS General to proceed with the disinfection large

quantitiesoftextiles; hestays onlyoneday atBelzec. Butheseems tohavehad thetime

to stay inactive for 3 hours 21 minutes (2.49 + 32 minutes), his eye fixed eitheron his

stopwatch, or on the spy-window where he follows the progress of death in the gas

chambers. He is impassive, when just a little while before he was praying with the

victims and was wishing to experience thesamedeath as them. His precise timing with

the stopwatch is hardly reconcilable with the supposed "errors" in the surface area and

volume of the gas chamber, which presumably were due to a very profound emotion.

Leon Poliakov has deletedoneofthe dataofthe timekeeping,namely, the following

phrase: ". . .after 28 minutes, yet few who survive" (Brev. de la H., 1951, 1960, 1979,

page 223; 1974, page 294.)

Joe J. Heydecker and Johannes Leeb have replaced the 2 hours 40 minutes, length

of the breakdown of the diesel, by "nach etwa49 Minuten" (after about 49 minutes);

the form ofwords is surprising enough, for49minutes denote aprecise length oftime;
as for the adverb "about," iteliminates any possibility ofa typographical error (Nurnb.

Proz., page 460).
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Is this the work of a dentist?

...Two dozen workers busy them-

selves checking the mouths, which

they open by means of iron hooks. (Identical to T I)

...Two dozen dentists busy them-

selves checking the mouths with

hooks...

(Nothing)

Two dozen dentists open the mouths

with hooks and look for gold.

(Identical to T Va) (Identical to T Va and T Vb) (Identical t>TVa,TVb,andTVc)

Professor Hans Rothfels (V.j.H. page 191 note 47) has ex-

pressed doubts on the qualifications as dentists of these

members of the working parties. Reproducing T HI, which
was composed in German, he writes: "Workers, that seems
more credible, in the French text"

How to explain that in his mother tongue Gerstein uses a

less suitable word than in the French language, with which he
was not familiar?

Conditions favorable for the devel-

opment of an epidemic.

...Then the naked cadavers were

thrown into large pits of 100 x20 x 1

2

meters, situatednear the death cham-

bers After some days, the bodies

swelled and the whole rose 2-3 me-

tersbymeansofthegas whichformed

in the cadavers. After some days, the

swelling finished, the bodies fell to-

gether. Next day, the pits were filled

again and coveredwith 10cm ofsand.

Some time later— / heard— grills

were made of railway lines and the

cadavers were burned by means of

diesel oil and petrol, to make the

cadavers disappear."

["Some time later, Iheard." Thus, this

is not eyewitness evidence; more-

over, Gerstein stayed only one day at

Belzec.]

(Identical to T I)

...The naked cadavers were hauled

on wooden barrows 1 nearby into pits

of100by20by 12 meters. After afew

days the bodies swelled, but a little

later they settled so that it was pos-

sible to throwon another layer. Then

they werecovered with 10cm ofsand

from which some heads and arms

emerged.
1. In the German text: "Holztragen."

...Later another decison was taken.

The cadavers were burned with the

aid of gasoline and diesel oil on big

improvised grills made with railway

rails.

(Nothing)

...The naked cadavers were thrown

some metersfurtheraway, into pits of

100x 12 x 20meters. Somedays later,

these cadavers swell and afterwards

collapse heavily, which permits re-

covering them withanew layer, about

10 cm ofsand is thrown on top; there

are only afew arms and afew heads

sticking out" 1

Eventhecadavers already buriedwere

burned on grills made with rails with

the aid of petrol and heavy oils. 1

(Identical to T Va) (Identical to T Va and T Vb)

The naked corpses, on wooden carts 1

,

were thrown into 100 x 12 x 20 meter
pits a distance of only a few meters

away. Aftei! some days, fermentation

made the cadavers swell, then they

collapsed heavily a short time after-

wards, so that a new layer could be

thrown on top, then about 10 cm of
sand was spread on top, with the

result that only afew isolated heads

and arms stuck out.

1. In the German text: "Holzwagen."

. . .Thecadayers werethenburnedwith

the help ofpetrol and diesel oil on gi-

gantic grills improvised with railway

rails.

1

!

1

i

i

!

i

i

At the beginning ofhis "confessions," Gerstein told us that he
waspromoted to SS-officer inNovember 1941 , as areward for

his successes in the struggle against the epidemics in the

camps. Ten months later, he describes for us a situation in the

camp atBelzec which would have favored the development of
contagious diseases, from which the SS guards and their

auxiliaries would not have been safe.

Leon Poliakov deleted the following phrase: "Next day, the
ditches were filled again and covered with 10cm ofsand" (op.

cit. 1951, 1960, 1979,page 224; 1974, page 295/op. cit. 1964,

page 9.)

Joe J. Heydecker and Johannes Leeb made an addition of

theirown inventionplaced between brackets. One reads: "Die
Leichen sind dann (bei Annaherung der Russen) wieder

ausgegraben und auf groBen Rosten u.s.w.," which means,
"The cadavers were then (as the Russians drew near) disin-

terred and on large grills, etc." (op. cit. page 459).

During the war, Germany reserved its motor fuel for mili-

tary vehicles. Burning cadavers by the hundreds ofthousands
would have necessitated very large quantities of petrol and
heavy oils.

j

The historian Andre*Brissaud writes, in connection with the

incineration of the bodies of Hitler and Eva Braun in the

garden of the Chancellery: "180 liters of petrol could not

accomplish the incineration of the bones" (Hitl. et OM. page

393).

Were any mountains of bones found at the Belzec camp
after the war?
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The number of victims at Belzec and

Treblinka

At Belzec and at Treblinca, one did not

give oneself the trouble to count in a

fairly accurate manner the number of

men killed. If one had found the pass-

ports etc.... it would have related to a

very small part of all the number dead.

Most died nameless.

[No estimate of the number of dead.]

At Belcek and at Treblinca, no

one took the trouble to count in a

reasonably exact manner the

number ofmen killed. The num-

bers, made known by Britisch

Broadcasting Co. Radio are not

accurate, in truth it will be a

matter altogether of approx.

25,000,000 men!

Neither atBelzecnor atTreblinka did

anyone take the trouble to record or

count the dead. The numbers were

calculated only approximately from

the content of the cars.

[No estimate of the number dead.]

(Nothing)

This "factory" [Belzec] has been working since

1942 and "manufactures" about 11,000 dead per

day. When the circle ofmy friends or myselfheard

the broadcast from London or the Voice ofAmer-
ica we were often surprisedby the innoient angels

who spokeofhundredsofthousandsofdjeadswhen
in reality there were already more than ten million.

In the year 1943, the Dutch Resistance told me
through Ubbink that I was requested not to supply

invented atrocities, but to content myself with

reproducing the exact truth; despite mjy pointing

out these things, in August 1942, at the Swedish
embassy in Berlin, people refused to believe these

figures. Unfortunately, / reply to it under oath,

these figures are exact

According to my unquestionable documents, I

estimate the number of defenseless human beings

murdered by AdolfHitlerand Heinrich Himmlerat
about 20 million.

(Identical to T Va)

(Identical to T Va and T Vb)

This installation [Belzec] has been function-

ing since April 19^2 and effects on average

1,000 killings 1 per day. When I and my circle

offriends listened to theradio ofLondon or the
voiceofAmerica, vewereoften astonished by
theseinnocentangelswhocameup with figures
of hundreds of thousands of dead, whereas

there were already tens ofmillions of them.2

The Dutch resistancemovementhad askedme
in 1943 through Graduate EngineerUbbink of
Doesburg not to supply them with atrocities

but thefacts of the strictest authenticity. Al-

though I transmitted these things in August
1942 to the Swedish Legation in Berlin,

apparently no one wanted to believe these

figures at all. And nevertheless they are true, /

attest to itunderoath. I estimate thenumberof
those who, defenseless and unarmed, have
been murdered at the instigation of Adolf
Hitler and Heinrich Himmler, drawn without

any possibility of resistance into those mur-
derous traps where ,they were put to death, as

at least 20,000,000\human beings.
1. l,(X»mTVlinstt»Wll

t^
is a typing error in TVI?
2. One reads in Gemjan "Zig Millionen" which is

between 20 (zwanzig) and 90 (neunzig) million.

Number of victims at Belzec and Treblinka:— 25 million in T II

— 20 million in T V and T VI.

These figures are unrealistic.

Gerstein tells us himself that no one believed him in 1942,
neither theAnglo-Saxon allies, nor the Dutch resistance,nor the
Swedish diplomats. It seems that no one believed him after the

war either,on thispoint at least, forthe authors arerarewhohave
reproduced all or part of this passage of the "confessions." The
preferencehasbeen given to thecorresponding passage ofTin,
which is conspicuous for its restraint.

Gerstein does not hesitate to testify under oath to figures

which no one can believe to be correct, which, moreover, he
hardly had any possibility of estimating.

Captain Wirth does not wish any

change

Hauptmann Wirth begged me not to

propose to Berlin any other method

whatsoever and to leave all as it was.

(Almost the same as T I)

Captain Wirth begged me not to

proposeanymodificationwhatsoever

in his instillations which had proven

themselves.

(Nothing)

WirthasksmenottoproposetoBerlinmodifications

in the methods of death in the gas chambers em-

ployedup to thepresent time fortheyproven them-

selves. What is curious is thatno one hasaskedme
a single question in Berlin.

(Almost the same as TV)

(Identical to T Va) (Identical to T Va and T Vb)
Let us recall what Gerstein told us ofthe

44
ultra-secretmission":— on 8 June 1942, Gunther gives him the order to transport a

substantial quantity (sometimes 100 kgs, sometimes 260 kgs,
according to the texts) to Lublin, in Poland;

— on 17 August 1942, General Globocnik says to Gerstein: "It

is necessary to find a more toxic gas for our installations."— on 18 August 1942, that is to say the next day, Wirth,
commandant of the Belzec camp but subordinate to General
Globocnik, says to Gerstein: "Do not change anything in our
installations which are working well."

Gerstein finds it "curious" (in T V and T VI) that no one has
asked a single question on his return to Berlin. We do, too.

Gerstein, twice arrested for anti-state activities before the war,
threatened in December 1941 with expulsion from the SS, is

charged sixmonths laterwithan ultrasecretmission. Hedoesnot
fulfill his mission and no one asks for a report.

CornmandantMattei, MilitaryExaminingMagistrateinParis,
could not accept this explanation ofthe accused Gerstein,whom
he took for a Nazi anxious to dissemble the truth.
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What happened to the prussic acid?

I lied that the prussic acid was already destroyed by the

transport and very dangerous and to be forced to bury

the acid which was done immediately.

(Almost the same as T I)

As for the prussic acid, / had it buried

under my supervision while giving as a

reason that it had begun to decompose. (Nothing)

"I had the prussic acid which I had

brought buried."

i

(Identical to T Va) (Identical to T Va and T Vb) (Very close to T V)

I

To Commandant Mattel, who interrogates him in Paris 19.7.45, Gerstein

replies: "...I duly transported the cyanide but the cyanide did not arrive at

destination. On leaving, the cyanide was put in forty-five steel bottles. On the

road one ofthem was emptied undermy care with all the necessary precautions

because itwas dangerous. The forty-fourbottles whichremainedwerenot taken

to the camp ofBELCEC but were concealed by the driver and myself at about

twelve hundred meters from the camp." Further on, referring to the driver as

"accomplice," Gerstein says: "Before thejourney, I didnotknow the driverwho
was to chive me. The driverbelonged to the central security service, I lost touch

withhim afterwards." Letus note thatGerstein says to CommandantMattel that
he himself concealed (sic) the forty-four bottles of acid with the help of the

driver, whereasonereads in his "confessions" thathe had the acidburied, under

his supervision. A heavy task to get rid of 44 bottles of acid.

Continuing the subject of prussic acid or hydrocyanide, marketed under the

brand name Zyklon B and utilized as a disinfectant by the German army since

1917, Mattel asks Gerstein the following question: "How was the cyanide to

have been used technically for extermination?'* Astonishing renlv of Gerstein*

"Gunther at Berlin did not have the slightest idea about it. He supposed that I

must have some idea. But in reality I did not because I have never used cyanide

except for disinfection."

Treblinka: a simple replica of Belzec?

The setup at this place ofdeath was almost the same as at Belzec,

but yet bigger— 8 gas chambers and real mountains of clothes

and underwear of 35-40 meters high.

[Here, thepileof35-40meters, that is, 10-12 stories, consists

of clothing and underwear and is located at Treblinka.

Previously, it wasa question ofa pile ofshoes ofsimilarheight

located at Belzec, but neither T I nor T II made mention of it.]

(Identical to T I)

The installation was almost the same,

but much larger than at Belzec. Eight

gas chambers and real mountains of

suitcases, clothing, and underwear.

(Nothing)

(Almost the same as T m) (Identical to T Va) (Identical to T Va and T Vb) (Very close to T HI)

i

Gaschambers at Treblinka? This was not the opinion of the Grand Tribunal of

Ntirnberg; according to that, the Jews were not gassed at Treblinka, but were

plunged in boiling water (Document PS-331 1).

The mysterious affair ofvon Otter

After some weeks, I saw one more time the Legation

Counsellor von Otter. He told me thathehad made his

report to the government (of) Sweden, a report which,

according to his words, had great influence on the

relations of Sweden and Germany."

After some weeks, I saw

the Baron de Otter again

two times. He toldme that

he had made his report. .

.

M

(Continuation identical to

TI)

I later met Heir von Otter two times in
1

the Swedish legation. Hehad meantime
made a report to Stockholm and in-

formed me that this report had had a

great influenceon therelations between

Sweden and Germany.
1. One reads in the German text: in der

schwedischen Gesandtschaft.

(Nothing)

"I saw again Baron von Otter on two

occasions at the Swedish legation.

Meanwhile, he gave an account to

Stockholm personally and he toldme
that his report had a considerable

influence
1 on Swedish-German rela-

tions."

1. Onpage9ofthesametextTVareadson:

"...despite my pointing out these things in

August 1942 at the Swedish embassy in

Berlin, people refused to believe these

figures."

(Identical to T Va)

i

i

(Identical to T Va and T Vb) (Very close to TIE)
Did Gerstein see the Swedish diplomat again once (TI) or twice (T II, T HI, T
V, and T VI)? In testifying on 29 May 1981 before the Tribunal of Paris, von
Otter said that he remembered only one occasion and that his report to

Stockholm had not had any influence on Swedish-German relations (C.R.

stenogr. 1981, pages 11-12).

Another very important question: did von Otter send a written report to

Stockholm or did he only make a verbal report? For Pierre Joffroy {op. cit. page

17) and for Saul Friedlander {pp. cit. t page 1 15) , the diplomat -wrote a report.

Butnothing has everbeen made public. As forWalter Laqueur (Ter. Sec, pages

48-50), he did not find a report in the archives ofForeign Affairs at Stockholm

in February 1980. On 24 March 1983, during a televised program that Alain

Decaux broadcast on Gerstein, Baron von Otter, to whom the question was put,

replied that on the advice of his Ambassador, he did not make a written report.

Shall we one day know the truth on this point?

In Saul Friedlander's book (op. cit. page 153) we read some particularly

significant phrases of von Otter: "He (Gerstein) sobbed and hid his face in his

hands. I thought that he would not support these torments a very long time. . .

"

Somemonths later, the diplomat findshimselffacing Gerstein neartheSwedish

Legation (and not inside the Legation) and he comments: ". . .he seemed com-

pletely desperate and was hardly able to formulate a sentence. He was totally at

the end of his nerves. .

.

"

These impressions of von Otter should be set beside the other impressions

reported by Saul Friedlander (op. cit. pages 152-3, 177), giving an account of

the"absent-mindednesss" (Ausfallserscheinungen), of the "deranged manner,"

of the "strange reactions of Gerstein in 1942 and 1943."
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Gerstein immediately evicted from

the Nunciature in Berlin

My attempt to refer all that to the head

of the legation of the Holy Father did

not have a great success. I was asked

whether I was a soldier. Then I was

refusedalldiscussion.Thenjhavemade

say all that to him by Msgr. Doctor

Winter, secretary ofthe catholic episco-

pate of Berlin.

[Almost the same as T I except

the last sentence.]

Then I have made a detailed

referat to the secretary of the

episcopate of Berlin Msgr. Dr.

Winter to refer all that to his

bishop of Berlin and likewise to

the legation of the Holy Father.

[Referat = report, exposed Here,

one can think that a verbal report

is meant since Gerstein does not

speak of remitting but of refer-

ring to the bishop.

I tried to inform the apostolic nuncio

in Berlin as well. They asked me
whether I was a soldier. After which

talk was refused to have all further

conversation with me and I was in-

vited to leave the embassy of His

Holiness...

I have told that to hundreds of per-

sons, among others to Dr. Winter,

secretary of the Catholic bishop of

Berlin,begginghim tomakeitknown

to the Pope.

[Here, there isno doubt: Gersteinhas

recounted verbally.]

(Nothing)

Some days later to relievemy cons

order to have done all that is inmy
to give an account to the papal nui

from my first words, I am asked v

soldier, thereupon, all conversati

refused and I am requested to leav

of His Holiness immedately. I te

prove how difficult it was, even i

pitiless enemy of Nazism, to fi

discredit a criminal government.

In this situation where every da}

of thousands awaited killing, wh<

some hours seemed to me crimii

situation, I say, a qualified repi

Jesus on earth refuses all convera

what can one ask of an average c

Nazism? What must he do who 1

these errors1
, in general, except f

He who, like millions of foreignei

Dutch resistance) hold these thing

exaggerated, who does not hav<

who does not have perhaps any oc

to listen to the foreign radio, wh
againstNazism? Ifeven therepres

Pope inGermany refuses to listen t

of this extraordinary importance <

violation against the basis of the

"Thou must love thy neighbor as

From that day, risking my life

have given an account of these at?

to hundreds of influential persoi

mpller family, to the press attach

legation at Berlin, Dr. Hochstrat

retary ofthe Catholic bishop ofBi

ter, requesting a transmittal to the

the Pope, to Dr. Dibelius and tom
well as thousands2 have been inf<

1. Errors: this word is inappropriate. J

"horrors"?

2. Thousands: instead of hundreds in
r

cience, and in

power, I tried

icio in Berlin;

nether I am a

>n with me is

e the legation

1 this only to

or a German,

nd a way to

tens and tens

're a delay of

tal, if, in this

esentative of

don with me,

itizen against

lardly knows
rom hearsay?

s (such as the

5 tobe terribly

my abilitiy,

casionasldo

it must he do
mtativeofthe

o information

>n this unique

law of Jesus:

hyself.'"

each hour, I

ocious deaths

s: to the Nie-

\ of the Swiss

er, tothesec-

r\in, Dr. Win-

Bishop and to

any others, as

rmed by me.
hould one read

f IIIandTVL

(Identical to T Va) (Identical to T Va and T Vb)

I tried in tr

report to th

There, I wa

soldier. Upc

further disc

leave the E

immediatel

that shows

difficult for

inhisdistrej

find help an

ful necessit

ofHisHolin

earth!... In

the risk ofb

I then repon

influential p

ers to the s

bishop ofB<

thathetranst

the Bishop i

te same affair to make a

e papal nuncio at Berlin,

is asked whether I was a

jn which, I was refused all

ussion. I was invited to

mbassy of His Holiness

f. I say that here because

to what extent it was
a German to find advice

js when he could noteven
d advice in such a dread-

r from the representative

pss, theVicarofChriston
risking my head daily, at

*gin tortured and hanged,

ed all that to hundreds of

ersonalities, among oth-

scretary of the Catholic

riin, Dr. Winter, in order

lit ittoH.E.Monseigneur

nd to the Holy See.

In the five texts where Gerstein relates his attempt to enter into i

contact with the Papal Nuncio in Berlin, one can isolate the
following constants:

—Gerstein had no conversation with anyone at the nunciature.
He was immediately requested to leave the premises;—Gerstein tells of having made a report— and not of having
sent a report— to Dr. Winter, and requesting him to inform the
Catholic bishop of Berlin and, if possible, the Holy See.

Starting from these fragile bases and not confirmed by a
Catholic authority of any sort, the Protestant Rolf Hochhuth
wrote aplay for the theater, The Deputy, which caused a scandal
at the teginning of the 60's; it constituted the key document in

an undertaking intended to discredit the behavior of Pope Pius
XII during the war (Le Vicaire, in particularpages 27, 28, 29, 30
and 31.)

Saul Friedlander has given a very personal interpretation to
Gerstein's initiative. We read:

"In August 1942, Gerstein, who had just witnessed extermina-
tion operations by gases, tries to have himself received by the
nuncio Orsenigo; he is shown out. It is then that he communi-
cates a report to the juridical counsellor of Msgr. Preysing,
archbishop of Berlin, requesting that it be transmitted to the
Holy See. There is no reason to believe that the text was notsent
to Rome.

"The Gerstein report of 1942 [sic] was probably almost
identical to that which he wrote on 4 May 1945, since he
describes thesame event; in fact, in 1942, theColonel [weknow
that Gerstein was a lieutenant] could recollect the facts with
more precision than three years later. As for the veracity of
Gerstein's statements, no historian puts them seriously in doubt
[sic].

"It is useful to reproduce here a brief extract of the report of
1945 for, taking into account that theHoly Seehasnotto this day
denied having received the Gerstein report during the war, one
has the right [sic] to assume that a text appreciably identical to

that we are about to quote was transmitted to the Sovereign
Pontiffby Msgr. Preysing at the end of 1942" (Pie XII et le Hie

j

Reich, page 123.)

The man pursued

On going out of the Legation of the

Holy Father at the RauchstraBe in Ber-

lin, I saw myself followed by a police-

man who, after some very unpleasant

minutes, quit following me.

(Almost the same as T I) On leaving the Embassy of the Holy

See, I was followed by a policeman

on a bicycle who approached me, got

offhis bike, but incomprehensibly let

me continue on my way.

[Here, the policeman is on a bicycle

and gets off it very near Gerstein.]

• (Nothing)

Hardly gone out, /amfollowed by
some minutes later, a policeman

alsofollows me. I passed minute

despair and disappointment; I lif

catch ofmy revolver inmypocket

prepared myself for suicide. The
sible happened: the policeman bn
about 50cms, stopped an instaj

away."

[Here, two policemen, one of \

bicycle but does not dismount.]

apoliceman;

on a bicycle

5 of immense
ed the safety

uid Imentally

ncomprehen-

shedbyme at

Lt...and went

tfiom is on a

(Identical to T Va) (Identical to T Va and T Vb)
On leaving t

followedby

Ihad lifted ti

volverinmy

out when, i

tilAft tKiotlAlway,uuspui

by me, then

lie Papal embassy, I was
ipolicemanon a bicycle.

te safety-catch ofmy re-

docket to blowmy brains

n an incomprehensible

v^ciiiaiipd&bcu very cjlum?

turned back.

The comparison of this passage in the different texts shows

variations which are difficult to explain.

Is Gerstein frightened to the point of seeing sometimes one

policeman, sometimes two, sometimes on foot, sometimes on a

bicycle? Thismannow considering suicidebecauseheno longer

masters his fear is the same man who tells us of having spread

rumors on thehomicidal uses ofthehydrocyanic acid among the

Czechworkers at Kollin, thesamemanagainwho claims having

buried44 bottles of acid at the Belzec camp under the very eyes

of Captain Wirth, with the complicity of the driver, who be-

longed to the Central Security Service.
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Large quantities of hydrocyanic

acid stocked at Auschwitz and

Oranienburg

I must yet add that SS-Sturmbann-

fUhrer Gtinther, at the of beginning

1944, askedme for large quantities of

prussic acid for an obscure design.

The acid was to be supplied to Ora-

nienburg and Auschwitz, concentra-

tion camps. I loyally had the acid sent

as requested. But immediately after

its arrival, I diverted it for disinfec-

tion. This was a little dangerous for

me, but if I had been asked where the

acid was, I would have said: it was

already in a state of dangerous de-

composition, and because of that I

had to use it up for disinfection.

•*I must still add that the SS-Sturm-

barmfuehrer Guenther of the RSHA
at the beginning 1944 asked me for

very big supplies of prussic acid for

an obscure purpose. The acid had to

be supplied at Berlin, Kurfuersten-

strasse at his place of work. I suc-

ceeded in making him believe that

that was not possible due to the great

dangers. It was a matter of several

freight cars of toxic acid, enough to

kill a lotofmen,millions! Hehad said

to me that he was not sure, if, when,

for what group of persons, in what

manner, where one would have need

of this poison. I do not know exactly

what the intention of RSHA and of

the SD may have been. But I thought

later of the words of Goebbels "to

close the doors after them, ifNazism

should never succeed." Perhaps they

wanted to kill a great part of the Ger-

man people, perhaps the foreign

workers, perhaps the prisoners ofwar

— I do not know! In any case, I

divertedthe acidimmediately after its

arrival for disinfection duties."

Imust still add that SS-SturmbannftihrerGtintherofthe

Principal Office ofSecurity oftheReich—I believehe

is the son of the racialist Gtinther— demanded again

from me at the beginning of 1944 very large quantities

of prussic acid for a very obscure purpose. He showed

me in the Kurfurstenstrafie, in Berlin, a shed in which

he was thinking of stocking the prussic acid. I then de-

clared tohim that it was excluded that I should take the

responsibility. It related to several wagons, enough to

put to death millions of human beings. He says to me

that he did not know yet whether the poison would be

used, nor when, for whom, by what method, etc. But it

had to be held available at all times. Afterwards I have

not been able to stop myself from thinking often of

Goebbel's words. I suppose that they wanted to kill a

large part of the German people, including surely the

clergy and the badly-regarded officers. This would

have to have been done in places such as lecture halls

or clubs, this at least is what I could deduce from the

questionsrelating to execution techniques that Gtinther

asked me. It is possible also that he had had to kill

foreign workers or prisoners of war— I do not know.

In any case Imade arrangements so that theprussic acid

would disappear for no matter what disinfection pur-

poses as soon as it had arrived in the camps of Ora-

nienburg and Auschwitz. This was dangerous for me,

butl would simply havebeen able to say that thepoison

was already in a dangerous state of decomposition.

(Nothing)

I must add that Guenther of the R.S.H.A. (I believe that

he is the son of Guentherofthe racial studies) askedme
again, at the beginning of 1944, for large quantities of

prussic acid. The poison was tobe delivered to his office

in the Kurfuerstenstrasse in Berlin and stored in a shed

that he showed me. It concerned very large quantities,

altogether several freight can is, which were to be piled

up little by little and held at his disposal. This was

sufficientpoison to kill several millions who in this way

wouldhavedisappeared without a lot ofnoise. Guenther

told me that he did notknow yet where, when, how, for

whatpurpose, forwhat group thispoison was to beused.

In any case, it was to be constantly available. I deduced

from several technical questions putby Guenther that a

part, at least, of this poison was to be used to put down
a largenumber ofmen in the clubs and the lecture halls.

According to these meagre indications, I supposed that

it related to officers or priests, in any case educated

peopleand thepoisonwastobeemployedinBerlin itself.

Having looked over the premises in detail, I state to

Guenther that I cannot take the responsibility to stock

such quantities ofpoison at that spot, in the capital, since

there was enough to kill twice the number of all the in-

habitants. With many difficulties, I obtain the storage of

thispoison atOranienburg andatAuschwitz, in the con-

centration camps. Afterwards, I arrange things so as to

use up the poison as soon as it arrives, supposedly for

disinfection.

(Identical to TVa)

(Identical toTVa and

TVb)
(Almost the same asT Va) In this
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long passage, Gerstein gives free rein to his imagination. These are only hazardous
itions and deductions. We shall keep in mind that Zyklon B, a traditional disinfectant

y the German army since 1917, has been forwarded to the concentration camps of
nburg and Auschwitz, to be stored there.

5 May 1945, at Rottweil, Gerstein met two Allied investigators; among other docu-
he gave them a sheaf of invoices of the Degesch company, made out in his name, for
of 2,370 kgs ofZyklon B (Hydrocyanic acid) to be forwarded one half to Auschwitz
other half to Oranienburg.

tein declared to Commandant Mattel, Examining Magistrate of the 2nd Military
al of Paris, on 19 July 1945, that he had been twice on a mission to Oranienburg (Le
Juif/ThcJewish World, January-March 1980, page28); on theotherhand, hedoes not
uischwitz among thenumberofcamps visited by him. How would Gersteinhave been
supervise the utilisation of the bottles ofZyklonB on arrival at a camp he never went
ddition, Oranienburg is located in the region of Berlin, that is to say within the 1937
s of the Reich, where we have known officially since 19 August 1960 (Keine
ung in Dachau/No Gassing in Dachauby Dr. Martin Broszat, DieZeit(newspaper), 19
1960, page 16) that no camp included a poison gas chamber. The delivery ofZyklon
•anienburg thus presented nothing of a disturbing character. Why has an absolutely
d delivery to the camp at Auschwitz aroused, by contrast, such grave disquiet?
s Gerstein himself stated that he had never been to the camp at Auschwitz, and,
er,no evidenceofhisgoing therehas everbeen discovered, weread with astonishment
areJoffroy writes (UEspiondeDieu/God's Spy) inregard toGerstein andAuschwitz,
te two extracts:

irst is on page 199: "Gerstein goes and comes between Berlin and Auschwitz. A
st, he is present at the visits by the high Nazi officials to this metropolis of what has
i— of what will have no name except from a distance in time: genocide."
econd, on page 206: "At Auschwitz, the tall tormented figure of Gerstein gives rise

he SS to clouds of perplexity." On page 207, Joffroy reports comments which were
iblymade to him in 1968, according to which certain SS doctors thought that Gerstein
oduced himself into the camp at Auschwitz in order to blow it up (sic).

The services offered by Gerstein to

the French Army ofOccupation

The 22 April 1945, 1 had awaited the

taking of the town of Metzingen/

Wurttemberg. / had given the advice

to the citizens and attheTownHall of

Metzingen to give up the town to the

French. ... I passed the French lines

and I presented myself, of my own

accord, voluntarily, to Monsieur le

French Commandant of the town of

Reutlingen. ... Having checked the

papers, M. le Commandant of Reut-

lingen gave me a paper with the fol-

lowing text: "The bearer is not a real

SS and must not be treated as such,

but, on the contrary, with every con-

sideration." ItwasM. leCommandant

ofReutlingenwhoproposed, accord-

ing to my wishes, that I should be

presented to a place of service which

u/nuldhe interested inmv knowledge

ofNazism and which, perhaps, would

make use ofmy anti-Nazism.

(Nothing) (Nothing) (Nothing) (Nothing) (Nothing)

(Nothing) (Nothing)

This pa
separate

noticed

very ord

Adra
himself

church,

persona]

24 May
dobutv*

be sure,

he expre

Niemoll

Bielefel<

;sage is taken from a page which indisputably belongs to T I, although it is filed

ly in the Archives of the Evangelical Church of Bielefeld/Westphalia. It will be
that there is nothing equivalent in the five other texts. Here, Gerstein appears in the

inary role of a deserter offering his services to the enemies of the day before.

* also filed atBielefeld shows a fairly comparable text. In this draft, Gerstein presents

as •'responsiblehead of the Christian youth". . ."launched as an agent of the resistant

as personal friend of the Rev. Niemflller, in the SS Army." Gerstein says he is a
friend ofPastor NiemCUer? This is at least a subject worth considering. In a letter of
1946, Pastor Niemflller writes to Frau Gerstein: "Personally, I can on this occasion

ay little, because I have no recollection ofyour husband's activities since 1937." To
Pastor NiemBller has passed several years in a concentration camp, but the restraint

sses is certainly not that of a "personalfriend" of GerstehVs. This letter from Pastor

sr to Frau Gerstein is preserved in the Archives of the Evangelical Church of
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Gassing in theopen air in themoatsof

Maria-Theresienstadt

(Nothing)
j

One other time, Guenther consulted

meas to whether itwaspossible to kill

largenumbers ofJews in the open air

in the fortification of Maria-There-

sienstadt. To prevent this diabolical

idea, I declared this method impos-

sible. Some time lata: I heard that the

SD supplied itself some other way

with prussic acid to kill those poor

men at TheresienstadL

(Almost the same as T II)

—It shouldbenoted that Hans Rothfels

has forborne copying this passage of

T III in the review Vierteljahrsheftefur

ZeitgeskhteNo. 2, April 1953. Hepoints

out this cut in a note No. 52n on page

193.

(Nothing)

Some time after, Guenther recalled

the R.S.H.A. and asked me if it mi

possible to poison the Jews inter

Maria-Theresienstadt by throwing

sic acidfrom the top ofthefortifict

To prevent the execution of this
]

declared this impracticable.

i navelearnea iaier uiainenaaod

the prussic acid some other way ar

he had all the same executed the

who, supposedly, led such a good

Maria-Theresienstadt; it involved

fathers of sons killed or holders o

decorations and having rendered s

service.

me to

ghtbe

led at

prus-

tions.

)lan, I

rained

id that

Jews

life at

Jews,

fhigh

pecial

(Identical to T Va) (Identical to T Va and T Vb)

One other time Gunther asked me if it

waspossibleatMaria-Theresienstadt, in

the moats ofthe fortress where theJews
who were interned there had the right to

walk, to poison them by throwing cans

of cyanide from the top. To make this

terrible plan ineffectual, I stated that it

was impossible. I have learned later that

theSDhadhoweverobtained thehydro-
cyanide acid by another way and that it

had killed all the same the Jews who
were, it seems, so comfortable atThere-

sienstadt. They were the fathers of sons

fallen in battle, Jews of great merit,

holders of high decorations.

Gassing in the open air, by throwing prussic acid from thetop of
the fortifications! One understands that the chemical engineer

Gersteinwouldhavedeclared thisimpracticable, becausehydro-
cyanic acid is highly volatile. However, it took place, he says.

This passage of confessions is so improbable that one can
understand the decision of Dr. Hans Rothfels not to publish it,

imitated in this by Leon Poliakov and JosefWulf (Dritt. R.uJ.,

page 110 and /// R. etJ., page 118) and by Helmut Krausnick
(Dok. z. M.V., page 15), only the last indicating the cut by a

dotted line.

A pad soaked in prussic acid held

under the nose of children

(Nothing)

Themethodofkillingchildren was to

hold a pad of prussic acid under the

nose.

At Auschwitz, it was customary to kill

childrenbyholdingpads soakedinprus-

sic acid under the nose.

(Nothing)

At Auschwitz alone, millions of cl

were killed by a pad of prussic aci

under the nose.

ildren

iheld

...at Auschwitz alone, millions of chil-

dren were killed by a pad of prussic acid

held under the nose, in the Ravensbruck

concentration camp.

[A typing error in the arrangement of the

wordsmakethephraseincomprehensible.]

(Identical to TVa)
AtAuschwiti

werekilledb]

anic acid und

ralone, millionsoichildren

holdingapadofhydrocy-
bt the nose.

TV andTVImentiontheexecution ofmillionsofchildren.T HI
)

gives the samemethodofexecution, but deletes the improbable
"millions" ofvictims. Dr. Hans Rothfelshasnotreproduced mis
sentence (V.jJi. page 193); for him, it is something which 1

Gersteinrepeats fromhearsay (Horensagen). Leon Poliakov and
JosefWulf, and Helmut Krausnick have imitated him this time

also.

I have myself seen experiments per-

formed at Ravensbruck, says Ger-

stein

(Nothing)

/

—

myself— saw experiments con-

tinued right up till death with living

persons in the concentration camps.

In thisway, theSS-Hauptsturmfunrer

Gundlach, Dr.med., made such ex-

periments in theconcentrationcamps

forwomenatRavensbrttcknearFuer-

stenberg- Mecklenburg.

Of the remainder, I have myselfseen at

the camp of Ravensbruck, near Fuer-

stenberg in the Mecklenburg, the con-

centration camp for women, experi-

ments made on the living. These were

made on the initiative of SS-Grup-

penfUhrer Dr. Gebhardt-Hohenlychen,

hv the S^-HauntsturmfQhrer Dr. Gund-UV lilt? OO—Xx<HJl/ldM*llllA**»uwi j^a. >~» **a*v»

lach.

(Nothing)

In theRavensbruckconcentration ci

waspresent at these tests on livingb
performed by Dr. Gundlach, Haupts

fuehrer,ontheorderofSSGruppenfi
Professor Eh-. Gerhardt, Hohenlych

imp,/

angs,

turm-

lehrer

31.

/have beenpresent at these tests on living

humans performed by Dr. Gundlach,

Hauptsturmruehrer, on the order of SS
Gruppenfuehrer, Professor Dr. Gebhardt

Hohenlychen.

(Identical to TVa)

At theconcentrationcamp forwomenof

Ravensbruck near Furstenberg in

Mecklenburg, / saw tests on living

women performed by the Hauptsturm-

ftihrer Drjned. Grundlach on the order

of SS GruppenfOhrer Professor Dr.

Gebhardt-Hoheailychen.

Dr. Hans Rothfels also considered as "Horensagen" this

affirmation of Gerstein. Nevertheless, one reads in T n, T IE,

T V and T VI: "I have myself seen,. . .1 have been present," etc.

Dr. Hans Rothfels therefore seems not to have believed com- i

pletely in the "confessions" of Gerstein. How else explain the

cuts he has made in the texts?

How many homosexuals have disap-

peared in the ovens at Oranienburg

and in how many days?

(Nothing)

One day, at Oranienburg concentra-

tion (camps), / saw all the prisoners

who were there for being perverts

(homosexuals) done away with in a

single day.

Iwas astounded, at Oranienburg, to see

all the homosexuals — several hun-

dreds— disappear in afew days, and,

actually, in the ovens.

(Nothing)

Another day, at Oranienburg, /saw
sands of pederasts disappear with

trace into a furnace.

thou-

out a (Identical to T Va)

(Identical to T Va and T Vb)

In addition, c

saw several h

thousands of

without a trac

ne day at Oranienburg /

indreds and even several

homosexuals disappear

e in the ovens.

Hundreds? Thousands? Disappeared in one day? In some days?
For Dr. Hans Rothfels, in spite ofthe "I have seen" ofGerstein,
this is again "Hdrensagen."
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[The extracts ofthe "confessions" in this 1

(Erganzungen).— T I and T II have no

Eye-witness evidence?

(Nothing)

rableKcomefrom thesupplements

supplements.]

(Nothing)

[InTIE the supplements are separately

typewritten: they are eight in number.]

At Belzec, / had the impression that

all were really dead . .

.

The day ofmy inspection at Belzec, it

happened that a Jewess made some
cuts in the neck to some Jews of the

working-party with the aid of a razor

that she had kept hidden on her.

/thinkofsomcimpressionsprofoundly

moving forme...

[In T IV, the supplements represent

nine hand-written half-pages]

At Belcec, / had the impression mat

all were dead.

On the occasion ofmy visit to Belcec,

a Jewess had wounded with a razor

some men of the working-party.

. . J remembersome gripping impres-

sions.

[InTV andTVI, thecontentofthesuppler

into the text itself of the confession.]

At Belcec, / had the impression the day

ofmy inspection, that after such a long

wait in the chambers, everybody was

truly dead...

Atthetimeofmy visittoBelcec, aJewess

had cut several of the Jewish workers,

with the help of a hidden razor.

...Some particularly gripping impres-

sions do not leave me any more.

nents with thevariations is integrated

(Identical to TVa) (Identkal to T Va and T Vb)

(Almost the same as T V)

. ..Some touching scenes stillpassbe-

foremy eyes.

We have chosen these extracts because Gerstein pretends,

obviously, to make his statements as an eyewitness.

But Dr. Hans Rothfel hasforborne taking the responsibility of

publishing the supplements to the German version of 4 May
1945 (which we designate T HI) on the pretext mat they ore

certainly not based on eyewitness evidence (YfZ. 1953, page

179, note 5).

To our knowledge, these supplements have never been pub-

lished previously either in France or elsewhere.

How many Polish priests were shot?

(Nothing) (Nothing)

It concerned thousands of Polish ec-

clesiastics who had to dig the ditches

themselves...

It concerned several thousands of

Polish cures and priests , forced to dig

the ditches themselves. .

.

"...about 8,000 Polish clerks havebeen

obliged to dig ditches..."

About 2,000 Polish clerks. .

.

(Identical to TVb) It concerned several thousands —
8,000 1 believe— priests and mem-
bers of the Polish clergy.

8,000? 2,0007 several thousand? In his handwritten text (TIV),

Gerstein writes "several thousand"

How many dying were killed off?

(Nothing) (Nothing)

Whilethey weretakingmeasurements

for a conversion of the premises, two

men had suddenly moved. Hie SS
RottenfUhrerwho was accompanying
them had then asked: Where then?

Then he had taken an iron bar which

he found to hand and he had smashed

the skulls of the two men.

While busy with their work, all of a

sudden they saw some who were

moving. The SS Rottenfuhrer of the

service only asked: 'Where?' then he

took an iron bar that was already at

hand to break their skulls.

Thousands ofcadavers ingeneral typhus

have been stacked there; suddenly, they

have seen that some were still moving;

the Rottenfuehrer, who carried the key,

merely asked: 'Where is that?' men took

around ironhammerjustnearby and has
smashed in the skulls of the persons

pointed out.

(IdentkaltoTVa) (Identkal to T Va and T Vb) (Almost the same as T V)

1

|

Some? a certain number? two men?
Gerstein seems not to have remembered precisely what was
reported to him and he varies from one version to another.

Was the little boy 'thrown" or gen-
tly urged" into the gas chamber?

(Nothing) (Nothing)
J

I recall that a little boy of perhaps

three years bent down to pick it up,

what pleasure it gavehim, and thathe
was afterwards pushed, no, in that

caseheisgentlyurgedtomakehimgo
into the gaschamber.

Or I remember a naked little girl of 5

years who, one meter from the death

chamber, loses a littlestring ofcorals,

of the little boy who picks it up, who
is very happy with it— and then, was

thrown into the chamber.

[The little boy] picks up [the coral neck-

lace], looks at it lovingly, happy with it

and, the following moment is pushed, I

must say with gentleness, by a guard

preserving a remnant of feeling, to the

interior of the chamber.

(Identical to TVa) (Identical to T Va and T Vb) (Almost the same as T V)

!

It is in the handwritten text (TIV) that Gerstein writes that the

little boy was "thrown into die chamber."

Theothertextshavemaintainedtheanecdote,butinhumanizing

it a little, if such an expression is permissible in such a context

Two methods of killing

— steam boilers

— chimneys of blast furnaces

(Nothing) (Nothing)

But more than just a test was made.

For example, undoubtedly on a fairly

largenumberofpeople, deathbycom-

pressed airin theoldboilers intowhich

the airwas introduced from compres-

sors of the type ordinarily used to

break up asphalt.

Akindofdeath. . .consisted ofmaking

people climb the stairway which led

to a blast-furnace, to finish them off

once at the top, and to make them

disappear afterwards in the blast-fur-

nace.

For example, men were killed by

means of compressed air in boilers,

making use of the ordinary compres-

sors for road asphalt.

One way to kill men was to make
them ascend the stairway of a blast

furnace, to kill them there with a rifle

shot and to have them disappear into

the furnace.

Tests were also made with the aid of

compressed air; people were putinto old

boilers filled, by means ofa compressor,

with compressed air.

...Another way of killing people in

Poland was to make them climb to the

topofladders ofblast-furnacesandthrow

them inside afterhaving killed them with

a pistol shot.

(Identical to TVa) (Identkal to T Va and T Vb) (Almost the same as T V)
We have closed this comparative table with the above two

scenes, worthy ofGrand Guignol [horrific melodrama].

Did Gerstein the engineer really believe in the "Horensagen"

(hearsay), touseoncemoretheexpressionofDr. HansRothfels?

Executions by firing squad, machme-gunning, hanging, etc.,

were sufficiently tragic for it tobepointless to imaginemethods

of execution as complkated as they are improbable.



Annex to Table I

MARTIN NIEMOLLER D. D J)
bUdingen / hessen 24. Mai 1946

PFARRER
50,1055 HJK -

Frau
Elfriede Qer3tein
(14bJ Tubingen
Tropengeneaungaheim

Sehr verehrte 9
liebe Frau Qer$§e$n !

In Tubingen erhielt ich Ihren Brief vom 17 .5. und hatte
auch zweimal eine kurze Besprechtmg mit out* Ernst KUpper wegen der
Angelegenheit Ihrea Mannea. Leider war ea vbllig unmdglich fUr
mich vorbeizukommen 9

weil ich achon mit meinem Vortrag und dann
apdt in die Nacht mit Beaprechungen beaetzt war und am ndchaten
Morgen in aller Fruhe weiterrei3en muaate 9

um mittaga zur rechten
Zeit zu einer Pfarrkonferenz in der Mdhe von Darmatadt zu aein.
Leider bin ich nun durch daa Oeaprdch mit Herrn Kupperfi auch nichl
recht weiter gekommen. Mir acheint daa Entacheidende 9 daaa man
zundchat einmal featzuatellen sucht 9wo uberhaupt Ihr Mann aich
jetzt befindet 9 damit dann eolahe Menachen 9 die Kurt perao'nlich nahv
gekannt haben und ein vollgUltigea Zgugnia fur inn auaatellen
kd'nnen 9wie vielleicht Paator Rehling in RQgen und Dr. Ehlera in

Oldenburg 9 versuchen 9
der Entwicklung einen Stoaa vorw&rta zu geben

und aich fur aeine Freilaaaung bezw. fUr seine Rehabilitierung
' einzuaetzen. Peradnlich kann ich ja in dieaer Angelegenheit dea-
halb aojwenig machen 9weil mir aelbat jeder Eindruck uber die

Entwicklung Ihrea Mannea aeit 1937 feftlt ,den ich ala meine peratin-

liche Ube'rzeugung mit Auaaicht auf Erfolg geltend machen kb'nnte.

'tfohl a her kann ich $
u:ie ich daa Ja im Fall von Pfarrer Rehling

wohl achon getan habe 9
bezeugen 9

daaa die R^ferenzen von Freunden _

und nahen Bgkannten Ihres Mannea ala zuverldaaig gel ten ktfnnen,

weil ich fUr disss P8raonen (wie Pfarrer Rehling und Dr. EhlersJ
in vollem Umfange bUrgen kann. Dazu bin ich in jedem Fall gem
bereit.

Diea wollte ich Sie wenigatena gleich wisaen laasen,
und das umaomehr 9 ala ich Sie nun peradnlich ja nicht habe sehen
und aprechen kb'nnen.

Mit herelichen Gruasen und in der Hoffnung 9
daa a die

Zeit im Tropengeneaungahe im Ihnen gut tun mochte
9
bin ich

Ihr aehr ergebener

Translation of four lines marked by XX:
Personally, I can do little in this affair, for I have no insight at all into your husband's
development since 1937 which I could offer as my personal conviction with any
chance of success.



Certain answers made by Gerstein in the course of his interroga-

tions at Paris, which sometimes clarify and sometimes contradict the

statements made in his "confessions."

We have not picked out systematically all the differences, because

it seemed indispensable to us to have regard to the following factors:

1 These texts have no quality of style; they are written in an often

unskilled French which Gerstein has been able to try and improve

from one text to another.

2 Two texts (T III and T VI) are translated from the German; the

notable differences between one or the other ofthese two texts and the

other versions have naturally been pointed out; on the other hand,

every minimal difference, often due to the interpretation of the

translator, has been ignored.

3 One ofthe texts (T V) was originally composed in French, but not

by Gerstein; this is the copy of an interrogation conducted by the

officers of the O.R.C.G.

Additionally, it is easy enough to identify, if one so wishes, all the

differences by reading the corresponding passages in the six "confes-

sions," in the presentation of the texts which we have already made.

Footnotes to Chapter I

1. Obviously, the original documents of the thesis were in French.

2. In the "confessions" of 26 April 1945 (TT and T II) Gerstein make a mistake as to

the date of his marriage. Instead of 2 November 1937 (date of the religious

ceremony) the text reads 2 May 1937.

3. Known also as Sachsenhausen.

4. Collection of clothes and textiles for the war effort.

5. Not the light carriage-whip seen today. This horsewhip, in common use where
motorized transport was not possible, was made with a heavy wooden butt about

18 inches long— the size of a policeman's truncheon/night stick— and, with

thongs, could easily reach 15 feet. It was used to control teams of 6 horses or oxen.

6. "The Department Store of the West"
7. "Kaiserliche und Konigliche" = Imperial and Royal.

8. Throughout the Second WorldWar, PastorMartin Niemollerwas regularly citedby
the Allies' press, radio, etc., as the outstanding hero of German resistance to the

Nazis. If Gerstein listened to the BBC and the Voice of America, he would have

known this.

During the First World War, NiemGller had been a submarine commander; after

the war, he became a Pastor and, from 1924, an active Nazi supporter. In 1934 he

published a biography Worn U-Boot zur Kanzel (from U-Boat to Altar) which was

highly praised in the Nazi press and very widely read in Germany. He became the

head of Germany's twenty-eight Protestant sects, the Bekenntniskirche (the

"Confessional Church" mentioned by Gerstein in the "confessions") and on that

occasion, 25 January 1934, he wrote to Chancellor Hitler: "We have no need to

assure you how grateful we are to you for having uprooted the German people from

internal and external disintegration and for having freed its spirit for a new
flowering."

His opposition to the policies of the Third Reich showed itselfonly in June 1937:

Niemoller complained of the Nazi regime's interference in ecclesiastical affairs.
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Arrested 1 July 1937, he was sent to the concentration camp of Dachau (near

Munich, in Bavaria) as the "personal prisoner of the Fuhrer." He was released when

the American army overran Dachau in the spring of 1945.

At the start of the Second World War, in September 1939, he had asked the

government to be allowed to serve as a volunteer in theGerman army but his request

was refused. This fortunate occurrence stood him in good stead after the German

capitulation in May 1945.

In postwar Germany he became noted for his intransigence in demanding the

purge of all those who had served the Nazi regime. In the early '60' s he was one of

the most ardent inspirers of the Protestant writer Rolf Hochhut, whose play The

Deputy caused deep offense for its unjustified accusation of Pope Pius XII.

9. Date of the attempt on Hitler's life by an army conspiracy.

10. A very large castle/fortifications complex near Prague, named for the Empress

Maria-Theresa (1717-1780).

1 1 . Better-known today under its Russian name of Lvov.

12. Translation of the word "richtig" Probable meaning: things are in order, as

planned.

13. Gerstein presumably meant Hans F. K. Giinther whose principle work Ras-

senkunde des deutschen Volkes, on the ethnic origins of the German peoples, was

published in 1929.

14. Military rank, in disuse since the first World War, equivalent to senior non-com-

missioned officer.

15. E.M. - Etat-major: headquarters staff.

16. 0.K.W. - Oberkommando der Wehrmacht - German High Command.
17. An old German saying, from a folk tale: "The goat who became the gardener and

ate the garden."

18. Julius Schreck formed the Sckutzstaffel, as Hitler's bodyguard, in April 1925.

19. The letters "a.D." after the title of Bergassessor mean ausser Dienst which

translated mean: "out of service; notworking." The letters werecommonly used by

retired professional people, such as doctors, to indicate that they were no longer

practicing.

Gerstein had been finally dismissed from government service in February 1937;

thus, presumably, his rationale for using these letters. However, it seems an odd

quirk of character:

— to invite attention to the fact that he had been expelled from the mining service,

or,— to give the impression that he was elderly and retired.

20. The Werewolf movement (German Werwolf), much publicized at the time, was

supposed to have been a "last-stand" German underground resistance movement;

although, as events later showed, it seems to have existed in little more than name.

Is itprobable that a French army officerwho, by the hazards ofwar, finds himself

the Military governorofa smallGerman town, woulddiscuss sensitive intelligence

matters with an SS prisoner?

It appears significant that Gerstein did not repeat these alleged remarks of the

French officer in the final version ofT I and that they are not repeated elsewhere.

In its final form T I was ofcourse intended for perusal by senior French authorities

who would have been startled, not to say indignantly surprised, at the future

espionage careerbeingplanned forGerstein by ajuniorcombat officerofthe French

army.

21. Obviously an error: in German, "Wo" = "Where." To read, where . .

."

22. Without tear-making effects. The invoice of 31 May 1944 is the same except that

the dispatch was made on 26 May to Oranienburg.

23. Quarantine/isolation hospital.

24. S.I.R.—Sur interrogation rogatoire, i.e. in reply to a supplementary question.

25. An error: the date was 6 August 1945.
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General Remarks

In this chapter, we shall of course examine only the essential

authenticity of the texts; the veracity of the narratives will be studied

in the following chapter. It is to be noted that some remarks have

already been made on the veracity in the "Observations" column of

the comparative tables.

Regarding the essential authenticity of the six versions known to

us, we shall present on the one hand the certainties and, on the other

hand, hypotheses based on strong presumptions.

Our studies lead us to classify these six texts into three distinct

categories:

1. Texts of which the origin is certain and of which Gerstein is

indisputably the author; these are T I, T II, and T IV.

2. One text of which the origin is certain and of which the compo-

sition is not due to Gerstein but to the O.R.C.G.; this is the text TV,

in itsthree versions T Va, T Vb, and T Vc.
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3. The typewritten texts in German of which the origins are sus-

pect and of which no evidence permits us to state that Gerstein might

be wholly or partially the author; these are T III and T VI. Although

T III has the date 4 May 1945 and T VI 6 May 1945, we shall deal

with T III last for reasons which we shall show later.

Texts ofWhich Gerstein Is Indisputably the Author

Text T

I

This is the first "confession" composed by Gerstein, 26 April

1945, some days after he had surrendered to the troops of the French

1st Army. It is handwritten in French. Examination of the handwrit-

ing and comparison with letters previously written by Gerstein prove

that the former Obersturmfuhrer is indeed the author.

Gerstein dated it from Rottweil, where he enjoyed the privileged

status of a prisoner on parole and where he occupied a room in the

hotel Mohren. He used paper, rare at the time but which he had

available: headed notepaper, plain white paper of the same format,

white squared paper of a smaller size, and even one sheet which he

had begun to use almost five years previously, since we read at the

top his name, his titles, his address in Hagen, and the date of

14.8.1940.

We have every reason to believe that the SS officer composed his

"confession" spontaneously. One will immediately notice the irre-

sistible need of the former activist of the Confessional Church to

make "confessions" repetitively, seeing that the last two small sheets

of T I repeat whole passages of the preceding pages.

Text T II

This French text is dated "Rottweil 26 April 1945," as is T I, but is

typewritten. It is the only one of the six texts carrying Gerstein'

s

handwritten signature, which is found at the bottom of the sixth

page. Of the six pages of the "confession" properly so-called, the

first five are very similar to the first eight pages of T I; but neverthe-

less there are differences, one of which is very important, as it

concerns the number of victims at the camps of Belzec and Treblinka.

There is no estimate in T I, but in T II Gerstein puts forward the

figure of 25 million (sic).

The sixth page of T II has no equivalent in T I: here Gerstein tells

of the exterminations, the atrocities, and the experiments on living

human beings which had taken place in camps other than Belzec and
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Treblinka, even in camps which the former Obersturmfiihrer never

visited, such as Auschwitz and Mauthausen.

Similarly, the tenth page ofT I (which he mistakenly numbered 9)

has no equivalent in T II. Here Gerstein gives details of his surrender

to the French troops, of the reception he received from the military

authorities, and of his offers to put himself at their service.

A hypothesis can be formulated: Gerstein has partly used T I as a

draft to type T II but, since he was a prisoner, "suggestions" could

have been made to him for the sixth and last page; for example, he

could have been asked to recount atrocities of which he might have

heard in order to fill out his narrative, which concerned only Belzec

and Treblinka. By the same token, he could have been helped with

his hesitant French to compose the wording in which he testifies

under oath to the truthfulness of his statements.

The seventh page, unsigned, titled "Kurt Gerstein— supplement"

does not call for particular remark; the former SS officer here ex-

plains that a circle of anti-Nazi friends, ofwhom he gives the names

and addresses, used to meet at his Berlin apartment; he adds the

details of some other persons domiciled elsewhere than at Berlin.

T II is the best-known of Gerstein' s "confessions," especially in

France. Paradoxically, it is in the files of the American Justice

Department at the Nuremberg Tribunal that it was found in January

1946. The explanation for this is simple: on 5 May 1945, Gerstein

still had with him the seven typewritten pages, which seems to

indicate that the French officers of Military Security did not attach

exceptional importance to them; on that day, the prisoner on parole

from Rottweil met two Allied investigators, the British Major Evans,

and the American named Haught, in the Mohren Hotel lobby. For the

first time, he saw Anglo-Saxon 1 officers in occupied Wurtemberg

and he engaged in conversation with them. The Allied officers made

a report of this encounter. Gerstein gave them the seven pages of his

typewritten "confession" of 26 April 1945 together with certain

documents as attachments, in particular a handwritten note of two

pages in English and a sheaf of twelve invoices of the DEGESCH
company relating to deliveries of Zyklon B.

All of these papers were examined in Paris by the Documentation

Division, the head of which was Major Robert Storey; this Division

decided to admit these documents in the file series PS (Paris-Storey)

under the number 1553.

On 30 January 1946, the French Prosecutor-General, Charles

Dubost, insisted in vain that the file PS-1553 should be retained by

the Nuremberg Tribunal; the refusal of his request is important, but it

does not put the material authenticity of the documents in question.

We shall finish with a study of one last point. What machine did



Gerstein use in typing T II? We are reasonably sure that it was typed
on a machine with a French keyboard. Actually, the e and the e are

obviously typed with a single key, which is not possible on a German
keyboard. One also notices many circumflex accents, which exist

only on a French keyboard.

One therefore has good reason to think that French Military

Security put a typewriter at the disposal of its prisoner.

The appearance of the typing itself could be that of an occasional

typist, as Gerstein must have been.

Text T IV

This is the second handwritten "confession" of Gerstein com-
posed, like the first, in French at the Mohren Hotel in Rottweil; it

carries the date 6 May 1945.

We have mentioned in the chapter "Establishment of the Texts"
that it consists of nine half-pages for the principal "confession" and
of nine other half-pages for the supplements.

a. The principal "confession"

It is very short and gives the reader of T I and T II the impression
of being unfinished. It stops short at the moment when the SS
General Globocnik gives instructions to the Untersturmfuhrer for the

disinfection of large quantities of textiles at the Belzec camp. But
there is no mention made of any gassings of the detainees in this

"confession." This fact is surprising.

Moreover, it does not seem that there are any pages missing* for

the last half-page, numbered 9, is not even entirely filled.

This brief "confession" repeats the corresponding passages of T

I

and T II. One notices, however, a very important difference from
these two texts: Gerstein says that on 8 June 1942 he was given the

order to deliver two kgs ofhydrocyanic acid instead of the 100 kgs in

the texts of 26 April 1945 (T I and T II). Over and above this

difference, there are additions; these are his personal comments
which we shall find again from time to time, with other elaborations,

inTin,TIV and T VI.

b. The supplements

They are not dated, but LKA as well as Gerstein's widow believe

that they complete T IV. They do not have an equivalent in T I and
T II; on the other hand, they are found with variants in T III, T V, and
T VI. However, in TV and T VI they are not separated as in T III and
T IV but integrated into the actual text of the last part of the

"confessions."

The authenticity of T IV is indisputable, but one can ask oneself

what was Gerstein's motive in composing it. We offer three
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hypotheses:

1st hypothesis

The repeated composition of "confessions," which are the same in

essentials although with differences, arose from a trait in Gerstein's

character; once a clean sheet of paper was at his disposal, he could

not resist his need to write, beginning with his biography and con-

tinuing with an account of his experiences in the SS.

2nd hypothesis

Gerstein wanted to send a report to his wife: he writes to her

moreover in his last letter dated 26 May 1945: "Geh mit dem

Bericht, den ich anlege, zumMilitargouverneur" which means: "Go

with the attached report to the Military Governor."

It is this which would explain the new composition in French of a

document which should, or so at least her husband hoped, have

helped Elfriede to benefit from favorable treatment from the French

military authorities.

Why is this account so short? Did Gerstein have qualms about

showing his wife, whose patriotism he knew, the essentials of the

"confession," that it to say the revelation of a gassing of deportees in

the camps at Belzec and Treblinka? Was he frightened of her skepti-

cism, indeed, her incredulous indignation?

3rd hypothesis

The officers of French Military Security were disagreeably sur-

prised to learn that on the previous day, 5 May, their prisoner had

given to Allied investigators documents in the French language

which were intended for the French authorities. Gerstein could have

wished to make amends by composing a new "confession."

When the French officers noticed that the former SS man was

repeating the same things once more, perhaps they gave him an order

to make fresh revelations.

This last hypothesis could explain the abrupt interruption of the

principal "confession" and the composing of fresh supplements.

It is additionally possible that our three hypotheses each contain a

part of the truth and that they are interconnected.

To our knowledge, no one before us has published nor even made

known the existence of T IV (principal "confession" and supple-

ments).
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2. Text T V of which the Composition is Due to the O.R.C.G.

The origin of this text is certain, as we have stated in Chapter One.
There is at the Direction of Military Justice a letter from the head

of the O.R.C.G., dated 6 June 1945, of which we quote below the

first lines:

"Head of the O.R.C.G.

"to

"Monsieur the Professor Gros
"Carlton Gardens 4
"London.

"I have the honor to send you herewith the copy of the interroga-

tion by my office of the person concerned: GERSTEIN OF TUBIN-
GEN.

"This document will not fail, I believe, to interest you."
The document mentioned in this letter constitutes the text T Va.
Saul Friedlander reproduces a part of the letter of 6 June 1945

(K.G., page 185), but he adds: "The text of the interrogation has not
been found until now." The text has now been retrieved (it was
returned to the Archives of the Direction of Military Justice on 3
August 197 1), and it can be consulted there.

Principal characteristics of T Va

— T Va is presented as the copy of an interrogation. We do not
know where the original of this interrogation is to be found.— The title "Report of Dr. Gerstein of Tubingen" already con-
tains an error: Gerstein was a Certificated Engineer, but was not a
Doctor.

— The style is sometimes incorrect; the text is sprinkled with
spelling and grammatical errors but, manifestly, the writer had a
good command of French, which was not the case with Gerstein.— TVa could have been composed, at least in part, from Gerstein'

s

answers to the questions put to him by the members of the O.R.C.G.
One notices a great many errors in proper names which could

arise from a faulty understanding of these names pronounced, proba-
bly with a German accent, by the ex^SS officer. We give five

examples of these mistakes:

• in the names of towns:

Marbrug instead of Marburg
Aachem instead of Aachen
Pirmasinz instead of Pirmasens
• in the names of people:

Hockelchoc instead of I Ieckcnholt
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Kraatz instead of Krantz

Then again, at the beginning of his other "confessions," Gerstein

writes of his exclusion from the Nazi party; in T Va, one reads

execution. Here, this might be faulty pronunciation or a mistake in

reading.

— In review, other errors encourage one rather to think that the

writer of the O.R.C.G. used the handwritten texts composed by their

prisoner. For example, there is in T Va a question of the collection of

garments among the Danish people when evidently the German

people is meant. Has danisch been read instead of deutschl

— Finally, the composition of T Va by the French is attested to by

typical French expressions, such as bachot (baccalaureate examina-

tion) to translate Abitur, and above all EM. {Etat-Major) to desig-

nate the senior ranks of the SS.

T Va has been utilized for two other versions which contain some

differences from their original; these are:

— T Vb, text in French, of which we have a photocopy from the

National Archives in Washington;

— T Vc, text in English, which carries at the center of its first page

the word "Translation"; our photocopy of T Vc comes from the

C.DJ.C. (the Center for Contemporary Jewish Documentation) in

Paris, which obtained its copy of this document from the Israeli

police.

Differences noted between the model T Va and the vari-

ants T Vb and T Vc

1. TVb
There are very few differences, since the mistakes in the proper

names and even the grammatical errors have in general been faith-

fully copied. However, we have remarked the three differences noted

below:
— T Va2 reads: "28 minutes later, rare are those who still live,"

and in T Vb: "2<5 minutes." This is probably a typing error.

— T Va reads: "about 8,000 Polish clerics have been forced to dig

their graves," and in T Vb: "about 2,000."

— On page 9, line 21 of T Vb, typing carelessness makes one

sentence incomprehensible, because several lines of T Va have been

omitted.

2. T Vc
This translation in English of T Vb carries on the last page the

same declassification endorsement by the National Archives in Wash-

ington as its model T Vb, which is 01.0813. The transcription is

faithful with the same errors in the spelling of proper names; the
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same abbreviation E.M., which is meaningless in English; the same
number of victims among the Polish clergy, 2,000 as in T Vb and not

8,000 as in T Va. On the other hand, the translation has been touched
up a little on two occations.

— T Vb reads, page 3 lines 30-31: "Truly, the S.D. and its boss
the R.S.H.A. really went to sleep in this case 3 and in exemplary
fashion made a gardener of the goat"; whereas, in T Vc page 3, lines

38-39, one simply reads: "Truly, the S.D. and their chief the R.S.H.A.
did sleep in this case and took the very wrong man." This story of the

gardener-goat is not clear either for a Frenchman or a Britisher; on
the other hand, P. Joffroy (op. cit., p. 92, note 2) quotes a German
saying: "einen Bock zum Gartner machen," which means "make a
gardener of a goat."

— In T Va and TVb (page 6, line 4) one reads: "no one could ever
retrieve the assorted pairs in the pile 35 to 40 meters high." Thirty-five
to 40 meters represent a height of ten to twelve stories; the translator,

probably alert to this unlikelihood, is satisfied to write in TVc:
"otherwise it would have been impossible later to identify the pairs
in a heap of boots of several meters."

Utilization of T Vc by L6on Poliakov

In 1964, L6on Poliakov published "The Kurt Gerstein File" (M.J.
pages 4-20); in his presentation of Gerstein's account, he writes:

"He [Gerstein] was interned by the French military authorities in a
requisitioned hotel of the little town of Rottweil. There he composed
his narration between 21 April and 5 May and he himself made a
shortened translation in French, typewritten by him. On 5 May 1945,
the Allied military investigators, Major D.C. Evans and M.J.W.
Haught, met Gerstein at Rottweil, by chance as they state, interro-

gated him, and translated into English the whole text of his narra-

tion."

This passage gives rise to the following comments:
a— L6on Poliakov does not seem to be aware that T Vc (the

English text) is only the translation of T Vb which is itself the more
or less faithful transcription ofT Va; thus, by the same token, he does
not know that T Va is the work of the O.R.C.G.

b— Did L6on Poliakov have before him the English text which
indicates clearly "May <5, 1945," and not May 5?

c— The English translation was not made by the two Allied

officers but some weeks later; as mentioned, T Va must have been
sent to Professor Gros in London in a letter dated 6 June 1945.

In regard to Leon Poliakov's assertions, Pierre Vidal-Naquet was
overconfident when he declared publicly in 1981 that T Vc was "the

128



interpretation given by the American and British investigators in

their own report . .
." (C.R. stenogr. 1981).

We have previously had occasion to state that Leon Poliakov had

merely taken six excerpts from T Vc which he then inserted, after

translation into French, into different places of T II. Of these six

excerpts, there are only two which present a text conforming to the

original text.

REPUBLIC OF FRANCE
Liberty • Equality • Fraternity

Presidency of the French Government

Paris, 6 June 1945

General Directorate of Studies and Research, (references illeg-

ible), Head of the Bureau for the Investigation of War Criminals

to Monsieur le Professor Gros, CARLTON GARDENS 4, LONDON
I have the honor to send you herewith the copy of the interroga-

tion by my office of the person concerned: GERSTEIN OF TUBINGEN.

This document will not fail, I believe, to interest you.

In any event, I leave it in your care to decide whether it should be

sent to the WAR CRIMES COMMISSION.
I am satisfied with the first results obtained by the French teams

for investigation of war criminals who are working in Germany, and

I inform you that my services are at the present time in possession of

41,000 record cards on war criminals.

G.MANTOUT

3. Texts of Uncertain Origin

These are T HI and T VI, both in the German language and both

typewritten; neither one is signed.

— T in carries the date of 4 May 1945 but was only discovered, in

circumstances which are not clear, in the spring of 1946;

— T VI carries the date of 6 May 1 945; it was subjected to a "Staff

Evidence Analysis" by the American authorities on 26 October

1945, on the basis of a partial translation of the document made 13

August 1945.

We shall study each of these two "confessions" in turn but begin

with T VI; as we shall give the reasons, which seem to us valid, for

believing that T III was written last.

Text T VI

On the subject of T VI, Saul Friedlander writes (K.G., page 1 1):

"A German text of the report dated Tubingen (actually Rottweil,

Hotel Mohren), 6 May 1945 comes from a certain Stass who, him-

129



self, presumably received it from a police official of Hersfeld in the

summer of 1945, when he returned from the camp of Buchenwald to

Cologne."

What is known of this person Stass? What is known of the

policeman of Hersfeld of whom Friedlander himself writes in the

conditional tense? To our knowledge, nothing is known of these two
persons. Frau Gerstein, questioned by us, replied that she had never
heard of them; she added that her husband had enough wealth of
imagination (Einfallsreichtum) to find the means to have his evi-

dence circulate during his captivity at Rottweil, where he enjoyed
relative liberty.

After an examination by the "Documentation Division" of Major
Storey, T VI was put on file in the series PS with the number 2170. It

was used at least once in the course of a trial: that of Dr. Peters of the

DEGESCH company, which was held at Frankfurt. The DEGESCH
company, in which Dr. Peters occupied an important position, sup-

plied Zyklon B to the German army, in particular to the service

responsible for the disinfection of the concentration camps. There-
fore Dr. Peters had had fairly continuous relations with the SS Ober-
sturmfuhrer Gerstein.

Three "confessions" were examined simultaneously by the Frank-
furt Tribunal: Til, T HI, and T VI; the Tribunal drew attention,

without comment, to certain differences between the three texts,

notably the quantity ofhydrocyanic acid which Gerstein was ordered
to transport to the Belzec camp, namely 100 kgs in T II and T in,

compared to 260 kgs in T IV.

Principal characteristics of T VI

1. Physical aspect

The typewriting is very expert; evidently, this is the work of a
professional, who never failed, in particular, to type on the bottom
right-hand corner of each page, underlined, the first word of the

following page. This cannot be the work of Gerstein, who was only
an occasional typist.

The typewriter used had a German keyboard; one notices espe-

cially the character B, which is specifically Germanic.

2. Numerous errors in the proper names
The errors in the proper names are surprising in a work so care-

fully typed. We shall give some examples:
— page 1: "... in Tubingen, Hartenstrasse 24" instead of Gar-

tenstrasse 24 (Gerstein's address); "Schemann" instead of Schme-
mann (maiden name of Gerstein's mother); "Grafenesk" instead of

Grafeneck; "Arnheim" instead of Arnhem.
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— page 13: "Dorothea Schult" instead of Schulz; "Heinz Neben-

thau" instead of Nebelthau.

The above errors could possibly be explained by a mistaken

understanding on the part of the typist, if the text had been dictated.

But in regard to the error noticed on page 12, it is difficult to come up

with a theory to explain it. Gerstein's Berlin address was actually

flw/tfwstrasse 47, and one reads Liitzowstrasse 47.

3. Comparison between T V and T VI.

On the whole, T VI takes up again, in the German language, the

content of T V, which is a copy of the interrogation by the French

services of the O.R.C.G.

Previously we have seen that T V contains crude errors and

passages composed in a very awkward manner, although the writer

of it may not be Gerstein but either one or several persons whose

native language is indisputably French.

In T VI, the crude mistakes have been corrected. Thus, the execu-

tion decided by the Tribunal of the NSDAP becomes the expulsion;

the collection from the Danish people becomes the collection from

the German people; Hockelchoc becomes Heckenholt, and so on. As

for the awkward passages of T V, they have either been suppressed,

shortened, or presented in a more correct form.

4. Discrepancies noted in the German text

We have previously said that Gerstein could not have typed T VI.

Could he nevertheless have dictated the text of T VI to a typist? We
have serious doubts on this question; for if such was the case, one

could not understand how Gerstein, expressing himself in German,

would commit the two errors we point out as follows:

1st error— On page 2 of T VI one reads: "... ich wurde daher

sehr baldLeutnant und Oberleutnant'
9

meaning: "... I very quickly

became second, then first lieutenant."

In this phrase, one picks up a double error. Firstly, if Gerstein very

quickly became sublieutenant he had then to wait until 20 April 1943

to be promoted lieutenant. And then—which is more disconcert-

ing—the ranks mentioned in T VI did not exist in the SS. Gerstein

was never Leutnant and Oberleutnant but rather Untersturmfiihrer

and Obersturmfuhrer.

In the texts T I, T II, and T IV composed in French, Gerstein

wrote: "I became lieutenant," for he thus gave the equivalent rank in

the French army. He had no reason whatsoever to use incorrect terms

in order to designate his successive ranks in his mother tongue.

Moreover, when on 19 July 1945 in Paris he was interrogated by the

Military Examining Magistrate, he replied in German, in the pres-

ence of an interpreter: "I was named Untersturmfiihrer F" (F being

the first letter of the word Fachfuhrer which means: responsible
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specialist, or specially assigned to a post of responsibility).

2nd error— On page 8 of T VI we read: "Ich trafdann Herrn von

Otter noch 2 mal in der schwedischen Gesandtschaft" which means:

"I met Mr. von Otter twice again, in the Swedish Legation."

In the French texts T I and T II, Gerstein wrote that he had seen

Baron von Otter again once (T I) or twice (T II) at the Swedish

Legation. The German language is more precise than French in the

use of prepositions. Thus, at (in French) the Swedish Legation can

quite well mean: at the interior of the Swedish Legation or nearby or

in front the Swedish Legation.

Where in fact was it that Gerstein saw von Otter again? We know
the answer from the Swedish diplomat who, on several occasions,

said that Gerstein popped up in front of him in a street near the

Swedish Legation (Joffroy, op. cit. page 173 and Friedlander, K.G.,

page 115).

If Gerstein had been the author of T VI, then he would have

written in German: bei (or vor) der Schwedischen Gesandtschaft, but

certainly not in, i.e., inside, since he did not enter the legation.

We have also been intrigued by another passage in T VI. On page

4, line 9 we read: "Sonderkommando Belcec der Waffen 55"; which
is the inscription on a placard at the entrance to the Belzec camp. If

this wording has been exactly reproduced in T VI, it is difficult to

understand why Gerstein would have translated it in the French

versions T I andT II by "Place of service of the SS Army." The Ober-

sturmfiihrer has proved by all the texts he has written in our language

that he knew French sufficiently to translate by "Special Comman-
do" (or yet "Special Team") of Belzec of the Waffen SS." If Gerstein

has written "place of service," one can believe that he has read on the

placard "Dienststelle" and not "Sonderkommando." Is not the word
"Sonderkommando" a fabrication by the writers of T VI? We know
that the word "Sonder," which is never used on its own, is very

current in Germany. For example, one speaks of "Sonderzug" (spe-

cial train), of "Sondernummer" (special edition of a journal) etc. But
after the Second World War, some people have tried to give this word
"Sonder" a special meaning, quasi-diabolic. Thus "Sonderaktion"

(special action) and/or "Sonderbehandlung" (special treatment) sig-

nify for them, without their offering convincing proof to support

such a meaning: an action or treatment having extermination as its

goal, especially extermination in the gas chambers.

In conclusion, the study we have just made of T VI encourages us

to think that this document was "constructed" on the basis of the

texts written in French, notably on the basis of T V. We may hypothe-

size that if it was thought expedient to compose a text in German, it

was because it seemed hardly plausible that the German Gerstein
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should not have left any account of his visit to Belzec and Treblinka

written in his native language.

Text Till

This text, typewritten in German, dated 4 May 1945, unsigned,

was found belatedly and in very special circumstances. We noted

previously that no explanation has been given for the origin of T VI;

two intermediaries of whom we do not even know whether they

existed are the only evidence adduced by Saul Friedlander. An
explanation has also been given for the origin of T HI, but it seems

hardly convincing to us.

A documentforgottenfor almost one year

In 1953, Hans Rothfels wrote the following lines on this subject:

"Es ist daher als ein gliicklicker Umstand zu betrachten, dass sich

eine deutsche Parallelfassung zu demfranzosischen Hauptstilck von

PS-1553 gefunden hat. Sie ist datiert: Rottweil, 4 Mai 1945, ist also

am Tag vor der amerikanischen Vernehmung verfasst. Nach Angabe
von Frau Gerstein hat ihr Mann diese Niederschriftfur sie im Hotel

Mohren in Rottweil deponiert, wo sie erst nach einem Jahr sie

abholen lassen konnte, weil ihr die Tatsache der Hinterlegung

vorher nicht bekannt war" (op.cit. page 179), which means: "It is to

be considered a happy circumstance that a German copy, parallel to

the key document in French PS-1553, should have been found. It is

dated: Rottweil, 4 May 1945; so it was composed one day before the

American interrogation. According to Frau Gerstein's statement, her

husband left this document for her at the Hotel Mohren in Rottweil,

where she could send for it, though not until a year later, because she

did not previously know of its being left there."

The above quotation from the historian Rothfels provokes several

questions:

a. Gerstein mentioned on the first page of T III his address at

Tubingen. Rottweil is less than 150 kms distant from Tubingen. The
German postal services, disrupted during the weeks following the

capitulation of 8 May 1945, did not stay paralyzed a whole year.

Why did not the managers of the Hotel Mohren inform Frau Gerstein

that she had a letter awaiting her collection since 26 May 1945, the

day Gerstein left Rottweil to follow the French officers of Military

Security to Constance?

b. Is it plausible that French Military Security would not have

checked whether their prisoner left personal papers at the Hotel

Mohren?
c. It seems to us even less plausible that Gerstein, unbeknown to

133



the management of the hotel and unbeknown to the French officers,

would have been able to conceal documents in his room or elsewhere

in the hotel; documents which would not be retrieved until one year

later.

The role of the Pastor ofHagen/Westphalia

Hans Rothfels took his information from Frau Gerstein (nach

Angabe von Frau Gerstein)', we also questioned the widow on this

point through correspondence, written in German, and we obtained

interesting details from her. We set out the essentials as follows:

— Frau Gerstein learned at the end of January 1946 by a letter

from Pastor Rehling4 of Hagen/Westphalia that her husband had
written a narration of his experience in the SS, while he was a

prisoner of the French troops.

— She succeeded in obtaining from Pastor Rehling the name of

the place where the SS officer had been prisoner: Rottweil.—She did not go to Rottweil herself, but requested a student to ask

at the Hotel Mohren whether her husband had left anything for her.— The student returned to Tubingen with the last letter written by
the prisoner to his wife, on 26 May 1945; attached to this letter were
two or perhaps three of Gerstein's narrations, namely T IQ and T IV
for certain; Frau Gerstein is not positive about T I.

Who was this student who served as messenger?

We wished to know more about this student who served as inter-

mediary. Frau Gerstein replied to us with a certain reticence. She
informed us, by her letter of 15 October 1982, that so far as she could

recall he was a student who stayed only one or two semesters at

Tubingen; she added that she had had no news of him for decades

and that she did not know his address. On our insistence, she gave us

by letter dated 21 March 1983 the name of this student: August Pott

(and Frau Gerstein has moreover expressed reservations on the

question of this name, which she quotes only from memory).
One day we shall try again to find this student and clarify his r61e

in the discovery of this document. It is the most important of the

"confessions" written in German and the only one we know of to

have been published, although with cuts, first in Germany and then

in other countries, notably France. But those researches which we
intend to make are outside the scope of our present thesis.

How was the Pastor ofHagen informed?

We have previously written that Pastor Rehling was the origin of

the discovery of T III; here are the circumstances: on 27 January

1946 the pastor wrote to Kurt Gerstein (whose death six months
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Liebe ?rau Gerstelnl
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before was unknown to him) at his address in Tubingen. His letter

begins as follows: "Dear Herr Gerstcin, By chance I have received a

paper (Blatt) which is dated 6 May and relates your experiences in

the Health Service of the SS. As you name me as witness, I am asked

whether that is true . .

."

The pastor received a letter from Frau Gerstein in which she

informed him that her husband was not at Tubingen but a prisoner of

the French, and that she had had no news at all of him since the end

of the war.

On 26 February 1946, the pastor replied to the questions that Frau

Gerstein had asked him: "A report (Bericht) of the experiences of

Kurt has been shown to me; this report was brought here from the

south of Germany by the brother of the organist who, to tell the truth,

no longer lives at Hagen. It was dated May of last year from a 'Hotel

Mohren' of a village in Wurtemburg."

This paper (Blatt) of which the pastor writes, extracted from a

report (Bericht) dated 6 May 1945, seems to be page 13 of the

"confession" in German of 6 May 1945, marked PS-2170 (T VI). On
lines 24 and 25 of this page 13 one reads: "Pfarrer Rehling, Hagen
Lutherkirche,fuhrendes Mitglied der westf. Bekenntniskirche" which
means: "Pastor Rehling, Lutheran Church of Hagen, leading mem-
ber of the Confessional Church of Westphalia."

In summary, the conditions of the "discovery" of T IH in the

spring of 1946 seem to us a little confused.

A study of the typewriting of T III

We have already given some characteristics ofT HI in our Chapter

1, "Establishment of the texts." It will be recalled that this version is

not signed. Twenty-four half-pages, numbered 1 to 24, and eight run

over half-pages of supplements, numbered 1 to 8, are typewritten.

1. The keyboard is German
The typewriter used is obviously a machine with a German key-

board; for example, the capital A's and O's are sometimes sur-

mounted with the diaeresis, which is not possible with a French

keyboard. All the same, it is curious to remark that the Germanic
letter B was never used; it has always been replaced with two "s"

characters, contrary to what we noted in T VI.

It is clear to the naked eye that the three typewritten versions

attributed to Gerstein 's typewriting necessitated the use of three

machines with different keyboards. Therefore we do not understand

the assertion made by Saul Friedlander (op.cit. page 179): "It is on
the machine [of Pastor Hecklinger of Rottweil] that [Gerstein] will

first copy his report in French, and then write the reports in German
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dated 4 and 6 May." If the three documents are compared side by

side, what Saul Friedlander proposes as a certainty is immediately

proved false.

2. Irregularity of the spelling

When Gerstein wrote the French handwritten versions, he system-

atically replaced the "u" with "ue." One notices the same character-

istic in the French typewritten version (which we designate T II), for

which a French keyboard was used.

But in the German version T III, there is no consistency in the

spelling, sometimes for the same word. Here are some examples:
— half-page 1, 1st line: Tubingen
— half-page 1, 13th line: Tuebingen
— half-page 2, 1st line: Munster
— half-page 2, 8th line: Bruening
— half-page 8, 4th line: Fuehrer
— half-page 8, 7th line: Fiihrer

We have noticed another anomaly. This relates to the word "Nazi,"

curiously written with a final "e," which is scarcely German; thus

one reads:

— half-page 2, 1st line: Nazie-Statt

— half-page 2, 19th line: stoats (nazie) feindlicher— half-page 4, 5th line: NazieSache
Finally, on line 9 of half-page 17 there is a serious spelling

mistake; one reads "... in typisch himmler-schenAltdeutschen Stiel"

instead of "SfcV," intending to mean: "... in the typical Himmlerian
old-German style."

There is a word "Stiel" but it has a completely different meaning:

it can be translated as "handle" (of a tool), rod (of a curtain), etc.

It is not without interest to note that when Hans Rothfels repro-

duced T in in 1953 (op.cit.) he corrected all the mistakes and anoma-
lies.

3. Discrepancies identical to those ofT VI

One finds again in T III the two mistakes which would be difficult

to explain if Gerstein were its author; namely, the incorrectness in

the ranks of the SS and the use of the preposition "in" to convey that

Gerstein had met von Otter near the Swedish Legation. The com-
ments previously made on the subject of the inscription "Sonderkom-
mando" are equally valid for T III.

4. One half-page handwritten

Between the typewritten half-page numbered 7 and the typewrit-

ten half page numbered 8 there is inserted a handwritten half-page

which carries at the top on the left the note "zu 7, am Schluss

zusetzen" meaning "to 7, to go at the end." It is difficult to explain

the presence of this handwritten half-page in the midst of twenty-four
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typewritten half-pages. The more so, in that the text of this half-page

is devoid of interest. Almost exclusively, it gives details of the

difficulties Gerstein met in disinfecting large quantities of textiles.

There is no corresponding text at all in the other "confessions." It

does not connect either with the preceding half-page 7 or the half-

page 8 which follows. It could easily be deleted, so much so that

Hans Rothfels reproduced it between parentheses in 1953 (op.cit.

pages 188-189).

For our part, as we have grave doubts as to the authenticity of T
HI, we tend to believe that this half-page which was indisputably

composed by Gerstein, was placed there to lend credence to the idea

that the whole composition is authentic.

5. The supplements

We have said that eight typewritten half-pages, undated, represent

the supplements (Ergdnzungen) to T in.

The first supplement, which moreover does not carry a number, is

almost illegible, so defective is the typing of it. It was copied on a

separate sheet headed "Leseabschrift" which is to say "legible copy."

This first supplement is nevertheless valuable because it ends with

four words apparently handwritten by Gerstein.

In regard to this supplement we make the same remark as for the

handwritten half-page: the presence of the handwritten words en-

courages the reader to silence his doubts on the authenticity of the

whole "confession."

Conclusion

At the end of our study, we arrive at the same conclusion for T HI
and for T VI. These two "confessions" in German seem to us to have

been fabricated from disparate documents left by Gerstein; docu-

ments which were not publishable in their original form.

In our next chapter on "The veracity of the texts," we shall

demonstrate that although all the confessions contain peculiarities

and improbabilities, T III has fewer of them. One senses a desire in

the author ofT III to eliminate or tone down the flagrant improbabili-

ties in order to make T III a little less incredible than the other

versions. This reinforces our conviction that T III, "discovered"

nearly one year after 4 May 1945—the presumed date of its compo-
sition—is in fact an account written several months after Gerstein 's

death when the five other versions had already been known and

analyzed.
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Supplements and Drafts

The authenticity of the supplements and drafts (as distinct from
"Additions") is obvious; thus it does not call for study.

Only one of these supplements requires comment: the typewritten

page, in French, headed "post-scriptum" and carrying the number
16.

1. The keyboard of the machine is German
We have examined the typing style of this text. The typewriter

used had a German keyboard. To be certain of this, it suffices to look

closely at the grave accents, the acute accents, and the circumflex

accents; they have all been added, either by the machine or by hand.

In addition, one typing mistake is significant. On the tenth line

before the end of the page, one notices that the typist has struck a "2"

instead of quotation marks. On German keyboard, the "2" and the

quotation marks are on the same key, but this is not the case with a

French keyboard, for example.

2. The typewriter usedfor this supplement is not the one usedfor
Tin
We have made an enlargement of a short excerpt from the supple-

ment in question and from T III. In both of these passages there are

letters in common and even a common word: BERLIN. A close exa-

mination shows that the word BERLIN is 4.3 cms in the excerpt from
THI and only 4. 1 cms in the excerpt from the supplement. A German
typewriter has been used for both texts, but it is not the same
typewriter.5

We suggest an hypothesis: the postscript numbered 16 could have
been typed on a machine loaned by Pastor Hecklinger of Rottweil.

One can believe that the first fifteen pages, which are not discover-

able either at L.K.A. or elsewhere, were also typed on this machine.
In 1961, the pastor supplied to the police of Israel, in connection

with the Eichmann trial, an affidavit according to which Gerstein had
used his typewriter about mid-May 1945. He states in this attestation

that he owned two machines, one of them the machine on which he
typed the affidavit itself. A brief examination of the type shows that

if Gerstein did use a typewriter belonging to the pastor, it cannot be
the one which the pastor used in 1961 (compare, for example, the

style of the number 4). Use of the other machine, whose typing

characteristics we do not know, remains a possibility; this is why we
have suggested an hypothesis concerning the "post-scriptum" docu-

ment numbered 16.

Thus we do not accuse Pastor Hecklinger of a falsehood, but the

fact remains that none of the three complete typewritten "confes-

sions" known to us—that is to say T II, T HI, and T VI—seems to
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have been typed on the pastor's machine.

Gerstein's Letter to His Wife Dated 26 May 1945

There is no doubt whatsoever of the authenticity of the letter. In

the preceding chapter we have discussed the importance we attach to

the following phrase, which we translate "If you have difficulties of
any sort, go with the report, which I attach, to the military governor."

One will notice that Gerstein writes the "report" and not the "reports."

We think that the document mentioned by Gerstein was written in

French since the military governor of Tubingen, where Gerstein's

family was living, was French.

The Obersturmfuhrer had acquired the habit since 26 April 1945
of writing out his "confessions" directly in French for the benefit of
the French officers whose prisoner he was. However, Frau Gerstein

received two reports attached to the letter of 26 May 1945, one in

French and one in German. Let us recall that her receipt of this letter

and the documents attached did not occur until the spring of 1946.

Since we have the conviction, in default of certitude, that Tm is

not authentic, we formulate a hypothesis:

The phrase written by Gerstein in his last letter of 26 May 1945
was sufficiently imprecise to allow a substitution of the documents
attached. If Gerstein had written to his wife "go to the military

governor with the report handwritten in French which is attached,"

there would have been no ambiguity. But Gerstein did not specify the

language used in composing the document. We suspect manipulators
of haying attached T III to the letter of 26 May 1945. This manoeuver
would be the origin of what Hans Rothfels calls "the happy circum-
stance of the discovery of a German copy of the Gerstein document."

These manipulators did not however destroy the text handwritten
in French (T IV); so that the widow received a letter accompanied by
two reports; the one in French (T IV) and the other in German (T IE).

The total silence observed by writers with respect to T IV might
thus be explained by the fact that there it concerned a document
which was superfluous, not to say troublesome, having no reason to

exist. According to the official story, in the spring of 1946, Elfriede

Gerstein had received a letter from her husband dated 26 May 1945,
accompanied by only one document, written in German (T III).

Frau Gerstein's declaration concerning T IV

We have found at Bielefeld (LKA) information which confirms
our hypothesis; it is contained in a document which carries the file

classification Bestand 5, 2 No 14, Fasc 1. It relates to questions

asked of Frau Gerstein and her replies; the text is written on white
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/ANQ. PFARRAMT .
„ „ ,

.rot.twe:la.n. ES^T 15.Fobr.1961.

F»miprt*er t6l

Bcschtinl gun?; .

"Hie'durch bescnsinise ich, daB Herr Gerstein etwe

Mitte Mai 19^5 nuf meiner Dchreibmaschine einen Be-

richt ttber seine Tatigkeit els opitzol innerhalb

der 35 und seinen Yerkehr roit auslandischen Stellen

nieder^eschrieben hat. Kr hielt sioh denials in Bott-

xveil unter Cranzttsi 9chem "re^ahrsara auf , bis er suf

un*ek:l«rte "Yeise verschleppt vmrde. Die Schreibma-

schine war wahrsche'inli ch dieselbe, mi t der diese

Zeilen geschrieben wurden - "MarKe Mercedes .c'riroa,

etwa flus dora Jahr 1935 stanmend. JEs iconnte aber auch

meine alte Schreibrnaschine Orga privet aus dem Jahr

1925 gewesen sein, die ich in jener unruhigen. Zeit

\rieder hervorholte /'frber heute nicht niehr vcrhanden

ist. Leider Icann ich nicht Rehr rait Bestimmthei t sa-

gen, seiche Schreibnaschine ich damals in benutzung

fcatte; aber daB Herr Gerstein bei nir und auf msiner

Schreibmaschine mindestens den grttBten Teil seines

BeriohtBS niedergeschrieben hat, k*nn ich roit Be-

otimrathoit ^exaiphern.

Z.B. : Pfarrer/f/O-^vt-U^

Translations of the last six lines of the affidavit:

Unfortunately, I can no longer say with certainty which typewriter I was then using;

but that Mr. Gerstein typed at least the larger part of his report at my home and on my
typewriter, I can affirm with certainty.



Zu l.).: Y/as ist Frau Gerotein Uber des Zustandekomraen deo franz63icchen

(Rottweil, 26. April 1945) und des englischen Teil« (5,5.45! ! I,

nicht 43 ) bekannt?

Kein Mann hatte sich am 22. April 1945 freiwillig auf der franzbsi:;chon
Koininandantur in Reutlingen gemeldet und war liber Tubingen nach Rottweil
gebracht worden. (In Tubingen hat er seine Farailie nicht an/:otroffen, da
wir kurz vorher die Y/ohnung hatten raumen mUssen.) Es dflrfto ihm sehr
bald klar geworden sein, da!3 er nicht bei jed.em westlichen Alliierten
die Kenritnis der deufschen Sprache und die Bereitwilligkeit , sich ihrer
zu bedienen, voraussetzen konnte, und daQ es angebracht sei, seir.en Be-
richt wahrend der . Rottweiler Y/arteznit in franzosiocher Sprache zu Papie.i

zu bringen. Ihn auch in englischer Sprache n±3srxu±xn±Ba: niederzule/ren,
war ihm nicht moglich, da er die en/*lische Sprache nicht in der-Schule
gelernt, sondem sich nur selbst ini Laufe der' Jahre einige Worte angeeift..
net hatte.

Ob er noch Gelcgenheit finden wiirde, mundlich zu berichten, dttrfte fiir i.fr

in dem ersten Nachkriegs-Chaos auflerdem recht ungewifl gewesnn sein. K§
konnte manch e.inem daran gelegen sein, ihn zum Schweigen zu bringen, unci

es will mir scheinen, dafl sein Tod In dieser Richtung noch (toheimniase
^birgt.

Dem letzten Brief meines Marines an mich (handschriftlich) , fieri ich
auszugsweise folgen lasse, lag auch ein handschriftlicher frnnsooi .-.cher

3ericht - oime Unterschrift - bei, mit dem er mir vermutlich die ttber-

setzung. «H-g seines deutschen Berichtes zwecks Vorla.*e bei der franzSsi-
schen Militarregierung erleichtern wollte; er tragt das Datum des 6.5.45.



paper without either heading or signature: it is therefore impossible

to identify the person who asked the questions.

We requested clarification on this point from the Obersturmfuhrer 's

widow. By letter dated 30 June 1982, she replied to us that she had

been interrogated by the Tribunal of Tubingen on 16 February 1961,

at the request of the State of Israel, within the framework of the

Eichmann trial.

Here is one of the questions to which the widow had to reply:

"What does Frau Gerstein know about the French text (Rottweil 26

April 1945)...?" The reply, translated, of Frau Gerstein: "To the last

letter from my husband (handwritten), an extract of which I shall

hereafter give, was attached a handwritten report in French—with-

out signature—with which he probably wanted to help me in the

translation of his report written in German, to serve as a model for

the French Military Governor; it has the date 6.5.45."

This sentence of Frau Gerstein's is not very clear in German; our

translation, which we wished to make as faithfully as possible, is not

clear either. This lack of clarity reflects the perplexity of the widow.

She was asked a question on the subject of the French text dated 26

April 1945, but Frau Gerstein did not know this text. At the end of

the interrogation moreover she asked that a copy be sent to her (that

isthePS-1553— Til).

The widow had in hand only one French text and it is dated 6 May
1945. She found attached to the last letter from her husband a

document in German, made up of 24 half pages plus eight half pages

of supplementary material. She was persuaded—and an effort was

certainly made to reinforce her conviction—that this very full ac-

count in German was the report mentioned in the letter from her

husband. Confronted, in addition, with a very much shorter French

text, she assumed that it was the beginning of the translation of the

German text. The interruption of the translation could be explained

by a lack of time on the part of the Obersturmfuhrer; and as a matter

of fact, this same 26 May he had to leave Rottweil abruptly to be

transferred near Lake Constance.

It is appropriate to mention that Frau Gerstein, having learned

French in the course of her studies, would have been able—and her

husband was aware of this—to finish the translation for the purpose

of the French Military Governor of Tubingen.

Nevertheless, the supposition of Frau Gerstein does not provide a

valid explanation, because the two texts are too greatly different for

one to be mistaken for the beginning of the translation of the other.

For Frau Gerstein, the presence of T IV next to T III as documents

attached to the last letter from her husband seemed inexplicable. For

us, on the contrary, it is the presence of T III together with T IV
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which intrigues us. It reinforces our suspicion that T HI is not authen-

tic and that its pretended discovery in the spring of 1946 is a fraud.

Interrogations by the Military Justice Department

There are no grounds for questioning their authority. They were
conducted according to the customary rules: each page is initialled

and the signatures of the persons present at the interrogations appear

at the bottom of the last page.

Article Appearing in "France-Soir" 4 July 1945

We lack any means to study the authenticity of a document of
which we are given a facsimile. On the other hand, it seems
superfluous to analyze the content of the article. How could we
distinguish, on the one hand, what Gerstein actually wrote in this

new unknown text of his "confessions" and, on the other, what the

journalist interpreted?

Request for a Lawyer

The authenticity of this text, handwritten and signed, is hardly in

doubt. At the most, one could be surprised at the use of capital letters.

Gerstein's handwriting was difficult to decipher. He perhaps wished
to be more legible.

Fragments of Documents Found After Gerstein's Death

These fragments of documents having disappeared, it would be
pointless to discuss their authenticity.

Photocopy of letter dated 27.1.46 to Kurt Gerstein from Pastor
Rehling.

Photocopy of letter dated 26.2.46 to Frau Gerstein from Pastor
Rehling.

Photocopy of lettering samples of the two typewriters.

Photocopy of affidavit dated 15 February 1961 signed by Pastor
Rehling— referred to on page 138.

Translation of the 6 last lines of the affidavit:

"Unfortunately, I can no longer say with certainty what machine I

then had in use; that Herr Gerstein typed in my house and on my
typewriter at least the greater part of his report I can confirm with
certainty."

Photocopy of extract of Frau Gerstein's interrogation of 26 Febru-
ary 1961. (The English translation of the last five lines is given.)
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Footnotes to Chapter Two

1. A French expression comprising all the English-speaking peoples.—R.V.P.
2. ForT Va, we do not specify on what line the differences are found. A photocopy of

T.Va is not included in this thesis, as we were not permitted by the Direction of
Military Justice to make one.

3. Gerstein is alluding to his assignment to the SS Institute of Hygiene in spite of his

past, which was known to the police; the "gardener-goat" corresponds more or
less to our "chien dans un jeu de quilles" [dog in a game of ninepins].

4. Further on, we shall explain how the Pastor was informed.

5. We have made a further verification which confirms the foregoing: on a line of
16.8 cms we have counted 62 typewriting spaces in the text T m, as against 65 in

the supplement written in French.
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Chapter III

Veracity of the Texts

General remarks 143

What does Gerstein say in his "confessions"? 144

Summary of the "confessions" 144

Is there agreement between all the writers on a common text of

reference for the "confessions"? 146

Statement of the improbabilities and oddities in the "confessions" of

Gerstein 147

Do there exist degrees of improbability between one version and

another of the "confessions" of Gerstein? 153

General Remarks

For the confessions of Gerstein to present some interest, it would

be necessary to demonstrate that they are probable. Thus, one under-

stands the extreme importance of the chapter we devote to their

veracity.

Ghapter I established the rigorous exactitude of the texts. It was

necessary for this work to be done because, on many occasions, very

unfaithful reproductions of these texts have been published; in these

circumstances it became more and more difficult, and even impos-

sible, to distinguish between those reproductions which were faithful

and those which were not.

Chapter II aimed at determining the authenticity of each of the

versions of the "confessions."

Thus chapters I and II have prepared the ground for chapter m.
The "confessions" of the former SS officer constitute one of the

keystones, perhaps even the principal keystone, of the edifice con-

structed by writers who affirm as unquestionable the existence of

homicidal gas chambers in the Nazi concentration camps. Such a

keystone should have the quality, acknowledged by all, of an historic

document. Do the "confessions" of Gerstein have this indisputable

quality? Such is the question to which historians and researchers

cannot avoid an answer.

We have, in the course of this thesis, and especially in the column

of "Observations" in the comparative tables, expressed our doubts

and called attention toparticular improbabilities.

We should now like to treat the question as a whole. Perhaps it is

advisable to recall the principal points of the "confessions" as they

occur, in spite of some variants in each of the "confessions." Conse-
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quently we exclude the supplements, which do not exist in T I orT II.

What Does Gerstein Say in His "Confessions?"

Our choice:

Among the six known versions of the "confessions," we select the

typewritten text in French dated 26 April 1945, designated by the

reference PS-1553, that is to say, the text which we name T II.

Our reasons:

— T II is the most complete of the three texts of which the

material authenticity is the least doubtful; on the bottom of page 6 is

Gerstein 's handwritten signature.

— On the other hand, T II is not the most complete text of the six

versions; it does not have any supplements (Ergdnzungen); but the

supplementary material represent for us, as for Hans Rothfels, Horen-
sagen (hearsay) to which it seems superfluous to refer.

— Furthermore, T II is the text best known in France. Although it

was rejected by the Grand Tribunal of Niirnberg 20 January 1946, it

was later utilized on the occasion of other trials in Germany, as well

as in Jerusalem during the Eichmann trial.

We have made the same cuts as in our typewritten transcription

and for the same reasons (please see page 19).

Summary of the "Confessions" Properly So-Called

1. Gerstein voluntarily joins the SS in March 1941 to see what is

going on and to reveal it later to the whole world.

2. Assigned to the Health and Hygiene Service, he makes im-

provements in the disinfection of the camps and is thereby instru-

mental in stemming epidemics; his successes earn him promotion to

UntersturmfiihrerF (second lieutenant specialist) in November 1941.

3. In spite of the efforts of those who, knowing of his prewar

activities against the state, want his expulsion from the SS, in Janu-

ary 1942 he becomes the head of the Technical Disinfection Service.

4. On 8 June, 1942, he receives the order to supply a camp in

Poland with prussic acid, of which camp only the driver of the lorry

knows the geographical location.

5. At Lublin, he is received by the SS Gruppenfiihrer Globocnik

who tells him: there are three camps functioning and one in prepara-

tion. What is happening in these camps is a state secret. You, Ger-

stein, will have two tasks to fulfill:

— disinfect very large quantities of clothing;

— improve our gas-chamber installation by replacing the exhaust

gasses of our old diesel engine with prussic acid.
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6. He has visited the camps of Belzec, Treblinka and Majdanek,

but not that of Sobibor. He specifies that the three camps which are

working (Belzec, Sobibor, and Treblinka) can exterminate altogether

60,000 persons per day.

7. The next day, 18 August 1942, he visits the camp at Belzec

and sees the whole of the installations.

8. On 19 August 1942 he is present at the arrival of a train of

deportees; at their disrobing; at the handing-in of objects of value, at

the hair-cutting of the women; at the cramming of about 750 persons

standing upright into a chamber of 25 m2 in area and 45 m3 in

volume; at their death throes, when the Diesel starts working, after 2

hours 49 minutes. Through a little window he observes all the details

of this agony, which lasts 32 minutes, stopwatch in hand. He sees the

cadavers brought out by the Jews of the working-party, who salvage

gold teeth and precious objects hidden in certain parts of the body.

9. He sees the cadavers piled into large ditches near the gas

chambers; then he says that, later on, the cadavers were burned on

railway rails in the open air.

10. He estimates the number of victims at Belzec and Treblinka at

25 million.

11. He is begged by Wirth, the camp commandant, to propose

nothing to Berlin for changing the installations, which are giving

him satisfaction.

12. He says that he. has had the prussic acid buried, under the

pretext that it had become unuseable during transportation.

13. On 20 August 1942, he visits the camp at Treblinka, a simple

replica of Belzec but much bigger; he participates at a banquet, at the

end of which there are speeches praising the humanitarian role of the

concentration camps.

14. In the Warsaw-Berlin train he meets a Swedish diplomat,

Baron von Otter, to whom he reveals what he has seen at Belzec.

15. He tries unsuccessfully to meet the Papal Nuncio in Berlin; he

sees von Otter again in the street; he makes a verbal report to Dr.

Winter, the secretary of the Catholic bishop of Berlin.

16. At the beginning of 1944, he receives the order to purchase

large quantities of prussic acid; he sends it to Auschwitz and Ora-

nienburg, but sees to it that it is used for disinfection; he has the

invoices written in his name in order to be more at liberty in the

utilization of the product; he specifies that he has on him the invoices

for 2,175 kgs.

17. He reports the events which have presumably taken place in

the various concentration camps that he has not himself visited.

18. He thinks that it is at Auschwitz and at Mauthausen that there

have been the most atrocities.
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19. He declares under oath that his statements were true.

Is There Agreement Between All the Writers on a
Common Text of Reference for the "Confessions"?

Although it is fundamental, it it difficult to reply to this question.

Other than the Revisionist historians, there is only Pierre Joffroy

who could give unreserved assent; in his book (op.cit. pages 283-290)
he copies exactly the version PS-1553 (T II).

The other non-Revisionist writers have only presented extracts,

sometimes correct, but more often distorted, of the original text. One
could say that they are in agreement on the broad lines of the texts of
the "confessions" but do not stop to analyze what they call details.

For us, it is not so much a matter of details as the very numerous facts

which themselves constitute the fabric of the account.

Thus, Leon Poliakov tells us of the cramming of 700 to 800
persons into a gas chamber but he arbitrarily changes the 25 m 2 to 93
m2 and on two occasions eliminates the 45 m 3

. The German writer

Robert Neumann respects the 25 m2 and the 45 m3 but reduces the

number of victims to 170/180 from 700/800.

These are two extreme cases.

The historian Hans Rothfels has not distorted the German text of4
May 1945 (T HI). He has, however made cuts, but he has always

drawn attention to these by explanatory notes. For example, he has

deleted the passage where Gerstein writes of the speeches made at

Treblinka in praise of the humanitarian r61e of the concentration

camps; he has also deleted certain events related by Gerstein, events

which presumably took place elsewhere than at Belzec and Treblinka.;

These are the Horensagen (things of which Gerstein had merely

heard), as Hans Rothfels clearly indicates {op.cit. page 180, note 6).

The non-revisionist historians often employ an identical formula

in French and in German; they say that the evidence of Gerstein is

"indisputable as to the essentials," which means for them that it is

necessary to believe Gerstein' s account without applying an ordered

analysis of the text. But in our view, the credibility or incredibility of

the whole of the "confessions" depends on such an analysis.

For our part, we have made a very close and careful reading of the

six known "confessions" and we have summarized a substantial

number of improbabilities and peculiarities, without claiming how-
ever that our list is complete.
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Statement of the Improbabilities and Peculiarities in the

"Confessions" of Gerstein

1. Gerstein, who has twice been the victim of the Nazis before the

war, voluntarily joins the SS and does so with the recommendation of

the Gestapo.

2. At Christmas 1941, Gerstein is on the point of being chased out

of the SS because the Nazi tribunal has learned that he was working

there as second lieutenant specialist (Untersturmfiihrer F). But six

months later, on 8 June 1942, he is made responsible for an ultrase-

cret mission: he has to transport to the Belzec camp 100 kgs of

hydrocyanic acid ("confessions" of 26.4.45, T II; and of 4.5.45, T
HI) or 260 kgs ("confessions" of 6.5.45, T IV, T V, and T VI).

3. At Kollin, near Prague, Gerstein—who pretends in other pas-

sages of his "confessions" to be so prudent because of the risk of

reprisals against himself and his family—states that he has let the

Czech personnel of the Kollin factory know (T VI) that the hydrocy-

anic acid was intended for killing people (T III, T IV, and T V).

4. At Lublin, the SS general Globocnik, who has never seen

Gerstein or his travelling companion Pfannenstiel previously, re-

veals to them immediately "the biggest secret of the Reich."

5. Gerstein reports other remarks by Globocnik; they concern the

three camps which are functioning, for which the SS general pre-

sumably gave the following details:

Belzec: maximum 15,000 per day

Sobibor: 20,000 per day maximum
Treblinka: 25,000 per day maximum.
One reads nothing further in the manuscripts handwritten in French

(T I, T II, and T IV) nor in the German version (T III). These figures

could represent the respective totals of deportees arriving daily in

those camps. But in T V and T VI one reads additionally the word

"executions." The last two versions even given an average utilization

for Belzec and Treblinka, namely, 11,000 for Belzec (T V) and

13,500 for Treblinka (T VI).

We have consulted the Encyclopaedia Judaica to discover the

dates of functioning of the three camps. For Belzec, it was not easy

to know whether the extermination mentioned by the Encyclopedia

Judaica came to an end on 31 December 1942 or in the spring of

1943.

Did the exterminations of which Gerstein writes take place every

day? On this point, the "confessions" do not inform us. We set out

below the results of our calculations.

147



The statistics of the Encyclopaedia Judaica apparently do not rest

on any scientific basis. To believe these figures, there would be dead

Encyclo.

Judaica

Belzec, spnng

1942 to end 1942 J
[ 280 days

if 11,000 daily: 3,080,000

if 15,000 daily: 4,200,000
600,000

from spring 1942

to spring 1943 \ 365 days
if 11,000 daily: 4,015,000

if 15,000 daily: 5,475,000

Sobibor,

May 1942 to

14 Oct. 1943 J

530 days 20,000 daily: 10,600,000 250,000

Treblinka, 1

July 23, 1942
j

to 14 Oct. 1943 J

> 450 days
if 13,500 daily: 6,075,000

if 25,000 daily: 11,250,000
750,000

Totals

Total minimum: 23,770,000

Total maximum: 31,525,000

Total average: 27,647,500

1,600,000
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at Belzec, Sobibor, and Treblinka a total of 1,600,000 persons. To

believe Gerstein's figures, one would arrive at a total of about

28,000,000 people, a total which is seventeen to eighteen times

greater than that of Encyclopedia Judaica.

In a book titled Treblinka a certain Jean-Francis Steiner has

written: "At Treblinka, an average of 15,000 Jews were gassed every

day." After having read this sentence, David Rousset was scandal-

ized and made as much known in the periodical Candide (18 April

1966, page 18) where he wrote: "The figure is evidently false. It

suffices for these devil's advocates [i.e., those who deny genocide] to

seize on this figure of 15,000 per day and to show the absurdity of it

by a simple calculation, in order to do incalculable harm." Does

David Rousset know that according to Gerstein's "confessions"

there would have been in three small Polish camps—including

Treblinka—from a minimum of 44,500 victims to a maximum of

60,000 victims every day?

6. Of the four camps mentioned by Globocnik, Gerstein claims to

have visited three. But in five of his "confessions" the camp not

visited is Sobibor and in one "confession" (T V) it is Maidanek that

he has not seen.

7. Hitler and Himmler supposedly visited Belzec on 15 August

1942. Now, it is historically verified that this is a falsehood (see

Professor Hans Rothfels

—

VierteljahresheftefiirZeitgeschichte, April

1953, No. 2). Some have alleged that this was mere boasting by the

SS general. Impossible, because the lie would quickly have been

discovered by Gerstein's conversations with the officials at Belzec.

8. Dimensions of the chambers. In the "confessions" of 26 April

1945 (T I and T II): 4m x 5m x 1.9 m, that is, 20 m2 and 38 m3
. In the

"confessions" of the 4 and 6 of May 1945 (T HI, T V and T VI):

5m x 5m x 1.9 m, which is 25 rri? and 47.5 m3
. But the engineer

Gerstein writes in all his "confessions": 25 rrf and 45 m3
.

9. A figure of 6,700 persons in 45 freight cars, which gives more

than 148 persons per car. There were 1,450 already dead on arrival;

there thus remained 5,250 persons alive.

10. A little boy of 3-4 years, apparently alone, as Gerstein writes

of him, distributes the small strings successively to 5,250 deportees

to tie up their shoes together.

11. A pile of shoes 35 to 40 meters high (in the majority of the

"confessions") or 25 meters (T III); in the first case, a height of ten to

twelve stories and, in the second case, a height of seven to eight

stories. How are such heights climbed to place shoes there?

12. The figures of 700-800 persons standing on 25 m2
, in 45 m 3

(this is a constant of all the versions). Can one imagine a room of this

area and this volume which would contain about 750 persons stand-
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ing one against the other? Thirty persons on one square meter?

13. Unrealistic arithmetic (in two "confessions" of 6 May 1945:

T V and T VI). More than half are children. Weight: 35 kgs (T V) or

30 kgs (T VI). Thus, Gerstein adds, 25,250 kgs per chamber. How
this precise total, which is neither divisible by 35 nor 30?

14. The police captain Wirth, chief of the Belzec camp, interro-

gates Gerstein minutely (sic) to learn whether he prefers the people

to die in a lighted or unlighted room (T V and T VI).

15. Gerstein says he is present at the gassing. He coolly consults

his stopwatch. The Diesel engine does not start. Unperturbed and

inactive, Gerstein counts the passing minutes: 50 minutes, then 70

minutes. Finally, at the end of 2 hours, 49 minutes, the Diesel starts

working. He says he records that at the end of 25 minutes most of the

victims are dead, that at the end of 28 minutes a few still survive, and

at the end of 32 minutes everyone is dead.

If engineer Gerstein is so cold-blooded, the arithmetical errors

pointed out in 8 above cannot be explained by the fact that he would

have been distressed. On the other hand, even supposing one could

concentrate 700-800 persons standing upright into a space of 25

square meters, then these persons would not have been able to

survive for 2 hours, 49 minutes; they would rapidly have exhausted

the oxygen. Finally, if we suppose that nevertheless they could have

survived, how would Gerstein, looking through a small window,

have been able to discern in this extraordinarily compact group those

who were dead and those living? In fact, the dead would not have

been able to fall to the floor.

16. In all the "confessions" it is said that the gassing was done

with an old Diesel engine. The word "Diesel" is repeated three or

four times, according to the version, in the relevant passage. Previ-

ously, Gerstein, when telling of his interview with the SS general

Globocnik, said that the latter told him from the start of the conversa-

tion that the gas chambers worked with the exhaust gases of an old

Diesel engine.

Now the Diesel is an internal combustion engine which gives off

little carbon monoxide (CO), an odorless and fatal gas, but a great

deal of carbon dioxide (C0
2),

a suffocating gas which makes a

person ill but does not cause death until after a lengthy period of

time. It would have been more efficient to use a gasoline engine.

17. Gerstein declares (T V and T VI): "There are not ten persons

who have seen what I have seen and who will see it. . .1 am one of the

five men who have seen all these installations." Now, in his account,

Gerstein himself quotes the names of persons who, between 15 and

19 August, would either have assisted of been present at the mas-

sacres of Belzec. There are already more than ten for this brief period
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of five days. These are:

— Hitler, Himmler, Dr. Linden (15 August)

— Globocnik, Wirth, Obermeyer, Heckenholt (every day)

— Pfannenstiel, Gerstein (19 August)

— anonymous persons: a big SS man with a clergyman-like voice

who reassures the deportees on the fate that awaits them; an Unter-

scharfuhrer (noncommissioned officer) of the service who informs

Gerstein about the utilization of the women's hair; an SS man who,

in his country dialect, states that the deportees can wait naked in the

open air in no matter what temperature since they are there in order

to die; the SS men who with their horsewhips lash the deportees

entering the gas chamber; a Ukrainian who helps Heckenholt to start

the engine; etc.

In any case, how can we accept it that the massive exterminations,

perpetrated over many months and in several camps, could have

fewer than ten witnesses?

18. The bodies are thrown into ditches of 100m x 20m x 12m
situated near the gas chambers. The depth of 12 meters represents 3

to 4 stories of a building. The bodies are covered with a layer of ten

centimeters of sand; only some heads and some arms emerge. Here

we have conditions favorable for the development of an epidemic

which would not have spared either the SS or their auxiliaries.

19. The number of victims in the camps of Belzec and Treblinka:

25 million (T II) or 20 million (T V and T VI). These figures are

unbelievable (see the opinion of David Rousset on Point 5).

20. Wirth proposes to Gerstein to change nothing in the method of

gassing. Thus a simple captain of police refuses tofollow the orders

of an SS general, since Globocnik had ordered Gerstein to change

the method.

21. InT V, Gerstein says: "What is curious is that no one asked me
a single question in Berlin." (He repeats the same thing to Comman-
dant Mattei, who interrogated him in Paris on 19 July 1945, and he

provokes the following reply: "You are charged with an ultrasecret

mission, you do not accomplish it, and no one asks you to make a

report on your return. That was hardly customary in the German
army.")

22. He has had the hydrocyanic acid buried on the pretext that it

had deteriorated during transportation and had become dangerous. It

would be impossible to accept this statement by Gerstein, unless on
condition that we be given details of the operation. Now, during the

interrogation of 19 July 1945, Gerstein states that he was transport-

ing 45 bottles of hydrocyanic acid, one of which had got in bad

condition; he adds that these 45 bottles were hidden 1200 meters

from the Belzec camp. It must have been no small job to hide 45
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bottles. Gerstein claims to have been helped by the driver, whom he

did not know previously and did not see again after their journey

together in Poland, and who, according to Gerstein, belonged to the

Central Security Service.

23. In T I, Gerstein says that after his meeting in the train with the

Swedish diplomat, von Otter, he went to see him again at the Swed-
ish Legation in Berlin one more time. In all the other "confessions"

Gerstein says that he saw von Otter again twice (the diplomat re-

members only one time).

24. Gerstein tells us that from the beginning of 1944, 8,500 kgs of

hydrocyanic acid were stocked at Berlin; he supplies no proof for

specifying that quantity of poison. Then he goes on to speculate on

the homicidal intentions ofSS Sturmbannfiihrer Gunther, who would

have given him the command to place these very large orders;

Gerstein then reviews the categories of possible victims, estimating

them at 8 million.

25. On the advice of Gerstein, the hydrocyanic acid is dispatched

to the camps of Auschwitz and Oranienburg; the Obersturmfuhrer

does what is necessary to insure that this acid will be used only for

disinfection. In none of his "confessions" does Gerstein say that he

has been to Auschwitz. In his interrogation of 19 July 1945 he does

not mention Auschwitz among the camps he has visited. How has he

been able to act at a distance?

26. Gunther envisaged killing with hydrocyanic acid in the open

air, in the moats of Maria-Theresienstadt, the Jews who walked

there. Gerstein dissuaded Gunther from carrying out this project

which was, moreover, impracticable. However, Gerstein learned that

in spite of everything the operation had taken place.

Hydrocyanic acid, which is highly volatile, cannot be used in this

manner "in the open air."

27. Gerstein has seen homosexuals disappear in a furnace (several

thousands in TV and T VI; several hundreds in T III) in a single day

(T H, T V, and T VI) or in several days (T III).

28. In Poland, it is testified to, that to kill people, they were made

to climb the stairway of a blast furnace; that they were executed at

the top of this stairway with a pistol shot and they were thrown in the

chimney of the blast furnace (T III, T V, T VI). Can one imagine the

scene? The people climb one by one to the top of the "stairway"; an

SS man or an auxiliary waits for them at the summit in the fumes of

the blast furnace in order to kill them.

29. At Auschwitz, where Gerstein has never been, several million

children are killed by applying a pad of hydrocyanic acid under the

nose (T V and T VI). The same method of killing children is men-

tioned in T II and T III, but no mention is made of several million.
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Etc., etc.

Over and above the improbabilities and oddities of which the

above list is certainly not complete, one can question the validity of

certain statements which do not have the quality of eyewitness

testimony. In effect, Gerstein has stayed hardly two days at Belzec;

the first day (18 August 1942) he tells us himself that he has not seen

very much; he has only had suspicions. The next day (19 August

1942) he was at Treblinka and in the evening he took the train from

Warsaw to Berlin.

How, in these circumstances, can he write: ".
. .after some days the

bodies swelled and the whole rose an average of 2-3 meters because

of the gas which formed in the cadavers. After some days, the

swelling finished, the bodies fell together"?

The German historian Hans Rothfels has, on the other hand,

forborne to publish the whole of the supplements as well as certain

passages of the principal "confession," alleging that it could only be

a matter ofHorensagen (things learned by hearsay). And yet, certain

of these extracts not published by Hans Rothfels are presented by
Gerstein as eyewitness evidence. Thus one can read, for example:

—/ have myselfseen experiments continued up till death on living

persons in the concentration camp of Ravensbriick;

— At Belzec, / had the impression that all were dead . . .;— / remember some gripping impressions;

etc.

It is appropriate also to note the phrases in which Gerstein impli-

cates two of his compatriots, Professor Dr. Pfannenstiel on the one
hand, and Dr. Gerhard Peters on the other hand. Both of them have
denied having had the attitude or made the remarks that Gerstein has

attributed to them.

Hans Rothfels has suppressed all the passages disputed by these

two persons; he quotes Professor Pfannenstiel only once, in his ex-

planatory notes, and he completely avoids naming Dr. Peters, whom
he refers to simply as the manager of the DEGESCH company.

As for the rest of the "confessions," they are essentially made up
of what Olga Wormser-Migot calls recurring themes "so identical to

fifty other recollections—including those of the memoirs of Hoess"

{op. cit.y page 426).

Do There Exist Degrees of Improbability Between One
Version and Another of the "Confessions" of Gerstein?

All the versions contain a certain number of improbabilities and

oddities which make them unworthy of belief. All the same, the

incredibility is more or less flagrant according to the version.
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One remarks a sort of escalation of improbability in passing from

TItoTII and then toTV.
The case ofT IV is very special; the principal "confession" is very

short: the improbabilities are evidently less numerous; but on the

other hand, T IV includes supplements where one notices statements

difficult to accept, statements which one finds again with variants in

T III, TV, and T VI.

In the chapter on the authenticity of the texts, in default of proofs

which are impossible to find, a certain number of strong presump-

tions have been advanced to sustain our hypothesis that the two

versions in German (T III and T VI) are forgeries. Thus one notices a

relative diminution of the improbabilities in passing from T V to

T VI, then to Till.

T VI, the version dated 6 May 1945, on the whole resembles T V,

but with the elimination of glaring mistakes, the sometimes nonsen-

sical details, the correction of certain errors in the proper names, etc.

Thanks to these arrangements, T VI has been judged worthy to join

the series PS under the number 2170. But T VI has been little utilized

and, to our knowledge, has never been published, even in part.

The elaboration ofT III was more careful; its "discovery," only in

the spring of 1946, gave its writers sufficient time to present a text in

Gerstein 's mother tongue which less spontaneously arouses the skep-

ticism of the reader. It is T III, which was published for the first time

by Hans Rothfels in 1953 (op. cit. y pages 177-194) and often recop-

ied by other writers, German as well as foreign. In France, the

translation ofT HI by Leon Poliakov and Josef Wulf (Le Hie Reich et

les Juifs/Thc nird Reich and the Jews) has fairly often been utilized;

this was the case quite recently when, in 1982, Francis de Fontette

published in the collection "Que sais-je?" (What do I know?):

Histoire de Vantisemitisme (History of Anti-Semitism). On pages

120 and 121, one can read extracts from this version of 4 May
1945—very incomplete extracts to which we shall revert later.

If one accepts our hypothesis of forgery for T III, one can pick out

some of the intentions of the writers, which we set out below:

1. T III is in harmony with T II on several points

T II (PS-1553) was already known when T III was "discovered."

PS-1553 had been submitted to the Grand Tribunal of Nurnberg; it

was desirable that there not be differences too flagrant between T II

and Till.

a. The command given to Gerstein to transport hydrocyanic acid

to the Belzec camp concerned 100 kgs in the versions of 26 April and

260 kgs in the versions of 6 May. T III, dated May 4, is in line with

T II and mentions 100 kgs.

b. Gerstein often mangled proper names; in this way, he writes
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Lindner, the name of the ministerial counsellor, whose name is

actually Linden. One reads Lindner in T I and T IV (both handwrit-

ten) and in T II (PS-1553), while T V and T VI give the correct name
Linden. T III again follows T II and refers to Lindner.

2. T III eliminates improbabilities

Certain improbabilities in T II perhaps explain the refusal of the

Grand Tribunal of Nurnberg to take this document PS-1553 into

consideration. T III eliminates some of them.

a. Number of victims at Belzec and at Treblinka: 25 million (T II)

or 20 million (T V and T VI). Prudently, T III does not offer any

estimate.

b. A little boy of 3-4 years distributes lengths of string to more
than 5,000 persons to tie their shoes together in pairs (T I, T II, T V,

and T VI). In T III, the little boy of 3-4 years has disappeared.

c. Dimensions of the gas chamber: 4m x 5m x 1 ,9m in T n, which
is 20 square meters and 38 cubic meters (T I and T II); and 5m x 5m
x 1.9m which is 25 m2 and 47.5 m3 (TV and T VI). Now, we read in

all the versions: 25 m2
, 45 m3

. T III has chosen the dimensions which
give an exact area and a near enough volume; in this instance, T HI
does not follow T II (PS-1553).

3. Till tones down certain improbabilities

a. In the majority of versions, it is a question of a pile of shoes of

35 to 40 meters (10 to 12 stories). In T HI, has it been thought to

make the statement more credible by reducing the height to 25
meters? This height still represents 7 to 8 stories!

b. "Several thousand homosexuals have disappeared in an oven in

a single day," one reads in four versions. In T HI, several hundreds of

homosexuals have disappeared in some days.

c. At Auschwitz, several million children have been killed by the

application of a pad of hydrocyanic acid (T V and T VI). In T IE, the

children die in the same way but they are not several million.

d. We read in T VI (supplements), written in Gerstein's own hand:

"Being busy with their work, all of a sudden they saw some who
were moving." This refers to the presumed cadavers and an SS
Rottenfuhrer who finishes them off by crushing their skulls with an

iron bar that was already handy. One finds the same sinister anecdote

in the supplements of T III, but the "some" are reduced to "two."

e. Gerstein has seen (T IV, supplements) a little boy of 3 years

thrown into the chamber. In T III, the little boy does not escape the

chamber but he is pushed there with gentleness.

The various points outlined above all contribute, we repeat, to

make of T III not a credible "confession," but merely the least

incredible. These findings reinforce, if need be, our conviction that T
III is a text carefully fabricated in German from the versions in
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French (T I, T II, T IV, and T V).
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I. Before the Publication of the "Confessions"

Until 1951, the texts composed by Gerstein between 26 April and

6 May 1945 were read only by a very limited number of persons,

essentially the officers of the Allied intelligence services, magis-

trates of various nationalities, and some rare journalists. 1

For these first readers, the reality of the massive exterminations in

the gas chambers was never in doubt; the "confessions" of Gerstein

simply served to reinforce their convictions. But, far from consider-

ing the SS officer as an anti-Nazi who had chosen the self-appointed

task of revealing to the outside world the atrocities until then un-

known, these unconditional enemies of National Socialist Germany
perceived in Gerstein a war criminal who had chosen an original

method of defense to exonerate himself. If they noticed improbabili-

ties in the texts, which were most likely read in haste, these improba-

bilities were to them additional reasons to reject the good faith of the

writer of those texts, without much doubting the authenticity of the

facts exposed.

Gerstein lost his life in this venture. His suicide is plausible, but it

is not certain; in Germany, his family and friends do not believe in

his suicide. It is true that the circumstances of his death are some-

what obscure, and we are hard put to explain why his wife was not

informed of his death until 1948.

At the Grand Tribunal of Numberg, the document PS-1553 (T II)

was not accepted; on French insistence, only some invoices for

Zyklon B attached to the principal document were taken into consid-

eration.

In 1950 at Tubingen, the denazification court refused to rehabili-

tate the former SS officer; it granted him only "extenuating circum-

stances" and classified him in a category of minor Nazis (Belas-

teteri).
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n. After the Publication of the "Confessions"

In our introduction, we have followed the various transformations

of the "confessions" and have written of the three authors who each

devoted a book to the biography of Gerstein.

It was of cardinal importance to us, at the beginning of this thesis,

to identify the versions known to the authors and to evaluate their

fidelity in the complete or partial reproductions of such or such text.

It will be recalled that Leon Poliakov in France and Hans Rothfels

in Germany were the drum majors with whom the majority of

non-Revisionists have fallen into step. For this reason, the followers

of Leon Poliakov have recopied the serious distortions of the texts

imputable to him. As for the followers of Hans Rothfels, they have

not questioned the statements of this historian who, without furnish-

ing the slightest proof, attested that the German version of 4 May
1945 (which we call T III) is authentic. These same followers have

duplicated the cuts in the texts made by Hans Rothfels; but generally

their explanatory notes are less numerous and less clear, so much so

that the reader has difficulty in understanding the reasons put forth

by Hans Rothfels. For Rothfels, the cuts are justified for the follow-

ing two reasons:

— certain passages of the "confession" and the whole of the

supplements do not constitute eyewitness evidence, these being the

Horensagen (things learned by hearsay);

— certain comments made by Gerstein in regarding to the two
Germans, Professor W. Pfannenstiel and Dr. Peters of the DEGESCH
company, have been vigorously denied by the persons concerned.

Arriving at the end of our work, after having established the texts,

studied their authenticity, and evaluated their truthfulness, we pro-

pose to classify in three broad categories the writers who dealt with

the Gerstein case.

A. Those Who Do Not Doubt

Pierre Joffroy has made himself the hagiographer of Kurt Gerstein

and leads the small band of those untroubled by doubt. In the course

of a long investigation, he has gathered a great deal of evidence on

the strangeness of the character and behavior of Gerstein. In this he

sees the mark of sainthood, the divine seal, which makes the elect of

God a person misunderstood by simple mortals, an exceptional

being condemned to solitude on earth. In regard to the improbabili-

ties contained in the "confessions," he reproduces a certain number
of them without making the least comment. Perhaps he has not

noticed them as such?
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Helmut Franz, in his book published in 1964, expresses the loy-

alty he has preserved for his old friend Kurt Gerstein; all the same he

recalls in several instances that the engineer's propensity towards

obsessions and eccentricities had often baffled him. In his regret for

not having spontaneously believed the former SS officer 's revela-

tions, Franz gives to his work the character of a self-criticism.

B. Those Who Do Not Believe

Paul Rassinier, the pioneer to whom every historian of the Revi-

sionist school refers, was the first to be intrigued by the strange

account of Gerstein. He made allusion to it for the first time in 1961

in his book Ulysse trahipar les siens (Ulysses betrayed by his own),

page 1 12. He found it surprising that the Niirnberg Military Tribunal,

when trying certain concentration camp doctors in January 1947,

had been able to accept as evidence of the charge a text in which one

reads notably that "the Jews were asphyxiated in groups of 700 to

800 in gas chambers which had 25 m2 floor area and 1 .8m in height."

It is necessary to note that Rassinier never had in his hands either the

original documents of Gerstein's "confessions" nor the file of the

French Military Justice Department, which disappeared in Novem-
ber 1945. Not having been able to make his own first-hand re-

searches, he reviewed what the newspapers, magazines, and books

had written on the subject, then manifested his surprise at the stupe-

fying variations with which he was confronted. But Rassinier did not

know what the former Obersturmfuhrer had actually written; he

began, moreover, by very seriously doubting the authenticity of the

document. He made some suppositions on the origin of the narrative,

on the extortion of "confessions," and on the place and conditions of

Gerstein's death which were not accurate.

Paul Rassinier was obliged to make hypotheses because his only

sources of information were the books of L6on Poliakov, the publi-

cations of Hans Rothfels, and other non-Revisionist authors. One of

the latter, Georges Weller, endeavored to ridicule the errors, real or

otherwise, by devoting some pages to them in the publication of the

Center for Contemporary Jewish Documentation of Paris entitled La
Solution finale et la Mythomanie neo-nazie (The Final Solution and

the Neo-Nazi Mythomania), dated 1977. Relying on documentation

which Rassinier was never able to consult, he re-established the truth

on some secondary points but failed in his main purpose: to make an

incredible story credible. As for the "liberties" taken by Leon Po-

liakov in his reproductions of the "confessions," Weller does not

even mention them. On this point, nevertheless, Rassinier was com-

pletely correct. It was Paul Rassinier who took the initiative, as early
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as 1964, inliis book Le Drame des Juifs Europeens (The Drama of

the European Jews), pages 93-107, to compare side by side two pub-

lications by Leon Poliakov with an extract from PS-1553 (T II):

— one taken from the book Le Breviaire de la Haine (The

Breviary of Hate) 1960 edition;

— the other taken from the book Le Proces de Jerusalem (The

Jerusalem Trial) 1961.

This comparison already reveals some important differences, which
are absolutely inexplicable.

It was again Paul Rassinier who protested against the exaggerated

role attributed to Gerstein in the spreading by word of mouth of

information on the camps of Belzec and Treblinka, since some have
maintained, without proof, that this information was spread as far as

Rome. In his bookL Operation Vicaire (Operation Vicar) Rassinier

courageously defended the memory of Pius XII, which had been
attacked in a manner that in our view was dishonest, by RolfHochhuth,
author of the play Le Vicaire (The Deputy) and by Saul Friedlander,

author of the book Pie XII et le Hie Reich (Pius XII and the Third

Reich). We mention here only the two principal protagonists who set

the trend, to the extent that it has become fashionable to set oneself

up as a judge of ethics in order to question the attitude of the Pope
during the Second World War: it is officially recognized that Pius XII
unreservedly condemned racial persecution and that he intervened

on behalf of the Jews, but he is reproached for not having denounced
the existence of the gas chambers. Could he have done so on the faith

of reports which, like those of Kurt Gerstein, bristled with improba-
bilities? As papal nuncio in Bavaria in 1914, he had occasion to hear

rumors of the same sort, the war propaganda of the Entente. (It is to

be noted that neither Churchill, nor Roosevelt, nor Stalin, nor any
governmental authority of the countries opposed to the Third Reich
had spoken of homicidal gas chambers.) Confronted with the unde-
niable excesses committed against civilian populations by all bellig-

erents, the Pope could only protect, as far as he was able, the millions

of Catholics who existed in one or the other camp, as well as the

non-Catholics who requested his help.

After Paul Rassinier, and because the majority of them have read

Rassinier, authors have expressed their skepticism in regard to

Gerstein 's account. Naturally these include Revisionists such as

Arthur R. Butz (op. cit., pages 251-258), Wilhelm Staglich (Myth.,

pages 10-11), Robert Faurisson (Mem. Def., page 119 and Rep. a P.

V-N, pages 42-43), but also other writers who, on this delicate

subject, have expressed a nonconformist opinion.

Thus the historian Andre Brissaud wrote in 1969: "The evidence

of Kurt Gerstein, of whom some would wish to make a 'saint' today,
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is at the least suspect, as are the very strange circumstances sur-

rounding his 'suicide' and the 'discovery' of his diary" (Ord. Noir,

page 456).

In 1980, in volume III of his memoirs, the writer Raymond
Abellio tells us that he has read the works of Paul Rassinier and the

declaration of the thirty-four historians published in Le Monde of 21

February 1979 (see pages 1 1 et seq.). Abellio adds that he knows of

the Faurisson Affair2 from the book of Serge Thion, Verite historique

ou verite politique? (Historical Truth or Political Truth?). He ex-

presses his feelings about the Gerstein case in the following sen-

tence: "This is a truly enigmatic personage, this Kurt Gerstein who
says he is 'horrified' by what he sees at Belzec and who, in the same
moment, takes out his stopwatch to time, without explaining to us

why, the death agony of the victims" (Sol. Inv., page 432, note 4).

We have already mentioned in this thesis the delicately balanced

point of view of the historian Olga Wormser-Migot, who does not

adhere to Revisionist views but who has nevertheless asked herself

"many questions on the subject of Gerstein and his confessions

without really succeeding in elucidating the obscurities" (op.cit.,

page 426). She adds, some lines further on: "Personalities such as

that of Gerstein, of Sorge, of many double agents, are not easily

decipherable."

For our part, we do not believe that Gerstein was a double agent.

To be sure, Pastor Rehling of Hagen/Westphalia, who had known
Gerstein well since 1928, reported to Pierre Joffroy (op.cit., pages

41-42) that Gerstein had boasted of having performed espionage in

the service of the Reichswehr, notably in France in the region of

Thionville. But, here again, no proof of this mysterious activity can

be put forward. On the other hand, what appears to be very much
more certain is that Gerstein did not benefit, during the war, from any

support either in his own country or abroad; that he had no contact

among Germany's enemies—whether French, English-speaking, or

Dutch—to whom he reported his activities in the SS and whose

directives he followed. From his early years, Gerstein demonstrated

the need to intrigue his friends thoroughly by attributing to himself a

role which, moreover, he perhaps wound up believing in himself. 3

Now, in what did Gerstein's resistance to Hitler consist?

— During the war, he spoke to his friends, to pastors, and to a

diplomat of what he allegedly saw at Belzec. Who actually believed

him at the time? Moreover, should he have been believed?

— He claims to have done away with one or perhaps two deliver-

ies of hydrocyanic acid. If that is true, did he thus prevent a hypo-

thetical homicidal act? Or did he simply reduce the stock of the

product reserved for disinfection of the camps and for which he was
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responsible?

His death—whether or not one accepts the official version of

suicide—in the military prison of Cherche-Midi is not the death of a
double or triple agent, capable of appealing to his protectors; it is the

death of a loner and, in our opinion, of a mythomaniac caught in the

trap of his own devising: the very judicious questions of a French
Examining Magistrate with a logical mind had rendered him un-
stable to the point where he saw no way out but death, a death as

mysterious as his supposed activities in the SS had been.

We do not adopt therefore the hypothesis made by Olga
Wormser-Migot, but we observe that her overall assessment is near
to ours. In fact, she writes in her thesis (op.cit. page 11, note at the

bottom of the page): "...the confession of Gerstein, of which many
points remain obscure, notably the conditions, the place, the time of
its composition. Since the use of his confession in Le Vicaire (The
Deputy) of Rolf Hochhuth, Gerstein appears more as a symbol than
as an historic personality." Since the publication of this historian's

thesis, the greater part of the points raised by her are no longer
obscure; on the other hand, Gerstein still appears as a symbol— in

fact he does so more and more.

C. Those Who Believe the Essential Points

Very rare are those authors who have not noticed the improbabili-
ties and peculiarities sprinkled throughout the "confessions" of the

former SS officer, but many are those who have ignored them, who
couldn't bring themselves to reject this unexpected evidence, unique
of its kind, because it originated from within the SS, and was offered
spontaneously, with no possibility of a claim that any physical or

moral torture had been used on its author.

What we, in our view, consider inexplicable is that an explanation
for these improbabilities and discrepancies has been sought in re-

course, for example, to the following arguments:— Gerstein in his daily life apparently showed rather unusual
behavior; those of his friends interrogated by Pierre Joffiroy or Saul
Friedlander have given many examples of it. So, in these circum-
stances, is it not natural that a "saint astray in his century" should
bewilder ordinary people? One would thus find in his "confessions"

the simple reflection of his strangeness.

— Gerstein would have been profoundly distressed by what he
had seen at Belzec in August 1942; from that date onwards his

physical and psychological health would, it seems, have rapidly

deteriorated. In April-May 1945, he would have passed through a
crisis of exaltation which Germany's final defeat could only have
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exacerbated. In these circumstances, is it astounding that Gerstein

has given incredible details and figures? But how, by contrast, can

one explain the exactitude of his timing with the stopwatch, not to

mention the precise number of blows administered with the horse-

whip by such or such guard?

— That Gerstein did not have "as a predominant characteristic,

precision in the matter of figures," is the explanation supplied by

L6on Poliakov and Pierre Vidal-Naquet (Le Monde, 8 March 1979,

page 30). Paradoxically, these two authors remind us some lines

further on that Gerstein was an engineer (see article and translation

page 168).

Some of these writers who consider the documents of the former

SS officer as "indisputable as to the essentials" do not seem to have

had the slightest scruple in seriously altering what did not seem

essential to them. The textual manipulations and fabrications of

Leon Poliakov have been pointed out in the course of this thesis.

Relying on Leon Poliakov, who is considered a specialist on the

question, many authors have used his distorted texts. This is espe-

cially the case with Saul Friedlander and Francois Delpech.

In Germany, Robert Neumann on the one hand, and Heydecker

and Leeb on the other, have similarly substituted for the unbelievable

figures others that were less so. In our comparative tables, we have

drawn attention to these fabrications, which are different from the

ones of L6on Poliakov.

Often, writers—perhaps confused by the improbabilities or by the

differences between reproductions—have been content to summa-

rize more or less correctly one or another of the "confessions."

Among these, we mention, although the list is not complete: Raul

Hilberg, Lucy S. Dawidowicz, Gideon Hausner, Gerald Reitlinger,

John toland, etc. All these authors, who often claim to be historians,

have postulated that Gerstein's accounts are true in the essentials;

afterwards, they have suppressed their critical capacities, in the best

of cases by toning down any fact which might weaken their belief.

We even witness, lately, the application of a novel and surprising

method in the utilization of the "confessions." We shall give two

examples, taken from works published in 1982 and 1983.

1. Frangois de Fontette— Histoire de V antisemitisme.

On page 154, we drew attention to the publication in France, in

the series "Que sais-je?" (What do I know?) of the History of

Anti-Semitism (No. 2039) authored by Frangois de Fontette, honor-

ary Dean of the Faculty of Law and Economic Sciences of Orleans

and at the present time Professor of the Faculty of Law at the

University Rene Descartes (Paris-V). In his Chapter V, subchapter

V, The Extermination, "The Final Solution,'
9

subdivision 3, The Ex~
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terminations Rationalized, Francois de Fontette has recourse to "only

one witness, Kurt Gerstein, a Christian working in the SS precisely

for the sole purpose of witnessing for the future..." (op.cit., page

120).

Thus Frangois de Fontette makes the same choice as the thirty-four

historians who in February gave their approval to a declaration on
the Hitler policy of extermination which was published in Le Monde
(please refer to page 1 1 et seq.). He does not disclose his source, but

it is easy to recognize in the text he partially reproduces the French

translation of the German version of 4 May 1945 (T III) as it was
given to us by Leon Poliakov and Josef Wulf in their book Le Hie

Reich et les Juifs. Frangois de Fontette has recopied twenty-six-and-

a-half lines of page 1 14 of this book.

This extract describes the procession of the deportees towards the

death chambers. The author neglected to copy thirty-five lines, with

their alleged description of the gassing operation itself.

Frangois de Fontette at this point writes the following sentence:

"And there is the result once the operation is finished." There then

follow seventeen lines from page 115 of Leon Poliakov and Josef

Wulf 's book; these seventeen lines expose the treatment to which the

corpses were subjected after gassing.

To be sure, in the two extracts copied by Frangois de Fontette,

which together make up forty-three-and-a-half lines, it is impos-

sible to point to the smallest improbability; at most one notices some
oddities. The improbabilities that we have pointed out particularly in

our pages, 149, 150, and 151 are not to be seen here, as they are

located in the thirty-five lines that have been avoided.

For our part, we do not believe that this severe amputation of Text

HI could be due only to chance or to limitations on space.

2. Eugen Kogon, Hermann Langbein, Adalbert Riickerl, National-

sozialistische Massentotungen durch Giftgas (National-Socialist Mass
Killing by Poison Gas).

In this book, published in Germany in 1983, Chapter VI was
written by the Israeli Yitzhak Arad; a subchapter entitled "Der
Gerstein Bericht" (The Gerstein Report) takes up pages 171 to 174

and includes extracts copied from the German version of 4 May
1945 (T III). The reproduction is preceded by four lines in which one

notices a good three errors:

1. Gerstein was an Untersturmfiihrer and not Obersturmfuhrer in

1942.

2. He stayed at the Belzec camp on 18 and 19 August 1942 and

caught a glimpse of the Treblinka camp on 20 August 1942; he was
not there "in June 1942."

3. The version he copies very partially is not the version of 26
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May 1945 but of 4 May 1945.

We point out these mistakes on principle, but the essential lies

elsewhere.

The text offered by Yitzhak Arad corresponds to that published,

for example, by Leon Poliakov and Josef Wulf in their book Das
Dritte Reich und die Juden (The Third Reich and the Jews).

The copy of the account begins with one-and-a-half lines which

can be found on page 1 15 of the book just mentioned. This short ex-

cerpt is followed by an ellipsis which replace fifty-one lines of text.

The account begins again with four-and-a-half lines, after which

we find more ellipses which cover the conjuring away of another

fourteen lines of the original text.

The "confession" gets its second wind and reproduces eleven-and-

a-half lines. The text then stops in the middle of a sentence, omitting

the second half of the sentence. This second half of the sentence

comprises one of the improbabilities pointed out in our summary,

namely, the height of the pile of shoes estimated at 25 meters, that is,

7 or 8 stories: a pile at the top ofwhich each deportee had to place his

own pair of shoes.

Having sidestepped this obstacle, the author returns to the text for

seven-and-a-half lines; this time, the ellipsis eliminates two words

which are ohne Prothesen, meaning "without artificial limbs."

The ordeal continues and ends with twenty-two uninterrupted

lines, and it is after this last passage of the account that Gerstein's de-

scription, properly so-called, of the gassing operation itself occurs,

which is to say the heart of the matter, that the writers have ignored.

In this work, guaranteed by the three highest non-Revisionist

authorities of West Germany and Austria (Kogon, Langbein, and

Riickerl), the account which they persist in calling "Der Gerstein-

Bericht" (The Gerstein Report) is carefully purged of every state-

ment not susceptible of belief. Only in the first lines of the excerpt

reproduced are there figures difficult to accept; these concern the

train made up of 45 cars with 6,700 persons, of whom 1,450 were

already dead on arrival, which works out to almost 149 persons per

car, of whom more than thirty are dead!

We have examined in detail the method adopted in the one in-

stance by Frangois de Fontette and in the other by the three German
or Austrian leading lights in this field. This method carries us down a

slope yet more dangerous than those where the Gerstein texts previ-

ously went astray. This time, there are no longer any manipulations

strictly speaking, and much less fabrication; one proceeds by means

of large cuts, by amputations: by "pious cuts," we could say, as one

says "pious lies."

Photocopy of extract from Le Monde of 8 March 1979, page 30.
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Translation as follows:

Document mentioned on page 165

Concerning the Evidence of Kurt Gerstein

Readers of Le Monde were astonished to read, in the Kurt Ger-

stein report quoted in the "Declaration of the Historians" on the

"Hitler Policy of Extermination" {Le Monde, 21 February), that in

the Belzec gas chambers seven to eight hundred persons were

crammed into an area of 25 square meters. Messrs. L6on Poliakov

and Pierre Vidal-Naquet, signatories of the declaration, write the

following clarification:

"We have written that the account of Kurt Gerstein, ardent Chris-

tian and member of the SS, who had, in performance of his duties,

visited the extermination camps of Belzec and Treblinka in the

month of August 1942, was 'indisputable as to the essentials.' This

meant, in good French, that, as for the majority of human evidence,

one could discuss certain details of it. It is clear in fact that in a room
of 25 square meters one can hardly cram, taking into account the

number of children, more than three hundred people. This signifies

quite simply that Gerstein was mistaken either on the dimensions of

the room or the number of victims. This mistake is easily explained:

precision in the matter of figures was not Gerstein' s predominant

quality, and he had dramatically lived his visit to Belzec.

"What remains is precisely what is essential. Kurt Gerstein, SS
lieutenant, chemical engineer, charged by the SS authorities with the

problem of disinfection, was he or was he not present 20 August

1942, at the arrival of a train of Jewish deportees at Belzec and was
he a witness to the extermination by carbon monoxide of these men,

these women, and these children? The answer is: Yes, without the

slightest doubt. In his report dated 26 April 1945, Kurt Gerstein

pointed out that he had been accompanied by Professor Wilhelm

Pfannenstiel of the University of Marburg. Now, the latter, in testify-

ing on 6 June 1950 at Darmstadt, while disputing certain details of

Gerstein's account concerning the figures put forward by him or the

role and the remarks imputed to himself, declared no less than:

'After having cut the women's hair, the whole batch was led into a

building of six chambers. To my knowledge, only four were utilized.

The people were locked into the chambers where the exhaust gases

of an engine were introduced. Gerstein stated that about eighteen

minutes were necessary to reestablish calm inside these chambers.

When the Jews were led in, the rooms were lighted by electricity and

everything proceeded calmly. But, when the light went out, screams

made themselves heard, then quieted down little by little.'
4
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"In addition, Gerstein, immediately after his visit to Belzec and

Treblinka, confided in a Swedish diplomat, Baron von Otter, who
reported to his government. That this latter should have waited till 7

August 1945 to communicate Gerstein's account to the Allies5 brings

into question the courage of this neutral government, not the veracity

of Gerstein 's account. It would be possible to give other details, but

one would not wish to insist."

—Le Monde, edition of 8 March 1979, page 30
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Footnotes to Chapter Four

1. Among these journalists, one can name:

—Geo Kelber, writer of an article published in France-Soir, 4 July 1945.

—Madeleine Jacob, who in January 1946 submitted to the Assistant Prosecutor-

General of the Grand Tribunal of Niirnberg, the Frenchman Charles Dubost,

photographs of the documents which constituted PS-1553 (Pierre Joffroy, op. cit.

page 266).

2. The "Faurisson Affair" exploded in November 1978 when Robert Faurisson, a

professor of literature and specialist in texts and documents teaching at the

University of Lyon II, made it known, principally in the newspaper Le Monde,
that after years of research he had arrived at the conclusion that homicidal gas

chambers had never existed in any concentration camp.

His statement gave rise to a tempest of indignation, his most virulent adversary

being Pierre Vidal-Naquet, professor of ancient Greek history at the School of

Advanced Practical Studies in Paris.

Pierre Vidal-Naquet was one of the two originators of the Declaration of the

Historians. While not a partisan of Zionism, he has always shown great interest in

racial matters and has published many anti-Revisionist articles in newspapers

and magazines.

At a symposium held at the Sorbonne in July 1982 on the subject of Nazi

Germany and the Genocide ofthe Jem, to which Revisionist historians were not

admitted, Pierre Vidal-Naquet took upon himself theresponsibility of explaining

the views of the Revisionists.

Robert Faurisson refuted his reported arguments in a book Riponse d Pierre

Vidal-Naquet (Reply to Pierre Vidal-Naquet).

Professor Faurisson became the defendant in legal proceedings initiated by
LICRA (Ligue Internationale contre leRacisme et rAntise*mitisme/lntemationdl

League against Racism and Anti-Semitism and MRAP (Mouvement contre le

Racisme etpour la Paix/Movement against Racism and for Peace). These asso-

ciations, also acting on behalf of others of a similar character, accused him of

falsifying history.

The French court refused to recognize the principal accusation. He was con-

victed only for "injury to others," which means injury to those who claim to have
suffered from the exterminations, i.e., principally the Jewish community.
In itsjudgment of26 April 1983, the Court ofAppeal of Paris stated that in view

of their seriousness, "the validity of the conclusions defended by Prof. Faurisson

are thus in the domain solely of experts, historians, and the public." That is to say,

there was no legal case to answer.

3. The posthumous legend has taken firm root over the years. Imagine our surprise

on reading an article in Le Monde (23/24 January 1983) signed by Jacques

Nobecourt and titled: "Berlin, 30 January 1933 "L'apocalypse en gibus" (Apoca-
lypse in an opera hat); we have selected the following passage from it: "The mass
of the Germans closed ranks [behind Hitler]. It is a fact. The rest of Europe
understood nothing of what has happened. That is another fact. But if the masses
as a whole have been brought to heel, it is against one individual (Hitler) that a

stand has been taken by other individuals one by one (Willy Brandt, Kurt

Schumacher, Klaus von Stauffenberg, Hans and Sophie School, Kurt Gerstein.

—Two socialists, one officer, two students, an SS officer). Alone they have

chosen their fight, and, for some, their death."

4. Saul Friedlander, Kurt Gerstein ou Vambiguite* du bien. Paris, Casterman, 1967,

page 111.

5. L. Poliakov and J. Wulf, Le III. Reich et les juifs. Paris, Gallimard, 1959, pp. 122-

124.
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Conclusion
In summary, what can be the contribution of this present thesis to

our knowledge, if not of Gerstein, at least of the Gerstein "confes-

sions"?

We find our work to be the first in-depth study made until now of

the texts which historians and experts, for more than thirty years,

have been quoting in support of certain arguments on the subject of

the deportation. To accomplish something new in this field consti-

tuted a difficult task in certain aspects, but easy in others.

— Difficult, because it was necessary to assemble material of

which we knew neither the quantity nor the origin; some had been

found in Germany at the L.K.A. of Bielefeld/Westphalia, some in the

United States at the National Archives in Washington, and yet some
in Paris, in the files of the French Military Justice Department.
— Easy, because, advancing into virgin territory, we gathered a

generous crop of unpublished documents.

The balance sheet of our work and research could, it seems to us,

be described in this matter:

1. Discovery ofa sixth version of the "confessions"

To the five versions of which certain authors had declared they

had knowledge we have been able to add a sixth: handwritten, dated

6 May 1945, composed in French in Gerstein's own hand (T IV), and

so short that it does not describe any gassing. To this sixth version

are joined some supplements; the whole of this material, comprising

the principal "confession" and the supplementary material, has never

been published nor even pointed out by any other author.

2. The restoration of the original text of each "confession" (in-

cluding its supplements)

The exact texts of the six versions have now been established by
us, as well as the texts of their supplements.

3. Examination ofthe origin and the degree ofauthenticity ofeach

text

The origin and the authenticity of each of the texts have been

studied. For some of them, we have expressed certainty; for the

others, we have put forward hypotheses which seem to us solidly

based. We presented a file on the origin and authenticity of these

texts to the historian Alain Decaux who, in March 1983, devoted a

TV broadcast to Gerstein "Espion de Dieu" (God's Spy). In his book
Histoire en Question-2 (History in Question-2), Alain Decaux has

expressed the view that our demonstration was convincing (op.cit.,

page 309-310).

4. Examination of the veracity of all the texts, with a statement of
their improbabilities and discrepancies
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A statement of the improbabilities and discrepancies has been

drawn up in our chapter "Veracity of the Texts." Although it is

certainly not complete, it appears to us that it even now suffices to

raise a question as to the seriousness of a document which has

always been presented to us as having an authentic historic value. In

addition, the comparisons between one version of the texts and the

other have brought to light, in our comparative tables, not just

differences, but inexplicable contradictions.

5. Thanks to a study ofa file—rediscovered—of the French Mili-

tary Justice Department, the clarification ofsome obscure points

Consultation of the Gerstein file at the Direction of Military

Justice has permitted us to elucidate some obscure points and to

bring new facts to light on the disquieting disappearance of the

papers found in the former SS officer's cell after his death. We have
been the first to find and make use of a file which the French Military

Justice Department rediscovered, on 5 August 1971, more than

twenty-five years after its loss.

So much, one can say, for the assets side of the balance sheet. But
there is also the liabilities side. One would have thought that by dint

of assembling these documents and analyzing them, by dint of

reading so many "confessions," the personality of Gerstein might
appear to us less enigmatic. Such is not the case. After this study of

the texts, one would have to undertake further research, mainly

biographical and historical, and particularly the study of the evi-

dence. We have not dealt with the evidence gathered after the war
from people who, in the period from the month of August 1942 to

April 1945, received the confession of the ObersUirmfiihrer. 1

Our thesis did not have for its principal object the personality of

Kurt Gerstein. It was aimed at the narratives of which Gerstein is the

author or which are attributed to him. What attitude can one adopt

toward these accounts, not at a first reading but after an attentive

study?

The most indulgent will be inclined to believe that Gerstein was
present at some painful scenes, that he saw arrive the convoys of

deportees, a certain number of whom were dead or dying; that he

saw the unfortunates undress completely on the orders of Ukrainian

auxiliaries; that he saw the hair-cutting of the women; that he heard

the lamentations of the wretched people, anxious about the fate

awaiting them when they were pushed towards the rooms for show-

ers or disinfection. These are the preliminaries of the account. The
essential part concerns the gassing operations and subsequent events.

This essential part not even the most indulgent of readers could

accept without difficulty, so much of it is abounding with impossi-

bilities as to the physical world. He will believe that Gerstein had
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been psychologically shocked; in Gerstein's place, who would not

have been? Moreover, the physical and mental equilibrium of the SS

officer was very precarious. His diabetic condition sometimes pro-

voked in Gerstein "pre-comatose conditions" which would explain

his lapses of absent-mindedness and some of his strange reactions

(Kurt Gerstein ou Vambiguite du bien/Kurt Gerstein or the Ambigu-

ity of Good, page 152: letter of 30 September 1957 from Dr. Nissen

to Gerstein's widow).

The most severe will consider that the preliminaries of his narra-

tive are already flawed with improbabilities when Gerstein tells of

the excesses committed against civilians, which are unfortunately

common in many wars. But when Gerstein, who was a technologist,

then comes to describe the essential thing, which is to say that

extraordinary invention in the science of crime, the gas chambers

intended for killing masses of human beings, the physical impossi-

bilities that he enumerates and repeats without realizing what he is

stating end up destroying all evidential value in his "confession."

Among attentive readers, the most indulgent as well as the most

severe would not in any case be able to affirm that the "Gerstein

document" is of a quality and reliability such as could reasonably

constitute the fundamental proof of the existence of homicidal gas

chambers in certain camps in occupied Poland.

And yet, his accounts have been accepted. They have been widely

used for the last thirty years. It even seems to us that they are being

utilized more and more. Is it because these "confessions" were

written of his own accord by an officer of the SS that they have

become a cornerstone, perhaps the very keystone of the intellectual

edifice tending to prove the existence of the homicidal gas cham-

bers? We notice that they are referred to as though they were "Holy

Writ." To accept this evaluation, we need assurance that the

non-Revisionist writers have first assured themselves of the reliabil-

ity of the texts. Have they taken this elementary precaution? Our

study leads us to reply unhesitatingly in the negative.

Our preceding chapter has been devoted to the reactions of the

differing categories of readers to the "confessions" of Gerstein.

Now, at the end of this present study, we believe that the differences

between the reactions arise, in part, from the fact that these readers

have not all read the same text. Probably a great many only know of

the existence of one text, not always the same one. Some have

known successively of several texts but if they have noticed the

variations, not to say contradictions, they have always minimized

them, and sometimes even suppressed them.

The obligation to establish a text before writing about it does not

seem evident to everybody.
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When beginning our work, we had envisaged presenting the

narratives of Gerstein in accordance with the traditional method for

classical texts in the collection of "Belles Lettres" (Fine Writings)

commonly known as the "Collection Bude."* This method is to select

a text of reference, which occupies the greater part of the printed

page, and to point out at the bottom of the page, in the space reserved

for criticism, the different variations of the text. We had to renounce

this intention, because the method is inapplicable to Gerstein'

s

"confessions"; and this impossibility gives, of itself, cause to reflect

on the nature of these "confessions."

If we had adopted this traditional method of presenting the texts,

perhaps we should have chosen as text of reference the document
which we name T II, PS-1553; we should have explained our choice

by reasons we have given on page 145, but these reasons would
perhaps have been debatable. In fact, if PS-1553 is the version best

known in France, thanks to Leon Poliakov, Saul Friedlander, and
Pierre Joffroy, it is not so in Germany where, among other writers,

Hans Rothfels and Helmut Franz have agreed on their preference for

the German version of 4 May which we call T III. As T II and T III

are very different from each other, we should have been obliged to

point out these differences between the two texts and to add the

variants supplied by all the other texts.

Let us suppose all the same that by a simple arbitrary choice we
had selected T II as the. sole text of reference. In this case, because of

the profusion of variants, the critique would have occupied a dispro-

portionate amount of space in relation to the text. One line only of

T II would perhaps have demanded a whole page of variants. The
reader would have lost himself in the abundance of notes. It would
not have been possible, at least without very considerable work, to

put together again the complete version of such or such "confes-

sion."

It is for this reason we have felt that we had to adopt the following

solution:

— a typewritten transcription of the complete text;

— comparative tables of the principal differences, completed by a

column of observations.

In 1911, in his Manual de critique verbale (Handbook of Verbal

Criticism) Louis Havet created the expression "the pathology of

texts." Texts are like living bodies subject to illnesses. The illnesses

of texts are their distortions across the ages. We must try to give the

texts back their original form. Louis Havet shows that most of the

distortions or malformations are due to time and the number of

scoliasts,
2 but that others can be due to the mentality or ideology of

those who reproduce them.
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It is in this way that the Christian scoliasts have involuntarily or

sometimes voluntarily Christianized Latin texts.

Many texts have suffered transformations, throughout all periods

of history. One might have thought that in our epoch, when the

technical means of information and communication are consider-

able, texts would be protected from the misadventures of the past.

The example of Gerstein's "confessions" shows that such is not the

case. One even notices, in this instance, an extraordinary prolifera-

tion of manipulations and fabrications, considering that these have

been made in a very short period of time (1945-1983).

The generally improper utilization of the "confessions" of the

Obersturmfuhrer must encourage us to an extreme vigilance, above
all when it relates to texts which, by reason of their content, are

likely to be distorted or appealed to for motives having nothing to do
with science.

The Fertile Spirit of Doubt

A skeptic was needed, that is to say a person who examines, who
doubts and reserves his judgment, to study in detail and at length and

with caution these narrations, which have stirred up too much pas-

sion since their successive and divergent publications. Our ambition

has been to be that skeptic.

Proceeding in accord with the methods universally applicable to

the appraisal of texts, we have wished to offer historians a solid base

from which they will be able to form their opinions. From now on,

each historian will be able to choose his text of the "confessions"

with full knowledge of the case, and he will have the obligation, with

respect to his reader, to specify clearly which one is his choice; in

this way too, we shall dispel some unfortunate misunderstandings.

We hope that one day it will be possible to answer satisfactorily

the multiplicity of questions raised by the Gerstein "confessions."

No one has yet succeeded in giving those answers, which in any case

have been impossible to obtain as long as no one had first cared

about learning what Gerstein had truly said and written.

Montaigne 3 can be taken as a model by skeptics. We have read

again, in the third book of his Essays, chapter 1 1 titled "Of Cripples."

The essayist remarks that in response to a fact reported to them,

many people ask themselves: "How does it happen?" But Mon-
taigne, in his view, considers that before posing oneself such a

question, it would often be more appropriate to formulate at the start

an elementary question: "But...does it happen?"

We have endeavored to show, against this background, what

happened and we leave to others the task of discovering "how it
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could happen."

The establishment of the texts attributed to Gerstein was abso-

lutely essential, but their attentive and prudent reading is no less so.

As we were discovering incoherencies, improbabilities, and in-

consistencies in these narratives, a sentence of L6on Poliakov him-

self impressed itself on us. In his afterword to Saul Friedlander 's

book, Poliakov writes: "Psychiatrists would have plenty of things to

tell us about the Kurt Gerstein case." (K.G., page 200)

The texts of Gerstein have generally been read in haste, without

questioning their veracity "as to the essentials." Paul Rassinier was

the first to demand a special vigilance at every moment of reading

them. It is by adopting Paul Rassinier as a model that we have

allowed ourselves to go beyond the simple establishment of the

texts, by questioning their authenticity and their veracity.

Raymond Aron, in one of his last works (Le Spectateur engage/

The Involved Spectator, page 332) reports a long discussion with

two journalists, and concludes: "I have not convinced them, but I

have made them breathe in the fertile spirit of doubt."

The Gerstein "confessions" have supplied support to the growth

of various beliefs. In our opinion, we consider that this support is not

worthy of confidence.

Now, the "confessions" of the SS officer have to be reread without

forgetting for a single moment what Raymond Aron called "the

fertile spirit of doubt."

Footnotes to Conclusion

1. Guillaume Bude (1467-1540,) French Renaissance humanist. He spread the

knowledge of ancient Greek and instigated the foundation of the College of

France.

2. Commentators and interpreters of the ancient Latin, Greek' etc. texts.

3. Michel Yquem de Montaigne (1533-1592), perhaps more than any other Renais-

sance writer, embodies the French traditions of rational skepticism, common
sense, and tolerance.
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Afterword

The Gerstein Story:

Questions and Comments
by Ronald V. Percival

The thesis was concerned only with a critical appreciation of the

texts of Gerstein's "confessions"; it was not concerned with his

personality or history, and many interesting questions remain.

The three biographies of Gerstein (please see pages 6 and 7) and
Hochhuth's play were propaganda tracts rather than historical stud-

ies and are more misleading than helpful.

If Gerstein survives as a character of historic interest, it will not be
for his exposure ofNazi atrocities, because his evidence is worthless.

He would survive because of the amazing tissue of lies he wove and
because he duped so many for such a length of time.

One would hope that one day an authentic historian, instead of a
propagandist, might decide to get at the truth about Gerstein. He was
mentally unbalanced, to be sure, but was he quite mad? Was he also
a racketeer?

The notes below are not a critique, but suggest some starting

points for such an inquiry.

Gerstein the Confessor

Apart from the four texts which are known to have originated

from Gerstein, copies, drafts, and fragments of others have come to

light. All these were apparently written between 26 April and 6 May
1945. Then the French seem to have stopped him when they found he
had given a copy, with notes, to the Anglo-American investigators.

He must have spent all his days writing and typing.

Why so many?
While on parole at Rottweil he was free to walk about. He had

some German money. He wrote only once to his wife, on the day of
his departure. Although he could have given her a return address (via

the Red Cross and other POW organizations), he did not do so. On
the contrary, he makes a point of telling her that he does not know
where he is going. Furthermore, he does not even mail the letter.

That one unposted letter is the sum total of his contacts with his

own world, once he had deserted.

It seems very clear that he wished to stay untraceable.

But might he have written to his protecting friend Hollander, with
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whom he seems to have been in some sort of complicity?

When Gerstein deserted, the war was almost over. The French had

no need of prisoners and would certainly have turned him back had

he not interested them by his "confessions," which supposedly im-

plicated war criminals.

Gerstein would have known this, of course. Is this why he in-

vented the "confessions"? So that he could stay hidden and untrace-

able and not be returned to Germany?

The key improbabilities of his evidence are already pointed out in

the thesis, but a further list could be continued indefinitely. For

example:
• How would the 1,450 dead-on-arrival have been disposed of?

Several trucks with workers would have been necessary to take them

away.
• How could the little girl have had a coral necklace if all the

victims had stripped naked and turned in all valuables?

But a much more significant example is:

• Why would the SS store the bodies of prisoners who had died of

typhus? This is an amazing notion.

It is incredible that the SS would store typhous corpses and even

more incredible that anyone with a pretense to a knowlege of hy-

giene would report that they did.

To prevent further infection, the best solution with a typhous

corpse is to burn it immediately—hence the crematoria and the

smokestacks. Failing that, the next best solution is to bury it as

deeply as possible so that none of the bacteria, etc. in the body will

contaminate the local water supply.

Although Gerstein reports this incident as hearsay, it is not only

obviously false in itself, but disproves all his other claims of being an

expert at disinfection, of having had medical training, and so on.

Evidently, he had no knowledge of the first rules of hygiene.

Gerstein the Student

20 years old when he passed the Abitur (final high-school exami-

nation). Perhaps later than average, but then he had changed schools

quite frequently.

26 years old when he qualified as a junior mining engineer. Surely

rather late?

As he does not mention otherwise, he must have worked above

ground, an interpretation which is supported by other evidence. He

probably worked at a desk/materials-procurement job for machinery,

since this seems to have been his specialty, if he had one. He claims

no expert knowledge of geology, which is an essential study for a
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fully qualified mining engineer.

31 years old (interrogation of 26.6.45 by Commandant Beck-

hardt), he began the study of tropical medicine at Tubingen. Another
bizarre assertion which seems patently false:

• Since the loss of her tropical colonies after the First World War,

Germany had very little interest in tropical medicine: thus, there

were no career opportunities.

• Would a small university like Tubingen have offered a course in

tropical medicine?

• Even if there were opportunities to study, Gerstein would definitely

not have been permitted to study tropical medicine (a romantic and
glamorous profession at the time) unless he had first qualified in

general medicine.

• His "confessions" show that Gerstein had no knowledge of

medicine whatsoever.

Although this statement is obviously self-aggrandizing nonsense,

a question remains: he could not have been studying medicine, tropi-

cal or otherwise; what then was he doing at that time, if anything?

Gerstein the Activist

In 1925, his joining a religious youth group had no special

significance of its own. The social mores in Germany were much
more conformist than, they are today and nearly all middle-class

youths belonged to one such group or another. These groups also

served as social clubs where the young could meet each other.

Gerstein 's later wife was the daughter of a parson.

His religious convictions, around which he created such a fable in

his "confessions," did not stop him from joining the Nazi party, the

SA and the Waffen SS. A political/military career is an unlikely route

for a devout believer.

Looking at the dates, one could assume that he joined the Nazi
party in 1933 to jump on the bandwagon of Hitler's accession to

power, though we should also remember that many ardent Christians

of all sects were at the same time ardent Nazis.

In 1935-36, we see the first signs of eccentricity/mental aberra-

tion.

Germans happen to enjoy their old folktales (Wagner's operas are

probably the best-known examples). Wittekind is no more "pagan"
than, say, Shakespeare's King Lear. If this was a gala performance

and the audience was there to have a pleasant evening out, no
wonder that Gerstein's interruptions were resented. What could be
more natural? He chose a good occasion to make himself and his

cause, whatever it was, distinctly unpopular.

177



The escapade of the miners' excursion (which, if Gerstein organ-

ized it, further indicates that he worked in the office) can perhaps be

attributed to a warped sense of humor. But the seditious material

found in his rooms on that occasion is more significant because he

was still a stormtrooper. Was he a schizophrenic? Or just looking for

trouble?

Then, to cap it all, he seems to have been involved in some sort of

plot to restore the Kaiser. The frenetic irrationality of this scheme

could be compared to an American trying to restore King George III

c. 1800. Nothing came of the plot because nothing could come of it.

Still, one is forced to the view that he was losing contact with reality.

All in all, Gerstein seems to have been an out-and-out nuisance,

and one is surprised by the tolerance shown by the German authori-

ties. Or was he well-known as a relatively harmless fantasist? One

suspects that if indeed two junior Gestapo officers recommended

him to the army, they were doing themselves some good by getting a

scallawag out of town and letting the army straighten him out.

Gerstein the Soldier

Germany had already been at war for one and a half years when he

joined up. His father, for one, thought that Gerstein was malingering;

but equally likely Gerstein, in light of his patchy record to date,

could have been nervous about presenting himself to the authorities

once more.

Nearly 36 years old, he joins the Waffen SS: too old and too

temperamentally unreliable for first-line combat and, by the same

token, unsuitable for extended and costly officer-training.

In his "confession," Gerstein makes great theater out of his joining

the Waffen SS, which had, in fact, recently been formed for the

attack on Russia and for which recruits were urgently needed.

The Waffen SS quickly became a first-class combat army, no

doubt; even though, with rear-echelon officers such as Gerstein, one

can but marvel. But it was joined only by organizational ties to the

General SS, at that time considered the corps d'elite of the Nazi state.

Gerstein, of course, exploits this confusion to his own profit, by

letting it be believed he was at the very center of the system. And to

support this deception, he loves quoting names and titles (some of

which he cannot even spell) right up to the level of the Fiihrer

himself.

The facts show, however, that Gerstein was hardly on the periph-

ery, let alone at the center of the system. As a junior officer with a

dubious past and an uncertain future, he was given one of the

lowliest and most humiliating tasks: sanitary/disinfection. The word
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for this in the British army, for example, even in these more relaxed

times, is not printable. Let us merely say that the pathway to the

General Staff is not via the debugging unit, and leave it at that.

He was ordered about by younger but more senior officers, which
must have hurt his conception of himself as an outstanding individu-

alist. Except for his routine promotion to Obersturmfiihrer (one

could not stay in the rank of Untersturmfiihrer; one was either

returned to the ranks or dismissed if not promoted), he never merited

further promotion throughout his four-year army career, even though,
latterly, replacement officers were desperately needed for the combat
formations. Like a dud soldier in any army, more menace than use,

he was kept in the rear.

So far as we know, he worked at a petty desk job in Berlin

processing the orders for a pesticide. Even so, this is the most
significant period of his life: the period in which his "confessions"

are based; the period when he says he went to Belzec, when he heard
about typhous corpses stacked like link sausages in a supermarket,

when he was putting up a grand show of anti-Nazi resistance by
listening to the BBC and accosting Swedish diplomats in railway

trains; and, as we shall show, when he was working some sort of

private racket with Zyklon B.

But this is the period which, in truth, we know nothing about.

Gerstein the Expert— Prussic Acid

Confusingly, Gerstein calls prussic acid (hydrogen cyanide —
HCN) by different names, such as "cyanide," "hydro-cyanide," "the

poison," etc.

It is used at various strengths in industry and medicine (not

surprisingly, highly diluted, it is a very efficient tranquilizer) and the

strength is carefully designated, i. e. 1%, 8%, 0.002%, or whatever.

We have to assume, because we have no other choice, that as

Gerstein was writing about prussic acid to kill people and did not

designate any strength less than full-strength, then he must have
meant full-strength prussic acid whenever he refers to this poison in

his "confessions."

It is extremely expensive and extremely dangerous to produce.

It is extremely expensive and extremely dangerous to transport,

handle, and deliver.

As we have to evaluate prussic acid as a cost-effective killing

agent, these two facts have to be borne in mind when we compare it

with other methods, such as an ordinary mass-produced rifle-bullet.

Some of its characteristics are:

• It is colorless, like water. For safety reasons, most manufacturers
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add a dye, traditionally the "prussian blue."

• So far as we know, it has a sweetish smell. Because this odor is

practically unnoticeable, manufacturers add a gas: either a tear gas or

a nauseous gas.

• It boils at 26°C. Human body heat is about 37.5°.

• Its freezing point is -15°C.

• It is soluble in water and other liquids.

• When exposed to the air at temperatures above -15 °C, it evapo-

rates very rapidly (like high octane fuel) at a rate accelerating pro

rata with the temperature. The fumes are of course fatal to any kind

of life except bacteria.

• A dose of 0.05 gram is immediately fatal.

• A dose of 0.01 gram will kill a normal adult within one hour.

• Depending on the concentration or duration of exposure, a resi-

due can stick to surfaces for some time. This is why, after an opera-

tion with Zyklori B, lengthy ventilation is necessary.

• Prussic acid can be absorbed through the skin, even as a gas.

Hence, gas-masks and protective clothing have only a limited utility.

• If more than 75 grams are stored per cubic meter, it will explode.

This explosive characteristic accounts for the superior efficiency of

the Zyklon B pesticide (see below).

• Interestingly, it dissolves gold and is therefore used in the

goldmining industry. Gerstein had studied mining. Is this how he

first heard of it?

• In America, it is still used to execute criminals. The technique of

the operation is extremely complicated: a study of this technique

must surely convince anyone how utterly impractical prussic acid is

as a quick, economical killing-agent for mass exterminations.

In Gerstein's time, there was an aura of mystery and horror about

prussic acid, which still persists. To some extent, it is still an "un-

knowable" chemical, for the good and simple reason that experimen-

tation with it is so difficult, expensive, and dangerous.

Gerstein's practical know-how, his grasp of the simplest arithme-

tic, was almost nil. The thought of his handling a truly sophisticated

and hazardous chemical such as prussic acid is simply ludicrous.

The safest method of transporting prussic acid is to freeze it and

keep it frozen; but the special fridges, containers, and so forth would

have been very difficult and costly in war-time Germany.

Significantly, not once does he tell us what sort of container the

prussic acid was packed in that he carried from Kollin to Belzec. The

reason for this omission is probably simple: he had never had actual

experience of transporting prussic acid, nor had he ever witnessed it

being transported.

Later, under pressure from Mattei, he stated "steel bottles," which
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confirmed his lie that he had transported prussic acid: it cannot be

transported in steel bottles.

Gerstein quotes only two reports, which are hearsay reports, of

killings by prussic acid: the Jews at Maria-Theresienstadt and the

children at Auschwitz. Both reports are wildly unfeasible.

• The 100/260 kilos (to fill the capacity of the lorry) he was

supposed to have picked up at Kollin would have been sufficient to

provide instant death for 2 to 5.2 million persons, i.e., the equivalent

of several atomic bombs.

If the Germans were prepared to produce such vast quantities and

use them so recklessly (lobbing opened cans from the battlements

into a castle moat) why did they bother to invade Russia with an

army? Surely, a few well-placed prussic acid gas-attacks would have

been infinitely more cost effective?

Meantime, what were the views of the solemn Dr. Pfannenstiel, a

doctor of medicine, about trundling such a cargo over the potholed

roads of Poland? In war time?

• The quantity of 8,500 kilos he mentions as Gunther 's stock

would have been sufficient to kill 170 (not 8) million people; which,

if let loose in Berlin, could well have put paid to the history of

Europe and Gerstein forever.

• Ifwe take Gerstein's own calculation of approximately one gram

per person, then the acid may have been diluted to about 5% strength,

in which case, it would not have been effective in rooms such as

clubs and lecture-halls, which have very large air-spaces and, pre-

sumably, reasonably good ventilation; for as the fumes arose, they

would have been diluted into infinitesimal proportions by the air.

The fact of the matter seems to be that Gerstein knew nothing

about prussic acid as such, other than what he might have picked up

from the melodramatic Hollywood gangster films that were so popu-

lar in Germany before the war.

Gerstein the expert— Zyklon B

Thanks principally to the propagandist historians, Zyklon B has

worked its way into the realm of mythology; and we need to make an

intense and careful effort to treat the subject rationally.

The Degesch firm had held the patent for Zyklon B since 1922.

This patent does not cover prussic acid, which had been developed in

the previous century. It covers a process whereby the gas from a very

small quantity of prussic acid is released over a period of hours,

instead of instantaneously, in order to kill vermin. In Britain, this

general process was known as fumigation.

Undoubtedly there has been much confusion about Zyklon B. The
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principle reason for this is that when Gerstein attached the Degesch

invoices to the best-known of his "confessions," he let it be under-

stood by implication that the Zyklon B on those invoices was one

and the same thing as the mass-killing poison he had referred to in

his "confession."

A further reason is that Zyklon B was almost invariably referred

to, verbally and in writing, as "prussic acid"; just as one says or

writes "aspirin," whereas the pure chemical is only a small percent-

age of the whole.

Another reason has been that during the witch-hunts after the war

(and which still continue), when, thanks to Gerstein, Zyklon B had

earned an unholy glory, no sane German would admit he had any

knowledge of Zyklon B, because to do so was tantamount to a

confession of murder.

Thus, this ridiculous myth has been allowed to grow.

It is significant that throughout his "confessions," Gerstein never

once mentions ZyklonB itselfby name; he never specifically identifies

Zyklon B as a killing-agent for mass exterminations.

Zyklon B was also manufactured in France, Britain, and the U. S.

A. Was he fearful that if he drew too much attention to the Degesch
invoices, the investigators might discover what the product actually

was and thus expose his deceit?

As a matter of fact, he gave the Degesch invoices to the Anglo-
American investigators who, as events proved, did not understand

them properly. But he withheld them from the French, to whom he
had deserted, who had first right to all his evidence, and who,
moreover, had been treating him very decently.

But the French, being neighbors, know Germany much better than

do Americans or British. The French include Alsatians, who read and
speak fluent German.

In other words, Gerstein wanted to prove that he was buying

"prussic acid" under the name Zyklon B, and diverting this lethal

prussic acid for disinfection (which is what Zyklon B was intended

for). So he gave this "evidence" to the parties least likely to be

suspicious, the Anglo-Americans. And, incidentally, from that point

onward, the maniac legend of Zyklon B took flight.

Zyklon B had been a standard-issue pesticide in the German army
since 1917. At that stage of the first world war, both sides were using

poison gas, principally P(3-dichloroethylsulphide, which is better

known as mustard gas; but neither that nor any of the other gases

were based on prussic acid.

German technology on the uses of prussic acid was in fact more
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advanced than that of the Allies, but both sides had undertaken

tremendous reasearch in poison gases for mass extermination on the

battlefield.

It is very strange that the Germans, who already had Zyklon B —
which is a sophisticated use of prussic acid— on their books, could

not invent an effective poison gas based on prussic acid, practicable

for mass killings, if such had been possible. No doubt they re-

searched it, and found it impossible.

The manual published in Berlin (a similar one was published in

Prague) is of particular interest because the foreword mentions Ger-

stein by name. Gerstein was never loath to hand himself a bouquet,

and there must be some significance in the fact that in his "confes-

sions" Gerstein does not mention his star role in this production. We
can be sure that his omission was not due to forgetfulness. Could it

be that if he had brought this manual to the attention of the investiga-

tors, they would quickly have spotted that Zyklon B was of no

practical use for killing people, especially the wholesale murder of

hundreds of people at a time?

The SS Colonel, Professor J. Mrugowsky, who was Gerstein's

commanding officer at the Hygiene institute in Berlin, was executed

after the war for allegedly having conducted medical experiments on

criminals who had been condemned to death. It will be noted that he

edited the Berlin manual.

Gerstein surely knew Mrugowsky: they worked in the same build-

ing and must have met frequently, if not at work then in the dining

room. Gerstein must have reported to him on the subject of the

manual.

Gerstein does not hesitate to implicate a full general (Globocnik)

whose name he cannot spell properly and Eichmann (whose name he

cannot spell either) although he evidently met Globocnik only once,

in Poland, and Eichmann, who was in Vienna, possibly not at all.

The question of "war crimes" trials, which become more squalid

and repugnant as the years go by, does not concern us. That aside,

Mgurowsky was a senior officer — by all accounts — a brilliant

doctor. Why does not Gerstein, who evidently loved name-dropping

for its own sake, mention him? His own commanding officer? Can it

be that if he had mentioned Mrugowsky the manual would have

come to light, and that manual, in addition to Mrugowsky' s own
evidence on Zyklon B, would have exposed Gerstein's lies?

The documents show that Zyklon B was a mixture of 98% prussic

acid and 2% stabilizer/tear-gas. This mixture was held in a "porous

mass" (it was actually a wood/vegetable fiber) in the form of a white
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disc.

What the manuals do not make clear (but they are, after all,

operating manuals and not laboratory formulas) is:

• What was the stabilizer which obviously allowed the prussic acid

to disperse gradually over a period of hours and thus reach every

nook and cranny of the room rather than evaporate almost immedi-

ately, as would pure untreated prussic acid?

• What were the proportions of prussic acid, tear gas, and stabi-

lizer in the porous mass? In other words, ifwe have a 500-gram tin of

Zyklon B, how much of it is actually prussic acid?

The element of warning tear gas need not worry us: 1 part to 10

million parts of air will temporarily blind. Thus, if we are discussing

quantities of tear gas that will merely warn but not incapacitate a

person, we are arriving at infinitesimally miniscule figures, which in

any case are irrelevant to the main process.

Although we do not have full details of the composition of the

Zyklon B disc, we can arrive at an estimate by another route:

• Rats are commonly used in laboratory tests because their reac-

tions are usually similar to those of human beings.

• It took six grams of the Zyklon B disc to kill all the rats in a cubic

meter within four hours.

• Three average-sized men take up one cubic meter.

• We know that 0.01 of a gram of prussic acid will kill a man
within one hour.

• We know that army manuals are highly concerned with wide

safety margins, that is to say, the certain death of the rats and the

maximum dispersal of dangerous fiimes.

• So let us be somewhat generous, and, for the purposes of this

simple exercise, ignore the difference in time and assume that all the

rats really died within the hour.

• Thus, if 0.03 grams ofprussic acid are necessary to kill three men
but 6 grams of Zyklon B disc are necessary to achieve the same

result, then the prussic acid actually dispersed under the control of

the stabilizer from Zyklon B was 200 times weaker than pure prussic

acid.

• If four hours really had been necessary to kill all the rats, then the

emission from the disc would have been more prolonged and thus

even weaker.

In other words, with the addition of a little eau de cologne (which

would, of course, dilute it further still) we are arriving within reach

of a medicated after-shave.

While prussic acid— even the gas— can be absorbed through the

skin, the operator in the Berlin manual is not even wearing gloves.

However, as already mentioned, in the disinfection services of the
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German army the brand name "Zyklon B" was rarely used in prac-

tice. "Cyclone," as a name, did not convey much meaning. It could

equally well have described a detergent. Thus, both verbally and in

writing, either the words "prussic acid" or "cyanide" were used to

describe Zyklon B. And why not? There was no other prussic acid or

cyanide to confuse it with.

No doubt the disinfection services of the German army saved

themselves time and trouble by calling Zyklon B by its predominant

component, which everyone would recognize and pay attention to,

but they have indisputably caused much confusion ever since.

It was this terminology that helped Gerstein to pass off his fraud

with the DEGESCH invoices. On these is noted, as a warning and as

the main component, Blausdure, which means blue (prussic) acid,

and the mere name excites the imagination. It fit neatly into all the

propaganda. No one checked what Zyklon B was or how it actually

functioned.

Now, we have to await an enterprising holocaustomaniac to offer

the suggestion that the true nature of Zyklon B, as we have summa-
rized it, is convincing as far as it goes, but it does not go far enough.

To be sure, there must have been two Zyklons: the one a pesticide

and the other (in unlabelled tins?) which was a form of prussic acid

used to kill hundreds of people at one time.

Anticipating this folly:

• No army allows in its stores two dissimilar products with the

same name: in this case, a routine pesticide and a horridly poisonous

gas. The risks are too high.

• The SS offers us a particular example of the reasons for this rule.

Many SS men, and particularly the lower ranks and auxiliaries, were

not even German nationals whose native language was German.

They were Czech, Dutch, Belgian, Ukrainian, French, etc., etc.,

whose knowledge of German was rudimentary.

• How would a Dutch sergeant-storekeeper, with a Polish corpo-

ral-assistant and three Ukrainian privates (whose own language is

written in Cyrillic) ever have sorted out one Zyklon product from

another? For immediate delivery? In time of war? The idea is farci-

cal.

• Of course, there were stock/inventory numbers to go by, in

addition to the name of the article, but these numbers, for ordinary

working purposes, exacerbate rather than solve a problem. They are

merely for administrative controls.

How would a Romanian, who could hardly read and write in his

own language, read off a ten-digit number in German that a Dutch

sergeant could understand?
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• And if the tin were not even labelled? And there were thousands

of other tins in store whose labels had come unstuck because the

British had bombed the barge on the Rhine, and it had been water-

logged for three days?

• And if the unlabelled tins had got mixed with identical unla-

beled tins of sauerkraut? What then?

If there was a killing gas which was meant to be kept secret, why
should it be called Zyklon also, and thus cause confusion? Would it

not have been more sensible to call it Product X? Except that Product

X, if it was prussic acid, would have needed such careful labelling

and storage that it could never be kept secret.

Or some Croatian corporal, or perhaps Hungarian, from simple

curiosity, wondering what those technological Germans were up to,

might open a tin to have a look.

And we also know prussic acid cannot be stored in cans.

We return full circle to the original question: If it could be shown
that gas chambers existed, we might then be able to figure out how
they worked; but since mass-extermination gas chambers did not

exist, can we add one absurdity to another by trying to show how the

impossible worked?

Gerstein the Expert— Gas Chambers

Apart from the alleged episode at Belzec, Gerstein, curiously

enough, never does make explicitly clear what killing-agent was
ultimately used for his massive exterminations. He writes constantly

about prussic acid and leaves us with the impression, by implication,

that prussic acid was used; but he does not say so clearly. This is an

astonishing omission for a trained engineer who kept a file on the

subject. He does not even state whether the inefficient Diesel engine

at Belzec was ever switched over to prussic acid or some other

system.

Some extermination theorists have suggested carbon monoxide,

which is an emission from an ordinary motor engine. But the Ger-

mans were short of motor fuel; nor are there any records of unusual

quantities of motor fuel having been delivered to the camps. Neither

the motors nor the chambers have ever been found. There have never

been eyewitnesses; and besides, the propagandists have always in-

sisted that the killing agent was prussic acid.

Taking their lead from Gerstein, it was Zyklon B which attracted

and held the attention of the propagandists. If prussic acid crystals

could be thrown about like popcorn, what need for other evidence?

Two typical instances from propagandist historians will suffice:

• Raul Hilberg, whose athletic prowess in the struggle against
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evidence has been mentioned in the foreword, states that Zyklon was

prussic acid in pellet form, packed in cans, and that it was odorless.

"One can after another" was emptied into the gas chamber through a

lattice window by a masked SS man. 1

• Gerald Reitlinger writes that Zyklon B was a disinfectant gas

arising from blue hydrocyanide crystals.
2

Neither of them knew what Zyklon B was, and neither had both-

ered to check.

The question remains whether prussic acid crystals or pellets can

be used in this way.

The answer in Hilberg's case is that his idea is pure schoolboy

farce. Mask or no mask, the SS man would not have survived to get

to the top of the ladder; and since the cans were opened before he

started up, neither would any bystanders have survived.

Reitlinger has been more careful. He has avoided telling us how
the crystals were delivered, and has not given us any description of

the gas chamber. He simply seems to have borrowed the idea from

the actual method used to execute criminals in the States, without

mentioning the enormous cost and complexity of the American

operation: a cost and a complexity quite beyond Germany's re-

sources in time of war.

Prussic acid was first developed by a Berliner (hence its name) but

many of its industrial uses were later developed by the French

physicist, Guy-Lussac. Thus France has a strong tradition and much
experience with prussic acid.

One of France's leading experts prepared for Henri Roques a

statement on the subject, to be used in evidence if necessary. We
cannot do better than reproduce it in full, except that, to avoid any

undesired publicity, we have omitted the names of the French and

German companies and the precise location of their factories.

Translation

G6rard Roubeix

51 Aveneu de la Coquetterie

44000 Nantes

12 February 1987

Monsieur le President

Monsieur les Juges

Of the Administrative Tribunal of Nantes.

Gentlemen,

The Roques Affair

Having completed most of my career as an engineer in the hydro-

cyanic acid industry, I have always followed with interest what has
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been said and published on the subject of the gas chambers allegedly

used by the Nazis to exterminate some six million victims. In this

way, along with others, I have interested myself in the Roques Affair.

A former student at the Central School of Arts and Manufactures

of Paris (1947), in 1951 I joined the ...X...group as a chemical

engineer in their technical center at Lyon, whose principle project at

that time was the study and then the construction of a large cyano-

acrylic complex for the ...X...company at (small French town). I

participated in the works relating to pilot-installations of hydro-

cyanide at Toulouse, and other monomers— acrylonitrile and esters

— at [small French town].

In 1960 1 was appointed manager of this factory at [small French

town] which, towards 1970, became the largest hydrocyanide fac-

tory in the world. In 1965, the ...X...company constructed a second

factory on the outskirts of Lyon and I was appointed technical

manager and then assistant general manager of the whole operation.

I can therefore confirm having had a good knowledge of the prob-

lems relating to the handling of hydrocyanic acid and the extraordi-

nary safety measures involved.

Thus it was with astonishment that I have learned of the various

documents published by witnesses of the gas chambers, as well as

the reports, films, and TV programs based on them.

When one recognizes the seriousness of German technicians, for

whom no effort is ever too much and, above all, in aspects of safety,

one is stupefied by the puerile character of the descriptions of the

installations for gassing and their utilisation. One does not play

games with hydrocyanic acid; that is the reason why, although more
toxic than most other asphyxiating gases, it has never been used as a

combat gas in any war.

In regard to its manufacture and industrial use, they are not

possible except at the cost of draconian safety measures and the

operation of extremely sophisticated and very expensive equipment.

A second argument makes me skeptical of the value of the evi-

dence relating to gas chambers.

In 1954, when our research was sufficiently advanced and it was
decided to construct industrial plants, the management requested

that we should buy from [German company] the process for Acrylo-

nitrile, for which the results of our pilot installation had not been

sufficiently convincing. In effect, it was proved that in matters of

chemistry and technology the Germans were more advanced than us;

but on the other hand, on the question of safety, they had stayed with

the old-fashioned treatment, while our Advisor-Professor had al-

ready developed the treatment of those poisoned by hydrocyanic

acid with pure oxygen, a method which thereafter had to be adopted
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throughout the whole world. How is it possible to imagine that with

six million guinea pigs at their disposal, on whom one could try

every possible experiment, the researchers of (German company)

could not have made decisive progress in this field in comparison

with their foreign competitors, who themselves could only experi-

ment on animals? When one bears in mind that the application to

humans of results obtained on an animal is very problematical: we
have seen this very well at [small French town] when our Advisor-

professor wished to test a preventative treatment for hydrocyanic

poisoning which, on the animal, had given every satisfaction...

Finally, my thorough knowledge of the German language has

allowed me to recognize the misinterpretations, omissions, and

falsifications of all kinds in French translations of German docu-

ments when a photocopy of the German original has been available.

Arising from all this, what troubles me is a serious doubt of the

worth of evidence relating to extermination gas chambers, and I

thank and congratulate Monsieur Roques for having, through his

thesis on Gerstein, considerably clarified the question.

Remaining at your disposal for any details you may require, I

request you to accept, gentlemen, the assurance of my very deep

respect.

(Signed Gerard Roubeix)

Anyone can make an honest mistake. Perhaps Hilberg and Reitlin-

ger were only mistaken about Zyklon and prussic acid; but are the

rest of the accounts credible?

We do well to ask this question because it goes to the heart of the

problem: whether their histories are worth anything at all.

• Hilberg 's corpses are "pink in color, with green spots."

In fact, they would have shown no abnormal color at all. Cyanide

victims do not take on the appearance of tropical mushrooms.

(Gerstein's victims at Belzec were blue, whereas if there had been

any coloration, it should have been pinkish.)

• He has an Untersturmfiihrer Grabner "ready with stopwatch in

hand" as the "political chief of the camp" of Auschwitz. This lad

would have been in his late teens or very early twenties, hardly

qualifying for a vote in a general election. What would Auschwitz,

which, according to Hilberg, was staffed by homicidal Nazi maniacs,

be doing with a "political chief anyway?
The stopwatch, obviously, has been pinched from Gerstein's

"confessions," but even so, why would he need one? The deaths took

2 to 4 minutes (they should actually have been instantaneous). What
would be the purpose of a stop-watch? To time the Red Cross car that

delivered the "Zyklon"?
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• Reitlinger tells us that "Zyklon B" was used at Auschwitz from

March 1942 and that Gerstein was sent to Belzec in August 1942 to

demonstrate the system. In that case, Gerstein would have had to

have gone to Auschwitz to learn what the system was. But there is no

evidence that Gerstein had ever been to Auschwitz, nor did he ever

try to switch over the Belzec system. According to Gerstein, he had
no prussic acid with which to switch over the Belzec system; he had

buried it outside the camp before he ever arrived.

Furthermore, all the evidence shows that Gerstein knew abso-

lutely nothing about operations with prussic acid.

We have chosen the examples of these two writers not because

their books are more ridiculous than most, but for the contrary

reason: if thoughtlessly read as romance, their books can be quite

convincing. The alert reader has to give himself a mental shake from

time to time and remember that he is reading fiction, and not history.

Logic insists that there were no prussic acid gas chambers. Is it

possible that there were any other types of gas chambers. The use of

carbon monoxide, because of the shortage of motor-fuel, was not

possible; diesel, with the additional reason that it was ineffective,

equally so.

No one seems to have suggested any other gases, but let us study

this question just a little further, and then close the subject.

• A gas chamber— any gas chamber— by definition, has to be

airtight.

• This being so, then pumping the air out or quickly burning off

the oxygen inside is quicker, more effective, safer, cleaner, simpler,

and cheaper than pumping poisons in.

• No expensive construction works are necessary; a semi-base-

ment or cellar could easily be adapted.

These facts are easily proved, and make the gas chamber theory as

a whole untenable.

Is it likely that the Germans, whose engineering expertise is

second to none, would have overlooked the possibility of vacuum-
chambers if (a huge "if, of course) they had had any mass-extermi-

nation project in mind?
In the concentration camps, rooms have been found and are still

on show, which might have been suitable. But
• Even though they are not airtight and show no signs of ever

having been used as gas chambers (e.g. plumbing), the publicity

handouts still designate them as gas— not vacuum— chambers.

• Since the war, alterations to the rooms have been made to give

them a more convincing appearance.

• It seems that in fact they were storerooms, sometimes garages,
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and were also used as air-raid shelters.

• In any event, there is nothing extraordinary about them. They
are just such rooms as one would expect to find in a vast industrial

complex such as Auschwitz, for example.

And yet Gerstein was a mining engineer.

Natural "gas chambers" underground are a hazard of mines, an
everyday concern.

And so, by the same token, are pumps; pumps of all sorts: pumps
to pump out water, pumps to pump in air, pumps to pump out gases.

One of the very first lessons he should have learned is that when a
miner is deprived of oxygen he becomes unconscious almost imme-
diately, within fifteen to thirty seconds; much more quickly than by
any practical method of gassing. Within a maximum of ten minutes
the victim is thoroughly dead.

When Gerstein wrote of prussic acid and hygiene, he wrote non-
sense.

But the difference is that he did have a diploma as a mining
engineer and therefore should have known he was writing nonsense
when he wrote about gas-chambers.

We meet the same enigma constantly with Gerstein: his lack of
contact with the real world.

Gerstein the Purchasing/Materials Procurement Officer— The Degesch Invoices

Gerstein states that, acting as an anti-Nazi resister and as a savior
of mankind, he diverted supplies of Zyklon B to the disinfection

service. Once again, he is having us understand that Zyklon B was
prussic acid for mass killings, but it was not; it was a disinfectant,

used by the disinfection services ofthe German army since 1917/There
was no question of his diverting Zyklon B to the disinfection service.

The disinfection service is where it should have gone: they had
ordered it.

It is also very strange that although he wants us to believe that

making Zyklon B "disappear into the disinfection service" (which
was about as significant as making potatoes disappear into a kitchen)

was his ongoing anti-Nazi wartime activity, the Degesch invoices
given to the Allied investigators cover only the brief period of three

and a half months, and the invoices were made out about one year
before Gerstein himself decided to "disappear."

There is also semi-reliable evidence that, in spite of Allied air

raids on Dessau, the railways and so on, the normal routine supplies

of Zyklon B to the disinfection services of the concentration camps
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were never seriously disrupted. Thus, it seems clear that Gerstein 's

own private activities with Zyklon B— whatever they were— were

quite a separate and different matter and had nothing to do with

routine army supplies.

Briefly, the DEGESCH invoices that he gave to the Anglo-Ameri-

can investigators but hid from his French interrogators, look very

phony indeed. To evaluate them properly, we should need to see

copies of authentic invoices for supplies of Zyklon B to the disinfec-

tion services at Oranienburg and Auschwitz.

While waiting for authentic invoices to turn up, we wish to point

out that there is no army inventory classification number which is

invariably shown on all army stores transactions. One reason for this

number is that it avoids mistakes due to illegible handwriting, etc.

• There is no DEGESCH invoice number; so how did DEGESCH
keep their invoices in an accurate series on file?

• There is no army purchase order number. On what authority did

DEGESCH supply (the army, according to Gerstein)? Just on Ger-

stein's say-so? Incredible.

• There is no railway waybill, car, or train service number.

• There is no consignment note number.

• The invoices are not signed, neither by DEGESCH as supplier/

deliverer, nor by Gerstein nor anyone else as recipient for the cus-

tomer. Was there no one, either in the army or in the DEGESCH firm,

to take responsibility for this transaction?

Like the "confessions" themselves, these invoices reek with im-

probabilites. But, first and foremost, we have to bear in mind that it

was illegal in the German army (as in any army) for an individual to

buy army supplies in his own name and address. Therefore, Gerstein

could not buy Zyklon B in his own name for the army any more than

a general could buy a tank in his own name for the army.

No wonder that he kept these invoices hidden, especially when we
remember that he did not pay them.

But even if his action had been "innocent" (in which case he

would have arranged payment), i.e., simple but irresponsible igno-

rance of the standard regulations, he would probably have been

court-martialled for incompetence and irregular practice.

What was Gerstein really up to?

He obviously did not understand army accounting methods had he

kept back these original invoices, but this Zyklon B nevertheless

actually arrived at a camp without the covering documents, the army

stores department would have taken it "on charge" and circulated

tracers to DEGESCH, to HQ, etc. etc. And when the delivery was
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proved to have been legitimate, DEGESCH would have been duly
paid.

But DEGESCH, as Gerstein admits, was not paid.Furthermore,

the army could not have paid DEGESCH for these invoices because
there is no evidence whatsoever on the face of them that the army
ordered the goods.

Therefore, we are reasonably safe in assuming that these goods
never arrived in the army stores at Auschwitz and at Oranienburg.

Did Gerstein simply steal some blank DEGESCH invoice forms
during a routine visit and type them up in readiness for his surrender

to the French, intending to use them as a blind? This seems unlikely,

because they date from a year prior to his desertion.

Or, exploiting his personal contacts with DEGESCH, was he
buying Zyklon B in his own name, pretending it would go to

Auschwitz and Oranienburg, but then collecting it himself for sale

on the black market?

Why should he not have been a black marketeer? We know that he
was a traitor, a deserter, and a liar; so his conscience, if he had one,

would not have prevented him.

He never did any actual disinfecting himself, it seems, as he was
simply a very junior supply officer. But he surely knew how the

product worked, or should have, as we know from the manual.

There were plenty of bombed buildings around, homeless people

living in cellars; an efficient pesticide would have been much in

demand. Considering he was not paying DEGESCH, he would have
reaped a handsome profit. A soldier of Gerstein's calibre using his

official position to work a racket must be the second oldest profes-

sion in the world.

There is good reason for this assumption.

The DEGESCH invoices indicate that Gerstein was buying Zyklon
B which did not contain the warning teargas.

We know from the manuals that the German army insisted on
having Zyklon B with the tear-gas content.

This constitutes almost certain proof that Gerstein was indeed

buying Zyklon B for himself, because the army did not use what he
was buying: Zyklon B without tear-gas.

We also know that DEGESCH 's Dessau factory was bombed
during this period. Thus, the supply of materials must have been

restricted and DEGESCH must have given priority to its most im-

portant customer, the army, which only used Zyklon B with the tear-

gas content. So, Gerstein, buying for himself, would have had to take

the second-best quality Zyklon B, the one without tear-gas.

What was he doing with this Zyklon B if not selling it?
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Let us also note that the fact that there was a Zyklon B without a

tear-gas content proves that, so long as the instructions were fol-

lowed, Zyklon B was not dangerous. If Zyklon B had been a lethal

poison gas, a tear-gas content would not have been necessary: the

tear-gas warning would have arrived too late. Before the victim

could have wept, he would have been dead.

The mythologist historians have made great play with the odorless

characteristic of Gerstein's (not the army's) Zyklon B. It was too

good a drama to miss: the poor victims could not smell it, could not

tell what was happening to them, and did not know they were being

poisoned and about to die. This is the stuff of which great Hollywood

is made.

But the Zyklon B used by the German army did have the warning

tear-gas, although it was a disinfectant and not lethal poison.

However, turning the devil's advocate: would it have been more

humane to inform a victim that he was about to die (even though

with pure prussic acid, this is not possible); or let him just drop dead,

as though struck by lightning, which is the way that true prussic acid

works?

Mycologists are hard to satisfy.

Gerstein the Purchasing/Materials Officer: The Belzec Trip

Gerstein's story is full of obvious lies and inconsistencies.

Accepting all these as the delirium of a man who was at least

slightly mad, there yet remains the most serious doubt that Gerstein

went to Belzec at all.

• From the spring until early winter of 1942 a typhus epidemic

swept through eastern Europe, with particular devastation in the

prisoner-of-war and concentration camps in Poland.

• At the time of Gerstein's alleged visit in August, this plague was
at its height and the Belzec camp was under quarantine.

• The anti-typhus vaccine then used by the Germans was not

foolproof, but Gerstein would have had to take several anti-typhus

injections.

How then does he not mention this plague, which must have been

the salient experience of his trip — if he made it? And let us not

overlook the fact that disinfection was, supposedly, Gerstein's spe-

cialty, homicidal so that Gerstein would have had a professional as

well as personal interest.

Here we have, as it were, a transport expert who made a duty visit

to the Afrika Corps in Libya and did not notice the sand. Or an

architect who went to New York and did not see any skyscrapers.
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This is incredible.

He does mention a hearsay report (in a very ridiculous context) of
typhus in a prisoner-of-war camp at Lublin; and he mentions a

previous outbreak in 1941. Neither of these incidents is connected
with Belzec.

What evidence can be shown that he went to Belzec in the summer
of 1942?

There is none.

It is true that he spun some yarn to a disbelieving Swedish diplo-

mat on the Warsaw-Berlin express, but that is all.

On the contrary, the nonsense that he wrote in his "confessions"

plus the fact that he omitted what must have been the outstanding

feature of his trip— the plague— point in the opposite direction: he
never went.

His own story of the trip has elements of surrealist comedy:
• He is sent to Kollin in Czechoslovakia to pick up what he calls

prussic acid, when the parent DEGESCH firm has supplies of the

identical product (whatever it was) at Dessau, just 100 kms away.
•He carries a detached-service order stamped "State Secret."

Since when were state secrets confided to the mostjunior ranks in the

German army? Were their state secrets so un-confidential that they

had rubber stamps made for them?
• His secret destination on this state mission is known only to a

humble army truck driver.

• He picks up sufficient poison (if it was prussic acid) to kill at

least 2-5.2 million people.

• It is packed in steel bottles, which is like saying he was carrying

water in paper bags.

• A general, no less, is awaiting this junior lieutenant at Lublin.

• This general confides in him the personal views of the Fuhrer

(who had never been there).

• This general also instructs Gerstein to switch the Belzec system

to prussic acid.

• Gerstein goes to Belzec, witnesses the most horrific execution

imaginable, and times it with a stopwatch.

• He ignores the general's instructions (generals do not usually

enjoy being ignored, especially where state secrets are concerned).

• He dumps the poison in the countryside (so much for another

state secret).

• He visits even more gas chambers at Treblinka (where, after the

war, the Nuremberg Tribunal confirmed that the victims were not

gassed at all, but boiled) and has a sumptuous dinner.

• On the train, he spins some yarn or other to an incredulous
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Swedish diplomat.

• When he returns to Berlin, no one asks him a single question.

• And, except for listening to the BBC and the VOA, that is all we
know of his activities for the next three years.

• Then, in his "confessions," in his account of the trip, he spells

nearly everybody's name wrong. The only Belzec witness, Pfannen-

stiel, fails to corroborate anything; and, in all truth, if this eminent

doctor had ever met Gerstein, he had almost certainly forgotten him.

He would be a courageous man indeed, or a holocaustomaniac,

who believed any of this.

Gerstein the Purchasing/Materials Procurement Officer:

Destruction of Government Property

It comes as a surprise to remember, if only occasionally, that

Gerstein was supposed to have been a trained army officer. Not

combat trained, but he was supposed to have known the rules and

regulations by which armies function.

In this respect, we have the same difficulty of belief as we have

with his engineering background and his training in disinfection. His

knowledge of the basics of engineering (measurements) was practi-

cally nonexistent and his knowledge of disinfection nil.

We find the same lack of contact with reality in his account of the

bottles of poison he dumped on his Belzec trip:

• Except in combat or in circumstances of immediate risk, such as

a faulty hand-grenade, the destruction of government property was

not permitted.

• If Gerstein had bought supplies at Kollin against an official

purchase order, then he would have been held responsible for deliv-

ery of this stock. It was on the army's books.

• Zyklon B (but Gerstein writes of "prussic acid") had a shelf life

of only three months. This factor might account for his often writing

of the poison having spoiled, which he alleges on this occasion.

• Even so, if it were on the army's books, had spoiled, and he

wanted to destroy it, he could not have done so without reporting it to

a senior officer and going through all the tedious and complicated

formalities of a destruction report.

As a matter of fact, there was an additional rule in operation for

Zyklon B: if it were time-expired, it should have been returned to

DEGESCH so that DEGESCH could recycle the materials.

Thus this incident, petty though it may be, indicates once more:

• Gerstein was not in contact with the real world around him, and

• He lied absurdly.
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Gerstein the Sugar Eater

People who knew Gerstein at this time noticed that he was always

eating sweets. (He kept them in his pocket.) Failing that, he would

eat lumps of sugar— all difficult to find in war-time Germany.

They have also said that (to use an old-fashioned English expres-

sion) sometimes he "felt funny,"and his attention lapsed. It was
thought that he had a diabetic condition.

If Gerstein had been a sick man, there was nothing in his army
files to show it. If he had had any serious ailment endangering his life

or those of others, the army would have had to let him go.

And no physical ailment would really explain the moral depravity

of cowardice, desertion, treason, perjury, etc., that he later demon-

strated— mental decline, perhaps, but no ordinary illness.

This malady, if such it can be called, was possibly a lack of

glucose in the blood (hypoglycemia).

He survived three months as a prisoner without extra sugar rations

or specialized medical treatment. Perhaps he simply had a sweet

tooth?

The point remains interesting. When he wrote his "confessions"

he was describing a fantasy world and, at the same time, his intake of

sugar was reduced.

Could there be a medical connection?

Gerstein the Anti-Nazi Resister

It is notable that none of the anti-Nazi resisters named by Gerstein,

and whom he claims to have known, ever stepped forward to claim

that they had known Gerstein. The best-known, Pastor Niemoller,

politely repudiated having any knowledge ofhim throughout the war.

The records show that while he had gotten himself expelled from

the Nazi party in 1936 (which is not quite the same thing as becom-
ing an anti-Nazi), he was willing enough to ingratiate himself with

the Nazis again by joining the Waffen SS, which he likes to pretend

was the organization at the very center of Nazism— though it was
not. Gerstein is either fooling us or fooling himself if he imagined

that the army did not have his civilian files. Upon his enlistment, they

were automatically transferred to the army. If the Waffen SS had any

special importance to Nazism would Gerstein, who had been ex-

pelled from the party and was on all evidence a crackpot, have been

allowed to join?

Gerstein says he joined to look into the bottom of the sorcerer 's

pot. But in March 1941, when he volunteered, there was no sor-

cerer's pot to look into the bottom of. The mass-extermination
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stories and the gas-chamber myths were put about only towards the

very end of the war by propagandists who had special reasons of

their own for doing so, noteworthy among them Gerstein himself.

Gerstein the Anti-Nazi Resister: von Otter and the Two
Dutch Volunteer Workers

This evidence too is phony:

• The Swedish regime of the time was not neutral. On the contrary,

it was a passive ally of Germany, allowing the transit of German
troops to attack Norway, supplying war materials, and so on.

• Baron von Otter, like his colleague Baron von Lagerfelt, were, as

their names imply, members of the old Baltic aristocracy, of German
origin.

• Von Otter later said he had gone to Warsaw because he was
called as a witness in a petty criminal trial. Does this make sense? As
a diplomat, his affidavit, mailed in the diplomatic bag, would have
been perfectly adequate. Who has ever seen a diplomat giving evi-

dence in court, even in peacetime?

• Warsaw was a restricted military area, a railhead with tens of

thousands of German troops on their way to and from the Russian
front. Even a diplomat would have needed a special travel pass. It

was a long and uncomfortable train ride from Berlin, where von
Otter was actually accredited. Who would make such a journey, into

a war zone, unless for some really solid and important reason?
• The two Dutch workers were paid standard wages; they had

merely volunteered to work in Berlin. Although Holland had a strong

Nazi party, they need not have been Nazis themselves. However, it is

highly unlikely that they were averse to Nazi Germany if they had
volunteered to work in the Nazi capital.

At the end of the war, when the witch hunts began, these three

people would naturally have been anxious to keep out of trouble.

For three years, von Otter had done virtually nothing. Then, the

Allies having won and the issues being clarified, he and his friend

von Lagerfelt, aware that the Gerstein affair had reached the world

press and therefore might prove an embarrassment to the Swedish
government in general, dropped the mask of neutrality.

Lagerfelt (presumably with the approval of his superiors in Stock-

holm) wrote to the British Foreign Office in London.

The British F.O. had no more concern with the alleged crimes

committed on Polish territory by German nationals than it had with

alleged crimes committed by Italian nationals in Chicago. The Swedes,

as trained diplomats, must have known this. The proper addressee

was the Allied War Crimes Commission, which had offices through-
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out Europe.

Why the British Foreign Office? Why London?
The explanation seems to be that Lagerfelt's letter was a feint. He

could truthfully say he had informed the Allies, and he had also

reduced the risk of a reply to the minimum, thus avoiding Swedish
involvement in the affair.

There is evidence that von Otter did not believe one word that

Gerstein had told him. He thought that Gerstein was distraught and
unbalanced, that Gerstein was one of those importunate nuisances

whom one sometimes meets on railway trains and in other public

places. Von Otter had not the slightest intention of disrupting Swed-
ish-German relations or his own career by making an official report

on what Gerstein had told him, until the scandal exploded three years

later.

It is easy to find excuses for von Otter. If he did not believe

Gerstein, then he was in the right.

All the same, if von Otter had reported to the Red Cross or one of

several international organisations at the time, they might have
gotten an inspector across to Belzec and perhaps the Zyklon B and
holocaust mythology could have been scotched at the source. That

chance, however small, was missed.

Gerstein did not meet von Otter and the Dutchmen by a prear-

ranged plan. Their encounters were pure chance.

There is no evidence that Gerstein discussed his Belzec visit (if it

had occurred) with German Mends.
It is a simple fact of life that places like the Belzec described by

Gerstein cannot be kept secret. If they had existed, the Germans
would have known. In Berlin, he was surrounded by tens of thou-

sands of soldiers who had served on the eastern front. He did not tell

Germans because they would not have believed him; and, in addi-

tion, he ran the risk of being shot for spreading false stories against

his own country.

For the moment, unless other evidence comes to light, his chance

conversations sound very much like a self-glorying soldier telling

listeners whom he hopes will be interested and sympathetic his

imaginary war exploits. He had no scruples about lying and, as we
know from his obsessive "confessions," once he got started his

imagination soared.

Gerstein the Anti-Nazi Resister: The Papal Nuncio

There is no evidence whatsoever, as it happens, that Gerstein ever

tried to meet the papal nuncio. We have only Gerstein's word for it,

and Gerstein's word is worthless.
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If, however, Gerstein did try, religious expert and Christian martyr

though he was, then he was peculiarly ignorant on two points about

the Catholic church, which any intelligent non-Catholic would know:
• The nuncio (as his title implies) was responsible for the Vatican's

relations with the German government.

The German hierarchy was responsible for the church's affairs

within Germany. In this context, the nuncio would have been guilty

of a serious lapse of protocol (which means, in our language, a gra-

tuitous insult to the German government) if he had discussed Ger-

man affairs other than with an official of the German government.

It is unthinkable that a papal nuncio would take that risk; the

maintenance of relations with any government, no matter what its

character, is at the heart of the work of the Catholic church, so that it

can maintain contact and guard the interests of its faithful. Has any-

one ever heard of the Vatican breaking off diplomatic relations with

even the most dastardly and murderous governments?

• The Vatican will never take sides when Catholics are in armed

confllict with each other. This policy, too, has been well-known for

centuries.

Still, if Gerstein felt as strongly about his Belzec experiences (as-

suming he had been there) as he said in his "confessions" (three

years later), why did he not write? Even the Vatican reads its mail,

which was not censored. He says he made a "detailed referral" to the

secretary to the Archbishop, Dr. Winter, but we have no evidence for

this either. Was this referral written or spoken? Who were the hun-

dreds of thousands of other persons to whom he retailed these

stories? How is it that the Gestapo did not arrest him, as they had

before the war, for subversion?

As it happens, Gerstein was a Protestant, although there was noth-

ing wrong in his trying to approach the Catholic authorities, as this

would have been a matter of common concern. But were there not

Protestant leaders who would have been equally outraged by his

revelations had they been true? Surely, there were. But here his

problem seems to have been that the Protestant authorities were

Germans, not foreign Italian prelates and thus, being of the country,

had a much clearer idea of what could or could not be believed.

Nevertheless, if Gerstein had made a credible report to some

Catholic authority, it would be fair to assume that it would somehow

have gotten through to the Vatican.

As is to be expected, the volumes of documents published by the

Vatican on events during the Second World War show nothing under

the name of Kurt Gerstein. Even so, there may yet be something still

unpublished on file.

Have any of the Hochuth, Friedlander, and Joffroy group, who
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claim such an exemplary morality for themselves, demonstrated the

basic decency of asking the Vatican? One would like to know,

because this would help indicate whether a search of the Vatican

archives is worthwhile or not.

Failing that (perhaps Gerstein's report, if there was one, was sent

anonymously) the Vatican could be asked whether they lost 2,000 or

8,000 Polish clergy during the war: Gerstein's figures would have

included the Primate perhaps, but at least half a dozen archbishops

and cardinals, some scores of bishops, principals of schools, semi-

naries, colleges and the like. Pope Pius XII was reputed to have been

an able administrator. Is it possible that 2,000 or 8,000 Polish clergy

should go missing and the Vatican not know?
It is curious how the propagandist writers have tried to canonize a

scoundrel and a charlatan such as Gerstein, against whom we have

ample proof, and have tried to pillory Pius XII, against whom we
have no proof at all.

They claim as their justification that they are anti-Nazi, which is a

safe and easy thing to be now that the Nazis themselves are safely off

the scene. They also claim that the Nazis were authoritarian and

racist: yet, what would be the difference between attacking, let us

say, a Jew with no justification and a Pope with no justification?

This illiberality of the propagandist school and the powers behind

it who support the authorised versions of history has much in com-
mon with the methods they allege against the Nazis.

Gerstein the Patriot

A fable has evolved that a German who was a traitor to his country

during and after the war was automatically and by the same token

some sort of superpatriot, a hero ofhuman rights, democracy and so

forth. This was the glorious picture that Gerstein wanted to paint of

himself: the anguished Christian humanitarian who would have pre-

ferred to die with the Jews in the Belzec gas chambers if he had not

had the more important duty to continue living and witness the truth

— which solemn duty he performed by means of accidental encoun-

ters with one embarrassed Swede and two obscure Dutchmen.
Gerstein was in fact a very slippery and erratic character. He says

that the Nazis were anti-Christian (which they were not) but he

abandons his Christian beliefs to join the party all the same. Then—
as he clearly states — he joins the Waffen SS with the avowed
intention of betrayal. He gets into some kind of private racket with a

government pesticide. Then on evidence which is either patently

false or not supplied at all, he deserts his post and his family, and

betrays his comrades and his country to the Allies.
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Did he have any loyalty to anyone except himself? Apparently

not. In his "confessions" it is interesting to note how glibly he names
names, names that he cannot even spell, of fellow officers and

colleagues.

Innocent or not, these people would have had a miserable time of

it after the war, because Gerstein himself was formally accused of

war crimes, and they had been (or so he pretends) his associates.

One could find this a very unpleasant trait in his character, viz: "I

am drowning, so I'll take the ship down with me."

Gerstein the Husband and Father

When Gerstein ran away from Berlin, he spent some nights at

home and then ran to the Allies. This was a nerve-wracking period

for Germany, its towns devastated, the country overrun by its ene-

mies, people running short of food; but the army was still fighting.

During these catastrophic months — the worst in Germany's
history— he wrote one letter to his wife, mainly on the subject of his

own affairs; he hardly mentions his three children.

Although he is at liberty and has some money, he omits to mail the

letter. But even if his wife had received it, he had done his best to

conceal his whereabouts, and she would have had great difficulties in

discovering a way to reply to him.

At Rottweil, he had possibly been too busy for the first two weeks
writing his "confessions," but thereafter he had ample time.

If he had any concern or anxiety for his family, he kept it well

under control.

Gerstein the Escaper

Had he not blurted out his Belzec stories, the French would have

turned him back. They had no need of more prisoners who would
have to be fed and accommodated.

Like everyone else in Europe, Gerstein must have known this, and
he therefore prepared his former arrest warrants etc. and the

DEGESCH invoices in advance. He did not want to be sent back.

Why did Gerstein, from among millions of disbanded German
soldiers, run away from Germany and seek refuge and protection by
deserting?

Although he used his Belzec stories as a pretext, they can not have

been a reason. His Belzec stories were stale by three years, and, as he

made no real effort to report them, he had not cared deeply about

them at the time, or subsequently.

A significant detail, highlighting this aspect, is that France was of

202



course a signatory to the Geneva convention regulating the treatment

of prisoners of war. Thus, the French should have registered Gerstein

with the Red Cross, or Gerstein could have asked to be registered.

This would have ensured that Gerstein could write home, that his

wife continued to receive the soldier's family allowance, and so on.

We can assume that in the early days of his surrender this detail

could have been overlooked. But later, if he had wanted to contact

his family according to established rules, the French would have

permitted tha. Iif not, he could have appealed to Beckhardt or Mattei

during his interrogations; they were both military lawyers, and had

to observe the rules.

But there is no evidence that Gerstein wanted to contact his family

or anyone else in Germany. When he was in the Cherche-Midi

prison, the chaplain was responsible for liaison with the Paris office

of the Red Cross. Did he report that Gerstein wanted to write home?
If Gerstein had merely been finagling with Zyklon B, it is very

unlikely that the German military authorities, in so far as they existed

at all, would or could have had him disciplined. Similarly, it is

almost impossible that DEGESCH would have sued him for pay-

ment. Gerstein, who had had a very moral upbringing, may not have
known this and may have been frightened. He may have been fright-

ened too at losing face with his family and friends— he who had
been such a moral activist— when his games were found out.

When he left Berlin, it was almost surrounded by the Russians. He
would not have wished to be taken prisoner by the Russians.

But he did commit the unforgiveable sins of cowardice in the face

of the enemy and desertion. He turned yellow, in other words, and
for this, many a German, military or otherwise, would have shot him
without compunction.

Realizing this, was it en route from Berlin to his home that he
decided to go the whole hog and seek refuge from his country's

enemies? His life was at risk so long as he stayed in Germany. What
other refuge was there?

And hence his special effort to ingratiate himself with his Belzec

stories.

Gerstein was no thinker; his powers of foresight and reflection

were nil. But once a prisoner, there was plenty of time to ponder on
the results of his action. Once he had written his "confessions,"

which had reached the world press by at least 4 July, he must have

known that he could never go back to Germany and live a normal life

under his own name. There were no excuses for him, and no one
likes an egotistical and vainglorious turncoat who, at the last mo-
ment, runs to the enemy and tries to benefit from his own country's

defeat.
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Gerstein the Accused

After the interminable mire of Gerstein's "confessions,"

Commandant Mattei 's interrogation arrives like clear and refreshing

water.

This was Gerstein's first full-length appearance before a profes-

sional criminal interrogator.

We know that Mattei, like most Frenchmen at the time, was, after

six years of an unwanted war including five years of enemy occupa-

tion, a somewhat tired and disillusioned man. Although he kept his

professional self-control, he had little patience with pretenders such

as Gerstein who, when Germany's defeat was accomplished fact,

suddenly crawled out of the woodwork and declared what terrific

anti-Nazis—anti-Nazis of heroic dimensions— they had really been

all the time and who, moreover, had not a shred of evidence in proof.

Gerstein's "confessions" were no proof. They were in themselves

improbable and they were three years out of date. His arrests by the

police and expulsion from the Nazi party were no proof either that he

had been an enemy of the Nazi regime. If Gerstein had been a true

anti-Nazi, why had the Nazis let him go and then allowed him to join

theWaffenSS?
Mattei was not duped; and he had actually watched Gerstein for

hours, assessing him. He did not, as Gerstein had apparently been

hoping, send him off. to Nurnberg in a private train to be a star

witness against his countrymen. Matt6i continued the prosecution of

Gerstein as a war ciminal.

The last interrogation, his failure to dupe Matt6i, must have been

the most terrible letdown, a shock, a most humiliating exposure of

his own stupidity for Gerstein, who had cast himself in a star role as

spokesman and witness for the righteous at Nurnberg.

By this time, too, Gerstein might have realized that after he had

named all his names, the people he had accused could equally well

have turned the tables on him, and accused him with just as much
evidence to back them up, i.e., nothing but an imaginative story. This

would have been a chilling thought. Many people were being wrongly

accused and punished at the time. What might he have gotten? Life?

Execution perhaps?

Gerstein the Suicide

Gerstein died the day before he was due to appear again before

Matt6i. The circumstances of his death are curious:

• How did he cut away the selvage of his bed-cover?

• How could he hang himself, almost kneeling?
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• Were the cell-blocks in this high-security prison not patrolled?

And then, later, the letters in which he was said to have declared

his intention to commit suicide all disappeared, along with other

documents which must have had some significance.

If, in fact, Gerstein had left any suicide notes, then they should

have been produced at an inquest and copies put in the coroner 's file.

But an inquest was not held. A simple police report did all the

business.

How, then, was the body buried? A committal for burial has to be

signed by a coroner. Even the police cannot arrive at a cemetery with

a corpse without the legal papers stating that the body is to be buried.

Even more inexplicably, the military prison authorites should

have informed Gerstein's next of kin, which is one of the details

stated on the prison registration form, and also the Red Cross. But his

wife was left in the dark for all of three years and even then was not

told that he had committed suicide, nor where he was buried.

What happened to Gerstein's personal possessions, such as a

wristwatch, cash, his wallet, perhaps a photograph or two?
Normally, these odds and ends should have been handed over to

the chaplain or the Red Cross to be sent back to his family. The
authorities knew he had a family because, even if he had not stated

next of kin on his prison registration form, details of his family were
shown on the reports of his interrogations.

Gerstein evidently knew the chaplain. What did the chaplain do, if

anything?

These questions could be continued indefinitely and arrive at no
result unless the facts are reinvestigated. Suffice it to say, for the

moment, that a great many pieces of the jigsaw puzzle are missing,

and the pieces that we do have do not interlock.

Footnotes To Afterword

l.Op.cit., page 627.

2. The SSIAlibi ofa Nation (1922-1945), page 285.
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Appendix I

Map of the German Camps during World War II 209

Photocopies of the "confessions" of Kurt Gerstein:

Version of April 26, 1945: T I 210

Version of April 26, 1945: T II 222

Version of May 4, 1945: T III 229

Version of May 6, 1945: T IV 247

Version of May 6, 1945: TV 257

Version of May 6, 1945: T VI 274
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3^>sw:^o: ^i'lo -vv il. uc ttottwcil 26 tvril 1945.

Zv*z\ Oort tain*

Indie- tiono p.-.roone3eai GerGtein ,Kurt fBar4
**aor-cG: or,cxolus

do oorvioo iio l # *t;*t roar nntlii -gle 193j>t inJSniour diploid.

lo 11 aofcfc 19C5 o Huenstcr fbatphnlio.ABtfboK de l*aai'.a Da Li-
ton.riuhTAo crCio.groieea&e auton^tiquo pour looorcotivas.frein Meeting
houce.Knorr eto. ,Eu::osoldorf , IndustriootraBne 1-17»

j?oroiLud*ii& GorBtcin,Land£orichtopraoBidont,Ha2en Uaotf.horo da ear*

Kirei Cl «ra Gorutcin xsfe.nJe Cchsiounnn morte 1931*
ITarld dopuie 2 onl 1937 & Klfrio o n<5o Bencon & Tuobinsen Oartea-
otraBce 24 , 3 onfnnto Arnnlf 5 ona Adolhoid 3 1/2 ana Olaf 2ans.
Via t 1905 -1911 Euonetor • 1911-1919 Snrrobruck.19-21 Halberatad*
21-25 nanrupoin pros de Borlin,maturua 1925.-Btudeei 1925-31 t?or-

boure/L--hn p
Aix La Chanello tBerlln-Churlottonburfi,unlvoralt<5de et

h.-vati.a Joolce do tc chrilg^ue.1931 examen Irvsoniour diplone*.-Dopaia

1925 marabra rctif de la Jounaoeo protontnntique organist Union
Chrotiorip.a des joui.ca hosuea " ct eurtout do la Jeunesse Chre'tiennc

Aleve's npooltf BTC* BibolKreia • Corolo outour do la Bible
Politique 1 Adhorent do Stroaorjann ct Brucning, ootif pour oux.-

Eepuia 1933,Juin,pourauivi de la port do Gestapo pour aotiYitSe
Chr'Sticnno oontre l'lt** nacia«— 2 cnl 1933 ontre*e dans la
1!SD*P.-- 2 cctobro 1936 exclusion do la H32A? pour aotivitee oontre

psrtio et <5tot« 30 Janvior 1935 protestation publiqus an theatre 9

da vlllo do HaccnArestphalio oontre le drane antiohrdtien "Vittsldxd
- Bosse* ct blesce de part des ITazie8.- 27 Hovcobre 1935 exaccn da
boraacscocoroAloro ,Anploy4 do l'dtat a Sarrebruo^.- 27 Bepter.bre

1936 ecpriconnaincmt par la gustupo'pSr" acflViWe "oontre I'dtat.-8

pour cv lr envoyd 8.500 broohuroB antinomies aux haute employ 's

Ce I'dtaS, priBon iusqu f a fin ootobre 1936. Exclusion on cle-

hora du service de l'e*tat» Bscqpdbsm Deoombre 1936 Jnsqu'ea ooanen-
cement do la guerre :e"tudes mddioaleB & Toeblngon f lnetltut pour
niccioQ protcotantique tad*dioale troplqus.-*. Le tlcrai-^enrlron- do

noa revenues, cola faisnit 1/3 do 18.000 Beiohsiaark oar an* J •al

doane* ,-depuia l931,pour maa buts iddalos rtfligleuxa <Va± fait iaprl-

nor et envoyle parpoate a moa fraia oca.230.000 broohurea reli<»

gieusoe antinaBiea* •
.

-
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do concentration relsheia^ Boeftant dea BaeaaoreaS. dea iabeoileo
/et ali^n^a ft Grafcneok.Hadamar eto» t ohoqa4 et ble88e^dana no»; la-

/ t^rieur , aywt tol one dona ma famille, Je n #araia qu fun soul

/ d^sirj Voir, voir dona touto ootte aaohinorlo et alcrr 5

Lcricr dan3 tout la pcuple !— I.!uni de deux references des deux
TeDpoy^a de geatapo, ayant traltd mon cas, il n'^talt pea diffl-»

I oils d^ntrtir dona la 83 arcida* 10% mara « 2 Juin 1941 la-
^Btruo^ion ^leaantnire - da eolSat & Hambourg-Lansonhoorn ,Arnne«

et Oranicnburg avco 40 oddeoins. Pour moa doublea, etudes - tcoh-

niquo ct cicdccinc- Jo rcpua l^rdre d'err&r an aerrrioe mddico-tecJ^

nique de 'jC-FnehrunsGhauptejnt-aorvloe onnitaire de lo S3 armeo -

Amtntruppe D,H7C^no*- A ce lion de oorvice , |e ma ohoisio col
mOiaa lo devoir da conatrui^ aueoit6t das appareila do d^oinfeotion

ot doo filtrae d f eau potable pour lco troupes et pour Iqb ohamps.

de pricoanicrs ot de oonoontrotioa«» Pour oonnaioBance exacte de

l»induatria j'y rfuoaia biontdt- . oca prdd^ooBaoura n^otant paa

rtJucGio. Alnci, il fflt rosoible d'abnieeor lo noabre des prison-
nicrs rorta ooncidurnblcacr.t.— Tour ir.os sucoso, bicntot Je ro-
uo-io lijuton«nt*— D^oanbro 1941, le tribunol qui nvait ordon*

ir^ crexueioa J^hora H2DAP re9ut oonnnissanoo de ma ontc-a dans

la SS nrm/o. On foieait GrrmJco efforts© de oe chaeacr et de .»
• pourcuivr .••l aic i>our n:o cucclo on no ddclnro sino«ra ot indisp^n-
* G-bli%- Jo'ivi-r 1942 i-2 fqn in f du service toohniqua ds d6cin-

fection ,contc i::,nt «--.irri lo ucrvioa "doe {^cb a :Verer23Trtr"toxiquos

:,our 'd:ein?uctio!i 8 Jala 1**2 il ^ntra dr.na mn jhaabra

io H.*i-/ieo lo s:'-3tur.:b --Mfujunsr Ouontherdu Beicits-^iob-. •
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EeichsSicherheitdnauptac*, eh oivil, inoonnu a noi,Il Be donna l'orv

fie procurer 100 fcg d'aoide prussique et d'aller nveo loi ft un lieu

tmi n'e'teit paa oonnia qu^au ohauffeur da oaniioBoHoua partiona a.

l«u«ine de potaese pres de Collin(Prague) oaardon charge nous

part 'one a Lublin-rolosne. ITous prennions avee aofca le profeBcor

Pr 0 Esed.?fanneiistIel 8 ordiaririuB d'hycien© a© 1' university© harbours/*

Lahn. -A Loublin, le SS-3ruppbnfuehrer Globocnefe nous attentoe-.Il;\
nous dit 8 C 9 est" one dee plus e£crteB ©hoses qu'il y a

fi
et-Dene la

plus Bi oiit.e, Chaoun;qul en parle* ..Bera. x>sil# bubsIJS**

Hier 9 deux -arleurs so'nt 'oorteV Alors 11 noaa erpllqua t 1 X'taten*,

-17 aoQt 1942- 11 y. a 3 Installations' t^^\^:^^
1. ) 3 e 1 o e o , a la route I^ublin-Lccbergiau seoteur a la Hf*©

de demarcation Sucee.llsxlniua par Jour 15.000 pare onr.e a. (vu I)

2. ) Sobibor.Je ne Bala paa sxacteizant, ou.paB vu. 20.000 pars. p. jour*

3. ) Cr&blinca, 120 ka K73 de^arsa*-a. 25.000 par Jour, vu !

4. ) t'ridannsfe. pria de Loublin, vu on preparation,— v

-^Globocnsk diti II voub faudro falro la disinfection oa tr&s sran3

quantities de vetenonts , dix ou vingt fois io recultat de la r
fx>Inr:

EtoffBacrlu^jCcollcotion des vStcBG.nts et textile), qu'oa no a:-it

c»e T.0ar bbscureir' la provenance des vfiteaonts ,Ju5Jfe,gDlon?iis,
^

lohSouia cto. -Voire autra -devoir eerai .
de cfanner le

.
£*ryic9

de no's olianbfes'de GfiC,calnten'ant fonctionant par gabeppesent a'un

ancien fcbtsur KDiesel«, a une chose pluB toxique. et, fonetionnentr

Plus vite.o'cet ooicie prassique,, I^a le. Fuehrer:^ et Kinkier f qui

4t5ient icl le 15 soat- e'est avant-Wer—.tt'ont obli^a d'ec ;os-

p-r Q2r mol csne tons ceux'qui doivent voir tea installations*- Alor

professor Pfannenstielt' tais'qa^csV ce que.^t U ruehror Y-Alors

Globocnek, ' cainienant Chef de Police eV ss .rirtSr^ Adriatique A
.

ffricst i Plus vite, plus vite, realiser tout© . 1'aotionl -dit 11. .lore

le directeur du cinisrtfcr©' Dr.IIerbert IAnfine-.clnlBtere In*erieurs

i;-'<Setait 11 ias aoilleur de brOler lea oor^a .* au lien de les en-„.

terrer? Une. autre g&NSratioa, petit gtro-#en pen5ersi*.d f one, autre :
-

Banilre. ,, ..-Alore GlobobneVi Eale •BeBeieurs*£
!
>l jai^lB^ .ep.rSs .nous

one generation si Ificfae/ BlVarl*;nso;"att*^^^^

"oeuvre si t>on ,sl nSoeESElre; alpre^ meBaieurs^.tout le Katiojale^
oiallenro Stait pour' rien.-EaiB ^fitt o.ontralre, 11 fau^^enterre^

Une petite Gare sp<foiale de deux quais e'inollne. a la oolllne (5ex.

.

table anune.laraeAiatcuent au Kord de la rue et fla c' e^Q^e rer .; ;

Lublin-Lembcrg/Aa Sud f pr6s,de la ohnuBBd-e^quclqueB BsiBona ..da^Bpr-

vioeeveo I'africbei Lien de' service Beloeo. de la BS^ axoeo"-*:.?1?^:-
boenee" me pr^eenta a SS-Bouptstdrtafaehrer Oberwydr de. araaeenov? ^
qui be fit voix aveb'grande'xete nance los instaliatione.Uet Jour, L

on ne vit pas ieodorte. ©ale. l f odour de tout© la ^fiionf\ ausci de:.

le grande ohausb^e.^tait peBtillent. A oot< de la petite £^6,11 y;

aveit nne crande - baraqae- "Garderobe* eveo un'gnicbet .«Talenre«;ci

A16re, une choabre h 100 obelees *CoiffeuM%Alors"tt% oonridor do>
150 mStroe "au pleln vent ,file barbel* de" deax>ot|B,;,et ffj^esa
Aux b^ine et inhnlatione I—Avant nona une maieon.comne. inetitut ae

-

bsin ,fi droite et 2 coucho grand pot de beton avco eeranluaou aotr

fltura • AprSe avoir r.ont^ un petit escalicr, a droite
t
et tigcucbe,-

troiB et trois oTiacbres oomaie de caraces, 4 x 5. BCtros t1^0. Detre-

d'altitude, Au retour,poa vieiblce, eorties de bole.In tolt, l f«oi
le David en cuivre .Avant le B3tin»nt,inBcription a

"Jonoction Keokcnholt ".-De plue- oet cprcc-niidi- Je n'ni epcr9U •

—Autre &3tin f quclqncs cinutea. nv#>nt 7 buurcB^ on o , cnnon9Bt
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fanta da tout te.^^^aW^JS1S"Mi.«»fri-'
•brea da/la mart;; ,1a fl»**ar*.^^iF^^'^i^nrtrtiBl
lira ^^^^ leura
lea yeux conae. dea. J^^^Phf-t^S?^ ^'aaae da part da haupt-
meurtrierB. HeeoTan*

1

5
:

aoape^ da.^«^gt'JS5^%gSSi.- do
sann . d« police Vlrth Ig1-.^8??'6^8

.
0^?^?, c„i eBt ce 'aui' none donee

Besnooup $6nt
:

-1bd» P^|?"^^Stituc«-?
J>ani lea Sba&S .la 38^

da l!oaapo«;ta.»o^{ai^ toaj^^ti™^^™ ordon*. Lea bo>

nieaetre.Oai.Je Tola
el*to S^cho pa« l-Iea hom.WB

la a ia porta da boia. .W,KBapt» nn^ ^irt
J •^•"•g^SSlt.r Aprla

.la
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4. Hurt Oe rclsrl n 26 nvril iri5*

25 minutes ^assent iBeauooup,o'est vral,cont frorte.C'est ce qu'on vol*

par la petite fenfctre , par lsqnelle la lampe olectrique felt voir

pour un Boraont I'intirieur de la cha*bre # Aprfia 28 minutes, encore

pea qui suxvivant»Apr8s 32 minutes, en*in-,tout .set cortl-" Bo 1' autre

oote\; dea travailleurs Juifa ouvr:ixt lee portea de boiB«Qn leur a

promis - pour lour service terrible— la libertca at quelques procenta

du resultet fles valeara et da l vargent trouvii (Jamba 3bb. oplftnaea da

B°salte lea'corta abut' encors'debout, e^tant-pas. la mointoa- place do

to&ber ou ae~ s'inoliner.• iiSaa" mortal on oonnait enoore los families,

qui so "serrent "encore les zafss^Oh.
a"

"peihe da .lea s£parerjpour faire

videa lea "cftaabraa "pour prochains charge i' On Jcte lea corra, bleu©

,

husicca do'sbudre et :
!ae l f drin," lea Jambea plcins da.crotte et de eans

p 'ricdique.Panti tous;iea bibe'a,lea osdavrea dea * entrants ,-r.eia on n«a

paa de tosps! Deijc doucainca de travoilleurs s'qecupeat do oontrSler

le8 bouches, qu'ilB ouvr^nt par'aoyan des orobhats de fer.^Or a gouefce,

sons or a droits!"-^D'autfcos oontrolent anus et g-initaux pour monnnie,

briir»nts," or etCo-Des dentistea arrachent par" moyan de cartels lea

dents d'oripontejODuroaaca'.Sarmi tous. le hauptBann- rirth, II eat a

con- olfcont,"M rrstci:t une" £raade botte' de_ conserves ,roniplie de ants,

il ce diti Sprouvbs voos n<o^2 le poids de I'or I C'eet saaloaent

d'hier at d'ev^nt-bicrl-St voua ae oroyea pas ce quo nous trouvons prr

jour !:Lss dollars, lea brillaits, l'or M-IIais. voyca toue BSmsl-Alora

il ce suida a un bijoutior,qui avait XX la responsibility • de wous

ces T^leurs*- On ce fit voir encore un dea' szlc soefc chefs, du gx-f&a

a^iisin de 1' oueet, Berlin, Ed ufhnus ces reotciB^.ct; tin" petit hbmpa

,cu f on faicait jjuor le violon,cbefs da copmclo. travailleurs JnifE.
« C-aat un cspitaine *de l'eraoV Z etJC Autriche" ,ohevalic-r_ da Croix

de far Alle'rand- I Hweo- ma dit le Haupteturmfuehrer Oberzeyer.

—Alore .es corps nus fOrcnt ^etSs .dans.dos srartfes foaBi?efc da
r
10D

x 20 212 metrea environ, situd8 "hupfeaX dFea/ohasbros de la marTo-Apres

cueloues Sours ,las oorps ea "fibnflaicat/ at le. tout B^lev^it > de 2-3

c*~ea par woven da c&a ' qui : ae'forr^ait dans, lea .cadsrrss.Aprea quel^

cues Jours,' le gonfleiaent fInii'-.laa"^cbrps tombaient_enEemble^Autra

5our lee fOEsees furent reDpliea.rldeVhouveaa.et oourertea^ da_10 ca^

da Eablso- Qaelqae tenpa plus tard4". 3
fnl. oooute^ on a fail? des^grillea

de rail da"chen:ia de fer et a bral*-" les cadatres par Boja^^da

l'huilla Diesel et de l'eBeenoa'J pour faifa .diBparaitra^_leB
i

cadsrrcsj,

n*^tnicnt pa8*'enobra eigneb ^ de rivr'a' pour .na'^ouroir paB Vnboro tra-*
vciller*——La hauptcicnn d a" police V'irth' me priW de 'pas proposer «Y

Berlin quelqaonque autre ndthofle... daa chcinbres da^gaa at de laisEer
tent cociiae qu fil dtalt* -Je itentiB "/ oa qua '3 f nveis fait a tout ccc-
que l r aci<Ja "prusEique cteit dt j&* dltruite par la transport at devenue
tris daniereuse.Albro ja ccrai force* do l^enterrcr- que ee fit- auaeitot
—Autre Jour noug alliona a par 1'iiuto Oe fa.iuptmann ^Tirth a ^re'blinoai
120 ta enriron KRB da \Taraara # l ,inEtitution Ida" ce lien de la tiort <Jtait
prccque 1h o6ao.' oban:e a Belcec/naia plub sranda encore* 8 ob«u&brca'da
gec et Trtir nonta^ncs de vSteafnts et de lin^Sj 35 -40 d environ d 1 al-
titude. Alora,a ootro r*horirieurr|r on fit un banq.uat aveo tous loo en-'

j loyr'a del'itjftitut* La "oberaturttbannfuehrer profet'ecr rr.c^d.Pfbnnehr-
tticljoriinsxiua d'hyciana'. de l f univerf itua do Uarbourc' Lahn', _fit "un" ea
ecraoni Totrc oeuvre c- feet an firand devoir at* on dayoir eL atil at si
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5.Eurt G'orc'.eln t. 26 avril 1945.

n'ceasaire.Ett mol soul 11 parlaii do oat inetitul .Mam. "b.ut.

flu travail, et d'une ohoso humane; i. tousj..- Si-l-oa volt loo oorpi

vi'B do oa service raccvaium v» nu. .!_•.»

aloool eto. -Au oorigi. .on noai..Wfra .pIUBiaure mos. do,.beux»^
at gfande ababre da bcuteilles do. lAwear^iTajalr. |«i«»

c_4»i«g»*
d'avolr ase'ea do *otttvd«/n*f»;.fei^-.?0«,M^««4wtt,»WjW^

Wa^ on^n*-^
da
oar i

Impression roVehta';: * fal^lnl, raoonta^waw .1*|ivr^
r^ferer tout * son sourerhecient .; et. aax .tqua/amday^Il-.B*5to-\'.

felto fest, Brueaerreks V.ansl to .. Karttii KleEQqn«;et,ohcf. to,
.

la rffletsaca.proteetahtlw "contra, le tocisae*^ AprSa a.ft»lmiM a

B«inea j
f r-i vu encore fieux fois le Vjod; .Ottc^n.ne.oii qu i

avait fait son rapport cu goavernssent Suede %'Wk raprort jfoul,

-

celon-ees cots f -a eu grand© influsnce .
. aux relation?, to. vSueto. ot

d'Allenagae. l!a tontetive; de .
referer tout , cela,- .au^&ef^

legation du Seint-PSre,' n va x^-s eu;err.na.Buec5fl.A
Pn:ce. demjanda^

ei J'eetais eoloxt.Jllore mTihe rdfuea ^oat^entretien.AlOM.-fcafc

fait on r<<ferat de*tailleV au. cccretsire do 1* episeopst to.;.Ber,13

Kcr.le Br. Viator rour rdfererV. tout celaA aoa epiecope
«J

BerU
eft ainei a ^legation du Saiut-Pere.-Sortaut ;da la Ifeatiott:^

du Saint-?8r# a la Rauc* jtraaaa t •, Berlin* • .reveij un ,renoontre

dai^eroux 5 :

un agent de". police;' qui me pour^uxvait ,aais rig*,**'

aprSa quelquco. jainrites .trSflV.. d^Ba«<5aWcB ,..M^fit .cchapperv .^v
II me faut enoore~a3putor que le j£-Stur^Etnirfuehr.er^

da 2eichsBicherheit8hauptp,tt* ;jtena>da to.;»iv:^09^nqe»?a*^^
1944/.- to trea 'grandee fpurniturea^d'aoi^e^r^ique r pqur.ua,^
deetia : odbout,Vaoide dojailu Stra. t S^tXa^^^
stenstrafiBO^ i/son lieu dovserjice-

.
JTa ..rtojito.-v«&i^^^»4^

oroyaole^ auo^cela \h* ftait ^ea:poBEiol<rpour,lea;^anto .dangerb^

tuer ^aiuooupVji^

de quelle Banier*; o A ' £ oa aurait- T)eeoin to ,oa • ;VoLson^^l
JO no. eais pas "ciao'tomsnVTiaiaqiui \ ait ^ l^fintention. aa^Vjs-

HaichBsicherheitBhauptamt;.et da S Di Kaia^lai. p^w.tard, Jganiif.

aux nota' <J.a aoeoliela 'Cdo fermer Xep porteaj toxrilra,- eux
: .-r^

ei le nsoiBM • : 'ie V r^uBEireJ.t rjaaaiaVJPaut, ftra^a'^Toalj^n*
tu^r ane"'granae partie ^da" peuple • Allesand, .peaVStre;. Ie8;..tra-r^

voUleurfl."- etranfiera f : pout Stre/; lea' prleonnier^to. guerraT .*. Jo.

no aaifl^paBl k tout":oae,: j
f al JPait. diaparattre ;vlf aoido.. auaaitp*

a^rla^Bon ar^iv^ d€Bih^ptio^.C^ait qael?uW.
oent dansereax pour aoi;foaiB^;.Bi-l^n;m
trouvrJLt 1 f abide .toxiquoV- ^aaraia.: r^ponda ^ ^lle .^talt

.
d|Ja^ -

en-etot de diaaclutloa, dnasereux, et o/eet • pour.oala quJil.^r.

fallcit la'oonaoroDer poiir la fioBinfcotioa l-.tfe suis^ sur f quo^;

Guenther'-,*le filB du-EaBeeh-Gucnther- _.oelon.BeB proprcs jnotB.

-

avsit l vordra'da procurer .l'acide pcruSr' eventAelliment- .
tuer^rt

ffiilliona d.'hoDnea, ^eut ^tre.;ieuB8i' £aM lea • oV.aiapa ^JJ^?^
^tiono J'ai'cur mol lea notao .de 2.175.1«» cais en ve>itto

,

e'c^it de coa 8.500 l^a f oapea \ pour tuer 8oillions _d hojjaco

J- fZi fr.it ecrire a. aon noa loa notas pourr ooaao j'ai dlt—
diecretion, en vcritde pour,-€tre quelqayewt lite; daaa lea.t.j'

dicpoBitione et pour *iieux ^••*MP"^*»^ ,oc
}
da.:?552!^

Je u»ai Jaaaia pajtf oea XivraiBona pour, cVitcr^.. la reBbour6e->r

, ^ ,
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6. Hurt Gerrteift. 26. avr-1 1945 • f

rent et de r?p^olcr- le SD. a* cet stock." Le diireoteur de la

Dcgepch, cui avait Tplt cette fouraitur*, rc.'a dit qu'il a

fcurat pour taar dee honLT..^s ccide pruoslnue'. • en ampoules.—
Use 'autre fo'is, Gucatbar'jsc oon&ulta s'il etait possible da tuai

graaSo nosbrs fics JulTa' au ploin Ten* des foBBtso \da fortification:

da Harls-ThereBieriEtadt, Pour amp-acher oe oor.seil rtitbolique

je d'clDrsle icpODEible " cetto octhode.QuGlque temps plus ,tard

j*ai ^coate" qua la S D s'etfcit proouro* i d'urie autre. B?niera

l f ccllc "crii^riouo pour tuer ces •' pauvres. hoiar.aB , a Ehereeienatadt©
— Los chasp3 de concontrciriDa lee' plUE d^testableB /n'^tiiienV; V

pc3 Orrulcnburg ni Each:* . ni Belsea -'nsia AusclpitB ( 0s*i6e )

et Sl-sut'-r.uceh-Gus on prSc da Lias/ £om:u.. C^Sst la.-, que sost.

dlED-^us des nillions d'honr^s' >irx cnaEbrss do *£cs f
: £ dsa

sulos oon-s cr-h&brao £cs. La cathode de tuer Icsjcnfants etsit

le pour etre *' perverscB ( horo.seruels.) -rv>; v

J«al erite* de visitor • Eowrt-af lr^B chiicps de conccnure.tloa,

psrceou'il <5tpit" uruel'- €a*pr«rt!rocoD ; aJ&athpucaa Gusen-pres da'

Iiuc-5t pcndre a 1'hohneur^ d56_ vlcitoursv un .
ou deux .. priEOCJiir

IX -y-rora ~ quelque Eaineurei.vraxeiiisirct ,uue. ou uBtti, wuauu«B ;, .

plus tard .'quelguesJuifE: ffcrent * pr^cipit&J la caxrijrti 8

tonibanta corte i xlob piede. ^ooidentB^da. trav^il^-oa r^elr&U
anx phpicre dee tud*So-I* Pr.rritci 7Drant* f

'>nfc^«r.zi
;

^SS-SauptBtura
fuehrer m f

a' aouvGnt' rc-coato*'. de telloc;"chosa>,qtt f ia. condHsnsi*

rivensnt et public it. £OU»eni«

—

£ee oricicff de* oouvcrtff ^.4 Selren, Oralisnfc^^^
pes considerables an' ooinpareicoh: doB eutrea,- qui son* xaixa

6 JLUGchvxitB et 6 " Kauthz?^cni .
.

. - .

r: J*£± le deseeia d'Scrir* un jLivr© contens.nV nes

aventurss svoo. Ice n^sieE;-
• * ~j

"
: ja cuia prot. de protor an.«e3*iren^ Que *oue -JE8B

d^olerctio'nB ' aont totalomont xrais«"»

S49362
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Etirt Gorpteirw Cuplcracsnt. ^

A Q2B opnarteasnts a Berlin V> 35 t Buelo».Gtr;:6Ge 47 I geuche I's'st

outour 4e rnoi un cerola d'p-iitinnziea .Voilft qu2lq:;cs nozis des

tfajor Lutz E a I a , Eaint sunnt. Kant)ours, xa. Glasurit-. erke.

Dr.Falix Bues, Juctitiar en chaf da Soliifunkcn.Bsrlin Sff 11,
Hallesches Ufsr 3<V

Direktor Alsx Eecae; Kaaboufg f (rlbsorit-^e rke
fc'sr.la cura* BuchholB, cure' de prison' .-. lloetzengee, qui; a fiocompsg;
~

a la ihort les officer* da 20 Juillet 194* A Cohzfsui^. Ces o

ficltrs oorae It ouro\ H&rtin iriezcoller, non ami.cordisl.ruffiDle

lc-s oigarettc8 ct lea ci^exrca^ qua ,moi leur ai fofernl a leuj?

prison*

I
2«r.*»e odri Tooholskl, rsnrlacr.nt Ker;le euro* Kartin Kieiaoller
~ ' " '

. a Dahlem,Annen-Kirche«
Dorothea Schulz. cocrdtairo' da ci?r.lo Cur5 Uartin Kieiab*ll«?r

'""••a Arhdt , CcScrdtr.ira do I5r . la euro* Martin it'I^coell&r
do licohpn.

23->il Kieu^enhuisoa et ami lfendrik, ue riiilippe -Syndhovrn,

dcport^s, ouo j'avais rencontrJ a l««gliee et qui sstaient, depu,

longtercpa/^deux .on trois fbia pnr eeiiaain* Q«8 notes pour Bange:

et v-couter. t.e.f i
. _ . , . . .

Dir'-kteur Kaa3isen,3erlia Jtss 7- HitteletrasES, Inpriucrie FrrncKr

Ksrtopt'Sohsrho-.slcy, redact sur,. iiclurl-PrssEe .

Henptpanh"' ifelsalthau .at eon ncri .Berlin, stintanant a. Kirohsnvsxr.
- * '."

.*•
• litisiurt-rurtteciberg •

^r.Herr.ann Ehl-rflr'Syndicua da Ve-liee Eien&cller da r^faiBtanco

antinczia-
Br.Eb'bO- Slo8, EieGie comica Dr.Khlers,

Autrea re*forenoda ' t Generaletipcrintecdent D.Otto DiX>alius,Chef do>

la reaistende : de l'^UBe; contra lc* naoieoa*-- w
*lBr. la oo-i Jfchling, Ha-en rdstpaalie, resistance, de ,l«egliea

da reBtphalia,;B.ctivistc.
Praeses Br.Ji>ch, Bad Oaynhnucon^ac^Daj .

3arbn von Huen«, Profeseor -da l«uniTersite> da luebinseni anting Bi-

Bernhard J.Goadeckerjrabrlljeflt, WUnoten^IclaMtrasce.AntinsBia
Diredteur Franz Bftuerla, KUnc.hcn,

%

SienJoncBtrasea 17i ' antineBie

•

ICsr.le our^ cntoliqua^ Vslpcrts, Ils^eh TtstphuliB.
Ksr.la "our^ Otto TTehr, Sarrebrack.

.

iLEr.lee ourc^s Sohl'eeger et Bittkr.n, Keurappin pro do Borlin# ,

Ausuet Fran* et toute Camilla

j

r ^randa antin^iBieB,Sarrebruck,r:flinta»

nant a Calheim-^urtteDbargt
Usr.la Boctcur StrauD^etElnscn-^urttet'berg ct rfcoille#
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z.Zt. Rottuoil f don 4.fcni 1945.

Person : Kurt Gorstein p
Bcr^naneenor nuanor Dicnot tDii:lonin-'.2ni.~ur.

c~ 27.Sopt«mhor 1936 vie^en otan*t3foindl *chor Betiitir.un.r, '-us den

Mi:hor:>n Prounaiochen Bcrg-Dienot entfcrnt*

r.eboren nm 11.August 1905 zu USinaterA/catfnlen. -Eeilhnbsr dsr M?f clr

nonfo brill Do limon Fluhne &£o zu Dttafloldorf .XnduatrlcstrnGr* 1-1V.

i- .Ei-;lfnbrik fiir autorr.atischo Schmiernnl/a^en fUr LoJc6!TiOtiv^n f ICnor:

ar.a 'Vcctinghouse-Broasono

Vr.t/;r: land#orichtnpraeidont Ludfiig S. Gerstoin,Lnndseriohtspr&sid*

in Ka-^'on/'VcBtf .ausaor DionQten*

Ifottsr: Clara Gerctein ftcb.Schmarcnnn, floatorbcn 1931©

Verhciraiat. Beit 1937 nit Slfriodo B o n b o h in Tuabin*,r:n,Gflrt';

ctraese 24* Drei Kinder : Arnulf 5 Jnhre fAdelhoid 3 1/2 Jnhre Olnf

2 J t'»hre

2.)l»obenalauf : 1905-1910 in ittinater V'estf. 1910-1919 in Saarbruckcn.

1919-1921 Halborstadt ,1921-1925 Nouruppin bei Borlin.Dort 1925 Abi~

tur an homanistisehon Gymnasium* Studion:Universitlit HarburgLafcn 192

-1927,3erlin 1927-1931* lechnischo Hochechulc^Aachen 1927* Diploa-

inaonieur-Bxatoen 1931 in Borlin-Chnrlottenburgo-Scit 1925 aktiveo

Kit^lied der organisierten ev«ngelischcn Jugend (CVJ2I, eYZJCA und dor

Bibelkrcise an Hbhoren Schulcn*- Politieche BetaVtifcuns : Aktiver

AnhUn-rer von Bruening und Strosenann.- Seit Juni 1933 von dor C-estcj

vorfolgt v?egcn chrirtlicher Botatigung geffen don . Hazie-Stntt.- An

2..Vai 1933 Eintritt in dio tfS'DAP, am 2.0ktober 1936 Ausachluas

aus der ITSDAP vse^en staatsfoindlichcr ( religi'bser) Bct&tic-uns

fur die Bekenntnis-2irche Gleiehseitig AusschluBS als Jteamtor sue

den Staatsdiensto- Am 30.Janunr 1935 viegen -Storung oincr Partci-

\7cihefeier in Stadttheater Hagcn Veatfalon- Auffiihrun* dos Drr.n^

TTittckind - offontlich vcrprugclt und vcrletzto- An 27.0ktobcr

1933 Borgasseccor-Exnnen vor dem VirtechaftsminiBterium in Berlin,

ciLrrfcliche Exn:ncn nit Pradiknt 0 Bis zur Vorhaftuns 9° 27.Sopt sevbor H
Stri.itobciimtcr dor Saargruben-Vcrwaltung in Saarbriieken. Dieso cr3*::

Vorhaftuns crfolfcto v>egcn Versendung von 8500 stoate(nnz e-)fein:-

licher Broschiiren an samtlioho TCiniEtcrialdirektoron und hchca

229



i.) Juntisb'jjiston in i&utuc.'il'ind* - Kin«a r.iobXin^n'-ur.crch '?nt£ ^

cprcciumU ctudicrto ich alednnn in fxU'.ibin",«n aa Doutr?c. on Inati

tut fiir Arctlichc ?:ini»ion KadlvA^ Dirso wurdn wir (lurch rr.oir.a

airtocfcnftlicfco UnabWinsir.koit crab7;licht. Ala Teilhnbar dor ?irr

So Linon ?luhc« -c Co. in DCsBiildorf buzotf ich cin durohechnittli*.

ches Kiakors-on von jcihrlich lG.OOO.-KeichGamrk* Et';n oin Dritt-I

diccc9 Sinkoa:r.:rna pflogto ioh filr Dc?ino rcligibasn Idonlo nu:,..

zarc-j^n.Insb'isondcrc fc/ibo ich rund 230.000 roligitfoe und n^zi-

i'ciniliche ErocchUren druok^n lnnaea und dioaelben ouf m^ine

IContcn an Interossanten versandt*

An 14.Juli 1938- wrfolgtc rac.ino e%oite Verh«ftung und Einli'ifor;

in ens Honzontrrttionslaftdr Yfolznuia *c^on otaeitafoindlicher Doti.;":

auna* Ion v.urdo vorher h&ufig von dor Gostnpo. vomarnt und voir

hort und bin mit einea Kcdoverbot fUr dan ganzo Roichs*obict

beiogt v.ordcn*

Ala ich voa dor b«r,inn»inden Umbrinsung der Gainteslcrnnkcn in G.vn

fencck und Hadanar und endernorta' htfrto, beochlose ich auf jeder

Pall don Vcreuoh zu caaehon t in dioso Cfon und itaarrern hineinzu-

schnu-m ua zu tiicaon, v:nii dort ({eechieht* Dii-s urn bo tnvhr 9 ale

4.) nls oine angeheiratete Schv»U*erin-Bertha libeling- in Had amar

S2jC
z^anZa^ &^^ e^ nurde* Hit z*ei Referenzen dor Gostnpobeamten p

die moine Sachon bearbsiteten f gelang es mir unaohwer, in die SS

oinzutrotenf Die Horren viaren der Anaicht, dass mein Idealismua,

den sie vjohl bevmndorten,. der Nazie-Sache Zugutokomraen mUsste.-

Am lO.Marz 1941 trat ich In die SS ein.Ioh erhielt meine Grundaue^

bildung in Eaaburg-Langenhoorn, in Arnhem -Holland und in Oranien»

burg, la Holland nshm ich aofort die Pithlung mit der hollandischen

tfidcratandabaviogung -aux" ( Diplomingenieur Ubbink,Doeeburg) Y/ogec.

ccines Doppelstudiuma wurde ich bald in don toohniach-iirztlichen

Dienst ttbernoramca und dem SS-?a^rungohauptnmt,Anitegrupp<3 D-Sanitat

\jcsen der TTaffcn-SS ,Abto**.luns Hygiene, zu^etoilt«Dio Ausbildung

mnchte ich mit einom Arzte-Kuxrsua von 40 Srzten©- Boim Hygiene-

Dienst koante ich mir moine. Tatigkeit selbat bestimmen. Ioh kon~

struierte fahrbare und ortafosto Desinfoktionsanlagen ftir die

5?ruppe,fUr Gofangencnln&er und Konzontrationelagcr.Hiermit hatto

unverdienetermaaaea grosse Erfolge und rcurdo von da ab fur eine

Art technisches Gdnie gehalten^In der Tat golang ea vienigstena 9

dio achreokliohe Plockfieber^iolle von 1941 in don lagorn einiger-
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5.) rcnoaon oinzudllnwia. v:c£«n coinur r.rfol»o '..urrio ion bnld

Lout.T«nt und Ob-rieutnant«- Y/cihn'ichton 1941 erhislt dnc Goricht,
nan cvtinan Aucnchlt).'?a aus der. l«Si:AP vorfU",t hntte, Kenrvtnici von
nninca Sintritt in die S2 an fiihronder St«llo. ?;& fol«;to <iin ntnr-
kes JIoGPolfcruibim Ro-on nioh.Ab':r «uf;en taoinor eror?t.«en Srfolr.i und
v>e/».en meiner Perstfnlio hkcit -turde ich von meiner Di'instst^llt:

goschiitzt und ^ehalton/ Im Januar 1942 uurde ich Abteilun^slcitcr
dor Abt«ilunft Geoundheitetechnik und cloichzoiti* in aoppslfitel-

luns don filoicho'ti Soktor voo Roichcnrzt SS und Polizci
*

iibernor.-n'jn»Ioh Ubernnha in diosor Eisenach*?t den £-*nzcn techni-

cchon Dcoinfoktionndienst einochliesalich dor Dcainfektion Bit
hochsifti^en Gnoun«

In diesor Si^ensohnft erhl*lt ich utt G.Juni 1942 Besuoh von dcm oi:

bio dahin unbekannton ES-SturtabnnafUhrer Guonther voa
Rcichesioberhcitahauptamt, Berlin V 9 ICurfUratenatrassc. G^nther kaa
in 2ivil. Er £ab nir den Auftrug, eofort fUr cinon koiaserst ge-
hsic:en itoiche-Auftrag 100 kg. Blauouur© zu b*schaffen una nit
dieser Bit einots Auto zu .einom unbokannten Ort zu fehren, dor nur
doa ?ahror cbe Va^ona bakannt soi. ?<ir fuhren aledann aini^e v;ochen

* splitar nach ?rag« Ich konnto cir ungefilhr die Art dee Auftra-

ges denken, Ubornaha ihn nber, well tnir hior durch 2ufall Bich

eina von ccir eoit lanfl^a crsehhte Gele&onheit er^nta* in dleee

Din^a hin-?inzuschauun« Auch war ich ale Sachverstiindicer fiir Blau-

saurc so autoritKr und kompetont, daas ob mir nuf jeden Fall oin

Lcichfes scin ausnta, dio Blauaiiuro untor irr»end cinom Vorvinnd

els untnuslich- Tieil znraetzt Oder dorsl,— zu bszeichnen und ihre

An^endun/* ftir Jen cicantlichen Ttttunsazneck zu verhindern« Kit

udb fuhr noch -n:?hr zuflillig-dor Professor Dr.tncd. ?fannenctiel,

SS-Obcrsturabnnnfiihrer p 0rdinarius dor Hyftiana an der Univcrsitiit

2.!arbur&-Lahn» "'ir fuhren ulsdann ait dcm ttagan nnch Lublin, v.o ur.

dor SS-Oruppe.nfiihrer Globocnuk ert;nrtete. In der ?nbrik in Coll:'

hatte ich abeichtlich durchbliokon. laasGn, dcss die Saure f'Jr

die Suture von Knnochen b-totiszrt o«I» Prospt orschien dnnncnch

n?.ch2i -ta.^s ein tCcnsch, 0 er c?ich eehr stark fUr dr? Fp.hr2-

interessierto und, «1b er bexerkt Murde, in rn.2 finder ^ahr floh #

-Globocnek Bi\«t« t Dieoo ^nnzs A n.".closenh « it iat cino der ^ehcir.

st'-'a Sschen, die es zurzoit tiborhaupt &ibt t n^n* kann en^tn die

£ohciaate # V/er dariibsr epricht tMird nuf der Stello erschocren.



^•^ Kret fleatern onicn s*ci JJolwlltsyr uroohosnyn viordcn* .-Dcnn

erkliirtu er uao i la Au.f^nbliok- duo "nr nrn 17.August 1942- h^bcn

v.ir droi Anottilten in Botriub, nilsolioh i

1. ) Eoloeo, nn dor ChnucccG una Jtahnntrecto Lublin-Limb^rg nn dcr
Sclmittlinie rait dor Dos'irkntiomiliniu ait Ruool«nd.H chotlyis-U
pro Sag 15-CCO Perooana*

2. ) Sobibor. Auch in ?olon,ich rj«ioo nicht £*mu *o. 20000 Perconca
HUchatl«ietun(j pro £og«

30*r'?blinca f 120 ka nordnordtfntlich von nroohnu.Htfahot 1«*\ at ans
25-000 ?f?raon«n pro l*ng.

4.)'«-£ac:alB in Vorburoitun*- liaidnnok boi Lublin.

Bclcao, Ercblinka und Krcidansk habo ich purstfnlich ein»ehsnd ait

dcrn Lsitsr diuoer Anstnltori- don Poliscihnuptwnnn \tirth TZUcam.T^n

bssichtitft.

Globocnck tieiideto uioh auaHOhlioeslich nn mich und sagtai Ec iet

*hr« Auf/i'ibo, inabaaondoro din Desinfcktion dee oehr uafjinsrtiehoa

Tcxtilsutes darchauirahren.Di© gnnso. Spianatoffeanimluns iat doch nar

di;rchr;sfiiiirt fiordon, lim dia. Korkunft dee BaklaidunAomatorinle far

die Cet«rb6iter ugr« # zu orkl!±rcn und nle oin Brsobnis doa Opfcrs

dec Dcutnohttn Volkao darauatcllan. In 'i.'irklichkoit ipt dan Aufkor;-.

rnon unserer Anatsltsa dns lo-20 fficho dttr anns&'Jti Spinn.stof fssmsilu:
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8.) -Ihr-» Andero - noch woit nichtigere Auf/^abe 1st die Umotellung
unsercr Gnskammsrn, die jotzt ait Di^aclfiuspuffg^son arbeiten, af

cine bes3ere und schncllere Saoho.Ioh denke da vor alien an Blnueauo
ro. Vorgoetern warenoar Fuehrer und Hiramle.r hier. Auf ihre Anv.eieung

muss ich Cie pereBnlioh dorthin bringen, ioh soil niemand schrirt-
liche Bes'iheinigunsen und Einlnsskarten ausstellen#-Darauf fragte

Pfannenstieli Y/as hat denn der Fiihrer ges*gt ?— Glob, t Sohnellor,
.schneller die ganze Aktion durchfUhren.Sein Begleiter, fer Kiniste-
rislrat Dr.Herbert Lindner hat dann gefragt : Herr Globocneo, hal'ten

Sie es fur gut und richtig, die ganzen Leichen zu vergraben, pnstrtt
sie zu verbrennen? Nach uns ^:8nnte eine Generation konmen, die das

ganze nicht versteht!- Darauf Gib.: Heine Herren, vienn jo neon une

eine Generation konrnen sollte, die bo schlnpp und so knochenrceich

ist, dass sie unsere grosce Aufgabe nicht versteht, dann allerdinge
ist der ganze Nationnleozialismus umsonst gercesen. Ioh bin im Gegen
teil der Ansicht, dass nan Bronzetafeln versenken sollto, auf denen

festgehalten ist, dass *ir, r.ir den Mut gehabt haben, dieses grosse

und so notv.endige V»erk durchziifUhre.n*- Darauf der Piihrer t Gut,

Globocnek, das ist allerdings auch neine Ansicht!—- Spacer hat sich

JO
9.) die andes-a Ansicht durchgcsetst. Die Leichen ffind dann nuf

grossen Rostan, dio auc Eiscnbnhnschienen inprovisiert wurdan*

verbrannt itorden unter Zuhilfen.3hne von Bensin und DieselS!*

An nnderen "age fuhren *?ir n»ch Belceo. Sin kleiner Spezialbpbn-

hof xe££e nar zu die sen Z«eok an oinen Hilgol h?irt nBrdlich der

Ch.'TUOsee Lublin^Leriberg in linlcon Vfinkol der Somarkntionslinie

gecchn.ffen ^ordon.Ciidlioh der Chauosee oinigo Hilusor nit der

'

Ins.chrift M Sondcrkoramando Beloeo der <.7affen-SS % Da der eigent-

liche Chef :. er gossnton Toturigcanl«igon,der Pclizeihnuptmnn virth,

noch nicht da vinr, etellto Globoonoo cich den SS-Unuptsturcfiihrer

Oberrreycr ( auo Pirnnsons) vor. Dieser liecc cich an Jenen Kach-

nitteg nur das eehcn, v*ns er nir eben zoigcn. nucote.Ioh eah on

dieecm i'a/ce keine Q/otcn, nur der Geruch der ganzen Gegend is hei6

sen August v.ar pcatilenzartig, und ::illioncn von Fliegen rj-ren

Uberall zu.?;egcgno- Dicht bei den kloincn 2-glcisigen Bahnhof r,nr

cine grosce Bnracko, die cogcnr.nnte Gardcrobe , nit eincn grooeen

WertoDchen-Cchaltcr#Dahn folgte oin Zimacr nit ot\ia ICO Ctilhion 9

der FrieeurrHun, Dann eine kleino Alice in Frei*«n untar Birfcen,

rechte und linka von doppolters Stuchcldrnht unsiiunt, nit Inrc;:rif-

ten s Zu den Innslior-und Bndcrliurcen !—



10.) A\

Vor uns oine Art :5itdohiiU9, rachtn und linka dsivor groaao HotontcJj

fe oit Gorani<:n,dann ein Tcrappchftn, und diinn rachts unci linkG

Jc 3 R&u=a 5 ::5 -otcr , 1,90 a hoch, oit HolstUron r.io G*rr—

&an« An Jer KUck.tand , in dor Dunkulhoit ni»iht r*i.:ht oiohtbr.r,

Cro5fi<? hBlzorno ilnmpentUrea. Auf dora l^nch ala "flinnlgar klcir.c

Schcrz" dor DnvidsU:rnM- Vor dea Itowcrk cine Inscbrift : Kco';

holt -Stiftung !-^ehr habe ich n Jonom Kachnittag nioht eohen

kSnncn*- Am ondcron Xorgan u:t l;urs vor siobon Uhl? fctfndigt men :

an: In zona ;.'*inutan koa-nt dor crato Tr^nnport !- Tatoiichlich

nnch sinigon £inutea der erste Zug von Lowborn sua an. 45 V/csftOf

Bit 6.700 i:enachon,von den-sn 1450 Bchon tot warca bel ihrer An-.

kuaft.Hintor den vorgittorten Luken achoutan, cntaetslich blcid
und finsstlich, Kinder durch,dio Augon voll £ode3nngnt, fcrner

tanner und 7rauen*Dor Zug flihrt oini 200 Ukrainer reienen die

TUren auf und pcitechon dio Leute oit ihran Lederpeitschan r.us

den "aggona horrtua, Kin groaticr ^nuteprochor gibt die weitcron

Anv.eisungoni Sich ganz aussi<ihan, *uch ?rotheo9n,3rillen usv; #

Die Kcrtsachea am Schalter nbg*ibon, ohne Sons odor Quittance Di^

Schuhe aorgfultig zusaamanbindGn (wagon dor i3pinnGtoff.GnmT.lunK*)

denn in dem Haufen von reiohlich 25 Meter Hbbe hatte.sonat

nicmand die zugehdrigen Sohuhe vieder zu8ammenfinden konnen.

Eann die Prwuen und jungen Kadchen zum Frieeur,der mit zv?ei, drei

Scherenscnlagen die gnnzen Haare abachneidet und sie in Kartoffel-

sacken verschv<inden lftsstl'Das iet fttr irgendvielohe Spaziplsv-ecke fur

die TJboote be.stimmt, ftir Dichtungon Oder dorgleichen
1

1- H8gt mir der

SS-UnteraohorfUhrer , der dort Dienst tut©~Dann eetzt aich der Zug

der Kenschcn in Beviegung. Vorah ein bildhttbsoheB jungee tfadchen f ao

gehen sic die Alice eatleng, «lle nnckt fKanner,Pr*uen, Kinder, ohne

Prothesen. .Ich selb3t atehe mit dem Kauptmann Y.'irth oben nuf der

Iteape Z7»iachen den EammernoMutter mit ihren Sauglingen r.nder Brust,

eie kommea hersuf , zogern,trtca ein in die TodesknmmernI—An der

Ecke stent ein starker SS-Mannj der ait paatoraler -Stiome zu den

Armea sagt : 3a paasiert eucn nicht dap gerin.iste! Ihr miiest nur in

den irammerh tief Atem holen, das vieitet d ie Lungen, diese Inhalotion

ist not^ieadig v^egender 2Craakheiten und Seuchen. Aufv die Pragefj-ae

ait ihncn geschehea '.tiirde^ntwortet cr :Ja nattirlich, die Kiinner Dun-

Ben arbeiten, Htiuser und Chaueeeen bauen, nber die Prnuen brauchen

nicht zu arbeiten. llur \ienn .oie vsdllea, kdnncn 8ie in Hauafcnlt

Oder in der SUche mithelfen* ~pUf eiaige voa dioaen Aroien ein kief-
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12.) ner Horrnuncsschimmor 9 dor nuareichx, daee oio ohne V. idcrcynn^ Q
die paar Schritto zu den Knmmcrn gchcn- dio Mehrznhl v.oiao Be-^

echeifi, der Geruch kiindct ihnon ihr loa I -So stoigen sic die ^

kleino -Eroj-pe hernuf- und dcnnsehen sio alios. MUtter mit Kindorn

nn dor Bruct, kloine, nackte 2Cindcr tErvichoeno, Winner und Prr.uon,

alle naokt- aio zbgern- aber ale troten in dio Todooknmmorn, von

den andoren hintor ihnen vorgotriobon odor von den loderpeitechen

der IS gctriebon.Dio Mohrzohl, ohne oin Vort zu Bacon,, Sine Jlidin

von etTia 40 Jahren mit flaanenden Augen ruft dna Blorfc, das hier

ver&ossen v;ird f
iiber die l!6rder*Sie erhiilt 5 Oder 6 Sohloge mit

der Reitpeitache in 1 a Gesicht, vom Kauptnann Y/irth pero5alich,-dann

verechwindet aach £ie in der Summer- Viele Menachen beten* Ich

bete mit ihnen, ich driicke mich in eine Eoke und echroie laut zu

meineo und ihrem Gott.v:ie: gern *Ure ioh nit ihnen in die Kammern

gegangen, wie gern **ire ich ihren 5od taitgestoroen^Sie hatten dann

einen uniformierton SS-OfTizier in ihren ICnmaern gefunden- die 2a-

che v. lire ala UnglUcksfall auiTge^ioat und behandelt wor'-en und

sang-und klanglos- veisohollen. Hoch also da-rf ich nicht, ich mues

noch zuvor kttnden, v>as ich hier erlebe!- Die Zamciern fiillen aich»

Gut vollpaoken, - so hat ea der Hauptmann Tirth befohlen. Die L!en-

13.) ICenachcn atohon cinander axxf den ?iiscon t 700-800 o'uf 25

Quadrntrnotern, in 45 Kubiknuitorn! Die £JS ssviiingt eie physiech zu-

eam^en, eo'^eit oa Ubcrhnupt K«ht.-Dio EUren sohliecaon rich^'iih- • nd-

deseen r.f»rton die nndcron drnucuen ia Preien, n^okt. Jian sc^t dirt

auch im Winter gcnau eo!- Jg f abar aio ktfnnen sich den Tod bolenl

eo^o ich Ja grnd for daa sinn oe ,*)a dohl- cagt mir ein ns-'-Cann

dnrnuf dn anineo Plratt.— Jotzt endlioh veristehe ich auch, carua

die gtnsa Einrichtung " Keckonhort-Sti?tuns" hcjieirt. KookcnhoVt iet

der Chauffeur dca Dieeeltnotore, ein kleinbr Tochniker, gleiohz^itig

der Srb'iuer der Anln^G* Lit don DiceolauSpuffgasen eollon die llcnachn

zu Todo ge'o.ruoht vier:)en. Abor dor Dieoel funktioniert niebtlDer

Hcui tr:»»nn ^irth koamt.Ztan e:leht, ?o iot ihm peinlich, dnea ica

de heute pnaaieron niias , wo ioh hior bin* Jmiohi f ich roho ellca!

und ich ^nrte, Meine Stoppuhr hat ullaa brr.v ro.5iotriort.5O ::inut3n

70 Xinutsn- der Diesel aprinyt nicht anlDie ^enschan mrten in ihren

Gc3kam'"icrn#Ver!-:<:blich. 1'nn hUrt nie \ioir.en, schluchzen. ,,Mrie incer

Lyr.ngo.^on borr.erkt der Profoasor Pfannenotiol, d»a Ohr :m d»?r Hozt'Jr.

^er Kuupttaunn "'irth schlllr.t ait nainer ReitpeitFche dea Ukrain-"Jr , "^r

den UntorschnrfUhr^r Kockeaholt bcia Dies«l holfen soil, 12 f 13 r^l

in'o Ccoicht, J<>.ch 2 St-undcn 49 liinutcn- die Stoppuhr h:jt rll-s v-ohl

rejictriertl- opriiast der ?/iocel on. Bio slu diooea Aur.enblicV; IcV.rn



14.) lcbcn die Itonschen in diosun 4 Knmr.orn, 4 wil 750 Konochon

in 4 anl 45 ICubikractern!- Von ncueo voretrolohon ?5 ^inuton.nichti^

violc cind jetzt tot,:'ian aioht rt«o duroh dna kleine Fonatorchen 0 in

dem dao eloktricu e Licht die Kaacier oinen Ausenblick belouchtot.

llsch 2G Ilinuton lebon nur noch nenigo.Endlioh , naoh 32 Minuter* ist

fillos tot !- Von dor anderon Scito Bfnnon r/ISnnsr vom Arbeitakornmnnd^b

dio IIolztUren# Man hnt ihncn- selbst Judcn- die Prcihcit veraprochcn

uad eincn gonisscn Proaillcaatz von alien gofundennen V/ertcn fUr in-

ron cchrccklichcn Pienat. \7io Basnltattulen otehen die To'en.auf-

recht nncihandegcprccst in den ICnosorruEa Yrare *uoh kein Platz, hin-

su^nllen odor a noh nur nich vornilbor zu neifron# SQlb.6t im Tode noch

fcaant ni.^n die Panilion. Sio drLLck^n sich, im Tode verkrnrapft, nooh

die Htinde, oo daaan- man Kline hnt, aiu auaoinander zu reisscn^ urn

die Zornxovn fUrvdie ntlchato Charge freizumaohen. Ken *irft die Lei-

chen- naoa von Sctooiea und Urin, kotbeochmutzt 9 Kenatruationablut

an den Boinon, hera ua Kinderleichen flicgen durch die Luft 0 fc
f«n hat

koine Zeit, di« Uoitpeitaohen der Uksainer aauaen «uf die Arbcite-

koarosndosa Z^ei Dutzond ZahnUrzte tfffnon Bit Hakeh den i'und und achats

en nach Gold© Gold linka, ohne Gold rochta. Andere Znhn&rzte brechen

mit Zangen und H&amern die Goldz&hno und Kronen au8 den Kiefern.

15.) Unter alien apringt der Hauptmann Y/irth herum* Er iat in aei-

nem Element•-Einige Arbeiter kontrollieren Geait*lien und After nad.

Gold,Brillanten und tfert8achen©-Y/irtb ruft mich herani Heben aie ma

dieae XonaervenbUchso mit GqldzShnen, dsa iat nur von geatern und

vor-jeatern! In einer unglaublioh ge^iShnlichcn und falaohcsfaea

Sprechvieiae angt er zu mir : Sie glauben garnicht, viae vtir jedea
Teg finden an Gold and Brillanten- er aprach ea mit 2 L -

und Dollrir . Aber cchauen Sie aelbat^- Und nun ftthrte er mioh zu
einem Jurcelier, der alle dieae SohaVtze zu verrcalten hatte und lieaa

mich dies allea aehen* - Man zeigte mir dnnn noch einen frtlhren

Cher dea Eaufhaua dee T/eatena in Berlin und eincn Geiger: Da8 iat

eia Hauptmann ton der altea Eb'iserlichXb'niglich Osterreichiachen

Armaee, Hitter dea Eiaernen Kreuze8 I.Klaase, der jetzt Inger-
aMteater beim jUdiaohen Arbeitskommando iat! —Die naokten Leichen
burden auf Holztragen nur trenige Keter ^eit in Gruben von 100 r
20 j: 12 Meter geachleppt.Nach einigen Tagen (Jiirten dio Xeichen
hoch und fielen nladann kurze Zeit apater atark zus2cmen 9 so daaa

man eine neiie Sohicht auf dieaelhen drnufvierfen konnte* Dann ^urd<

10 om Sand darttber ge3trout, ao daaa nur nooh veroinzelte Kb"pfe und

Arme herauaragten. Ioh ash an einer aolchea Stelle Juden ia dea
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1C.) Grlibcrn ;:ur den Lei^hen herunklcttern und prbcit.ua. "ria^

e-cto air, daes vorochnrtlich die tot An5skoELT0r.cn cines Trcne-
portce aicht catkleidct %orJcn ceica. Diso nuoso nafcOrlicfc r.ecea
Aer Spinr.stofre unci Vcrtcachcn, die :1c const nit in f s Grnb aiih-

nen, nachGcholt^ordcno-Jeder in Bolccu nooh in Troblink- hat rasa

cich irgsnCsine 2£Uh* £'\<;«:ben 9 die Getbt- ten zu r-eiotrieren Oder
zu ciihlen. Die Znhlcn uaren nur Schfttzunften nnoh dem Ve2»oainhsrt»-
Ausserden Juden i»un ellcr europ&icchen Herrftfi £Uhdera burden ins-
besondero Ecchechen und ?olen ttr.III in den GaBkanworn p,-?tHt-t#

Sonmienionen von SG-KUnncrn- teilo nicht j?inrocl nit konpletter
Volkoechulbildung- fuhren nit feinen Linuoinsn und Urztlichen
Gerrit in v.eienen :uintdn von Dorf z\i Dorf , li-Bsea die Bevolke-
runs vorbeidefiliorua, taten, als vje'nn sie ei<* ttrztlioh unter-
suchten und bezeiohnsten diejenigen, die bioloainch *ertlos und
darun su tbten ncien, in dor H;mptacche Aite t Schwindotiohtige und
Zrsnke#~Ja t sa^to nir ein S3-5turabnnnfilhrer, ohne diese i:ase-

nshaen \iUre cas UbervSlkorte Polen fUr una vb'llis «rtloe«- V'ir

holen.nur nach f «ina die Kotur Uberall in Tier-und ?flonzenrsich
von eelbct boeorgt und bein ISenochan laider versSunt «-Dor Knupt-

nana VTirth bat nich, in Berlin keino
.

Anderungen seiner Anls^ca'

0TO
It

17.) vorzusehlctfon und alios so zu laesoa, v.ie es v?*irc-" und e ich
besteas eingeopialt und bovilihrt habe #- Die Blausiiure h:ibe ich
unter ooeiner Aufaioht vergruben lanaon© da s is an^eblich in Zersc-

setzuns goratan oei.-Am anderen Sage -den 19.August 1942.-fuhrcr
wir nit den Auto des Hauptmann Virth naoh Sreblinka 120 kn Kj;o

von warsohrftu.Die Kinrichtuns «<*r et::a diesalbc, nur viel grosser
ala in Belceo. _8 Ganknnraern und viahre Gebir/.o von Xoffera,
Textilien und YHiaohcZu unsaren Ehrcn vmrdo in Geraeinschufte-
Saal in typioch hinnler-sohen Altdeutsohcn S'iel ein Bonkett
ett-«ft9e^«-£kw«H% gegeban* Das Dcaan war einfach, ober 00 stand
allee in jeder ^oog* zur Verfiirjung. Himnler hatte oelbst on^e-
ordncte, dnss d ie banner dieoer ICo;ar:ando3 eoviel ?loicch tButter
und sonstiges erhieltcn, iaBbesondnro Alkohol, ^ie oie T:olltcn».

Profeosor rannenntiel hiolt cine Iicde f in der er den l!:iinncrn die

Iliitzlicbkeit ihr^r Auf«ribe und die -viehtigkeit ihrsr crosren
Miecion klnr nachte. 2u nir oelbct oprach «r von 11 echr hu.-ranen

J-lethoJen und von Schynhsit der Arbeit J " Ich v^rbUrce nich dafur©
daec or dies ucslaubliche virkliqh geoagt hat I- Den IScnnschaf.

ton oagte ~.t insbeoondere t V/enn nan dieoo Judenkbrpcr sir.ht,

dr.nn-.Tird einftn orot recht klar, -.lie dankensv:ert cure Aufr.sbe ist^
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18.)Boira Abachicd burden mm noon Eiihrere uilograr.a Butter und viv

Liktfr K'Jra Mitnehs'in /jn;fibott!n. Ich hatto Mllho, Klaubhnft zu r.ktfe-e

dnon Ich von m^insm - nntfcblicher.- Gut ftenu& von nlledem huVttn,

r«uf Pfannenoticl beglUclct ouch noch oeini Portionon einctrlch*

v;ir fuhrtn dann ait clem Auto nuch Warachnu.Dort tmf ich ? els ich

vergeblich ein Schlnf«nf-;onbr:tt su erhnlton vnre?uchte f im Zuz"- dc

SokrotUr der Soh?;cdinchen Gcasndtachnft in Berlin, Baron von Ott'!

Ioh hube noch untcr dera frisehen j&indruck der ffntaetzlich^n Er'JLr

niase dieoeo alien erz&hlt mit dcr Bitte, dieo seiner Re»l^rur,£

und den Alliiartea eofort zxi beriohten, da jeder 5og Vortf^erar?^

Tieitoren Tauaenden und lOTaueendcn cub Laban konten oUsna* Sr by;'

mich ua ein** Jiof-'renz, ala welcha ich inn Herrn Gener^lsup-jrint.;

dentcn D.Otto Dibeli o, Berlin, Brttderiaeg 2,Lichterfelde v:est,nr.
;

einen vertrwuton Freund dea Pfarrnra Martin IJictntfller und hritgli-.

der kirchliohon VidcrGtandabercegung gegen den Nnsismus #Ich trof »

Kcrrn v. Otter nooh 2 mal in der och»ediaohen Geeandtsohafto Erh.
insuischen nach Stockholm berichtet und toilto mir irtit, dsse di<?i

Bericht erhoblichen Kinfluaa nuf die Sohwedisoh-Deutachen Basics

gehsbt habe« loh versuchte in ftleicher Saohe dem Pilpstliohen Nut;

in Eerlin Berioht su cratatten. Dort «urde ich gefr^gt, ob ich Sc

dat sei«Daraufhin wurde jade -waitere Unterhultung nit mir cb3al? t "

19.)^nd ich zua Vorlassen der Botachaft Cein«r Keiligkeit aufge.fi

dert* Beim Verinasen der P&petlichcn Botsciiaft t;urdc ich von .ain

Polisiaien mit dem Rnde verfolgt, der kur;: an mir vorb^ifuhr, sr.

etieg, mich dannabcr vollig unbfjgreiflichcr 'icine lnufea licsf? c

Ich hnbe dann alle8 dies hundertan von PersBnliehkrtitsn borich *

tet, unter undereta dea Syndikus dea katholiscben Biechofs von

Berlin, Herrn Br.^'intnr, mit dcr auadriicklichen Bitte um v.'eitertf:

an dea pUpstliehen Stuhl*- loi. cusa noch hinzufdgen, done der

SturcbannfUhver Glinthcr voa UeichacichorheitGhriuptant- ich g!2iub*

or 1st der Gohn doa Raa.:ea-GUnthsra—• Anfang 1944 nochrnuls e*hr

grosse ^en^en Blauoiiurc von mir verlangtu fUr einen aohr duckler

2v;ack. Er seigt*? nir in dcr Hurf;irat o natra a 3 e "in Berlin einon £c)

pan, in dem er dio BlauoUuns ssu Intern gedttoht. Ich erklllrte ihr.*

darauf , daea ich daftir ouaGeochloaaenemeiso die Ver::-nt«ortuns

Ubnrnehcea kbnne #Ea handelto aich urn nehroro -aggon?, g^nus, um

viele Killio.ien il«nschen damit uasubringen«Er 8a-*.te..oir, daac o*

celbst noch nicht viiaac, ob daa Gift cebraucht viirdo, waan, f'JLr

wen, auf iclche reis.e urm #Abor ea mUaao 8tiindig verfiigbnr gehcli;-

\*erdcn#Icrj habe opJtter oft an die Worts von Gorbbsls denken
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Vo:kco ttften %*olIten 8 oichcr eiiischliooclich dor ?fnrre roohwft o£e£*

der mif.'cliobif,cn Offizi^rooDns oolite in «iner Art L*rc6illon Oder

Klubriiunen goschchen, ooviel ontnnhra ich den Fra^on der technirchen

Durchilihr-n^p die Glinthe? an nich richtotiuSo knnn such rein, daco

cr dio Prcind:irb.".itor umbrinuen nollto, odor Urines* fanse no- ich v.-eiS

es nichteAuf .laden Pull riohtote ich eo r?o oin, dnen die BlnuDiiurc

eofort n.ich ihror Ankuaft in den bcidon Konzentrntionslacsrn Orani-

caburg una Auschwitz fUr iruend^olche Hvsecke icr Deeinfoktion ver-

Qehv.andoDcs *ar atvr.ia gaffcihrlich flir mich, abar .ich heVtte cinfoch

sa*;cn ktfr.nen, dans das Gift aioh bereito in ein»;r gof&hrlicV'en Zer-

oct2ung b^fundan h»be«Ich bin sicher, daas GUnther das Gift beschaf-

fen r.ollto, um Millionen Llenschen evsntuell umzubrin/J-sn.KB reichte

flir oca.8 Killionen Kensoheft9 8500 kgo Dber 2.175 kg hnbe ich die

Hechnunsen' ein^ernic t.Die Rochnungfsn lieae ich etete cuf ci-iinsn

Ksaon aucatollen, nn;;eblich *egcn der Distortion, in v.ahrheit am in

ineinsr VcrfUftun^ freier zu \ein und urn das Gift verscbv:indon lsDsen

zu kronen.Vor allcm varaied ich es, durch Vorlego von Heehnungen die

Sacho imraor wicder in Erinusrung zu bringen, sonclcrn liess die Rech

nun^en lieber vlillig unbesahlt,unt::r VertrHotung der Pirina*

21.)Der proktor Dr.Peter8 der Degesch, Frankfurt a.H.und Priedberg,

dor dieae Lieferung ausgefiihrt hat, hat mir erzfihlt, dass er Blau-
saure in Ampullon zum TBten von Menschen geliofert hat*— Ein andores
ISal fragto mich GUnther, ob es mBglioh sei, in den Fostungegraben vor

liaria-Theresienstadt Juden, die dort spazieren gehen durften, im Preion
mit Blausaure zu ttften. Urn dieaen achrecklichen Plan zu vsroitela,
erkliirte ich dies ftir uamoglich, Ich habo dnnn spaVter erfahren, dass
das SD-Koraraando Haria-Theresienstadt aich auf andere Weise doch Blau-
saure verachafft und dio Juden umgebraoht hat*— Die soheuaslich-
eten Xonzentrationslager *arcn ttbrigend nicht Oranienburg Oder Bol-
sen Oder Dachau, aondern Auschwitz, v?o Millionen Menschen umge-
braoht *orden sind, teils in Gaskamraorn, teils in sogennnntsn Toiee-
autos, und Mauthausen-Gusea bei Linzo In Auachvjifcz carves ublich,
Kinder dadurch umzubringen, daaa man ihnon Tupfor Bit Blausauro un-
ter die Naae hielt©—- Ioh hobe im Ubrigen solbst im Lager Ravens-
briick boi Pueretenberg in Keoklenburgv dem Prauenkonzentrations-
lager- Veraucho an Lebonden geaohenoDicse burden auf Veranlnssur^
von SS-GruppenfUhrer Dr-.Gebhardt-Kohonlychen duroh S--Hauptetura-
fUhrer Dr^Gundlaoh durohgefUhrtoAuch in Buohenviald nurden derarti^o

Yersuohe en lebenden Kenachen z«b,mit bia zu 100 Tablettsn Pcrvitia
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22.) durchficfUhrt, bis unt«;r UcictuncJon zum ttfdlichen Auogsng.^k,

diecc Expericente hatte aich Hiaalcr aelbet die Zuatimmuns vorbo-

halten.Insbceondorc uurde PlcckficDcrinpfatoff und Lymphe ooviie

andere "Sera- dort nuaprobiert«Dic Voreuche urafnoaten bis zu 100

Oder 200 tlenachen in Einzelfall, und zviar von der Lngerleitnnsb'

zun Tode Vorurteilto o— Ioh vmndcrte mich in Orflninnburg, dce>?

inncrhalb Tagon alle Honoaoxuollon.- vielo hundert«- verachwarvl

und zv;ar in don Ofen0— leh habe ca in tibrigen verni^den, allzu

oft in Zonzentrationalagsrn zu er8cheinen,denn oa viar narichmol J.'

lich, zu Enron der Beaucher Leuto aufzuhangon odor Exokutionen

vorzunhhmeno Dor SS-Haupteturnfiihror Dr.Fritz Krantz, der aolch<r.

Dingo in groasor Zahl erlobt hat, erzfchlto nir oft hiervon nit

tiefor Entriistungo Z.B. burden in Guaoh-Mauthauaen fast taglich

zahlr-iicho Juden , die In einon groasen Steinbruch orbeiten aoi:

ten, dio stcilo Wand he runt ergo atoaaon und unten ala tb'dliche

Ungliickafalio rogiatriert o In Auschwitz eind derartige Gomein-

hcitan obenfalla in viel grBsaerer Zahl bogangen worden, • la in

Bolesno— Ioh hat to' daa GlUcfc, in meiner Dienatatello einigo radS

kale Antinazioa zu treffen, ap den SS-Hauptaturnftthrer und Sta*L

soharfiihrer Hainrich Hollander, einen guten Katholiken, und der*

23« ) eben gonanntcn Dr.Fritz Krantz* Hollander gab mir olle An-

tcreaeanten Sachen zur £enntnia 0 Seine Frau hat einial bei cincm

Eaaon den Reiohaarzt SS und .Polizei, SS-Obergrupponftthr.er Dr.Gra~

nitz,Berlin, gloichzoitig Praaident des Doutachon Eoten Kreuzcs ?

heftigo Vorwiirfe Megender Judentb'tung gemacht* Sie orhiolt da-

raufhin einen' erbebiichen Eiffel und oa wurdo ihr ver/boten f diet:

Saohe jo wiedor . anzuxtihren-o

Alle neine Angabon aind wbrtiich ^ahr. Ioh bin nir

der cusaerordentliohcn Tr^g^eito dieaer moiner Aufzeichnungen.

vor Gott und der geaanten lienachheit Toll bewussS und nehno

ea qut neinon Eid* dasa niohta von alien, tvaa ich regsitriert

habe, ordichtet Oder erfunden 1st, aondern alloa aich genau so

verhaito
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24.) Alo Roforenzen Uber ooino poraon ftebc' ion on s

Prnu Pfarror ilnrtin Niemcillor, z.Zt. Xooiii am StornborGer Soo
Qcnoralaup-jrintandont D.Dibelius (Otto) ,:Jorlin-Lichterfeld©.

Pferror Dr.Itartin HiomBller, Dachau ?????

Ptarror Bchliost Hagon, Weetfalon^Luthsrlciroho

Dorothea Sohulz, Selcrctarin von Pfarrsr Iliam811era.Xeoni bei Mttnohen

Dr.Polix Busb, Justitior von TolcfunScn, Borlin Stf 11*

Direktor Alaxandor ZScnne,Diraktor der Giaourit-:/erko t bis 1939 in -Ecg

land in der Parbiadus+.ri* tatig, von Juli 44- Pobruar 45 in SD-Gefans
niso
Praegrcs Dr*2och, 7/estf.Bakonntniakijrcho tBad Oeynhauaen

Ptarrar Buchbola fAnatart8pfarrer von Borlin-Gefangnia Ploetzenseo.Er
begleitot© die Offiziere des 20.Juli 44 zum Sohaf*ot«
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}£re-
sInr.urK>-n i lix iJalo-.': i-.:h <1fm ;;indruek,'.::cF Nils v>irK-

lioh tot • wi»rtfn t ob".-ohl ulr H'.uirtnnun '< ir~h t.»r::fihlt-». , due?: sic

dl-t fcb«o:iu«rli<?r.ii tcsi; ^isii': '-*r.V:bt hiit*un p 2.B. eic, our*t«r le-

h\-nj'it- ;Iin.i con;/.' us in »:Iunr Ub»sr JJsch ur;au::f#«?l« :i«a atnhen

•M>bli'ibo»v>\i ijicr.:-. -ir vor^»i^uii"::c» hUtt«R«lii >.?«intii':h nn«jt« * irth-

hi;tioc ei* b^i em unint cnkz>ui;ui; di«t mitrkutirdifi -tc« Mr.-~ti

ucc; uiA- u^titr.'uiiJirtcUini.r.tun :'n!p£lU'.lli<:l.kultiin **i»tx»«RtuJ.:t«

lie ::rprobu£g tier vorr.uhiudi.au CTwtmifitf&rtuu *ird Hioh n'icht

a;:? ^.rcvo 2s»!!l<:n cratruckt ii:»bu.n«Ab*fr vnrtfucht vurde rcanc.^.-e,.

cir rait tin fata r '.'r&ri- : vtihcit dsr* sifi-iluuptBHrristfUteor Iir.ff.ed

Yillina tt-..g jlorttamid.iio butr-r taimnnda polniachcr Gcistlicfcsr,

ciij» eich jvclbat Grub-tn aunh-sbun Biinntca und doftri oua&e stolen v«r

ErgUczuagon Blatt 2.

stochaa. Dies Storboa aoi creroi.oa{1 und UbBrzeU£;ocd ^ ^
bildlxchc n acstUndigo Art 2U hundorttaua^dea g»etorbcn.Einc Bir vorbargt or.tihlto «ar, dio ^J. dio £ .

aao.Auch in Zicgcloiruadoxea sollca vialo Koaach,a gotot«t un^

U-ller.crzahlt, Blr und dan ^zt(mdeo daso vor

uaa rur liroohiosc-unc gaoorgt.Eo-
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Leseabschrift

Erganzungen: In Belcec hatte ich den Eindrucl;- daB alle

v/irklicb tot waren, obwobl mir Hauptmann Wirth erzahlte,

daB sie die absonderlicbsten Dinge erlebt batten, z.B.

ein munter iebendes Kind morgens in einer iiber Nacht

unausgeladen steben gebliebenen Rammer vorgefunden batten.

Nairentlicb sagte Wirtb batten sie bei den Geisteskranken

die merkwiirdigsten Dinge und die unterscbiedlicbsten

Empfindlicbkeiten £estgestellt. Die Erprobung der ver-

scbiedenen Totungsarten wird sicb nicbt auf groBe Zanlen

erstreckt baben. Aber versucbt wurde mancbes. Z.B. - wobl

aucb in groBerer Zabl - Tb'tungen mit Pressluft in alten

Dampfkesseln, in die diese mit Kompressoren eingepreBt

wurde, wie diese zum Aspbaltaufreissen ublicb sind. In

Treblinka batte icb den Eindruck, daB mancbe nocb lebten.

Past alle batten die Augen offen und saben daber entsetz-

licb aus. Bevegungen babe icb jedocb nicbt mebr geseben,

obwobl icb darauf genau aufgepaBt babe. Von einem geradezu

beroiscben Sterben erzablte mir mit tiefster Ergriffenbeit

der SS-Hauptsturmfubrer Dr. med> Villing aus Dortmund.

Es betraf tausende polniscber Geistlicber, die sicb selbst

Gruben ausbeben muBten und dann ausgezogen vor den Gruben

erscbossen wurden.
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3.iirgunzurvi«n.

Bsoondcra tragisch soi ihm in Erinncrung, viio zvioi klcieno L'cid_

chcn vor ihncn niedcrgoknict ocicu"und gabotct htltten- 5 und '8 Jo

alto—und vfio Bio dann doch erachosccn vierdon "muooton" ! I-

cagte fcrncr: Bci den Ivlaoaonhinrichtungon dor Polen mueaten dieao

cich laagc Grtiben aucheben und aich dann auf dom Bauch in diese

h£utcinlogon« Sic \iurden aladann von obon nit I4aa chine npiatolcn

Qr3cno33en.Dic Nlichaton muaaton sich c 1: dann auf die noch barmen

leichen drauflegon und burden glciohfalla oraohoaaen. Viele seio

noch gar nicht tot ge^eaen und mussten -dann beim Vorsouh, aus deia

5-6 lagen harauazukricchon, an Grnbenrand erschoaaea vjerdon 0 -

Ein hohca Mitglicd dor dcutschen Regiorung in Xrakau erzahlta

air, vsahrond* er die Pute trenchiarto, von einem besondera gliick-

lichcn i'aag, donde gemaclvt haVttcn.Sia haVtten ein ftthrondeo llit-

glied dcr pqlniachen V/idorr- tandabeTJcgung gofaaat, einen Juden 0 Vi

oer batto aich bcim Vorhb*r in Schvjoigen gehlillt# Darauf habe nan

iha die Handgelcnko gebrochen.Auch da noch habe or geach^iegen.D<

rquf hatte man inn mit dem HinSarn auf oine gltihende Herdplatte

geeetzt: Sio haVtten mal aohon aollen, *i© oer ^erl geapr&chig viur'

do III—

ErgU.azungea Blatt 4«

Bei .lintim Bonuch bei dar Brtlichen Bnu-.oitung 3 or Waffftn-Si: in

Lublin aa 18.Auguat 1942 crziihltcn un* dflte boiden Bnusondorfuh«

rer von sinsr so Voraittag atattgehribten Baolchtigun?, der Loi-

chonhallo einea Sn-iCriftgagafacgenr.nlagure bei Lublin. Dort ar-

ea die Loiohen zu tauaonden rmfgotUrart gewopen.V.'Sbr? sd cie ^ege

doa Umbaua Keasuagon durchgoftihrt hoVttan, batten aich pltftzli^

2 iicnachan feeiiogt* D^r begleitendo BS-Rottenfiihrsr hsbe dnrsv

nur gefregt i V/o denn??— Dana h*ba or oin b-sr'.'tli'jgondca St'dcl?

Rundeiaon gononraen und dfin beiden don f:chiid.el eir3g*3chl:?5an.

—iJicht die" Cataacho, mointea <?.iu Baufiihror- hab«» sie uncrras-

8ondera die Selbstveratttndlicbkait f mi'; de.» daa s'tcchnh!

—

—Am Sago meiner Bcaichtisung in Bolceo p:1 *sierte es, da::

oin« Jildin mit eir.am verborgan gehalteaen I*neiQrT50Hf?«r

einigen Judon doa Arboitakorcr.^ndoo oinigo Schnitts in *d^n Uulz:

beibrachte.V/irth bednucrte lcbhaft f daae die rrr.u ?chon tot ce;.

aie hdtte oxemplwrinch bestrift ^ordnn m'depen.- Bi*; verlotsten

Arbeitsjudcn liena er aorgfiiltig pflegen und lirztlich bstrcucr
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Drgiinzun^n Blatt 5», Tito

v.ie er aagte, ua den Glauben vnach zu halton, daaa ai* ange-

ciedclt, belohnt und nm Loben erhalten Tierdon eollten. Er-.'irth-

konnte sioh aolbat nioht genug dorttber vmndorn und nmliaioren, daes

die das glaubten......Und daa glaubon die Hcrle , das glauben die

Zerlel!!- rief er vor eich bin II

— In Bolceo burden nach doa Cffnen dor Vaggona und d«m Entklci-

den die Manner und Jungen duroh don lautapreoher aufgefordort

,

die Ubcrall heruoliegenden Klcidunsaatiicko oofort zu den 7/aggond

zu bringon, rait donen sie in oinen grosoen Lagor voreohwandan.

"Y/er am beston aohfiflft , kann boim Arbeit 2koaaando bleibcn ?l- Nun

bagann ein Vettlauf auf Lsben und Tod diosor nackten Kenachen

beia Aufrauaen, unter dem Hohngelachtcr dor Mannaohaften. Natttr-

lich vorachtiandon aie alle nachhor in don Gaaknamorn.- Lodiglioh

einigo ganz alto urtd aohviacho ^oroonon viurdon aoituurta gotrogen

und dann craohoenen.-Ioh donko an cinigo flir aich tief orgrei,ond«

Bilddr 1 An dao 3-4-Jiihrigo JudoabUbohon,dea ronn oin Biindol Bind-

fadon in dio Hand driiokte zua Zuaaamenbinde ri der Sohuho f
viio ea

voraonnon dio Bindftidchon an dio Louto auatoilte. Oder an oin

kleinea Korallonkettohen, daa oin kleinea Kadohen einen Motor

JSrgiinzungen, Blutt 6»

kleinea. iMadohen einen Ket:r vor der Ga*l:nmn?or verlor: ?;ie rich
ein Biibchea von vielloicht 3 Jchrun danach bfiokte

f urn ea aufzu
heben, *io 00 aoino Proudo doran hat - und dann in die Xaamer
feuatosaen, nein, in dioeom ?all oachto hinoingedruokt vsirdl

SS-KauptsturaXUhrer Oberaejrnr erzUhlto air 1 loh habe in cinem
fiorf hier in der Gogond einen Judon nobst ^rau sua aoinor •

Heiaatatadt Pirmasen8 an<?otroffon«Dor i^.nn^Dr in \7eltkricg
tfaehtmaiitw und iat oin aolir ordant lienor Zerl.Ala Kind hat
er mich vor dom Todo deo Uborrahrondcrdona gerottet.Ioh werde
jetzt die Xeute mitnehmen und in dan Arbeit tikoarr.and o oinglie-
dern.-Auf m-iina Prago, tiqo \*eitrtr aun ;bn boiden Vd*de, aa^to
Oberaeyen Nachhor gonau ttio ;ie andern, da dar* roan aich nichta
von anaehmen, da gibt'a nur oins I loh Tierdo aie iramerhin er-
echiesaen laason 1— Ich bbo auch ihufrhalb dor CO oine grOsae-
re Ansahl von leuton angotroffW, die dieao y.ethoden achiirfatena
verurtcilten und dio dartiber sur Ablchnuas odor g^r., zu einem
gltthesden ^aaa gogen don "ationnlaozialisaus gelangten* "ich non-
ne- auch Tiiodcr in letztcr Verantviortung- hicr eiaige I.'anen t

SS-GturabannrUhror Dr f mod.Pocht aua hagon i.'-eatf .Chef der
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Inaoran Abtcilur*£ deo SS-Lazaretta Borlia-..

3 £—1 ;aup1 2 1 uxm^ iihrc r Dr..~od.Ili3Gan, Itcehoe.

S-j-Ob^raturaTHirer Dr.ci2d» Sorgo riid Jona,

L c -liaapt a c har£ahry r , Litabsocnafcf'uhrcr bcici Roicfcsarzt 3S. Hcin-

rioh Hollander, antinazi-Aictiviat uad flllihonder Hassor dea Naziu

Hauptaturaf 'dlir^r Ir.Pritz ICrsntz, bai:a Reichearzt SS Abteiluns

C--Grappa ofiiiirer Dr«pharnu31ufflonreuth*r # Oberetcr Sahitatazeug,

star bsim- lioichaarzt S3 uad Polizsi,

Dr«£udolphi,S3-3turhibannftthrer ,ebundort

Dr.Behtnanburg, ebendort.Ruddlphi -trat Oktobar 44 d2& Hitlerbild

cen ?useen«

uberhaupt iat l a vioit gefehlt,die S3 auch nur eijiiger>n:;.3fien ale

ctiacn oialvsitlioheij HauJTen anzusfthan« Ion weiaa, » ie schwcr es :•

da URtoraohi'S de zu machea i^n der 33eurtcilung und Behandlung. Ici

verstoho, daas man sich m irgend eine Forraatioa b^eondera haltt

mochua uad ksnno die von der 83 bogangcnQR Grcuel v;ohl nm be.

Abor dabei 1st aicht zu ttbsraehen, d acr z.B. mindeateno 2/5 der

hollandi'sch«a S3 g«zv;ungen sar SS duroh Lug und Bstrug durch t

gonaaute Sportkurae gepreast wurdu # Ebenao ging «s vic-l'ja Deuts<

a.umoh.n. «o«.aatli0h «i» dor «itl.rj.ts«na t <!«„ aSiaan , Pioo Ubor-
rBDr.lt und Hb.rtOijvit uurUun. , era,r 6o „ vl ,ilca> ^ ^ ^
Lurta*.'.-*

- der 2'.«ria,« attf K4sal«r» Varnnlo,. Bu«c oin '-ch In die
Zl rt#pr«est »urd*s. r as S(,co ^ d „ p i nlJrhlllt uni 3. r„htlv
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ynysnroror^rrs sur L'AtraiB to rapport

turt in£enii>ur diplent, ei^olni du terrict de» xdnee, harp

territt, tloipxt da atrriat dt l f£tet pear mttiriU ftn^^ftUon*lt-toeiftHett

ta profit do i'^Uw Refers** (pftflitar flWOXlSSU 1* VT.DQ* Jo tide

et-propritteirt dt 1* *ima 4t US« tt Cit* t febrigut do *e*hint*

pour ptiMa^t entotaetigut dts IteoaetiTtt*

Von pert* L&frds *£. OEPJHxXH, president do lm Cour dt Juttiee ea tretrxi

dtEegen (Sertphtlie) .

yji e£rtt Ca&ra CEHJBTZZKf nit d^dit en 19J3*

Jt suit nnri< dtpuit It XI JLmrt 191T e*ee KlfritdB nit B2SSCH, dodeillet

* TuMacea, Derimetre* tt 84, Boat atroi troii csfcste, Xmulf e*4 dt 5 sne,

adelheid, 8 eat 01 *

dt 1905 ft 1910 k ttaurttr (SeeiphalU)

dt 1910 ft 1919 a Scrrebrueek

19& ft Elaborated*
#

dt 192t ft 1925 k Eeuruppla, proe dt Berlin, efc J^ei peesS «a 19£» Baa

befibot en lycit*

dt 1925 1 1930, travail pratique dead dot fiinea elternatlTeceat arte dtt

t'tudea a narburg, aaebea vi Berlin.

•a 1921, exaaea dUassnieur diplest,

P«?idB 1925, aacbre eatif dt la ^euneeet proteetentt petieulitreseat dsns

ltt oerelet biblique* dtt inetitcte pfdaeociqueB euporieura,

pei-tiesa eatif dt et dt STKESSUKK, ^ f ^ A , M
Dtpuit 1951, eoattosatBt poureuiYi per la Sertepe jw activity eati-na-

tionalt eu profit dt Wgliee dt It rtatttcnot ebrotieane (paeieur Ecrtin^

KIQKELLER, Bcrlin-Dohlo-DifihBa) at pour tontfnutUcc dtt reunions interdittt

dtt Jcunefieet protecteatta,

Lt SO Janvier 1935, J'ai ©HS celaent et blessa" pour avoir protect*

eontrt la reprieeatetica dt 1ft ii.tot anti-chritieane *&ttocind5, en theetrt

df£tet dt Bagon (Wo*tpbalie>

U £7 Kevotbre 1935, i^tpeeteur-adjoini da service dw l£n»ej eaeuitt,

fonctlonntlro dt l>Ateinietr*tion dot l^nei dt 1ft Btrrt k Barrftbrueck*

Lt 27 Septtdbr* 1936, errcU per 0* Gtfttcpo, dsnt ma biir*att, ^r ivelr

Kixoyi 8. SOD broeirurot «nti-n*iitt k tout let ksatt fonetloizaelrftft dt l»£tat|

VoUfi trt ftdt m dtftt d»ftrroeti£tion dt •protoctloa" pour a>etrt Hrr< k unt

StlrlU nifftfttt pour l^Etut, nclcr* dt aocbreux evcrUoo^cstft, en orcenleont
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une ettcque ryat 6antique, eonocrlrique ci crcrjiie'e dtio le dsrxlno littCrtl

eontr* l v £tci nutioEil-Bacielietc.

iymt qtdtti le aenriee de l°Etat D Jo pas r**aliecr xm dl bob dieire pr

f^i, Jtudier le cSdceiae" tropiecle & fcibiaies a I'lnrtltut Protasimat b11o

pour dvcdon Bidietlea. Let l£»OD0 csrks emuels que b« proeurtit Ik t&ieon

LXKCK ILtTriSS £ GLe. ne rendaiant ind£peadcat et e'eonosdqueaait HbrO) 2/* 6

sob revenue eHait .d^peaed' par soi* 'depuia 1$S1$ pour Bes idSeux reUsiesx. .©

•ft e set fruit quo J'ei felt ixspriner 8S0.OQ0 Vroefcui^a .relieieaBee fct'aati<

naxios et ci fe^ruri lour diffusier*

Le It*

T

9 38 cat lieu na deoxiese errestetion far le, Oeatapo et It fi.SU

BtuttctrV d'abord peeae' quelques seaciaet dens dlvertes pritoai
. dn C

et fut conduit enau*te ett ere? do ©one cetraticn da *8ltbeia* Zupcrsrsat, j't

dte* interror* et averti, deux dauaeinea do foia, per dca e£csrte de la 0artapt

da CD, Defease at fut donnj© do prendre la pcrole oar tout lo territoiro

da Reich ot oed & M cintena Juoqa^l la fia du sycteae n*j£»

Laraqu* J»epprie l^aaeasaiaci m*ci? deft elienie a Badsnar, OreXeaeoV.'

ot tilloura, jo n f eue plui "qu #ua dadr* talr Juaqu^aa fond do cetto naradto
:

.

do eorcicra ot oocousiquer as people ce que 3»/ Verreij oarrdt-eo eaTrisque ;

do navic. Jo a'avaie .pta k avoir do eorupulea, araat 4U xsoi-acot, a deux t

la vietise dot acestt da rvS.SU qui e*£tqleat esx-.-«aet infiltr£ a deaf '

dlieux lea plus forala da l»Egllao protectants et qui ardent
_
prit* . «»te-&*

"

eoto crec not* .

Jo penaeiBi *0e quo *oua eies capable* do f.iro, Jo la pesx' xdesx

qua Yoaf% «t Jo ot coaftitueis lostaire pour entror den* lot VS. . J*e±

pria oetto ddeisioB d'eirteat plua faeUesflBt que b* propro e^e-seettrfy'
Berth* SSSJIO strait Hi tseassinlo a Hadtssari -

' ' -

Al'aide dt doux reeoasexidatioria d*agejti do la Oeatape qui armiest iti

ehtrg^a do rxm ceo, U bo fut facile d'etre e*etpt* ease lot Waffea.BSi. sn do

eat Keaoleur* a'cvait diti **too rotro doae d'id^aliaaa,' rout devrios etrt •;

ecfoso^ Jue^i'aai oou dsne le parU\'N Coat aiBsi qu»ila'»e awstrireot eux-

aesee lo chesia k preadra, Ka formatitm da fcaae bo fut dosalo a BBBbur*,

Laacoaboora, dime ua atege que Jo aui'rie avee €0 »£de«iaa. Eatulte i Arah«

ea Bollcade, ot a Orirafiaburg. JL Arcaec^ J© fut tds inxidietcneaV oa rola*

tiont evec la r^cLatoace hollaadeioo per coa asd d'^tudeat le fftbriquant

Ubtlax DOrSBUBa,
"

yet ^tudoa doublee, ea teat que n<5decia ot teckaiciea bo eoaduieent

Weatot a l*£.l^ doaS.fi., ooctioa SU ^ygi^«» 22 feat eYouer que cetto

aectioa dttit d'une lcrEeur de cone optica reoarquBLlc pfu-reitaacast coaaeiecti,

Le cboix do Boa oecupotioa e'eat leiaa^ entlfcracent et librmeat. Je no

seta I eonntruire dot iaatallctiene do d^dafectioa localca et aobllee jxmr

ea=5?a do pri«oaaiera f cc=?a do coaoeatrctioa, troupea eu ooabat ea crando ..."

qutrtitl pour oubrealr k sa Vecoia preatcnt. Seaa aroir de adrite pereoaaal

h cala, J'obtiea'e de jcroe ouccla et k pcrtir de to BDjteat; on ae concidlre, k

tort, ect=e ua gide technique.
"" Jo dispose tout sicplaseat d ,ua aoUde boa

ocas et d'une craade euret^ d'iactiacto} I partir de ee aoaeat, je acio.

forteccat atlUai pour dee prejet a da fclaicttre du TrcrcLl et da kOalettro

de I'O&K je dole ae ehirger de reaettre deae lo boa cbecda lo ajetOBO do

CSr Or
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dfeLnfeciioE tris lrruffloret du CI-^o Ce ayetbaa *tat dJJl tclle=e:t tabot*

qu #ll n 8 y a pa§ cr^nd chose i slollorar. IcutoTcis J* r^iccio a atopper 1*

tarribla *a£ua da typfcua da 1*U qui ©euaa quotidi«ui*=ext plusleur* diaaiiaaa

da gjlllara.da aorta dans las cccpa da priwnnicrft at de oonoantrfftion, Biaat &

J* davient e*ua-lleuteaant e puia lieutenant.

En 6«oe=bra 1S41| J a ado a nouvaau en grand deader. La Tribunal cu par*

qui mlX didd* aon execution ay ant apprlo.qu* Ja a'dtaia irttltr* dans vm

da B.C ' Craea I ait rou'aidtaa.at 1,

l»«*iS*a^taaral» dont J a Jouia, Ja aula •

proiSfci ' per aoa cbefa at aainteatt* . . . .
'

Jr!.v :
"

- ; ' : • '•

.

Ee, frrrlar 1942," Ja i«is neaai da la aiction tachniqua aatitalra qui

eoaprcad, en ceaa tea?*, tout la rystfcaa da lf &*u potable «t tauta la didnfac-

tion technique,' atna LI* el da de ga* trU tcjdquea,
'

La B Juia 1*42, la sjs» EJtujT^Bjail^ahrarlcm'mni da B«£TR»JU da la

rurfuerieastraaaa lent den* rwakreaa, XI art en eiril* Ja »e !•«! Jamai*

TU4 Avao beaucoup d , alluaions ay-atari cuaea, 11 na dona* I'ordra^a lid pre*

curar 260 ksej d # acida pmeaique at da aa redra aree ca poiaon, **fco una vei-

turc du A* dana un cndrolt oonnu" seuleoent du opndacteur.
.-. .

Quelqu* teap* apri** Ja aa reada, eveVeeti* Tuiture, a CtfAik^ praa da

Prague*, v Je poutai* n^iaaciner, apprexiioatiTeaant la gear* da elation dort U '

e*e£Lws±tf Ja l f acoe?ta toutefoie, car aujcurd'hul aowra 11 ca arable qu*ua

"hanard receeablent Strangoqeat eu dastin, a© ait en situation da Jeter tm coup

c
x©e±l nxecteaent U ok 3a TOileia Yoir cloir da toutat lea fibre*, da non coeur,

Pard daa ndllicre da poatei poadblaa, en **«r«it eonfi^t pansl laa aaatainaa -

d' outran iuata la poata qui fc»«pprochelt la plua.da aatte aorta/da ebaaa at qrL ..

aa chargeait, moi parei tant d'autrea d»j travailltr. .
.St Fj pBaa»,. eela at :

•.

i sbla tncroyabla at aala d'autant jOLua at !*<« tient ooryta da J»n^J qui

c» t oonfcilt pluaieura foia dena laa prliwna da la Oartepa at da S.V.J>our »cti*tl

orti-natloiula* ot
ff
11 n*j a>aa ai lonctaapa, danB un esxsp da conaantration, oad

<tant ccrtam largecant da aaa abaJa, par suita da la d^nonclatlaft da^crtU ..

Traiacct la UD» at aan pairta.ia £.B.B»JL. ent B^nifianesait dor^Aane aa cat

at cart xaodu d'uat faoon aacasjialra la baue\jardlnlay#^ • / vT\v.v'
"-.

:

.

Toutafeda an axiautiaa d'un ordra r«mo ja tcrd» !• **:r*t abaolu w
catta claaton aeaa dan* la buraaa at na parla k paraonna da octta cbo*a> Aueun

douta n*eat poaaibla, al dam aa altuatien it Uvrt.&.una Indiecrttiaa, j»

aula tno a?raa das tortura* af^royablaa .ad aa tmOXLp «ra rictitf* m aaat.

taa?a qua x»i#-" "

.

'
/.-r.--.-'. .

*.» ''• >/ ••.. *-
'

Je a'cl pa* 'l* fioindra acrupula d'aaocyter catta ciacicn, car .tout antra

l»ai2rat eenda a biea daaa" I 1 a*?rlt da S.D., tandia .qua col, conatdir^ cosaa-
'

cutorite dans la donalna da l'acida pruaalqua at daa gas tr« toxiquaa, Ja

paux trba fecilaoent faira dLaparatra taut la. cntrecest tw6 prfiterta qua

laaatibra e*t abicia ou d^oo=poala» C^aat elnai wrulcaant qua l'a^lol d»a-

ada prucclqua pour lf axicutton d'Vtra* huacina pcut ©tra ecyicb^a, &i tout

cde Ea faie la ngeaxBalra/ 4 partlr da aa BCnest, j>our aroir an batDin aur

coi; pour aon uaase j)arwnnelf tuujoura du poison rur.coi, clnd qu un piatolat

bica cbargi qui na *e _quitta3t al da
.

jour_tl de ault.

Una plaoa rart ant""libra' "dana la Yoitura ©a quaatioa Jo cula awoapapil

par la Obarsturnbennfuabrer Frofcaccur Doct cur XTaffiniSH3if tenant la

chaira d'hycion* 1 l fUnlTcrcite Marburg (Laba)

b| 1*
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A Vxllin dasc It ftbriquc d'ucido rrucdquc, j'cvdc f:it cc=r?resdre

TolovrTni regent cn porsonr.d, per do cdndroit tt qodicca t tciir.icueo, que
l^cide j^ruodque etdt dedin4 a tuee da* ctr« niendne. J'&l pratique*

aixrd t chaque fole# ced eHurt la ndlleure ftdcon de lanoar des ruaourt
dr.ni le psupla, Lt v^hioule fut survdlle' tri 4troiteaent a Collin,.

A Lublin noup BOroee rocue pas la £5 OnippenTuehrer GLOEOCIv'Bv C^niral
de 1a uaffflQ SS» Cdd-ci ditt *Ce Beeret d'etat est artucHeaent tin d»t, .

plue inportoitB, on prat dirt tranquill tment le plus imported
j cheque boast

!
'

qui co parle sera IkqSlid toeat furillej bier jud acoat» noue avons fait
talri flews brevtrda, JLctuelleaeat (boub noineB lt IT Aout 1942) neut event J
Inrtdldiona* • / •; x'^"

..

1* BelcQQi dtue" cur la fcoute Lublic-Lecbcrg, dun* l f angle nord
jurta a l'edroit pe la llgna de demarcation ruBso coupe la route*

-

KGadaecrt ouotldient environ 15*000 ax^cutiese '-

Utilisation noycrmc* jusqu'ft par depult Avril «2» 11*000 par jour,

Boblbor* prea d# Lublin en Polegne* jo ne edB .pet' exadnment 05*
20»000 cacscutione par jour dpui.8 eadroa Juia £2

Treblinga« . en Polognt, ' 120 kaa nord-nord-od de Yareovit,

25.000 ex£eution8 par jour, depde rrT^riwtfrtrrtt lid 42 .

<, I!ddsEnecx> pree de Lablint encore on preparation, •'.

a©co=pagne' du chef do tout eg cea febrlquoi de rsorta, 1» Oaoitdnc do^ '.M

follee yTRTH » j*ai vidte* a fond tout eta endrolte k l*oxse?tion de Kddanneeki
'^IKTH eat cld-11 none ehargi par KXTlES et KTVT.ty. de nisidea, qui a aupprine

"

lea alien! e a Hadescre Crafcnoek ct eilleura, ;v* . r -

^
5e tourasnt vers sal, gyrasgg GL02DSKJC ditj • *Yotre devoir act calid/'- ......

,

de d^Blnfecter let insenaos qusstlte's de Iglnrgcej lin^es, yeta^aate et bouIIob
que preduisent bob udnes* Si tous los ens nous eoloctono -dee TetWests panel v.-i

le pwplB donoit, oela a* est fdt que pour Cfooufleri *i*-k-YiB du peniplaj et
5

diet ouvrlere itrenserB, la proTonance de cee iraenoet quantltee de friperioaj

Un autre nepect boaueoup plus ixsportant do votre tdrrloa ott de codifier
fonotionncneixt mecae de uos inertitub de tnrU Actuelleaent oela re tdt t jp*aot

box. echspr esorrtB de gtx d'ms rioux cot our Dlecd rueea,'' Cool doit ae .nodifier"r,

et allar beauoou? plu« Tito, Je peaee eurtout k l ft acide pruedqut. Jbrcrt-hiar

(le 15 Asut <2) 9 lo ruobrcr et EIiniLd e"td£nt ici» ^'d rcou l»ordre de ne
paB donnar de porcie eux gene qui oont obligee de ridtar cob inetdlstion«

:

pour dee rdewnt de Bcrvice indiepcnesbles, cde de lee eocespesner perponn%l»

lcent on tub de la oonserrctioa du eeeret* '

. .

JTilxXaiSIXn. decande dorai *Qu , c6t ee que le Fuehrer a dit de tout »eciT* .

r^ponee de CL0B0CZiEC% Toute l # trtlOB ddt etre aenle an plus rite, " 21 e*tdt

nccocpr^ du Couadllor zdsl gteriol, Dr; Eerbert UiD2-:, du ridctta* de l*In*
tcrieur qd £tdt reeponBable, cccxae cidodn, de l f execution dee ali^niaw OaluV-

d 6z±t l*id6e de bruler leo eadtrroo plurtot que de.leB enterrer. H let

poadble qu'ime g^n^rdion houb auocode <jd ne noue cossreddra ran trop bien%
Lt-deccuB CLO30C1IDC aurdt ropondu SHoBdeurB, d jo=dB.une c^n^rntion doit

noue auccedoT qui ne cos^roddrdt pea notre grand devoir d ndecstdre, 11 •

fad vrainost croire que tout notro nntio-d-aooitlicze a iti irrtila. Je buIb

rJ coutrdre d'avis qu'il fcudrdt adcrror on neca tocpe que lei eadaTree dee

tablcttoi de brome but leequellee U eerdt inaodt que e^tt Houb ^ mTsmB
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eu 1* e=urcce d. noer t blfa ed'.io eeavre d. lrpcriu*. et cl l=dl e?c=ctilc».

KI7U2x Hpaniiti -Oul, CM3KEHC, 'ckI »rt fctltoent con c,.lnlon .

B«. XnnU^Tuh «=terW. fur«l tndi. w d.. trill.. t*Hvi»
btm do* r«U« 1 X»adt d'eBeeaa* «t d'tadlM lourdM.

Lei tetrwux di ee« usiati dttUat It Latlla dcni •• tft'oa «j>j*11« J*

alloas etw It raiture da Cat BOOT a Beletcj tmt petlta gara r?Jcitlt est

g&xaggt tout pr*t dt la wit, a proxinite d'una e*lline de eable Jaime,

*i rod de la route a* trouTcnt qutlquti batiaets area 1'inaariptioa Koa-

»aado tp^cial" det *affm SS dt Baleee".

CLOBOSKEO at nst en report area It raspleaaat dt It BS Hanpt-

stunsfuehrer OESBlsna dt Pirsanena,

1t©« unt discretion resnpiable, eelui-ci at fit faire It tour da

propria aire*

Derribret d'apaiases r nasees dt fil dt far bax*elt
f
tout dtwit*

epres la eara, at trourt d'abDrd.unt grendt barest an* l'lascriptioa

»Testiairt\ X VlxUrlmr, U y a ua grand pdeaet bit leaual 11 est

nlrqutt 'Dlpot d'er at d'obJiU d. Yaleur\ Vl«at «euit. at- enarire

aTaTenriroa 100 ibeaux, It -salon da coiffure". Insuita, une

bordee d'erbrae d'eariroB 150 a. bordSe kJroLU «t * Ctnaha i mji
far barbel* double avea tmt inscription Tart let leatax d'lnhclfctioa at dt

bains*. Bout nous trourons elora deraat un batiseat exscxi ooacie unt

nsieon dt bains arr. « pttit eocalier deYsat an far forgi. •

batireat. lint eranda pnncartt arec rinacriptiow "foadatlon HTO^'Hfll.ff.

Je n'ei pa. w daTsatagt est aprta-cddU 1«J*^r" * ^J1*^
naat a droits da couloir at troursnt daaa la -aaison debains-. X droits

at a csacht troit ebaabret eoame dts garages Sb sur 5 at l,*c s* dt naaW

Ja ne roie pas da sort aat epre-eidl aala pertout, la routt ra^t

una puaataur Irrospirabla, pertilcctitlle, ladewriptiblt de cadaTrt. Dts

sUlioni dt Boucbti olaiaat aa l f air#

Lt laadeaalfl oueloues cimrtts avsat T bouraa, Jt suit prirasm "SBmt

dt cuite, lt pr«=iar tranaport doit arrivar \ »featlTeaaat, k T keures

frcppeatU un trxda arac <5 T^om viaat dt Ltribergl derritra las ori^cas

carnia de fU de far barbel* , oa apcrooit dos cafants d'uae paloir effroy

able, easd. <Fielquas hoc=es at qaelquas fesaas aTtc las traits C£fom*t par

la frayaur.

200 Ukrainians sxracbaat las portes at arse lesirs fouets en cuir*

fouattcat las ccas bora das trecana, 6»700 peraornes, doat 1*450 rant d*Ja

cortea I leur arriTSe, Un heat parlcur doana las inctrucUoaBf fia

d^tbabiller conplstsaeat, aa d^bcrassar dcaleaest dea lunettes at des pro-

theses (un c*rde dit k ana ^cune filial dfpoeer tranquilleaeat

lunettes, Tout an aurex d'autrea L l'interieau-), dipoaai las objats da

h* 1»

261



xtlaur a r^ichci rznc ben ou ^jltlricc L*s c^cr^ct juif do tr^ic crc
recoit ur.de bracc^e do fieellej qu'il dirtribe pc=cive=cst lux Lutroaj
e°ert doxrtin©' k Her lor eheuBSuroo, ear Jcc&ia pereenna no pourrait ro-»

trouver lee palret eaeortiea dans la las hairt da 35 a 40 &Hros» X^ouita
lot feer=ea at lei Jeuneo fillee pesaent aa "coiffeur** Avoc S »u S soups
do cl Beaux, lot cheveux cent coup£a si diepcraicccat dens do exendo sees
do poaa de terra»

Cm Bnterseharfttehrer da serries bo dita "Cast deellno k ua usage
epacial pour l'ieolation do eoue~aariaa,,

e Acs Boaent dija Jo prodie a.

tact la swnda quo fcieatot cos aoua-narini eesBeront da rodor aa mar ear
l'areoe la plus effie&oe doit pardra son ssordest id all® a eHf souill*© .

ave* daa fl euros da eerg innocent •

En felt9 lea- o'Taneoenta a* oat doani raisoa pau da tespa e?ree»
Le train da la sort ao mot elore en coaaacotj aa teta una jeuae

fillo raTi agent o, n. descend Ve^l****. -.Tout nus. hosnes-fezEosj.ea-r,
rantst parci eux* soutenueo a dralte at a £eueEo tea nooses qui cat «Tt4

obliges da diposer leurs prothesee*

Je ca trouro cycc le Capitaine "5IR2H an heart da la! rasps antra laa
cheabrei da la eort* Dos tires area leurs nourrieaans eux sdLns* das
petita eaf&att nus, dot adultes* dec enfente, daa fe=es, tout* pela-aele*
nus9 ila Bonteat leateneat* Sisuite, lie antrast daaa laa thosbref da
Bort9 pouee£s par eeux qui aa trourent ^errisre eux qui aaat aetiosnii
per laa foucte daa BS.

.

Dor* tea eoln da 1* alio a aa ironVa aa cros BS aroe ua rienco da
bull-dos qui eat eatoure' per oes &JJbcureux» B'uao voix pastorale 11
leur diti "n ne>oue arrira riea" da tout*

.
Toua drror eealttKot reeplrey

k fond a I'intdticur das ebenbraa^ ;iea iaaelatioas cost indiipenatl^aa k
esase das 6pL&fc±tn at desnnledies pi cela yous fera du biaa sax pounonsV
6sr la question* "que Ta-t-il aoug eirivarT * 11 repoad wJa, naturellaaaat
laa across delvent trerciUer* e^aatrairt daa saloons* daa route*, Buds
las fence* a^eat pes besoia da trcTailleri sauleoaat ai allea Yeulect. •

ellea poureat alder daaa laa urines #t k It ouisin*% -

pour- quelquoa una parsi eea isclheureax, cStte laour d'espolr oat
sttffisante pour lour fclro *eire quelquea pas ^uaqoa dena laa efcssbres
sana roaiatBnoa, aaia la Kajorito aait aa qui 1» attend* >L*odeur let a
ranaaicBis sur lour sort. Aijnai Ua.Bontent le petit eacalier^t Yoient
tout a l #inetellcUoa. 1a aajorit^ scat diro ua sat riecit eoaaoai^ —

^

Boutoa qu'oa aine k l'abtttoir* Dna juira d'enTiroa <0 an* croc daa re^rx-
flmboyEnts, cppella our la teta dea aaaecidns tout la sang ianoeissaesrt
verrt id par l^tBstssinct la plua laeba qui se fit goad.*, C'eat la
Capitcine peraamelleniea t qui la frappa 5 oa 6 foia da aoa fouat
aa Tisage, ale dinperait k aoa tor dcaa la ehicbre. . Quclqaa Una sotouraent vara soil •O, Moneieur, eidex-noue, adex-nous% Bocucsup

J* ^oux «wn leur donner d'aida. X Jo prie aTaTaux

fj^f ^ ***** "* U *rie Tars leur die* at 4ra BaTdiaT
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I Y.z^ic rzLxo J a peux u 1c j • err:cUr a, 11 j :, a acrer de bruit a>tour de
sol* Avec quelle Jois no tcrc±D-j© alio vcrc ©ax dens tctto chairs, lyoc
quell© Joi® ne seraie-Je a>ort do lour eort, fin trouvsnt dans leur ebanhre
tea offiel&r des.. £S en uniforoe, 3@s aseasel n o n'aralent Jrirl 8 suppoei que
©ala pouYclt ertr© nn© protestation ca parU Us undent eoneidirJ eor-ns

tin accident ©t can epitaph© eurait 4t£| Tori por eon Fuehrer bicnaime'j cn
execution do son devoir icpcrtsnt pour !• Fu direr

Bon, eela as v& pea, J© n'ai pas eacoro 1© dredte de ©War & lat ictt-
tion de »ourir avae ees gens, *T*sn sals essex* "SXRTH n© l» ft £lti "il a*f
a pas dls personnes qui out tu ee que J'sl vu trt qui It Yerrontj le person-
nel Itrenccr at:rHl air© sera exioirU a la fine sui* un del 5 Hcgsdsb qui est
tu touteo ees Installations* JX n»y en a eertciniroent pas un, 1 part moi|
qui to it cola eonce e&Terseirs, ©ocas saesl de estts beds d'essaeains, dons •

J© dois vivra encore et burler'ce que y^L vu Id* Ba v^rits* eela doit strs
beaueoup plue difficile, je dois vivra.et designer.

Lee eheabres se renylieseatj "Charges bien* a ordonn6 Is capitain©
TIKIS* lis es EErchent sur lee pieds lee uu ex. aires, Se TOO k 300 etrei
fcun-in* cur fit 25c2, sur 4fa3. J© rleapit ule, plus de la soitif sont des
onTantst poids 12070a sxrrgg cn ncrintra SO kge* Folds spleiflques 1, dons
25*250 fcge dChoaas par ehesbre. lmiSH & relssn* arec 1' aide des SS, 750
pereonnee peuTent etr© cashes en 45&3 et les 55 eldest arec leure fouets*

et eafournent
1

eaxtant que eela est phyeiquesent possible, Les port©* se
ferncnt* Pendant ee tecg>st lei entres attendant dehors, nas* &ztre

t6=ps> le £&&e transport ei-» errlYe* On me ditt ^iaturell©cent lis
ettftndent rue dehors Beta© par nervals te=pa» nea© en hirer"* Je n*ei
Jucqu*a present rien deaend©, je-psreis n*y intareater, rsale'un inert

ehappe beteaenta . *Hs ront : nttrapper la ao'rt" *Ha sont bien 11
J
pour et.%

bo dit tu BS dans son pate; * £a tzn enlalr jo eorprends nasal pourquo!
temte eette InetaUatien s^JL-pelle frundstioii E02TE3X30C% H00mX310C '

est Id chauffeur da Z3d.eaal* On petit technicien sttrsTallleur infatliable
salon TOiTH, 11 a dija eoquis dee oirltsr i^rissableB lore de l'exica-
tion dee aliin^ 8 par son srdour et sa fertility en ldies* 21 est enssi

le conetmeteur d4 toute X* Installation, areo si Tapeurs de eon Dietel|
toutee eei etres >iTrrr1ss dairent &ourir» ' Kals la eaoHne Hesal ne
fonctionno pas, On se dit que eeci est assei rare.

.

rXR^'errlTe* On yott qa*il ltd est penlbl'e que eels se fasse juste
enjourd'hnl eu ie suls li* Ouls $t vols tout *t j'enteads toutt m aontre
a tout bien enrccietri, 50 rinnteSj .TO dnutes, le Slenel ne dancrre pasj
l'huaanitj attend dans ees cberahrei ea vain* On les entend'pleurer et
sonslottr weo=ae t Is Sjmacocus* resarque le professeur FTAiazaiSTIIL qui

a colli l foreille eontre la porte en feols* I«e eapitaine "EXE.TH frtppe da
feuat l^Utrcinian qui dolt elder BOGKE2XK00 en dfaarrese da Diesel,

JLpros 2 heures 49 rinutes, ann chronoaatre l*a bien enresistrjp le
Diesel d£marra* •Tusgu'a est Inst est ees etret hmrTlne vivait dans les
ehanbros d^ja rezpliesj 4 foie 750 etres dsns -4 fed's 45 cetrei 5*^

A nouTSan £5 giantei ee pasaent* 3Z est xreL que seaneoup sent di^k
sorte] en Toit eela 1 travars la petite featre ^elairant un instent la
ehesbr© de lurdere ^lectrique* nRffl c'a intercieri k fond pour earolr
si ^'entice preferable de laiscar courlr ees gens dans une soils obscure,
on claire* XI deaande eela sur Is neat ton que 1'on deaisdet *Treferes*
toub dorcdr arec cn eane ccroctin**, "aines-Tos le esf«* arec on sans lalt*

26 ginntee pins tard, rare* sont eeux qui viTeat encore* Xnfin,
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eprii 32 Einutea tout eet cortj on ce dit que tela est le iecpa norcal pour

tuer»

Do !• autre cote" dea boosts du ooasando do traYeil outreat lot portiej

ea bolt, Etutf Juift <gBl«aeat f out ou It proaesce d* avoir It liberty e

tm •trttln pouroeatece do tout lot objett dt Yeleur trouvat. Troll eoaptti

tiennont un livro trtf una exactitude tsrupuleuae at ealculeat et peureeatr

Oo=at dot statute do Barbro, lot worts ta tienntt prttsit lot tint wan

outre* »ant 1* ebasbre U af7 t pot do pltco gour toaber ou oeae pour rt

pcacbat. Koat dana It, sort on pout reconnoitre lei faailleej tit to tiear

lot Bains raidlet per It tart rtlleit difficile do lot errecber lot unt a

entree pour libiror lot ebanbres, pour It cbargs proobaine.

Let eadaYresBus et busLdee per la transpiration ot l^urine,** sane d

Bcattrustion tux jtabeff, ttlit d^excr&acntt! tont Jetae an debars, dat oorp

df eaftats travarseat l"e±rj ^ »f
J * P«* teaps k perdre. Let foucta dea

Ukrcinieas todbcat sur le dot da koctsnndo dt travail* t douttlnoa do denti

ouvrest lot bouebei aveo dat orocbett et aberabeat do l'exv Or 1 droits,
.

I renebe. Piastres deatittet tree dot placet st des Bartesnx arrasbent lo

deatt en or dot ttacbolres. Lo cnoj D32 ¥IE3H tantillt parci tout tola, 11

• est dent son eleoaat. Quelquea ouvriert oontroleat lo erc&net c&nitanx ot

lot anut pour oborcber 4e l#or, dee brillenta, ou det objett do valour. Vim
no fait eigne "Souloroi Yoir eetto boite do coneervee aree dea. deatt on or,ce.

nf ost que d'hier et d^tvent-biert Ayoo una vul£crite extroonlHnrlra, il *c

ditf "Voue no potxvox pat Yoat iaa&iaer eo cut Von trouve tout Its Jours

oosso or ot case brillenta, suit roserdex* et 11 ae oondidt vers an bijout

ehcrrf d , od=inirtror tout eet trJsors, ot tjeaortre tout etle* 2 crosses pi:

do 20 dollar* ©©ablest partiouUoreooat pleiro k ypJLTB. qui let fdt dispart!

dsns ca poebo»

Cb bo aontr* esaleBeat ua anclea obtf d fae crando tiaiooa d'etbtts k

Berlin, On felt Jouer do ton instrument un petit violonitte. Cost ua sat

etpitaint do rtroee eutilcbienri*, proprlettirt do la creix da for do Ikro

elette. Tout lot deux tont obtft *u xeiaswje do trarail Juit*

Lob cadevret out fureat Jet* suelques tiatret plut'loin, dant dot fota^

dt 100 x 12 X SO fiHreo. Quelqu»» J°^» «Pr»»f f
e» cedtvros ecfloat ot

.•effoadreat forteaeat onsuit a, co cui poroat do lo* recourrir d'uae nourcll

eoucbe. 10 ca do table oaYiron tont Jetat >«r daaauo, il n>7 * V*
brat ot ouclcuoe tetet qui oorteat, Le jour do *a Yitite, 2 trauaportt tm

•

ncsat ttYcc' environ 12.S00 perocnaoa trriYcat k Beloec,

Cette «udna« foncUoana depuit aYril'l*« ot fabriqul" oariron 1UOC

norte par ,Jour. Lortquo le oerclo da wt eait ou noi-seae catcadiont l»oa^

da Loadroa ou U Voix do l^riquo noue moat couveat aurprit per lot tngt

inaoooatt qui parlaiont do oeatalnat da tdlliort da inorta alort qu*ta raalit

il j tYcit d^Jk pint do PIX iOLLXOSS.

Ihind l'aaa^o 1943, ;la Rixietaneo boliandeito eo fit dire par U33B0: qux

i-aeia pri< de no pae feurair d'atroaittft imretaee, Btit do bo oonteatord.

rtproduiro la etricto Terit^j B=lcra bob indicctiona da cea cboaea, ea lout

la«, euarea le 1-tobattade tu^doita ft. Berlin, on eo refute. I froiro ooa

Obiffraa, Xlalbeureuaeacat J'ea raponda tout ter=c=t t cei cbiffret tont

oxefitt,

D»e?raa maa docutneate cart«d..:t J'tBtiaa la fcc=brt dea eirta taaaint
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L environ 20. xdlllon*. II a* e-ecii rat *vidts=er.t ee-dcr-ex dec 5 eu 6
>
nil-

Ulom de Juif• d'Europt qui oat dt< einsi aattsciais, ttis eaeoro dt touts

1'lntclHgcaae tebkqae st dt 1* elite d'eutres peoples eoaat des Serbes <xd

cuiTiront It neao cbenin. Encults les Pelonais, In pins naobreux et d'ua

patit noabrt dt tchequee bo. S| 11 »'«dt de ct que l«oa jPPeUi lei -Wilis
fciolodques- qui, telaa l'avis ds Is £.6. n'avaieat plus It droit d»cxieter

puisqu'ils as poureleat j>lus trsraillen

XVet eoffidsrioas de eoi-ditaat srfdecins, fquipes ds Eaenifiques toituro

*t dfua Jquipeaeat de soraettexie^dieelei rvyngtaJLiat dt Tillage ea Tillese,

dt Yillt ea Tills 'et oieuliaeni touts la population ea aeate*2 blene, It -

xthitoceopt a U nainT Qui ne eeableit pst eenaVle de trtYamer, ear na .

tdjcple coup d'oedl, dtait tds sur Is lists des ixattiles et dteit eherchi

quelqus ieaps sprs et ease*

0t sant Its Jeuaes gene ©hers a nTHT.ni qui oat Ju£6, qui trie sourest

n'ftYidest cent dt sans fcoulllent, pas eaeors sabl tms fornatioa d'eeole

Prittxirf et qui as coa^stulaieat de febsrs eollVguee* et dt -K. It rrofssaeur*

•Scat ces aecures, nt dit tm Sturabtsnfuehrer k Wblia, toute la Pologat

serait eats valour pour nous, ear ells est trop sarpeuplet et trop sjtlede*

Ecus falsaae seuleacat et que la nature fait pertout sillears et ee qu'slls

ouhlle BclhsareusBLCBt ebet les eutret etres fctateins**

teas ua gtrde ctxee ce eoafimt quo lf elimination dee ttibiae et des

alieals et Justiftt eettt tenure aw beaneoup de conviction, four beaueoup

osla dovoaait telleneat nature 1 et indiseutable qu^il dereaait difficile dt

discuter ereo une trends partis ds 1* elite* .

HOT nt dtaende ds nt pas proposer I Berlin dt Bodificstionr dens Its aethoder.

de sari dene let ehEshret k £tx ecplojeee jucqu'e present ear alios eat fait

leurt preuTti (e±ej» Ct qui eat eurieux c»ast que I 1 en ae n»a pos4 sncune

quertiea a Berlia,

/•si fait entarrer 1' aside pruesique eaporti*

Le lendeotin, 19 Aout 1942, la voiture du Oapittine riKZH nous ecadsit

E Treblines* 120 km nord-cord-est dt Yarsorit, X»installation est k pea

pros eeafclable adi btoueou? plus ia5>ortcats que cells de Seleee* t cbesbres

t Sax et plueicurs ccntasaer de Tclitas, do textiles et de linxes.

notrs hocaour, un fcrtin Traimant Unaltriea, dent le jlus pur ctrltf

Tioux •ccrmsnicuo, est dosa^ dans la stilt coa=o:e, Ls repas est atarle ceil

^rertl U dispocitioa ds tout le rsnde m qusatiti illi^ites, HDmLS
lui-acat a donnf l'erdre ds dosiier I Toloati cux heroes ds es kossmcb autart

de Titmde, do bcurre, et eurtout d'aleool qu'ils le d/cireat. Le Prj FTiWSBST

in tieat irn AiBCOura. aoulicaaat l'iaportaace et 1*utility du devoir ds cos

ho^ea, 5e tourncat Ters noi, 11 parlt de bUhedee "tres huard.net- et ds

"l>t«uU du trETtil"# Celt table irrrciecblable, mais 2* eerc^^i* ^»
PT/JCTJ5TX2L, lr±-ac=e plre de 5 eafeste ne pnrldt ni m plniamttcat, id

ireaiqueaeati nais qu'il trtltdt corns aSdecia cstts cbote tTee ua s^rieux

tbwlu# Plus ds le Boitifl* dsi castBcinss etaieat del caTastaj le teaps

nomil pour tuar cpres le tr^c?ort et !• attests si poaiblt tttit dt 12

clnates, FTJU^STTZL disait encore sax fcoxrres du tonauadot m2n roytat eee

eorpi de Juifs, ces lsaeattblts figures, on eoaprend enoor. ndeux eo=bl«

notre deroir proToquera de reccaniiscancsw«
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All depart pluci cure hilogc de bcurre cl de norbrcucct bsutcilloG do liqueur
nous Kont offerts pous etro aqportes* J'eii crtnd peine a rcfucer cec eLosos
en ersioeMmt

(
.quef soi-dieest, J^eu dirpoeds asyleoetrU Tree heureux

fTAK>SiSTTiX ecpoche encore ces portions, Eous retomom «n Toiture a VARSOYIi
tn deport noue voyono encoru un c*"°upo de Juifs on trerrell qui a'axrtiye dens
une des fosses cozmnes rur ua tas dec edavres cm ardt oublie de deahtbill
oeux dea arrlTants qui cident deja Boris naturalleaesrty 11 fart rattrsper
cela# a eeuse des ©bjets dt valour at des reteacntB 11 •expliqus Is One TJRTh
A attendant en rain un wccon-litf je reaoontra le Becretdre da
legation de l'&nbeacade cuedoise a BE?XIKf It Baron Tun OTTER dsn* le train

|
encore sous l^inpresdon frdebe de bob erentures eXfreyableSf je ltd ed tout
raconte eyoc la pdere axprctse de eoaxauniguer iraedietersczit tout celt a Bon
OouTcmecent at eux. Allies car* cLaque jour de reterd coute la Tie a d*autre*
dixdn&s de Eilliers. Jo lui die I • 61 las Allies envoydent a la place de
noEbreuces bo&best des nil lions de brochures et de tracts intelligent* at nles
felts en informant le peuple rll warnd de tout ee qui ae passe, £1 est proWJ t
que dens quelques seoaines eu bo1b# le peuple wTTcnand .en finlrslt area
Adolf HITLER

Le Baron von OTTSR • n*a deasndo des references car eette conversation
etolt pour lu±, en tant qua diplosate, tres delicate* Je lui indiqud le
Dr DIB^LITJS a BERLIK, Bruederwegt t2 9 est nedbre trainert de la redstence
protectente, est intine de pon sod, le Pasteur KIHTOSLLgt, a ee bobant a
BACH4Q,

J*d rem le Baron tob OTTO
t
a deux reprices a la legation subdoisc,

latre tc=3>s, 11 a rendu cospte perconnelleasnt a STOCffiOmf at &c dlt que son
npport a eu una Influence considerable cur lee relations sued©-alleoandee*
Quelques jours plus tard pour aoulager But concdenoe, et pour aroir fait tout
ce qui est en con pouroir, J'sl asesye de rendre oocyte em ttonoe du * apt a

f des «es precieres parelet, on bo deneade si je bu±s eoldst | la-dec
tenxte converection arec sal est rcfusee et je cuis prie de quitter tmcdjatca
la legation de Sa Stint ete»

Je die ccla uzdeuesent pour prourer comblen 11 etalt difficile, asae pc
un Alleaand ennesi ispitoyeble du naxlac&e de troursr line roie pour discredit
un OouTemeaeot erizdnel*

Dans cette situation eu tous las jours des dixelnes et des diislnes de
rill Lars attenddent l^assacdnat, ou une atbste de quelques bourse eeuleseni

&• sesbldt crininclle, d dene cette dtuctloni dis-je, un roproeerrtant quel

de Jesus cur tcrre refuse toute eonTersstion arec boI, que peut on dGrander i

dtoyon noyen costre le nadsae T Que doit-11 fcire ItriL qui ne coandt cob
errcurst en £eneral» a pdne de cul-dLre T Lui qui, eo=xe des trillions d*etr7

eers ( telle la Kedstanoe hollenddse ) tient ces cHses pour terriblement
ezasereeBp qui ne dispose pas de Don haMleto* qui n*a pent etre aucune oeca
telle que noi d^eoouter la radio ctranceref que doit-il faire centre le Uad
£1 Bene le reproBestsnt du Pape en Alleaagie sa refuse a eoouer des info recti
do cette inportance ejctreordinalre sur eette Yiolcticn unique centre la base
de la lei de Jesus * Tu dole aimer ton prochain cose toi^aeoe *•

inn
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Terribleoerrt decu et ebettup Je quitte la legation ©u Je n'ei pu trouter

eoneeil ni sd.de* A peine aorti p Je euie euiri panna pollel er § qaolques Kdmxtei

plat tord* un e£ent eycliert© ae suit gussU J'ei paaae des Hmrtss d'iizaeasc

desecpoir et de deception 8 J' ai ealer© le eran do eurete da aon revolter dens

cs. pocie el Je vends Benieleseirt de ae preparer en suicide* L'ineonpreheacible

cut lieu | le policier ee frole a ^ocu pres. erreta wi instant ort *•*» a* en

alia* A pnrtir de e© jour riequent & efcique hear© aa via* J
1 ©! rendu ooispte

de cos Berts atroees a dos cectein^s da personoea lnflneates t a la facrillt

^jTTL«n^.T.T7j
>
a a I'Attanhe do Jrec©© da la legation Bales© a. E52LXK* fir E035-

SS?JLSSER v 01 syndic de ITv'equ© Caiboliqu© de RT?-,T.TKt fin wmtxjai en dcaandjafe

rme tronE=±saion a l'JDvecue at an Pcpa* an Pr, PIBEL3ES et a. baa&eoup d'sntrei

einei dee tilliers ont ete inforaee par feci* Jo dole ajoutor que PUHTIKE3
i

An
P«£,E.A* ( J© erois qu'il e'acit du file du PUBflHER del Etudes raciele* )

b' a redcasndop m debut 1944, de grosses quantites d'&side prueeiqae* La poleon

drrcit etra lirre a aon bureau dens la Eurfuerctenstrasee a ei etra
'

ooneerre'dans un h&xcsr qu'il a* aontrtdt. H a'agleadt dt tres grosses quan-

tites* caaedbl© de pluaiours wtgons qui dereicnt etra eotesaees peu a pea ei

tenues a aa dicpoEition* Ce poison auffisait paur tuer pludleura Billions

d'huacins qui ainei aureient disparu' ©ana besueoup do bruit* CTJOTrHZR sa
die&it qu*il ne aereit pas encore on* queadj eoaoeat* dens quel but| pour quel

ailieu ce poison deveit etr© xxtili-ea, 2a toua eae* SI dereit etra ©onstassneat

dieposible. J*ei deduit de plnfiteura questions techniques de CUSKTHgR qu^una

partief
tout en Doins* de ©e poieoni dereit etre utiliaae pour sappriaer una

grsnde quontite d*ho=sEee dans doa clubs et dee sellee \e lecture* D'upres lea
BBigree indications J© cuproceia qu'il rv cc&aa=it d'offlciera ou de pretrea, em
toua eca de cent cultive* et le poiean dereit etre employe a BZ5LXB aena*

Advent Tisita lee lieux a fond, je deelere a CUT yn& que jo ne peux
prtsitrc la respondbilite de atocker de pereilleB quentitee de poieon a eat

endrcit, dene la CEpitclo, p^bqu»il y rTcit areas pour tuer deux fcla la

noabro de tone lea habitants* Aree beenceup de difficult as, J'obtieni la ecnaea^

ation de ce poiaoa a OBAKID3UH& et a AUSGHSXTZ*. dana les eaxnpa do concentra-

tion* Je s'crrsnse esroite de facon a fcira auppriBier le _peis?n dee l'arriTea. &
TOi-diaent, pour la desinfectlon* Lee facturce de la firae ayant lirra* la
Soeiete Alle=ande pour la Lutte contra lee Perajsitaat a. TRAKOFORT et a 7KIH1BOT.
ont 'ate ctebliec, sur Be deaanda, a eon nora soi-fiieant pour r±eux Rtrder le
aecrct f en reelite pour nioux feire ditpcrcitre ce poiaon* Four eatte raiaoa

y exit e de presenter en pidoaent le8 noabreuees fectures courcntes pour ne paa

rappcler conBtc=ent 'en S.D. et an IU£,K«A. les crosses quantitee de poiaon

qui dcrrcient etre diiycnibles* Je feie peti enter la firae et leiBse lee factD-

ree noc pcyecs, Le Direct cur de ccte naiaon| le Drt ?gn?J5 B f a dit, an eours rJa

d'une ccnrercction qu'il lirre de l t ecide pruasique ea eapoulee pour 1* exe-

cution d'etrie bussing* Jo n'ai ^caeia ea exert eat quel etdt le nilieu que

CUrrriKDl dereit encore dctruire cur c-rdre ds son chef ggXAKK • V cproi les

quentitc8| ^'el penee d'ebord enx occupants dee ce=?s de coneeatretion, e'ect

pour ccla que J'ei reponiu neectivecent en file Jocben. du Ftsteur UPL'OZLL^a

eur ac cue rtion t rererre-t-il Janeie eon pare TiTent T L*or&r» do KTLTTiTft da
tuer tone les occupeste dee cepe de conceatrttioa ecu benoinj rteit e preroir

A.
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deje a ei exact, H etalt tcaleoent el air que* tout an noinst lei equipei

uirrinicr^iei dee ctszpi da wrt e*r;dent tacrlfiooi pour auppriner dei teaDlna

C cnant a. Je pcaccis es£le-acnt e I'erestutlite de laeeasririat dee prioormiere

de cucrre cct=j* noyen d« chejrls^ft.

Lorjqut plus tardf GOZ5Bg*S
B

indigua qutf s'il lo felslt, Id Eat±onal-
delisae daquerait la porte derriere lui do facon a eeoouer le loonda, J*ei
ycrlfit encore una fols* pour eavoir si Its rowrYea de poieon rtdeni bien
detruitea,

Quolquei teaye apreef
pUT^TKER

_

xo rappela eci rt no den-md* ooaaent

11 pourrait etre poeaifclt.d'aapoieoiinar lee ^ulfi iirternes & V ;,KT A-3HS3ftSTTJ?-

STJLDT en Jttent de l*a*lde prisdque du tent d» fortification*. Pour enpecher
1*execution de ce.plan, j'ai declare celul-d inexecutable* • -

v

eyrie *>lue lard cu'il a'etait procure de Hard.ere diff©rente de .

.

.l'ecide prued.que et oju'll evait tout de soae execute le£ 5u±fi cjsi, eoi-

dleant, nesalest vzne el eonne vie a H&KIJ^THERESXEK57IDT j 11 **c£i*0Lit de

Julf i pares de file tuot ou detent eurs de nautoi decoration* cri ayant rendu

partieuliercsisnt sendee.

Lee cezps de concentration lee plus borrobles n9 etalest nullooent BSLSSK

ou 5L'GKENiu^LD f
./TSCHEITZ et KA/JKiDSai etaient bien pires et dee rrLllicne tVon

d'bossei ont di&p&ru den* dee ehanbres g^yrrrt .H^ujiT i xa fcfrrraxxxypn rjx
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tculx-j* dug nil r loxif d'cafantt ant ete tucs per un V*s»,<oo d'acidc ,ruacJuj:

tcnu roas lo nc^ # dan* lo eucp da conetotrcti -» do .'JLV^SIiRniXX*

J'ai xi^ti^tc a ccb e*t;J.$» tur dee ©trc^ Yirantt exoculu:; per 1* Ir

pUBPLACH BuiptsturcfUuhrer, wir ordrc da £»E, Grup;<3tfuehr*r, ;-roforrcnu-

Iir, GKHH.JJS B:>h.tnVchan«

Xce cabals sicr let f ctzltmt, en quel^u* torU, encore pins

repugnanto ct oditux quo dnns lea enr^s de 'cDncentratlJCi j^our hacaett

iu BDin-^aax hoia-eg on di&ait bsuijeteaent t f *J.e attention^ ta va* rescr

tine plqd re ut tu tvs crever { au czjzp de concentration >our fen=y*s de

Ri.YiiIB-7aj:XZf on .rocedait autru-s^nt t Volla., Hae ILcTEE, nous Tenons de

coasWVcr quo voua ayes u -best su folo^ on ra v~-ub ftire euirre tmo

cur* de quel^oes piqil rt>£ at torij ell.c voir cuv otre etai va bion

s'taeliorer* Ce yu'il / ~r±±t d« ,lua hcrrible, etalt lo cynlsmo rt k

re ironl* tvtc JLujualie tout celt ae^Xwiaiit.. C'rtrrt est un veritable

concours purt^nt de I'Dtoile da Ikriif cur les cfca&br*c aartuaires et

cJLiant Juy^u'a ces diagnostics huaarictt^uee*

tja3tlditcr.ug£int| des experiences oxrt t_te f^ites a BJuSxi'tTALD car

dBb&enUJLtt&s de dtterus uvoc Oc 1 a loo tablettea de jxxrrltins d/autre

pert, inj^ctioni d- t/^hus.. KI*fl&ER *e reterrslt lid-n3*5 l»autca-iettio

dc parullles ea,';^rienoo6 ei:ercci~e eur j p>erconges C9ndamks»vi a tart pa

le £L*D* Lsf coav-tet-r--jiiU6 d* cat e^uit ct^iexrt "Ljux ccntralisef dans

aan buruan*

Lo Stabstcinrfuebrtr )13C . -/-KPTi; . ; loe donoait ragu"} 1 ercaant*

On autre jourj a D&aKLaKBURG, J »cl ru dispiTidtre trtx3«*a dar

nilliers de pscurtstes d as unfoumeau*

A KAUIiiAIi£22i| U etxlt ecurani deTtdre disparaltre dec JalTs d^aa

dee currieres en lee feJLeuat toasbbr dc haut*

'Ce ^u' J. 7 t dc curiJUX| e'eet que ce>e oc^iidents £v truvail

etticnt tcujours ;rerua ^uel^uer. cinutes aupararant per dec gardes*

r»^S% H-iuptcturrfnehrcr, Tcr. ?rll£ fHft^TZ 9 chaT de Kiaeian

aupn-cs du BJiccis du i^ich| D'a rendu coa^te do cos -f^itc tvec u n
oc»crure=.int cinocrc ct a rendu jxibliqucc cei' ciioscs, I}lhkY7. eEt un

cnncai Tanatiquc do» )ku;ls,

X BSLCCCj J'av-JLe l'in.^rectian lv ^our de B-n iiif^rctic^i, qu'ajv-j

rin,! ai lon^uc a'tonte diinc let chacbret, tout le Londo ctiit "rr^iianiit

sort | par coatroj le One TrXKTH # un etre wxnz eucrune lnctructlan ct su
aucunc notion do caJxiw et dc- phyxlclogie js'a r^contt: lcr c^iOioc let

. .

plua ctrange6 n;r.iir»ia.iCTrt. V.IrTH etalt doue d un caaar particulicr pouj

ea^ala dircrx pour »^a«r les (jens de rie a tre ;
^i># H &d r.-rlait alnai

d'u petit enfant t^u'lla ont troure n &j.tin dan- une chaaunrc a gax <.ul

n»aTalt pas vtc ridfre li reille et qui et*±t ^xf^itc=wnt rivant et gaL,
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TTETH ee Barcit livre a d©» aaporlcoces pcrtieuli ©Tenant inter©BBant©B sur

dee faible© d'eoprit 5 e'ect but oux que Jfton pouvait ©xparliaenter le xdeux 1&©

divcra decree do ©ennibilite* I>es eesiis ont esaleaeat et© faite e l'eidc d'air

©osprltt© 1 dea gcQB ont cte hLb dsne do eieilles loidHoixfts reapliea a l°aid©

d§ eo=pr©e©eur, d'sdx oonpria©, A TRESLIKCA* J»and« l^inprfccsion qu© certaisi

riYaicnt encore ©t ctaierrt ©auloaent Banc cornels©ane ©j e© qui n'cxnluait paua

qu»ai2 eoure de la cult, ile psuraleci ©0 reninier ot aouffrlr un nouveau tax-tyre

Juequ'a 1© sort definitive,

Preaaue tou© aval eat lo© yeux ouvcrta ©t offrnieat im acpect offroysile*

Unlcr© oon obsecration tppliquoe, J© n*cl pas pu aiduudx observer do Boureaeni.

Dana l*eaee=bl© f on a© ©'©ct pal dorm© la nolnd© peine da faire cos exacutiens

d© facon husaino ©1 tel ©«t qu'on ait 1© droit d'ecplofer c© not par rapport a
e©fl fait©. Tout eela a ete fait Basins per sadieae qu© par indiffereno© total©

©t cocaodit©!

L© Eaaptcturafuahrer Drt VILLUS
#

d© IXfiMJKD &• a pari© d'une cbow^ .

qui I'e psrkicullerocacat irjpreaeionne |
' ©cvlron 2fooo elericsua pojenais oit

ete obligee do creuoer d©i foceo© % ilo deveicnt ensuit© ee desbabiller, 0©

pleeer devcrt cca fosees ct furent fuailles nu6.,£ur lee questions ironiques

©•ile croyaicnt toujour© a Jceu*-Cbrifft» a Usri© et a lour peuple pclonais^

Hb repondiront avec use affir atioa do foi eoredne eu»ils croytient plus que

Jsade au Christ, a la Saint© liar© d© fcleu at a ttne resurrection d» leur people*

TILLPJ5 ne parlait de eela are© motion*

D*autres Polonai© ©ont sort© d© la nea© feoon exccplaira, aurtout da©

institut ears at dot inrtitutrices Eaeontendsntptrior do tout eela* Jen© scls

souresa d© ma prepm prison dan© la Bu©ehBenstraase a fiTOTTOaRT ) tme main

inexperine=t©o tfrnit crar© dan© 1© setal do nan lit 1
9 Prio, le Uare ds T&m

aide "
4 Cedi at© pour »oi dana dea Jours peniblai una crand© eonaolatiea

at na cellule so ac&lait una petit© Efcllna, J© eelue avee reeonnaisseno© e©

frer© ineonnu qui s'e envoy© e© eigne et eet esseuraseaent dona ma pain©

profond©. Que Dieu le recocj^aae. •

Un autre xsoyon de tuer du sonde en rolopia etcit do faire nonter les

prfcooiee ©n hsut d^echelleB de hcrts-foumesax ct los Jeter a l'interiour

epree lec avoir tuoa© d*un eoup d© plstolet. Dooncoup d'etrer curcicst dispart*

dana dos Court a nriquea, etouffea par lea sax et brulea. teis cos caa, Je no

diepoB© pat d #une eouree abDoluncat ^antie.

Un dee chef© de la police d© B^ffUB™, 1© Siurfo tciiifuabrer

reoontait au txedocln qui ©uivsit le eeure aveo =oi qu'il etait d^aage a 00a

crrirea a de prendr© lo© eafantB Juife par le© piedt ei d© leur caaseA

la tct© contrel© t=ur de lour appartexert, pour critcr lo truit do la rurillade,

II Buralt fait oeseer ce non-Bosa et eiirait obtenu la fudllado de ce* enfertoo

II aiirait troure pertlculiercacat peaible d'aaaiBtar, lui-ce=e, au fait de deox

petitec filleo de $ et de 8 ana, totabent a genoux et priant. KaturaUescntt

conclut KA1Z.ES il falleit ea»uite qu© Je les feXBO fuaillor acalesast* II noca

parlji escleaent de l'cxecution dee intellectual© polonaiB < il© ©talent

oontrcirt© de faire leur toabe, do a #y coucher but 1© rantr© et furast fueille©

exec 1© plstolet citrailleur | lea auivant© eUeat oblisea de.eo eouchor ©or

1©« codavr©© chiaid© et fureot fuaillef a leur tour | certaiiia. pa© encor© loorta^

/••
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eat ete fueiXlefl eu eours do lesrir teatetiTe de sortie eatre les diTerecs

eeuehea,

On del ehcfs du Oouvemenent elleannd de IJIU1&IJ k'e perle en decoupnnt

use dlnde d'une prise particull areaeat bonne qu*il rorait felto t im bosice -de

la. resistance pcfconaiee, tm Juif, aTdt refuse dt parlerj elprs on lui cvrit
brie* les poignets | 11 continue!t de ee teire j la-de*sus, on l'a fdt aseeoir
sur tne plaque de fear chaaffe* a bland "Voue aurier du voir, na dlt-ilj ee que
Ca I 8

a. rendu beTard

Lora d'une Yiaite a ua bureau de construction da la Yaffea a LUHLIKp

lee deux arehiteetes »e feiapleat part d'une yiaite qu'ile ardent fdte la.

reille a la ccrgne d*tzn caap de priaotaiera de cere, en rue de l'egrendiry
Bet dlliere de cadarre** ea general de typfciaues, on* ete entaases 1a

bruequeaest | lis so eost e? earcub que eerteina renudent encore f le Rott eta-

fuehrer qui portdt la cjef p s'ert ©entente de dcarmder eelKcnent | * Du ea 7

puis a prie ua atgrteaa de far rond tout pres f
eri a esfonce le crene' des pereoma

indiquee*. " Ce nv ert p&s le feit lui-neee qui a etonae lea erefcitectesj xtde
le natural aTee lequel le geete & ete execute*

Lore do Etevisite a BSLCBC, one Juire cveit coupe pludeurs dea Juifa de
trareil, a l'dde d'un rasoir each©, gIRffl rcsrattclt Tiyesient que eette

f erase eoit deja scrte, car alle enreit du etre punic de feoon exeog\Ldre» .

Lea Juife bleccos one ete perfaltarcnt soignes par lui* peer leur faire

eroire qu'ile aurdent le Tie ecuve e t qu'ils ocr-tiect rtco=pcncee, * et 11

crcient ccla , ces idiots r* eerie YTRTS en ricxrU

Oe qui etdt pcrtlculi e: eu eurt .repugnant a BZLCES, etdt le coneourt

orc*£i*« emre lee bonnes et les seroons de tra nrprt pour trainer les

rffeti d'htbilleaent verr lei rarpac. Celui qui traraille lr. rieux fait pcrtie

de kesaenfio de trevdl» Aiasi est constitue ua corcoars pour It Tie et la mrt
eatre ees etres mie qui transport eat las Yetereats anus lec fires des E. S» |

naturellraentt Us disperdeseat touB aans eraepticn, daat las cbaabres a £ax g

EeulSi quesquee etres tree Tieur et tres caladei qui f ceae eoutenus par les
autreaf ne prurent ee trainer Juequ'anx chcabrer etaient deposes apart et

fueillen.
*

Cuelquee inarer p e-ti cull ere= eat criaiasEntoc ne ar ^uitja:*t plue t le
gtreoanet juif de 3 ena qui, renreur, dictribue les norcecur de fieelle pcur

lier ler peir^c d* a=uliers, He=e cet enfant a ete incoarsie.T=ect rde a contri-

bution dens In neehinn de nsrt cpoyvcirtablc de KITLIP^

Je pcape cli&ai e uao petite fille qui t retrc de la chesbre a perdu

eon petit collier en cordl j cc collier est retrmrre ptr ua ^sreoanet de 2

end | 11 le richer

e

# le eoacLdere crourpuroneat, e'ea rcjouit et ru concert

cuivert est poucee^ je <Joic le dire rrec douceur , par cn'gardiea eonBerrcnt

ua rcrte de certinart,* l*irtcrirjr dr la chsabro*

i USUI
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Le S? n*upttrturrfueHrer OBv STPfGl c» r«oor/t» l'hirtoire e-jivairte t deff

ira villese-a pro sdcite, il rvtit rrocorrtre u fi Julf ven^jrl dt FIraL&SIKZ, so Yl*
netcle. Pc=danf" Is guerro, e* Juif tvtit ete aaut-officier, un tree chic type*

Cs=:e cedents, ile jouidttil eaafcible et cec.5, 11 EVtlt Ci.uvo le. Tic, una foia

e caiT:;rx1I> CSrrr/aSrjr; dctl:irs. qu* 11. all sit prendre ndLnt tr.crrt oaL home
areo ea fcase dans *ja ka-nesde de treteiJU Je lui dexrjedei c» qu*il allait

dcrcsir Flue t&rd, Il ea rectrda d'un air etonae* * ?ue vouI&i-toub qu»il .

deTleme T la cece choie que lei mtrea, il t'y a J>ax d'auire toltrtion, eafin#

peut etre ltii« Je le* ferti fuailler *•

Je dale dire, pcur .ctre jurte qua J'tl reneontre eerieinc £,S. qui

cond«=i*J.ent fonaellenjest cee cctlodee et eont dorecus das advartalree ferceae*

da !iax± Je pexae rurtout va Kcuptaefcurfucircr H3£LLA.Qg} qui a*a toujour*

di an eourant de toue ltB accrete ct qui a. toujourc ftit dieparaitre taut ca

cut aurait j-u aire oo=pro=ettaxrt pour' sal*

Un autre e=ti-EsLi± cteit le Chef de la See-tioa. Interieure de l*H»jdtal

da «.S»S da BSHLTE, la 5,2, gurgpgnafuahrer Sri
,

r03KT qui depute 1941, a.,

frtyqueswert critique oirvsrtasent ceo nethodco en risquant ecieacneirt a*, late,

Lc anaa chose ast Tclcbla pour la eizLrurgiaa 5S E*ajpt«riuntfuthrer Z>rt _

da irzCHOZ 1c rri SO^^Ji: da Lee toil ^herapcicas ca ohef de la .

.

VToffA S»C BIl^-:P»y.
r
ffl-ir3» 211230?!^ at BJDOLHg _ oat fait partie du group*

des'offieicrs du c*o cuillcrU Peixd le* G.U fcollattdei* ct balnea* lea yl ant

cte eacnea par force et par rues ecus pretext* de -jura sportif. S'ilr refusalA
par la cult*, d'a^etr, il* ctulest iirrodieteacot furdllat*

TsutG porscnae quif acne de l , e3cterieur, d'ur: geeta Icprodant, tD'ueltaXt

au pBnt«J.os d'ua ccotrcda ctcit ieiaadiA'-aneut fuai. le* Cat ordre eaexfiLt Ciraa-

toucsst ce rn ffff.^_ at c. coute la Tie a aeaiicoup da tout jtftxnas aorteHt

de la tier Jucesd st Boanea par foree tux ^S.

lie noaLLr«ix appirtencat a I'aYittioa at a la marina ant ate In-uaqueaatft

BL-taa 6ux S.S. II oareit iaju&ti, cclcre la hidne tras cosprafceisible qu'est

dcchidnco lac do ne paa feira de difference,

n fait dire let que* frequearaent, la po.lice a> ate Idea pire que let UU
La Presidcsrl de le Craix-Tiouce dlcnsnde, le S,S» Grcppeg^eUrar, 2>ri CRA^TTI

act ua def prinei?mjx rasponrriblaB Ae Isl eitnttan des eeszpn d6 coxxceitrsttoB,

. .—:—; . —
f
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j^flosttr c,D. PTart Cerstoin TabinSca friirttcabore,dcn 6.!lai*945

1p>jl$cn -Inceniear P.Zt. Rott-oil. Hotel rohren.

*ur Worsen jGorotein, Eart Ecr^csecocr a.B., Biplcn-Inseniecr ana

dea Staatodienat ontfarat tro-ca antinaticnalaosialifltlacker Bet&tlscaj fur

dlo Bakcaatnickircho ( 5icn>Jllcr ) an 27* September .1936 • Seilkaber dor Fir- •

aa Ba Liaoa Flukao A Co., Eaachinenfabrik fttr tatcnatischo Cel-.and Fott-

flchaieranlagen fur Lokoaotivcno •

Tatert Ldbi& E. Geratoin, LandscrichtcprSaidcnS a.B., Ea^ca, reatfaleai

Kutteri Clara Geretela cob« Scheaaaa, coatorboa 1931* '
. • V

'

Verheiratot salt 91. An^ast 1937 Bit Elfrieda Gcratoln cej>- Eonsca
.

In Tubdncoao Hartcastrasso 24.
'

3 Einderi Araulf 5 Jaara, Adolhsld.8 ?2 Jahro, Olaf 2 Jakra. '

Lebenalanf i 1>C5 -19.10 la Jffiaater/ Uectfalcn. 1910 - 1919 la Saarbrucken,

1921 Ealborstadt, 1922 - 1925 la ITeuraFpia hei Berlin, 1925 Abitar b; .-

hunaniatiachea Gynnaaiun I7euruppin« -

'

Stadicacans s 1925 - 1927 CaiveraitSt Earburc* Lahn, 192? Aachen, Tochn. .

Eochschalo, 1928 - 1931 Techniacha Eockcckale Berlin- Chariot tcabarc,

dor* 1931 Diploainsaaiour - Eraaen. Seit 1925 ektiyea Eitfflied der ovasffa-

liscaen Jacead, inabesendero der Bibelkreiao an ESherea Lehranstaltca«

Poliiiscaa Botatieanffi Aktiver Anhaagsr von Streseaaan and Braning.-;

Seit 1933 aeitena der Gestapo ve^aa ctaatsfeinalicher Betatigaaj fur

die Eiraho dea chrlstlichen Yiderstaadea ( Eckenatniskircke, Factor Cartin

ITienailor ). and roren ?ortsetcunr der antcrdruckten •T£agellsc%-ea Jixpa.-

verbSndo antcr daucrader Terfplccnff. An JO. Janaar 1935 wegren l-rotes.ea -

reCen die ACtfruhranS dea antichrist lichen StCckca 0 ^ittckiad " anl&Slich

oinar Partci - Seihofoier in Stadttacater Eafcea/ rostfalca crprCsal.

and vorlotsto An 27. Scvenbcr 1935 Bercascccaor - Enaaea bcia -irtschaLtsnia-sta

r<un« inschlio'cad Eeantor der Saarcrabea - Verualtanj; ca Saarirfckaa. An

27, Septcnbor 1936 Yerhaftuas aaa den Bianatsinner fceraas dorch dia Gcc.apo

rogon Veraeadan^ Ton 85oo entinaticaalsoaialiatiecher Eroochurea an eSs.l--

cho Staata- end HinistorialrHto cczio an alio hoheren Jastisbcenten. Aaa der

Ee8chaldican£scckrift ••••••• • • ?
•
••

n Trird^esen ataatsfeindlicker Eat£ti£ung trota inaer rieder er.olgter Yer-

ramans vesea elnca koasentrischen, Syctenatiochen and cr^sierten Ifevera-

xlBchen Eaasaaaneriffa eegen dea natloaalaoaialiGtlecben 5teat la Schatshaf.

ccacaaen - la Erfullans einaa Lieblincsroiaches atadlerto

iQh alad^jia nach ceiaer Entferaaac aao den Staatcdieaot an eranceliac-cn

Beatecaen Iaatitat fur JLrstliche Kission ia'TuCia^n Eedisin. Als Teiha-er

dT Pima Bo Liaca Flahac L Co. rar ich bei eiaea Jabrcceiakcaaen voa rd.

EH 18 coo,— (Heicbacark) rirtccbaf tlicb frei and aaabbSncls:. Bin Brittql-

neiaea Eiakcaaena pfleCte ich eeit 1931 nsine reli^i5aea Ideal e aussa-

gebca. Ich lieS aaf aciao Eos ten 250 ooo catiraticaalsosialistischo and re-

l^Cicae Brocchurca drackca uad vert eiIts oder eereaadto cio aaf aeino Ko-

cton. An 14oJuli 1933. A= 14. Jail 1938 erfolcto ceiao sr=rcito Ycrhaftan^

daroa dib Geboiao Staatcpolisci and SB 5 tattcart and aciao Yerbriagaas sa-

nScbat iao Gef2acaiic, daaa la caa Zcascatraticasla^cr wclahels rc^ea otaato-

fciadlicbcr 2ot5tiCoac a Ycrber var ich z^roi Batraad aal durch dio Gestapo

aad dea SB Terhcrt aad rer^arat irordca. Ich vardo fur dao gaasa Eeichaffs-

biet ait eiaea TicdeTcrbot belcct 0 ^ bis'-san Endo des Sjoteaa aafrecbt cr-

aaltea blieb.

Ala ich rcn dan rasaeancrd der Gcicteckraakcm in Eadaaar, Grafeaosk aad

aadererorto hSrto, hatto ich aar aoch den eiaea ^aasch:" Ba caSt ln.dieaon

t^aacn Zereakocsol hlaciaachaaea aad dac Gcochpbcao antcr Eiasata Boiace

Lcceaa in Tolk bexaaat aachen! " Ich braacbto hicrbai koine

Skrarela t
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'trupcln su hatca, da ich celbor rreirxl das Cpfer rca 22 A centen ce^rdca

car, dio la den ca£atca imderrst dor re>eaaiaiai:irchc eich eiacccchlichca

hattea cai co^nr dio en^tcn GcbctcEcacicachaftea, dcrt cit a-f dio Eaiee

ffimrcn cad nitbototea. Ich dachte clr $ raa ihr licaat, daa fcaaa ich cchoa

laag* end noldote nich frciirillic ana Eintritt In dio SS. riea an do cohr,

ala noiao SchnSceria Bertha Lbolinff ana Saarbr£cl:ea ia Eadaaar cn^obracht

vordea rar. Anf Cruad zreior Eapfchlca^ca Tea Costcpobeeaten, dio ceino

Soche bcarhoitot hattoa, rax ea nir ein Loichtes* in die XTaffca-SS eufecacczca

pu verdea* Xio Ecrrca Vtfrca cabedin^ dor Anseichtp dafl eln Idcaliraas f vio

der csiao, uabedinfft fur dio 1/S£l? nutshar ffcaacht . rardca cucae. So Beifftca

sio sir oolbst dca ^eg, dea ich aladara ginc*

Eeino Graadaaabildans erhielt ich nit 40 Irstea caaaaaca in Eaabcxff-Laa^ca-

hoorn, daaa ia Amheia-Hollaad tiad in Cranicabars. In imheia naha ich dtrrch

nein'ea Stodicafreaadt dca Fa^ikaatca Utbial: ana Bcecbarc, Dipl. lag., 5ofcrt

die Fuaslcag cit dar hollEndiachca FideratendabcwCGans auf . rc^ea noiaoa Ecp-

pelatadiaaa ia Hedisin cad Technic rurdo ich alshald ias SS-Fuarnngaecaptaatp

Antserappe S, SanitSt siresca dor ~affca-S3, Ahtciloaj Ey^cae, hemfea. Za£&£0-

han, dicscp Betrieb war van olner heachtlichen GrcSrfl^ct^it. So trardo ea air

TQllis oclbst fcbcrlassen, air eiae EctEtisaaj ca auchca. Ich Eoaatmicrtd, aa

einea gaas dria^cadca Bedurfaia aDzuhalfea, Dsaiafctticasaala£Ci f fahrbaro cad

loaalo, ia croCcr Zahl t aaacatlich fur CefaaCoaaalacer, Zoaacatrat icaslacer cai

fur dio k&apfcado Truppe. Chao aaia Terdieaat hat to ich hiorbci au£ercrdaat li-

cha Erfol£0 and wardo roa da ab fur eia gaas boocaderea tcchaiacheo Seaio gchil»

tea. Ich rordo daher each fur cleichartigo Pronto des Cotciaictsrlana cad dea

Heichaarboitcaiaistcriuas hilafig hsraa^czo^o Taaorhia golans ea ia dcr Tat, .

dia" entaotsliche FlockfiebGirdle voa 194V die in dca Gefea^nen-' and Ecnscn-

trt.icaalaeem scitreise tlglich a3hrer sehntaaceado: ca Tcten-forderta, rccht

erhoblich hcrabsuaetsca* Tch .rurde dehef schr bald Leataaat cad Cberlcataaair

In lescaber soriot ich aochrale ia eiao (jroco Cel'ahr, da dao Farteieorich-:, daa

aaiaea ^aaachlaiS aas der Partei rcrfugt hatto,. reaataia vca calasa Eiatritt la

ola ruhrcadc3 Aat dar SS erhlslt, Toffca nciaer £ro£ca Erfol^o cad rogta'caiacr •

allccaeiaea Certachatzaag vuxde ich jodech aeiteas coinoo Aatoo firoapautst cad '

eehaltea. In Febmar 1942 rode ich Chef der Ahtellaas Gesuac^8itatechaii t dio

Cleichaoitis dao ^riakTra35cnreBea cad die gescrrto tochaiccho DesinfcJcticn, aash

dio nit hochciftigen Oaoca, nit anfafito* .'
*•,

'

Ad 6. Juai 1942 erhielt ich ia neiaen Dieaatzinacr ^csach Toa aca SS-Stura-

baaafShrer GQathor von Beichaeichcrhoitahauptant in dcr ICurfursteastraaae. C» •

baa in Zivil, ioh Lenato iha bia dahia nicht* Dr gab nir uatcr ellerlei gchcin-

aiEYOllca Aadoutnagea dea Befahl, eia Quaatua SlaaaSnro ( - 260 kg - ) en be-

aohafrca cad nit dleaea Gift nittela oiaoa teXtc^eao dc3 SX>« aa eiaea Crt so

fahrcn, dor aar dca Chauffeur bekaaat sei« Dio Sacho liefe ala eiae. der zurscit

cehcicctca F.clchaeachea, Eialee £cit apator' fcar ich nit bcaa^tca Tajea aach

Icllia bei Praj. Ich kcaato cir dio Art ceo Auftra^cs caccfiLhr deaLea, Ich Cbcr-

r^n iha jedoch, roil eoh nich hicr der £ufall aa daa 2iol fChrto, in dicso ge-

oanto Kaachiaerio dea laag creohatca Elnblici ca erhalteno Ich hatto auch nlcht

dio lelcectea Ecdoakea. Dean trcaa ich dca Aaftras aicht ebcraoaaen hatte» hStto

iha eia aadcrer in Siaao dca SD auseofuhrt, trflhread ich ale Aatorit&t aaf dca

Gebiot dor hochcifticea Gcoo chaa SchTriericheitca dio gaaao Ladcac — alo xer-

setat.odor ffofahrlich cc^crdea eder Terdortca — vcrcch^riadea lacsea hcaate»

So,fcoaa'te aar ich jeden HiCbraach dcr BlauafLnro sar T5taa^ roa Eeaachsa vcrhiade

la.

275



- 5 -

Da acch eia Flatz in Ta-cn frci rar t erUarto ich aica borcit, flea SS Gbcrstcra-

baaaflirer ?rcf. rr. nod. Ffanr.ciLetiel, Crdiaariuc ff'ir l^cieiio e.a dsr .aircr-

oitat mrborc/Lahn, sits;aioha.ca. In Foilin kit to ich ia dcr xabrin dca tscho-

chiachon Personal e^cenuber durch obGlcbtlich cn^ochichte technic cha Frajea dar

blickon laceca, dnS dio Blaasacre sea TCtca von :-eaachca beattat eeU Ich Inbo

daa in Folro ctoto oo eahaltcn, die baate Art, dio 5ache in Vol* hcrcnaabrinsan.

Proapt vnria ia Kollia daa Fahrzcai aor£falti£ bcobachtet. - la Lublinjaruaa -

vir darch dcra CS- GrnppcnfvSfcref General Globocnoc eapf&nsen. Eieaer sa^to sa

anas liooo Gehcina F.eichaoacha iat s.2t« clna dcr echeiastcn,. can tegn
f
gggcat .

did echoinato ttborhacpt, dio cs gist. Jcdor der daroa cchtfitsta virn erucacssen.

Gorado cootem haben vir =vai SdwStsar still ecaacht.- Ia Au^nhiibi, dan Trar.

aa 17, Aa^oat - tabsa vir 3 Anlaceai • -~

r'/;. V."

1.Bolceo, an der Ciaaaaoo Lublifi- Lenbers in aCrdlichea Sinkol ceaan aa dcr Stol

dio Seaarkaticncliaio ait dca Easecn die Chanssea schncidet. .&£9&lel.B vcn^ca

etra 15 ooo TOtna-en. Durchachnittlicho Ausnutssas.Mahcr ceit April 11 ooo pro

Saff«'.
•*

.

!
' - ' • > -

2. Sobibor, bai Lablia ia Polcn, edh weifi nicht ieaau «o* 2ca ceo SStansea pro

% Treblinka, '120 fcaKEO vca rarachaa in. Polcn, 23' boo Tetania pro 7&e* Scrch-

echaittlicha Annrntsuac *ct*a 15 5co Totcn^ca pro ?a£T oeit Jaal l?42# •

4, l^idaaeca bci Lablia, TTar daaala noch ia Anfbac ...

Ich haba 2ei'ceo, Trebling and £:icaaeca in Becleitoas dca Caefs dieaor saasea
'

TBtunjpsclftca, dca Poliseihaaptaaaa HHh suscaaca acn ahrlich in ^^eb
boaichtiffto Wrth 1st dersclbe, dcr ia Aaftm^c voa Eitlor and Staler dio oc-

stoakranhen ia Eadaaar, Grafeaeck cad aaderr2rta ursobracat act. • .
..;

Globoaaac sagto sa una, d.h. cr cendete sich aar aa aich: Ihr- Anffiabo 1st as,

dio cr62ca iSeasea-Spintetofifo, r£acho t "nbidcaffsstacia aad^caho,. dio in d=a
.

^

^alagea aafallca", sa deoinfisicrcn, Xia Hca^ea nachea das lo - 2o.acaa dcr ur-

eabaisso dor Spiaastoffsaaalaacca aao, Xicoe clzxci Saanlrm^ tardea ia resent-

lichen aar deohalb curchsafUhrt, aa den aaclaadicchcn Arbaitem...cad dea Js^atoc^

ToUt die Ecrlaart dar cro£ea Ilca^ca aa Utkleidem einiCcraa£Ba plaaaibal =a aa-

chen.- Ihrc aadare, natarlich aoch cchr vicl uichtigero. Aafesaha .ist die, den Bp-

trio* dicser Todccaala£ea sclbet uasastollca. Die Sache £cschieht jotst ait Dic
cel-'jLaspuffaasen Tea eiaea altca rascischca Diesclactcr. ras caa auf eta c^>
eteUt ^crdca, ^as achaeller «eht 9 uad da„ deaha ich Tor cllea an ttButeOj-.cr-

cootera- aa 15. Au^ast 42 - raraa dsr yuhrer uad Siaaler hicr, Ich darf dca Lea-

tea, die dia Aal^a besichticca aacacn, i^oiae rinla£achaiac aaaatel^, scadcra

saS tio ua dcr Ccheiahaltuas xrillca pcrccalich dirt ab-abca. ^araaf fragto Pfaa-

-easticl-.'^aa hat dean <2er x^hrer sa dca gaarta ^ocact? " L^rauT. CloDOcnoci" Tia

Akt'ca sell raachcctcas durebjef ihrt \rcrden! n lascinsr Beffleitcnff beTand

2ich aoch dcr ITiaia torislrat rr. Herbert Linden voa Beichaaiaieterica. Dor aaintc

ob oo aicht bceccr soi, dio Leicaca za rcrbreaaea, anata-tt cie einscacharrcn.

henato dash cnla aach una eiao Ger.cretica koc^ea, dia das caeca aicht rorstlnda.

T^TAaf habe ich Glcbccr.se c^Z--" -ciac Zerrca, rcaa Jo cina Gcaerawica each

cr- '-ca. a- —11*0, dia unzcrc c~~-° — cc danlibaro cad antico Acfcabo nicht vcr*

cloaca oolite, daan allcrdincs, iit encer chaser Eaticaaleczialiaaaa vorccblich

/-cresen. Ich tin in Gcraateil der laacith, dan aaa 2rcacotafcla Tcraeakca oollto,

acf dene- cr-^-icbca 1st, caC trir, da£ cir cs rarea, dio dca L'at gehabt habea,

ITcsoTlZ Tot^lllc ricbti^Trcr^ durchsuf-rcn.- Laraaf Hitler, Gut

Clobocacc .

276



f^-£J&?2is^^^^^^^
£„S£ So1derba.4of wrtart en «la« colbca SttUOcel to.Harden cictt boi

dcr Chaecseo coscbaKca irerdca. SOdlich aa tar0»H befeadcn oich cinlff*

•trUtaaoMBto nit dor Aafocirift; - Sondoricr do Bclceo der.*c£fen -»

SiTiXcrt to 88- fe«»pt.tcs«&r« Oteaoyer ™
/

Bleb alt eroEcr SarsEbaltans dio inlafiea cohen UcB. Elate
»,

Alri-eckea hart aa Eahabc* «ar BcnSchst eiao E"Eo mraeio sit der AnfeciriXM

I tTl l roY. 7tk bofaad Bleb .in sroeer Salter- Cold cad Tcrtcnchea-

.

•lJo."te folgto oln Ziaaer Bit etra haadart Eocaera, Mnena.
S£ .L. tetaLnw. Ton .t« 150 Sotcra. «cbto and liaao b« d^poltea .

Haoboldraat anient nit ScbiUern, - 2a den sad *£«f»««^
-

taan staad tot una ein Cebdudo, otro vie «ia Eadehana, nit einea Uoiaaa repp-

chsn, diTca roebts cad llaka jo cia croZer Eetoatopi Bit Coraalcn. »«T tea

Cach aio -indToJao dcr ravidotem in Scbaiedearbcit.- Tor dea CiUalt *-a
?4

Ie- '

Yc&Ttx - rcSolt - Ctiftuas.-'-chr nabo lea at dlooea SaeSniit** niebt

aaieaen bcioaaca. laaboecadcro bebaa lab niebt oinca Totaa
.

Ebcr dea caaaca, each nccb War der Cbaaacco Us ola pcoterticcr Loicbe-c*-

ItaL cad Klllicnoa riieecn acbairrtea Gborall herca. Ia iea jfcderaaa celbat

^arca roefcta cad Ui&s vca oiaca Flar Jo 5 rasam•t«fl. 5^ 5

tar grcS, .1,50 a heeb, aa£e=rdnct.Aa anderca Sqrcan Tarda air rea.gn ^-a.aa

TV- 3i SfSt Hiatcr dca ^t Stacbcldraht tct^
torUn iaica cab aaa eatzstalieb Ucicba c?°* e^^^:;~2~o

^

en. Bit aacstreraerrtca SSfiuu 2er Zu« Tcrccbirfadet hiater der Boc«, 2-0

£toa"er rolaaca die ?-rea.*ur end FeiiSehcn dio Uata
?i* ^» -

ochar aaa dca 2ucca aaraaa, 67W Feracaca, vea dcaoa 1d50 bcrcito^boi i^ca

Eiati.fca tot find. Eia laateprochar gibt «lo towlwacei 81A Cf.aa a-_=n-

siehca, aach Prothc=oa,2rillca aw. atle6ea. ( 2a siaea EEdcheaeafftB

Foatea! Sea Si* dio Grille at, Sio teicaaoa daria oLaa aadoro ErtlleJ } Ke
terteaetoa aa Sekaltcr aasotaa, ohae £ca eder ^aittaa^Eia tiaiaes Jcd«-

tateaea kriofft eiaa Eaad voll 2iaaf£ldca cator dea ira C^f^.j *" «*•**

ilhslt* Had Tcrsoaaea an dia Lecto aasteilt • 2ca Zaaaaaeatladen der Seaahsl-

leaa ia daa SooTsa Ton J5 Oder 4o Xottr E5ha hfitto toiaar aachbar dio pacccn-

den Sebahe riodor saacaaeafladca JtCaaea..- I>ann dio Fraecn cad jencoa Z.i-

ctsa aaa -riaear,' der alt 2 - 3 SoheraaochlEeca dio .Eaaro hcrcatcrschaeido.

cad elo in croScn Sortcffoltfeioa Torochrlniea lECi." tao lot f-r ircead»ol-

cho Epealalsracio f'r C-Eoots U-aticat, fur liobtoacen oder dcr£lelcbea! —
carf air dcr ratcraciarfShrcr, dar dort licast tat.- Icb Sscte ccboa dcaals

rlclcn twtca Tcra-.o, da£ diesa U-2ooto bald aicbt aabr fabrcn Jft**> «il

d*o ao"h c' siaareiaho Zctts ctuapf tardea cUsao, reaa aio cit Etrdaea ca-

cchalii£oa Zlates bcoadot -:rdo. Cott xrirao es irCead,ri« «o eiaricht=, d*.

aio nlebt acbr f Q b r o a ! - la dcr Cat babe leb.daait ja. auab tcraa 2cit

c--.,- rc
"

c^* bcbal'.ca! - Taaa soiat clcb dcr 2c<; ia lererr—C. Tcrcn cia -li-

bt-brcbec iaajco Vildchca, ca gibca cic die i.Uco catlaac, alle aactt, C.^acr,

rrcaca. "iaicr, Tea 'ceidca Ecitca Tea aedcrca gcct-Stst, SSaacr ait Prov-ocaa,

die 6lo tabca ablciTca a-ccca • -

Icb eclbat ateaea ait Eacjtaaaa Cirtb cbca tcf dcr ?a=rc arirebca dca Todca-

kaaacra. EZ*.tcr ait i>-oa Clucliac=a <-' der Irest, aio kcaaca bc.-a., s-;'—

•
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*»i-n trot en cio eia in dio ?odeci.annera.- in dcr Eciie dcr Eirhcnallce cteht

eia starter filtcrer CS-^a-a, naria£t tcs den iLraen. Hit pnstoerale Stinre sa^t

or ozcl ihacai Es pacsicrt Each aicht das Geringsto J Ihr ntlUt nnr in dea Eas-

ccm tiof Ltca holca, daa reitet dio Lunrcn, diese Iahalatica 1st notrend iff •

vcffca rraaaheitea and Scachca.- Aof dio Pm^e, Tras nit iaaea e°schehen rOrdo, .

natoartot cr j Je aatarlich dio HJLcner nucsea erbeiten, ESaser end Chaneoeea

haaea, abor.dio Fraacn brcachca aicht cu arbeiton# Ivor -scan cio trollca kCnaea

sio ia Ectrieb odor ia dor yficho nithelfea»- FOr eiai^e ven dieoca £men oia

kleiaer Eoffnaacoscainner, dcr aasreicht, daS cio ofcao Tidergtaad dio paar

Schritto =a dea raaacra eehon-, dio Hehrcaal *rci£ Bescheid," ,£er Ccruch kOa»

dot ihnoa iar Lost So otcieca sie die hleiaa Tropao herat^T- uad dean sehea

eie ellcs! L'uttor nit Tarea Eaaliasca an- der 2raot,» kleiae aacato I'iadar, Er-

vachs ens , IZaaer uad Frauea, alio ancat durcaeinaader - eie sB^em- abar dio

tretca eia ia die Todcsicaaaera, Tea dea aadcrea .hiater ihasa Tcrsetriebea,

Oder T-ca dea Lcderpeitschea der 22 ^trieben.^Iie Zlehraahl okao cia Sort .za

sar;ea. Tie eia Lana, das sur £chlachtban!c gofuhrt xrirdHEiao JUdian: rca etsa

40*\jaarea ait flnz^cndon iu^uca raft x das £lat,' das hier geacachelt rird ia

dea £e=9iastea lieuchelccrd, der j3 durchsof3hrt vurde, uter die border* Sio

eraSlt 5 oder 6 Scalane nit der r.eitrcitsche iaa gesicht, vaa Eaiijtuaaa 7irth

•perscalich, dnaa Terser.* iadet aueh cio ia der Esaaer,— raacho rendea sich •

aa nich 0 Eerr belfea eie uas dech, helfea Sie uas,doca! — Viele S-easchea

betes. Icb fcaas ihasa deck aicht beifea f ich beto nit ihasa, ich drHck.0 nich

ia eiae Ecke uad !,chreie laut =a aciasn cad iaren Cctt.Ea ist.laat ^enus aa

nica hsr, icb Laaa air daa I'eistcai lixut sa aeiaca C-ott sa Fcareiea. Sie g^rao

r^re ich ait ihaca in die Tcaaer c^G^S^9 cerse r^re iwh ihrea Ted zii£2-

Btorbea, Cie Uttca daaa eiaea aa'iicraiertea CS-Cffis'ier ia iarea Eaanera vcr-

gefcadon, euf eiaca Protest rarea sie eaaaicat gekenaea, eio aattea die Saaao

alB Un^lScasfall acT^efaCt, ich r£jro £eaeldet xrerdea x
n la treuea Tisast

fOr selaeri £olicttca FCLhrer ia Erlcdi^uaff oiacr groSea Auft bo fur dea Seicbs-.

fuhrcr ctarb ia lieast reia, co ^ehta aleo aicht, Boca darf ich dioeer

Yersuchuxc, nit diesca tectea cu sterbea, aicht aachffaaoa, lea. reiB eeaaa* - ..

5och aicht 1C Poreenea schea, ras ich cehe uad gesehea habo, der das caaso

bier Cbercieht, alio Pastel ten aad ihre Crcaaisatica, Sicher acch aicht eiaor

aaSer air eicbt diee als Cs^er, als Feiad dicser Heachelbsade. Ich caS also
,

aqch lebca uad cuTor Terkiladca, ras ich hier erlebe! CeaiS, eo ist der riel#-

Tiel' scb-ercre tieaot! — i?io ^ez=cr fOllea cich. Gat rcllpaciiea, bo hat ea .

der Eauptaaaa Tlih befohlea.- Tie Hcaechea cte'hea eiaaader s-jlT dea JCLssea, .700.

- 800 ileaschcn aaf 25 Caadratnetera ia 45 Eabizaetera. Ich aberschlaee irorch-

schaittsj-sricht hBcbstcas 35 b^.i cehr al3 die Ealfte siad i'inder, spec.Ge^".

ricbt 1. alao 25 2^3 Eenscbcn pro Tcaaer, Tirth hat recht, vean die SS

etsa3 rr-.cbhilft, '^aaa ana 750 r;en^cbea ia 45 ITubaaetera uaterbria^cn! - Uad

sio hiirt each, nit ihren P.eitrei tcchen cad zxaa^t eie aiaeia f screit ee

paysitcb Ubcrhaupt £;eht.- Dio ?£rca scblieecn eich.' rLhrcnddoseea xrarten dio

aaderea drauerea in rroiea aackt. Innrischea ist auch dor svelte Traaoport .

ein-otreffen. cac* air eelbstverctaadlich each ia Plater, oder bei kaltea

better a^cKt,! Jr. aber eie kcar.ea eich dea Tot holca! •"ea^e ich, der ich

ocast Torricbtic bin, Cberb^upt nicbts fm^c, caintercsiert tee, dies Tcrt

ratccbt nir reus — Ja c^rad fur die cia*i ee ja dob! — sagt nir eia :S~

y-n* dnrcuf ia ceinon Jlatt.— ^

Jctzt eadlich reretebo ich aecb \rnrra dio c=a=e Eiarichtoaj n E"ccreaholt •

Stiftunff " hci£t. Ecc^cnhclt irt dcr Chauffeur des Diesels, eia kleinor Tech-

niter und unerc"dlicbcr Cchnffer, Lrchcn bei der Totor.g dcr GeieteBbrantoa

hat er sich • aach uirth uncrborto Tcrdicasto orrcrbea

darch . »« •
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durca ceiaon Fici£, ceincn Idecnreichtuz.. Zr iat each dcr Lrba-jcr dcr r--- c-

aalac^* dea ^.-^ccn ccinca lic-els collen die Ecascaen hie ca Tccc c&-

bracht cardon* Aber dor Eiesel ferJiticaierto xiicht. Eaa *£ne TerhLltniEnL\£i£

eoltca 7cr, caffto can air. - Ear Eaaptaaan Eirth hc=t. Ean eieht, ea 1st ihn

peinlich, daea dae ccrado hoate pseaicrea ca2, ro ich Mer tin, Jecoal ich.
'

seta alioa t cad ich rarte. Eeina Stoapehr hat alios brar resictrlort. 50 Ei-

natea, 70 Eianten- dor Eiesol cprinct nicht en I Pie Eenschen mrtcn in ih-

rcn Cankasaera. Tcrgcblich, Eca h5rt eio vcincn, echlachaca. -Tie in dcr Sy-

na/*0£©! " bcaerat dor PrcfooBcr Pfencsaatiolo dao Chr en der EclstCr. Ear

Eanptaaaa rirth ooblast ait dcr Eeitpoitsche den TEeraiaor, dcr den Ecckerholt

-

bein 2)i03el helfcn coll* in 1 0 Gecicht.- Each 2 Staadea 49 Einaten die Stopp-

chr hat alios aahl rejietriert!- spring der Diesel en. Eis.ca diescn Aa^en-

blidc leben dio Eer.ochea in diesen bcreii3 ccfullten,4 Eannarn, A s 75C Ecn-

cchen in 4 z 45 Eabilaaetem ! Vcn aeeen Tcrstroichoa 25 Einntcn; Eichtig

vielo sind Jctst tct. Can eieht dan dcrch das hloine Fcnstcrchen,' in den das

oleitr'i3cho Licht die Fanner eincn Ae^enblich erleachtot. Sixth hatto nich

eingehend interrie^t, ob ich ea fur richti^er halto, dio Leate in den beleuch-

teten odcr in den tnoelcachtotcn Earner cterben sa lessen. Er fra^te daa in

den Stiel, in dea nan fra^t, ob ana nit odar ohao Eeilaieaen baaaer scalane.

Each 25 Einaten Icbt^n nar ncch sranicc. Eadlich nsch 12 Einaten let alloc

tot I - Yen der aaderen Seito cffr.en die IT-ncr von Arbeitaicnaando dio E0I3-

turcn. tan hat ihnen, - eclbat Judcn !- die Freiheit and einen hlcinen Pro-
'

nilleast2 ven alien ^fendonen Verten fur ihren s'chrocalichoa Sicaat ver-

sproehea* "Erei Bachhalter fuhren nit ercEcr Enahtheit Each end barecanen ea-

sta- ilieh die Prcnilleautse.* Tie Eaealtaaalen etehsn dio Taran ansinandar-

eepreGt: in den Earncm, Ea T;are anah heia Flats hinaaC-nllea eder each nar
.

aich Tcrabcraaneisan* Selbst in Tc^> ncch Hannt can die Fanilien. Eio drun-

asn aich, in ?oio Teraranp't, die Zlaio 9 acdaE,nan-Euha hat, cie aaaeiaandar-

car- \£cn 9 an dio Ecansya far die nilchsto Ca>rjra froi sa nachazio Ean *ir?t dio

Leicaea - ra.fi van SohxreiB and Urin, hetbesahnatst, Eenstranticnablttt an den.

Eeinen, heraaa. Eirderleichca fliecea darch dio Laft. Ean hat Jiaino Zeit, dio

Eeitpeitschea der Ejarairer. eaucen eaf die /.rboitsiennandca. &?ei EatsendySaha-

firste offnen sit Eakca dea Eand and echaacn nach Gold - Cold linaa - ohno Cold

rechts i - andero SahaSrste brcchsn nit Sancen end Eazmar dio ColdaStno and

Eroaen aas dan Fiefem. - Enter alien eprin^t der Eaaptnann ITirth heran. Er

iet in seincn Elencnt. Cini^e der Arbeiter kcntrollierren Gcnitalien nach

Gold, Erillcn'and Certeachan.- rirth raft nich haraas. Eebcn Sie nal die so

Eonserveabachse nit Gcldsahacn, den iot nar von £^=tcm and rcra~cstcm I la

2 « . .

aich sa einen Jarelicr, dar alio dieac Schlltsa sa rarralten h-tte and lieS

cich alios cehen. Ein ceirte air dam acch ncch einen fruharan Chef des Eonf-

haasca dea teatens in Earlin 7 and lie2 air sa Ehrcn Ten einen laleinen Cci^cr

aafenieZcn: lae ict ein ebcaallffcr Eauptaana der EaiBorlich-Eoaiclich Gater-

rcicaiccacn Ar=ee ait den EE I, die bcidsn Chefs der «lidiachen arteitaaeanan-

dec 6- Eio aa eaten leicrcn irardcn p-cf Eola^i^en nar -eni^e Ectcr ceit in Crabcn

Ten 100 s 12 a
fiolen aleda
aaf cieaclbcn _

v

oodafi nar aoch voreinaclt Ecpfo and /.me heraaarec*cn»->a ccz * c£° ceine3

Ecoachca trafea in Eelccc aar 2 Tr^neporto ait iuaa^acn an-cfi^r^ 12 500

Perecnoa ein.

Eicsc.«
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Siece Anl**i car celt April 1942 in Gaace cad echaTft ie *crchachnitt pro T*C

rand 1CC0 Mtacoa. 7cm cola Freundcstreia and ich dca Zoadcner Sender odcr

dlo SticnaAaericaa h5rten f
rendcrtea wir ens oft tlbcr dio ehaan^oacn Easel,

dio nit haadGrttaaacndaa rca Toten aufcartetea, ro os echoa sis KiHlonea izfaren.

Dlo hollandiach© ffidcrataadsbecrecun* llefi nix la Jahro 1943 dcrch Diplcaiaseaiear

Ubbink aaa Weebarff
beatellea, ich ab*chte ihr' nicht Bit Crcasln aaffrartcn, soadera

alo 'nit dor Btreasatea ITahrhaftichoit bedieaea. Trots acinar Scitersabo diescr

Since la Aagaat 1942 on die Scb^odiccho Gecandtochaft in Sorlin claabte can

aaockaiaead eiafach die'ee Zahlcn nicht. TJni doch aind sie loider - ich rerb^se

-

sich cafcr nit aeinea Eide y q h r I Ich echatae die Zahl der a< Yeranlassan5

Tea Adolf Eitlor and Eeinrioh Hinnlor eeaaachelten vehr- and xmffcnlcccn Eanachen,

dio ohao jeda ncjlichheit dos riderstande 9 in dieao Eoachelfalien, eelocict cad dort

naffohrecht rcrden siad, anf nindestens 2o ooo coo Eenschca* Sena es haadelt sich

boileibe nicht nur sa dio violleicht 5 odor 6 Eillionea Jadea Earppaa, dio so cn-

Eahracht torden bind, ac'adem vor alloa noch ua dio polaiach.3 and einca gro£en •

Toil der tachochiachca latellicsnss, co*io ca die fuhrcadea Schichten andcrer

Yollistuaer, 3.3. der Serben, iaabescadera aber ca die Pclca uad 2achechen.IIr.III.

Dies waron so£enannte bioli£isch uertloee, die da aia nicht cehr richtis arbei*

ton konatea. nach Ansicht der. Easia'kaiae Esistcasbcrochtieaaff bosasscn. rcacia-

sicnea Tea aasablichea Arstea fokren nit fcinen Liaaainen cnd.alleriei Srstli- .

chea Hotuopakaaecrat vca Serf ca Darf fvca Stadt sa Stadt and caters;:eaten, in

aei£e HSatel cekleidet" and ait Eehrrohrea die scaaateBsroliteral^, u-er den

eeascheia aschano44h- nicht cehr arbeitEfahiff car, fcaa ala naaCtser Freaser act

dio Liote uad xrarde nnch eiai^er Zeit ebeaaclt and Yercaat. Eieruher eawschie-

dca teate. dia oft noch nicht cal Yolisachalbildcas besassea and dch ai» aerr

lolleee and Eerr Cbemedisiaalnat titallerten.— Ja 1 chne dieco IIa£anhr.an, sa£-
.

to air ein SS - Starnhaaafuhrcr in Lablin, rare £aaa Pclea fiir ana wer-losf ,

rail es sonieso atari beTSlhcrt end krani lot* Sir holes nar aaeh, vzz dio Sa~

tar aonat Uborall son eich aas bocarft and lcidcr eerada bcin Ear .chea Tcr^es-

«*ea hat ! — In Trebliaka cah ich an anderea Ta^o eine (pQBsro Aasahl Arbeitcr f

die in dca Grfibem aaf Lcichca heruataratca, w l!aa hat Yerffccsea^dio Lcata aaa-

saUoidea, die boroits tot aagekoaaea eird. Tas na2 aatOrlich aach^hol, Trcrdea-

vorea der Spiaastoffe and rosea der ?ertsachca " Bagto ai^ der Eaaptaaan Tirt^.-

^irth bat cich in Terlia heiaerlei iadcraa^ der bichcr ublichen GacLaancra' cad

SStaa^aethcdea vcrsuEchlaeca,* da eich ja alias be s tens beTthrt and ein-cspiolt

haba."lch bin noricsnrdicorToise in lerlla nie nach dsrartigaa eefract <crcrdsnt

Pio citceacaacaa Blaucanro habe ich vercrab3a lascan.
"

Aa*aSchstea Taee. dca 19. Aa-ast 1942, fchrea trir ait dsn Acto dca Eaaptaaan

Uirth nach Trobliaka 120 Jca rcn Tarschea. Dio I^arichtcn^ rar et^a dieaelbo

acr ceaeatiich cr— =- ale ia 2?lccd. ACht CaaLanaexa aad Tahro Coblrsa voa Tcf-

fera uad Tentlllca an-1 ra=che. 2a anacrca rirca rarde ia Ccnoiaschaft3saal la

.

typiach hicalcrioch-a altdouteehea 2tll cla I^nLctt ceceben. Das Essen var eia-.

f^chp abcr ea ctani Lllca in ^eder KeagG cur YerfUenas. Eiacler hatte aelbst

^m-eordnotp da3 die i^nner diccar ron^aades serial Fleisch, Batter and scnaticeo,

V^v^-^-o •lvovol crhaltca coll ten, vie cle volltea.P3»cf.rr.acd.Pfanaenctiel

LicU olnrr.edc, in' car cr tea I^lnacm die L'Lltzlichheit ihrer Aafe^be and dio. •..

r< „v + 4.^. c<t ih-r.- — ccn L'i-cicn -ili^r cachtc. Za cir c 11cin cprach er ven "

cehr'h-'GLncn i!ethcden « aad rcn Ccaiinhclt der Arbait % la klin-t veilig aa^- .

ri'abir, aber Ich rerb-rje eich dafar„ CaC cr nicht ctrra ia Schcra, scadem ia

vollca rrnst! els ir=t dic=c Lin^a cc bessichnet hut! — Tea Itiaaschaffea
.

"

c^rto er inabcacadcrc ncch : Ti-in c^r. dicco JudcnLCrpcr icr

d^an.
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caxa TTird eiaca erct rocbtklar, trio daaacaauert cure LuZ&ho ist. Bcia

achicd warden nns noch nchrcre Kilosreaa Batter uad Tide Flesehea

maehaaa cn$ebotca. Ich hutte iTdho-, dieco Binso nit Bilcaaicht career anrCcr-

. SCToicca, dTich vca eaeerea accoblichca -'Cut- elloe die* sean^tc.
irorauf Ffaaaeaatiel beeldest tuch noch neiaa. Pcrtioaca einatrich.- Kir fuhrca

mit dca Auto nach Sarschaa« Dort tra£ 'ich, alo ich Tcrccblich ctu eia

Sohla^acoabett rartoto* la fcetf> da XecaticnaadcrotiLr dcr Schrodicchcn Co-

eandochaft lia Berlin, Baron von Ottor. Eoch enter dca friochea Eindruch acinar

enteotalicnea Srlobnicse habo ich dioeea ollca dica craiihlt nit dar Bitto, dies

oeiacr Bcriarna> nad dsn Alliiertea cofort nitsatbilcn, da Joder Ta ff .

Yers&f^reac

rciterca Taoceadaa uad Zohntaaaeadca dae Lebea heatea cues*. Vca Otter tat nica

ua ciae SefGroaa, ala uelch'e ich iha Eexra. Coners.lecpcrintoadeaten Br. Otto,

Biboliaa, Berlin, BrCider«* 2 ca^ebo, ein fOhrtndea Eitelied der oTec^lisehea

ridaratcadobcxroffoaff, eagleich eiaca Tertraatca Freuud aeinea Frerndce, des Ffar-

rora E*rtia" I?ica311er. Ich tr^f dean Eorra Tea Otter aoch 2 cnl in cerSch^o-

dicchea Geaaadiochaft. Br hatte iaariscaea perabnlich in Stockholm *^<*> er-

ctattet uad tcilto air sit, dafi dSocor Bericht crheblichea 2iaflc3 an. die

Scbsedioch - Bautschea Beaichanjea habe..- Ich Tcrsachte in gloichar ^a-

che dea papatlichca Ilantiua ia Borlia Bericht su erstatten. Bort wde-ich ce-

£ra£t f ob ich Soldat cel. Ifcraufkia xjardo Jede waitero Uat^ltens clVair. ab-_

Velthkt. Tch rarde can sefcrti^a Yerlaesen der Botechivft Seiner Hoillicit eu*-

refcrdcrt. Ich aa^e died bier dearcCcn, rail dare.ua erhellt, *io coherer 03 eiaca

Beetechea ccaacht rurdo, sich in aciaer Ho t ircenfivio tot su achnffen, reua

or s « bei dea Tcrtroter Seiner Hcili^eit ala dca Stellvertrcter Christie

auf Lrden aicht einzal in co cntsotalicher Bot Eat cad Eilfe firiea hcaate! -

Bein Teriacaca dor .pilpcUichea Botochaft rardo ich van ciaea Folia5ctaa nit dca

Bade verfolet. Ich hatta caiaaa BerolTcr eataichcrt. in der Taacha ca nich csra-

do t. ;=aac2eBea, ale dieaer Polisict ToUiff cabeffreiflicherucico szar dich
; ^

an n- ch heranftihr, abor dann "rchrt cachto. Ich habo daaa alloa dies aater t^cli-

chea Bisilcrca coiaea Hcpfos uatcr dea Biciiio, ffeiaU-t and rchSnst ca ^-ca,

haad«-tea voa eiariaCraichea Poraoalichhcitea borichtot, uatcr andcrca dca -ya-

dilao'dea hotholiachca Bischofa roa Berlin, printer, her -oiterpbo an dea

Bw.Serra Bioohof uad on den PSpatlichca Steal. Ich'naJ] noch hiasa^-^ea,-

daB Guather Tea Beichaaicherhoitehaaptact- ich clauba os lot der Soha dea Bae-

aen • Gunthora - isdtxv 1944 nochaalo cehr &r°-° Ecacca BlcusJIaTO Tea air
;
lt .•

einea eehr daaklen Btrecii verlea^to* Bas Gift coHte,in scina Bienatatelle in dcr

^urfarcteaatraaeo Reliefort rcrdca and dort In.oiaaa Schuppen, dca cr air soic-

to f Tervrahrt uordca. Ba aaad«rlto cich ua cehr groBo raa^ea, iasgosca. ua nehrcre

Ta—caa, dio aach uad aach aufCchSaft .uad au acinar TerfClcaa- c^balwca rerip

aolltca! Bae Gift jea.^o =ua U^briacea vca viclca Uillionea r.eaachea. GSather

c-^te. er alsao aacla.aicht uad ai'ane noch aicht uberEchea,. cb, riaa, ^o=u vel-

c^ea ^eck, fir volchea rcrsaaoaircia das Gift gebraucht Oder each aicht c©-

hraucht rerde. Jedoafallo nucco ea dort stSadifr verfurbar aeia.- Lea aaachca

?~,~n aaa Ccehaicchc, dio Giia'-her atellte, cataaha ich,. daB rahl beabaich.iet

^crc— «e 4 a aa£, ia eiacr Lrt Leoo - cdor Blubriaaea eine eehr crclo Bahl Tea

^e.ncv- -asebrincca. Ich crklLrto Cither aach ciacr cia-ehcaden Crtctesichti- ^

CaaCl dM5 cih die Vcraat-artaaG dcr Li^raac
ggf

Ciftea ia dea ces^^cn Ccbap-

>ca aittea ia dcr Beicachf-aptatadt Lciaccrcca Sbcrac-baca Tcracch.e, da daa G^*t

aasreiaho. an niadcatcaa 2 ail dio c^=a-ite BcTclLsrca? rcn Bcrlia daait uasa-

briar-oa cad cir.o Bcrsotiaaj uad Zcrcncuas aaacatlich ia Scaler vahrcchcialich

coi/uit i:^o ec-larc co air daaa f iha au Cbcrrcdoa, dao Gift ia dca rcateatre-

ticacltrcra Or^icabarj uad *.a-cauit= aa Tcrvalrca. Ich ricltctc co daaa eo c^c,

da£ ich'cae Gift dcrt 3 cTort

r.ccb
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aach Eiatrcffen ^eaoila fur ZtrcciLO dcr Icciafcktica, die dcrt TTasjcaa

ElaucJiaro branch to, vcrach;rindcn licfi. £io Ecchnunscn dcr Lieferflira - Deut-

sche Geeollcchaft fiir Sch^dlincsbca^j.fua£, Franhfurt a.C.cnd Friodbcrc- lic2

ich acf neiaen Eaacn caootellon, ac£oblica ro^cn dor Ceholahaltmc, in »ahr-

hoit, ua la nairen Eicpcaitioncn uzscotrjrtcr cn coin uad. an duo Gift lose or

verachuindca laacca cu ncaacn. ina den clcicica Grcado habo ich ca stcta verai

dan, dio riclca auflaafendca Eechnungca jo cur Bcsaalaaj vorsale^ca, da ich da

dorch dca SD daacmd an* dicaca Ycrmt fcttte erlmcm nOacennnd tleder den cr5-

nungackBigca Bofund Toa dca bccahleaden Stolles aichor Eechcrcben enceotollf

warden ulrcn. So 205 ia eo vcr f die Firaa acf Eaaacngoa £in cu vertrSaten and «.

Eechnon^ca cabcs-hit ca lessen. Ear Direktor'dsr Screech orzShlto nir Carina
gesrruchoreioojdaB or far Tbtunc vca renechen 21azo£zra in\iapnllen eeliefert

haba.- colchea Pcrcoacnlreic GGather aaf ^Trcisaas seines Vcrceactctcn Sichnar.

cesebenenfallo enbrin^cn solltc, habe ich nio erfahrcn. Ich dnchte" dcr £ahl

nach *n die.Inaaaacn dor Fcnzantranonlaser and dio aac*£nzischen Arbeit er, at

auca ea dio Offiziera, dio Pcutaclio Pfarrerschaft end en dio rrie^cc-cn^encru

ITtaeatiich sis Goebbcle spLtcr deven Gpr=.ca sccobcncnTallc trurde dcr rraticna.1-

E03ialianna dio TCr cecaltig hinter eich saschlacTzn, habo ich rochizals scrj*.

filtig coprOft, ob dicse Hordrcscrvo verklica vemichtet cor. Ear Befchl Einn-

lera car Oabria^aasr all or insascea ron EL ia Erastfalle. irzr cch.cn d^aala chna
'

^citerea vcraczsueehca. - Ein andcrea cal fr^tc nich GCntheT, cb ea ccclich

soi, ia Haria - Sharcaienstiidt in den dcrti^cn Fcatanrnerabcn, in densn dio

doxt interniertcn Jaden epesicren cehen durften, ddcaa durch rca cben fcisein.-

^eworfena Blaaaiiarodcaen sa verciftea. Un diccca schrecilich-n Plan cn verai-

teln, erliarta ich die3 fur unnecrlich. Ich* h^ba dnan op£ter erfuhrc-a, da£ cich

dor caf anacra feise dech ElcacScro Terschcfft • and dio Jadcn- die ea in'

Jher0 sieaa tadt aa^blich eo besondera gnt haben collten,- doch cnccbracht hat.

Ea warcn dica Tatar rcn ^cfallcacn fChncn# Inhaber heher Crd-n and verdienot-

voile Jcden.- lie- schecfilichstea Aoazentraticaalacor rarcn Uwri^cna heinecre^3

£al3en odor Bacaearald. \7eit Schlinner yaren Esathnasen - Caeca bei linn cn de

nonaa and lcaca~itz • Sort sini Killionen ven Eenachea in Gcsiannam and Cas-

aatoa ( fahrbaroa ^asoaora ) veraclrsxaiden. In Acschritc vcrden allein Hillicnen

Kinder dnrch Untorhalten cine a Bis-acEaetcpfcna enter, die ITtse gstetet. In ?rac

iionzcntrationalacer SaYeaabrQc-: boi rUrstcnborfe.in Cacitlenbcrs' baba ich Tercac

an lebeadea Fraaoh ceaehcn, die in ^aftra^c dca £S- Grnppenfrihrcrs rrefcaser D.

Geahdrdt - Eohanlyachen der Eauptatursfuhrers Dr. cefi. Grand!aah dcrchTJhrte-

Ich h.)bo fercer -in noincr Dicnatatello vielo dcrarti/jc Bcrichta ca sehsa bekra

nen, Die so betrafen z.E.Yeraacho ait Ferritin bia za 100 Tabletten pre aa

ICO bi3 20C Ezftlin-en bio can CTeatuellen Tadcaerfclj. ladere dorartige Ter-

eucha harden cit £eras and Lynphe- nit dca varschic dens ten fleckfieberinf

BtGffea W'Carchr-sfL'hrt, Hiczler hatt aich dio Genchairazs derarti^er Teraccho

an darci/dsa 5.E zaa Tode Verarteiltcn pcrsonlich Torbehalten.. Ich hiba r= ferr

ner In Cranieabur^ aa oinca Ta^u nearera aanderto cder ^r taaaeade Eoaosezaol

ler cpurlca in dca ufoa Tcrachiadea echen. In Hcathcascn rar aa Sblich, Juden

in :toicbrach arbeiten ca laar.cn und uic alodann - xyie zafallij - eina heho

rtoiavand heran/erzact-^rzen. Sic blioben enter tct lichen and x/arden cla Ua-

fkllo rocietricrt. Her ~2 - Usapt s tosT&rcr Br. Zraatz- eia vilater Intinizi -

aaa Tann^an Hhoin, bo in Ecichaas=^arzt 53 ana ?clizci ibtsilaa^slaiter a^t air

aad Ticlca aadcrea Teraonca hlufi£ nit ratrUrtcn^ vca eeinoa cahlroichea der-

artirea rrlcbaiatea erziLhlt.

Ich haLtta in Irclcec doa i:in-irzci: f da2 an Hccichtijuz£atc£a nach so laacea Tart

ia doa r^t^em trir^lich clle JJcncchsa tct jr^rca. -ter der H^aptcana earth, eir

Volliff on^ebildoter Hca-ch chnc ctrch nur die ^er-a^etca Tcaiataisco vca Chrcia

and fhysiolojie, hat air die ccndcrbarcten ^ia£o crcilhlt.

Cffcr.slchtllch...
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Cffeaaicbtlicb baenfi TTlrtb eiao crbabliebe Teriiebo fur Verauebe Bit keaschca

la T»tea. So ersablOo cr olx too eiasa Uotnca Einde, daa ale Eoreons YSllie

nuater eao dor Csabaaaar ffcbolt button, die Cter E^ebt caaaapladea otchca Ce-

blioben w. Eeaondera intereaaaato Sryariaeat bitten oio bai den Ceieteatran-

fcea eacoateUt. Cart babo dio lateroahlcdliebstea Eapiiadliebxci .en der
_

elaaelaca Csassbea Watoti Aoeb eit FreElcft clad Vcraaaha pnaeht wadea.
,

Ho Lcato-r=rdQ la Soaael ceotecit, ia dio nlttolo dor ablicaea Asfbaltstraa-

sca - Ecaareaaoren frosaXuft olasadruofct Tnrr-io. - In Srcblineo hatte lab den

Eiadracb. daB Bindsatera r^ncho aoeb lebtca oder car beaiaacassloa rarea. ,aa.

nUo batten dlo tocoa offsa and botca oinea oebroebliebaa iabiie~. Eeeesaacaa

habo icb Jodoab trota ecaauer.EaoV-cbtuncea fcieht aebr fcatatallea ..banea. Ia
..

Canaan bat =aa aicb oo pit ale koine ESba ceccbea, dlo ![oteai-aa irceadirio bn-

caa - durebaafUhren, eoaeit caa la dioaea Zaaaaaenii-ns uoerbaapt dice »Bt j»-

fcr&scben darft - Saa vobl Trenlcar aas Sadisaaa, els cub einer volllfioa Cxeicb-

eOlticboit cad ?o'iueniicbjislt dioaea Dia^ea gesanilber. . / .

Tea eisea bcecadera anatdndicea Stcrbcn beriebtoto air dor RS - Eaaptatarnfub-

rer 2r.aed.VllliaS aua Earaund. Ea baaaclto oich aa nearore tacaend - lab glfc-

be 6OC0 - polnicche Geietilcho and Prieatcr. Sieao -cardan paircrpa, a.eb

eelbat lap, tiefa CrSbea aueanboboa, dana aaStea sio sich^ebt ecsaieben.jo-

die GrSben "etellen and warden aladaaa ersebeaaen. AeT die hciniscben.end s7..-

tiaeaei Fwcan, eb ale nan i=er nocb aa Jeans Cbriataa, an Earla, an F=l-

aiacbea'Volb Jaubien, antrortoten ale nit oinca fasten Eckcnntnie an Ceriatao,

s r Eellieaa totter Cpttes, lnabcacadcro aa die van Tebsaatoeb^a and aa eia *sr-

eAehen <brea Vo"" batons, Tillins bcrlcatot bieruber eater Tranen ait tiefater

liarS ^-aab aadere Folea aiad ia Ebaliab Tcrbildliabar and aa-

GtSadU-cr Voiae eeatorbta, iaatcacadera tcbrcriaaaa cad U*?j> Lis iab vca

i »aaa allaa bSrto , crlaaerto iab aieb ca rain eiffaas Cof^apia in dsr S'-c_-

aeasS. sa atat+eart. Elt baiaaia tiadlicbar 6ai «r
«J

arf. dan .Eaad alar
«oaaaritaabe ait cacaleaiaa .laehsteDea .Japarltst { £ato, Setter Cottea bllf.l

— Eina rcrbarcte trt, teascbaa aaaabriacca, ,w la Felon dio, daS^aaa d-e

Lento die Cendeltrappe xon Eoabcfta bercafctoiffaa lie£, ale. dort obea lr=arbla

ait ciaaa PlatolenaehnS erlodicta and ale daan ia Eeabefea TO»ch*lr4en lice. -

Viele Ecasoboa coll an la Zie^lSfca dureb Eaaab^oo oratlea. warden an. aa-

aablie£ead ia salban Gang rerbraaaf rardea sain. Eiar ifV^iae f.wllt iedacbS todertpro.oatlc auveriuals. - Einar der I-oliaaicbafa ia Txe**re.

St - StarabaaafCbrer Ealler oraEblte den J.rsten aeiaaa anraoa.cad air, daB boi

seiner inbaaft ia Eroaberc aa Ublieb coreaen eel, Jadanblnder ClcJeb la dea

"taaa^ait dea ropf an die Taad aa klaaaea, an dan I^ra der Schlc»crol aa

yeraoidS. Er b'.bc aleaan Eafa^ ibjaatellt and fur die £»efcieseeec der rinaar

raaerrt.- Er crlaaerto cleb nceb lcbts.fi an evet' klol» »*dckca vca 5 aa- 5

Sbrca, die rar iba aaf die Eaiao fallen aad eabatet bvttea. fc*;r ..eb ai.

naXtc "ch aetcrlieb ersebiecaea lcrscn, sactc Ealler.- E-ller era_lte a..d

^c= Lr Eiariabtans der polnloebea latelUCeaS . laab ddcao laata «2tca eieb

G_.ve= rricca aieb alt dea Siaeb saanterst blaalalesaa and v~den d— a-. »a-

a'abir^^atclca ereebeaeoa. tic r.ebctea aaStan aieb sladcan auf die acei «>
.

nan Lcl-bca dranflosea and -.--dca darx abtafaUa vaa obea craebaasca. .ielo-

;ei« tea b=l dca Tcrcuab, ^iaaben dea Laiaban darabaazriecbea, aeil ale nacb

aiebt c:as tct mrca, bcia Etaiblettem eraebaasea var.ea.

Eiaar der Caere der rrakaaar- r.aCiaraaC cradblta air, rUbrca ar dlo Pato traa-

cbier'.c, ran olacz baseaiera eclaa-aaca T-~Ct eea ale can-cat bi..tt_: al-

fcaaa vca dar pslaiscbca .•id:rait.r.L;bcTcr=as - em
ids...
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'u-e habo eich in Schreirea sehullt. lar-uf habc coa iha dio GeleaLo Cobrcchca-

alo cr each darn noch ocbriec, habsars iha Bit den Sisters eaf cine Cl^eade

Eerfi?l»tt© ccsotst. Sio hSttca Colo ochon eollcn, vie der ;kas scaprr.chic vuTv.0

Celo-entlich einos Ecauchoa boin Sasburo dcr Eaffen S3 In Zlablin, teiitea car d

bcid*n Architelim nit, do3 cio ta Tcraittaj dio Lcichcahalle la einea r^iejr-c

fanceneal&'-ar seaecaea h*tten,. ua ale ru versrcCera. Saneeada-vca leichen -aois

rioc^lhe^kr&akcr - hilt ton dcrt acfcectcpelt £clccca. PIS t alien hiittca oio

hen 0 ^io eich claims noch berecten. Dcr Eotteafuhrcr, der dca SchlCasel hatta,

habc nor ecfract :"So" dean habc cr cia bcrerUic<;ende3 EtUcfc Euadoieca jcbcs-

csa and dea Louten dca' Cchadel eiaccschlaceiu— Sichf d 'a a o dieo eescheh,

ten die Sauloutc, babe cio ccruadcrt, scadcra dio Selbstverata^dlichkeit, ait d

dloa ceachoh J
— Eel Gclecenheit nsinea Eccuchca hatto oiae Judia ait cirsa yc

bor-oa ^oialtcsen Saaieraacceca oinijea £rbeit'3 - Jeden Scarrtte in dca Eala be

Ceb^cat* Uirta bodauorto lebha£t, da5 die Fran ochoa tot ear, sio ^tte ailsecr

eronplariach testrsft uerdca 1 Tie versundetea Juden lie* cr

_

8crfifalti SJ^rzi-

lich cetroiicn, danit cie clanbea aollten, cio trarden virklich an Lobea blcibcr,

cnrcaicdelt uad bclchat xcrdaa I Had da4f Claiiban die Leute, daa ^laabca die Leu

to, dio-fl Idioten, rief Firth laat vcr eich tin I -In E-elcec rar bs senders crau

en>--'t der £3 JwtbctJcrb, den nan unter dea iSnaern end Jensen dcr Trancparte vcr-

anltaltote, die ricider za dca fa-sono cu scnleppen. £er aa bestca echaff t i:cs=

sua •' -b^ i-'-xaaando ! -Ea oatetaad ein Vettrennea verseiatiich aur* Leben end *c

uator'diesea nackten Lichen, die unter dea Gclacbter dcr 22 die Udder re-

schlcpptea. Eaturlich rirschsaadea alle nacbher in den Eeaaezsi. Ear eina.je -inc

aTtQ cad Iaraayj2 Lcute, ^io nicht eiaral near vca den arderea Qez.u.zt ca daa

neW^aakaa- Lenatea, TCrdca abscits qc1c(£ uad alcdaan ercchcccca.- Eiaise er-

creiTendo tilder etenen air acca vcr iu-ea- i 5^ vertraaatc j ^ariGo. Jadsr.bubc

tea die Eindf^dea sua 7-.aaaacnbindea. der Ccaaho aasteilea ca£t 2 - selbst eia sc

cbca kind ^rurde anraiaacatlich ci—cop^aat in Hitlem entactaiicae Tcaecaasehiar

end ITcuclicIoJrderoi, in Iliaalcra uad Sirtas LeichcnfIcdderci, - Cdsr ica denas

an eia iileiaes iHdcaea.' daa eiaca 2£oter vcr dor laaner eia hlciaca rcrilleaxe.

dea verier, doe daaa eia Judeababcaea vca 3 Jitoa.'ltfd* ria cs .du tottchea

hob es liebe^oll betr^chtete, eeiae Freude daraa tat to -.uad daan in aScaatcn .

c-ablick - Ji, dioeaal cuJ3 ich sa-cn: saaft in die Zanaer .
aiaein^schobca xrz?~<

Der SS - Eaaptcturafdhrer Cbcraeyer aua Piraasene crsanlte air: in einsa Dcrf

ia dor riiho aabe ich einen Juden ait seiner Fran aaa aaiacr Eoicatstadt Ptaaacf

cotroffca, Xer rar ia 7olt^rie3 racatasister," ein enstndi-cr Kerl. TTir hsbea r

tl adcr suaaaaea cosplol* er hat air cecar einaals dao Lcbea Ccrettet, xro ich

aahc tot refahrea u-crden rure, Uca 2ann acbst Frau rerde ich ^otat aitaeaaen f

acin Arbeitcicaa^ado.- Ich fra2io Cboraoyer, was au3 dea Uaaa epiter irSIrda* Er

cab nich erstaant aai H -aa soil ens inn perden, ffenra easrelbe xrio ait alien a

ren, da Cibta c-raichte uaderoo. 3Ta vielleicht rerde ich sic totcchieasen lace

•ad-roseits haba ich in dcr SS eine 2j:cahl von Lcaten aae'etofren, die. dies© Kat

ach-rf verarteiltca and =.?. dar-ber =a ^IGtaadea Eessera dca Faaitcaa ^everde

ra-ca. Tca deaie da vcr cllca an dca Ctabefahrer dec Obereten Ej-ioaikera belr

-eichcarst -2S uad ?eli7.ei, SisptsehtrfChrcr Eciarich Eollandcr, Dicuer c=.b air

ileaataia vca allea ir-cad-ie xrichtieca ' TcrfiSncca and lieS alle 3 verscariaden,

c-a aich ia o-^aor Sieactstelle ir^cadvie bel&ctea oder vercXchtie cr.chea iicar

Ich rilro solbst ll^zt ia Cfca C2^dct, -can dicccr trcae chriet^tholiBche

Froaad cad Cluhcado latinasi aicht treulich die Hand iiber aich Cobalt ca hatte.

JLatiaici rar aach dcr Letter dcr iaasrea /.bteilaa^ dca SS-xA2aret .ea^

Serlis.*S5 StarabarlfUhrcr Er. cel. leaht, der scit 1541 ^tice 7crtc scb

fer
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i-.r Vercrtoilcaff dor Baal- cad SS - Cathodal fand and dealt ttbdlff selnui

L>pf riatierto.- Dae Gleicbo £ilt fur dio Cbircrgea SS-Eanptptcrc*Ubrcr Sr^od.

Hlcecn and Itroboo mid Br. cod. Sore* ana Jeaa. Eln rirkaaaer tatlaud - Propa-

ttadlot car aacb do? SS-Eacptatcmflihrer Dr. cool.Trlta Irants ana Bcra, dor die

«&nlroicbon Scbenfiliobfceitca, dio or in doa Zeasentraticaalacera sa oebea boban,

cttter otSadl^oa Blalko # cebSast ca cerdea, toTott to^btot aadfM.-, ; m- ?

Sa'dertoappo dor Qffiaiero tW 20. Jctt 1944*» roebnaa Bind dio
.
loitcadea Apo*

fhaktt d« Saffca £3, SS-Cmpponfuhrer J*. pbarn. Blcaearoctber cad eelao boidea

Eltarboitor S3-St-cmbannfOarer Dr.Bobaeabnrs cad Dr. Bcdolpbi. lotstaror trat

in Ofctofcor 1944 daa Fflhrcrbild celaoa Dieaotcisaora nit^XSIasea.
. ;,;V..

'

Vco Act
'

iolfflDcaaa, aollEndlscaea cad lBeBJor^chea 8S two 2/j^«oj Baas,

uekaftca dcrob nnelocblicbe Mean- cad BetroeraanCver tbo? aa^blicbo Spqrtfcurao.

nad dor/rlelcboa nit Cesalt horoiaffoprcBt verden. Ebo dio Lento olcba Tercahea -

nocb bovor olo oincafclcldot varea - rarca alo doxch blosao Aasraaeabait -bei oiae;

Voreidl/rca/raaat alt vereidist cad enrdea In Tollo der tfeigcroas ela fabaeaflticb-

tig bobaadelt odor vegea GahorcaasTenroicercaff cebEnt Oder bosteafalla orsebcaiiei

*if otreafl derartiffo Dia^ <^baadbabt vnrden, orhollt s.B.ana dor *atcacbo ,
.

daB

aablroicbo caaa jedae Jcceadlicbo icffohSrl^ dor 7affea S3.
:
lodielicb deacesca

eracbesaea vordea alnd, ceil sia oinea raceradca vea ccosea la der. Stallpgtad

&a dlo Eoao «fa3t babea. . Diooer Bofchl car *brdca£ aacb acr doa ecrla^atea^a--

seicbesa eiacr porversea Boiffurs wrdo allea Jneebcricen der Torleaea cad car.

von HiralezVaelbat catorcaicbaot.-Tacscado vca Eitlorjcagca aiad acf
.
diooelbo ••

relflb. vio oSca crv&batcn AcalSndor gc^ea ibrea Villea la dio S3 (pprcasi vcrdea.

Baa Cloccbo gilt fur dlo acf Eitlero cad Biaalcra Befell in dio S3 eopraaatea la-

fiobBrlcca andaror robraaebtctollo, . iacboccaderedor Icftraffo cad der Earls*. Bs-

rSro caaa falacb cad cagc^oob^ bocbat naeorocbt, cbao Fruf 2»^^M
Jedea 53-Aa5cbCriG2a fOr dio fcrcbtbarea Yorbrocbca der S3 nitvcraatrsrtlicb ec

Lcbaa srawSllca. Es ccfl bier accb nocb ercUbnt ccrdea,. dnfl riolfacb dio |oli2el

viol Gbler rar ala dio SS. Sia but B.B. boi dor Erfasscas der Jcden^bei ibrcr

Zcaasaeaatollcaff on dea Traaaportea cad bei dor Abliefercas boi Eir=aera SchXacht

bEcsera dio Ubolctoa Eaadlancordicaato goloiotot, obvobl ea dca altea.cad crfaa-.

rcaoa Beaatea cicbor ela Loicbtca cc^eeca rSro, nladooteaa .olaca gro£sa Toil der.

Jcden fcartelsaBlg veracbvladea cc laooea. laaoerdea let ea billicg aa dlcco al-

.tea fforolftea Baaatea, dlo clacoa ncfltea puao Bcobt cad Uarecbt iat,:aadoro la*or-

deroacca cu atolloa, alo an oaroifo Eitlarjcnffoa cad jcaso SS-Locto. Dlo Tataaebo,

dafl Eitaler nlobt nar BoicbcfCbrcr der SS. aoadem gleicbicitls.Cbof flar Bentacbc

Polisoi Tsri wlrd vloifaca laago alebt 'eeac* beracbaiebtict f Dio Blctacbcld.der

Polisel 'an dar roiboncaloaon DcrcbfCbrcaff dor J'cdoaacblaobtoaff let cagoboncr,. -.:

.

acab'vean olo crBBteatoila voa' cicborea Scbrcibti'ocb ana cderaaa dor Ceborffca- :

bolt der" BCroa orfolffto. la dleoor Besiobcaff let weitccbead c^iacbea Gootapo cad

Police! kaca ela TJatoracbiod an eachen. Daa acblicBt aicbt cca, daB caacber Cce-

dars cad Policolbcanto clcb oraatbaft becubt .babca naff, dea Becbt ca dloaea cad .

oolao Pflicbt aacb aolaea Ceriasea, alcbt nocb doa Bacibofeblca ccacnricbtea
j

Baa abor raro oolao Sacbo, dlco an bevolcoa..GrcadaZltBlicb nUBto Jeder Policei-

boanto scaScbot ffoaaa bo aasesoboa vcrdoa, vie Jcder SS.-22aaa.— In noinor Ccb-

acaff la Berlin 1 35, BUtsocatracso 47 I li*ba batto ieb oinen grCCerea .Erclo. .

borihrtcr leldeacohaftlicbcr cad aktiver Jlatlaaslo ca nicb voroanaolt. lob nesat.

bior olaigo Sanaa s
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Eajor Lata Rolfifl a.Zt. Eanhors - Clasurit - Ecrxe.

DicreJrtor aloaaador Seaae, Mo. 1939 ia der easliachea Faroindaatrie, tfttlff,

1944 - 1945 & Eoaato In SD.-Eaft, Jetst Enntnrff Glaacrit - Serke.

Br, Jar. Laadsorichtcrat a.D. Pells Boaa, jnatiabeaatcr dor Ccaeraldiroktiaa

Tolcfcaken, Berlin 1t. Zrar Eitclied dor XBBAP, at>cr eeit 1934 ocharfcr

aktivcr Aatiaaai, to olca ait viel Caoohlck .end Erf0I3 heaGhto, die Partoi

Tca^inaea her aa caraeteen. Eiaar to leideaeahaftlicaatea Eaaaoar dea
.

Jaaitcs

PTarrcr Wchhola, Strafaaataltapfarref da? Anatal* Plbotacaaco. V * - ;> > ^

Buchhola hat taoaeada vca Loctca, dlo van Tol^scricatchef fa.Todo .yercrtail

rarea sun Schaffot odor can Caleea hcffloitet eater aaierea dlo Cffisicra dee

20. Jell 1944. Hater elgaaer Ccfahr hat Bcchhols dio Gefaascnea ait jrahrcasar

telf Kedikaaoatea, Betaa"buas3aittel cad Banchcarea ami. vorccrct.

Fr&aleia Dorothea Scholtcad Fran Aradt, SafcretSriaaea cad Eilfea voa'Piatar

. aienOUer aaa Bahlea cad Bachaa»
.

Er.Eeraoaa Ehiera cad 'ir. • rbho Slsa, Jaataaiaro dor BeisnataieUrcha cad dez

tfledersteadsowsaas BieaSllcr. -

'• :
• /':• »;

*

.

Pfarrer Eochalcky, Vcrtroter la' Ant voa Pfarrcr Eartia.IflenSUer. •

•

ittssordea. ataad la ait fol£eadca Peroccoa eca dor. aatiaatioaalsosiallatioche:

BoTO^cas la eager Fuhlca<j#
t

"\.

Geaeralaaperinteaceat rr. Otto Difcelina, Berlia- Uchterfeldo, BrCderrcs 2
-

a Paailio Pfarrer HienLller, a,St/leoni a.StarahQrccr Sco, Villa Zeycer,
.

Praaoa D.Soch, FChror dor veotfaliachea Bc!ieaataicaircha , Bad- QyaHaaoea

Jrofe33or Froiherr voa Haeaa, TTaivcraita* Ttftiasea. . • : - - ^
'

Pfarrer Eohliafff Easea. Iatherkircho,, fShreadpa Sialic* der rcatf.^Bcaeaa-

aiokircho. *'
. • • v ; '

'
' - '. •>...

'' v\
^faxnT Valpertsa Eaffea, kath, I^ionaircho. r

m .

Pfarrer Otto Vohr^ SaahrflckaaV Chef dor afldwatdaatachea idxchlichca *ider-

ateadahewocaaff* - •

'
'

•

"

Pecrifcaat Barahard J.Gcodccacr, Siceeacatraaao 17» ECachea.
:
; •

.
/•

-•

Btrefctor Praaa Baaorlo, i.Fa.Goedeciier, eheadort, .

Architect u. Schriftatoller Otto TClckero, HOacbea, Stiovesstr. 9t •

Br.ncd.Earhcrt Straah, Arat 9 Sotaiagea, aebst Faailie 9 .- . ^.
paplcrcrofihaadler Eaiaa Behaathau, Berlin - Dahlea f c.Zt. nrcheatalllaafart

hei Ttlhlagea cohat Paailio# >
iile aolaa Ln^tcn ea^prochca la vollca AasaaJj' der rshrhait, 'ich hin air to
aacscrordeatlichoa Ura^oite dieser coiner Anf-aeichcueea Tor Gott cad dar

ceaaatcn Ecaachhoit roll tCTo2t cad achae ca acf aoiaca Sid, dafi aichta voa

allca, raa ich hior aafeosoichaot hahe, erdichtot Oder arfcadca let, aoadera

lilloa 3ich eoaaa co verhi.lt.

£93t Tcrt Gorstoia.
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Appendix II

Kurt Gerstein
His Life, His Death, His "Confessions"

11 August 1905 Birth at Miinster/Westphalia. Father: President of
the Regional Tribunal (died 1954); Mother: nee Schmemann (died
1931).

1911-1919 Father working at Saarbriicken. Kurt attends primary
then secondary school.

1919-1921 Expelled by the French, the father is transferred to Hal-
berstadt in the region of Magdeburg. Kurt continues his studies at

the Gymnasium (high school) there.

1921-1925 Continuation and end of his secondary studies at Neurup-
pin, region of Berlin. Easter 1925, obtains his school leaving
certificate.

1925 Joins the Evangelical Youth Movement and the college bible

circle.

1925-1931 Probationer/trainee in the mines and student at Marburg,
then at Berlin and Aachen (Aix-la-Chapelle), superior technical

schools.

June 1931 Passes the examination for Certificated Engineer (specifi-

cations: mining and chemistry) at Berlin.

1931-1935 Courses of practical instruction in the mines.

2 May 1933 Joins the Nazi party (NSDAP).

October 1933 Recruited into the S.A. (Sturmabteilungen— "Storm
Troopers").

30 January 1935 At the theater in Hagen, Wittekind, a play in the

pagan spirit, is performed for the second anniversary of Hitler 's

rise to power. Gerstein demonstrates his disapproval; he is man-
handled by the Nazis present.
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November 1935 Passes the examination of Bergassessor (Mines

Assistant). Engaged to be married to Elfriede Bensch, daughter of

a pastor.

From May 1936 to 27 September 1936 Employed at the mines in

the Saar, he prepares the "Day of the Miner," which was to be held

30 November 1936. He sends out the invitation forms accompa-

nied by inserts in which there is some talk of train compartments

reserved for mad dogs (!) and contagious people (!). The police

are alerted and search his home where they find seditious pam-

phlets of a religious coloration, ready to be mailed to prominent

persons throughout Germany. He is arrested on 24 September

1936 and imprisoned at Saarbriicken. He is freed during the latter

half of October 1936.

15 October 1936 Expelled from the NSDAP for anti-state activities.

December 1936 Begins his medical studies at Tubingen.

9 February 1937 Loses his job as mines official.

May 1937 Forbidden to speak in public in the territory of the Reich.

31 August 1937 and 2 November 1937 Civil marriage, then reli-

gious marriage to Elfriede Bensch.

From 14 July to 28 August 1938 Second arrest. Interned at the

camp at Welzheim.

September 1938 Opening of an official inquiry for high treason

(involved in an alleged monarchist plot).

October 1938 Proceedings cancelled.

From July 1939 to June 1940 Working with the Soci&e Wintershall

at Merkers/Rhon.

25 October 1939 Birth of his son Arnulf.

From October 1940 Working with the firm of Limon Fluhme & Co

at Diisseldorf, in which his mother's family have an interest.

From March 1941 to May 1941 Joins the SS as a volunteer;

military instruction at Hamburg, Arnhem and Orianenburg.

June 1941 Assignment to Institute of Hygiene of the Waffen SS.

September 1941 Birth of his daughter Adelheid.

1 November 1941 Promoted to Untersturmfuhrer F (second lieuten-

ant specialist.)

January 1942 Appointed head of department "Public Health -

Technical."

8 June 1942 Receives the order to supply prussic acid-based fumi-

gant (Zyklon B) to Belzec concentration camp in Poland.

17, 18, 19, 20 August 1942 Meets the SS General Globocnik at

Lublin. Visits the camps at Belzec and Trcblinka.
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20 August 1942 In the train Warsaw-Berlin, meets Baron von Otter,
a Swedish diplomat stationed at Berlin.

December 1942 Birth of a second son, Olaf.

20 April 1943 Promoted Obersturmfuhrer F (lieutenant specialist)

We have very little exact information on Gerstein's activities in the

SS between September 1942 and March 1945.

End of March 1945 Abandons his post in Berlin and rejoins his

family at Tubingen.

April 1945 A hastily-scrawled paper preserved at LKA reads: Thurs-
day 18 left (gefahren) / Friday 19 Ulm /Saturday 20 1 1 am. (and in

the margin Metzingen) / Sunday 21 To Metzingen / Monday 22
from Metzingen to Rottweil (and in the margin the word "prison"
written in French).

Fleeingfrom the German troops,

he surrenders to the First French Army.

From 26 April to 6 Ma^ 1945 Held at the Hotel Mohren at Rottweil,

he benefits from the status of a privileged prisoner: while there, he
writes his "confessions."

5 May 1945 Meets at the Hotel Mohren two Allied investigators to

whom he gives his "confession" typewritten in French of 26 April

1945 (T II), together with some invoices of the firm DEGESCH
and a brief note in English.

26 May 1945 Taken to Langenargen, near Constance, then to Paris

by the French officers of the O.R.C.G. (War Crimes Investigation

Office).

Until 5 July 1945 Held at the quarters of the O.R.C.G. at 48 rue de
Villejust at Paris, 16.

26 June 1945 Interrogated by Commandant Beckhardt in the offices

of theO.R.C.G.

5 July 1945 Imprisoned at the military prison of Cherche-Midi in

Paris and charged with murder and complicity.

13 July and 19 July 1945 Interrogated by Commandant Mathieu
Mattei, examining magistrate of the 2nd Military Tribunal of Paris.

20 July 1945 Confined to a separate cell.

25 July 1945 Found hanged in his cell.

31 July 1945 Autopsy at the Medico-Legal Insitute by Professor

Piedli&vre; verdict, suicide.

3 August 1945 Buried in the cemetary at Thiais.

7 August 1945 Baron Lagerfelt, diplomat based in London, follow-

ing a recent letter from his friend Baron von Otter, calls the

attention of the British Foreign Office to Gerstein.
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9 October 1945 Professor Ch. Sannie, Director of the Judicial Iden-

tity Service of the Prefecture of Police, certifies: — on the one

hand, that he has had photographed, four copies each, thirteen

documents left by Gerstein on his death;— on the other hand, that

a fourteenth document sent by the Examining Magistrate did not

arrive.

10 October 1945 Commandant Mattei places in two officially-

sealed envelopes: — in one, the original documents; — in other,

the four photographic copies of each.

10 November 1945 The Direction of Military Justice forwards the

complete Gerstein file to Professor Charles Gros, French delegate

at the War Crimes Commission in London; probably forwarded

afterwards to Warsaw to be used by the Poles, the file disappeared

for almost twenty-six years.

January 1946 The "confession," typewritten in French, of 26 April

1945 (T II) is rediscovered in the American archives of the main
trial at Niirnberg under the reference PS-1553. The Americans

pass over this document, which should have been the most sensa-

tional document of the trial, in silence. On the insistence of the

French, use is made only of the Zyklon B invoices which were

attached to the "confession."

June 1948 Gerstein 's widow is informed, for the first time, of her

husband's death. No information of any sort was ever given to her

either on the circumstances of his death or the place of his burial.

1950 The denazification Court of Tubingen refuses to rehabilitate

the Nazi Gerstein.

1951 L6on Poliakov publishes Le Breviaire de la Haine with a

preface by Francois Mauriac. It includes an extract from PS-1553
(T II) tarnished by serious errors and distortions.

April 1953 In Germany, Hans Rothfels published in the magazine
Vierteljahreshefte fur Zeitgeschichte the text of the "confession"

written in German, dated 4 May 1945 (T III.) He warns the reader

that he has made cuts and that he has not copied eight half-pages

of supplements (Ergdnzungen) which, according to him, do not

merit being classified as eyewitness evidence.

1955 Leon Poliakov reprints the text of the German magazine in his

book Das Dritte Reich und die Juden. The translation in French
under the title Le Illme Reich et lesJuifs will appear in 1959. This

translation contains distortions of the original text which cannot
be simple errors of translation.

1960 First republication of Leon Poliakov' s book Le Breviaire de la

Haine. The reproduction in part of PS-1553 (T II) is even less
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faithful than in 1951. The republications of 1974 and 1979 will be
identical to that of 1960.

1961 The Gerstein "confession" in the version PS-1553 (T II) is used
at the Eichmann trial in Jerusalem.

1961 Paul Rassinier publishes Ulysse trahipar les siens. For the first

time, he raises the question of Gerstein's "confession" (PS-1553/T
II), as it seems to him improbable.

1962 The German Protestant Rolf Hochhuth presents a play, Le
Vicaire, in which he attributes an important role to Gerstein and
uses it to attack the attitude which he imputes to the Pope Pius XII
during the Second World War.

1962 Paul Rassinier publishes Le veritable proces Eichmann ou les

vainqueursincorrigibles. For the first time, he energetically takes

issue with L6on Poliakov for the treatment to which he has sub-

jected the texts of Gerstein's "confessions."

1964 Saul Friedlander in his book Pie XII et le IHme Reich uses the

evidence of Gerstein against the Vatican.

1964 Paul Rassinier, in his book Le Drome des Juifs europeens,

compares two very different reproductions of PS-1553 (T II)

offered to his readers by L6on Poliakov.

1964 Helmut Franz publishes a book in Germany on Kurt Gerstein,

who was his friend.

1965 Paul Rassinier, in his bookL Operation "Vicaire" states once
more that Gerstein's account is incredible.

1965 The Minister-President of Baden-Wurttenberg and future Ger-

man Chancellor, Kurt Kiesinger, has Gerstein rehabilitated.

1967 Saul Friedlander publishes Kurt Gerstein ou Vambiguite du
Bien.

1969 Pierre Joffroy publishes LEspion de Dieu I La Passion de Kurt

Gerstein.

3 August 1971 The French Minister of Foreign Affairs returns the

Gerstein file, finally rediscovered after having disappeared in

November 1945, to the Direction of Military Justice. It is incom-

plete: the two officially-sealed envelopes containing the docu-

ments found after Gerstein's death are inexplicably missing.

21 February 1979 The newspaper Le Monde publishes a declara-

tion, signed by thirty-four historians, on the Hitler policy of exter-

mination. The authors of the declaration, Leon Poliakov and Pi-

erre Vidal-Naquet, include in it an extract of Gerstein's evidence

from the version PS-1553 (T II).

8 March 1979 Leon Poliakov and Pierre Vidal-Naquet reply to
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readers in Le Monde; these readers had written to the paper after

the publication of the declaration of 21 February to express their

astonishment that, according to the Gerstein "report," seven to

eight hundred persons were crammed into a gas chamber at Belzec

with an area of twenty-five square meters. The two historians

recall that they believe the Gerstein account as "indisputable as to

the essentials"; in consequence one can, according to them, debate

certain details [sic] of the "report." They consider moreover that

the mistakes of the SS officer are easily explained, for the follow-

ing two reasons: exactness in matters of figures was not his

predominant characteristic (which causes some surprise in the

case of an engineer); and his visit to Belzec in August 1942 had

distressed him to such an extent that even by April-May 1945 he

had never recovered his spirits.

September 1982 In thecollection "Que sais-je?," Francis de Fon-
tette publishes Histoire de Vantisemitisme. He reproduces forty-

three and a half lines of Gerstein's account in the version dated 4
May 1945 (T HI). In the middle of the reproduction, an amputa-
tion of thirty-five lines even omits the gassing operation.

1983 In Germany, a book of 350 pages appears, entitled N.S. Mas-
sentdtungen durch Giftgas, of which pages 171 to 174 are devoted
to the "Gerstein-Bericht" (Gerstein report). The author of these

three pages is the Israeli Yitzhak Arad, the book was edited by
Eugen Kogon, Hermann Langbein and Adalbert Riickerl. A partial

reproduction ofTm is presented, to the total of forty-seven lines,

interrupted at four places by ellipsis points, which eliminate sixty-

six lines and at the same time a large number of improbabilities.

The description of the gassing is absent from the book; thus

readers have no knowledge of it; they are confronted with what
one could call a "pious cut."
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Postscript I

The Pfannenstiel Case:

A Reticent Witness but

"Co-operative As to Essentials"

Henri Roques

One of the many documents of the United Nations War Crimes
Commission of the year 1945 contains a list of the principal crimi-

nals sought by the French delegation. The names of seven "war
criminals" feature on the document, as follows:— Hitler, Adolf
— Himmler, Heinrich

— Eickmann, [sic], senior official of the R.SJLA.
— Gunther, SS Sturmbannfuhrer — employed by the R.S.H.A.
— Pfannenstiel — SS Obersturmbannfiihrer — held the chair of

higeine [sic] at the University of Marburg
— Linden, Herbert, Dr.— Counsellor to the Ministry of the Interior

— Grawitz, Dr.— SS Gruppenfiihrer, President of the German Red
Cross.

Pfannenstiel, who features in fifth place on the list, owes this

totally unexpected and completely unjustified honor to Kurt Ger-

stein, who actually mentions him in his "confessions" along with

those of Gunther, Linden and Grawitz. Similarly, Gerstein mentions

Eichmann's name (Gerstein spells the name Eickmann.)

Gerstein 's mention of the names in his "confessions" is the sole

reason why the French investigators were interested in such other-

wise obscure persons as Gunther, Linden, and Pfannenstiel. The odd
composition of this list of "war criminals" leaves one perplexed as to

the seriousness of those who drew it up. What is the quite inoffensive

Professor Pfannenstiel doing there, except that by chance he had the

misfortune to accompany Gerstein when the latter journeyed to

Lublin and who, according to the story of this same Gerstein, might

have been present (also by chance) at a gassing of human beings?
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Wilhelm Pfannenstiel was bom in Breslau on February 12, 1890.

Professor of Hygiene at the University of Marburg/Lahn from 1930

to 1945, he died at Marburg on November 1, 1982 after a life marked
by many untoward accidents.

Pfannenstiel, a doctor and major in the Wehrmacht reserve, was
from 1937 on the chief surgeon of the SS. At the end of 1939, he was
appointed Hygiene Counsellor to the Waffen SS and confirmed in his

rank of Sturmbannfuhrer (Major.) He was subsequently promoted to

Obersturmbannfuhrer (Lt. Col.). In his capacity as inspector of sani-

tary installations, he traveled a great deal during the war; in Poland,

in the Balkans, in Norway and in France.

Dr. Pfannenstiel traveled to Lublin, in Poland for the first time on
August 17, 1942. Not having a car available for the journey from
Berlin, he accepted a lift in Gerstein's vehicle; Gerstein, in his

"confessions," claims he was ordered to deliver a quantity of hydro-
cyanic acid to the Belzec camp, not far from Lublin.

Pfannenstiel, commenting on Gerstein's mission, stated on No-
vember 9, 1959: "Gerstein was ordered by Globocnik to work on the

disinfection of large quantities of clothing in storage at Belzec."
The duty assigned to Gerstein by Globocnik was not in the least

surprising, since disinfection of the camps was among Gerstein'

s

duties (he was attached to the Hygiene Institute of the Waffen SS).
Did Gerstein actually carry out the order on disinfection? He says
nothing further about it in his "confessions."

What was the purpose of Pfannenstiel's trip? According to his

evidence before the German court, on November 9, 1959, his mis-
sion was to improve the supply of drinking water at Lublin and to

improve the disposal of waste water.

In the matter of hygiene, Poland was a country very much behind
the times; and the Germans feared the outbreak of epidemics all the

more because they had set up near Lublin a vast concentration camp
which was initially deficient in sanitary facilities.

On August 18, 1942, Dr. Pfannenstiel was still accompanied by
Gerstein and, according to the latter, he was invited to attend the

"ultra secret" gassing operations. But why was Pfannenstiel threat-

ened with execution if he should reveal what he had seen when it

would have sufficed, in order to preserve the secret of the operations,

simply not to invite him at all?

Pfannenstiel was the only known surviving witness of the ma-
cabre history recounted by Gerstein. Thus, even though his role was
only that of a spectator, his evidence is of capital importance.

The years passed, and the Belzec episode seemed to have been
forgotten. In October 1944, Pfannenstiel was assigned to the Sixth

Army as medical adviser in hygiene. In December, 1944 he partici-

300



pated in the Ardennes offensive; then he was sent to the Hungarian
front. At the end of the war he was taken prisoner in Austria by the
Americans. A surprise awaited him. .

.

As we mentioned earlier, Pfannenstiel was featured in the fifth

place on the French list of war criminals published by the UNWCC.
Therefore, Allied investigators began to busy themselves with Pfan-
nenstiel and interrogated him, founding their accusations on the
"revelations" by Gerstein. At this time, Pfannenstiel was interned at

Darmstadt. At first he denied everything: this story was absurd and
he had never been present at the gassing ofhuman beings. At his first

interrogation in 1947, he acknowledged having gone to Lublin with
Gerstein, which seemed to him quite harmless. In answer to the
question: "Do you know the camp at Belzec?" he replied that he had
heard of it. As far as the Treblinka camp was concerned, he knew
nothing of it; he did not even recognize the name. "Were you present
at an extermination?" "What extermination?" asked Pfannenstiel.
And he replied with an energetic "No!"

But Pfannenstiel quickly recognized that by doing so he had
adopted a very fragile line of defense. If he did not want to be
delivered to the Poles, as so many others had been, and end his life

on the gallows, he had to cooperate, in his own best interests, with
the Allied investigators and their German aides.

In the report of the interrogation of October 30, 1947, one can find
a strange comment by the judge charged with the inquiry. When
Pfannenstiel acknowledged his journey to Lublin and then declared
his ignorance as to the applications for hydrocyanic acid, the judge
stated to him bluntly: "The beginning of your story is good, but
afterwards it is bad. Do you wish to revise your story?" It is difficult

to show more clearly that correct replies were not expected from
Pfannenstiel but merely comments that would confirm Gerstein'

s

allegations.

Here are Pfannenstiel's own words describing his misfortunes on
the February 9, 1951 at Marburg before the State Prosecutor, a
certain Straube:

Until the end of June 1947, 1 was kept prisoner in various camps, the last

being the Garmisch camp. It was there that, as a political detainee by order of
the Americans, I was sent to set up a medical service, but with the threat of
automatic rearrest. I stayed there until September 1948. 1 was on the point of
being released; from what I learned during an interview with the President of
the denazification court, my case was going well. Then came a demand from
the head of the Hesse office of health [Professor von Drygalski] to have my
case transferred to the denazification court of Hesse, where further charges
were outstanding against me. So then I was transferred to the camp at

Darmstadt where I was kept in preventive detention, awaiting the proceedings
of the denazification court. .

.
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At length, the judicial proceedings against Dr. Pfannenstiel were

abandoned. The court acknowledged that Gerstein had "exagger-

ated" in his statements on the subject of Pfannenstiel. But Pfannenst-

iel had lost six years of his life because of the dubious Gerstein

"evidence"!

On June 6, 1950, during a new interrogation, Pfannenstiel finally

gave replies that were completely "satisfactory," precisely the re-

plies that had been awaited from him. To be sure, this was the reason

why he was liberated five weeks later, on 12 July, after which date he

was no longer considered to be a war criminal.

The fate of Pfannenstiel is comparable to that suffered by many of

his compatriots in postwar Germany, the victims of a demented and

tragic purge. If his case is exceptional, it is because Gerstein'

s

extravagant story had made him an "exceptional" witness of the gas

extermination at the Belzec camp.

Rare are those Germans who endured without injury the anxieties

and persecutions inflicted with an almost religious ardor by the

"conquering judges" of 1945. Pfannenstiel was one of the victims.

He had a wife and five children (still very young) to care for. He was
no longer a young man, he was fifty-five years of age at the end of the

war. What can a man do at that age except seek a compromise with

the devil? For Pfannenstiel, it was evidently far better to try and start

practising his profession again rather than to rot in prison for years

on end. He was a man under threat; he had been a well-known
member of the SS; and the fact of his having belonged only to the

scientific branch of the "Black Order" did not guarantee him absolu-

tion: quite the contrary. We have to add that he was also accused of

having been a participant more or less in Dr. Rascher's experiments

on the resistance to low temperatures made on the detainees at

Dachau. He defended himself successfully but, whether true or false,

the accusations could have had very serious consequences for him.

Thus, in regard to Gerstein and Belzec, he preferred to admit

whatever was required of him: yes, he was present with Gerstein at

the gassing of a convoy of Jews at the Belzec camp: "Several

wagons," he said, "were shunted into the camp, in which there were

about 500 Jews, men, women, and children." (Interrogation of No-
vember 9, 1959).

Gerstein, we should recall, had alleged that there were 45 wagons
and they contained 6,700 persons.

Pfannenstiel stated that the Jews were taken to an establishment

comprising six gas-chambers, of which only four were used, with an

average of 125 persons per chamber. After completion of the gassing

the corpses were thrown, according to Pfannenstiel' s words, into a

large ditch where they were burned (which could not have been very
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easy to effect!). Let us add that Gerstein's own story does not
mention this incineration but says that the bodies were merely cov-
ered with a light layer of 10 centimeters of sand, which is equally
improbable.

Pfannenstiel denied having made certain remarks at Belzec that

were generously attributed to him by Gerstein and for which he was
later accused by the denazifies: he had not said that the Jews
crowded into the gas-chambers "wept as though in the synagogue."
Contrary to what was alleged by Gerstein, he affirmed that he never
encouraged the SS, either at Belzec or at Treblinka, to pursue their

"useful" work, nor did he evoke the "beauty" of the labour they had
undertaken.

Pfannenstiel believed that Gerstein's account was full of errors

and improbabilities. Thus, the figures of 25 million victims gassed,
as alleged by the visionary, seemed to him obviously fantastic.

A hesitant and reticent witness, Pfannenstiel often gives the im-
pression of not being very sure of himself. He recites the lesson
taught him by the accusers badly. He contradicts himself, his mem-
ory fails...

Nevertheless, on the many occasions he was called as a witness at

the trials of the camp guards, he tried not to implicate the accused. In
July 1960, at the trial of a Belzec guard, Josef Oberhauser, he
declared: "In all conscience, I have not seen the accused, either at

Belzec or elsewhere. In any case, he is not the head of the supervi-
sory guards...the latter differed considerably in his looks and his

manner..."

Was he trying to save a companion in misfortune, or was he
simply telling the truth? And how could he remember a face seen
only once more than eighteen years before?

Pfannenstiel was considered to be a "providential" witness by the
Allied tribunals and then by the German tribunals: he was a witness
in the trial of the I.G. Farben executives on 30 October 1947, at

Oberhauser's trial in Munich in 1960, at Hamburg in 1963, at Frank-
furt-am-Main in 1966...In 1970 (at the age of eighty) he made a last

deposition before the tribunal at Marburg.
Poor judges! If they constantly appealed to him and listened to

him with so much patience, it was because his evidence, even though
thin and proving little and of very doubtful spontaneity, confirmed
once more "as to the essentials," the existence, albeit ephemeral, of
the homicidal gas-chambers. Was the prosecution then, so short of
witnesses on this aspect of the crime they so strongly denounced?
To believe Pfannenstiel, the gassings were limited to deplorable

local and personal initiatives undertaken against a small number of
detainees. If, in some camps, ingenious brutes undertook gassings, it
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was because there did not exist any order from the authorities

prohibiting such operations. In support of his statements, he recounts

that after his visit to Belzec, he told Professor Dr. Grawitz (chief

doctor of the SS) of what he had seen. Grawitz, outraged, stated that

he would put an immediate stop to these gassings. Pfannenstiel

declared that this was done as of November 1942, once and for all.

While far from being clear, this version of events cannot be

rejected without examination: it defies the laws of probability less

than the "confessions" written at Rottweil by a psychopath, religious

fanatic and mystrficator. Pfannenstiel's version is, furthermore, used

increasingly to prove that Gerstein had written the truth "as to the

essentials." Deceptively, one is led to believe that if the undoubted

Nazi Pfannenstiel was obliged to admit the ocurrence of homicidal

gassings, even though limited, it is because they truly took place. It is

admitted that Gerstein gave highly improbable figures, that was his

character to exaggerate, that he was not an adept at arithmetic

(applied to an engineer, this argument is somewhat suprising!), and

that he was deeply upset by his visit to Belzec. As for Pfannenstiel,

he did not want to admit the whole truth of the homicidal gassings,

the existence of which he confirms, but which were much more

extensive than he wants to be known. Truly, in spite of himself,

Pfannenstiel had rendered immense services to his adversaries. They

needed an honorable and level headed man to "confirm," even

though very sparingly, Gerstein's exaggerated account. And Pfan-

nenstiel was that man!

Gerstein, Wirth, Globocnik and Gunther all died in 1944 or 1945.

But Pfannenstiel, the last witness, survived for a long time. He was

even able to regain a worthy place in his society. The Federal

Republic loaded him with titles and honors which were probably

merited but nevertheless suprising for a personage who had been a

senior official of the SS and whom the Allies listed as the fifth man

on a list of Nazi "war criminals."

Was Pfannenstiel's success in the Federal Republic the recom-

pense he was paid in gratitude for his "docility"? We believe so.

Transformed into a permanent witness to the gas-chambers, per-

haps Pfannenstiel grew weary of the role he was asked to play; so

much is indicated in a letter he wrote to the French historian Paul

Rassinier on August 3, 1963. In his letter he deplores that the

mention of his name should have "on many occasions caused com-

pletely unjustified interpretations which are not only false but which

have also caused me many injuries." And he adds: "I insist at all

costs in avoiding any recurrence of a public debate concerning me

personally, which could give rise to new negative interpretations and

aspersions on the part of scandal-mongers."
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His desire for tranquility can be excused: in 1963, he was 73 years
of age.

Recently, we wrote to Frau Pfannenstiel to ask her what should
truly be believed of the repetitious evidence submitted by her hus-
band and which seemed partly to authenticate the affirmations by
Gerstein. Her reply was brief: she wished to be left in peace in regard
to this story which had troubled the lives of her husband and herself

for so many years....

Such an attitude is perfectly understandable, but is such as to

discourage the historian who seeks, if not the unattainable truth, then
at least a plausible explanation.

Footnote

A true (or false) witness of the gas-chambers who met Paul
Rassinier in 1963.

As a foot-note to a study of the Pfannenstiel case, it seems appro-
priate to recall a strange story of 1963, which Paul Rassinier recounts
in his book The Drama ofEuropean Jews,

It has to be remembered that Rassinier did not believe in the
existence of massive extermination in the gas-chambers, methodi-
cally organized by leaders of the Third Reich. But he admitted to the

possibility of individual initiatives taken, at one place or another, by
a few madmen. Thus he sought, throughout the whole of Europe, a
single proof or a single witness to such gassings. In vain. And this

honest historian, himself a former deportee at Dora and Buchenwald,
concluded by totally denying any homicidal gassings whatsoever.

In June 1963, however, he received at his home at Asnieres, near
Paris, a strange visit. A man arrived: he said he was a patriotic Ger-
man, an admirer of Rassinier 's books; but he had decided to put the

French historian on his guard against the temptation to deny all and
every extermination by gas. "I was at Belzec with Gerstein; I was be-

hind him when he entered Globocnik's office," declared the mysteri-

ous visitor, who made Rassinier promise not to reveal his identity.

Rassinier listened to this German, who gave him a version of the

Gerstein story very similar to that of Pfannenstiel. Moreover, it was
manifest that the visitor was trying to identify himself with Pfannen-
stiel. "He seemed to be about sixty years of age," Rassinier told us,

"but I learned during the conversation that he was very much older."

(Pfannenstiel, at that time, it should be noted, was actually seventy-

three); he had had a high rank in the SS by virtue of his position in an
important public service requisitioned during the war (as occupant of

the chair of Hygiene at the University of Marburg, Pfannenstiel had
been inducted into the SS and attained the rank of Obersturm-
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bannfuhrer, i.e., Lieutenant Colonel.) In 1945, he had escaped being

tried before the Numberg Tribunal and at that time had five small

children who needed their father to look after them and attend to

their education... all of which were exactly the circumstances of

Professor Pfannenstiel.

Was this unexpected visitor Pfannenstiel? In France, Georges

Wellers and Pierre Vidal-Naquet have affirmed that he was; and we

ourselves believed it to be so for some time; until the day our

researches led us to discover two letters from Pfannenstiel to Rassinier

,

one dated August 3, 1963 and the other September 18, 1963, transla-

tions of which appear below.

We have mentioned earlier the letter of August 3, an astonishing

letter, from which we have already quoted an extract, but in which

one can also read the following lines:

. . J shall be very happy to meet you personally. (Emphasis added.) At that

time, I shall willingly describe to you the impression made upon me by Kurt

Gerstein.

Your suppositions in regard to the origin of his report, which really is a

highly incredible fabrication in which the story is completely beyond belief,

as well as the circumstances of his death, all seem— equally, in my opinion

— to be suppositions well justified.

Accordingly, it is proved that Pfannenstiel did not call at Rassinier 's

house in June 1963, since Pfannenstiel states on August 3 of that

same year that he will be pleased to meet Rassinier personally.

Furthermore, Pfannenstiel confirms ("as to essentials," we are

tempted to say) Rassinier 's suppositions on the subject of Gerstein

and Gerstein's fanciful story.

Now, what was the French historian's thinking in regard to this

subject at that time? For Rassinier, the Gerstein "report" was either a

fiction, or the work of a lunatic, which every person possessing the

minimum ofcommon sense must reject totally. As to the SS officer's

death, Rassinier believed it suspect and certainly had difficulty in

believing it was suicide.

In his letter, Pfannenstiel seems to have spoken from the heart; he

has travelled a long way from the obligatory witness he perforce had

to be during the numerous interrogations to which he was submitted

during the years from 1947 to 1970.

The second Pfannenstiel letter to Rassinier bears the date of

September 18, 1963 and is handwritten. It contains information of a

practical nature to enable Rassinier to go and visit him at Marburg

before September 27.

What did these two men say to each other? We do not know. We
can; however, believe that Pfannenstiel would hardly have been able

to say anything different from that which had facilitated his release
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on July 12, 1950 and which had enabled him to preserve a relative

tranquility since that date, on the imperative condition that he not
alter his statements. As for Rassinier, who had instigated this meet-
ing, he was able to confirm that his visitor in June had not been the
same person as his interlocutor of September of 1963.

So who, then, was the unknown visitor who had presented himself
to Paul Rassinier in the troubled guise of the professor from Mar-
burg? By whom, and for what reason, was he sent? We shall proba-
bly never know.

We should make clear that Rassinier had not made any detailed

research of the Gerstein affair. He did not then have available, as we
do, the texts of the six versions of Gerstein's story, nor did he have
anything more than the reports of Pfannenstiel' s successive interro-

gations.

For Rassinier, it was therefore not clear that his mysterious visitor

was trying to identify himself as the professor from Marburg. It was
merely Rassinier 's intuition which guided him.

Pfannenstiel only agreed to receive Rassinier at his home in

September 1963 on condition that the meeting would not be men-
tioned by the historian in any of his works.

The honorable Rassinier promised and, naturally, he kept his

promise.

Translation of letter from Professor Wilhelm Pfannenstiel to M. Paul
Rassinier dated August 3, 1963.

Dear Monsieur Rassinier,

I acknowledge with thanks the receipt of your letter of July 29,
1963.

As our mutual friend Grabert has already informed you, I shall be
very happy to meet you personally. At that time, I shall willingly

describe to you the impression made on me by Kurt Gerstein.

Your suppositions in regard to the origin of his report, which
really is a highly incredible fabrication in which the story is com-
pletely beyond belief, as well as the circumstances of his death, all

seem— equally, in my opinion— to be suppositions well justified.

In light of the fact that the involvement of my name in this

trumpery has on many occasions aroused completely unjustified

interpretations which are not only false but which have also caused
me many injuries, you will understand that I insist at all costs in

avoiding any recurrence of a public debate concerning me personally

which could give rise to new negative interpretations and aspersions

on the part of scandalmongers.

For these reasons, I shall be especially grateful to you for your
guarantee to treat my evidence with the maximum of discretion.
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It is true that I still continue to be often away on travel. Unfortu-

nately, there is no particular occasion in the near future for me to

travel to Paris or nearby to that magnificent city, which I visited for

the first time in November of last year.

If you should have an opportunity to come to Marburg, a visit

from you would be most welcome. From mid-August to the end of

September I shall be at home most of the time.

Kindly write to me what approximate time I might be able to

expect you here. We could then finalize an exact date for a meeting.

Sincere regards...

(signed) Wilhelm Pfannenstiel

Translation of letter from Professor Wilhelm Pfannenstiel to M.

Paul Rassinier dated September 18, 1963.

Dear Monsieur Rassinier,

I am replying by return mail to your kind letter of September 18,
3

to inform you that I shall be in Marburg from today until 27 Septem-

ber.

If therefore you wish to meet me on a weekday during this period,

you are welcome.

Your train leaves Frankfurt at 15:31 and arrives at Marburg at

16:52. 1 shall await you at the central gate on whichever day you say

is most convenient for you.

Should I reserve a room for the night or will you be returning the

same evening?

I look forward with pleasure to making your acquaintance.

Sincere regards...

(signed) Wilhelm Pfannenstiel

Footnotes to Postscript I

1. Henri Roques' examination of the "confessions" of Kurt Gerstein, the most im-

portant "eyewitness" to alleged homicidal gassings during the Third Reich, will

be available from IHR in English this summer.

2. From page 10

3. Evidently, a slight error of date.
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Postscript II

Von Otter,
or the Prudence of a Diplomat

Henri Roques
After his brief visits to Belzec and Treblinka, on the evening of 20

August 1942, Gerstein took the train from Warsaw to Berlin. It was
then that he engaged in conversation with a stranger who, as the train

inspector had probably told him, was a Swedish diplomat, the Baron

Goran von Otter, secretary ot the Swedish Legation in Berlin.

With extreme nervousness, as von Otter later said, Gerstein imme-
diately told him his confidential affairs. In a loud voice, and without

taking the slightest precaution, he recounts what he says he has seen

at the Belzec camp: the extermination en masse of men, women, and

children. He weeps; he hides his face in his hands; he is at the apex of

a nervous crisis which seems to disquiet rather than to convince von

Otter.

Is Gerstein aware of this mistrust? Is he not frightened of not being

taken seriously, or, worse, being considered an agent provocateur?

Repeatedly, he gives as a reference the name of Dr. Otto Dibelius, a

friend of Pastor Martin Niemoller, who is the head of the Protestant

opposition to Nazism. It would be sufficient proof for the baron,

Gerstein tells him, to go to the address he had indicated and then Dr.

Dibelius, whom he knows well, will give the baron the most favor-

able references regarding Gerstein...

But before everything else, von Otter should alert his government

straightaway and denounce the incredible crimes being committed in

the concentration camps against the enemies of Germany. To put an

end to these horrors, an international scandal must be provoked.

Gerstein insists and he pleads, and all this lasts several hours of a

summer's night in a train corridor, since he had, like von Otter, been

unable to find an available sleeping-berth.

Is von Otter surprised? He does not seem to be, for on 21 Decem-
ber 1966, that is to say more than twenty-one years after the end of

the war, the diplomat, who was then stationed in London, stated to

Pierre Joffroy, the author of a hagiography mentioned earlier: "I was

at that time very prudent. I was careful of agitators. . .The revelations

(of Gerstein) were on the whole the same as the rumors that I had

heard about the massacres." L'Espion de Dieu (God's Spy, p. 17.)
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Von Otter's evidence, as quoted by Pierre Joffroy, is very impre-

cise. While reading it, one acquires the impression that von Otter

retained only a vague memory of his long conversation with Ger-

stein. At no point does von Otter mention the name of Belzec. Did he

forget it? He said that an SS officer had told him of "a dreadful thing:

how the convoy arrived; how they lined up in a queue in front of the

gas-chamber" (op. cit. p. 16). Were these people not simply lining up
in front of a disinfection chamber for the clothing they had taken off?

Von Otter continued: "He probably also spoke of the gas he had
delivered, of the sabotage he had made." One has to remark the

adverb "probably."

The Gerstein story does not seem to have been recalled by the

Swedish diplomat between 1942 and 1966...

Von Otter even adds that in the autumn of 1942 he met by chance,

at the Swedish church in Berlin, Dr. Otto Dibelius, the dignitary

given as reference by Gerstein. The Swedish diplomat tells us he did

not think it worthwhile to inform Dibelius of his unusual meeting of

the previous August in the Warsaw-Berlin express; he stated later to

Pierre Joffroy, in order to justify his "discretion," that he had already

been convinced by Gerstein's story...

"War rumors" ofthe most absurd and least verifiable kind abounded
in all the countries of Europe at this time of folly. The Anglo-

American propaganda forces, among others, did not hesitate to tell

any lie to discredit the enemy; and they frequently gave proof of their

imagination and expertise.

In this line, they demonstrated their efficiency notably by distrib-

uting in Germany a letter which was alleged to have been sent to a

Catholic priest in Stettin by Colonel Werner Molders, a German
fighter-pilot hero, some days before his accidental death on 22
November 1941. In this alleged letter, Molders, with a pretended

moderation which makes the letter's contents even more persuasive

and realistic, shows himself as a propagator of defeatism and a

defender of Christian ideals against Hitlerian paganism. This letter

was a masterpiece of composition and had great repercussions

throughout Germany in 1942. Protests and official denials achieved

nothing: everyone believed in the genuineness of the letter attributed

to Molders until the day, long after the war, when Sefton Delmer
revealed that he was the author. Who, then, was Sefton Delmer? He
was a British journalist of Australian origin and the director of the

"Section for Psychological Warfare in Germany." He knew the Ger-

man language perfectly, having learned it in Berlin, where he had
lived for many years.

The atrocities campaign had also played its part in psychological

warefare: the enemy, in the eyes of public opinion, must appear as a
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monster. Already, in the war of 1914-1918, the fable of the Belgian
children with their hands cut off by the Teutonic barbarians had had
its hour of glory and provoked storms of indignation! From 1939 on,

the Allies recommenced their practices of the previous war.

Unquestionably, von Otter was aware of all this, and this explains

the skepticism with which he treated the "revelations" of Gerstein.

However, as a conscientious diplomat, and perhaps impressed that

his "confidant" was an SS officer, he informed his superiors. But the

Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs did not consider it appropriate

to take any action.

Was von Otter's report written or oral? This important point has
only been settled very recently. Over the years, it has been possible

to read in books and in the press that von Otter sent a report to the

ministry in Stockholm. Friedlander and Joffroy, among others, were
positive on this point in their writings. More recently, Walter Laqueur
acknowledged that he had not found any written report in the ar-

chives in Stockholm.

It was only in March 1983 that the question was clearly put to von
Otter, during a TV programme by the French historian Alain Decaux.
Let us quote the text of the interview, as it can be read in Alain De-
caux's book LHistoire en Question - 2 (The History in Question - 2)

"AD: Did you inform your government (of Gerstein's revelations)?

Did you do so verbally or in writing?

VO: Well, I returned to my legation in Berlin and, before everything

else, I had begun to make a report the next day because I was
naturally quite upset by my experience. I made my report to the

Ambassador in fair detail, and asked him whether I should make a
written report. He then told me that I did not need to make a written

report, but that I should report these events during a visit to Stock-
holm, which I made some weeks later.

AD: And the Swedish government has not kept any record of your
oral report at that time?

VO: No, no.

AD: Did you afterwards make a written report?

VO: No, no.

AD: Never?
VO: No. According to my recollection, I never made a report or even
a memorandum on this episode. And I have often asked myself why.
And I believe it was becasue I had had knowledge at that time that

the same things had been reported by our consul at Stettin and, by a

strange coincidence, his written report arrived at our embassy in

Berlin the same day I met Gerstein. The report of the consul at Stettin

is in the archives at Stockholm."

We have photocopies of the relevant Stockholm archives in which
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the report of the consul in Stettin is included. The complete report is

rather long and contains only a short paragraph on information

received according to which 40,000 Jews were gassed in the course

of a delousing in the region of Lublin. No other details are given.

Manifestly, the consul in Stettin restricted himself to reporting a

persistent but unverfiable rumor. The Swedish archives prove that

Baron von Otter, probably little convinced himself, did not succeed

in convincing his superiors of the exceptional importance of the

information furnished by the Obersturmbannfiihrer. Perhaps it was

thought in Stockholm that Gerstein had been manipulated and, ac-

cording to the well-tried ruse, was "spreading false information in

order to discover who was honest."

But these same Swedish archives prove that von Otter after the

war would not have spoken of his conversations with Gerstein if he

had not been insistently requested to do so by one of his colleagues

stationed in London in 1945.

This colleague, Baron Lagerfelt, who was also von Otter 's per-

sonal friend, had been informed by the War Crimes Commission

attached to the United Nations that there existed a Gerstein report in

which von Otter was cited as a principal witness.

Von Otter, at the time stationed in Helsinki, was pressed by his

friend to confirm urgently the essentials of what Gerstein had written

in his report. Von Otter did so during the last days of July 1945. In

these circumstances, Lagerfelt was able to compose an aide-memoire

dated 7 August 1945. 1 This document confirms Gerstein's conversa-

tions with "a foreign diplomat of a neutral country" stationed in

Berlin. It is not without interest to note that in his aide-memoire the

name of the Swedish diplomat does not appear and neither does the

name of the neutral country. "Diplomatic prudence" is not an expres-

sion devoid of meaning!

In effect, von Otter seems above all to have been disturbed by

Gerstein's extravagant behavior in the corridor of the train from

Warsaw to Berlin. We know from the confidences made by von Otter

to those who questioned him after 1945 that the diplomat did not

seek to encounter the SS officer again although he had his Berlin

address. It was Gerstein who went prowling around the neighbor-

hood of the Swedish legation in Berlin in the hope of meeting von

Otter again. One day, he did find him, in a street near the legation.

Von Otter has described how his interlocutor was in an agitated state

bordering on nervous collapse. "He was hardly in a condition to

formulate a sentence," von Otter said.

Gerstein wanted to know whether the Swedish government had

been informed and what von Otter thought might happen as a result

of these revelations. With a few calming words, von Otter got rid of
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him and the strange Obersturmbannfiihrer disappeared, without of-

fering anything new.

In this regard a contradiction, perhaps a minor but nevertheless

significant, appears between Gerstein's statements and those of von
Otter. In the versions II, III, V, and VI of his "confessions" Gerstein

alleges that he saw the Swedish diplomat again twice. Von Otter

recalls having met Gerstein only once (according to his statement of

29 May 1981 before the Paris tribunal). Was the third interview

merely imagined by Gerstein to reinforce the dramatic intensity of

his story?

Should we consider von Otter as a principal witness attesting the

truthfulness of Gerstein's story? One would have us believe so, but

the reality seems quite different.

In 1942, the young Swedish diplomat stationed at Berlin was ac-

customed to hearing all sorts of war rumors: von Otter was therefore

incredulous and little inclined to re-encounter this singular officer

whose behavior disquieted

During the months which followed the German capitulation, the

Allied propaganda machine went full blast and had for almost its

only theme the atrocities, true or imagined, in the Nazi concentration

camps. Von Otter was requested to contribute to this campaign by
confirming the truth of the Gerstein story. The Swede complied with

a good grace while at the same time bearing some sort of witness to

the "good SS" he had known who could, at that time, find themselves

in a difficult position.

In effect, we can read in the aide-memoire of 7 August 1945: "His

sorrow and indignation at the actions perpetrated in the extermina-

tion camps seemed to be as genuine as they were profound; and his

wish to share his knowledge with the outside world in such a way as

to enable them to be halted appeared sufficiently sincere." One
notices the use of the limiting "seemed" and "appeared" to describe

Gerstein's attitude. Diplomatic language is full of nuances...

After the rehabilitation of the Obersturmbannfuhrer in 1965, von
Otter was pursued at his various diplomatic postings by the biogra-

phers of Gerstein, and then by the journalists; ultimately, his evi-

dence was requested by various tribunals.

It is not impossible that the Swedish diplomat may have been

gradually seized by remorse. He had met "God's Spy" and had not

recognised him. Perhaps now, confusedly, he felt himself guilty? As
all those who doubt that Gerstein told the truth should similarly feel

guilty?
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Footnote To Postscript II

1. The Lagerfelt correspondence:

Translation of aide-memoire signed by Lagerfelt and datedfrom London, 7 August

1945.

"Aide-memoire concerning Kurt Gerstein, civil engineer, member of the SS-

Sanitatsabteiling, Giesebrechtstrasse, born probably at Braunschweig in 1907(?) and

residing in 1943 at Biilowstrasse 49, in Berlin.

In August 1942, Gerstein made contact with a member of a neutral legation in

Berlin and recounted to him as follows. He was returning from a short mission to the

extermination camp of Belsec (sic), near Lublin. He recounted in detail what was

happening (the gas-chambers, the reaction of the personnel, the recovery of gold

teeth, etc.) He also showed documents, identity cards and orders to deliver hydrocy-

anic acid signed by the commandant of the camp. Gerstein said that his concern was

to bring these events to the knowledge of the neutral observers. He was firmly

convinced that if the facts were confirmed by impartial foreigners, the German
people would not for one moment continue any longer its support for the Nazi

regime. He said moreover that he had discussed the problem with a high German
ecclesiastical dignitary belonging to the opposition, Superintendent Dibelius (which

was later confirmed by Dibelius himself and who held himself guarantor for Ger-

sten's veracity.)

Later, clarifications were given on the motives for Gerstein* s actions. Gerstein,

who had never participated in political activities of any sort and who was not a Nazi,

volunteered for the SS to obtain an assignment in the Sanitatsabteilung— the special

branch which organised the concentration camps - because he was anxious to have

confirmation of his suspicions on the subject of the abnormal death rate in the

German psychiatric asylums during the years 1941-1942. It was at that period that a

close relative of Gerstein's, whom he loved very much, herself died in such an

asylum. What he later learned in the extermination camps convinced him that his

suspicions were only too well-founded

Six months later, Gerstein made a visit to the same neutral diplomat in order to ask

him whether it had been possible to do anything. This was the last time there was any

news of him.

His sorrow and indignation about the actions perpetrated in the extermination

camps seemed to be as genuine as they were profound; and his wish to share his

knowledge with the outside world in such a way as to enable them to be halted

appeared sufficiently sincere. [signed] Lagerfelt."

Translation of letterfrom Lagerfelt to his friend and colleague von Otter dated 14

August 1945.

"Colleague Strictly Confidential

In pursuance of your letter of 23 July concerning the SS Gerstein, I permit myself

to inform you that after reflelction I have forwarded to my opposite number at the

Foreign Office an aide-memoire on the subject (in which, however, your name is not

mentioned), requesting that this document be forwarded as soon as possible to the

Reconstruction Department of the Foreign Office* which has the responsibility,

among other matters, for war crimes. I hope that in this way the demands of justice

will be met. [signed] Lagerfelt

To Monsieur the First Secretary of Legation, Baron G. von Otter, Helsinki."

* The Reconstruction Department of the Foreign Office was a temporary post-war

organization concerned with political and military reconstruction such as the peace
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treaties, the United Nations Organisation and so forth. Its responsibilities had no
connection with war crimes: and this would have been known to Lagerfelt from the

Foreign Office list, a directory showing all FO departments and their responsibili-

ties, and which was circulated to all diplomatic missions.

Furthermore, neither the Swedish Embassy in London nor the British Foreign
Office in London had any diplomatic status regarding alleged war crimes that did not

concern British or Commonwealth subjects and that had supposedly happened in

Poland.

If Lagerfelt had been serious, why did he not inform the Polish authorities; or send
his aide-memoire to the War Crimes Commission, which had raised the subject with

him in the first place?

It seems apparent that Lagerfelt, as a trained diplomat, was less concerned to have
"the demands of justice met" than to have the aide-memoire quietly lost among the

enormous bureaucracy that existed in immediate postwar London.
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